DRAFT Project Report Swain Slough Bridge on Pine Hill Road

Federal Project No. BRLO-5904 (112) Existing Bridge No. 04C0173 New Bridge No. 04C0260



Prepared For: County of Humboldt Department of Public Works



Prepared By:



October 2019

developing YOUR vision delivering YOUR project





Jason P. Jurrens, P.E. Project Engineer Quincy Engineering, Inc.

Submitted by			(916) 368-9181
	lames Foster P F	Date	Telephone
	Project Manager	Dute	relephone
	Quincy Engineering, Inc.		
Approved by			
	Tony Seghetti, P.E.	Date	Telephone
	County of Humboldt		
	Department of Public Works		

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
INTRODUCTION
EXISTING FACILITY
DESIGN CRITERIA
ROADWAY ALTERNATIVES
STRUCTURE ALTERNATIVES
DESIGN EXCEPTIONS
DRAINAGE
TRAFFIC CONTROL/DETOUR
CONSTRUCTION METHODS AND CONTRACTOR ACCESS
RIGHT-OF-WAY
UTILITIES
ENVIRONMENTAL/PERMITS
GEOTECHNICAL/FOUNDATIONS
SEISMIC12
FALSEWORK
DECK PROTECTION
HYDRAULICS
CHANNEL SCOUR/SLOPE PROTECTION
CONSTRUCTION COSTS
CONCLUSIONS
ATTACHMENTS15
<u>APPENDIX</u>
Appendix A - Preliminary Environmental Study
Арреndix В - Түре Selection Мемо
Appendix C - NEPA Determination
Appendix D - CEQA Determination
Appendix E - Natural Environment Study
Appendix F - Archaeological Study Report (ASR)
Appendix G - Historic Property Study Report (HPSR)

APPENDIX H - PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE	23
APPENDIX I - PRELIMINARY PROJECT COST ESTIMATES	24
APPENDIX J - PRELIMINARY FOUNDATION REPORT.	25
APPENDIX K - HYDRAULICS INFORMATION	26
APPENDIX L - BRIDGE INSPECTION RECORDS INFORMATION SYSTEM REPORT.	27



VICINITY MAP



Photo 1 – Aerial View of Project Site (From Google Earth)



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Humboldt County Department of Public Works is proposing to replace the Swain Slough Bridge (Bridge No. 04C-0173) at Pine Hill Road. The existing bridge is located just south of Eureka on Pine Hill Road (a local rural two-lane road) approximately 0.2 miles east of Elk River Road. Pine Hill Road provides the access across Swain Slough for local residences to Elk River Road.

The purpose of this project is to improve public safety by providing a safe and permanent solution for traffic to cross Swain Slough. This will be accomplished by replacing the existing structurally deficient, three-span timber-stringer bridge with a new single-span concrete structure. The existing bridge has been in service since 1955 and is currently classified as structurally deficient. Due to poor sufficiency rating, the existing bridge qualifies for Federal funding.

Pine Hill Road is classified as a Local Road which qualifies for 100% reimbursement of the bridge replacement cost from federal aid. Other costs of the rehabilitation project such as preliminary engineering, right-of-way, and others are funded by the Federal Highway Bridge Program (HBP) which will provide approximately 100% of the total project cost.

This project is currently scheduled to begin construction of the new bridge in spring of 2020. Traffic will be detoured 1.6 miles during construction while the new bridge is constructed on the existing roadway alignment. Full closure of Pine Hill Road at the location of the bridge is anticipated for construction, which allows the use of the paved approach roadways to be used as construction staging area. This allows minimal construction footprints reducing environmental impacts to Swain Slough. Traffic will then be permanently shifted onto the new structure once construction is completed.

The existing facility consists of a three-span simply supported timber-stringer structure, with concrete deck and curbs. According to the latest Bridge Inspection Report (BIR), the bridge length is approximately 63' long with three equal length spans of approximately 21' and the bridge width is approximately 20'. The substructure consists of reinforced concrete abutments and reinforced concrete bent cap on pile extensions. The BIR also notes the deteriorating condition of the bridge; with 11 out of the 20 timber bridge railing posts as well as the top 1" of the north exterior girder showing signs of rot and moderate to severe vertical cracking on concrete piles extensions. The existing facility has been designated as structurally deficient with a 2017 sufficiency rating of 42.6 and a superstructure rating of 4.

This project will improve public safety by replacing this structurally deficient bridge. It will also improve traffic operations by widening the bridge to provide 10' lanes and 5' shoulders in each direction and replace all traffic safety features to meet current standards. Rehabilitation and widening of the existing bridge is cost prohibitive and not considered feasible.

Replacing the bridge on the existing alignment was chosen due to the lowest construction cost, least environmental impacts, speed of construction, and least new right-of-way needs. With the detour only being approximately 1.6 miles, the most practical and cost-effective roadway alignment was to close Pine Hill Road for one construction season and replace the bridge on its existing alignment.



There were two bridge types considered for this project location:

- The Single-Span Precast Wide-Flange Concrete Girder bridge is recommended as it will not require falsework to construct and will eliminate the need for any piers within the limits of the Slough. This alternative will reduce construction time due to wide flange girders precast off project location and available for erection immediately. Precast manufacturer has confirmed the viability of shipping this length of girders to project site. In addition, this alternative lends to a structure depth that will conform to the proposed roadway profile and will not encroach on the channel hydraulic highwater surface elevation. Furthermore, this alternative will decrease the environmental impacts on an environmentally sensitive area. Based on constructability, functionality, economic considerations and local boundary conditions, a single span precast- prestressed concrete girder is a viable structure alternative for this project.
- A Single-Span Cast in Place Post-Tensioned Box Girder bridge was also considered for this project because it can provide the same minimum structure depth to adhere to the hydraulic requirements without raising the proposed profile. Similar to the preferred precast alternative, this option is also single span and would preclude the need for piers within the slough. However, the cast in place construction would require falsework which will most likely require driven piles during construction which will further disturb the environmentally sensitive slough. A bridge General Plan for this option is included in Appendix G for further reference.

Based on the information contained in this project report, the project development team recommends replacing the bridge on existing alignment utilizing a Single-Span Precast Prestressed Reinforced Concrete Wide Flange Girder bridge. This alternative meets the project goals, reduces construction schedule duration, is cost competitive, and minimizes temporary and permanent environmental and right-of-way impacts from the project.

The project costs for constructing the recommended structure type/alignment is summarized as follows:

Project Construction Cost					
Structure Construction	\$1,206,000				
Bridge Removal	\$50,4000				
Slope Protection	\$25,000				
Channel Work	\$40,000				
Detour	\$10,000				
Approach Roadway	\$499,000				
Mobilization	\$183,000				
Total	\$2,013,000				

Project Costs					
PE	\$500,000				
CON	\$2,000,000				
CE	\$300,000				
CONT	\$500,000				
RW	\$50,000				
TOTAL	\$3,350,000				

The project development schedule is summarized as follows:

Project Milestone	Proposed Delivery Date		
Environmental Document Approval	July 2016		
Plans, Specifications & Estimate	January 2020		
Project Permits Secured	December 2019		
Utility Coordination and Right-of-Way	December 2019		
Advertise Project	March 2020		
Award Contract	May 2020		
Project Construction	June 2020 – October 2020		

The project team recommends approval of the project report and continuing the project to develop the final PS&E package leading to construction of a replacement bridge.

INTRODUCTION

Humboldt County Department of Public Works is proposing to replace the Swain Slough Bridge (Bridge No. 04C-0173) at Pine Hill Road. The existing bridge is located just south of Eureka on Pine Hill Road (a local rural two-lane road) approximately 0.2 miles east of Elk River Road. Pine Hill Road provides the access across Swain Slough for local residences to Elk River Road.

The purpose of this project is to improve public safety by providing a safe and permanent solution for traffic to cross Swain Slough. This will be accomplished by replacing the existing structurally deficient, three-span timber-stringer bridge with a new single span concrete structure. The existing bridge has been in service since 1955 and is currently classified as structurally deficient. Due to poor sufficiency rating, the existing bridge qualifies for Federal funding.

Pine Hill Road is classified as a Local Road which qualifies for 100% reimbursement of the bridge replacement cost from federal aid. Other cost of the rehabilitation project such as preliminary engineering, right-of-way, and others are funded by the Federal Highway Bridge Program (HBP) which will provide approximately 100% of the total project cost.

This project is currently scheduled to begin construction of the new bridge in spring of 2020. Traffic will be detoured 1.6 miles during construction while the new bridge is constructed on



the existing roadway alignment. Full closure of Pine Hill Road at the location of the bridge is anticipated for construction, which allows the use of the paved approach roadways to be used as construction staging area. This allows minimal construction footprints reducing environmental impacts to Swain Slough. Traffic will then be permanently shifted onto the new structure once construction is completed.

EXISTING FACILITY

The existing facility consists of a three-span simply-supported timber-stringer structure, with concrete deck and curbs. According to the latest Bridge Inspection Report (BIR), the bridge

length is approximately 63' long with three equal length spans of approximately 21' and the bridge width is approximately 20'. The substructure consists of reinforced concrete abutments and reinforced concrete bent cap on pile extensions. The BIR also notes the deteriorating condition of the bridge; with 11 out of the 20 timber bridge railing posts as well as the top 1" of the north exterior girder showing signs of rot and moderate to severe vertical cracking on concrete piles extensions, as shown in Figure 1. The existing facility has been designated as structurally deficient with a 2017 sufficiency rating of 42.6 and a superstructure rating of 4.



DESIGN CRITERIA

All alternatives must meet the following criteria:

Figure 1: Vertical Cracking on Piles

<u>Roadway Design</u>

Roadway design will be based on *"AASHTO Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets 2011, 6th Edition Green Book"* along with County standards where appropriate.

Bridge Design

Final bridge design will be performed in accordance with *"AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications, Sixth Edition, and the Caltrans Amendments preface dated November 2011"*. The latest updated versions of Caltrans bridge design manuals will also be utilized when applicable.

• Seismic Design

Seismic design will be performed in accordance with the Caltrans "*Seismic Design Criteria Version 1.6 November 2010*" and the latest information available from Caltrans Earthquake Research.

Hydraulic Analysis

The *Caltrans "Local Assistance Procedures Manual"* requires that the bridge soffit be 2' above the 50-year flood elevation and that the bridge be capable of conveying the 100-year flood or the flood of record.



ROADWAY ALTERNATIVES

Replacing the bridge on the existing alignment was chosen due to the lowest construction cost, least environmental impacts, speed of construction, and least new right-of-way needs. With the detour only being approximately 1.6 miles, the most practical and costeffective roadway alignment was to close Pine Hill Road for one construction season and replace the bridge on its existing alignment. Building the



Figure 2: Looking East & West on Pine Hill Road

new bridge either upstream or downstream of the existing bridge, or staging the new bridge construction to keep the existing bridge open during construction would result in significantly more impacts to the channel, wetlands, and farmlands.

The existing roadway has 10' traffic lanes with minimal shoulders. The 2009 traffic counts recorded an Average Daily Traffic (ADT) of 341 vehicles per day, which increases to 582 vehicles per day in 2036 at a 2% per year increase. The proposed road and bridge cross section will consist of 10' lanes, 5' shoulders, 2' choker, and 2' for barrier railing for a total width of 34'. This is 14' wider than the existing 20' wide structure. 1.5:1 side slopes will be utilized to further reduce impacts to the adjacent wetlands and farmlands. This configuration is in conformance with AASHTO's *Guidelines for Geometric Design of Highways and Streets* and the *2012 Humboldt County General Plan*. This 30' clear width meets the minimum design standard when considering functional classification, design speed, and terrain for the project location.

The roadway classification for Pine Hill Road is a local rural road in flat terrain. Given the context of the existing roadway within the project limits and the need to raise the vertical profile for hydraulic concerns, a 35-mph proposed design speed is appropriate. This speed satisfies AASHTO standards Exhibit 5-1 for local roads and satisfies AASHTO's *Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets* guidelines.

The general alignment of Pine Hill Road through the project site is an east-west direction. There are no significant obstacles or small radius curves to reduce the stopping sight distance. This allows for the bridge to be constructed on the existing alignment with no skew.

The existing profile along the bridge deck must be raised approximately 3' vertically to meet the slough hydraulic and tidal change requirements. The minimum soffit elevation is required to be at or above the King Tide elevation of 8.5', per WRECO's hydraulics evaluations. In order to accomplish vertical change and stay within the AASHTO guidance for profile grade and vertical curves that meet the 35-mph design speed, the proposed roadway profile uses a 120' long sag curve leading into a 180' long crest curve and ending with a 160' long sag curve.



Levees are located at the southeast, northwest, and southwest corners of the existing bridge. These levees are maintained by the property owners and the project will not be making improvements to the levees. A minimal amount of conforming at the levees to accommodate the raising of the bridge grade is anticipated.

Approach Guardrail

The existing bridge has no approach guard railings or attached end treatments. This bridge replacement project will significantly improve the roadway approach features by protecting each corner of the new bridge with a conventional end treatment system.

STRUCTURE ALTERNATIVES

Single-Span Precast Prestressed Reinforced Concrete Wide-Flange Girder

The single-span precast wide-flange concrete girder bridge is recommended as it will not require falsework to construct and will eliminate the need for any piers within the limits of the slough. This alternative will reduce construction time due to wide flange girders precast off-project location and available for erection immediately. The precast manufacturer has confirmed the viability of shipping this length of girders to project site. In addition, this alternative lends to a structure depth that will conform to the proposed roadway profile and will not encroach on the channel hydraulic highwater surface elevation. Furthermore, this alternative will decrease the environmental impacts on an environmentally sensitive area. Based on constructability, functionality, economic considerations and local boundary conditions, a single-span precast prestressed concrete girder is a viable structure alternative for this project.

Rejected Structure Alternative

A single-span cast in place post-tensioned concrete box girder bridge was also considered for this project because it can provide the same minimum structure depth to adhere to the hydraulic requirements without raising the proposed profile. Similar to the preferred precast alternative, this option is also single-span and would preclude the need for piers within the slough. However, the cast in place construction would require falsework which will most likely require driven piles during construction which will further disturb the environmentally sensitive slough. A bridge General Plan for this option is included in Appendix G for further reference.

Based on the information contained in this project report, the project development team recommends replacing the bridge on existing alignment utilizing a single-span precast prestressed reinforced concrete wide flange girder bridge. This alternative meets the project goals, reduces construction schedule duration, is cost competitive, and minimizes temporary and permanent environmental, and right-of-way impacts from the project.

A permanent sheet piling system will be constructed around the new bridge footing which will eliminate the need for Rock Slope Protection (RSP) to protect the abutment. The width between the abutments of the existing bridge is approximately 58.5'. The width between the sheet piling is 65.5' for an overall channel widening of 7.0'. The channel will be widened 1.7' on the easterly bank and 5.3' on the westerly bank. All existing RSP will be removed from the channel.



Bridge Railing

With the proposed 35 mph design speed along Pine Hill Road, metal bridge railing is proposed instead of conventional concrete barriers which are more commonly associated with higher speed conditions. Concrete Bridge Railing (Type 85 Modification) will be mounted on top of the bridge edge of deck. To accommodate the thickness of the metal rail elements and still maintain a 30' clear width, the overall proposed structure width will be 34' - 0''.

DESIGN EXCEPTIONS

A single design exception for hydraulic freeboard will be required. The basic rule for hydraulic design of bridges is that they should be designed to pass the two percent (2%) probability flood or tide (Q50) or the flood-of-record, whichever is greater without causing objectionable backwater, excessive flow velocities, or encroaching on through traffic lanes. Sufficient freeboard, the vertical clearance between the lowest structural member, and the water surface elevation of the design flood should be provided. A minimum freeboard of 2' is often assumed for preliminary bridge design. An evaluation should be performed to determine, if horizontal and vertical driftway requirements warrant a modified freeboard. The freeboard for controlled flow waterways, such as irrigation canals, shall be required by the regulatory agency having jurisdiction.

- The final design should be able to convey the base flood, Q100.
- The base flood (Q100) or overtopping flood, whichever is greater shall be used to evaluate the costs, risks and impacts associated with encroachments on the 100-year base flood plain.
- Construction projects in areas vulnerable to Sea Level Rise to begin planning for potential impacts by considering a range of SLR scenarios for the years 2050 and 2100

The non-standard design element is hydraulic clearance. The bridge deck has been designed to remain dry during the 100-year flow. Swain Slough, Martin Slough, and Elk River all become one large backwater during high flow events. This backwater is made worse during a high flow coupled with a Humboldt Bay high tide. Conveyance under the bridge is not a factor as each of these waterways go out of bank during the high flows. The bridge as designed does not cause objectionable backwater and does not provide freeboard due to drift.

The approach roadways leading to the bridge become inundated during the high flows. The bridge is not accessible from the adjacent County roads during flood events and the County has no plans to improve the approach roadways to meet standard flood elevation.

The bridge has been designed to accommodate a future raise if Sea Level Rise becomes an issue in the future. The footing has been sized for a taller bridge and jacking points have been detailed to facilitate raising this single span bridge.

DRAINAGE

Existing drainage patterns will generally be preserved. Drainage along the northeastern side of Pine Hill Road generally flows to the northeast corner of the bridge and into Swain Slough. An existing ditch will be re-graded with a new pipe and energy dissipating device added to enhance this system. The drainage patterns at the southeast corner of the bridge will not change as it



currently sheet flows off the roadway and into Martin Slough. The existing pipe beneath the westerly approach will be replaced with a new 18" pipe which will maintain the existing drainage patterns. Water flows into the southwest field through a breech in the levee and flows towards the bridge. A portion of the flow crosses into the northwest field via the existing pipe, and a portion overtops the road at the midpoint between the Swain Slough Bridge and Elk River Road. The water then flows to a depressed area along the northwest levee before re-entering Swain Slough midway between the Swain Slough Bridge and the Elk River Road Bridge. The construction of the Swain Slough Bridge will not alter these preexisting drainage patterns.

TRAFFIC CONTROL/DETOUR

The County has indicated that it will be acceptable to close the existing roadway and detour traffic during construction of the replacement bridge and the approach roadway. Detour to Meyers Avenue, just northeast of the facility, may be used by local residence living near the existing facility during construction.

CONSTRUCTION METHODS AND CONTRACTOR ACCESS

It is anticipated that excavators, dozers, cranes, dump trucks, concrete trucks, concrete pumps, pile driving hammers, and pile drilling equipment may be required to remove the existing bridge and construct the new bridge. Construction is anticipated to be completely within one construction season. With a full road closure in place, contractor will have access to the project site from both embankments. The Contractor will use the approach roadways as the staging area which will reduce the environmental impacts to the project area. No staging of equipment will occur in the wetland or agricultural areas.

Some dewatering of the sheetpile cofferdam will be required. The contractor will utilize temporary tanks that will be staged on the existing asphalt roadway approaches. The water that is collected will be disposed of offsite.

Settlement due to embankment construction is anticipated. The contractor will add approximately 1' of additional fill to the each of the approaches along with a settlement monitoring system to determine the quantity and duration of settlement. Once the settlement has occurred, the additional fill will be removed.

Removal of the concrete bridge piers will be accomplished at a very low tide by excavating around each pier, pulling each pier over with an excavator, breaking it off below the mud line, and removing them from the slough channel. No concussive hammering of the existing concrete piers during demolition is required. The excavated pier pits will be backfilled with the sediment removed or with clean gravel after demolition. Installing sheet piling around the piers to contain sediment was investigated but was discarded as this will cause more disturbance to the channel than the described method.

In-channel work is limited and will consist of removal of the existing columns, removal of trash and debris from the channel, and the removal of sediment from in front of the sheet piling. All in-channel work will be performed at low tide with minimal flow in Swain Slough. There is no work and/or impacts to Martin Slough.

Work is anticipated to occur during daylight hours.



RIGHT-OF-WAY

The project site is located adjacent to four parcels that have several owners. Right-of-way will be required from three of the four parcels and will include Temporary Construction Easements (TCEs) and Permanent Roadway Easements (PREs). The following table details the APN, Owners, and needed R/W types:

APN	OWNER	R/W Type	
302-181-008-000	PRIOR ROBERT D TR	PRE, TCE	
302-151-019-000	CHAMBERLAIN ANDREW SUCTR	PRE, TCE	
302-151-020-000	JACOBSON LOU & ELIZABETH	TCE	

UTILITIES

The Humboldt Community Services District (HCSD) owns and operates a 12" water line that is connected to the north side of the existing Swain Slough Bridge. This water line serves the Humboldt Hill area. HCSD requires this water line remain in service due to the lack of a redundant loop facility within their system.

HCSD will be relocating this waterline using Horizontal Directional Drilling (HDD) that will occur before the construction of the new bridge. The alignment of the new water line has been coordinated with the design of the new bridge and



Figure 3: Existing Water Line

will not be in conflict once it has been relocated. HCSD will include BMPs in the project and will provide details of the process to address the Coastal Commission concerns including "frac-out".

ENVIRONMENTAL/PERMITS

The replacement of the Swain Slough Bridge will require both CEQA and NEPA clearances. As the delegated Federal Highway Administration lead agency due to the use of federal funds, Caltrans has determined that the project is a NEPA Categorical Exclusion under 23 CFR 771.117(d): activity (d)(13). Humboldt County as the CEQA lead agency has determined that this project fits the definition of a Class 2 Categorical Exemption (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15302) as it involves the replacement of an existing public facility on the same site with the same purpose and capacity as the structure being replaced. Furthermore, this project has been analyzed under both CEQA and NEPA and it has been determined that the project, as designed, will not adversely impact air quality, water quality, historical or cultural resource, or any other environmental area. The project will improve vehicular/pedestrian/bicyclist safety and reduce the potential of accidents and injuries. This project fits within the definition of the Class 2 Categorical Exemption as set forth in CEQA Guidelines, Section 15302. Additionally, Humboldt County has determined that none of the exceptions to the Categorical Exemptions set forth in CEQA Guidelines, Section 15302. Additionally, Humboldt County has determined that none of the exceptions to the Categorical Exemptions set forth in CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2, apply. As such, Humboldt County has concluded that this Categorical Exemption applies to this project.



The technical studies to support these determinations include:

Cultural Resources

An Archaeological Study Report (ASR) and Historic Property Study Report (HPSR) were prepared in January of 2013 and it was determined that there are no cultural or historical resources within the project area, therefore there will be No Historic Properties Affected by the project.

Biological Resources

A Biological Assessment/Essential Fish Habitat Assessment (BA/EFHA) was submitted to the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) to address potential impacts to federally listed fish species. NMFS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 25, 2015 which concluded that the project is likely to adversely affect Northern California DPS steelhead, SON CC ESU coho salmon, and California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon, but is not likely to jeopardize the species. NMFS also concluded the project is likely to result in an adverse effect to critical habitat for the Coastal SON CC ESU coho salmon, California ESU Chinook salmon ESU, and the Northern California DPS steelhead. The project is not likely to destroy or adversely modify critical habitat. In the Biological Opinion (BO), the National Marine Fisheries Service determined that incidental take would occur to all three salmonid species in the form of capture during fish relocation and by exposure to lethal noise levels resulting from pile driving. NMFS expects no more than one juvenile of each species to be injured and no more than two juveniles of each species will be killed as a result of constructing the project. NMFS also concluded that the project would adversely affect Essential Fish Habitat for Pacific salmon species. While the proposed action contains measures to minimize adverse effects to EFH, NMFS provided additional conservation measures to further offset the adverse effects.

The BA/EFHA was also submitted to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) to address potential impacts to the federally listed tidewater goby. The USFWS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 24, 2015 which concluded that the project is likely to adversely affect the species but is not likely to jeopardize the species. They also concluded the project action area is not located within designated critical habitat for the species. In the BO, USFWS determined that incidental take would occur to tidewater goby in the form of capture during fish relocation and/or during dewatering activities. The USFWS expects no more than five adult gobies to be injured or killed as a result of constructing the Project. Conservation measures to reduce impacts to salmonids and gobies will be followed and are included in the attached Environmental Commitment Record (ECR).

A Natural Environment Study was prepared in October 2014 and included a wetland delineation. The delineation found that U.S. jurisdictional waters and three-parameter wetlands occupy 0.989 acres of the BSA. State jurisdictional waters and two- and one-parameter coastal wetlands occupy 1.165 acres of the BSA. The project design minimized impacts on wetlands to the extent practicable. All other design considerations would have a greater impact on wetlands. Since the project design with the least impact on wetlands was selected, the project is in compliance with the Wetlands Only Practicable Finding Alternative. Minimization measures to reduce impacts on wetlands and waters are included in the ECR. A Wetlands Mitigation and Monitoring Plan shall be prepared and provided to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, North Coast RWQCB, California Coastal Commission, and the CDFW for review and approval.



Farmlands

The project will have no permanent impact on prime or unique farmland. Temporary impacts on non-prime agricultural land will be less than significant.

Floodplain

The project will not result in any longitudinal or significant encroachment on the 100-year flood plain.

Other Environmental Considerations

Review of the project site and project plans indicate that the project would not result in substantial adverse impacts to the visual environment. Other than a temporary increase in ambient noise from heavy equipment working during construction hours there are no long-term sound impacts associated with the project. Upon project completion, noise levels will return to pre-construction ambient levels. There are no known hazardous waste issues in the project area.

Permits

- 404 Permit from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
- 401 from the Regional Water Quality Control Board
- 1602 from the Department of Fish and Wildlife
- Coastal Development Permit from the California Coastal Commission

GEOTECHNICAL/FOUNDATIONS

SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologist submitted a preliminary foundation memorandum for the proposed bridge on September of 2012 shown in Appendix I. Foundations for the abutments will most likely consist of Caltrans Class-45 standard driven pile foundations. A Preliminary Foundation Report will be provided prior to the design phase of the project.

SEISMIC

The project site is located within one of the most seismically active areas of the State. Caltrans Seismic Design Criteria version 1.6 (November 2010) will be utilized for the bridge design. Quincy will perform an equivalent static seismic analysis of the proposed bridge. The recommended ARS curve for seismic design will be provided by the geotechnical engineer and included in the foundation report.

FALSEWORK

Falsework will not be required within the limits of the slough for the preferred precast concrete girder alternative. This will be a great advantage to minimize impact to the project site compared to other cast in place alternatives. This will also benefit the construction schedule by reducing the overall time needed to construct the bridge.



DECK PROTECTION

This project is located within a marine environment, therefore additional corrosion mitigation techniques is required. Special protection measures such as thicker concrete cover and epoxy coated reinforcement are required to provide proper protection.

HYDRAULICS

The clear span of the proposed bridge is longer than the current structure and will improve the existing hydraulic condition. Furthermore, the vertical profile of the proposed bridge is being raised such that the entire superstructure will clear the anticipated King Tide elevation. A draft design hydraulic and location hydraulic study report has been prepared and is included in Appendix J.

The Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project (Project) site crosses over Swain Slough immediately downstream of its confluence with Martin Slough. The mouth of Martin Slough is separated from Swain Slough by a levee and tide gates. The confluence of



Figure 4: Profile view looking north

Swain Slough with Elk River is 0.5 mi downstream of the Project site. Elk River eventually drains into Humboldt Bay approximately 1.5 mi further downstream. Because of its close proximity to Humboldt Bay, the project is tidally influenced.

The peak discharges for Swain/Martin sloughs were estimated using a rainfall/runoff model. The 100-year and 50-year peak discharge values for Swain/Martin sloughs were estimated to be 2,490 cubic feet per second (cfs) and 2,200 cfs, respectively. The hydraulic characteristics at the Project site were evaluated using the Hydrologic Engineering Centers River Analysis System (HEC-RAS) modeling software, Version 4.1.0 developed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE).

Alternative	Lowest Bridge Soffit Elevation (ft*)	Water Surface Elevation (ft*)	Available Freeboard (ft)	
Existing	9.3	12.1	-2.8	
Proposed	8.9	12.1	-3.2	

100-Year Water Surface Elevations and Freeboard at Upstream Face of Bridges

Note: * The elevations reference the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88)

Alternative	Lowest Bridge Soffit Elevation (ft*)	Water Surface Elevation (ft*)	Available Freeboard (ft)	
Existing	9.3	11.5	-2.2	
Proposed	8.9	11.5	-2.6	

50-Year Water Surface Elevations and Freeboard at Upstream Face of Bridges

Note: * The elevations reference the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88)

The proposed bridge is designed based on the tidal elevations at Humboldt Bay and there are provisions to raise the bridge in the future to address sea level rise, but the currently proposed bridge is not designed to account for sea level rise. The bridge foundations are designed for the superstructure to be able to be raised in the future to accommodate sea level rise. Sea level rise estimates for the Project site were estimated using information from the following three studies:

- The Probability of Sea Level Rise (Environmental Protection Agency [EPA]1995)
- Climate Change Scenarios and Sea Level Rise Estimates for the California 2009
- Climate Change Scenarios Assessment (Cayan 2009), and
- The Proceedings of National Academy of Science (PNAS) (Vermeer and Rahmstorf 2009)

Mathed /Source	Sea Level Rise (ft)			
Method/Source	High	Low		
EPA	3.0	-0.8		
CAYAN	4.6	3.3		
PNAS	4.9	1.3		

Sea Level Rise Estimates for the Year 2100 near Humboldt Bay, California

CHANNEL SCOUR/SLOPE PROTECTION

Based on field reviews and the maintenance report history, scour is a concern that needs to be addressed at this site. Appropriate protective countermeasures include placement of rock slope protection along each embankment slope in order to provide a more stable slough and reduce erosion along the abutment slopes. Vibrated permanent sheet piling will be installed to a depth that is below the anticipated scour which will protect the abutments in the future. The new abutments will be placed further apart to improve flow characteristics in the stream channel.

CONSTRUCTION COSTS

The bridge construction cost for the preferred alternative is based on the 30% level design which is estimated to be \$1,206,000. A 10% mobilization and 25% contingency was assumed when computing the total cost from the current level of design. Construction cost estimates for the preferred alternative is detailed and shown on Table 1. The construction costs analysis estimates have been presented based on Caltrans Comparative Bridge Cost and preliminary roadway quantities with unit prices from similar projects. Table 2 includes cost estimates



associated with utility coordination/relocation, right-of-way, environmental mitigation, or construction engineering that are eligible for federal aid.

Table 1: Structure Construction Cost

Alternative	Bridge Square Footage	Total Construction Cost	
Preferred Alt. – PC/PS W-Flange Girder	2,720 sq. ft.	\$1,206,000	

Table 2: Construction Cost Analysis

Construct Bridge	Bridge Removal	Slope Protection	Channel Work	Detour	Approach Roadway	Utility Relocation	Mobilization	Total Construction
\$1,206,000	\$50,400	\$25,000	\$40,000	\$10,000	\$499,000	\$0	\$183,000	\$2,013,000

CONCLUSIONS

An 80' single-span precast-prestressed concrete wide flange girder built on the existing horizontal alignment is the preferred structure type. With many bridge type comparison issues such as cost, foundations, and constructability being considered, precast-prestressed concrete wide flange girder is the most ideal replacement type at this site.

ATTACHMENTS

- A. Preliminary Environmental Study
- B. Type Selection Memo
- C. NEPA Determination
- D. CEQA Determination
- E. Natural Environment Study
- F. Archaeological Study Report (ASR)
- G. Historic Property Study Report (HPSR)
- H. Preferred Alternative
- I. Preliminary Project Cost Estimates
- J. Preliminary Foundation Report
- K. Hydraulics Information
- L. Bridge Inspection Records Information System Report



APPENDIX

Appendix A - Preliminary Environmental Study

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 1, P. O. BOX 3700 EUREKA, CA 95502-3700 PHONE (707) 445-6410 FAX (707) 441-2048 TTY 711



Flex your power! Be energy efficient!

February 23, 2012

Andrew Bundschuh County of Humboldt Department of Public Works 1106 Second Street Eureka, CA 95501

01-HUM-CR-0 File: BRLO-5904(112) EA 924965L

Signed Preliminary Environmental Study (PES) form for the Swain Slough (Pine Hill Rd) Bridge Replacement project.

Dear Mr. Bundschuh:

We have received the PES form for the Swain Slough (Pine Hill Rd) Bridge Replacement project. Attached you will find a copy of the signed form which was approved by myself (Caltrans Environmental Senior), Suzanne Theiss (District Local Assistance Engineer) and Tim Keefe (Caltrans PQS). The following studies will be required before the NEPA process is complete:

- Farmlands Analysis Form AD 1006 will need to be done if construction easements or acquisition occurs on adjacent farmland and it is designated as Prime or Unique. This land will also need to be evaluated to see if it falls under Williamson Act.
- Floodplain Analysis Since work is occurring within the 100 year floodplain a Location Hydraulics Study and a Summary Floodplain Encroachment Report will need to be completed.
- Section 106 Studies
 - Area of Potential Effects (APE) Map
 - Archaeological Survey Report (ASR)
 - Historic Property Survey Report (HPSR)
- Biological Assessment (BA) Most likely for impacts to Salmonids and Tidewater Goby.
- Natural Environment Study (NES) Should include the following
 - o State and Federally listed species
 - Avoidance and Minimization measures
 - Wetland Delineation
 - Water Quality
 - o Environmental Commitments and BMPs

The following permits will be required:

- Coastal Development Permit (CDP) CCC
- 1602 Streambed Alteration Agreement CA DFG
- 404 Nationwide Permit ACOE
- 401 Water Quality Certification RWQCB



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS COUNTY OF HUMBOLDT

MAILING ADDRESS: 1106 SECOND STREET, EUREKA, CA 95501-0579 AREA CODE 707

EUREKA AIRPORT TERMINAL ARCATA McKINI EYVILLE FAX 839-3596 AVIATION 839-5401

PUBLIC WORKS BUILDING SECOND & L ST., EUREKA FAX 445-7409 ADMINISTRATION 445-749 BUSINESS 445-7652 PARKS ENGINEERING 445-7377 FACILITY MAINTENANCE 445-7493

NATURAL RESOURCES 445-7741 445-7651 ROADS & EQUIP. MAINT. 445-7421

CLARK COMPLEX HARRIS & H ST., EUREKA FAX 445-7388 LAND USE 445-7205

To: Department of Transportation District 1, P.O. Box 3700 Eureka, CA 95502-3700 Attn: Brandon Larsen Senior Environmental Planner

January 25, 2012 Date: Project: Swain Slough (Pine Hill Rd) Bridge Replacement Federal Project #: BRLO-5904(112) Description: Bridge Replacement

Dear Mr. Larsen,

Humboldt County Public Works is proposing to replace a structurally deficient and functionally obsolete bridge on Pine Hill Road just south of Eureka.

The following items are provided for your review and consideration.

- Fully completed PES Form
 - Required attachments:
 - **Regional Map**
 - Project Location Map
 - Project Footprint Map (showing existing and proposed R/W)
 - Engineering drawings (plan views and existing and proposed cross sections, if available)
- Borrow/Disposal Site Location Map (if applicable)
 - Preliminary Environmental Investigation Notes to support conclusion of this checklist
 - Any field notes and correspondence from resource agencies
- X Completed Field Review Form (first two pages)

I've also included a project description with photos as well as copies of biological resource information and a map showing the coastal zone and flood regions in the project area.

If additional information is needed, please contact me at 707-445-7741.

Sincerely,

Andrew Bendsch L

Andrew Bundschuh Senior Environmental Analyst Humboldt County Public Works

.

Brandon Larsen, Senior Environme						_	(Expected	Start Date)
	ental Pla	anne	From:	Humboldt	Cour	ity P	ublic Works	_
(District Local Assistance En	gineer)					(Local Agency)	
Department of Transportation, Dist	rict 1	_		Andrew B	unds	chuh,	, 707-268-2699	nhous No.)
BO Boy 2700 Euroka CA 05502				1106 \$200	nd St	root	Euroka CA 05	501
				1100 Seco	nu or	ieei,	(Address)	301
Brandon larsen@dot ca gov				ahundsehi	hac	o hu	wholdt ca us	
(E-mail Address)				uounuschi	mage	(E	E-mail Address)	
this Project "ON" the I Yes ate Highway System? I No	IF reg	YES ardii	S, STOP HERE	and contact	the D wiron)istrie	ct Local Assista Ital documentat	nce Engineer ion.
deral State Transportation Improvem	ent Pro	gra	m N/A				N/A	
STIP) http://www.dot.ca.gov/hq/transpr	og/fedp	gm.	htm: (Curren	tly Adopted Pla	n Date)	(Page No	attach to this form
ogramming Preliminary Enginee	rina		Right	of Way			Const	ruction
FSTIP: N/A \$	ing		N/A	s			N/A \$	S
(Fiscal Year) (Dol	lars)	• •	(Fiscal Year)	(Dollars	,	-	(Fiscal Year)	(Dollars)
tailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispo- e proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See atta	sal and be the exi ached P	orrow istin roje	sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description fo	activities, and c supported tin or more detai	onstru nber ls. Votes'	strin	ger with a reinf	orced concrete
etailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispo- e proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attra- eliminary Design Information:	the exi ached P	orrow istin roje	sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description fo (Continue a	activities, and c supported the or more detai	onstru nber ls. Votes	strin	ger with a reinf	orced concrete
etailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispo- te proposed project consists of replacing ock structure over Swain Slough. See attra- eliminary Design Information: les the project involve any of the follow layout including any additional pertiner	ing? Plat inform	istin roje	sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description fo <i>(Continue a</i> e check the appr on.	activities, and c supported the or more detain description on "h opriate boxes	onstru nber ls. Notes'	strin, sheet delir	ger with a reinf , <i>last page of this E</i>	orced concrete whibit, if necessar; ched map, plan
etailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispo- te proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See atta eliminary Design Information: tes the project involve any of the follow layout including any additional pertiner s No	ing? Plat inform	lease natio	sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description fo <i>(Continue a</i> e check the appr on.	activities, and c supported the or more detain description on "i opriate boxes	onstru nber ls. Votes' s and Yes	strin strin sheet delin No	ger with a reinf <i>last page of this E</i>	orced concrete
etailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing eck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive eliminary Design Information: The sthe project involve any of the follow layout including any additional pertiner s No Structure Widen existing roadway	ing? Plating? Plating?	lease natio	sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description fo <i>(Continue a</i> e check the appr on. Ground disturb	activities, and c supported the or more detail lescription on "i opriate boxes ance	onstru nber ls. Votes" s and Yes	delin	ger with a reinf <i>last page of this E</i> neate on an attac Easements	orced concrete
etailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attractited over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attra	ing? Plating? Plating?	lease natio	sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description fo <i>(Continue a</i> e check the appr on. Ground disturbs Road cut/fill Execution: app	activities, and c supported the or more detain lescription on "h copriate boxes ance	Notes *	delin	ger with a reinf <i>ast page of this E</i> neate on an attac Easements Equipment stag	orced concrete exhibit, if necessar ched map, plan ging
etailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attractite over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attrac	ing? Plating? Plating? Plating? Plating? Plating? Yes	lease matic	sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description fo <i>(Continue a</i> e check the appr on. Ground disturbs Road cut/fill Excavation: an maximum dept	activities, and c supported the or more detain description on "i opriate boxes ance ticipated	s and	delin	ger with a reinf <i>Last page of this E</i> neate on an attac Easements Equipment stag Temporary acc Utility relocatio	orced concrete Exhibit, if necessar ched map, plan ging ess road/detour
etailed Project Description: (Describe the musition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attractive structure over Swain Slough. See attractive step project involve any of the follow layout including any additional pertiner s No Sho Widen existing roadway Increase number of through lanes New alignment Capacity increasing—other (e.g., channelization)	ing? Platinform tinform Yes	lease natio	e check the appr on. Ground disturba Road cut/fill Excavation: an maximum deptl	activities, and c supported the or more detain lescription on "i opriate boxes ance ticipated n <u>8 ft</u>	Notes ³ s and Yes	delin	ger with a reinf <i>Last page of this E</i> neate on an attac Easements Equipment stag Temporary acc Utility relocatio Right of way ac	orced concrete Exhibit, if necessar ched map, plan ging ess road/detour on cquisition
atailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attractited over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attra	ing? Platin form Yes	lease matic No	sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description for <i>(Continue a</i>) e check the appr on. Ground disturba Road cut/fill Excavation: an maximum deptl Drainage/culves	activities, and c supported the or more detain tescription on "in copriate boxes ance ticipated n <u>8 ft</u> rts	s and	delin	ger with a reinf deate on an attac easements Equipment stag Temporary acc Utility relocatio Right of way ac (if yes, attach m	ched map, plan ched map, plan ging ess road/detour on cquisition nap with APN)
etailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attractited slough. See attractited slough. See attractive over Swain Slou	ing? Plant inform Yes		sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description fo <i>(Continue a</i> e check the appr on. Ground disturbs Road cut/fill Excavation: an maximum deptl Drainage/culves	activities, and c supported the or more detain lescription on "i opriate boxes ance ticipated 1 <u>& ft</u> etton	Notes"		ger with a reinf ger with a reinf <i>c. last page of this E</i> neate on an attac Easements Equipment stag Temporary acc Utility relocatio Right of way ac (if yes, attach n	Corced concrete Exhibit, if necessar ched map, plan ched map, plan ging ess road/detour on cquisition nap with APN)
etailed Project Description: (Describe the dusition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attractive structure over Swain Slough. See attractive step project involve any of the follow layout including any additional pertiner s s No Widen existing roadway Minerease number of through lanes New alignment Capacity increasing—other (e.g., channelization) Realignment Realignment Ramp or street closure	ing? Platinform ting? Platinform Yes	lease matic No	sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description for <i>(Continue a</i>) e check the appron. Ground disturbs Road cut/fill Excavation: an maximum deptl Drainage/culver Flooding protect Stream channel	activities, and c supported the or more detail description on "f opriate boxes ance ticipated n <u>8 ft</u> etion work	nber nber ls. Notes' s and Yes S S S S	delin	ger with a reinf deate on an attac east on an attac Easements Equipment stag Temporary acc Utility relocatio Right of way ac (if yes, attach n Disposal/borro	orced concrete Exhibit, if necessar ched map, plan ging ess road/detour on cquisition nap with APN) w sites
atailed Project Description: (Describe the nuisition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attractited structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough.	ing? Plating? Plating		sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description for <i>(Continue a</i>) e check the appro- on. Ground disturbs Road cut/fill Excavation: an maximum deptl Drainage/culver Flooding protect Stream channel Pile driving #	activities, and c supported the or more detail lescription on "i opriate boxes ance ticipated n <u>8 ft</u> rts stion work	Notes"	delin	ger with a reinf deate on an attac easements Equipment stag Temporary acc Utility relocatio Right of way ac (if yes, attach n Disposal/borror Part of larger ac	corced concrete Exhibit, if necessary ched map, plar ging ess road/detour on cquisition nap with APN) w sites djacent project
etailed Project Description: (Describe the dusition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attract	ing? Platinform ing? Platinform Yes		sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description for <i>(Continue a</i>) e check the appron on. Ground disturba Road cut/fill Excavation: an maximum deptl Drainage/culver Flooding protect Stream channel Pile driving	activities, and c supported the for more detail description on "f opriate boxes ance ticipated h <u>8 ft</u> rts stion work Y indicates pile drive	Notes '		ger with a reinf ger with a reinf <i>Last page of this E</i> neate on an attac Easements Equipment stag Temporary acc Utility relocatio Right of way ac (if yes, attach n Disposal/borror Part of larger ac	orced concrete Exhibit, if necessary ched map, plan ess road/detour on cquisition nap with APN) w sites djacent project
atailed Project Description: (Describe the disition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attractined to the slough over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slou	ing? Plating? Plating		sites, construction g 3 span simply ct Description for <i>(Continue a</i>) e check the appro- on. Ground disturbs Road cut/fill Excavation: an maximum deptl Drainage/culver Flooding protect Stream channel Pile driving # N: Demolition	activities, and c supported the or more detail lescription on "i opriate boxes ance ticipated a <u>8 ft</u> rts ction work Y indicates pile drive	nonstrumber nber ls. Notes' s and Yes S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	delin No CON String Str	ger with a reinf ger with a reinf <i>last page of this E</i> neate on an attac Easements Equipment stag Temporary acc Utility relocatio Right of way ac (if yes, attach n Disposal/borro Part of larger ac Railroad	corced concrete Exhibit, if necessary ched map, plan ched map, plan capusition nap with APN) w sites djacent project
etailed Project Description: (Describe the dusition, proposed facilities, staging areas, dispose proposed project consists of replacing ck structure over Swain Slough. See attractive over Swain Slough. See attract	ing? Platin form the exit ached P the ex		e check the appron Ground disturba Road cut/fill Excavation: an maximum deptl Drainage/culver Flooding protect Stream channel Pile driving	activities, and c supported the for more detail description on "f opriate boxes ance ticipated n <u>8 ft</u> rts stion work Y indicates pile drive	Notes"		ger with a reinf ger with a reinf <i>Last page of this E</i> neate on an attac Easements Equipment stag Temporary acc Utility relocatio Right of way ac (if yes, attach n Disposal/borrow Part of larger ac Railroad	orced concrete Exhibit, if necessary ched map, plan ess road/detour on cquisition nap with APN) w sites djacent project

Exhibit 6-A Preliminary Environmental Study (PES) Form

Examine the project for potential effects on the environment, direct or indirect and answer the following questions. The "construction area," as specified below, includes all areas of ground disturbance associated with the project, including staging and stockpiling areas and temporary access roads.

Each answer must be briefly documented on the "Notes" pages at the end of the PES Form.

Α.	Potential Environmental Effects	Yes	To Be Determined	No
Ge	neral			
1.	Will the project require future construction to fully utilize the design capabilities included in the proposed project?			\boxtimes
2.	Will the project generate public controversy?			\boxtimes
No	ise			
3.	Is the project a Type I project as defined in 23 CFR 772.5(h); "construction on new location or the physical alteration of an existing highway, which significantly changes either the horizontal or vertical alignment or increases the number of through-traffic lanes"?			
4.	Does the project have the potential for adverse construction-related noise impact (such as related to pile driving)?		\boxtimes	
Air	Quality			
5.	Is the project in a NAAQS non-attainment or maintenance area?			\boxtimes
6.	Is the project exempt from the requirement that a conformity determination be made? (If "Yes," state which conformity exemption in 40 CFR 93.126, Table 2 applies): repair of damage caused by natural disaster	\boxtimes		
7.	Is the project exempt from regional conformity? (If "Yes," state which conformity exemption in 40 CFR 93.127, Table 3 applies):			
8.	If project is not exempt from regional conformity, (If "No" on Question #7)			
	Is project in a metropolitan non-attainment/maintenance area?			\boxtimes
	Is project in an isolated rural non-attainment area?			\boxtimes
	Is project in a CO, PM10 and/or PM2.5 non-attainment/maintenance area?			\boxtimes
Ha	zardous Materials/Hazardous Waste			
9.	Is there potential for hazardous materials (including underground or aboveground tanks, etc.) and/or hazardous waste (including oil/water separators, waste oil, asbestos-containing material, lead-based paint, ADL, etc.) within or immediately adjacent to the construction area?			\boxtimes
Wa	ter Quality/Resources			
10.	Does the project have the potential to impact water resources (rivers, streams, bays, inlets, lakes, drainage sloughs) within or immediately adjacent to the project area?	\boxtimes		
11.	Is the project within a designated sole-source aquifer?			\boxtimes
Co	astal Zone			
12.	Is the project within the State Coastal Zone, San Francisco Bay, or Suisun Marsh?	\boxtimes		
Flo	odplain			
13.	Is the construction area located within a regulatory floodway or within the base floodplain (100-year) elevation of a watercourse or lake?	\boxtimes		
Wil	d and Scenic Rivers			
14.	Is the project within or immediately adjacent to a Wild and Scenic River System?			\boxtimes
Bic	logical Resources			
15.	Is there a potential for federally listed threatened or endangered species, or their critical habitat or essential fish habitat to occur within or adjacent to the construction area?	\boxtimes		
16.	Does the project have the potential to directly or indirectly affect migratory birds, or their nests or eggs (such as vegetation removal, box culvert replacement/repair, bridge work, etc.)?	\boxtimes		

Loc	al Assistance Procedures Manual Preliminary Enviro	nmental S	Exhi Study (PES	ibit 6-A 6) Form
17.	Is there a potential for wetlands to occur within or adjacent to the construction area?	\boxtimes		
18.	Is there a potential for agricultural wetlands to occur within or adjacent to the construction area?			
19.	Is there a potential for the introduction or spread of invasive plant species?		\boxtimes	
Se	ctions 4(f) and 6(f)			
20.	Are there any historic sites or publicly owned public parks, recreation areas, wildlife or waterfowl refuges (Section 4[f]) within or immediately adjacent to the construction area?		D	N
21.	Does the project have the potential to affect properties acquired or improved with Land and Water Conservation Fund Act (Section 6[f]) funds?		D	X
Vis	ual Resources		-	
22.	Does the project have the potential to affect any visual or scenic resources?		\boxtimes	
Re	location Impacts			
23.	Will the project require the relocation of residential or business properties?			\boxtimes
La	nd Use, Community, and Farmland Impacts			÷
24.	Will the project require any right of way, including partial or full takes? Consider construction easements and utility relocations.			
25.	Is the project inconsistent with plans and goals adopted by the community?			\boxtimes
26.	Does the project have the potential to divide or disrupt neighborhoods/communities?			\boxtimes
27.	Does the project have the potential to disproportionately affect low-income and minority populations?			
28.	Will the project require the relocation of public utilities?		\boxtimes	
29.	Will the project affect access to properties or roadways?	\boxtimes		
30.	Will the project involve changes in access control to the State Highway System (SHS)?			\boxtimes
31.	Will the project involve the use of a temporary road, detour, or ramp closure?	\boxtimes		
32.	Will the project reduce available parking?			\boxtimes
33.	Will the project construction encroach on state or federal lands?			\boxtimes
34.	Will the project convert any farmland to a different use or impact any farmlands?			\boxtimes
Cu	Itural Resources			
35.	Is there National Register listed, or potentially eligible historic properties, or archaeological resources within or immediately adjacent to the construction area? (Note: Caltrans POS answers question #35)			
36.	Is the project adjacent to, or would it encroach on Tribal land?			

в.	Required Technical Studies and Analyses	C. Coordination	D. Anticipated Actions/Permits/Approvals
X	Traffic		
1	Check one:		
	Traffic Study	Caltrans	Approval
	Technical Memorandum	Caltrans	Approval
	Discussion in ED Only	Caltrans	X Approval
X	Noise		
-	Check as applicable:		
Lass Pil	Traffic Related	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
(~	Construction Related		
1. 15.	Check one:		
er eD	Noise Study Report	Caltrans	
2 1			
un's/	Technical Memorandum		
her	Discussion in FD Only	X Caltrans	X Approval
N	Air Quality	- Culturio	inprovin
4	Check as applicables	les au construction de la constr	
	Traffic Palated		
	Check one:	H	
	Air Quality Report	Caltrans	
	Technical Memorandum	Caltrans	Approval
	Discussion in ED Only	Caltrans	Approval
		FHWA	Conformity Finding (6005 CEs, EAs, EIS:
		Caltrans	Conformity Finding (6004 CEs)
-		Regional Agency	PM10/PM2.5 Interagency Consultation
	Hazardous Materials/		
	Hazardous Waste		
	Check as applicable:		
	Initial Site Assessment	Caltrans	Approval
	(Phase 1)		
	Preliminary Site Assessment (Phase 2)	Caltrans	Approval
	Discussion in ED Only	Caltrans	Approval
		Cal EPA DTSC	Review Database
		Local Agency	Review Database
X	Water Quality/Resources		
14	Check as applicable:		
155	Water Quality Access Report	Caltrans	Approval
-0-	Tachnical Memorandum		
4	Discussion is ED Only		
	Discussion in ED Only	Canrans	Approval
Ц	Sole-Source Aquiter		
	(Districts 5, 6 and 11)	LLL EPA (SE Regional Office)	Approval of Analysis in FD

🛛 CCC

X

X

Coastal Zone

Coastal Zone Consistency Determination

В.	Required Technical Studies and Analyses	C.	Coordination	D.	Anticipated Actions/Permits/Approvals
_		-			
	Section 6(f)		Agency with Jurisdiction NPS		Determines Consistency with Long-Terr Management Plan
			NPS		Approves Conversion
X	Visual Resources				
	Check one:				
	Visual Impact Assessment		Caltrans		Approval
	Technical Memorandum		Caltrans		Approval
	Discussion in ED Only	X	Caltrans	\mathbf{X}	Approval
	Relocation Impacts			-	
	Check one:				
	Relocation Impact Memo		Caltrans		Approval
	Relocation Impact Study		Caltrans		Approval
	Relocation Impact Report		Caltrans		Approval
	Land Use and				
	Community Impacts				
	Check one:				
	CIA		Caltrans		Approval
	Technical Memorandum		Caltrans		Approval
	Discussion in ED Only		Caltrans		Approval
	Construction/Encroachment on State Lands <i>Check as applicable:</i>				
	SLC Jurisdiction		SLC		SLC Lease
	Caltrans Jurisdiction		Caltrans		Encroachment Permit
	SP Jurisdiction		SP		Encroachment Permit
	Construction/Encroachment on Federal Lands		Federal Agency with		Encroachment Permit
	Construction/Encroachment	In	Bureau of Indian Affairs		Right of Way Permit
-	On Indian Trust Lands		Earous of mutan Attanto		S.B. Or Huj Formit
X	Farmlands	1-			
23	Check one:				
			Caltrans		Approval
	Technical Memorandum		Caltrans		Approval
2	Discussion in ED Only	П	Caltrans		Approval
2	Check as applicable:				of the second
.1	Form AD 1006	X	NRCS	X	Approves Conversion
ul	4		CDOC		Approves Conversion
1 8	Conversion to Non-Agri Use		ACOE		-TE-sies sourceson
-			TICOL		

В.	Required Technical Studies and Analyses	C.	Coordination	D.	Anticipated Actions/Permits/Approvals
X	Floodplain				
	Check as applicable:				
	🔀 Location Hydraulic Study	X	Caltrans	X	Approval
	Floodplain Evaluation Report		Caltrans		Approval
	Summary Floodplain Encroachment Report		Caltrans	M	Approval
			Caltrans		Only Practicable Alternative Finding
			FHWA		Approves significant encroachments and concurs in Only Practicable Alternative Findings
	Wild and Scenic Rivers		River Managing Agency		Wild and Scenic Rivers Determination
X	Biological Resources Check as applicable:	X	Caltrans	X	Approval
-	NES NES	57			
	BA	X	Caltrans	X	Approves for Consultation
water	Goby/Salmonids	X	USFWS NOAA Fisheries		Section 7 Informal/Formal Consultation
	EFH Evaluation		NOAA Fisheries		MSA Consultation
	Bio-Acoustic Evaluation		NOAA Fisheries		Approval
	Technical Memorandum		Caltrans		Approval
152	Wetlands Check as applicable: WD and Assessment		Caltrans		Approval
		X	ACOE	X	Wetland Verification
o can	be included in		NRCS		Agricultural Wetland Verification
S.		M	Caltrans	X	Wetlands Only Practicable Alternative Finding
X	Invasive Plants	10.1			
	🔀 Discussion in ED Only	X	Caltrans		Approval
	Section 4(f) Check as applicable:		Caltrans		Determine Temporary Occupancy
	De minimis		Caltrans		De minimis finding
	Programmatic 4(f) Evaluation Type:		Caltrans		Approval
1	Individual 4(f) Evaluation		Caltrans		Approval
			Agency with Jurisdiction SHPO DOI HUD		
			USDA		

M	Cultural Deservation			Approvals
((PQS completes this section) Check as applicable:	Caltrans PQS		Screened Undertaking
C	🛛 АРЕ Мар	X Caltrans PQS an	d DLAE 🛛 💹	Approves APE Map
		Local Preservation and/or Native Au Tribes	on Groups	Provides Comments Regarding Concerns with Project
D	HPSR X ASR HRER	X Caltrans	Ø	Approves for Consultation
Ē	Finding of Effect Report	Caltrans		Concurs on No Effect, No Adverse Effect with Standard Conditions
		SHPO		Letter of Concurrence on Eligibility, No Adverse Effect without Standard
E	🗌 MOA	Caltrans		Approves MOA
		SHPO		Approves MOA
_		ACHP (if reques	ted)	Approves MOA
F 🛛 (Permits Copies of permits and a list of	ACOE	X	Section 404 Nationwide Permit
n	nitigation commitments are	ACOE		Section 404 Individual Permit
n N	nandatory submittals following NEPA approval.	Caltrans/ACOE/I USFWS NOAA Fisheries	EPA	NEPA/404 Integration MOU
		ACOE		Rivers and Harbors Act Section 10 Permit
		USCG		USCG Bridge Permit
		RWQCB	X	Section 401 Water Quality Certification
		CDFG	X	Section 1602 Streambed Alteration Agreement
		RWQCB		NPDES Permit
		CCC	×	Coastal Zone Permit
				BCDC Permit

Notes: Additional studies may be required for other federal agencies.

ACHP	=	Advisory Council on Historic Preservation	HRER	==	Historical Resources Evaluation Report
ACOE	=	U.S. Army Corps of Engineers	HUD	=	U.S. Housing and Urban Development
ADL	=	Aerially Deposited Lead	MOA	=	Memorandum of Agreement
APE	=	Area of Potential Effect	MSA	=	Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and
APN	=	Assessor Parcel Number			Management Act
ASR		Archaeological Survey Report	NEPA	=	National Environmental Policy Act
BA	===	Biological Assessment	NADR	⇒	Noise Abatement Decision Report
BCDC	=	Bay Conservation and Development Commission	NES	=	Natural Environment Study
BE	=	Biological Evaluation	NHPA	=	National Historic Preservation Act
BO	=	Biological Opinion	NOAA	=	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
Cal EPA	=	California Environmental Protection Agency	NMFS		National Marine Fisheries Service
CCC	=	California Coastal Commission	NPDES	=	National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System
CDFG	⇒	California Department of Fish and Game	NPS	=	National Park Service
CDOC	=	California Department of Conservation	NRCS	=	Natural Resources Conservation Service
CE	=	Categorical Exclusion	PM10	=	Particulate Matter 10 Microns in Diameter or Less
CIA	=	Community Impact Assessment	PM2.5	=	Particulate Matter 2.5 Microns in Diameter or Less
CWA	=	Clean Water Act	PMP	=	Project Management Plan
DLAE	=	District Local Assistance Engineer	PQS	==	Professionally Qualified Staff
DOI	=	U.S. Department of Interior	ROD	=	Record of Decision
DTSC	\Rightarrow	Department of Toxic Substances Control	RTIP	===	Regional Transportation Improvement Program
EA	=	Environmental Assessment	RTP		Regional Transportation Plan
ED	=	Environmental Document	RWQCB	=	Regional Water Quality Control Board
EFH	=	Essential Fish Habitat	SER	=	Standard Environmental Reference
EIS	=	Environmental Impact Statement	SEP	=	Senior Environmental Planner
EPA	=	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency	SHPO	==	State Historic Preservation Officer
FEMA	=	Federal Emergency Management Agency	SLC	=	State Lands Commission
FHWA	==	Federal Highway Administration	SP	=	State Parks
FONSI	=	Finding of No Significant Impacted	TIP	=	Transportation Improvement Program
FTIP	=	Federal Transportation Improvement Program	USCG	=	U.S. Coast Guard
HPSR	=	Historic Property Survey Report	USDA	=	U.S. Department of Agriculture
			USFWS	=	U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
			WD	=	Wetland Delineation

E.	Preliminary Environmental Document Classification (NEPA)							
	Based on the evaluation of the project, the environmental document to be developed should be:							
	Check one:							
	Environmental Impact Statement (Note: Engagement with participating agencies in accordance with SAFETEA-LU Section 6002 required)							
	Compliance with SAFETEA-LU Section 6002 regarding Participating Agencies required							
	Complex Environmental Assessment							
	Routine Environmental Assessment							
	Categorical Exclusion without required technical studies.							
	Categorical Exclusion with required technical studies							
	(if Categorical Exclusion is selected, check one of the following):							
	Section 6004 classes pending on							
	23 CFR 771 activity (c)() This may change tech studics.							
	23 CFR 771 activity (d) (<u>3</u>)							
	Activity listed in the Section 6004 MOU							
	Section 6005							
F.	Public Availability and Public Hearing							
	Check as applicable:							
	Not Required							
	Notice of Availability of Environmental Document -> This will be conducted							
	Public Meeting through the CEQA Process.							
	Notice of Opportunity for a Public Hearing Unless a higher level NEPA							
	Doc is required.							
	CEQA IS/MND is anticipated							
_								

G. Signatures

Local Agency Staff and/or Consultant Signature

(Signature of Preparer)

1-25-2012 (Date) 268-2699 (Telephone No.)

Andrew Bundschuh, Senior Environmental Analyst (Name)

Local Agency Project Engineer Signature

This document was prepared under my supervision, in accordance with the *Local Assistance Procedures Manual*, Exhibit 6-B, "Instructions for Completing the Preliminary Environmental Study Form."

Kulwoeth auto (Signature of Local Agency) 445-73 (Date) (Telephone No.)

Caltrans District Professional	y Qualified Staff	(PQS)	Signature
--------------------------------	-------------------	-------	-----------

Project does not meet definition of an "undertaking"; no further review is necessary under Section 106 ("No" Section A, #35).
Project is limited to the type of activity listed in Attachment 2 of the Section 106 PA and based on the information provided in the PES Form, the project does not have the potential to affect historic properties ("No" Section A, #35).
Project is limited to the type of activity listed in Attachment 2 of the Section 106 PA, but the following additional

- procedures or information is needed to determine the potential for effect ("To Be Determined" Section A, #35): **Records Search** \Box
- Project meets the definition of an "undertaking"; all properties in the project area are exempt from evaluation per Attachment 4 of the Section 106 PA ("No" Section A, #35).
- The proposed undertaking is considered to have the potential to affect historic properties; further studies for 106 compliance are indicated in Sections B, C, and D of this PES Form ("Yes" Section A, #35).

707 441 2022 (Telephone No.) ofessionally Qualified Staff) (Signatura

The following signatures are required for all CEs, routine and complex EAs, and EISs:

Caltrans District Senior Environmental Planner (or Designee) and DLAE Signatures

I have reviewed this Preliminary Environmental Study (PES) Form and determined that the submittal is complete and sufficient. I concur with the studies to be performed and the recommended NEPA Class of Action.

Signature of Senior Environmental Planner or Designee)

02/22/12 (Date)

(Telephone No.)

Srand arsen (Name)

District Local Assistance Engineer or Designee)

(Telephone No

HQ DEA Environmental Coordinator concurrence

E-mail concurrence attached.

(date)

Preliminary Environmental Investigation Notes to Support the Conclusions of the PES Form (May Also Include Continuation of Detailed Project Description)

Brief Explanation of How Project Complies, or Will Comply with Applicable Federal Mandate (Part A): 1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9. 10. 11. 12. 13. 14. 15. 16. 17. 18. 19.

20.			
21.			
22.			
23.			
24.			
25.			
26.			
27.			
28.			
29.			
30.			
31.			
32.			
33.			
34.			
35.			
36.			

Distribution1) Original - DLAE, 2) Local Agency Project Manager, 3) DLA Environmental Coordinator4) Senior Environmental Planner (or designee), 5) District PQS

Updated: 05/15/08

PES DOCUMENTATION

Project:Swain Slough Bridge Replacement [BRLO-5904(0112)]Applicant:Humboldt County Department of Public WorksDate:January 25, 2012

Location

The project is located on Pine Hill Road at post mile 0.20. It is 2 miles south of Eureka in Section 4, Township 4 North, Range 1 West, and can be seen on the Eureka 7.5' USGS quadrangle map (see attached maps). GPS Coordinates: Latitude: 40.7525568N; Longitude: 124.1827002W.

Background

The Swain Slough Bridge is a 63-foot, three-span structure with a concrete deck on timber stringers. The bridge, constructed in 1955, is located on Pine Hill Road approximately 0.2 miles east of Elk River Road just south of Eureka, CA. Pine Hill Road provides access across Swain Slough to residential neighborhoods and connects to Herrick Street, a major arterial out of southern Eureka. The existing timber stringers are in poor condition as are the concrete support columns and the bridge has been categorized as both Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete.

Project Description

The proposed project is replacement of an existing concrete bridge with a new, single-span, cast in place, pre-stressed concrete slab or box girder bridge. The new bridge will include two standard road widths (11-12-ft) and adjacent shoulder/bike lanes (4-6-ft). A Request For Proposals (RFP) has been initiated by the County to find a consultant for design engineering and project development. The consultant will prepare design for roadway bridge approaches and bridge structure for the selected alternative for the new Swain Slough crossing. This work will also include the preparation of traffic control plans, construction plans and specifications utilizing Caltrans Standards, detailed cost estimates, and bid documents utilizing standard County construction contract provisions. The design will also contain identification of any utilities that may need to be relocated as a result of the new crossing.

General Construction Details

Once the consultant develops an approved final design, the County will have a better understanding of construction details. Construction will basically be done in two phases; first being demolition of the existing bridge and second being construction of the new bridge. Activities will also involve water diversion or separation from the bridge site.

Environmental Impacts

Once the consultant develops an approved final design, the County will have a better understanding of environmental impacts. Since the project is surrounded by wetlands and involves a bridge over a slough containing ESA species, special studies and reports will be required to analyze potential impacts and corresponding mitigation measures if necessary.

Traffic Control

It will be necessary to close Pine Hill Road and detour traffic away from the construction site. Traffic will be restricted from access to the bridge location and a detour will be in place. The prime detour route for traffic during construction will be approximately 1.6 miles, and will affect
only a limited number of residencies adjacent to the bridge. The detour will result in temporary, minor traffic delays.

Erosion/Sediment Control Measures

The project will require the contractor to submit a Water Pollution Control Plan (WPCP) or Stormwater Pollution Protection Plan (SWPPP) for approval before construction begins. Adequate implementation of BMPs, monitoring, and reporting methodologies will be required.

As a general rule, to minimize erosion, sediment, and pollutant contribution to Swain Slough and surrounding wetlands, best management practices such as the following measures will be part of the WPCP or SWPPP.

- Construction will be done during summer months when the chance of precipitation is lowest.
- Construction equipment will be cleaned and inspected prior to use. Equipment maintenance and fueling will be done at designated staging areas.
- On-site stockpiles will be isolated with silt fence, filter fabric, and/or straw bales/fiber rolls.
- Silt fence or fiber rolls will be placed below the project areas to contain loose rolling rocks and sediment. Silt fence/fiber rolls will be kept in place and maintained during the entire project. Any sediment caught by the fence or rolls will be removed before the fence/rolls are pulled.
- Ground disturbed by construction work will be revegetated with fast-growing native grasses and sterile hybrids and mulched when work is complete.
- The site will be monitored by Public Works personnel during winter rains and any evidence of erosion (rilling, gullies, etc.) will be repaired immediately. In addition, areas where revegetation is not successful will be reseeded and re-mulched to ensure vegetative ground cover.

PES Documentation

General

- 1. The project consists of the replacement of a structurally deficient bridge. It will not require future construction, however, future road improvements on either side of the bridge may be instituted in the future (road widening and shoulder/bike lane development).
- 2. The bridge is structurally deficient and contains narrow lanes with no shoulder or bike lanes. The public most likely supports safety improvements to roadways and bridges. To date, there has been no public comment regarding the project, and no public controversy is anticipated.

<u>Noise</u>

3. This is not a Type I project. There will be no significant change in horizontal or vertical alignment, and no increase in the number of through lanes. The proposal is to place the new bridge at the same location, both horizontally and vertically. However, the new bridge may be slightly elevated than the existing bridge, but it is unknown at this time until final design plans have been developed.

4. Other than a temporary increase in ambient noise from heavy equipment working during construction, it is unlikely that there will be any excessive noise related impacts. The proposed new bridge will be single span and therefore no pile driving is anticipated. However, once a final design has been developed, all noise impacts associated with the project will be analyzed.

Air Quality

- 5. The project is not in a NAAQS non-attainment or maintenance area.
- 6. The project is exempt from the requirement to determine project level conformity. Widening narrow pavements/reconstructing bridges with no additional traffic lanes is listed in Section 93.126, Table 2.
- 7. The project is not listed in Section 93.127, Table 3-Projects Exempt from Regional Emissions Analyses.
- 8. The project is not located in an "isolated rural" area. Humboldt County (North Coast Unified Air Quality District) is not in non-attainment for particulate matter smaller than 10 microns (PM10) and particular matter smaller than 2.5 microns (PM2.5) as per National ambient air quality standards. It is in non-attainment for PM10 according to California ambient air quality standards, but not in non-attainment for PM2.5 as per California standards.

Hazardous Materials/Hazardous Waste

9. There is no evidence of development activities in the project area. The Humboldt County Department of Public Health, Division of Environmental Health is unaware of any hazardous material spills in the area. There is no lead based paint Co. Just Replaced rails and repainted of Leter Paint.

Water Quality/Resources

- 10. The project is located over Swain Slough, a tributary to Elk River. Erosion/sediment control measures will be used to prevent adverse water quality impacts. The contractor will be required to develop either a WPCP or a SWPPP.
- 11. The project is in Humboldt County and therefore is not within a designated sole-source aquifer.

Coastal Zone

12. The project is located within the State Coastal Zone (see attached map).

Floodplain

13. The project is located within a regulatory floodplain or within the base floodplain elevation (FEMA FIRM Map #060060-0775C, July 1982).

Wild & Scenic Rivers

14. The project is not located near a Wild and Scenic River.

Biological Resources

-

15. The U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service has listed the following plants and animal species as threatened or candidate for listing for the Eureka 7.5' USGS quadrangle:

Daminut	January 25, 2012							
Түре	SCIENTIFIC NAME	COMMON NAME	CATEGORY	CRIT HAB				
Plants	1							
	i Brysimum mermiesii	Idenzies' walklower	E					
	Lapia camosa	beach layia	E					
	Lilium occidentale	western lily	E					
Invertebrat	8							
*	Haliotis cracherodii	black abalone	E	1				
Fish								
*	Acipenser medirostris	Biew spilleou	T	•				
	Bucyclogobius newbernyi	tidewater goby	E					
H.	Oncorhprehus kisutch	S. OR/N. CA coho salmon	T					
*	Oncorlynchus mykiss	Northern California steelhead	Т	•				
*	Oncortprehus tshawytscha	CA coastal chinook salmon	т	•				
Reptile								
*	Caretta caretta	loggeneed turtle	т	1				
*	Chelonia mydas (incl. agassisi)	green tutle	Т	1				
*	Demochelys coriacea	leatherback turtle	E	•				
т., ж	Lepidochelm olivarea	olive (=Pecific) ridley see turtle	т					
Birds								
	Brachpramphus marmaratus	mathled marrelet	т	•				
	Charadrius alexandrinus nivosus	western snowy plover	т	•				
	Coccentra americantes	Western yellow-billed cuckoo	C	1				
	Phoebastris albatrus	short-tailed elbatross	E	1				
	Sinz occidentalis colonia	nothern spotted owi	Ť					
Mammals	Synthecoloramphils hyponeticits	XANDIS'S MAIREN	L.					
*	Ralamantera karealis	sei whale	E	,				
*	Palamentera wurdulu	bhea seileala	- F	,				
		one wrate	E					
	savaenaptera privatus	TUU MURITE	L _	-				
.	Bumetopias jubatus	Steller (=notihem) sea-lion	Т					
*	Megaptera novaengliae	hampback whale	E	1				
*	Oránus arca	killer whale, S. resident.	E	1				
*	Physeter macrocephalus	spenn whale	E	1				
KEY: (PF)] (PI)] (F)E	Proposed Endangused — Proposed in Co Kedes Proposed I Recebused — Proposed as Hody b dangused — La Bed in Co Kedesell	(al La girba ar loing in danga of extinction tecome sulangued within the forceeable from to girba ar loing in danga of extinction	10					

Swain Slough is located at the project site and contains habitat for Southern Oregon/Northern California coho salmon, Northern California steelhead, California coastal chinook salmon, and tidewater goby. The project may affect listed fish and/or their habitats since the proposed work includes water diversion and work within the channel. The project area does not contain habitat for marbled inurrelet, northern spotted owl, or Western yellow-billed cuckoo; thus the proposed project will have no effect to these species.

The CNDDB was queried on January 25, 2012, for the species listed above. Federally listed fish species (Coho and tidewater goby) and their critical habitats occur within or adjacent to the project area (see attached CNDDB map). Ambient noise in the project vicinity is relatively high due to the close proximity of Elk River Road, Highway 101 and the city of Eureka.

- 16. The project will require the removal of the existing bridge that could be used by migratory birds (Swallows). No suitable vegetation is proposed to be removed, and thus only the bridge itself may be used by migratory birds. It is unknown if swallows currently use the bridge for nesting.
- 17. The project area is surrounded by agricultural and 3-parameter wetlands. It is likely that there will be temporary impacts to wetlands. Potential permanent impacts are unknown until final design and further studies are completed.
- 18. The project area is surrounded by agricultural and 3-parameter wetlands. It is likely that there will be temporary impacts to wetlands. Potential permanent impacts are unknown until final design and further studies are completed.
- 19. Upon completion of construction, all disturbed areas will be seeded with a mix of fastgrowing native grass species and sterile hybrids, and mulched with weed-free straw. The heavy equipment used for project construction will be cleaned and inspected prior to transport to the project site, reducing the potential for invasive weed introduction.

Sections 4(f) & 6(f)

- 20. There are no publicly owned state or federal parks, recreation areas, wildlife or waterfowl refuges within or adjacent to the project area. All surrounding land is privately owned.
- 21. The project will not result in the conversion of lands acquired or developed through the Land and Water Conservation Fund Act [Section 6(f)].

Visual Resources

22. The project has the potential to temporarily affect the visual environment during construction as it will be visible from Elk River Road and some residences in the surrounding area. The project will not result in permanent visual impacts because post-construction topography will be similar to those currently existing.

Relocation Impacts

23. There are no residential or business properties in the project area that will need to be relocated.

Land Use, Community, & Farmland Impacts

- 24. The project may require the acquisition of permanent right-of-way. Most, if not all work will be performed in the existing county road right-of-way. It may require temporary construction easements for equipment staging. Right-of-way issues will not be known until final design plans have been completed.
- 25. The project is consistent with the Humboldt County General Plan road standards.
- 26. The project is not located within a cohesive community. It will not disrupt a neighborhood/community.
- 27. The project vicinity has not been identified as being particularly low-income or having high minority population.
- 28. The project may require relocation of utilities. There is a sewer main pipe that currently runs alongside the existing bridge. It is unknown if the sewer main will be relocated, abandoned or replaced.
- 29. The project will affect access to nearby properties or roadways since the bridge location will be closed during construction. However, there will be a temporary detour that will cause minor delays for the traveling public.
- 30. The project does not involve a change in access control.
- 31. It will be necessary to close Pine Hill Road and detour traffic away from the construction site. Traffic will be restricted from access to the bridge location and a detour will be in place. The prime detour route for traffic during construction will be approximately 1.6 miles, and will affect only a limited number of residencies adjacent to the bridge. The detour will result in temporary, minor traffic delays.
- 32. There is currently no parking available in the project area. The project will not create or reduce parking availability.
- 33. The project will not encroach on state or federal land as all surrounding property is privately owned.
- 34. The project area does contain agricultural land used for cattle grazing. However, the project will not convert any farmland to a different use nor should the project impact any of the agricultural properties. Prime or Unique farmland? williamson Act Land?

If so an AD 1000 from will need to be filled out.

Cultural Resources

- 35. The Public Works Natural Resources Division archaeological databank does not contain any records of archaeological sites in the project area. Review of aerial photographs from 1941 to 1988 did not reveal any historic development in the project area.
- 36. There is no Tribal land in the project area or vicinity.

.





Name: EUREKA Date: 1/24/2012 Scale: 1 inch equals 2000 feet Location: 040.7610211° N 124.1801865° W NAD 83 Caption: Swain Slough Bridge Replacement - Pine Hill Rd PM 0.20









Occurrence Report California Department of Fish and Game

California Natural Diversity Database



Map Index Num	nber:	06801		EO Index:		9469	
Key Quad:		Eureka (4012	2472)	Element Code:		AFCHA0208A	
Occurrence Nu	mber:	42		Occurrence Last U	pdated:	1997-03-27	
Scientific Name	e: On	corhynchus cl	arkii clarkii	Common Name:	coast cut	throat trout	
Listing Status:		Federal:	None	Rare Plant Rank:			
		State:	None	Other Lists:	AFS_VU-	-Vulnerable	
CNDDB Element Rank		Global:	G4T4		DFG_SS	C-Species of Special Concern	
		State:	S3				
General Habitat	t:			Micro Habitat:			
SMALL COASTA BORDER.	AL STRE	AMS FROM T	HE EEL RIVER TO THE OREGO	N SMALL, LOW GRAD SHADED STREAMS SPAWNING	DIENT CO	ASTAL STREAMS & ESTUARII ATER TEMPS <18C, & SMALL	ES. NEED GRAVEL FOR
Last Date Obse	erved:	1980-XX-XX		Occurrence Type:	Natural/I	Native occurrence	
Last Survey Dat	ite:	1980-XX-XX		Occurrence Rank:	Unknow	n	
Owner/Manager	r: 1	PVT		Trend:	Unknow	n	
Presence:	1	Presumed Ext	ant				
Location:							
MARTIN SLOUG	GH; TRIB	TO SWAIN SL	OUGH WHICH IS A TRIB TO EL	K RIVER (HUMBOLDT BAY).		
Detailed Locatio	on:						
2 MILES OF OC	CUPIED	OR ACCESSI	BLE HABITAT.				
Ecological:							
POPULATIONS	TEND TO	BE HIGHER	IN STREAM SECTIONS WITHO	UT OTHER SALMONIDS.			
Threats:							
CHANNELIZATI General:	ON, POLI	LUTION, SILT	ATION, FLAPGATES, RECLAMA	ATION OF MARSHLAND WIT	H DIKES	(SOME OR ALL OF THESE MA	AY APPLY).
ELECTROFISHI TRIBS. LARGER	ING SURV R NUMBE	/EYS OF HUN RS, OVER 12	/BOLDT BAY TRIBS, INDICATE 5/KM, HAVE BEEN OBSERVED	GENERALLY LOW NUMBER	RS, LESS REAMS.	THAN 6 CT-C/KM, OCCUR IN	MOST BAY
PLSS: TO4N, F	R01W, Se	c. 04 (H)	Accuracy:	specific area		Area (acres):	118
JTM: Zone-10	0 N45124	35 E401074	Latitude/Longitude:	40.75693 / -124.17195		Elevation (feet):	20
County Summary: Quad Summary:							
Humboldt			Eureka (4012472)				
Sources:							
GER80U0001	GERST ONCOF CONFL	UNG, ERIC (C RHYNCHUS A UENTUS 1980	CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF GUABONITA WHITEI, O. CLARK 0-XX-XX	FISH AND GAME) - LOCALI KI CLARKI, O. CLARKI HENS	TIES FOR SHAWI, O.	ENDANGERED SALMONIDS: CLARKI SELENIRIS, SALVELI	NUS
GER85M0001	GERST XX	UNG, E. (CAL	IFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FIS	SH AND GAME) - MAPS OF I	HUMBOLD	OT AND DEL NORTE COUNTIE	S. 1985-XX-
GER96U0001	GERST UPDAT	UNG, E. (CAL ES TO RAREI	IFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FIS FIND PRINTOUTS FOR ONCOR	SH AND GAME) - LIST OF ST HYNCHUS CLARKI CLARKI	TREAMS A (COAST (AND WHEN THEY WERE SUR' CUTTHROAT TROUT). 1996-00	VEYED, AND 3-XX



Occurrence Report

California Department of Fish and Game

California Natural Diversity Database



Map Index Number: Key Quad: Occurrence Number:	81225 Eureka (4012 119	472)	EO Index: Element Code: Occurrence Last U	pdated:	82215 AFCQN04010 2010-12-29		
Scientific Name: E	ucyclogobius ne	ewberryi	Common Name:	tidewater	goby		
Listing Status:	Federal:	Endangered	Rare Plant Rank:				
	State:	None	Other Lists:	AFS_EN	-Endangered		
CNDDB Element Rank	s: Global:	G3		DFG_SSC-Species of Special Concern IUCN_VU-Vulnerable			
	State:	S2S3					
General Habitat:			Micro Habitat:				
BRACKISH WATER HA HEDIONDA LAGOON, S RIVER.	BITATS ALONG	G THE CALIF COAST FROM AGU, TO THE MOUTH OF THE SMITH	A FOUND IN SHALLO H THEY NEED FAIRL OXYGEN LEVELS.	W LAGOO Y STILL B	DNS AND LOWER STREAM RE UT NOT STAGNANT WATER &	ACHES, HIGH	
Last Date Observed:	2006-08-28		Occurrence Type:	Natural/	Native occurrence		
Last Survey Date:	2006-08-28		Occurrence Rank:	Unknow	'n		
Owner/Manager:	UNKNOWN		Trend:	Unknow	'n		
Presence:	Presumed Ext	ant					
Location:							
VICINITY OF SWAIN SI	LOUGH AND EL	K RIVER. SOUTH OF EUREKA.					
Detailed Location:							
LAT-LONG GIVEN IS IN MAPPED TO INCLUDE	BOTH ELK RIVER	JT DESCRIPTION GIVES LOCATI ER AND SWAIN SLOUGH.	ON AS "AN UNNAMED SL	OUGH TR	IBUTARY TO THE MAINSTEM	ELK RIVER".	
Ecological:							
Threats:							
General:							
ONE 26 MM TL GOBY (FIRST REPORT OF A C	COLLECTED OI	N 28 AUG 2006. GOBY HAD AN A N A TIDEWATER GOBY. DEPOSI	TTACHED 4 MM PARASIT FED IN HUMBOLDT STATI	IC CYMO E UNIV FIS	THOID ISOPOD ON ITS GILL. 7 SH COLLECTION (HSU 4275).	THIS IS THE	
PLSS: T04N, R01W,	Sec. 04 (H)	Accuracy:	2/5 mile		Area (acres):	0	
UTM: Zone-10 N451	2133 E399882	Latitude/Longitude:	40.75406 / -124.18602		Elevation (feet):	12	
County Summary:		Quad Summary:					
Humboldt		Fields Landing (40124	62), Eureka (4012472)				
Sources:							
FRI07A0001 FRIM FROM FISH	ODIG, A. & G. G A A TIDEWATER AND GAME 94(GOLDSMITH (CALIFORNIA DEPA R GOBY AND THREE NEW TIDEV 4): 194-199, 2008, 2007-09-17	RTMENT OF FISH AND GA VATER GOBY LOCALITIES	ME) - FIR 5 IN HUME	ST RECORD OF A CYMOTHO BOLDT COUNTY, CALIFORNIA	ID ISOPOD : CALIFORNIA	



Occurrence Report California Department of Fish and Game

California Natural Diversity Database



Map Index Number:	27975	470)	EO Index:		24270	
Occurrence Number:	2	+/2)	Drabber Code: PDFAB250P0 Occurrence Last Updated: 1996-05-30			
Scientific Name: La	athyrus palustris		Common Name:	marsh pe	a	
Listing Status:	Federal:	None	Rare Plant Rank:	2.2		
	State:	None	Other Lists:			
CNDDB Element Ranks	: Global:	G5				
	State:	S2S3				
General Habitat:			Micro Habitat:			
BOGS & FENS, LOWER SWAMPS, N. COAST C COASTAL SCRUB.	MONTANE CO	NIF. FOREST, MARSHES & OREST, COASTAL PRAIRIE,	MOIST COASTAL A	REAS. 1-	100M.	
Last Date Observed:	1949-08-03		Occurrence Type:	Natural/I	Native occurrence	
Last Survey Date:	1949-08-03		Occurrence Rank:	Unknow	n	
Owner/Manager:	UNKNOWN		Trend:	Unknow	n	
Presence:	Presumed Exta	int				
Location:						
SOUTHERN OUTSKIRT	S OF EUREKA.					
Detailed Location:						
MAPPED IN THE VICIN	TY OF THE MO	UTH OF THE EEL RIVER AND M	IARTIN SLOUGH. EXACT L	OCATION	I UNKNOWN.	
Ecological:						
MARSH AND BOG LAN	D.					
Threats:						
General:						
ONLY SOURCE OF INF	ORMATION FOR	R THIS SITE IS 1949 COLLECTION	ON BY NOBS AND SMITH.			
PLSS: T04N, R01W, S	ec. 03 (H)	Accuracy:	1 mile		Area (acres):	0
UTM: Zone-10 N4513	041 E400758	Latitude/Longitude:	40.76235 / -124.17580		Elevation (feet):	50
County Summary:		Quad Summary:				
Humboldt		Fields Landing (40124	62), Eureka (4012472)			
Sources:						
NOB4950006 NOBS	M & S SMITH	NOBS #1187 DS #415212 LIC	#1101473 POM #312874 1	040.08.03	3	

IOB49S0006 NOBS, M. & S. SMITH - NOBS #1187 DS #415212, UC #1191473, POM #312874 1949-08-0



Occurrence Report California Department of Fish and Game California Natural Diversity Database



Map Index Number:	26633 Fielde Lendin	- (4012462)	EO Index:		1305	
Occurrence Number: 3		Occurrence Last U	pdated:	2004-01-21		
Scientific Name: S	idalcea oregana	ssp. eximia	Common Name:	coast sida	alcea	
Listing Status:	Federal:	None	Rare Plant Rank:	1B.2		
	State:	None	Other Lists:	BLM S-S	Sensitive	
CNDDB Element Rank	s: Global:	G5T1				
	State:	S1.2				
General Habitat:			Micro Habitat:			
MEADOWS AND SEEP MONTANE CONIFERO	S, NORTH COA US FOREST.	ST CONIFEROUS FOREST, LOW	VER NEARS MEADOWS	, IN GRAV	ELLY SOIL. 0-1800M.	
Last Date Observed:	1907-06-25		Occurrence Type:	Natural/N	Native occurrence	
Last Survey Date:	1907-06-25		Occurrence Rank:	Unknow	n	
Owner/Manager:	UNKNOWN		Trend:	Unknow	n	
Presence:	Presumed Exta	ant				
Location:						
ELK PRAIRIE, VALLEY	OF THE ELK RI	VER.				
Detailed Location:						
MAPPED NORTHEAST	OF FIELDS LAN	NDING.				
Ecological:						
ALONG DITCH IN VALL	EY OF RIVER 0	-500'				
Threats:						
General:						
ONLY SOURCE OF INF SIDALCEA" IN U WASH	ORMATION FO	R THIS SITE IS COLLECTION BY L 18 BY HITCHCOCK (1957).	TRACY #2578 CITED IN "	A STUDY	OF THE PERENNIAL SPECIE	S OF
PLSS: T04N, R01W, S	Sec. 09 (H)	Accuracy:	1 mile		Area (acres):	0
UTM: Zone-10 N4510	388 E400106	Latitude/Longitude:	40.73838 / -124.18310		Elevation (feet):	100
County Summary:		Quad Summary:				
Humboldt		Fields Landing (401246	52), Eureka (4012472)			

TRA07S0007 TRACY, J. - TRACY #2578 UC #146131 & #146134 1907-06-25



Occurrence Report California Department of Fish and Game California Natural Diversity Database



Map Index Num	ber:	58540		EO Index:		45798	
Key Quad:		Eureka (4012	472)	Element Code:		PMCYP037Y0	
Occurrence Nur	mber:	9		Occurrence Last U	pdated:	2005-07-07	
Scientific Name	: Ca	rex lyngbyei		Common Name:	Lyngbye	's sedge	
Listing Status:		Federal:	None	Rare Plant Rank:	2.2		
		State:	None	Other Lists:			
CNDDB Element	t Ranks:	Global:	G5				
		State:	S2.2				
General Habitat:				Micro Habitat:			
MARSHES AND	SWAMP	S (BRACKISH	OR FRESHWATER).	OM.			
Last Date Obser	rved:	2002-07-19		Occurrence Type:	Natural/	Native occurrence	
Last Survey Dat	te:	2002-07-19		Occurrence Rank:	Good		
Owner/Manager	:	JNKNOWN		Trend:	Unknow	'n	
Presence:		Presumed Exta	ant				
Location:							
SOUTH OF EUR	EKA, AL	ONG MARTIN	SLOUGH AND SWAIN SLOUGH	н.			
Detailed Locatio	on:						
SCATTERED AL MAPPED AS TW	ONG PC	RTIONS OF M GONS EXTEN	ARTIN SLOUGH AND SWAIN S IDING FROM THE SW 1/4 OF S	SLOUGH, WITH ONE OUTLY ECTION 4 TO FAR NORTHE	YING SUB	POPULATION WEST OF HIGH TON 9 TO THE SW 1/4 OF SEC	WAY 101. CTION 3.
Ecological:							
SALT MARSH, F PACIFICA, SPAR	RESHW.	ATER MARSH ENSIFLORA, T	/STREAM, AND SLOW-MOVING YPHA LATIFOLIA, GLYCERIA F	G BRACKISH WATER. ASSO PAUCIFLORA, ALOPECURU	CIATED V	NITH POTENTILLA ANSERINA TUS, DISTICHLIS SPICATA, E	SSP. TC.
Threats:							
GRAZING, NON-	NATIVE	SPARTINA DE	ENSIFLORA.				
General:							
VERY LARGE NU ELK RIVER" BY	UMBER	OF PLANTS S ALSO ATTRIBI	EEN IN 2002. HABITAT VARIES JTED HERE.	FROM EXCELLENT TO PC	OR. OLD	COLLECTIONS FROM "NEAR	MOUTH OF
PLSS: T04N, R	R01W, Se	ec. 04 (H)	Accuracy:	specific area		Area (acres):	38
UTM: Zone-10	0 N45119	52 E400236	Latitude/Longitude:	40.75248 / -124.18181		Elevation (feet):	10
County Summar	ry:		Quad Summary:				
Humboldt			Eureka (4012472)				
Sources:							
EIC99U0001	EICHER	R, R. & A. EICH	HER - EMAIL TO D. TIBOR REG	ARDING CAREX LYNGBYE	1999-04-	29	
LOV02F0001	LOVEL	ACE, B FIEL DLDTIENSIS 2	D SURVEY FORM FOR CAREX 002-07-19	LYNGBYEI WITH OBSERV	ATION OF	CASTILLEJA AMBIGUA SSP.	
TRA15S0003	TRACY	, J TRACY #	4646 UC #194811 1915-06-06				
TRA27S0004	TRACY	, J TRACY #	8248 JEPS #79849, UC #56233	3 1927-07-16			
TRA38S0012	TRACY	J.P TRACY	#16069 JEPS #26004, UC #111	15809 1938-07-15			

PROJECT STUDY REPORT EQUIVALENT

Pine Hill Road Bridge Over Swain Slough Bridge # 04C-0173 Replacement from 0.15 miles East of Elk River Road to 0.23 miles East of Elk River Road

APPROVED:

Chris Whitworth, PE County of Humboldt Deputy Director DATE

01-Hum-CR Bridge No. 04C-0173

Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project HBP Application and Project Study Report Equivalent September 2010



Vicinity Map



01-Hum-CR Bridge No. 04C-0173

Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project HBP Application and Project Study Report Equivalent September 2010

This Project Study Report Equivalent has been prepared under the direction of the following registered civil engineer. The registered civil engineer attests to the technical information contained herein and the engineering data upon which recommendations, conclusions, and decisions are based.

29 10 DATE REGISTERED CIVIL ENGINEER PROFESSIONA Jason P. Jurrens RFG/ 62458 No. Exp. 9/30/11 CIVIL CALIFORNI OF

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Background	2
3.	Purpose and Need Statement	3
4.	Deficiencies	3
5.	Corridor and System Coordination	3
6.	Alternatives	3
	Alternative 1 - Single Span Cast-In-Place Prestressed Concrete Slab	4
•	Alternative 2 - Two Span Cast-In-Place Reinforced Concrete Slab	4
	No Build Alternative	5
7.	Funding	5
8.	Schedule	7
9.	FHWA Coordination	7
10.	Local Entity Contacts/District Contacts	7
11.	ATTACHMENTS	7

01-Hum-CR Bridge No. 04C-0173

Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project HBP Application and Project Study Report Equivalent September 2010

1. INTRODUCTION

The County of Humboldt is proposing to replace the existing 3 span simply supported timber stringer with a reinforced concrete deck structure (Bridge No. 04C-0173) over Swain Slough. The existing bridge is located on Pine Hill Road approximately 0.2 miles east of Elk River Road just south of Eureka, CA. Pine Hill Road provides access across Swain Slough to several residences east of Swain Slough. The existing timber structure is poor condition and is considered both Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete.

Project Limits	01-Hum-CR
Applicant:	County of Humboldt
Funding Source:	100% Federal Highway Bridge Program (HBP) Utilizing Toll Credits
Construction Capital Costs:	\$1,051,000
Support Costs (Including construction engineering and contingencies):	\$937,000
Right of Way Costs:	\$50,000
Total Project Costs:	\$2,038,000
Number of Alternatives:	2
Proposed Alternative:	Cast In Place Prestressed Slab
Type of Facility (conventional, expressway, freeway):	2-Lane Rural Local Road
Number of Structures:	One - Br No. 04C-0173 over Swain Slough
Anticipated Environmental Document	To be determined
Legal Description	The existing bridge is located on Pine Hill Road 0.2 mi east of Elk River Road south of Eureka, CA

See the Cost estimate for specific work items included in this project.

A project report will serve as approval of the "selected" alternative.

2. BACKGROUND

It is anticipated that the proposed structure will be replaced on the current tangent alignment. Horizontal alignment constraints are not expected to control the roadway design. The replacement profile will likely be driven by structure type and hydraulic requirements. Sight distance standards will be easily achievable at this location due to the flat configuration of the roadway.

The County has indicated that it will be acceptable to close the existing roadway and detour traffic during construction of the replacement bridge and approach roadway.

There is a sewer line that runs along the north edge of Pine Hill Road and is fastened to the structure as it crosses Swain Slough. Replacement of the existing structure will encroach on this utility and it is anticipated that construction of the new bridge will require relocation of the existing utility.

It is our current understanding that the existing roadway is within existing County right-of-way. It is anticipated that any additional need for right-of-way acquisition, rights of entry, or temporary construction easements will be minimized by maintaining the existing roadway alignment. The increased width of the new bridge may require some minor right of way acquisition adjacent to the new bridge.

Right of way requirements or construction easements should be assessed for detour alternatives as well. It appears that prime detour route for traffic during construction would be approximately 1.6 miles, yet would affect only a limited number of residencies adjacent to the bridge.

A detailed hydraulic study would be required and could affect the vertical profile, bridge type and lengths, and most importantly costs. The existing bridge crosses Swain Slough just upstream of its confluence with Elk River and is primarily controlled by tidal flow. The channel appears to have a good alignment with the current bridge configuration.

The primary component that affects bridge costs is the required bridge length. The existing timber stringer structure is approximately 63 feet long. Based upon unknown historic hydraulic performance, discussions with County staff, and review of the aerial photograph, it is anticipated that the replacement structure will be approximately 70 feet long. Once topographic mapping and a hydraulic analysis has been completed, the final structure length can be finalized. For comparison purposes all structure alternatives presented in this memo assume a 70 foot bridge length.

Local County road standards defer to most AASHTO requirements. According to AASHTO the minimum clear width for new or reconstructed bridges for an ADT greater than 400 but less than 1,500 vehicles per day is an 11' traveled way plus 5' of shoulder on each side. This results in a minimum clear width of 32' across the bridge. Since the design speed along Pine Hill Road is relatively high (45 mph) and the road alignment is long and straight, it is anticipated that a conventional concrete barrier such as Type 736 associated with higher speeds should be used

rather than a metal tube bridge railing. A conventional concrete bridge railing would be mounted on top of the bridge structure. This results in an increased structure width beyond the preferred minimum clear road width. The proposed structure width is 35' and assumes the use of a concrete bridge railing 1'-6" thick. The additional 3' is required to accommodate the thickness of the concrete bridge elements and still maintain a 32' clear width.

3. PURPOSE AND NEED STATEMENT

Need:

The project need is to provide a safe permanent crossing over Swain Slough on Pine Hill Road since the existing structure is Structurally Deficient. The two outside timber stringers are decaying and have extensive rot. The reinforced concrete deck is moderately to severely cracked both transversely and longitudinally, and there are moderate to severe vertical cracks as well as spalls in the concrete piles. The existing timber bridge rail is deteriorating and does not meet current standards.

Purpose:

The primary objective is to replace a Structurally Deficient load posted structure to improve public safety since the exiting bridge has reached the end of its lifespan and a repair/rehabilitation would represent a questionable investment of limited long term value to the County.

4. **DEFICIENCIES**

The existing timber structure has been rated Structurally Deficient. It is a 65 year old timber structure that exhibits extensive deterioration and decay to its timber stringers, girders, and piles. The reinforced concrete deck shows significant cracking. The bridge has been rated Structurally Deficient due to the deteriorating girders and the overall sufficiency rating for the structure is 44.6. The amount of work required to repair the bridge to a satisfactory condition is considerable and costly.

There are currently timber bridge railings with no approach guard railings. The proposed structure will satisfy the current deck geometry standards as well as providing approved bridge railing and approach guard railing. There does not appear to be any considerable scour impacts on the existing piers.

5. CORRIDOR AND SYSTEM COORDINATION

Pine Hill Road is not listed on the Caltrans Highway Performance Monitoring System (HPMS) functional classification list. Pine Hill Road is functionally classified as a local road. The future ADT (2029) is 419 vehicles per day and the project is located in flat terrain. Based upon AASHTO criteria the minimum width of traveled way is 22' feet with five foot shoulders.

6. ALTERNATIVES

Two build alternatives have been studied.



Alternative 1 - Single Span Cast-In-Place Prestressed Concrete Slab

A single span cast-in-place prestressed concrete slab is desirable due to the ease of superstructure construction. Prestressing would allow for longer spans for the shallow superstructure depth that matches the existing bridge. This structure depth should not impinge on the channel hydraulic water surface elevation and allows for longer spans relative to the reinforced concrete slab option. Also, a shallow superstructure will limit changes to the roadway profile and reduce approach fills. A slab bridge type construction represents one of the most economical superstructure types to construct. The single span alternative will eliminate the need for supports within the channel and will decrease the environmental impacts.

Advantages

- · Prestressed superstructure maximizes span length and reduces costly pier foundations
- · Reduced superstructure construction time and costs due to ease of forming
- Lowest superstructure depth of all presented alternatives
- · Least expensive bridge type for this bridge replacement project

Disadvantages

- Possible increased superstructure construction time due to prestressing operations
- · Joint seals and seat abutments required for prestressed slab alternative

Alternative 2 - Two Span Cast-In-Place Reinforced Concrete Slab

A 2 span cast-in-place reinforced concrete slab would minimize structure depth and provide ease of superstructure construction. A reinforced concrete option would require shorter spans for the shallow superstructure depth that matches the existing bridge. This structure depth should not impinge on the controlling hydraulic water surface elevation but requires shorter spans relative to the prestressed concrete concrete slab option. Also, a shallow superstructure will limit changes to the roadway profile and reduce approach fills. It is anticipated that these intermediate piers would be founded on some type of concrete displacement pile since the existing piles demonstrate that pile driving is suitable for this bridge site. It is unlikely that costly pierwalls will be required instead of pile extensions due to the low flow volumes and debris level anticipated.

Advantages

- No prestressing operation will reduce superstructure complexity and construction time
- Less complex and lower costing diaphragm type abutments than for prestressed concrete slab
- Reduced superstructure construction time and costs due to ease of forming

Disadvantages

- Increased foundation construction time and costs as a result of additional bridge support
- Additional support may increases the potential of debris getting trapped on the piers
- Will be more expensive than the prestressed concrete slab type bridge

No Build Alternative

This alternative would provide no improvements to the existing crossing. All existing deficiencies and safety issues will remain. Eventually, decay and deterioration of the structure could cause a collapse. Therefore, this alternative is not considered feasible.

7. FUNDING

A construction cost estimate range for each concept alternative has been developed. The estimated construction cost analysis has been performed using Caltrans square foot cost data for similar structure types constructed recently. The recommended bridge structure construction cost for programming purposes is \$1,051,000 which includes bridge removal, slope protection, channel work, detour, approach roadway, utility relocation, and 10% Mobilization. At this time a CIP Prestressed Concrete Slab is the preferred alternative, however since this study was conducted with limited site data, other alternatives should not be eliminated. It is important to estimate costs at the high end of the price range to insure adequate funding is programmed for this project. All proposed alternatives should be considered further during the preliminary engineering phase.

A 25% contingency should be included for programming purposes to account for the preliminary nature of the estimates. The County is cautioned that the cost estimates are based upon available square foot prices for similar structure types, and actual construction costs may vary. Several unknown factors such as hydraulic design constraints and geotechnical design data could significantly affect bridge length and costs. This unknown may also affect which alternative is the most cost effective. Additionally, this project is located within the jurisdiction of the California Coastal Commission which will require an additional level of coordination above and beyond what is typically required for bridge replacement projects. The following is a tabulation of the expected costs for this project:

Alternative	Structure Construction Cost
1 - CIP/PS Slab	\$465,500
2 - CIP/RC Slab	\$490,000

Construct Bridge	Bridge Removal	Slope Protection	Channel Work	Detour	Approach Roadway	Utility Relocation	Mobilization	Total Construction
\$465,500	\$20,000	\$10,000	\$20,000	\$10,000	\$400,000	\$30,000	\$95,500	\$1,051,000



01-Hum-CR Bridge No. 04C-0173

Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project HBP Application and Project Study Report Equivalent September 2010

PE Component	PE Component Cost (Est)
1 - Environmental	\$150,0000
2 - Geotechnical	\$45,000
3- Hydraulics	\$18,000
4-Surveying	\$25,000
7- Preliminary Design	\$70,000
8-Final Design	\$120,000
9- Indirect Costs	\$64,000
Total	\$492,000

PE	R/W	CON	CE	Cont	Total Cost
\$492,000	\$50,000	\$1,051,000	\$182,000	\$263,000	\$2,038,000



01-Hum-CR Bridge No. 04C-0173

Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project HBP Application and Project Study Report Equivalent September 2010

8. SCHEDULE

Milestones	Delivery Date (Month, Day, Year)	
Begin Environmental	6/01/2011	
Circulate DED	5/01/2011	
PA & ED	8/01/2012	
Begin Right of Way	9/01/2012	
Project PS&E	1/01/2013	
Right of Way Certification	4/01/2013	
Ready to Advertise	5/01/2013	
Begin Construction	8/01/2013	
End Construction	11/01/2013	
End Project	02/01/2014	

9. FHWA COORDINATION

This project will utilize Federal HBP funding. Caltrans will provide project oversight through Caltrans Local Assistance. All aspects of the project will meet federal and state requirements. Caltrans will approve the NEPA document under current delegation authority from FHWA.

10. LOCAL ENTITY CONTACTS/DISTRICT CONTACTS

Tom Mattson	Director of Public Works,	707.445.7491
	Humboldt County	
Chris Whitworth	Deputy Director of Public Works,	707.445.7491
	Humboldt County	
Suzanne Theiss	Caltrans Local Assistance	707.445.6399
Jim Foster	Project Manager, Quincy Engineering,	916.368.9181
	Inc.	
Jason Jurrens	Project Engineer, Quincy Engineering,	916.368.9181
	Inc.	

11. ATTACHMENTS

- A. Site Photos
- B. Preliminary General Plan
- C. Preliminary Cost Estimate
- D. Bridge Inspection Report with Structure Inventory and Appraisal Report



Attachment A



Figure 1: Looking east on Pine Hill Road.



Figure 2: Looking west on Pine Hill Road.



Figure 3: Profile of bridge looking north.



Figure 4: Profile of bridge looking north.



Figure 5: Looking north from bridge.



Figure 6: Looking s from bridge.



Figure 7: Approach road, looking east.



Figure 8: Approach road, looking west.



Figure 9: Sewer line attached to north side of bridge.



DI AN


DI AN

Assuming New Bridge per Exhibit B Replace on existing alignment using staged construction Bridge length 70 Min opening width due to drift - NA Structure width - 2-1.5' rails, 2-5' shoulders, 2-11 lanes = 35' Design ADT=1880 vpd

J. Jurrens

9/27/2010

260

HBP Participating Not HBP Participating Replace Bridge Cost Length Width Area PC/PS Slab \$/sq ft ft ft sqft 70 35 2450 190 * 465,500.00 \$ \$ -Length Bridge Removal Width Area Cost RC Slab \$/sq ft ft ft sq ft 20 63 1260 20.000.00 S 15,873 s -Slope Protection Liner repair s 10,000.00 **\$** Assuming \$10k Channel Work Channel restoration - Assume \$20k 20,000.00 \$ s Detour - Stage construction - Assume \$10k (Closure) 10,000.00 ŝ Assuming 400' each end @ \$16/sq ft Approach Roadway Length Width Cost Area ft ft sqft \$/saft 25600 400,000.00 \$ 800 32 15,625 ŝ Assume \$30k sewer Utifities ŝ 30,000.00 Mobilization (10%) 95,550.00 \$ s 1,051,050.00 \$ Total s Construction Programming Total \$ 1,051,000.00 \$ -41% Assuming \$150K environmental, \$25K Surveying, \$45K Geotech, \$18K Hydraulics, \$190K Design/PS&E PE Rate CE Rate 15% 25% Contingency Rate HBP Participating Direct Cost Indirect Costs Costs Target Dates 428,000.00 PE \$ \$ 64,200.00 \$ 492,200.00 11/1/2010 RW \$ 50,000.00 10/1/2012 CON \$ 1,051,000.00 CE \$ 157,650.00 \$ 23,647.50 \$ 181,297.50 Cont \$ 262,750.00 5/1/2013 Subtotal \$ 1,471,400.00 \$ 23,647.50 \$ 1,495,047.50 \$ 1,313,750.00 Total Participating \$ 2,037,247.50 HBP % 88.53% Toll Match % 11.47% Federal Fiscal Year (FFY) Total Check Total

		10/11	11/12	12/13	13/14	HBP		Local/Toll	1	
		25%	25%	50%	0%					
PΕ	HBP	\$ 108,936.17	\$ 108,936.17	\$ 217,872.33		\$ 435,744.66				
	Toll	\$ 14,113.84	\$ 14,113.84	\$ 28,227.67			\$	56,455.34	\$	492,200.00
		,	0%	100%	0%					
RW	HBP			\$ 44,265.00		\$ 44,265.00				
	Toll			\$ 5,735.00			\$	5,735.00	\$	50,000.00
	1	0%	0%	0%	100%					
Con	HBP				\$ 1,323,565.55	\$ 1,323,565.55				
	Toll			 	\$ 171,481.95	 	\$	171,481.95	\$	1,495,047.50
		 			 		l		_	
	Total	\$ 123,050.00	\$ 123,050.00	\$ 296,100.00	\$ 1,495,047.50	\$ 1,803,575.21	\$	233,672.29	\$2	2,037,247.50
						88.53%		11.47%]\$:	2,037,247.50

2 years

1 years

1 years

Schedule Assumptions

NEPA CE and CEQA IS/MND w/ Studies Final Design + RW Construction

STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION DIVISION OF ENGINEERING SERVICES DIVISION OF STRUCTURE EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING & DESIGN SUPPORT OFFICE OF SPECIFICATIONS & ESTIMATES P. O. BOX 942874 SACRAMENTO, CA 94274-0001 COMPARATIVE BRIDGE COSTS

JANUARY 2010

The following tabular data gives some **general guidelines** for structure type selection and its relative cost. These costs should be used just for **preliminary estimates** until more detailed information is developed.

These costs reflect the 'bridge cost' only and *do not* include items such as: time related overhead, mobilization, bridge removal, approach slabs, slope paving, soundwalls or retaining walls.

The following factors *must* be taken into account when determining a price within the cost range:

Factors for Lower end of Price Range	Factors for Higher end of Price Range					
Short spans, Low Structure Height, No Environmental Constraints, Large Project, No Aesthetic Issues, Dry Conditions, No Bridge Skew	Long spans, High Structure Height, Environmental Constraints, Small Project, Aesthetic Issues, Wet Conditons (cofferdams required), Skewed Bridges					
Urban Location	Remote Location					
Seat Abutment	Cantilever Abutment					
Spread Footing	Pile Footing (Large Diameter Piling)					
No Stage Construction 2 Stage Construction						
Factors that will increase the price over the high end of the Price Range 25%-150%						

Structures with more than 2 construction stages

Unique substructure construction

Widenings less than 15 Ft.

	(STR. DE	EPTH / MAX SPAN)	COMMON	**COST			
STRUCTURAL SECTION	N SIMPLE CONTINUOUS RAI		SPAN RANGE feet	RANGE \$ / Square foot	REMARKS		
RC SLAB	0.06	0.045	16 - 44	90-200			
	0.07	0.065	40-60.	120-150	COMMON TYPES AND		
RC BOX DOOD	0.06	0.055	50 - 120	115-200	ACCOUNT FOR ABOUT 80%		
CIP/PS SLAB	0.03	0.03	40 - 65	90-190	OF BRIDGES ON CALIFORNIA STATE HIGHWAYS.		
	0.045	0.04	100 - 250	90-190			
PC/PS SLAB	0.03 (+3" AC)	0.03 (+3" AC)	20 - 50	190-270			
PC/PS T, TT, L TT	0.06 (+3" AC)	0.055 (+3" AC)	30 - 120	180-250	NO FALSEWORK REQUIRED.		
BULB T GIRDER	0.05	0.045	90 - 145	120-240			
PC/PS I	0.055	0.05	50 - 120	120-200			
PC/PS BOX	0.06	0.045	120 - 200	120-300			
	0.045	0.04	60 - 300	180-300	NO FALSEWORK REQUIRED.		

NOTE: Removal of a box girder structure costs from \$8 - \$15 per square foot.

**Average Cost/SQFT are calculated using "Bridge Costs Only" as defined by the Federal Highway Administration

Page 1 of 3



DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION Structure Maintenance & Investigations	Bridge Number : 04C0173 Facility Carried: PINE HILL RD. Location : 0.2 MI E/O ELK RIVER RD City :
Bridge Inspection Report	Inspection Type Routine FC Underwater Special Other
ME: MARTIN SLOUGH	· · ·

STRUCTURE NAME: MARTIN SLOUGH

CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION

Year Built :	1955	Skew (degrees): ()
Year Widened:	N/A	No. of Joints : 0)
Length (m) ;	19.2	No. of Hinges : 0)

Structure Description: Three-span simply-supported timber stringer (17) structure, with concrete deck, concrete curbs and timber rail on reinforced concrete abutments and reinforced concrete bent caps on reinforced concrete piles (8).

Span Configuration :3 @ 6.10 m

LOAD CAPACITY AND RATINGS

Design Live Load:	OTHER OR UNKNOWN		
Inventory Rating:	23.7 metric tonnes	Calculation Method:	ALLOWABLE STRESS
Operating Rating:	39.5 metric tonnes	Calculation Method:	ALLOWABLE STRESS
Permit Rating 🚬 :	PPPPP		
Posting Load :	Type 3: <u>Legal</u>	Type 3S2: Legal	Type 3-3: <u>Legal</u>
DESCRIPTON ON S	קנומייטווסיד		

Deck X-Section:	0.06 m br; 0.09 m cu, 5.79	m 0.09 m cu, 0	.06 m br		
Total Width:	6.1 m	Net Width:	5.8 m	No. of Lanes:	2
Rail Description	n: Timber railing on timber	posta		Rail Code :	0000
Min. Vertical C	learance: Unimpaired				

DESCRIPTION UNDER STRUCTURE

Channel Description: Mud with heavy vegetation growth along the banks. The channel appears to have a good alignment with the bridge opening. The channel appears to have a flat slope with no hydraulic skew. Tidal flow.

CONDITION TEXT

SCOPE OF INSPECTION

At the time of this inspection, the maximum water depth was approximately 450 mm under Spans 2 and 3. The portions of Abutment 4 and Bent 3 under water were visually inspected. Only Span 1 and the sides of Abutment 4 could be inspected at this time.

CONDITION OF STRUCTURE

The timber bridge railing is deteriorating. Eleven out of 20 posts are showing signs of rot.

There are moderate (0.5 - 2 mm wide) longitudinal and transverse cracks spaced approximately 1 m apart in the deck. The cracking is concentrated in the center of the structure over the full length of the bridge.

The top 25 - 50 mm of the left exterior girders are rotten. The top 12 - 25 mm of the right exterior girders are rotten. In addition, the timber sill plates and ends of the timber stringers are rotten at Abutment 1 right and left, Bent 2 left, Bent 3 right and

04C0173/AAAF/16863

CONDITION TEXT

Abutment 4 right. Girder 17 at Abutment 1 is bearing on a 25 mm x 150 mm area of the timber sill plate below.

There are moderate to severe (>0.5 mm wide) vertical cracks in most of the concrete piles. There are also spalls on the corners of the piles.

SCOUR

Abutment 4 is undermined approximately 1 m vertically x 1.2 m horizontally under along the entire length of the abutment.

The left wingwall at Abutment 4 is undermined approximately 200 mm vertically x 300 mm horizontally under along the entire length of the wingwall.

ELE F#E	MEN. Lem	<u>r INSPECTION RATINGS</u> Element Description	Env	Total	Units	Qt	y in ea	ch Condi	tion Sta	ite
		·		Qty		St. 1	St. 2	St. 3	St. 4	St. 5
101	12	Concrete Deck - Bare	2	110	sq.m.	110	0	0	0	0
101	117	Timber Stringer	2	290	π.	0	254	0	36	· 0
101	205	Reinforced Conc Column or Pile Extension	4	16	ea.	0	6	10	· 0	0
101	215	Reinforced Conc Abutment	4	12	m,	12	0	0	0	0
101	227	Reinforced Conc Submerged Pile	2	1	ea.	1	0	0	0	0
101	234	Reinforced Conc Cap	2	24	m.	24	· 0	0	0	0
101	304	Open Expansion Joint	2	30	m.	30	0	0	.0	0
101	332	Timber Bridge Railing	2	38	ជា.	17	21	0		
101	358	Deck Cracking	2	1	ea.	0	0	1	0	Ο.
101	361	Scour	2	1	ea.	0	1	0	0	0

WORK RECOMMENDATIONS

RecDate: 05/09/2007 EstCost: Action : Sub-Scour Mitigate StrTarget: 2 YEARS 4. Work By: LOCAL AGENCY DistTarget: Status : PROPOSED EA: RecDate: 12/03/2004 EstCost: Action : Super-Rehab StrTarget: 1 YEAR Work By: LOCAL AGENCY DistTarget: Status : PROPOSED EA: EstCost: RecDate: 01/13/1999 Action : Sub-Rehab StrTarget: 2 YEARS DistTarget: Work By: LOCAL AGENCY

Protect the scoured locations at Abutment 4.

Replace all the exterior timber stringers along with any rotten bearing plates.

Jacket the deteriorated columns.

Inspected By : SA.Silveira

Status : PROPOSED

EA:

Registered Civil Engineer



Printed on: Monday 12/28/2009 04:52 PM

04C0173/AAAF/16863

STRUCTURE INVENTORY AND APPRAISAL REPORT

(1) STATE NAME- CALIFORNIA 069 (8) STRUCTURE NUMBER 04C0173 (5) INVENTORY ROUTE (ON/UNDER) -ON 140000000 (2) HIGHWAY AGENCY DISTRICT 01 (3) COUNTY CODE 023 (4) PLACE CODE 00000 (6) FEATURE INTERSECTED-MARTIN SLOUGH (7) FACILITY CARRIED-PINE HILL RD (9) LOCATION-0.2 MI E/O ELK RIVER RD (11) MILEPOINT/KILOMETERPOINT 0 (12) BASE HIGHWAY NETWORK- NOT ON NET 0 (13) LRS INVENTORY ROUTE & SUBROUTE 00 (16) LATITUDE 40 DEG 45 MIN 10 SEC (17) LONGITUDE 124 DEG 10 MIN 55 SEC. (98) BORDER BRIDGE STATE CODE * SHARE * (99) BORDER BRIDGE STRUCTURE NUMBER ******** STRUCTURE TYPE AND MATERIAL ********* (43) STRUCTURE TYPE MAIN: MATERIAL- WOOD OR TIMBER TYPE- STRINGER/MULTI-BEAM OR GDR CODE 702 (44) STRUCTURE TYPE APPR:MATERIAL- OTHER/NA TYPE- OTHER/NA CODE 000 (45) NUMBER OF SPANS IN MAIN UNIT 3 (46) NUMBER OF APPROACH SPANS 0 (107) DECK STRUCTURE TYPE- CIP CONCRETE CODE 1 (108) WEARING SURFACE / PROTECTIVE SYSTEM: A) TYPE OF WEARING SURFACE- NONE CODE 0 B) TYPE OF MEMBRANE- NONE CODE 0 C) TYPE OF DECK PROTECTION- NONE CODE 0 (27) YEAR BUILT 1955 (106) YEAR RECONSTRUCTED 0000 (42) TYPE OF SERVICE: ON- HIGHWAY 1 UNDER- WATERWAY 5 (28) LANES: ON STRUCTURE 02 UNDER STRUCTURE 00 (29) AVERAGE DAILY TRAFFIC 250 (30) YEAR OF ADT 1979 (109) TRUCK ADT 3 \$ (19) BYPASS, DETOUR LENGTH 2 KM (48) LENGTH OF MAXIMUM SPAN 6.1 M (49) STRUCTURE LENGTH 19.2 M (50) CURB OR SIDEWALK: LEFT 0,1 M RIGHT 0.1 M (51) BRIDGE ROADWAY WIDTH CURB TO CURB 5.8 M (52) DECK WIDTH OUT TO OUT 6.1 M (32) APPROACH ROADWAY WIDTH (W/SHOULDERS) 5.8 M (33) BRIDGE MEDIAN- NO MEDIAN 0 0 DEG (35) STRUCTURE FLARED NO (34) SKEW (10) INVENTORY ROUTE MIN VERT CLEAR 99.99 M (47) INVENTORY ROUTE TOTAL HORIZ CLEAR 5.8 M (53) MIN VERT CLEAR OVER BRIDGE RDWY 99.99 M (54) MIN VERT UNDERCLEAR REF- NOT H/RR 0.00 M (55) MIN LAT UNDERCLEAR RT REF- NOT H/RR 0.0 M (56) MIN LAT UNDERCLEAR LT 0.0 M (38) NAVIGATION CONTROL- NO CONTROL CODE 0 (111) PIER PROTECTION-CODE (39) NAVIGATION VERTICAL CLEARANCE 0.0 M (116) VERT-LIFT BRIDGE NAV MIN VERT CLEAR м (40) NAVIGATION HORIZONTAL CLEARANCE 0.0 M

1

**************************************	*****
STATUS STRUCTURALLY DEFICIENT	
HEALTH INDRX 74 1	
PAINT CONDITION TROOP N/A	_
**************** CLASSIFICATION ************************************	CODE
(112) NBIS BRIDGE LENGTH- YES	Y
(104) HIGHWAY SYSTEM- NOT ON NHS	0
(26) FUNCTIONAL CLASS- LOCAL RURAL	09
(100) DEFENSE HIGHWAY- NOT STRAHNET	0
(101) PARALLEL STRUCTURE- NONE EXISTS	N
(102) DIRECTION OF TRAFFIC- 2 WAY	2
(103) TEMPORARY STRUCTURE-	
(105) FED.LANDS HWY- NOT APPLICABLE	0
(110) DESIGNATED NATIONAL METWORK ~ NOT ON NET	0
(20) IOLL ON FREE ROAD	3
(22) MAINTAIN COUNTY HIGHMAN AGENCY	02
(37) HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE. NOT RELATED F	U2 E
(57) ADTORICAD DIGNIFICANCE- NOI BUIGIBLE	5
****************** CONDITION ************************************	CODE
(58) DECK	5
(59) SUPERSTRUCTURE	. 4
(60) SUBSTRUCTURE	5
(61) CHANNEL & CHANNEL PROTECTION	5
(62) CULVERTS	N
	CODE
	CODE
(31) DESIGN LOAD - OTHER OR UNKNOWN	0
(63) OPERATING RATING METHOD- ALLOWABLE STRESS	2
(CE) TRUCKY DATING ANTING DECIDE	39.5
(65) INVENIORI RATING METHOD- ALLOWABLE STRESS	<u>ک</u>
(70) BEIDGE BOOMING BOUNT TO OD NDOUE IDONT TO	23.7
(11) STRUCTURE ONEN DOGRAD OF CLOCED	103 5
DESCRIPTION, ODEN NO DESCRIPTION	A
DESCRIPTION OPEN, NO RESTRICTION	
***************** APPRAISAL *****************	CODE
(67) STRUCTURAL EVALUATION	4
(68) DECK GEOMETRY	3
(69) UNDERCLEARANCES, VERTICAL & HORIZONTAL	N
(71) WATER ADEQUACY	B
(72) APPROACH ROADWAY ALIGNMENT	8
(36) TRAFFIC SAFETY FEATURES (000
(113) SCOUR CRITICAL BRIDGES	5
********* PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS *********	
(75) TYPE OF WORK- MISC STRUCTURAL WORK CODE	38
(76) LENGTH OF STRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT 19.	2 M
(94) BRIDGE IMPROVEMENT COST \$100,	620
(95) ROADWAY IMPROVEMENT COST \$20,	124
(96) TOTAL PROJECT COST \$120.	744
(97) YEAR OF IMPROVEMENT COST ESTIMATE 2	009
(114) FUTURE ADT	419
(115) YEAR OF FUTURE ADT 2	029
-	-
(00) INCODUCTION DATE AT (AC (AL) EDDOUDUCY AA	10
(92) CRITICAL FRAMIDE THERECTION. (32) OF A	00 00
A) FRACTIOR OFTO DOMAIL. NO NO N	110
B) UNDERWATER INSP. NO MO BI	
C) OTHER SPECIAL INSP- NO MO C)	

04C0173/AAAF/16863

1

EXHIBIT 7-B FIELD REVIEW FORM

Project Name Swain Slough Bridge over Pine Hill Road Bridge No.(s) 04C-0173 1. PROJECT LIMITS (see attached list for various locations) Swain Slough Bridge on Pine Hill Road 0.2 minorth of Elk Creek Road, including 400' east and west of the existing bridge. 2. WORK DESCRIPTION Replace existing Stracturally Deficient Limber stringer, bridge with a new concrete slab bridge. 1. TS project or TTS element: Yes No 2. WORK DESCRIPTION Replace existing Stracturally Deficient Limber stringer, bridge with a new concrete slab bridge. 1. TS project or TTS element: Yes No 2. PROGRAMMING DATA FTIP (MPORTPA) FY Page Amendment No. FTIP PPNO FHWA/FTA Approval Date Fdedral Funds Principal Arterial: Minor Arterial: (CMAQ ouly) 4 FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION: Minor Arterial:	Local Agency Project Number	Humboldt County Dept. of Public Wo To Be Deternined	<u>rks</u> Field Rev _ocator (Dst/Co.	iew Date /Rte/PM/A	<u>01-HUM-C</u>	<u>R</u>
1. PROJECT LIMITS (see attached list for various locations) Swain Slough Bridge on Pine Hill Road 0.2 minorth of Elk Creek Road, including 400° east and west of the existing bridge. 2. WORK DESCRIPTION Replace existing Structurally Deficient timber stringer bridge with a new concrete slab bridge. ITS project or ITS element: Yes No X If yes, choose: High-Risk (formerly "Major") ITS, Low-Risk (formerly "Minor") ITS, Exempt ITS Program Pine Pine Pine Pine Pine Pine Pine Pine	Project Name	Swain Slough Bridge over Pine Hill R	oad Bridg	ge No.(s)	04C-0173	
Net Length 0_1 (mile) 2. WORK DESCRIPTION Replace existing Structurally Deficient timber stringer bridge with a new concrete slab bridge. ITS project or ITS element: Yes No X If yes, choose: High-Risk (formerly "Major") ITS, Low-Risk (formerly "Minor") ITS, Exempt ITS Page Amendment No. FTIP (MPORTPA) FY Page Amendment No. FTIP PPNO FHWA/FTA Approval Date Fcderal Funds Phases Functional Arterial:	I. PROJECT L	IMITS (see attached list for various loca	tions) <u>Swain Sloug</u> north of Ell and west of	<u>h Bridge o</u> Creek Ro the existing	n Pine Hill I Dad, includir g bridge.	Road 0,2 mi ng 400' east
ITS project or ITS element: Yes No X If yes, choose: High-Risk (formerly "Major") ITS, Low-Risk (formerly "Minor") ITS Page Page 3. PROGRAMMING DATA FTIP (MPO/RTPA) FY Page Amendment No. FTIP PPNO FHWA/FTA Approval Date For an antion of the proval Date Federal Funds Phases PE X R/W X Const X Air Basin:	2. WORK DES	CRIPTION <u>Replace existing Structu</u> concrete slab bridge.	Net Length <u>0.</u> rally Deficient timb	<u>l</u> er stringe	(mile) r bridge wi) th a new
URBAN RURAL X Principal Arterial: Minor Arterial: Minor Arterial: Minor Arterial: Collector: Major Collector: Local: Minor Collector: Rural Local: X Stete-Authorized (Stewardship): Yes No X State-Authorized (Stewardship): Yes Yes No X (b) District Construction Yes No X State-Authorized (Stewardship): Yes No X Cost Estrimon requiring FHWA oversight per stewardship: Yes No	 ITS project of If yes, choose PROGRAM Amendment Federal Func Air Basin: FUNCTION 	TTS element: Yes No X High-Risk (formerly "Major") ITS, MING DATA FTIP (MPO/RTPA) No. FTIP PPNO Is Phases (CMAQ	Low-Risk (formerly " FHWA/FTA PE X 5 only)	Minor") IT FY Approval R/W <u>X</u>	S, Exemp Pa Date Co	ot ITS ge onst <u>X</u>
 5. STEWARDSHIP CATEGORY FHWA Full Oversight (Stewardship): Yes No X State-Authorized (Stewardship): Yes No X (a) DLAE oversight: Yes No X (b) District Construction Yes No X ITS High-Risk project or element requiring FHWA oversight per stewardship: Yes No X 6. CALTRANS ENCROACHMENT PERMIT Is it required? Yes No X 7. COST ESTIMATE BREAKDOWN \$1,000's Fed. Participation (Including Structures) PE Environmental Process 150 Yes X No Design 342 Yes No ITS System Manager or Integrator Yes No (No. of Parcels) R/W Preliminary R/W Work Yes No (No. of Parcels) (No. of Parcels 1) (Right of Entry 4) 20 Yes X No (No Integration) 	URBAN Principal Minor	Arterial: Arterial: Yollector: Local:	RURAL X Principal Arten Minor Arten Major Collec Minor Collec Rural Lo	rial: rial: tor: tor: cal:X_	ngunatan Marana 	
State-Authorized (Stewardship): Yes No X (a) DLAE oversight: Yes X No No (b) District Construction Yes No X No X No X 1TS High-Risk project or element requiring FHWA oversight per stewardship: Yes No X No X I 6. CALTRANS ENCROACHMENT PERMIT Is it required? Yes No X I 7. COST ESTIMATE BREAKDOWN (Including Structures) \$1,000's Fed. Participation I PE Environmental Process 150 Yes X No I Design 342 Yes No I<	5. STEWARDS FHWA Full	SHIP CATEGORY Oversight (Stewardship): Yes No	<u>x</u>			
6. CALTRANS ENCROACHMENT PERMIT Is it required? Yes No X 7. COST ESTIMATE BREAKDOWN (Including Structures) \$1,000's Fed. Participation PE Environmental Process 150 Yes X No Design 342 Yes X No	State-Author	ized (Stewardship): Yes <u>No</u> (b) gh-Risk project or element requiring FH	\underline{X} (a) DLAE oversig District Construction WA oversight per ste	ht: wardship:	Yes <u>X</u> Yes Yes	No <u>X</u> No <u>X</u> No X
7. COST ESTIMATE BREAKDOWN \$1,000's Fed. Participation (Including Structures) PE Environmental Process 150 Yes X No	6. CALTRANS	ENCROACHMENT PERMIT Is it re	quired? Yes	No	<u>x</u> —	
PE Environmental Process 150 Yes X No Design 342 Yes X No	7. COST ESTIN	MATE BREAKDOWN	\$1,000`s	I	ed. Participa	ation
Design342YesXNoITS System Manager or IntegratorYesNo CONSTConst. Contract1,314YesXNoConst. Engineering182YesXNoR/WPreliminary R/W WorkYesNoAcquisition:YesNoNo(No. of Parcels)YesNo(Easements4)30YesXNo(Right of Entry4)20YesXNoRAP (No. Families)YesNoNo	PE	Environmental Process	150	Yes	<u>X</u> No	
ITS System Manager or integrator Yes No 1 CONST Const. Contract 1,314 Yes X No Const. Engineering 182 Yes X No	•	Design	342	Yes	<u>X</u> No)
CONST Const. Contact13141cs141cs14Const. Engineering182YesXNoR/WPreliminary R/W WorkYesNoAcquisition:YesNo(No. of ParcelsYesNo(Easements4)30Yes(Right of Entry4)20YesRAP (No. Families)YesNo	CONFT	ITS System Manager or Integrator	1314	_ Yes		I
R/W Preliminary R/W Work Yes No Acquisition: Yes No (No. of Parcels Yes No (Easements 4) 30 Yes Xo (Right of Entry 4) 20 Yes No RAP (No. Families) Yes No	CONST	Const. Engineering	182	Yes	X No	·
Acquisition:YesNo(No. of Parcels)YesNo(Easements4)30YesX(Right of Entry4)20YesXRAP (No. Families)YesNo	R/W	Preliminary R/W Work	102	Yes	No	•
(No. of Parcels Yes No (Easements 4) 30 Yes X No (Right of Entry 4) 20 Yes X No	10.11	Acquisition:		Yes	No	,
(Easements 4) 30 Yes X No (Right of Entry 4) 20 Yes X No RAP (No. Families) Yes No		(No. of Parcels)		Yes	No	
(Right of Entry 4) 20 Yes X No		(Easements 4)	30	Yes	<u>X</u> No	
RAP (No. Families)		(Right of Entry 4)	20	Yes	<u>X</u> No	
		RAP (No. Families)		_ Yes	No	
KAY (NO. BUS) I cs NO		KAP (NO. BUS.)		I ¢S	INO	
contract items) Yes No		contract items)	and a start of the st	Yes	No	

		TOTAL COST	Г	\$ 2,038,0	00	<u></u>		
7a. 7	Value Engineering A (Yes, if total project co \$25M or more of Federal-aid System, o \$20M or more for brid	analysis Required osts are on the r iges)	? Ү	′es	No	X		
8. F C I (1	PROPOSED FUNDI Grand Total Federal Program (Name/App. Code) Matching Funds Break	NG #1 <u>HBP</u> #2 <u>Toll Credit</u> down Local: State: Other:	Total Cost \$ 2,038,000 \$ \$) Fed. Fed.	Cost Sh \$1,804 \$233,7 \$ \$ S	,241 59	Reimb. Ratio Reimb. Ratio % %	88.53% 11.47%
5 5 1 9, F	State Highway Funds? State CMAQ/RSTP Ma Is the Project Underfur PROJECT ADMINIST	Yes atch Eligible aded? (Fed \$ - Allo RATION		urce es)		No <u>X</u> Yes	 Рап	No <u>X</u> ial No <u>X</u>
ł	PΕ	Environ Process Design System Man./Inte	g	Agenc X X	у	Consi X X	ultant	State
F C C N	W CONST ENGR CONSTRUCTION MAINTENANCE	All Work Contract Contract		<u>X</u> <u>X</u> X		X X		
W 10. S C	Vill Caltrans be reques SCHEDULES: PRC Other critical dates:	ted to review PS&I POSED ADVER1 Environmenta	E? ISEMENT I I clcarance	DATE 5 by 8/1/201	5/1/2013 <u>2</u>	Yes	a -,	No <u>X</u>
11. F	PROJECT MANA	GER'S CONCU	RRENCE					
L	ocal Entity	<u>Chris Whitworth</u>	PE	,			Date:	<u>9/29/20</u> 10
S	Signature & Title	Chur 1	Katwood	<u>K 1</u>	Deputy Direc	tor	Phone No.	707.445.6399
]	Is field review required	l? Yes	X	No	-		ו••••••••	
C	altrans (District):	District 1					Date:	
S	Signature & Title:							
12. L fi	JST OF ATTACHN or minimum required a X Field Revie	4ENTS (Include a attachments for non w Attendance Rost	III appropriat	e attachmen its) its Roster ivne Project	ts if field re	view is r	equired. See t	he "[]" notation

Х	Roadway Data Sheets [Req'd for Roadway project	s]	
Х	Typical Roadway Geometric Section(s) [Req'd for	Roadwa	y projects]
Х	Major Structure Data Sheet [Req'd for HBRR]		Signal Warrants
	Railroad Grade Crossing Data Sheet		Collision Diagram
	Airport Data Sheet (if within 10,000 feet)		
	Sketch of Each Proposed Alternate Improvement		CMAQ/RSTP State STIP Match
	TE Application Document		Systems Engineering Review Form (SERF)
	Existing federal, state, and local ADA deficiencies not included on other Attachments		Req'd for High-Risk (formerly "Major") an Low-Risk (formerly "Minor") ITS projects

13. DLAE FIELD REVIEW NOTES:

A. MINUTES OF FIELD REVIEWS

B. ISSUES OR UNUSUAL ASPECTS OF PROJECT

(Attachment to Field Review Form)

Distribution: Original with attachments - Local Agency Copy with attachments (2 copies if HBRR) - DLAE

Page 7-14a April 30, 2010

If the project scope changes it may be necessary to re-evaluate the PES as additional studies may be required. This is a preliminary assessment of the studies required to comply with NEPA and may be subject to change based on findings during the environmental process. If you have any questions please feel free to contact me.

Sincerely,

Beand Jaw

Brandon Larsen Senior Environmental Planner Office of Local Assistance

cc. Suzanne Theiss Jen Buck



Appendix B - Type Selection Memo

STATE OF CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION STRUCTURE TYPE SELECTION

PROJECT IDENTIFIC		DATE					
Swain Slou		12/9/2013					
DIST	CO	RTE	PM	CU	EA	DESIGN	GROUP
01	HUM	CR					QEI
BRIDGE NAME(S)			BR NO(S)	CONSTRUCTION COST - \$			
Swain Sloug	h Bridge			04C-0173	\$688,00	0	
Area = 33'-4" X 80'-0" = 2,666 S.F.							
_							
_							
TYPES CONSIDERE	D: Single Sp	an 80' Roadw	ay Alignme	ent Alternative			
1. PC/PS	Concrete I-Gi	rder		\$688,000)		
2. CIP/PS Concrete Box Girder \$688				\$ <u>688,000</u>)		

PREVIOUS COMMUNITY AESTHETIC OR ECOLOGICAL COMMITMENTS AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS:

- Support within slough not allowed due to biological sensitive area neighboring Humboldt Bay.
- Falsework not required within limits of channel for precast alternative.
- Removal of existing bridge structure to be done during low tide.
- Temporary stream diversion required during bridge construction.
- Stream protection required during bridge construction.
- Rock slope protection provided to reduce erosion and increase slough flow stability.

ARCHITECTURAL RECOMMENDATIONS (SKETCH ELEV & X-SECT: GIVE STD. COL NO.) AND COMMENTS FROM PUBLIC MEETING:

• None.

ENGINEERING AND ARCHITECTURAL SUMMARY:

- Type selected due to economy, constructability, and least long term maintenance.
- Full road closure is anticipated during construction.
- Existing, redundant, water line utility will be shut down during construction.
- Temporary sheet pile shoring and dewatering anticipated for construction of new abutments.
- Anticipated driven pile foundation.
- Thicker concrete cover and epoxy coated reinforcement required.

PROJECT ENGINEER

PROJECT MANAGER



Appendix C - NEPA Determination

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 1, P. O. BOX 3700 EUREKA, CA 95502-3700 PHONE (707) 445-6410 FAX (707) 441-2048 TTY 711



Serious drought. Help save water!

December 7, 2015

Andrew Bundschuh County of Humboldt Department of Public Works 1106 Second Street Eureka, CA 95501

01-HUM-CR-0 BRLO 5904 (112)

SUBJECT: Signed CE for Pine Hill Rd. (Swain Slough) Bridge Project

Dear Mr. Bundschuh:

Attached is the signed CE for the Pine Hill Rd. Bridge Project. See the attached CE and ECR for environmental commitments required during and after construction. If the project scope changes please notify us as the CE may no longer be valid and will require a revalidation. If you have any questions please feel free to contact me (707) 441-4566.

The following permits will be required and a copy of the permits must be sent to our office before construction begins:

- 404 Permit from the Army Corps
- 401 from the Regional Water Quality Control Board
- 1602 from the Department of Fish and Wildlife
- Coastal Development Permit from Humboldt County

Sincerely,

en m

Jenna Larson Associate Environmental Planner Office of Local Assistance

cc. Suzanne Theiss Brett Gronemeyer

CATEGORICAL EXEMPTION/CATEGORICAL EXCLUSION DETERMINATION FORM

01-HUM-0-CR	BRLO 5904(112)
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: (Briefly describe project incl	luding need purpose location limits right-of-way requirements and
activities involved in this box. Use Continuation Sheet, if neces	isary.)
Pine Hill Road (Swain Slough) Bridge Replacement.	See Continuation Sheet.
CEQA COMPLIANCE (for State Projects only)	
Based on an examination of this proposal and supporting inform	nation, the following statements are true and exceptions do not apply
(See 14 CCR 15300 et seq.):	and here and an end of the second
 If this project fails within exempt class 3, 4, 5, 6 or 11, it does where designated, precisely mapped and officially adopted p 	s not impact an environmental resource of hazardous or critical concern
 There will not be a significant cumulative effect by this project 	ct and successive projects of the same type in the same place, over time
 There is not a reasonable possibility that the project will have This project does not demonstrate the project will have 	a significant effect on the environment due to unusual circumstances.
 This project does not damage a scenic resource within an on This project is not located on a site included on any list comr 	ticially designated state scenic highway. niled nursuant to Govt. Code § 65962 5 ("Cortese List")
 This project does not cause a substantial adverse change in 	the significance of a historical resource.
CALTRANS CEQA DETERMINATION (Check one))
Exempt by Statute. (PRC 21080[b]; 14 CCR 15260 et see	q.)
Based on an examination of this proposal, supporting information	on, and the above statements, the project is:
Categorically Exempt. Class . (PRC 21084; 14 C	CR 15300 et seq.)
Categorically Exempt. General Rule exemption. [This p	roject does not fall within an exempt class, but it can be seen with
certainty that there is no possibility that the activity may ha	ive a significant effect on the environment (CCR 15061[b][3].)
N/A	N/A
Print Name: Environmental Branch Chief	Print Name: Project Manager/DLA Engineer
Signature Date	Signature Date
NEPA COMPLIANCE	
In accordance with 23 CFR 771.117, and based on an examina	tion of this proposal and supporting information, the State has
determined that this project:	
 does not individually or cumulatively have a significant impac requirements to prepare an Environmental Assessment (EA) 	t on the environment as defined by NEPA and is excluded from the or Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) and
 has considered unusual circumstances pursuant to 23 CFR 7 	771.117(b).
CALTRANS NEPA DETERMINATION (Check one)	
23 USC 326: The State has determined that this project h	nas no significant impacts on the environment as defined by NEPA, and
that there are no unusual circumstances as described in 23	3 CFR 771.117(b). As such, the project is categorically excluded from
the requirements to prepare an environmental assessment Policy Act. The State has been assigned, and bereby certif	or environmental impact statement under the National Environmental
pursuant to Chapter 3 of Title 23, United States Code, Sec	tion 326 and a Memorandum of Understanding dated June 07, 2013.
executed between the FHWA and the State. The State has	determined that the project is a Categorical Exclusion under:
☐ 23 CFR //1.11/(c): activity (c)() ⊠ 23 CFR 771 117(d): activity (d)(_13_)	
Activity listed in Appendix A of the MOU bet	ween FHWA and the State
23 USC 327: Based on an examination of this proposal ar	nd supporting information, the State has determined that the project is a
Brandon Larsen	Suzanne Theiss
Print Name: Environmental Blanch Chief	Print Name: Project Manager/DLA Engineer
12/07/1	
Signature Dete	Signatures 12/7/15
Signature Date	Signature "Date
Date of Categorical Exclusion Checklist completion: 11/19/15	5 Date of ECR or equivalent : 10/21/15

Briefly list environmental commitments on continuation sheet. Reference additional information, as appropriate (e.g., CE checklist, additional studies and design conditions).

01-HUM-0-CR			BRLO 5904(112)						
DistCoRte. (or Local Agency)	P.M./P.M.	E.A/Project No.	Federal-Aid Project No. (Local Project)/Project No.						
Continued from page 1:									
Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement									
	Р	roject [BRLS 5904	(112)]						
(Humboldt County)									

Project Description

The project is located on Pine Hill Road at post mile 0.20. It is 2 miles south of Eureka in Section 4, Township 4 North, Range 1 West, and can be seen on the Eureka 7.5' USGS quadrangle map. GPS Coordinates: Latitude: 40.7525568N; Longitude: 124.1827002W.

The Swain Slough Bridge is a 63-foot, three-span structure with a concrete deck on timber stringers. The bridge, constructed in 1955, is located on Pine Hill Road approximately 0.2 miles east of Elk River Road just south of Eureka, CA. Pine Hill Road provides access across Swain Slough to residential neighborhoods and connects to Herrick Street, a major arterial out of southern Eureka. The existing timber stringers are in poor condition as are the concrete support columns and the bridge has been categorized as both Structurally Deficient and Functionally Obsolete.

The preferred alternative is to replace the existing bridge on the existing alignment. In accordance with County requirements, the bridge will provide two 10-ft traffic lanes and 5-ft shoulders, in addition to barrier rails along both sides. The replacement structure will be designed for the standard and permit live loading as specified in Caltrans *Bridge Design Specifications* (BDS) as well as the current *Seismic Design Criteria Version 1.7*, April 2013. The bridge elevation will need to be raised in order to meet federal hydraulic clearance requirements. The proposed bridge type is a single-span precast concrete I-girder, and will be slightly longer than the existing bridge to better fit the site conditions. The single-span bridge option will minimize the environmental impacts to the slough as it will not require any supports in the slough channel, eliminating potential impacts to fish passage. The recommended new roadway would consist of two 10-ft lanes and two 5-ft shoulders. Based on the roadway design speed of 35 mph will be used.

The existing bridge, including decking, abutments, and piers, would be removed and disposed of offsite to allow the construction of the new structure. The roadway would be closed to through traffic as the detour is approximately 1.6 miles. A row of sheet piles would be vibrated into the Swain Slough channel in order to divert the tidal flow and to allow for removal of a portion of the existing abutments and footings; the work area will never be totally dry, but the intent is to separate physical activities from the slough to the extent practicable.

The new abutment footings would be constructed on approximately 22 24-inch impact driven piles. Falsework is not required for the single-span precast structure. The precast girders will span Swain Slough and will be placed utilizing a crane that will be staged behind the new westerly abutment. Once the girders are in place, deck forms will be constructed between the girders and the new concrete deck will be cast. All new work on the bridge superstructure will be performed without the need for vehicular access from the Swain Slough channel.

The new bridge and the approach embankments would not encroach into the Swain Slough channel, though rock slope protection (RSP) at the face and adjacent to the bridge will be required (primarily for the western abutment). Scour protection of the abutments from Swain Slough flows will be required and is expected to consist of ¼–ton RSP. The RSP is expected to consist of a 3-4 foot minimum thickness ¼–ton layer over a 1-3 foot thick No. 2 backing layer with RSP fabric underneath. The depth of the toe end of the RSP keyway trench is expected to be approximately 6-feet deep and will slope back to the bottom of the abutment front footing face. Approximately 205 cubic yards of RSP, equating to an area of 1,900 square feet will be placed in front of and around the new abutment footings. Installation will partially occur while the slough is diverted and will consist of digging a keyway trench and installing RSP by Method B placement so that the top surface of the RSP will be at the approximate elevation of the original channel grade. This will avoid impinging hydraulic flow within the channel and not adversely impact the upstream flooding characteristics of the river.

Existing overhead utilities are present east of the project site and serve the Humboldt Community Services District (HCSD) sewage pump plant and the Brown residence. A 12- inch water line is located on the north side of Pine Hill Road and is attached to the outside edge of the existing bridge. The overhead electric lines and sewage pump plant located to the east of the project will not be affected. The underground waterline will need relocation. Coordination will begin early and will conform to the latest Caltrans procedural guidelines for relocation.

Traffic Control

It will be necessary to close Pine Hill Road and detour traffic away from the construction site. Traffic will be restricted from access to the bridge location and a detour will be in place. The prime detour route for traffic during construction will be approximately 1.6 miles, and will affect only a limited number of residencies adjacent to the bridge. The detour will result in temporary, minor traffic delays.

Erosion and Sediment Control

The project will require the contractor to submit a Water Pollution Control Plan (WPCP) or Stormwater Pollution Protection Plan (SWPPP) for approval before construction begins. Adequate implementation of BMPs, monitoring, and reporting methodologies will be required. Best management practices (BMPs) for erosion and sediment control will consist of the following:

• Construction will be done during summer months when the chance of precipitation is lowest.

• Construction equipment will be cleaned and inspected prior to use. Equipment maintenance and fueling will be done at designated staging areas.

• On-site stockpiles will be isolated with silt fence, filter fabric, and/or straw bales/fiber rolls.

• Silt fence or fiber rolls will be placed below the project areas to contain loose rolling rocks and sediment. Silt fence/fiber rolls will be kept in place and maintained during the entire project. Any sediment caught by the fence or rolls will be removed before the fence/rolls are pulled.

• Ground disturbed by construction work will be re-vegetated with fast-growing native grasses and sterile hybrids and mulched when work is complete.

•The site will be monitored by Public Works personnel during winter rains and any evidence of erosion (rilling, gullies, etc.) will be repaired immediately. In addition, areas where revegetation is not successful will be reserved and re-mulched to ensure vegetative ground cover.

Environmental Analysis

Cultural Resources

An Archaeological Study Report (ASR) and Historic Property Study Report (HPSR) were prepared in January of 2013 and it was determined that there are no cultural or historical resources within the project area, therefore there will be No Historic Properties Affected by the project.

Biological Resources

A Biological Assessment/Essential Fish Habitat Assessment (BA/EFHA) was submitted to the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) to address potential impacts to federally listed fish species. NMFS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 25, 2015 which concluded that the project is likely to adversely affect Northern California DPS steelhead, SONCC ESU coho salmon, and California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon, but is not likely to jeopardize the species. NMFS also concluded the project is likely to result in an adverse effect to critical habitat for the Coastal SONCC ESU coho salmon, California ESU Chinook salmon ESU, and the Northern California DPS steelhead. The project is not likely to destroy or adversely modify critical habitat. In the BO, NFMS determined that incidental take would occur to all three salmonid species in the form of capture during fish relocation and by exposure to lethal noise levels resulting from pile driving. NMFS expects no more than one juvenile of each species to be injured and no more than two juvenile of each species will be killed as a result of constructing the project. NMFS also concluded that the project would adversely affect Essential Fish Habitat for Pacific salmon species. While the proposed action contains measures to minimize adverse effects to EFH, NMFS provided additional conservation measures to further offset the adverse effects.

The BA/EFHA was also submitted to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) to address potential impacts to the federally listed tidewater goby. The USFWS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 24, 2015 which concluded that the project is likely to adversely affect the species but is not likely to jeopardize the species. They also concluded the project action area is not located within designated critical habitat for the species. In the BO, USFWS determined that incidental take would occur to tidewater goby in the form of capture during fish relocation and/or during dewatering activities. The USFWS expects no more than five adult gobies to be injured or killed as a result of constructing the Project. Conservation measures to reduce impacts to salmonids and gobies will be followed and are included in the attached Environmental Commitment Record (ECR).

A Natural Environment Study was prepared in October 2014 and included a wetland delineation. The delineation found that U.S. jurisdictional waters and three-paremeter wetlands occupy 0.989 acres of the BSA. State jurisdictional waters and two- and one-parameter coastal wetlands

occupy 1.165 acres of the BSA. The project design minimized impacts on wetlands to the extent practicable. All other design considerations would have a greater impact on wetlands. Since the project design with the least impact on wetlands was selected, the project is in compliance with the Wetlands Only Practicable Finding Alternative. Minimization measures to reduce impacts on wetlands and waters are included in the ECR. A Wetlands Mitigation and Monitoring Plan shall be prepared and provided to the Army Corps, North Coast RWQCB, California Coastal Commission, and the CDFW for review and approval.

Farmlands

The project will have no permanent impact on prime or unique farmland. Temporary impacts on non-prime agricultural land will be less than significant.

Floodplain

The project will not result in any longitudinal or significant encroachment on the 100-year flood plain.

Other Environmental Considerations

Review of the project site and project plans indicate that the project would not result in substantial adverse impacts to the visual environment. Other than a temporary increase in ambient noise from heavy equipment working during construction hours there are no long term sound impacts associated with the project. Upon project completion, noise levels will return to pre-construction ambient levels. There are no known hazardous waste issues in the project area.

Environmental Commitments

See the attached Environmental Commitments Record

Permits

- 404 Permit from the Army Corps
- 401 from the Regional Water Quality Control Board
- 1602 from the Department of Fish and Wildlife
- Coastal Development Permit from the California Coastal Commission

Dist/C	o/Rte/PM:	01-HUM-0-CR Fed. Aid No. (Local Project): BRLO 5904 (112) EA/Project No.:
<u>SEC</u>	<u>TION 1</u> :	TYPE OF CE: Use the information in this section to determine the applicable CE and corresponding activity for this project.
1. P If in	roject is a "yes", check acluded in ac	CE under CE Assignment 23 USC 326. A Yes No c applicable activity in one of the three tables below (activity must be listed in 23 CFR 771.117 (c) or (d) list or tivities listed in Appendix A of the CE Assignment MOU to be eligible for 23 USC 326).
		Activity Listed in 23 CFR 771.117(c)
1 🗌	Activities w engineering be assesse	which do not involve or lead directly to construction such as planning and research activities; grants for training; g to define the elements of a proposed action or alternatives so that social, economic, and environmental effects can ed; and Federal-aid system revisions which establish classes of highways on the Federal-aid highway system.
2 🗆	Approval o	f utility installations along or across a transportation facility.
3 🗌	Constructio	on of bicycle and pedestrian lanes, paths, and facilities.
4 🗌	Activities in	ncluded in the State's highway safety plan under 23 U.S.C 402.
5 🗌	Transfer of is not other	Federal lands pursuant to 23 U.S.C 107(d) and/or 23 U.S.C 317 when the land transfer is in support of an action that wise subject to FHWA review under NEPA.
6 🗌	The installa	ation of noise barriers or alterations to existing publicly owned buildings to provide for noise reduction.
7 🗆	Landscapir	ıg.
8 🗌	Installation no substan	of fencing, signs, pavement markings, small passenger shelters, traffic signals, and railroad warning devices where tial land acquisition or traffic disruption will occur.
91	The followin the State and Stafford Ac	ng actions for transportation facilities damaged by an incident resulting in an emergency declared by the Governor of nd concurred in by the Secretary, or a disaster or emergency declared by the President pursuant to the Robert T. t (42 U.S.C 5121) ² :
	(i) Emerger	ncy repairs under 23 U.S.C 125;
	(ii) The repa as a ferry d lanes), that	air, reconstruction, restoration, retrofitting, or replacement of any road, highway, bridge, tunnel, or transit facility (such lock or bus transfer station), including ancillary transportation facilities (such as pedestrian/bicycle paths and bike is in operation or under construction when damaged and the action:
	(A) Occur location a address o (B) Is con	rs within the existing right-of-way and in a manner that substantially conforms to the preexisting design, function, and as the original (which may include upgrades to meet existing codes and standards as well as upgrades warranted to conditions that have changed since the original construction); and
10 🗆	Acquisition	of scenic easements
11 □	Determinati	ion of payback under 23 U.S.C 156 for property previously acquired with Federal-aid participation
12 🗌	Improveme	nts to existing rest areas and truck weigh stations.
13 🗌	Ridesharing	g activities.
14 🗌	Bus and rai	l car rehabilitation.
15 🗌	Alterations	to facilities or vehicles in order to make them accessible for elderly and handicapped persons.
16 🗌	Program ad service or ir	Iministration, technical assistance activities, and operating assistance to transit authorities to continue existing ncrease service to meet routine changes in demand.
17 🗌	The purcha facilities wh	se of vehicles by the applicant where the use of these vehicles can be accommodated by existing facilities or by new ich themselves are within a CE.
18 🗌	Track and r	ailbed maintenance and improvements when carried out within the existing right-of-way.
19 🗌	Purchase a impacts off	nd installation of operating or maintenance equipment to be located within the transit facility and with no significant the site.

 $^{^1}$ On the CE form, distinguish between c9i $\,$ or c9ii $\,$

² Include copy of the emergency declaration in the file

Dist/C	p/Rte/PM: 01-HUM-0-CR Fed. Aid No. (Local Project): BRLO 5904 (112) EA/Project No.:	
20 🗌	Promulgation of rules, regulations, and directives.	
21 🗌	Deployment of electronics, photonics, communications, or information processing used singly or in combination, or as components of a fully integrated system, to improve the efficiency or safety of a surface transportation system or to enhance security or passenger convenience. Examples include, but are not limited to, traffic control and detector devices, lane management systems, electronic payment equipment, automatic vehicle locaters, automated passenger counters, computer aided dispatching systems, radio communications systems, dynamic message signs, and security equipment including surveillance and detection cameras on roadways and in transit facilities and on buses.) r-
22 ³	"Projects, as defined in 23 U.S.C. 101, that would take place entirely within the existing operational right-of-way. Existing operational right-of-way refers to right-of-way that has been disturbed for an existing transportation facility or is maintained for transportation purpose. This area includes the features associated with the physical footprint of the transportation facility (including the roadway, bridges, interchanges, culverts, drainage, fixed guideways ⁴ , mitigation areas, etc.) and other areas maintained for transportation purposes such as clear zone, traffic control signage, landscaping, any rest areas with direct act to a controlled access highway, areas maintained for safety and security of a transportation facility, parking facilities with direct act to a controlled access highway, areas maintained for safety and security of a transportation facility, parking facilities with direct act to a controlled access highway, areas maintained for safety and security of a transportation facility, parking facilities with direct act to a controlled access highway, areas maintained for safety and security of a transportation facility, parking facilities with direct act to a controlled access highway, areas maintained for safety and security of a transportation facility, parking facilities with direct act to a controlled access highway, areas maintained for safety and security of a transportation facility, parking facilities with direct act to a controlled access highway, areas maintained for safety and security of a transportation facility, parking facilities with direct act to a controlled access highway, areas maintained for safety and security of a transportation facility, parking facilities with direct act to a controlled access highway, areas maintained for safety and security of a transportation facility parking facilities with direct act the existing operational right-of-way." Existing operational right-of-way also does not include areas outside those areas neccessary for existing transportation faci	or a cess ect e not to exist and
23 ⁵	Federally-funded projects: Enter project cost \$ and Federal funds \$	
	 (i) That receive less than \$5,000,000 of Federal funds; or (ii) With a total estimated cost of not more than \$30,000,000 and Federal funds comprising less than 15 percent of total estimated project cost. 	f the
24 🗌	Localized geotechnical and other investigation to provide information for preliminary design and for environmental analysis a permitting purposes, such as drilling test bores for soil sampling; archeological investigations for archeology resources assessment or similar survey; and wetland surveys.	ind
25 🗌	Environmental restoration and pollution abatement actions to minimize or mitigate the impacts of any existing transportation facility (including retrofitting and construction of stormwater treatment systems to meet Federal and State requirements under sections 401 and 402 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 1341; 1342)) carried out to address water pollution or environmental degradation.	er on
26 🗌	Modernization of a highway by resurfacing, restoration, rehabilitation, reconstruction, adding shoulders, or adding auxiliary la (including parking, weaving, turning, and climbing lanes), if the action meets the constraints in paragraph (e) of this section [771.117(e)]. Note: In order to use this CE, certain constraints must be met. <u>Complete Section 1, Item 3 below</u> .	ines
27 🗌	Highway safety or traffic operations improvement projects, including the installation of ramp metering control devices and lighting, if the project meets the constraints in paragraph (e) of this section [771.117(e)]. Note: In order to use this CE, cere constraints must be met. <u>Complete Section 1, Item 3 below</u> .	rtain
28 🗌	Bridge rehabilitation, reconstruction, or replacement or the construction of grade separation to replace existing at-grade railro crossings, if the actions meet the constraints in paragraph (e) of this section [771.117(e)]. Note: In order to use this CE, certain constraints must be met. <u>Complete Section 1, Item 3 below</u> .	bad
29 🗌	Purchase, construction, replacement, or rehabilitation of ferry vessels (including improvements to ferry vessel safety, navigat and security systems) that would not require a change in the function of the ferry terminals and can be accommodated by existing facilities or by new facilities which themselves are within a CE.	tion,
30 🗌	Rehabilitation or reconstruction of existing ferry facilities that occupy substantially the same geographic footprint, do not resu a change in their functional use, and do not result in a substantial increase in the existing facility's capacity. Example actions include work on pedestrian and vehicle transfer structures and associated utilities, buildings, and terminals.	lt in
	Activity Listed in Examples in 23 CFR 771.117(d)	
1	Reserved.	
2	Reserved.	
3	Reserved.	
4 🗌	Transportation corridor fringe parking facilities.	

³ On the CE form, identify in the project description that all work is within operation right-of-way.

⁴ "Fixed Guideway" means a public transportation facility using and occupying a separate right-of-way for the exclusive use of public transportation such as rail, a fixed catenary system (light rail, trolley, etc.) passenger ferry system, or for a bus rapid transit system.

⁵ On the CE form, distinguish between c23i or c23ii.

Dist/C	o/Rte/PM: 01-HUM-0-CR Fed. Aid No. (Local Project): BRLO 5904 (112) EA/Project No.:						
5 🗌	Construction of new truck weigh stations or rest areas.						
6 🗌	Approvals for disposal of excess right-of-way or for joint or limited use of right-of-way, where the proposed use does not have significant adverse impacts.						
7 🗆	Approvals for changes in access control.						
8 🗌	Construction of new bus storage and maintenance facilities in areas used predominantly for industrial or transportation purposes where such construction is not inconsistent with existing zoning and located on or near a street with adequate capacity to handle anticipated bus and support vehicle traffic.						
9 🗌	Rehabilitation or reconstruction of existing rail and bus buildings and ancillary facilities where only minor amounts of additional land are required and there is not a substantial increase in the number of users.						
10 🗌	Construction of bus transfer facilities (an open area consisting of passenger shelters, boarding areas, kiosks and related street improvements) when located in a commercial area or other high activity center in which there is adequate street capacity for projected bus traffic.						
11 🗌	Construction of rail storage and maintenance facilities in areas used predominantly for industrial or transportation purposes where such construction is not inconsistent with existing zoning and where there is no significant noise impact on the surrounding community.						
12 🗌	Acquisition of land for hardship or protective purposes. Hardship and protective buying will be permitted only for a particular parcel or a limited number of parcels. These types of land acquisition qualify for a CE only where the acquisition will not limit the evaluation of alternatives, including shifts in alignment for planned construction projects, which may be required in the NEPA process. No project development on such land may proceed until the NEPA process has been completed.						
	(i) Hardship acquisition is early acquisition of property by the applicant at the property owner's request to alleviate particular hardship to the owner, in contrast to others, because of an inability to sell his property. This is justified when the property owner can document on the basis of health, safety or financial reasons that remaining in the property poses an undue hardship compared to others.						
	(ii) Protective acquisition is done to prevent imminent development of a parcel which may be needed for a proposed transportation corridor or site. Documentation must clearly demonstrate that development of the land would preclude future transportation use and that such development is imminent. Advance acquisition is not permitted for the sole purpose of reducing the cost of property for a proposed project						
13 🛛	Actions described in paragraphs (c)(26), (c)(27), and (c)(28) of this section that do not meet the constraints in paragraph (e) of this section.						
Activi	ty Listed in Appendix A of the CE Assignment MOU for State Assumption of Responsibilities for Categorical Exclusions						
1 🗌	Construction, modification, or repair of storm water treatment devices (e.g., detention basins, bioswales, media filters, infiltration basins), protection measures such as slope stabilization and other erosion control measures throughout California.						
2 🗌	Replacement, modification, or repair of culverts or other drainage facilities.						
3 🗌	Projects undertaken to assure the creation, maintenance, restoration, enhancement, or protection of habitat for fish, plants, or wildlife (e.g., revegetation of disturbed areas with native plant species; stream or river bank revegetation; construction of new, or maintenances of existing fish passage conveyances or structures; restoration or creation of wetlands).						
4 🗌	Routine repair of facilities due to storm damage, including permanent repair, to return the facility to operational condition that meets current standards of design and public health and safety without expanding capacity (e.g., slide repairs, construction or repair of retaining walls).						
5 🗌	Routine seismic retrofit of facilities to meet current seismic standards and public health and safety standards without expansion of capacity.						
6 🗌	Air space leases that are subject to Subpart D, Part 710, title 23, Code of Federal Regulations.						
7 🗖	Drilling of test bores/soil sampling to provide information for preliminary design and for environmental analyses and permitting purposes.						
2. Pr	oject is a CE for a highway project under NEPA Assignment 23 USC 327. 🗌 Yes 🛛 No						
(Use only if project does not qualify under CE Assignment 23 USC 326 [activities not included in three previous lists above].)							

Dis	t/Co/Rte/PM: 01-HUM-0-CR Fed. Aid No. (Local Project): BRLO 5904 (112) EA/Project No.:
3.	This section must be completed in order to use a CE under 771.117(c)(26), (c)(27), or (c)(28). If any of the answers are "Yes" the action MAY NOT be processed under 771.117(c)(26), (c)(27), or (c)(28. These constraints are found in 771.117(e). If these constraints cannot be met, the action MAY NOT be processed under 771.117(c)(26), (c)(27), or (c)(28); however, the project may qualify for a CE under 771.117(d)(13).
	Does the action include any of the following?
	A. 🗌 Yes 🖾 No: An acquisition of more than a minor amount of right-of-way or that would result in any residential or
	nonresidential displacements;
	B. Yes X No: A bridge permit from the U.S. Coast Guard; OR An action that does not meet the terms and conditions of a U.S. Army Corps of Engineers nationwide or general permit under section 404 of the Clean Water Act (i.e., does the project require a Standard 404 permit [Individual Permit or Letter of Permission]?) AND/OR A permit required under Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899
	 C. X Yes No: A finding of "adverse effect" to historic properties under the National Historic Preservation Act; OR The use of a resource protected under 23 U.S.C. 138 or 49 U.S.C. 303 (section 4(f)) except for actions resulting in <i>de minimis</i> impacts; OR A finding of "may affect, likely to adversely affect" threatened or endangered species or critical habitat under the Endangered Species Act.
	D. Yes No: Construction of temporary access, or the closure of existing road, bridge, or ramps, that would result in major traffic disruptions;
	 F. Yes X No: Changes in access control; F. Yes X No: A floodplain encroachment other than functionally dependent uses (<i>e.g.,</i> bridges, wetlands) or actions that facilitate open space use (<i>e.g.,</i> recreational trails, bicycle and pedestrian paths); OR Construction activities in, across or adjacent to a river component designated or proposed for inclusion in the National System of Wild and Scenic Rivers.
4.	Independent Utility and Logical Termini
	The project complies with NEPA requirements related to connected actions and segmentation (i.e. the project must have independent utility, connect logical termini when applicable, be usable and be a reasonable expenditure even if no additional transportation improvements in the area are made and not restrict further consideration of alternatives for other reasonably foreseeable transportation improvements). (FHWA Final Rule, "Background," <i>Federal Register</i> Vol. 79, No. 8, January 13, 2014.)
5.	Categorical Exclusions Defined (23 CFR 771.117[a]).
	FHWA regulation 23 CFR 771.117(a) defines categorical exclusions as actions which:
	 do not induced significant impacts to planned growth or land use for the area;
	 do not require the relocation of significant numbers of people;
	 do not have a significant impact on any natural, cultural, recreational, historic or other resources;
	 do not involve significant air, noise, or water quality impacts;
	 do not have significant impacts on travel patterns; or
	 do not otherwise, either individually or cumulatively, have any significant environmental impacts.
	Checking this box certifies that project meets the above definition for a Categorical Exclusion.
6.	Exceptions to Categorical Exclusions/Unusual Circumstances (23 CFR 771.117[b]).
	FHWA regulation 23 CFR 771.117(b) provides that any action which normally would be classified as a CE but could involve <i>unusual circumstances</i> requires the Department to conduct appropriate environmental studies to determine if the CE classification is proper. Unusual circumstances include actions that involve:
	 Significant environmental impacts;
	 Substantial controversy on environmental grounds;
	 Significant impact on properties protected by section 4(f) of the DOT Act or section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act; or
	 Inconsistencies with any Federal, State, or local law, requirement or administrative determination relating to the environmental aspects of the action.
	All of the above unusual circumstances have been considered in conjunction with this project. (Please select one.)
	Checking this box certifies that none of the above conditions apply and that the project qualifies for a Categorical Exclusion.
	Checking this box certifies that unusual circumstances are involved. However, the appropriate studies/analysis have been completed, and it has been determined that the CE classification is still appropriate.

Categorical Exclusion Checklist
Dist/Co/Rte/PM: 01-HUM-0-CR Fed. Aid No. (Local Project): BRLO 5904 (112) EA/Project No.:
SECTION 2: Compliance with FHWA NEPA policy to complete all other applicable environmental requirements ⁶ prior to making the NEPA determination:
During the environmental review process for which this CE was prepared, all applicable environmental requirements were evaluated. Outcomes for the following requirements are identified below and fully documented in the project file.
Air Quality
 <u>Air Quality Conformity Findings Checklist</u> has been completed and project meets all applicable AQ requirements. For 23 USC 326 projects which require an air quality conformity determination (certain projects under 23 CFR 771.117(c)(22) and (23), list the date of the Caltrans conformity determination: For 23 USC 327 projects, list date of FHWA concurrence on conformity determination:
Cultural Resources
⊠ Section 106 compliance is complete-select appropriate finding: □ Screened Undertaking ⊠ No Historic Properties Affected □ No Adverse Effect □ Adverse Effect/MOA
Noise
 23 CFR 772 ➢ Is this a Type 1 project? ☐ Yes; ➢ No (skip this section.) ☐ Future noise levels with project either approach or exceed NAC or result in a substantial increase If yes, ☐ Abatement is reasonable and feasible ☐ Abatement is not reasonable or feasible
Waters, Wetlands
 Section 404 of the Clean Water Act Impacts to Waters of the US: Yes No If yes, approval anticipated: Nationwide Permit Individual Permit Regional General Permit Letter of Permission Wetland Protection (Executive Order #11990) No wetland impact Wetland Impact; Only Practicable Alternative Finding is included in a separate document in the project file
Section 401 of the Clean Water Act
 Floodplains (Executive Order #11988) No Floodplain Encroachment No Significant Encroachment Significant Encroachment
Biology
 No Section 7 Needed Section 7 (Federal Endangered Species Act) Consultation Findings (Effect determination) No Effect Not Likely to Adversely Affect with FWS/NOAA Concurrence Date: Likely to Adversely Affect with Biological Opinion Date: <u>9/25/15</u> Essential Fish Habitat (Magnuson-Stevens Act) Findings (Effect determination): No Effect No Adverse Effect Adverse Effect and consultation with NOAA Fisheries

⁶ Please consult the SER for a complete list of applicable laws, statutes, regulations, and executive orders that must be considered before completing the CE.

Categorical Exclusion Checklist
Section 4(f) Transportation Act (23 CFR 774)
 Section 4(f) regulation was considered as a part of the review for this project and a determination was made:
Section 4(f) does not apply (Project file includes documentation that property is not a Section 4(f) property, that project does not use a Section 4(f) property, or that the project meets the criteria for the temporary occupancy exception.)
De Minimis
 Programmatic: Type (List one of the five appropriate categories as defined in 23 CFR 774.3) Individual: Legal Sufficiency Review complete HQ Coordinator Review Complete Section 6(f)—Was the above property purchased with grant funds from the Land and Water Conservation Fund? No, Section 6(f) does not apply. No additional documentation required.
been received for the conversion/and replacement of 6(f) property
Coastal Zone
Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972
 ☐ Not in Coastal Zone ☐ Qualifies for Exemptions ☐ Qualifies for Waiver ☑ Consistent with Federal State and Local Coastal Plans ☐ Federal Consistency Determination
Relocation and Right of Way
No Relocations
Project involves (#) relocations and will follow the provisions of the Uniform Relocation Act.
No right of way acquisitions or easements.
Hazardous Waste and Materiale
Are bezerdeus meteriele er centeminetien eveneding nemuleten therefolds (mentle H.O. F.D.A. O. H.F.D.A. O. H.
 Are nazardous materials of contamination exceeding regulatory thresholds (as set by U.S. EPA, Cal EPA, County Environmental Health, etc) present?
● If yes, is the nature and extent of the hazardous materials or contamination fully known? □ Yes □ No
If no, briefly discuss the plan for securing information:
SECTION 3: Certification
Based on the information obtained during environmental review process and included in this checklist, the project is determined to be a Categorical Exclusion pursuant to the National Environmental Policy Act and is in compliance with all other applicable environmental laws, regulations, and Executive Orders.
Prepared by (print name): Jenna Larson
Title: Associate Environmental Planner
Signature ⁷ : Jmh Date: 11/19/15

⁷ Please note that this form cannot be completed by the Senior Environmental Planner or Branch Chief that is signing the CE/CE form. Page 6 of 6 November 5, 2014

			Pine Hill Road Bridge Repl	acement Pr	oject				
			Environmental Commit	nent Record					
Project Name	Pine Hill Road Bridg	e Replacement Project	Federal Project No.	BRLO-5904	(112)	Notes:			
Contact	Andrew Bundsch	100 nuh, 707-445-7741	County Project No.	594020					
<u>Project Description:</u> The I with a sufficiency rating of 4-	Humboldt County Public Works Departm 4.6. The County is proposing to replace t	nent (County) is planning to replace the Brid the existing bridge with a modern two-lane p	ge No. 04C-0173 on Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough. The e orecast concrete girder bridge that meets current structural	existing two-lane, 63-foo I, geometric and hydraui	t, three-span timber st ic standards.	ringer structure was built in 1955 and is co.	nsidered structurally de	ficient and func	ctionally obsolete
<u>NOTE</u> : This following table i commitments made in techr document once permits are	is intended as a summary guide to envin nical studies or correspondence prior to authorized.	ronmental commitments and is meant to be o NEPA clearance. If there are any discrepa	e a living document. Much of the information presented wan ncies between this table and technical studies/permits the	as gathered during the I n the technical studies/	NEPA process prior to permits will take pred	the issuance of regualtory permits. It does redence. Typically, environmental commit	not replace or superse nents related to regula	de any environ tory permits w	imental rill be added to this
PERMITS REQUIRED		Agency	Permit Number	Date of	Permit	Project Component	1		
Section 7 ESA; Biological Op	inion	NMFS	WCR-2015-2927	9/25/2015		Stream Channel	1		
Section 7 ESA; Biological Op	inion	USFWS	AFWO-15B0056-15F0148	9/25	/2015	Stream Channel			
Section 404 Nationwide Per	mit 14	USACE	Pending	Pending		Stream Channel/Wetlands			
Section 401 Water Quality C	Certification	RWQCB	Pending	Pending		Stream Channel/Wetlands			
Section 1602 Streambed Alt	eration Agreement	CDFW	Pending	Pending		Stream Channel			
Coastal Development Permit	t - State	CCC	Pending	Pending		Entire Project			
		Task and Brief Description		Document	Timing/ Phase	Actions to Comply with	Task	Task C Initial	Completion Date
Pine Hill Road Bridge	Replacement Project (spanning	g Swain Slough)							
Condition #1 - Work Perio	d line and								
Regulatory permitting will require a restricted work period for activities that impact the stream channel, including water diversion. The seasonal work period will be July 1 - October 15.			NEPA documents; NMFS BO; USFWS BO; Permits	Construction	Work beyond October 15 may be extend authorization from regulatory agencies w Activities occuring in the wetted channel County staff prior to commencement.	ed but prior vill be required. shall be approved by			
Condition #2 - Vegetation	Impacts / Protection of Riparian Hal	bitat							
Vegetation removal shall not exceed the minimum necessary to complete the project. All vegetation adjacent to or within the Swain Slough corridor will be protected to the extent feasible as a means of preserving maximum ecological function. Any areas disturbed during construction will be restored to pre-existing conditions following utility relocation work.			NEPA documents; All permits	Pre-, During, and Post-Construction;	Contractor will work with County RE on to vegetation.	minimizing impacts			
Condition #3 - Waters of th	he U.S. and State, including Wetlands			nerana (ang dibad)	Martin (1999)				
Condition #3 - Waters of the U.S. and State, including Wetlands To the extent practicable, the discharge of dredged or fill material into "waters of the United States," including wetlands shall be avoided. • Impacts on jurisdictional waters will be compensated on site at a minimum 1:1 ratio or other ratio as agreed by the County and the Corps, North Coast RWQCB, California Coastal Commission, and the CDFW. • Temporary impacts to wetlands shall be avoided through implementation of avoidance and minimization measures. All construction staging activities will be located in upland areas, away for wetland features. Temporary barriers to intrusion (e.g., exclusionary fencing) shall be placed at the edge of the verified wetland boundaries to ensure that construction equipment and access do not encroach on jurisdictional waters.			NEPA documents; All permits	Pre-, During, and Post-Construction;	Contractor will work with County RE on to wetlands. All wetland impacts will be o by re-creating and expanding ditches. Pla Revegetation will be completed by specia	minimizing impacts compensated on site inting and ilists.			

.

Task and Brief Description	Document	Timing/ Phase	Actions to Comply with Task	Task Comple	etion Date
Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project (spanning Swain Slough)	1	I			
Condition #4 - Special-Status Plant Species					
The proposed project may impact habitat supporting Lyngbye's sedge along the banks of Martin Slough. Protection measures will be put in place to minimize and avoid impacts to sedge plants and habitat. • Prior to the start of construction activities in the proposed project area, the edges and endpoints of the patches of Lyngbye's sedge patches adjacent to the existing bridge will be identified with flagging, as practicable—exclusionary fencing should not be used as much of the sedge is within the mean high tide line. A qualified botanist shall be present to assist with identifying the populations. The flagging shall be periodically inspected throughout each period of construction and be repaired as necessary. All pedestrian and vehicular entry into these patches shall be avoided as practicable.	NEPA documents; All permits	Pre-, During, and Post-Construction;	Patches of Lyngbye's sedge that are in the footprint of the proposed RSP will be salvaged and relocated to designated areas along Swain Slough. Planting and Revegetation will be completed by specialists.		
Condition #5 - Listed Fish Species	n an				
The following measures shall be implemented to avoid or minimize project-related impacts upon listed anadromous salmonids, tidewater goby and their habitat occurring in the project area. • All instream work shall be completed between July 1st and October 15th. • Fish relocation activities shall be performed only by qualified fisheries biologists who have experience with fish capture and handling and have the necessary authorizations for the purposes of relocation. (See Condition #9) • Prior to October 15th (unless work window extensions are granted), the temporary slough protection system and sheet piles shall be removed from the channel. It shall not impede, or tend to impede, the passage of fish at any time, pursuant to Fish and Game Code Section 5901. • Any structure placed within a stream where fish do/may occur shall be designed, constructed, and maintained such that they do not constitute a barrier to upstream or downstream movement of aquatic life or cause an avoidance reaction by fish that impedes their upstream or downstream movement.	NEPA documents; NMFS BO; USFWS BO; Permits	Pre-, During, and Post-Construction;	The proposed action has been designed such that the conservation measures and proposed avoidance and minimization measures will avoid or minimize the potential effects to coho salmon, Chinook salmon, Northern California DPS steelhead, tidewater goby, and designated critical habitat to the greatest extent possible. No additional mitigation is required.		
Condition #6 - Nesting Birds	L	n na subre (na provinse na subre na travense	na Prisi da se		
Any potential nesting habitat (e.g., shrubs and trees) that will be removed by the project should be removed before the onset of the nesting season (March 1 through August 30), if practicable. If construction occurs outside of the breeding season, no further mitigation is necessary. If the breeding season cannot be completely avoided, the following mitigations will be implemented: (1) A qualified biologist will conduct a minimum of one pre-construction survey for songbirds within the API, including the bridge for swallow activity. The surveys should be conducted no more than 15 days prior to the initiation of construction in any given area. The pre-construction survey should be used to ensure that no nests of these species occur within or immediately adjacent to the API and would be disturbed during project implementation. If an active nest is found, the biologist will either determine the extent of a construction-free buffer zone to be established around the nest or postpone the project until the young have fledged. (2) Regarding swallow nesting underneath the bridge: Previous surveys have identified signs of swallow activity (old/active nests) at the bridge site. The County will take appropriate measures to remove nests before they become active. These activities will need to be authorized by DFW.	NEPA documents; DFW 1602; MBTA	Pre-Construction	The County plans to have any potential nesting habitat removed prior to March 1 of the construction year. If this cannot be accomplished, then survey protocols will be followed.		
Condition #7 - Erosion and Sediment Control		the second s			14 (). 1
 To the maximum extent practicable, activities that increase the erosion potential in the project area shall be restricted to the relatively dry summer and early fall period to minimize the potential for rainfall events to transport sediment to surface water features. If these activities must take place during the late fall, winter, or spring, then temporary erosion and sediment control structures shall be in place and operational at the end of each construction day and maintained until permanent erosion control structures are in place. Areas where wetland and upland vegetation need to be removed shall be identified in advance of ground disturbance and limited to only those areas that have been approved by the County. Suitable BMPs, such as silt fences, straw wattles, or catch basins, shall be placed below all construction activities at the edge of surface water features to intercept sediment before it reaches the waterway. These structures shall be installed prior to any clearing or grading activities. If spoil sites are used, they shall be located such that they do not drain directly into a surface water feature, if possible. If a spoil site drains into a surface water feature, catch basins shall be in place prior to the onset of the rainy season and will be monitored and maintained in good working condition until disturbed areas have been revegetated. All dewatering activities will be conducted in compliance with the Caltrans Field Guide for Construction Site Dewatering and Section 13-4.03G of the Caltrans Standard Specifications. Water removed from coffered work areas required for construction of the new abutments shall be pumped to a temporary sediment retention basin outside of the channel, through a mechanized water filtration system, or into Baker tanks or similar storage system and trucked offsite to an authorized disposal 	All permits; SWPPP or WPCP	Construction / Post Construction	Contractor will be required to submit either a SWPPP or WPCP for approval. If disturbance is over an acre and a SWPPP is required, then the contractor shall comply with all conditions under the Water Board's General Construction Permit and SWPPP requirements.		
site.					

Task and Brief Description	Document	Timing/ Phase	Actions to Comply with Task	Task Co Initial	mpletion Date
Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project (spanning Swain Slough)			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Condition #8 - Spill Prevention, Equipment Fueling and Maintenance Activities		a yan din faa ya dibanaan na dagaa d	an a	International and a strain provider and	
 A site-specific spill prevention plan shall be implemented for potentially hazardous materials. Equipment and hazardous materials shall be stored 50 ft away from surface water features. Vehicles and equipment used during construction shall receive proper and timely maintenance to reduce the potential for mechanical breakdowns leading to a spill of materials. Maintenance and fueling shall be conducted in an area at least 50 feet away from Swain Slough or within an adequate fueling containment area. Equipment shall use non-toxic vegetable oil for operating hydraulic equipment instead of traditional hydraulic fluids. Place plastic materials under asphaltic concrete (AC) paving equipment while not in use, to catch and/or contain drips and leaks. Minimize sand and gravel from new asphalt from getting into storm drains, streets, and creeks by sweeping. Old or spilled asphalt must be recycled or disposed as approved by the Resident Engineer. A C grindings, pieces, or chunks used in embankments or shoulder backing must not be allowed to enter any storm drain or watercourses. Install silt fence until structure is stabilized or permanent controls are in place. Collect and remove all broken asphalt and recycle when practical; otherwise, dispose in accordance with Standard Specification 7-1.13. During chip seal application and sweeping operations, petroleum or petroleum covered aggregate must not be allowed to enter any storm drain or water courses. Use silt fence until installation is complete. Use only non-toxic substances to coat asphalt transport trucks and asphalt spreading equipment. Drainage inlet structures and manholes shall be covered with filter fabric during application of seal coat, tack coat, slurry seal, or fog seal. Seal coat, tack coat, slurry seal, or fog seal shall not be applied if rainfall is predicted to occur during the application or coring period. If dewatering is not required for ot	NEPA documents; All permits; SWPPP	Construction	Contractor wil be required to submit a SWPPP for approval. Contractor shall comply with all conditions under the Water Board's General Construction Permit and SWPPP requirements. Contractor will be responsible for monitoring pH levels within the cofferdam enclosure. Appropriate actions relating to pH levels will be directed to Contractor by County RE.		
Condition #9 - Fish Rescue & Exclusion	<u>l</u> Senteting den hjerne en er er stat	provide a construction of the providence of the			
 Prior to pile-driving of CISS piles, Swain Slough will be seined at low-tide, with a 0.125-inch mesh seine, and a net barrier installed at least 100-ft upstream and downstream of the existing structure (acoustic impact area for physical injury). Barrier nets will be monitored daily and additional seine passes may be required if fish continue to be encountered over the 10-12 day CISS pile-driving period. In order to minimize potentially adverse effects to special-status fishes, all translocation/removal of fishes will be conducted by qualified fisheries biologists. See Conditon #5 as well. Any fish that cannot be simply herded by seines from the action area and must be physically handled will be released at a suitable habitat upstream or downstream of the project area, with comparable habitat and water quality conditions. Immediately following completion of CISS pile driving, the block nets will be removed allowing free fish passage through the action area during the remainder of the construction period. 	NEPA documents; All permits	Construction			
Condition #10 - Prevention of Fish Barotrauma					1.000000000000000000000000000000000000
 To protect the most vulnerable life stages that occur within the project area, salmon fry/juveniles and spawning goby, in-water work would be restricted to the period between July 1st and October 15th. Sheet piles will be driven in an isolated ad mostly dewatered or very shallow areas of the slough channel between the latter 1/3 of the outgoing tide and beginning 1/3 of the incoming tide. CISS piles will be driven mostly landward of the slough channel within dewatered cofferdam enclosures, isolating the piles and reducing the transmission of sound pressure waves into and through the water column of the main slough channel. In advance of the project a Hydroacoustic Monitoring Plan will be prepared and submitted to the appropriate agency(s) and a final report including all data collected from the selected monitoring locations will be submitted to the USFWS and NMFS within 90 days of the completion of hydroacoustic monitoring. 	NEPA documents; All permits	Construction	Potential impacts from underwater noise will need to be monitored by the County (a qualified specialist will need to be contracted out for the monitoring work and development of Hydroacoustic Monitoring Plan). Contractor will need follow orders from the County relating to work activities (start/stop) based on real-time monitoring results.		
Condition #11 - Air Quality/Dust Control				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
If dust becomes a nuisance to public traffic or local residents, or if dust has the potential to compromise the health of employees working at the site, it will be controlled with water on an as-needed basis	SWPPP; Construction site management	Construction	Proper BMPs		

Task and Brief Description	Document	Timing/ Phase	Actions to Comply with Task	Task	Completion Date	
Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project (spanning Swain Slough)				<u> miciai </u>	Dute	
Condition #12 - Noise						
The project has the potential to cause excessive noise during construction activities. The folowing recommended abatment measures should be considered: • Project construction activities should be limited to the daytime hours of 7 am to 7 pm. • Local residents should be given advanced notice of project construction schedules, and should be notified that there will be substantial temporary increases in local noise levels during project construction at the nearest residences to the construction activities. • To the extent feasible, separation between construction staging areas and the nearest residences should be maximized. • If concerns are expressed by local residents regarding excessive noise during project construction, the potential for installation of temporary, localized noise barriers should be discussed with the resident and implemented if feasible. Such barriers could take the form of hay bales, acoustic curtains, or temporary wood fencing. • All internal combustion engines used for construction shall be fitted with mufflers. • Generators and compressors required during project construction should be located as far as possible from existing residents and, if necessary, shielded from view of those residences by portable noise barriers.	NEPA documents; Construction Noise Memo	Construction	Proper BMPs; County RE will communicate with local residents about construction schedule and possibility of increase noise. County RE and Contractor will work together to minimize noise impacts.			
Condition #13 - Prevention of Spread of Invasive Species						
All equipment used for off-road construction activities will be weed-free prior to entering the BSA/API. If project implementation calls for mulches, it will be weed-free. Any seed mixes or other vegetative material used for re-vegetation of disturbed sites will consist of locally adapted native plant materials to the extent practicable.	NEPA documents; All permits	Construction/ Post Construction	Proper BMPs			
Cultural/Historic BMPs						
Condition #14 - Inadvertent Discovery of Cultural Resources						
If cultural resources, such as chipped or ground stone, historic debris, building foundations, or bone are discovered during ground-disturbance activities, work shall be stopped within 20 meters (66 feet) of the discovery, per the requirements of CEQA (Title 14 CCR 15064.5 (f) and Section 106 (36 CFR 800.13). Work near the archaeological finds shall not resume until a professional archaeologist, who meets the Secretary of the Interior's Standards and Guidelines, has evaluated the materials and offered recommendations for further action.	ASR/HPSR	Construction				
Condition #15 - Inadvertent Discovery of Human Remains				ng na na sa		
If human remains are discovered during project construction, work will stop at the discovery location, within 20 meters, and any nearby area reasonably suspected to overlie adjacent to human remains (Public Resources Code, Section 7050.5). The Humboldt County coroner will be contacted to determine if the cause of death must be investigated. If the coroner determines that the remains are of Native American origin, it is necessary to comply with state laws relating to the disposition of Native American burials, which fall within the jurisdiction of the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) (Public Resources Code, Section 5097). The coroner will contact the NAHC. The descendants or most likely descendants of the deceased will be contacted, and work will not resume until they have made a recommendation to the landowner or the person responsible for the excavation work for means of treatment and disposition, with appropriate dignity, of the human remains and any associated grave goods, as provided in Public Resources Code, Section 5097.98. Work may resume if NAHC is unable to identify a descendant or the descendant failed to make a recommendation.	ASR/HPSR	Construction				



Appendix D - CEQA Determination

HUMBOLDT COUNTY

NOTICE OF EXEMPTION

TO: _____ Secretary for Resources 1416 Ninth Street, Room 1311 Sacramento, CA 95814

> _X_ County Clerk County of Humboldt

APPLICANT: Humboldt County Public Works 1106 Second St. Eureka, CA 95501 707-445-7741

Project Title: Pinc Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project

Project Location-Specific: Township 4 North, Range 1 West, Section 4; Lat. 40.7525568N; Long. 124.1827002W

Project Location-County: Pine Hill Road Post Mile 0.20, Eureka, Humboldt County

Description of Nature, Purpose, and Beneficiaries of Project: <u>Humboldt County proposes to replace the Pine Hill Road</u> Bridge at Swain Slough under the federal-aid Highway Bridge Program (HBP). The existing bridge has a classification of functionally obsolete and structurally deficient per the 2013 Caltrans bridge inspection report. The proposed new bridge will be a single-span precast concrete I-girder, and will be slightly longer than the existing bridge to better fit the site conditions. The single-span bridge option will minimize the environmental impacts to the slough as it will not require any supports in the slough channel. The recommended new roadway would consist of two 10-ft lanes and two 5-ft shoulders.

Name of Public Agency Approving Project: Humboldt County Public Works Department

Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project: <u>Humboldt County Public Works Department</u>

Exempt Status: (Check One)

 _____Ministerial (Sec. 15268)

 _____Declared Emergency (Sec. 15269[a])

 _____Emergency Project (Sec. 15269[b] and [c])

 _____X_Categorical Exemption. State type and section number:

 • 15301 – Existing Facilities

• 15302 – Replacement or Reconstruction

Reason why project is exempt: <u>This is a Class 1 project to maintain an existing public roadway facility, and a Class 2</u> project consisting of replacing existing structures on the same site with the same purpose and capacity as the structure being replaced.

Contact	Person: ANDREW BUNDSCHUH	Telephone: 707-445-7741
2	HUMBOLDT COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS	TO BILL
<u><u> </u></u>	FILED	Money Indsch
Signatu	County of Humboldt Kelly E. Sanders County Clerk	Signature of Humboldt Co. Rep.
	12-2016-016 05/19/2016	Senior Environmental Analyst
Title	The OSLOW Clerk	Title
	~ ~ (AL	May 18, 2016
Date re	A starting and the start of the	Date Signed



COUNTY OF HUMBOLDT

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS NATURAL RESOURCES DIVISION

> 1106 SECOND STREET EUREKA, CA 95501-0579 (707) 445-7741 / FAX (707) 445-7409



DATE: May 18, 2016

TO: Engineering Department

FROM: Natural Resources Division

SUBJECT: Pine Hill Road / Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project; CEQA Determination

Background

The County of Humboldt is planning on replacing the bridge that spans Swain Slough located on Pine Hill Road Post Mile (PM) 0.20 (Bridge No. 4C-0173) just east of Highway 101 and roughly one mile south of the City of Eureka. Pine Hill Road is a Rural Local Road that connects Elk River road with Meyers Avenue and Herrick Road.

The existing bridge was built in 1955, and is structurally deficient and functionally obsolete with a sufficiency rating of 44.6. The County nominated the bridge for replacement under the federal-aid Highway Bridge Program (HBP) administered by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) through Caltrans Local Assistance.

The existing bridge is a 63-foot (ft) timber stringer structure with a concrete deck and concrete abutments and was built in 1955. The existing timber stringers are in poor condition as are the concrete support columns; the bridge has been categorized as both structurally deficient and functionally obsolete. The proposed new bridge will be a single-span precast concrete I-girder, and will be slightly longer than the existing bridge to better fit the site conditions. The single-span bridge option will minimize the environmental impacts to the slough as it will not require any supports in the slough channel. The recommended new roadway would consist of two 10-ft lanes and two 5-ft shoulders.

CEQA Determination

Staff has determined that this project fits the definition of a Class 2 Categorical Exemption (CEQA Guidelines, Section 15302) as it involves the replacement of an existing public facility on the same site with the same purpose and capacity as the structure being replaced. Furthermore, this project has been analyzed under both CEQA and NEPA and it has been determined that the project, as designed, will not adversely impact air quality, water quality, historical or cultural resource, or any other environmental area. The project will improve vehicular/pedestrian/bicyclist safety and reduce the potential of accidents and injuries. This project fits within the definition of the Class 2 Categorical Exemption as set forth in CEQA Guidelines, Section 15302. Additionally, staff has determined that none of the exceptions to the Categorical Exemptions set forth in CEQA Guidelines, Section 15300.2, apply. As such, staff has concluded that this Categorical Exemption applies to this project.

edrew Bendsch L

Andrew Bundschuh Senior Environmental Analyst


Appendix E - Natural Environment Study

Pine Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project NES



Natural Environment Study

Humboldt County, California Township 04 North, Range 01 West, Section 4 USGS Eureka, California 7.5-Minute Quadrangle Bridge No. 04C-0173 01-HUM-CR-0 Federal Project No. BRLO-5904(112)

October 2015



Pine Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project NES

Natural Environment Study

Humboldt County, California Township 04 North, Range 01 West, Section 4 USGS Eureka, California 7.5-Minute Quadrangle Bridge No. 04C-0173 01-HUM-CR-0 Federal Project No. BRLO-5904(112)

> STATE OF CALIFORNIA Department of Transportation

Prepared by:

Wirt Lanning, Project Manager (530) 222-5347, Ext. 128 North State Resources, Inc. 5000 Bechelli Lane, Suite 203, Redding, CA 96002

Date:

Local Agency Approved by:

Andrew Burdschul

10-15-15 Date:

10-15-15

Andrew Bundschuh, Project Manager Humboldt County Department of Public Works (707) 445-7741

Caltrans Approved by:

Date: 10/21/15

Michael Kelly, Environmental Planner Natural Sciences, Biologist (707) 441-4548

District 1, Caltrans Office of Local Assistance

Caltrans SEP Approved by:

Date: 10/21/15

Brandon Larsen, Senior Environmental Planner (707) 445-6410 District 1, Caltrans Office of Local Assistance

Summary

The Humboldt County Public Works Department (County) is planning to replace the Bridge No. 04C-0173 on Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough. The existing two-lane, 63-foot, three-span timber stringer structure was built in 1955 and is considered structurally deficient and functionally obsolete with a sufficiency rating of 44.6. The County is proposing to replace the existing bridge with a modern two-lane precast concrete girder bridge that meets current structural, geometric and hydraulic standards. The new bridge would meet all Caltrans Local Programs Manual and Highway Bridge (HBP) Program requirements.

This Natural Environment Study (NES) report has been prepared by the County to evaluate the potential effects of implementation of the proposed Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project (Project) on special-status plant and animal species, waters of the United States, and other sensitive biological resources (e.g., migratory birds).

Based upon the review of habitat requirements and the results of the field assessments, the biological study area (BSA) contains habitat for 12 special-status plant species, and one sensitive natural community: coastal marsh milk-vetch (Astragalus pycnostachyus var. pycnostachyus), bristle stalked sedge (Carex leptalea), Lyngbye's sedge (*Carex lyngbyei*), northern meadow sedge (*Carex praticola*), Humboldt Bay owl's-clover (*Castilleja ambigua* ssp. *humboldtiensis*), Point Reves bird's-beak (Chloropyron maritimum ssp. palustre), Pacific gilia (Gilia capitata ssp. pacifica), short-leaved evax (Hesperevax sparsiflora var. brevifolia), marsh pea (Lathyrus palustris), Wolf's evening primrose (Oenothera wolfii), dwarf alkali grass (Puccinellia pumila), and western sand-spurrey (Spergularia canadensis var. occidentalis); and Northern Coastal Salt Marsh. The Project study area also contains potential habitat for 12 special-status animal species: five federally and/or state-listed species including Southern Oregon/Northern California Coast Environmentally Significant Unit (ESU) coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch), California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon (O. tshawytscha), steelhead Northern California DPS (O. mykiss), longfin smelt (Spirinchus thaleichthys), and tidewater goby (Eucyclogobius newberryi); and seven other special-status species including coastal cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii), Northern red-legged frog (Rana aurora), white-tailed kite (Elanus leucurus), northern harrier (Circus cvaneus), short-eared owl (Asio flammeus), yellow-breasted chat (Icteria virens), and yellow warbler (Setophaga petechia brewsteri). Swain Slough within the BSA is designated critical habitat for Southern Oregon/Northern

California Coast ESU coho salmon and Northern California DPS steelhead. The County will implement a range of avoidance and minimization measures to ensure that the project does not adversely affect any special-status species or any designated critical habitat.

A Biological Assessment/Essential Fish Habitat Assessment (BA/EFHA) was submitted to the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) to address potential impacts to federally listed fish species and to Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) for Pacific salmon. NMFS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 25, 2015 which concluded that the Project is likely to adversely affect Northern California DPS steelhead, SONCC ESU coho salmon, and California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon, but is not likely to jeopardize the species. NMFS also concluded the project is likely to result in an adverse effect to critical habitat for the Coastal SONCC ESU coho salmon, California ESU Chinook salmon ESU, and the Northern California DPS steelhead; the Project is not likely to destroy or adversely modify critical habitat. In the BO, NFMS determined that incidental take would occur to all three salmonid species in the form of capture during fish relocation and by exposure to lethal noise levels resulting from pile driving. NMFS expects no more than one juvenile of each species to be injured and no more than two juvenile of each species will be killed as a result of constructing the Project. NMFS, as part of the Section 305(b) Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act consultation, concluded that the Project would adversely affect essential fish habitat for Pacific salmon species (e.g., SONCC ESU coho salmon, and California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon).

The Biological Assessment/Essential Fish Habitat Assessment (BA/EFHA) was also submitted to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) to address potential impacts to the federally listed tidewater goby. The USFWS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 24, 2015 which concluded that the Project is not likely to jeopardize the species. The also concluded the Project action area is not located within designated critical habitat for the species. In the BO, USFWS determined that incidental take would occur to tidewater goby in the form of capture during fish relocation and or during dewatering activities. The USFWS expects no more than five adult gobies to be injured or killed as a result of constructing the Project.

A delineation of "waters of the United States" concluded that jurisdictional features in the BSA include perennial stream (Martin and Swain sloughs), seasonal wetland, and vegetated ditch. These features occupy a total 0.989 acre of waters of the United States and 1.165 acres of waters of the state. Placement of rock slope protection around the abutments and widening of the road would result in permanent impacts on approximately 0.079 acre of waters of the United States. Placement of sheet piling and the temporary relocation of a waterline would result in temporary impacts on approximately 0.017 acre of waters of the United States. The project design minimized impacts on wetlands to the extent practicable. All other design considerations would have a greater impact on wetlands. The project design with the least impact on wetlands was selected and, the project is in compliance with the Wetlands Only Practicable Finding Alternative pursuant to Executive Order 11990, Protection of Wetlands (1977).

To the extent practicable, the discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of the United States, including wetlands, shall be avoided—including waters not subject to Corps jurisdiction, but subject to California Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) or California Coastal Commission jurisdiction. If discharge of fill into a waters of the United States or waters of the State cannot be completely avoided, the City will apply for the appropriate permits from the Corps, North Coast RWQCB, California Coastal Commission, and the California Department of Fish and Wildlife, and will comply with the conditions of each respective permit. Impacts on jurisdictional waters would be compensated at a ratio specified by the permitting agency, and would be completed though on-site creation, restoration, enhancement, and/or preservation.

Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Areas (ESHA) within the Project study area include all waters of the United States and waters of the state identified above and these jurisdictional features extend into a 100-foot buffer around the Project study area. Implementation of the proposed Project would potentially result in the direct loss and indirect disturbance of ESHA, including the permanent impacts on waters of the United States noted above. The proposed project would potentially result in temporary impacts of up to 0.01 acre of upland riparian vegetation (note – impact acreage may be further reduced during the final project design phase). Recommended avoidance/minimization measures are provided in Section 4.1.4.

Cliff swallows *(Petrochelidon pyrrhonota)*, barn swallows *(Hirundo rustica)*, and other migratory birds are known to build nests under artificial structures such as bridges. Bats also can roost in certain crevices under bridges. The existing bridge structure was visually surveyed for evidence of previous migratory bird nesting

activity (e.g., remnant mud nests) and for bat roosts during the field assessment. An unoccupied black phoebe (*Sayornis nigricans*) and barn swallow nests were observed. Potential impacts to occupied nests and recommended avoidance/minimization measures are addressed in Section 4.4.1.

Table of Contents

Summary	••••••		i		
List of Abl	oreviated	Terms	iv		
Chapter 1.	Intro	oduction	1		
1.1.	Project H	listory	1		
	1.1.1.	Existing Facility Conditions	1		
1.2.	Project D	Description	1		
	1.2.1. Project Overview				
	1.2.2.	Construction Overview	7		
	1.2.3.	Construction Practices and Conservation Measures	8		
Chanter 2	Stud	v Methods	17		
2 1	Federal R	egulatory Requirements	17		
2.1.	2 1 1	Federal Endangered Species Act	17		
	2.1.1. 2 1 2	Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act	17		
	2.1.2.	Federal Clean Water Act Section 404	17		
	2.1.3.	Federal Clean Water Act Section 401	17 10		
	2.1.4.	Federal Migratory Bird Treaty Act	10		
	2.1.3.	Marine Mammal Protection Act	10		
	2.1.0.	Executive Order 11000 (Wetlands)	10		
	2.1.7.	Executive Order 171990 (wetlands)	19		
	2.1.0.	Executive Order 15112 (Invasive Species)	19		
2.2	2.1.9. Californi	a Degulatory Deguinements	20		
۷.۷.	California Regulatory Requirements				
	2.2.1.	Endengered Species Act	20		
	2 2 2	Endangered Species Act.	20		
	2.2.2.	Department of Fish and Game Code Section 5505, Blus of Piey	20		
	2.2.3.	Department of Fish and Game Code Section 5515, Wightory	20		
	224	Birds	20		
	2.2.4.	Department of Fish and Game Code, Fully Protected Species	21		
	2.2.3.	Stream and Alteration	21		
	226	Streambed Alteration	21		
2.2	2.2.6.	California Coastal Act	21		
2.3.	Humbold	It County Regulatory Requirements	23		
	2.3.1.	Humboldt Bay Area Plan of the Humboldt County Local Coastal	22		
		Program	23		
	2.3.2.	Humboldt Bay Management Plan	23		
	2.3.3.	Humboldt Bay watersned Salmon and Steelnead Conservation	2.4		
2.4			24		
2.4.	Studies R		24		
	2.4.1.	Database Search and Informational Review	24		
2.5	2.4.2. D	Studies Conducted	25		
2.5.	Personne	I and Survey Dates	26		
2.6.	Agency (Coordination and Professional Contacts	26		
2.7.	Limitatio	ns That May Influence Results	27		
Chapter 3.	Resu	Its: Environmental Setting	29		
3.1.	Descripti	on of Existing Physical and Biological Conditions	29		
	3.1.1.	Study Area	29		
	3.1.2.	Physical Conditions	29		
	3.1.3.	Biological Conditions	30		

3.2.	Habitats and Natural Communities of Concern and Regional Species	32				
	3.2.1. Habitats and Natural Communities of Concern	32				
	3.2.2. Special Status Animals	54				
2.2	5.2.5. Special-Status Ammais					
5.5.	Other Sensitive Diological Resources	43				
Chapter 4.	Results: Biological Resources, Discussion of Impacts and Mitigation	45				
4.1.	Habitats and Natural Communities of Concern	45				
	4.1.1. Natural Communities	45				
	4.1.2. Riparian Habitat	45				
	4.1.3. Waters of the United States and Waters of the State	46				
	4.1.4. Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Areas	53				
4.2.	Special-Status Plant Species	54				
4.3.	Special-Status Animal Species	57				
	4.3.1. Anadromous Fish	57				
	4.3.2. Tidewater Goby	67				
	4.3.3. Longfin Smelt (<i>Spirinchus thaleichthys</i>)	69				
	4.3.4. Coastal cutthroat trout (<i>Oncorhynchus clarkii</i>)	70				
	4.3.5. Northern red-legged frog (<i>Rana aurora</i>)	71				
	4.3.6. White-Tailed Kite (<i>Elanus leucurus</i>)	74				
	4.3.7. Northern harrier (<i>Circus cyaneus</i>)	75				
	4.3.8. Short-eared owl (Asio flammeus)	76				
	4.3.9. Songbirds	77				
4.4.	Other Sensitive Biological Resources	79				
	4.4.1. Nesting Migratory Birds	79				
Chapter 5.	Results: Conclusions and Regulatory Determinations	81				
5.1.	Federal Endangered Species Act Consultation Summary	81				
5.2.	Federal Fisheries and Essential Fish Habitat Consultation Summary	81				
5.3.	Migratory Bird Treaty Act	82				
5.4.	California Endangered Species Act Consultation Summary	82				
5.5.	California Fish and Game Code	82				
5.6.	Wetlands and Other Waters Coordination Summary	82				
	5.6.1. Corps Section 404 Permit	83				
	5.6.2. Section 401 Water Quality Certification	83				
5.7.	Invasive Species	83				
5.8.	Floodplain Management	83				
5.9	California Coastal Act	83				
5.10.	Wetlands Only Practicable Alternative Finding	84				
Chapter 6.	References	85				

List of Tables

Table 1.	Pile driving information for the Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project.	6
Table 2.	Summary of Waters of the United States and Waters of theState	33
Table 3.	Special-Status Plants Determined to Have Suitable Habitat in the BSA and Vicinity	39

Table 4	Special-Status Animals Determined to Have Suitable Habitat in the BSA and Vicinity	41
Table 5.	Permanent and Temporary Impacts on Waters of the United States	49
Table 6.	Permanent and Temporary Impacts on Waters of the State	49

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Biological Study Area Location and Vicinity	3
Figure 2.	Proposed Project Features	4
Figure 3.	Waters of the United States	35
Figure 4.	Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Areas, Including Waters of the State, and Plants	d Rare
Figure 5.	Impacts on Waters of the United States	47

Appendices

Appendix A	USFWS List
Appendix B	CNDDB and CNPS Results
Appendix C	Review of Regionally Occurring Special-Status Species
Appendix D	Plant Species Observed
Appendix E	Delineation of Waters of the United States and State
Appendix F	Wetland Mitigation Concept and Right-of-Way Needs

List of Abbreviated Terms

BA	Biological Assessment					
BMP	Best Management Practices					
BSA	biological study area					
Caltrans	California Department of Transportation					
CDFW	California Department of Fish and Wildlife					
CEQA	California Environmental Quality Act					
CESA	California Endangered Species Act					
CNDDB	California Natural Diversity Database					
CNPS	California Native Plant Society					
Corps	U.S. Army Corps of Engineers					
CWA	Clean Water Act					
CWHR	California Wildlife Habitat Relationships					
DPS	Distinct Population Segment					
ESA	Endangered Species Act					
ESU	Evolutionarily Significant Unit					
EFH	Essential Fish Habitat					
EFHA	Essential Fish Habitat Assessment					
°F	degrees Fahrenheit					
ft	foot/feet					
in	inch/inches					
MBTA	Migratory Bird Treaty Act					
MSA	Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act					
NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act					
NMFS	National Marine Fisheries Service (now NOAA Fisheries)					
OHWM	ordinary high water mark					
Q100	100-Year-Flood					
RWQCB	Regional Water Quality Control Board					
RSP	rock slope protection					
SWPPP	Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan					
USFWS	U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service					

Chapter 1. Introduction

This Natural Environment Study (NES) report has been prepared by Humboldt County Public Works Department (County) to evaluate the potential effects of implementation of the proposed Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project (Project) on sensitive biological resources.

1.1. Project History

The County is planning to replace the Bridge No. 04C-0173 on Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough. The existing bridge was built in 1955, and is structurally deficient and functionally obsolete with a sufficiency rating of 44.6. The County nominated the bridge for replacement under the federal-aid Highway Bridge Program (HBP) administered by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) through Caltrans Local Assistance.

1.1.1. Existing Facility Conditions

The bridge, constructed in 1955, is located on Pine Hill Road approximately 0.2 miles (mi) east of Elk River Road just south of Eureka, California. Pine Hill Road provides access across Swain Slough to residential neighborhoods and connects to Herrick Street, a major arterial out of southern Eureka. The existing bridge is a 63-foot (ft) timber stringer structure with a concrete deck and concrete abutments and was built in 1955. The two bent caps are constructed of reinforced concrete on 8 reinforced concrete piles. The bridge clear width is 19 ft with a 6-inch (in) curb/rail on each side for a total bridge width of 20 ft. The railing is constructed of painted timbers and there is no end protection at the bridge corners. The existing timber stringers are in poor condition as are the concrete support columns; the bridge has been categorized as both structurally deficient and functionally obsolete.

1.2. Project Description

1.2.1. Project Overview

1.2.1.1. LOCATION

The project is located south of Eureka, Humboldt County, California; east of U.S. Highway 101. Pine Hill Road is a Rural Local Road that connects Elk River road with Meyers Avenue and Herrick Road. Swain Slough, which is located in the Elk River watershed, confluences with the Elk River 0.5 mile downstream (northwest) of the bridge. Elk River drains into Humboldt Bay approximately 1.5 miles further downstream; Swain Slough is a tidally influenced stream.

The project biological study area (BSA) is in the *Eureka, California* 7.5-minute U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) topographic quadrangle (Figure 1). Specifically, the BSA is located along Pine Hill Road, east of the Pine Hill/Elk River Road intersection. The BSA is shown on the *Eureka, California* U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 7.5-minute topographic quadrangle; the bridge is identified by the following coordinates: Township 4 North, Range 1 West, Section 4, Humboldt Base and Meridian; and Latitude 40.752536 North by Longitude -124.182588 West, WGS84 datum.

1.2.1.2. PROPOSED PROJECT AREA

The 2.43-acre BSA includes the 1.77-acre Caltrans approved area of potential effects (APE) near the bridge, and an additional length of the County right-of-way (ROW) along Pine Hill Road west of the bridge, between the western end of the APE and the intersection with Elk River Road. This additional area is included in the BSA to provide a potential wetland mitigation area. The APE extends beyond the ROW north and south of Pine Hill Road on both sides of the bridge. The County will need to acquire both permanent roadway easements and temporary construction easements from the adjacent private landowners.

The BSA is located on the coastal plain in the Elk River floodplain. The elevation of the bridge is less than 10 feet above mean sea level, and Swain Slough is subject to tidal influence. A second waterway, Martin Slough, flows from the east, and confluences with Swain Slough within the BSA. Martin Slough parallels Pine Hill Road east of the bridge, but this stream has a tide gate that prevents inflow of normal tidewaters.

1.2.1.3. REPLACEMENT OF EXISTING STRUCTURE

The preferred alternative is to replace the existing bridge on the existing alignment. In accordance with County requirements, the bridge will provide two 10-ft traffic lanes and 5-ft shoulders, in addition to barrier rails along both sides (Figure 2). The replacement structure will be designed for the standard and permit live loading as specified in Caltrans *Bridge Design Specifications* (BDS) as well as the current *Seismic Design Criteria Version 1.7*, April 2013. The bridge elevation will need to be raised in order to meet federal hydraulic clearance requirements. The proposed bridge type is a single-span precast concrete I-girder, and will be slightly longer than the existing bridge to better fit the site conditions. The single-span bridge option will minimize the environmental impacts to the slough as it will not require any supports in the slough channel, eliminating potential impacts to fish passage. The recommended new roadway would consist of two 10-ft lanes and two 5-ft shoulders. Based on the



North State Resources, Inc.

Figure 1 Biological Study Area Location and Vicinity

⁻ Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project



North State Resources, Inc.

Foothill Trunk Replacement Project

roadway classification, flat terrain, and daily traffic volumes, it is anticipated that a roadway design speed of 35 miles per hour (mph) will be used.

The design of the replacement structure will be in accordance with AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications, 6th Edition, and the Caltrans Amendments preface dated November 2013. The new single-span bridge is expected to be approximately 80-ft long (Figure 2). Mainline roadway approach construction will include fills of up to 3.5 ft. Construction of the bridge abutments will require two excavation areas each measuring approximately 30-ft long by 12-ft wide and up to 15-ft deep. Excavation will require dewatering of the work areas since the temporary stream diversion will fall below the local water table elevation. The Hydraulic Design Criteria established in the Caltrans Local Procedures Manual prescribe that the facility be capable of conveying the base or 100-year flood (Q₁₀₀) and passing the 50-year flood (Q₅₀) "without causing objectionable backwater, excessive flow velocities or encroaching on through traffic lanes." Due to the very flat nature of the project site and the configuration of the Elk River floodplain, obtaining 2-ft of freeboard beyond the Q₅₀ is not feasible as the approach roadways would become very long and the bridge would be unnecessarily elevated.

The existing bridge, including decking, abutments, and piers, would be removed and disposed of offsite to allow the construction of the new structure. The roadway would be closed to through traffic as the detour is approximately 1.6 mi. A row of sheet piles would be vibrated into the Swain Slough channel in order to divert the tidal flow and to allow for removal of a portion of the existing abutments and footings; the work area will never be totally dry, but the intent is to separate physical activities from the slough to the extent practicable. A sheet pile enclosure (100-ft total length) surrounding the front and sides of the westerly abutment will be installed first. A second sheet pile enclosure (95-ft total length) around the front and sides of the easterly abutment will be of the slough. Sheets will be 60-ft in length, vibrated down to a depth of 48-ft. Sheet piles will be installed during low-tide so as not to occur "in-water" or capture water behind the sheet piles. Essentially, the slough water will be confined between the existing westerly abutment and the westerly row of piers by the sheet pilings. This temporary channel diversion is expected to be in place for approximately 6-weeks.

The new abutment footings would be constructed on driven piles (Table 1). Falsework is not required for the single-span precast structure. The precast girders will span Swain Slough and will be placed utilizing a crane that will be staged behind the new westerly abutment. Once the girders are in place, deck forms will be constructed between the girders and the new concrete deck will be cast. All new work on the bridge superstructure will be performed without the need for vehicular access from the Swain Slough channel.

			Pile size		Maximum	Piles installed	
Structure	Driver type	Pile type	Diameter	Length	number of Piles	per day/ strikes per day	
Bridge Abutment Piles	Impact	Steel Pipe	24-inch	100-ft	22	2/1,600	
Sheet pile (potential)	Vibratory	Sheet pile	24-inch	60-ft	100	Unknown	

 Table 1. Pile driving information for the Pine Hill Road over Swain

 Slough Bridge Replacement Project.

The new bridge and the approach embankments would not encroach into the Swain Slough channel, though rock slope protection (RSP) at the face and adjacent to the bridge will be required (primarily for the western abutment). Scour protection of the abutments from Swain Slough flows will be required and is expected to consist of ¹/₄-- ton RSP. The RSP is expected to consist of a 3-4 foot minimum thickness ¹/₄--ton layer over a 1-3 foot thick No. 2 backing layer with RSP fabric underneath. The depth of the toe end of the RSP keyway trench is expected to be approximately 6-feet deep and will slope back to the bottom of the abutment front footing face. Approximately 150 cubic yards of RSP, equating to an area of 1,900 square feet will be placed in front of and around the new abutment footings. Installation will partially occur while the slough is diverted and will consist of digging a keyway trench and installing RSP by Method B placement so that the top surface of the RSP will be at the approximate elevation of the original channel grade. This will avoid impinging hydraulic flow within the channel and not adversely impact the upstream flooding characteristics of the river.

The County currently has a prescriptive right-of-way on Pine Hill Road for the existing roadway and bridge alignment. It is anticipated that both permanent roadway easements and temporary construction easements (TCE) will also be required to construct the new bridge. The approach railing at the southeast corner will be compact in order to provide permanent access across Martin Slough via a recently completed tide gate structure. This tide gate structure was installed as part of the State of California's Martin Slough Enhancement Project and replaced three aging culverts and

flap gates in 2014. Access across the tide gate structure is not anticipated for bridge construction activities.

Existing overhead utilities are present east of the project site and serve the Humboldt Community Services District (HCSD) sewage pump plant and the Brown residence. A 12-in water line is located on the north side of Pine Hill Road and is attached to the outside edge of the existing bridge. The overhead electric lines and sewage pump plant located to the east of the project will not be affected. The existing waterline attached to the bridge will be permanently relocated beneath Swain Slough utilizing a horizontally drilled direction HDPE pipe prior to bridge construction (note: HCSD is responsible for completing this work as part of a separate project with a separate contractor). Coordination will begin early and will conform to the latest Caltrans procedural guidelines for relocation.

1.2.2. Construction Overview

Construction specifications would be in accordance with approved Caltrans Standard Specifications and Standard Special Provisions at the time the construction contract is awarded. The following paragraphs describe the in-water construction activities associated with the bridge replacement in more detail. The new bridge will be fully constructed in one season and the work is expected to occur during daylight hours in the summer of 2016. In-water construction activities associated with the bridge replacement at Swain Slough will occur in the following sequence:

- HCSD, as part of a separate project, will permanently relocate the waterline beneath Swain Slough utilizing a horizontally drilled directional HDPE pipe.
- Detour traffic and close Pine Hill Road to through traffic.
- Construct slough protection system, consisting of nets and tarps to prevent debris from falling into the slough, which will be required to remove and dispose of the existing bridge.
- Remove existing bridge superstructure and piers starting with the center span and then moving to the end spans.
- Due to the structural characteristics and age of the existing concrete bridge piers, removal will be accomplished at a very low tide by excavating around each pier, pulling each pier over with an excavator, breaking it off below the mud line, and removing them from the slough channel. No concussive hammering of the existing concrete piers during demolition is required. The excavated pier pits will be backfilled with the sediment removed or with clean gravel after demolition.

- Vibrate sheet piles into slough bed to form cofferdam enclosure around the front and sides of existing Abutment 1. Excavate material between existing Abutment 1 and new sheet piling. Remove existing Abutment 1, primarily with excavators and excavator-mounted hoe ram.
- Vibrate sheet piles into slough bed to form cofferdam enclosure around the front and sides of existing Abutment 2. Remove existing Abutment 2, primarily with excavators and excavator-mounted hoe ram.
- Within cofferdams, excavate bank material to bottom of new abutment footing depth, including possible dewatering of seepage.
- Drive 22 CISS piles (11 per abutment) in the abutment excavations, within dewatered cofferdams.
- Within the cofferdam, place a cobble and gravel work platform around the base of the CISS piles to provide a stable base for construction workers and to control water seepage. If a gravel work platform does not provide sufficient work area or control water seepage, then a concrete seal course will be poured around the base of the CISS piles (i.e., Tremie seal).
- Construct concrete forms and pour abutment footings.
- Construct abutment stems.
- Backfill behind abutments (gravel work platforms and/or Tremie seal concrete will be buried by backfill of native soil and sediment materials and RSP around abutments).
- Grade and install RSP behind sheet piling.
- Remove sheet piling.
- Install single-span precast girders utilizing cranes located behind the newly constructed abutment.
- Construct bridge deck and railing.
- Construct roadway approaches to new bridge.
- Remove the detour.

Equipment and materials will be staged on the existing asphalt concrete roadway approaches.

1.2.3. Construction Practices and Conservation Measures

The following conservation measures are incorporated into the project to minimize potential effects on state- or federally-listed species and other biological resources. This section describes conservation measures proposed to minimize the anticipated temporary and permanent effects associated with the proposed project. The bridge

structure has been designed to minimize permanent in-water impacts to the greatest extent practicable while retaining the design criteria in place for seismic, structural and hydraulic requirements.

1.2.3.1. CONSERVATION MEASURE #1 – PREVENTION OF FISH BAROTRAUMA

To protect the most vulnerable life stages that occur within the project area, salmon fry/juveniles and spawning goby, in-water work would be restricted to the period between July 1st and October 15th. This seasonal work window correlates to the seasonal period when juveniles of the listed salmonids are not likely to occur in the estuarine portion of Swain Slough and fewer spawning goby may be present. To further reduce the potential impacts to all fish in the project area from hydroacoustic barotrauma, sheet piles will be driven in an isolated ad mostly dewatered or very shallow areas of the slough channel between the latter 1/3 of the outgoing tide and beginning 1/3 of the incoming tide, reducing the amount of water, transmission of sound waves, and potentially the number of aquatic organisms in the project area. CISS piles will be driven mostly landward of the slough channel within dewatered cofferdam enclosures, isolating the piles and reducing the transmission of sound pressure waves into and through the water column of the main slough channel.

To monitor and collect data on the actual underwater noise levels generated during pile-driving of the steel sheet and CISS piles, a Hydroacoustic Monitoring Plan, detailing monitoring locations, methods, and schedules, will be prepared and submitted to the appropriate agency(s), in advance of construction. Hydroacoustic monitoring will take place at the closest practical location to the actual pile driving. A final report including all data collected from the selected monitoring locations will be submitted to the USFWS and NMFS within 90 days of the completion of hydroacoustic monitoring.

1.2.3.2. CONSERVATION MEASURE #2 – FISH RESCUE AND EXCLUSION/IN-WATER AVOIDENCE

Prior to pile-driving of CISS piles, Swain Slough will be seined at low-tide, with a 0.125-inch mesh seine, and a net barrier installed at least 100-ft upstream and downstream of the existing structure (acoustic impact area for physical injury). Barrier nets will be monitored daily and additional seine passes may be required if fish continue to be encountered over the 10-12 day CISS pile-driving period. In order to minimize potentially adverse effects to special-status fishes, all translocation/removal of fishes will be conducted by qualified fisheries biologists. Any fish that cannot be simply herded by seines from the action area and must be physically handled will be

released at a suitable habitat upstream or downstream of the project area, with comparable habitat and water quality conditions. Immediately following completion of CISS pile driving, the block nets will be removed allowing free fish passage through the action area during the remainder of the construction period.

1.2.3.3. CONSERVATION MEASURE #3 - EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION CONTROL

Erosion control measures shall be implemented during construction of the proposed project. These measures shall conform to the provisions in Section 20-2 and 20-3 of the Caltrans Standard Specifications and the special provisions included in the contract for the project. Such provisions include the preparation of a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), which describes and illustrates the best management practices (BMPs) in the project site. Erosion control measures to be included in the SWPPP or to be implemented by the County include, but are not limited to, the following:

- To the maximum extent practicable, activities that increase the erosion potential in the project area shall be restricted to the relatively dry summer and early fall period to minimize the potential for rainfall events to transport sediment to surface water features. In-water construction will be conducted from July 1st–October 15th and upland construction will likely occur throughout the year as long as work activities comply with the conservation and avoidance and minimization measures identified herein and for the protection of other sensitive or special-status plant or animal species. For upland construction activities that must take place during the late fall, winter, or spring (e.g., vegetation removal prior to avian nesting periods), then temporary erosion and sediment control structures shall be in place and operational at the end of each construction day and maintained until permanent erosion control structures are in place.
- Areas where wetland and upland vegetation need to be removed shall be identified in advance of ground disturbance and limited to only those areas that have been approved by the County. Exclusionary fencing will be installed around areas that do not need to be disturbed.
- Within 10 days of completion of construction in those areas where subsequent ground disturbance will not occur for 10 calendar days or more, weed-free mulch shall be applied to disturbed areas to reduce the potential for short-term erosion. Prior to a rain event or when there is a greater than 50 percent possibility of rain within the next 24 hours, as forecasted by the National Weather Service, weed-free mulch shall be applied to all exposed areas upon

completion of the day's activities. Soils shall not be left exposed during the rainy season.

- Suitable BMPs, such as silt fences, straw wattles, or catch basins, shall be placed below all construction activities at the edge of surface water features to intercept sediment before it reaches the waterway. These structures shall be installed prior to any clearing or grading activities. Further, sediment built up at the base of BMPs will be removed before BMP removal to avoid any accumulated sediments from being mobilized post-construction.
- If spoil sites are used, they shall be located such that they do not drain directly into a surface water feature, if possible. If a spoil site drains into a surface water feature, catch basins shall be constructed to intercept sediment before it reaches the feature. Spoil sites shall be graded and vegetated with native species to reduce the potential for erosion.
- Sediment control measures shall be in place prior to the onset of the rainy season and will be monitored and maintained in good working condition until disturbed areas have been revegetated with native species.
- All dewatering activities will be conducted in compliance with the Caltrans Field Guide for Construction Site Dewatering and Section 13-4.03G of the Caltrans Standard Specifications. Water removed from coffered work areas required for construction of the new abutments shall be pumped to a temporary sediment retention basin outside of the channel, through a mechanized water filtration system, or into Baker tanks or similar storage system and trucked offsite to an authorized disposal site.

1.2.3.4. CONSERVATION MEASURE #4 - PREVENTION OF ACCIDENTAL SPILLS

Construction specifications shall include the following measures to reduce potential impacts to vegetation and aquatic habitat resources in the project area associated with accidental spills of pollutants (e.g., fuel, oil, and grease). All work will be conducted in accordance with Caltrans Storm Water Quality Handbook for Construction Site Best Management Practices Manual, including, but not limited to the following measures:

• A site-specific spill prevention plan shall be implemented for potentially hazardous materials. The plan shall include the proper handling and storage of all potentially hazardous materials, as well as the proper procedures for cleaning up and reporting any spills. If necessary, containment berms shall be constructed to prevent spilled materials from reaching surface water features.

- Equipment and hazardous materials shall be stored 50 ft away from surface water features.
- Vehicles and equipment used during construction shall receive proper and timely maintenance to reduce the potential for mechanical breakdowns leading to a spill of materials. Maintenance and fueling shall be conducted in an area at least 50 feet away from Swain Slough or within an adequate fueling containment area.
- Equipment shall use non-toxic vegetable oil for operating hydraulic equipment instead of traditional hydraulic fluids.
- Place plastic materials under asphaltic concrete (AC) paving equipment while not in use, to catch and/or contain drips and leaks.
- Minimize sand and gravel from new asphalt from getting into storm drains, streets, and creeks by sweeping. Old or spilled asphalt must be recycled or disposed as approved by the Resident Engineer.
- AC grindings, pieces, or chunks used in embankments or shoulder backing must not be allowed to enter any storm drain or watercourses. Install silt fence until structure is stabilized or permanent controls are in place.
- Collect and remove all broken asphalt and recycle when practical; otherwise, dispose in accordance with Standard Specification 7-1.13.
- During chip seal application and sweeping operations, petroleum or petroleum covered aggregate must not be allowed to enter any storm drain or water courses. Use silt fence until installation is complete.
- Use only non-toxic substances to coat asphalt transport trucks and asphalt spreading equipment.
- Drainage inlet structures and manholes shall be covered with filter fabric during application of seal coat, tack coat, slurry seal, and/or fog seal.
- Seal coat, tack coat, slurry seal, or fog seal shall not be applied if rainfall is predicted to occur during the application or curing period.
- If dewatering is not required for other purposes, removal of seepage water in the coffered work areas may be ceased after new abutment concrete is poured and is curing (for at least 72 hours after pour) within the form structures, provided that pH of the water inside the cofferdam enclosures and in contact with the concrete forms does not exceed a difference of 0.5 pH units from that of ambient water quality in main slough channel outside of the cofferdams (e.g., 50 ft upstream and downstream of the new bridge alignment)¹. If the

¹ The 0.5 pH unit criteria is consistent with the pH objective of the Water Quality Control Plan for the North Coast Region (NCRWQCB 2011).

difference in pH within the cofferdam exceeds 0.5 units, water levels within the coffered area will be kept below the level of the concrete abutment forms and pumped to temporary retention basins or Baker tanks and treated as above for erosion and sediment control.

1.2.3.5. CONSERVATION MEASURE #5 - REPLACEMENT OF LOST RIPARIAN HABITAT

The following measures shall be implemented to reduce potential impacts to riparian habitat in the project area:

- The width of the construction disturbance zone within the riparian habitat shall be minimized through careful pre-construction planning.
- Exclusionary fencing shall be installed along the boundaries of all riparian areas to be avoided to ensure that impacts to riparian vegetation outside of the construction area are minimized.
- Riparian habitat (which is limited to wet meadow) areas temporarily disturbed shall be replanted using grasses and forbs found in the project area.
- Plant spacing intervals will be determined as appropriate based on site conditions following construction.
- Revegetation monitoring would be implemented in compliance with regulatory permit conditions and be initiated immediately following completion of the planting. Consideration may need to be given to the species selected and appropriate protection measures from grazing activities. Monitoring surveys will consist of a general site walkover evaluating the survival and health of riparian plantings, signs of drought stress, weed or herbivory problems, and the presence or trash or other debris. Within the mitigation area, less than 50 percent total mortality of planted species (including container stock and hardwood cuttings) would be considered a success. Greater than 50 percent mortality of planted species will be considered acceptable if "volunteer" native species provide complete vegetation coverage in the mitigation area. If monitoring results indicate that revegetation efforts are not meeting established success criteria, corrective measures would be implemented.

1.2.3.6. CONSERVATION MEASURE #6 - PREVENTION OF SPREAD OF INVASIVE SPECIES

The following measures shall be implemented to prevent the spread of invasive species in the project area:

- All equipment used for off-road construction activities will be weed-free prior to entering the project area.
- If project implementation calls for mulches or fill, they will be weed free.

- Any seed mixes or other vegetative material used for re-vegetation of disturbed sites will consist of locally adapted native plant materials to the extent practicable.
- Any gravels or materials used for the temporary stream diversion shall be new, from a local source, or properly cleaned prior to installation.
- Any equipment (including boots/waders) and construction equipment shall be properly disinfected or cleaned according guidance provided by the State of California Aquatic Invasive Species Management Plan (California Department of Fish and Game 2008a; U.S. Bureau of Reclamation 2012) prior to in-water work to prevent the spread of aquatic invasive species.

1.2.3.7. CONSERVATION MEASURE #7 - AIR QUALITY/DUST CONTROL

The County shall include provisions in the construction bid documents that the contractor shall implement a dust control program to limit fugitive dust emissions. The dust control program shall include, but not be limited to, the following elements, as appropriate:

- Water inactive construction sites and exposed stockpile sites at least twice daily, including non-work days, or until soils are stable.
- In accordance with California Vehicle Code (State of California 2009), all trucks hauling soil and other loose material to and from the construction site shall be covered or should maintain at least 6 in. of freeboard (i.e., minimum vertical distance between top of load and the trailer).
- Any topsoil that is removed for the construction operation shall be stored onsite in piles not to exceed 4 ft in height to allow development of microorganisms prior to resoiling of the construction area. These topsoil piles shall be clearly marked and flagged. Topsoil piles that will not be immediately returned to use shall be revegetated with a non-persistent erosion control mixture.
- Soil piles for backfill shall be marked and flagged separately from native topsoil stockpiles. These soil piles shall also be surrounded by silt fencing, straw wattles, or other sediment barriers or covered unless they are to be immediately used.
- Equipment or manual watering shall be conducted on all stockpiles, dirt/ gravel roads, and exposed or disturbed soil surfaces, as necessary, to reduce airborne dust.

1.2.3.8. CONSERVATION MEASURE #8 - PROTECTION FOR NESTING MIGRATORY BIRDS

The following measures shall be implemented to avoid or minimize the potential for project-related impacts on migratory birds that have no other special-status:

- Grading and other construction activities shall be scheduled to avoid the nesting season to the extent possible. The nesting season for these species extends from March through August. If construction occurs outside of the breeding season, no further mitigation is necessary. If the breeding season cannot be completely avoided, the remainder of this mitigation measure shall be implemented.
- Pre-construction surveys for migratory birds shall be conducted by a qualified biologist to ensure that no nests will be disturbed during project implementation. These surveys shall be conducted no more than 7 days prior to the initiation of construction activities, or re-initiation of construction activities if they have ceased for more than 7 days. During this survey, the biologist shall inspect all potential nesting habitat for migratory bird nests where project activities could potentially result in disturbance to migratory birds, including areas of direct impact plus an area extending at least 100 feet from the perimeter of the project area for migratory birds.
- If an active nests is found within the survey area, or beyond the survey area but in a location where there could be potential disturbance associated with construction activities, the biologist, in consultation with the CDFW, shall determine the extent of a construction-free buffer zone to be established around the nest, or shall develop and agree upon construction methods that will allow work to continue without disturbing an active nest. Active nests may not be removed until after the young have fledged (based on field verification). A qualified biologist shall monitor the nest for disturbance and evidence of fledging during construction and until the young have fledged, and submit status reports to the CDFW throughout the nesting season. If evidence of disturbance to an active nest is observed as a consequence of construction activities, construction activities shall immediately cease until such time as the birds have fledged or construction protocol is revised so as not to disturb nesting birds or fledglings. If vegetation is to be removed by the project and all necessary approvals have been obtained, potential nesting habitat (e.g., shrubs and trees) that will be removed by the project should be removed outside the nesting season, if feasible. This will help preclude nesting and substantially decrease the likelihood of direct impacts.

This page intentionally left blank.

Chapter 2. Study Methods

2.1. Federal Regulatory Requirements

2.1.1. Federal Endangered Species Act

Section 9 of the federal Endangered Species Act of 1973 prohibits acts of disturbance that result in the "take" of threatened or endangered species. As defined by the federal Endangered Species Act, "endangered" refers to any species that is in danger of extinction throughout all or a significant portion of its current range. The term "threatened" is applied to any species likely to become endangered within the foreseeable future throughout all or a significant portion of its current range. Take is defined as "harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture, or collect, or attempt to engage in any such conduct." Violation of this section can result in penalties of up to \$50,000 and up to one year of imprisonment. Sections 7 and 10 of the federal Endangered Species Act provide a method for permitting an action that may result in "incidental take" of a federally listed species. Incidental take refers to take of a listed species that is incidental to, but not the primary purpose of, an otherwise lawful activity. Incidental take is permitted under Section 7 for projects on federal land or involving a federal action, while Section 10 provides a method for permitting incidental take resulting from state or private action.

2.1.2. Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act

The Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act (MSA), as amended by the Sustainable Fisheries Act of 1996 (Public Law 104-267), established procedures designed to identify, conserve, and enhance essential fish habitat (EFH) for those species regulated under a federal fisheries management plan. The MSA requires federal agencies to consult with NMFS on all actions, or proposed actions, authorized, funded, or undertaken by the agencies that may adversely affect EFH (MSA section 305[b][2]). A component of this consultation process is the preparation and submittal of an Essential Fish Habitat Assessment (EFHA).

The EFH mandate applies to all species managed under a fisheries management plan. For the Pacific coast (excluding Alaska), there are three fisheries management plans covering groundfish, coastal pelagic species, and Pacific salmon.

2.1.3. Federal Clean Water Act Section 404

The objective of the Clean Water Act (CWA, 1977, as amended) is to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters. In

1987, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) published a manual standardizing the manner in which wetlands were to be delineated nationwide. To determine whether areas that appear to be wetlands are subject to Corps jurisdiction (i.e., are "jurisdictional" wetlands), a wetlands delineation must be performed that maps the areas meeting the three-parameter wetland definition (i.e., presence of dominant hydrophytic vegetation, hydric soils, and wetland hydrology) and the resulting map of the wetland boundaries verified in writing by the Corps (compared to the one-parameter wetland definition under the California Coastal Commission section below). Wetlands generally include riparian, swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas.

In addition to verifying wetlands for potential jurisdiction, the Corps is responsible for the issuance of permits for projects that propose the filling of wetlands. Any permanent loss of a jurisdictional wetland as a result of project construction activities is considered a significant impact. Permits under Section 404 of the CWA, as amended, are required for the placement of dredged or fill materials into all waters of the United States, including wetlands and "other waters." Projects are permitted under either individual or general (e.g., nationwide) permits.

2.1.4. Federal Clean Water Act Section 401

The California Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB), North Coast Region, is responsible for enforcing water quality criteria and protecting water resources in the project area. The RWQCB is responsible for controlling discharges to surface waters of the state by issuing waste discharge requirements.

Section 401 of the CWA requires that a project proponent obtain a water quality certification or a waiver for projects requiring a federal permit to allow for discharges of dredged or fill material (i.e., Corps Section 404 permits).

2.1.5. Federal Migratory Bird Treaty Act

Migratory birds are protected under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) of 1918 (16 USC 703-711). The MBTA makes it unlawful to take, possess, buy, sell, purchase, or barter any migratory bird listed in 50 CFR Part 10, including feathers or other parts, nests, eggs, or products, except as allowed by implementing regulations (50 CFR 21).

2.1.6. Marine Mammal Protection Act

Congress passed the Marine Mammal Protection Act (MMPA) in 1972. The MMPA prohibits, with certain exceptions, the take of marine mammals in U.S. waters and by U.S. citizens on the high seas, and the importation of marine mammals and marine

mammal products into the U.S. Take is defined as "to harass, hunt, capture, or kill, or attempt to harass, hunt, capture or kill any marine mammal." Harassment is defined as "any act of pursuit, torment, or annoyance which has the potential to injure a marine mammal or marine mammal stock in the wild; or has the potential to disturb a marine mammal or marine mammal stock in the wild by causing disruption or behavioral patterns, including, but not limited to, migration, breathing, nursing, breeding, feeding, or sheltering."

2.1.7. Executive Order 11990 (Wetlands)

Executive Order 11990 is an overall wetlands policy for all agencies managing federal lands, sponsoring federal projects, or providing federal funds to state or local projects. It requires federal agencies to follow avoidance, mitigation, and preservation procedures with public input before proposing new construction in wetlands. This project will not be able to completely avoid impacts to wetlands and a Wetlands Only Practicable Alternative Finding is provided in Section 4.1.3.3.

2.1.8. Executive Order 13112 (Invasive Species)

Executive Order 13112 directs federal agencies to use relevant programs and authorities to:

- prevent the introduction of invasive species;
- detect and respond rapidly to and control populations of such species in a costeffective and environmentally sound manner;
- monitor invasive species populations accurately and reliably;
- provide for restoration of native species and habitat conditions in ecosystems that have been invaded;
- conduct research on invasive species and develop technologies to prevent introduction and provide for environmentally sound control of invasive species;
- promote public education on invasive species and the means to address them; and
- not authorize, fund, or carry out actions that it believes are likely to cause or promote the introduction or spread of invasive species in the United States or elsewhere unless, In accordance with guidelines that it has prescribed, the agency has determined and made public its determination that the benefits of such actions clearly outweigh the potential harm caused by invasive species; and that all feasible and prudent measures to minimize risk of harm will be taken in conjunction with the actions.

2.1.9. Executive Order 11988 (Floodplain Management)

Executive Order 11988 requires federal agencies to avoid the long- and short-term adverse impacts associated with the occupancy and modification of floodplains and avoid direct and indirect support of floodplain development.

2.2. California Regulatory Requirements

2.2.1. Department of Fish and Game Code Section 2081, California Endangered Species Act

Under the California Endangered Species Act (CESA), the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW) has the responsibility for maintaining a list of threatened and endangered species (California Fish and Game Code 2070). Additionally, CDFW maintains a list of "candidate species" which are species that CDFW has formally recognized as being under review for inclusion on the state's list of endangered or threatened species. The CDFW also maintains lists of "species of special concern" which serve as "watch lists." In accordance with the requirements of the CESA, an agency reviewing a proposed project within its jurisdiction must determine whether any state-listed endangered or threatened species may be present in the project area and determine whether the proposed project will have a potentially significant impact on such species. In addition, the CDFW encourages informal consultation on any proposed project that may impact a candidate species. Project-related impacts to species on the CESA endangered or threatened list would be considered significant and would require avoidance. State-listed species are fully protected under the mandates of CESA. "Take" of protected species incidental to otherwise lawful management activities may be authorized under Section 2081 of the Fish and Game Code of California.

2.2.2. Department of Fish and Game Code Section 3503, Birds of Prey

Under Section 3503.5 of the California Fish and Game Code, it is unlawful to take, possess, or destroy any birds in the orders of Falconiformes or Strigiformes (birds of prey) or to take, possess, or destroy the nest or eggs of any such bird, except as otherwise provided by this code or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto.

2.2.3. Department of Fish and Game Code Section 3513, Migratory Birds

Migratory birds are also protected in California. The State Fish and Game Code Section 3513 states that it is unlawful to take or possess any migratory nongame bird as designated in the MBTA or any part of such migratory nongame bird except as provided by rules and regulations adopted by the Secretary of the Interior under provisions of the MBTA. Under Code Section 3513 the CDFW may considerer impacts similar to those described above under the MBTA a significant impact. Implementation of the measures identified in Section 4.4.1.3 will ensure compliance with Fish and Game Code Section 3513.

2.2.4. Department of Fish and Game Code, "Fully Protected" Species

California statutes also accord "fully protected" status to a number of specifically identified birds, mammals, reptiles, amphibians, and fish. These species cannot be "taken," even with an incidental take permit (California Fish and Game Code, Sections 3505, 3511, 4700, 5050, and 5515

2.2.5. Department of Fish and Game Code Section 1600, Lake or Streambed Alteration

Any entity proposing an activity that will substantially divert or obstruct the natural flow or substantially change the bed, channel, or bank of any river, stream, or lake designated by the CDFW, may require a discretionary Streambed Alteration Agreement from the CDFW (Region 1). As a general rule, this requirement applies to any work undertaken within the 100-year floodplain of a stream or river containing fish or wildlife resources.

2.2.6. California Coastal Act

The California Coastal Act was enacted by the State Legislature in 1978 to provide long-term protection of California's coastal zone. The Coastal Act also made permanent the California Coastal Commission (Coastal Commission). The Coastal Commission plans and regulates development and natural resource use along the coast in partnership with local governments and in keeping with the requirements of the Coastal Act. Under the Coastal Act, new development that requires a coastal development permit either from the Coastal Commission or the appropriate local government includes, but is not limited to, any project in the coastal zone that results in a change in the density or intensity of use of land and any project that results in a change in the intensity of use of water, or of access thereto. The Coastal Act requires every city and county lying partly or wholly within the designated coastal zone to prepare a Local Conservation Plan (LCP). Coastal Act policies constitute the standards used by the Coastal Commission in its coastal development permit decisions and for the review of LCPs. These policies are also used by the Commission to review federal activities that affect the coastal zone. The California Coastal Act requires that most development avoid and buffer wetland resources. Policies include:

- Section 30231, which requires the maintenance and restoration (if feasible) of the biological productivity and quality of wetlands appropriate to maintain optimum populations of marine organisms and for the protection of human health.
- Section 30233, which limits the filling of wetlands to identified high priority uses, including certain boating facilities, public recreational piers, restoration, nature study, and incidental public services (such as burying cables or pipes). Any wetland fill must be avoided unless there is no feasible less environmentally damaging alternative, and authorized fill must be fully mitigated.

The Coastal Commission regulations (California Code of Regulations Title 14) establish a "one parameter definition" that only requires evidence of a single parameter to establish wetland conditions:

Wetland shall be defined as land where the water table is at, near, or above the land surface long enough to promote the formation of hydric soils or to support the growth of hydrophytes, and shall also include those types of wetlands where vegetation is lacking and soil is poorly developed or absent as a result of frequent and drastic fluctuations of surface water levels, wave action, water flow, turbidity or high concentrations of salts or other substances in the substrate. Such wetlands can be recognized by the presence of surface water or saturated substrate at some time during each year and their location within, or adjacent to, vegetated wetlands or deep-water habitats (14 CCR Section 13577).

The California Coastal Act also provides for the designation of Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Areas (ESHAs). An ESHA is any area in which plant or animal life or their habitats are either rare or especially valuable because of their special nature or role in an ecosystem and which could be easily disturbed or degraded by human activities and developments. The California Coastal Act states that ESHA shall be protected against any significant disruption of habitat values, and only uses dependent on those resources shall be allowed within those areas. Development in areas adjacent to environmentally sensitive habitat areas and parks and recreation areas shall be sited and designed to prevent impacts which would significantly degrade those areas, and shall be compatible with the continuance of those habitat and recreation areas.

2.3. Humboldt County Regulatory Requirements

2.3.1. Humboldt Bay Area Plan of the Humboldt County Local Coastal Program

In the early 1980's, Humboldt County developed an LCP, covering six geographic subunits, in accordance with the California Coastal Act. The Humboldt Bay Area Plan (HBAP) of the Humboldt County LCP was certified by the Coastal Commission in 1982, and has been subsequently revised to include amendments and revisions (Humboldt County Planning Department 1995). Humboldt County is in the process of revising the Humboldt County General Plan, and recent amendments will be incorporated, including the *Humboldt County LCP Amendment No. HUM-MAJ-1-08 (Samoa)* per the conditions of the Coastal Commission certification (California Coastal Commission 2012). The current HBAP provides regionally specific guidelines regarding ESHA and wetlands regulated by the Coastal Commission. The BSA is within the Humboldt Bay geographic subunit, and the HBAP identifies Eureka and Martin Sloughs as ESHA.

2.3.2. Humboldt Bay Management Plan

The purpose of the Humboldt Bay Management Plan is to serve as a management guide, planning tool, and policy strategy, as well as to be a reference document for the Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District (HBHRCD) and other resource management agencies and organizations interested in Humboldt Bay. The management plan is intended to guide new projects around the Bay, such as project planning, master plans, mitigation strategy development, compliance with CEQA, NEPA, Coastal Zone Management Act, and CWA, and to assist in daily resource management work.

This plan is formulated in such a way as to set objectives for resource management and identify recommend approaches that will reduce the potential for future problems and user conflicts. The proposed Project lies within the HBHRCD Sphere of Interest. This area generally includes the region that was subject to tidal action when California became a state; this is, conceptually, the area behind levees and tidegates that would be subject to HBHRCD jurisdiction if the levees were not present. However, HBHRCD does not have regulatory authority within this secondary area of concern.

2.3.3. Humboldt Bay Watershed Salmon and Steelhead Conservation Plan

The *Humboldt Bay Watershed Salmon and Steelhead Conservation Plan* (SSCP) is a compilation of watershed information; a report on the evaluation of that information; and a list of high priority goals and objectives aimed at protecting and/or restoring watershed processes in order to preserve and enhance salmon and steelhead habitat. The SSCP was developed by the Humboldt Bay Watershed Advisory Committee, a diverse group of watershed stakeholders whose mission is "to improve the Humboldt Bay watershed's anadromous salmonid populations and related resources while considering regional ecological and socioeconomic needs." The SSCP was developed to encourage cooperative planning, education, implementation, and evaluation of watershed projects for protecting, maintaining, and restoring salmonid habitat and natural watershed processes. The BSA is within the area covered by the SSCP.

2.4. Studies Required

2.4.1. Database Search and Informational Review

Plant and animal special-status species and/or other special habitats having the potential to occur in the BSA were determined, in part, using several database searches and review of an official species list provided by the USFWS. Prior to conducting field assessments, the following information sources were reviewed:

- Eureka, California, USGS 7.5-minute quadrangle;
- Aerial photography of the BSA and vicinity;
- USFWS list of endangered and threatened species that may occur in the *Eureka, California* USGS 7.5-minute quadrangle (Appendix A);
- California Natural Diversity Data Base (CNDDB) and California Native Plant Society (CNPS) records for the *Eureka, California* USGS 7.5-minute quadrangle and the six surrounding quadrangles (Appendix B);
- California Wildlife Habitat Relationships (CWHR) System (California Department of Fish and Game 2008b); and
- Pertinent literature, including the online *Inventory of Rare and Endangered Vascular Plants of California* (California Native Plant Society 2013), *The Jepson Manual, Vascular Plants of California*, 2nd edition (Baldwin et al. 2012), *Selected Rare Plants of Northern California* (Nakamura and Nelson 2001), the California's Wildlife series Volumes I, II and III (Zeiner et al. 1989; Zeiner et al. 1990b, 1990a), *California Bird Species of Special Concern* (Shuford and Gardali 2008), and *Fish Species of Special Concern in California* (Moyle et al. 1995)

• Relevant websites including Calflora (http://www.calflora.org/), California Herps (http://www.californiaherps.com/), and The North American Breeding Bird Survey Results and Analysis (https://www.pwrc.usgs.gov/bbs/).

2.4.2. Studies Conducted

NSR Biologists, Julian Colescott and Sarah Tona, conducted a series of site assessments on July 29 and 30, 2013, and these are described below.

A field delineation of jurisdictional wetlands was performed to document and map the three-parameter wetlands and other waters that fall under the jurisdiction of the Corps, according to methodology described in the *Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual* (Environmental Laboratory 1987)and the and *Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region* (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 2010). The field survey also identified and mapped waters of the state that fall under the jurisdiction of the Coastal Commission. Separate reports were generated to reflect the different methodologies used in the mapping. A copy of each report is included as Appendix E.

A protocol-level botanical survey was conducted in general accordance with the *Protocols for Surveying and Evaluating Impacts to Special Status Native Plant Populations and Natural Communities* (California Department of Fish and Game 2009). Per the 2009 CDFG guidelines, a target list of special-status plant species with the potential to occur on the site was developed prior to the survey through interpretation of the CNDDB and CNPS query results. The target list is presented in Appendix C, Table C-1. A list of all plant species observed is provided in Appendix D. All plants were categorized as native or non-native according to *The Jepson Manual*, 2nd edition (Baldwin et al. 2012).

An aquatic habitat site assessment was conducted to determine the suitability of habitat for federally-listed fish species, and presence of EFH. The stream channel was surveyed for general morphological characteristics and habitat quality, presence and extent of suitable spawning gravel, and other notable habitat features. This information was used in conjunction with existing information on the contemporary status and condition of aquatic habitat and fish populations to characterize the environmental setting in the project area.

An assessment of the suitability of the habitat to support special-status wildlife was conducted by walking throughout the BSA to characterize and evaluate distinct habitats occurring within the BSA for their potential to support regionally occurring
special-status wildlife species. The NSR biologists recorded the presence of special habitat features (e.g., streams, shrubs), dominant plant species observed within each vegetation community, habitat complexity or connectivity, and other factors (e.g., human disturbance, traffic) occurring within the BSA. Botanical taxonomic nomenclature and identification followed *The Jepson Manual*, 2nd edition (Baldwin et al. 2012).

2.5. Personnel and Survey Dates

Following is a list of personnel and tasks performed during visits to the project site:

- Wirt Lanning, CEQA/NEPA Program Manager/Senior Environmental Analyst, NSR. Technical review and project management;
- Julian Colescott, Wildlife Biologist and Professional Wetland Scientist, NSR. Wetland delineation (Corps and CCC), biological suitability assessment, and aquatic habitat assessment;
- Sarah Tona, Botanist, NSR. Botanical survey and wetland delineation;
- Mike Gorman, Fisheries Biologist, NSR. Fisheries assessment.
- Paul Kirk, Biologist, NSR. Technical review.

2.6. Agency Coordination and Professional Contacts

On July 7, 2014 a list [Document No. 327179038-9408 (Appendix A)] of federally listed species with the potential to occur in the *Eureka, California* USGS 7.5-minute quadrangle was electronically obtained from the USFWS. An updated listed was obtained on October 5, 2015 [Consultation Code 08EACT00-2016-SLI-0002 (Appendix A)].

On August 20, 2014 Jenna Larson, Caltrans, exchanged emails with Steve Kramer, USFWS, regarding the presence and approach to assessing impacts to tidewater goby. Mr. Kramer indicated it would likely require formal consultation given the in-water and acoustic impacts. Mr. Kramer also provided a list of USFWS recommended conservation measures for projects that may adversely affect tidewater gobies.

On December 12, 2012 the County, Caltrans, Quincy Engineering Inc., North State Resources, Inc., NMFS Section 7 Coordinator Chuck Glasgow and USFWS biologist Gregory Schmidt met in the field to discuss the proposed project design and construction. On March 17, 2015, a follow-up field site visit to verify the project design, construction techniques, and conservation measures was conducted between the County, Caltrans, Quincy Engineering Inc., North State Resources, Inc., and NMFS biologist Rebecca Bernard.

On May 13, 2015 and May 15, 2015, a BA/EFHA was submitted by Caltrans District 1 to NMFS and the USFWS, respectively, for section 7 consultation under the ESA and for EFH consultation under the MSA. On September 25, 2015 NMFS issued a biological opinion (BO) (WCR-2015-2927). On September 24, 2015, the USFWS issued a BO (AFWO-15B0056-15F0148).

2.7. Limitations That May Influence Results

All field studies were conducted in accordance with applicable protocols. Therefore, no limitations that may influence the results of field studies associated with this project are known to have occurred.

This page intentionally left blank.

Chapter 3. Results: Environmental Setting

3.1. Description of Existing Physical and Biological Conditions

3.1.1. Study Area

The 2.43-acre BSA is located on the coastal plain in the Elk River floodplain. The elevation of the bridge is less than 10 feet above mean sea level, and Swain Slough is subject to tidal influence. Land use in the area is a mix of privately owned rural and residential parcels. The open grassland northwest, southwest, and southeast of the bridge is grazed by cattle, including the lands south of Pine Hill Road that are owned by the North Coast Regional Land Trust. A private residence is adjacent to the northeast section of the study area.

3.1.2. Physical Conditions

3.1.2.1. HYDROLOGY, TOPOGRAPHY, AND SOILS

The elevation within the BSA is between approximately 8 and 12 feet above mean sea level, with the highest point being northeast of the bridge. The topography of the BSA is nearly level with the exceptions of the levees around Swain Slough, the slightly elevated Pine Hill Road, and the excavated ditches. The northeast corner of the BSA is gently sloped at the base of a small bluff.

The Humboldt Bay region typically has two distinct seasons. The fall and winter season is mild, but wet and the spring and summer season is cool and dry. The monthly mean temperature is lowest in January, 47.3 °F, and highest in August, 56.7 °F (Barnhart et al. 1992). The annual precipitation in Eureka averages 38.5 inches (Barnhart et al. 1992).

The BSA is situated on the coastal plain at the base of a bluff and west of the foothills of the Coast Range that rise to the northeast. West of the bridge, Pine Hill Road is lined by roadside ditches that drain into larger ditches that parallel the west bank of Swain Slough. East of the bridge, Martin Slough is directly south of Pine Hill Road. The ditches and Martin Slough drain to Swain Slough, which flows to Humboldt Bay, via the Elk River. Swain Slough is tidally influenced.

The BSA is at the edge of coastal salt marsh at the confluence of Martin Slough which is the primary drainage of a small coastal watershed. Swain Slough is tidally influenced and the tidal influence on Martin Slough is muted by tide gates. The aquatic habitats in Swain and Martin sloughs support anadromous, estuarine, and freshwater fish species. Although low levees present along the banks of Swain Slough prevent normal high tide water from entering the surrounding flat coastal plain, salt marsh vegetation is prevalent in ditches and depressions in and adjacent to the BSA. Habitat connectivity and vegetation communities in and adjacent to the BSA are discussed below.

3.1.3. Biological Conditions

Vegetation communities were classified according to vegetation descriptions provided in *A Guide to Wildlife Habitats of California* (Mayer and Laudenslayer Jr. 1988). The vegetation communities within the BSA include wet meadow, estuarine montane riparian, and barren, which includes ruderal vegetation on the road shoulders.

3.1.3.1. WET MEADOW

The wet meadow community occurs west of the bridge on both the north and south sides of Pine Hill Road, and east of the bridge south of Martin Slough. This wet meadow is grazed by cattle and appears to be seasonally wet, with ponded water evident in winter photographs reviewed as part of this report. Drier conditions occur in the summer months. The wet meadow is dominated by non-natives including creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera*), tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea*), velvet grass (*Holcus lanatus*), Bermuda grass (*Cynodon dactylon*), bird's-foot trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus*), rye grass (*Festuca perennis*), red and white clover (*Trifolium pratense, T. repens*), buttercup (*Ranunculus repens*), Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis*), queen Anne's lace (*Daucus carota*), and sticky cinquefoil (*Drymocallis glandulosa*).

The vegetated drainage ditches that occur on either side of Pine Hill Road west of the bridge are included as part of the wet meadow. These ditches are excavated to a depth of several feet below the elevation of the surrounding meadow; and are dominated by vegetation that is indicative of saturated and brackish conditions; including pickleweed (*Salicornia bigelovii*), arrow grass (*Triglochin maritima*), tall fescue, lamb's quarters (*Chenopodium album*), and brass-buttons (*Cotula coronopifolia*). The berm that is located between these ditches and the meadow has drier soil conditions and the dominant vegetation includes by coyote brush (*Baccharis pilularis*), tufted hair grass (*Deschampsia cespitosa* ssp. *cespitosa*), and lamb's quarters.

3.1.3.2. MONTANE RIPARIAN

The montane riparian community is present only along the bank of Swain Slough northeast of the bridge at the toe of a well-drained, gentle hillslope. The dominant vegetation in this community is coastal willow (*Salix hookeriana*), coyote brush (*Baccharis pilularis*), Himalayan blackberry (*Rubus armeniacus*), coast twinberry (Lonicera involucrata), Oregon grape (Berberis sp.), cow parsnip (Heracleum maximum), and rose (Rosa sp.).

3.1.3.3. ESTUARINE

Estuarine refers to tidal, brackish water wetlands. Small reaches of both Swain Slough and Martin Slough occur within the BSA, and both of these constitute the estuarine community. These two sloughs primarily have unconsolidated bottoms characterized by the lack of large stable surfaces for plant and animal attachment. The banks of the both of these tidal features are lined by narrow vegetated areas of emergent wetlands.

Swain Slough is an approximately 60- to 80-foot-wide water feature that drains the eastern portion of the Elk River floodplain and the surrounding hills to the east (see Figure 1). Waters within the feature are assumed to be brackish based on observed low-tide flow (i.e., fresh water) going out to Humboldt Bay, and high-tide flow (salt water) filling the feature as it flows inland. The feature has an unvegetated mud bottom except near the banks, where it is vegetated with Lyngbye's sedge (*Carex lyngbyei*) and dense flowered cordgrass (*Spartina densiflora*) within the ordinary high water mark (OHWM). This tidally-influenced emergent vegetation constitutes a fragment of salt marsh habitat.

Martin Slough is very similar to Swain Slough in that it has an unvegetated mud bottom feature except for the banks near the OHWM, which are also vegetated with Lyngbye's sedge and dense flowered cordgrass. The difference between the two sloughs is that the reach of Martin Slough within the BSA has been channelized and is straight.

3.1.3.4. BARREN

The barren areas include the paved road surface and the road shoulders supporting ruderal vegetation. The road is built on a road base that is slightly elevated above the level of the seasonally wet meadow described above. The vegetation on the road shoulders is regularly mowed, and is dominated by non-native grasses and forbs including ryegrass, Bermuda grass, and rough cat's ear (*Hypochaeris radicata*).

3.1.3.5. INVASIVE SPECIES

Noxious weeds and invasive plant species are undesirable, non-native plants that commonly invade disturbed sites. They generally have been introduced from Europe and Asia and degrade wildlife and native plant habitats. When disturbance results in the creation of habitat openings or in the loss of intact native vegetation, noxious weeds and invasive plant species may colonize the site and spread, often outcompeting native plants. Once established, they are very difficult to eradicate and could pose a threat to native species. Invasive plant species with a California Invasive Plant Council rating of "High" that were found in the BSA include Himalayan blackberry (*Rubus armeniacus*), dense-flowered cord grass (*Spartina densiflora*), and fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare*).

3.1.3.6. HABITAT CONNECTIVITY

The coastal plain in and adjacent to the BSA is partially separated from Humboldt Bay by US 101 and by Elk River Road. Pine Hill Road is built on a road base elevated several feet above the adjacent coastal plain and this also reduces habitat connectivity for terrestrial animals. Each of the above-mentioned roadways has a bridge over Swain Slough that allows the slough to retain strong connectivity with Humboldt Bay. The newly installed tide gates on Martin Slough are currently being managed to allow partial tidal influence in the Martin Slough in the BSA.

3.2. Habitats and Natural Communities of Concern and Regional Species

3.2.1. Habitats and Natural Communities of Concern

In addition to inventorying reported occurrences of special-status species, the CNDDB serves to inventory the locations of rare natural communities. Communities respond to environmental changes and can be thought of as an indicator of the overall health of an ecosystem and its component species. Rare natural communities are those communities that are of highly limited distribution. They may or may not contain rare, threatened, or endangered species. The CNDDB ranks natural communities according to their rarity and endangerment in California.

CDFW designates Northern Coastal Salt Marsh as a sensitive natural community (California Department of Fish and Wildlife 2014). Coastal salt marshes develop along the intertidal shores of bays and estuaries. Estuaries occur where a river meets the sea, and the water is somewhat brackish. In general, salt marshes along the Northern California coast have a relatively low salinity because of substantial river runoff. Salt marsh plants are adapted to a harsh, semi-aquatic environment and saline soils. Salt marshes are about twice as photo-synthetically productive as corn fields and provide critical nursery grounds for numerous organisms (California Environmental Resources Evaluation System 2007).

Northern Coastal Salt Marsh in the BSA and vicinity exists solely as fragments along the banks of the Swain and Martin sloughs. Potential adverse effects to and avoidance and minimization measures for Northern Coastal Salt Marsh are discussed in Chapter 4.

3.2.1.1. RIPARIAN HABITAT

Riparian habitat is present only along the bank of Swain Slough northeast of the bridge at the toe of a well-drained, gentle hillslope. The dominant vegetation of the riparian habitat includes coastal willow, coyote brush, Himalayan blackberry, and coast twinberry. Potential adverse effects to and avoidance and minimization measures for riparian habitat are discussed in Chapter 4.

3.2.1.2. WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES AND WATERS OF THE STATE

NSR conducted a delineation of waters of the United States within the BSA on July 29, 2013. The BSA is within the California Coastal Zone, and therefore the wetland delineation was conducted to identify both the three-parameter wetlands under the jurisdiction of the Corps, and the two- and single-parameter wetlands that also are under the jurisdiction of the Coastal Commission (i.e., waters of the state). Verification of the boundaries of the respective wetland and water features by the Corps and the Coastal Commission is pending.

Potential waters of the United States include perennial stream (Swain Slough and Martin Slough), vegetated ditch, and seasonal wetland. These same features also are under jurisdiction of the Coastal Commission; however, the extent of the one-parameter seasonal wetland is greater than that of the corresponding Corps jurisdictional feature type. Table 2 provides a summary of acreage and linear distance by feature type and by jurisdiction. The boundaries of waters of the United States within the BSA are illustrated in Figure 3. Waters of the state are shown in Figure 4 along with other ESHA. Potential adverse effects to and avoidance and minimization measures for waters of the United States are discussed in Chapter 4.

Feature Type	Total Acreage (U.S.)	Total Linear Feet (U.S.)	Total Acreage (State)
Seasonal Wetland	0.505	_	0.681
Vegetated Ditch	0.197	—	0.197
Perennial Stream	0.287	387	0.287
Total Waters of the U.S.	0.989	387	_
Total Waters of the State	_	_	1.165

 Table 2.
 Summary of Waters of the United States and Waters of theState

3.2.1.3. Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Areas

The Humboldt Bay Area Plan (HBAP) of the Humboldt County LCP identifies Eureka and Martin Sloughs as ESHA and the portions of the these two sloughs that are within the BSA. ESHA within the BSA also includes the Northern California Salt Marsh, riparian habitat, and waters of the state, summarized above, and all of the grazed grasslands on the both sides of Pine Hill Road (Figure 4). These grasslands are considered "transitional agricultural lands" which are defined in the HBAP as follows:

"Transitional agricultural lands shall be identified as diked former tidal marshes and clearly defined tidal sloughs now farmed."

Potential adverse effects to and avoidance and minimization measures for ESHA are discussed in Chapter 4.

3.2.2. Special-Status Plants

For the purpose of this evaluation, special-status plant species include plants that are (1) listed as threatened or endangered under the California Endangered Species Act (CESA) or the ESA; (2) designated as rare by the CDFW; (3) state or federal candidate or proposed species for listing as threatened or endangered; and/or (4) have a California Rare Plant Rank (RPR) of 1A, 1B, 2A or 2B (see Table C-1 for definitions).

A list of regionally occurring special-status plant species was compiled based on a review of pertinent literature, the results of the field surveys, and the review of the USFWS species list, and CNDDB and CNPS database records. For each species, habitat requirements were assessed and compared to the habitats within the BSA and immediate vicinity in order to determine whether or not suitable habitat was present within the BSA (Appendix C, Table C-1). Based on this review of habitat requirements and the results of the field assessment, it was determined that the BSA and vicinity provides suitable habitat for twelve special-status plant species (Table 3).

Survey results, potential adverse effects to the species, and avoidance and minimization measures for these special-status species are discussed in Chapter 4.



	Cross-Section Transect Data										
					Veasuremer	nts in Meters					
Trans	North	North	Ditch	Gravel	Edge of		Edge of	Gravel	South	Ditch	South
Number	Fence	Start	End	Shoulder	Pavement	Centerline	Pavement	Shoulder	Start	End	Fence
1	0	1.7	3.3	4.5	6.5	9.3	12	13.1	15.3	17.4	18.1
2	0	1.9	3.5	4.8	6.3	9.1	12	13.1	15.3	16.5	17.6
3	0	2.6	4.1	5.3	6.4	9.2	12.1	13.7	15.1	16.8	17.7
4	0	2.8	3.5	4.9	6.3	9.1	12	13.4	14.8	16.1	17
5	0	2.8	4.2	4.8	6.3	9.1	12.2	13.5	14.9	16.2	17.3
6	0	2.5	4	4.8	6.2	9.1	12.3	13.5	15	16.2	17.4
7	0	2.6	3.6	4.5	6.1	9	11.9	13.5	14.7	15.9	17.2
8	0	2.1	3.6	4.8	5.8	8.7	11.7	12.9	14.8	16	17
9	0	1.9	3.3	4.4	5.8	8.6	11.7	13	14.3	15.5	16.4
10	0	1.9	3.5	4.3	5.5	8.5	11.7	12.9	14.4	15.7	16.9
11	0	1.8	3	4.2	5.4	8.4	11.4	12.4	14.2	15.5	16.1
12	0	1.7	3	4	5.4	8.2	11.6	13.1	14.1	15.1	16.5
13	0	1.8	3	3.9	5.5	8.4	11.9	13.4	14.4	15.7	16.7
14	0	1.8	3.4	4.2	5.3	8.4	11.6	13.4	14.2	15.5	16.7
15	0	1.5	2.9	3.8	5	8.7	12.6	14	14.5	16.1	16.9
16	0	2.2	3.4	4.3	5.6	9.3	13.5	15.2	16	17.2	20
17	0	1.8	33	12	57	10 5	16.7	18 /	10.2	21	25.5

Prepared by:

North State Resources, Inc.

5000 Bechelli Lane Suite 203 Redding, CA 96002 Phone (530) 222-5347 Fax (530) 222-4958 <u>www.nsrnet.com</u>

Prepared for: Humboldt County Public Works 1106 Second Street Eureka, CA 95501-0579 Attn: Andrew Bundschuh, Senior Environmental Analyst (Phone) (707) 445-7741 (Fax) (707) 445-7409

Notes:

Delineator: Julian Colescott (PWS No. 1920) Delineation Date: July 29, 2013 Orthophotography: Bing Maps Aerial

This delineation of waters of the United States is subject to verification by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps). NSR advises all parties that the delineation is preliminary until the Corps provides a written verification.



Summary of Waters of the United States Wetlands SW 1 Seasonal Wetland SW 2 Seasonal Wetland SW 3 Seasonal Wetland SW 4 Seasonal Wetland SW 5 Seasonal Wetland SW 6 Seasonal Wetland SW 7 Seasonal Wetland SW 8 Seasonal Wetland Other Waters 0.022 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.021 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.021 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.021 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 Total Wetland 0.133 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 0.499	Summary of Waters of the United States Wetlands SW 1 Seasonal Wetland 0.032 SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.016 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.016 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.011 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.		1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	and the second second	Concession in the	100 100 100		
Wetlands Length (ft) With (ft) Acreage SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.032 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.066 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Perennial Stream 115	Wetlands Length (ft) With (ft) Acreage SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.032 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.068 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.021 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 Total Wetlands 0.227 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 0.287 <	12200	Contraction of the local division of the loc	Summary of	Waters of the United	d States		
Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage SW 1 Seasonal Wetland 0.032 SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.048 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.048 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.048 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.048 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.048 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.048 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.049 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SUBtotal 0.041 SUBt	Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage SW 1 Seasonal Wetland 0.032 SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.046 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.046 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.042 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.041 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 Total Wetland 0.287		T Change I	Wetlands				
SW 1 Seasonal Wetland 0.032 SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.016 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0 0.899 3 0	SW 1 Seasonal Wetland 0.032 SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.016 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.026 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.026 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.026 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.028 Subtotal 0.287 0.48 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 3		State of the local division of the local div	Label	Type	Length (ft)	Width (ft)	Acreage
Other Veteration 0.000 SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.006 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.020 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.022 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.016 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 W 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 W 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 Other Waters 0.287 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 0.267 0.36 </td <td>SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.016 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 W 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 W 9 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.287</td> <td>State of the second</td> <td>Real March</td> <td>SW/ 1</td> <td>Seasonal Wetland</td> <td>(n)</td> <td></td> <td>0 032</td>	SW 2 Seasonal Wetland 0.016 SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 W 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.021 W 9 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.287	State of the second	Real March	SW/ 1	Seasonal Wetland	(n)		0 032
SW 2 Seesonal Wetland 0.058 SW 3 Seesonal Wetland 0.041 SW 4 Seesonal Wetland 0.026 SW 6 Seesonal Wetland 0.012 SW 7 Seesonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seesonal Wetland 0.012 SW 7 Seesonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seesonal Wetland 0.012 SW 9 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.0287 Total Other Waters 0.287 3	3W 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.058 SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.048 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.013 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.013 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.013 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.013 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.013 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.024 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.287 Total Wetland 952 Perennial Stream 115 Subtotal 0 0 989 </td <td></td> <td>and the second second</td> <td>SW 2</td> <td>Seasonal Wotland</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.032</td>		and the second second	SW 2	Seasonal Wotland			0.032
SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.039 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.013 SUbtotal 0.012 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 7 VD 8 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 9 Vegetated Ditch	SW 3 Seasonal Wetland 0.039 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 9 Yeasonal Wetland 0.012 YD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.027 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.007 YD 3 Yeasonal Wetland 0.208 SW 9 Yeasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 9 Yeasonal Wetland 0.012 Yeasonal Wetland 0.007 Yeasonal Wetland 0.007 Yeas	S. P. C. Starter	and the second second	SW 2	Seasonal Wetland			0.010
SW 4 Seasonal Wetland 0.044 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.026 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SU 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SU 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Di	SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.044 SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 Subtotal 0.024 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 7 Subtotal 0.002 VD 7 VD 8 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 8 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 9 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD	11 A-231.00	Section in the	300 3				0.000
SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.028 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.011 SW 9 Subtolal 0.007 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 7 VD 7 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 7 VD 8 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 8 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 9 Vegeta	SW 5 Seasonal Wetland 0.0205 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0112 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0112 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 Subtotal 0.0205 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.0202 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0	CALLSON STATES	Sec. 740	SW 4	Seasonal Wetland			0.041
SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.0112 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SW 9 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SUbtotal 0.024 Other Waters 0.007 Other Waters 0.007 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 SW 9 Seasonal Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 SW 9 Seasonal Stream 272 21-26 0.138 SU 9 Seasonal Stream 272 21-26 0.138 SU 9 Seasonal Stream 272 21-26 0.138 SU 9 Se	SW 6 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.0112 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.0113 SW 10 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 0.702 Other Waters 0.702 Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Subtotal 0.899 VD 3 Subtotal 0.899			SW 5	Seasonal Wetland			0.028
SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.113 Subtotal 0.0505 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 7 VD 7 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 7 VD 7 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 6 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 7 VD 7 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 7 VD 7 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 8 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 9 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 Vegetated Ditc	SW 7 Seasonal Wetland 0.012 SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.113 Subtotal 0.0505 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 0.702 Other Waters 0.702 Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Subtotal 0.989	NAMES OF STREET,	10.555	SW 6	Seasonal Wetland			0.205
SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.113 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 0.14 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 0.14 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.072 Other Waters 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Total Other Waters 0.287 0.287 0.389 Total Other Waters 0.287 0.389 0.389 4 5 0 0.989 0.989 4 5 0 0.989 0.989 4 5 0 0 0.989 3 0 0 0 0 2 Martin Slough 0 0 0	SW 8 Seasonal Wetland 0.113 VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 Other Waters 0.227 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.227 0.226 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 0.389 4 4 5 0.702 4 5 5 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 0.389 3 0.4 5 0.989 3 0.4 5 0.99	States and a lot of	100 C	SW 7	Seasonal Wetland			0.012
Image: Non-on-operating stream of the str	VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.072 Other Waters 0.702 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 0.389 4 5 0.5 0.5 3 0.5 0.5 0.5 3 0.5 0.5 0.5 3 0.5 0.5 0.5 3 0.5 0.5 0.5 3 <td< td=""><td>SUSACEN.</td><td>10000000000</td><td>SW 8</td><td>Seasonal Wetland</td><td></td><td></td><td>0.113</td></td<>	SUSACEN.	10000000000	SW 8	Seasonal Wetland			0.113
VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.174 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.072 Other Waters 0.702 Other Waters 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.5 SW8	VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.024 VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.072 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.072 Other Waters 0.702 Other Waters 127 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.000 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 PS 1 Perennial Stream 127 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total 0.000 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.002 Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.287 Total 0.287 Total 0.287 SWB		H A		Subtotal			0.505
VD 1 Vegetated Ditch 0.02 Vgetated Ditch 0.07 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 0.287 Ditch Uter Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Subtotal 0.289 WD 3 Martin Slough 0.000 SW8	VD3 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD3 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD3 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD4 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 155167 0.149 PS2 Perennial Stream 175 5167 0.149 PS2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.389 Subtotal 0.989 VD3 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	CALCULATION OF STREET	100 C 100 C					0.004
VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 0.702 Other Waters 115 51-67 0.138 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 VD3 6 0.989 VD3 6 0.989 VD3 6 0.989	VD 2 Vegetated Ditch 0.07 VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 0.702 Other Waters 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 VD3 6 0.989 VD3 6 0.989 VD3 6 0.989 VD3 6 0.989	COLUMN DE ST	March 1	VD 1	Vegetated Ditch			0.024
VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Subtotal 0.989 VD3 4 VD3 5 6 7 0.149 Pine Hill Road	VD 3 Vegetated Ditch 0.007 VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Subtotal 0.989 VD 3 Gartin Slough 0.000 SW8		COMPANY.	VD 2	Vegetated Ditch			0.07
VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 VD3 4 5 5 1 6 7 5 1 8 Martin Slough 0 1 5 5 5 0 6 7 5 1 8 Martin Slough 0 1 5 5 5 0 6 7 5 1 8 Martin Slough	VD 4 Vegetated Ditch 0.022 VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.287 Total 0.287 Subtotal 0.287 Subtotal 0.287 Subtotal 0.287 Subtotal 0.287 Subtotal 0.287 Subtotal 0.287 SW8		A Part in	VD 3	Vegetated Ditch			0.007
VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 SW8	VD 5 Vegetated Ditch 0.074 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 VD3 4 15 6 7 9 Pine Hill Road SW8		No. of Concession, Name	VD 4	Vegetated Ditch			0.022
A VD3 A VD3 A 0.017 Subtotal 0.0197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 0.197 Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) A 0.197 Other Waters 0.702 Other Waters 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 0.197 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 A 0.5 3 0.197 2 Martin Slough 01 0.899 SW8 SW8	100 Orgenator Direction 0.004 Subtotal 0.197 Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters 115 Label Type PS 1 Perennial Stream PS 2 Perennial Stream Total Other Waters 0.287 Subtotal 0.989 4 5 5 5 3 6 3 6 3 6 3 6 3 6 3 6 3 6 3 6 5 5 3 6 5 6 5 6 </td <td></td> <td>SCHOOL ST</td> <td>VD 5</td> <td>Vegetated Ditch</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0 074</td>		SCHOOL ST	VD 5	Vegetated Ditch			0 074
Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters Label Type Label Type Length (ft) PS 1 Perennial Stream 272 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 Total Other Waters 0.287 SWB 0.989	Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters Label Type Length (ft) PS 1 Perennial Stream PS 2 Perennial Stream Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Subtotal 0.989 Martin Slough 0.989 SW8 SW8		100	100	Subtotal			0 407
Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream PS 2 Perennial Stream Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 VD3 0 3 0 3 0 3 0 4 0 5 0 5 0 6 0 9 <td>Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.38 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.4 5 0 5 6 989 0 4 5 6 0 2 Martin Slough Pine Hill Road 0 5 5 5 0 5 5 5 0 5 5 5 0 5 5 5 0 6 9 9 0 5 6 9 0 5 6 9 0 6 9 9 0 6 9 9 0 5 9 9 0 5 9 9</td> <td>States of States</td> <td>States in the</td> <td></td> <td>Subtotal</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>U.19/</td>	Total Wetlands 0.702 Other Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.38 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.4 5 0 5 6 989 0 4 5 6 0 2 Martin Slough Pine Hill Road 0 5 5 5 0 5 5 5 0 5 5 5 0 5 5 5 0 6 9 9 0 5 6 9 0 5 6 9 0 6 9 9 0 6 9 9 0 5 9 9 0 5 9 9	States of States	States in the		Subtotal			U.19/
Other Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0 Other Waters 0.989 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 6 0.999 VD3 0 VD3 VD3 0 VD3 VD3 VD3 VD3 VD3 VD3 VD3 VD3 VD3 VD3	Other Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 272 21-26 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0 Other Waters 0.287 Total 0 Other Waters 0.287 Total 0 Other Waters 0.287 SW8	1. 20	1 Anna	Total Wetlan	ds			0.702
Conter Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.989 4 VD3 6 Pine Hill Road 9 Martin Slough 0 SW8	Conter Waters Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 4 4 5 6		712 L P.					
Label Type Length (ft) Width (ft) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0 ther Waters 0.989 4 4 5 6	Label Type Length (#) Width (#) Acreage PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 4 4 5 6	10	1000	Other Waters				
PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 VD3 6 0.989 VD3 6 0.989 Pine Hill Road Pine Hill Road SW8	PS 1 Perennial Stream 115 51-67 0.149 PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total 0.989 VD3 6 3 2 Martin Slough 0 5 5 8 0 2 Martin Slough	and the second second	THE OWNER AND A	Label	Туре	Length (ft)	Width (ft)	Acreage
PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.989 VD3 6 VD3 6 Pine Hill Road SW8	PS 2 Perennial Stream 272 21-26 0.138 Subtotal 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.287 Total Other Waters 0.989 VD3 4 0.95 6 0.999 Pine Hill Road 9 Martin Slough 0 SW8	The second	Carlon and	PS 1	Perennial Stream	115	51-67	0.149
VD3 2 Martin Slough SW8	VD3 2 Martin Slough 5 W8	STREET, STREET	A STREET, STREET, ST	PS 2	Perennial Stream	272	21-26	0.138
Total Other Waters Total Other Waters 0.287 0.989 0.997 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.999 0.997 0.9990 0.9990 0.999 0.999 0.999 00	Total Other Waters Total	at all a	and the state		Subtotal			0.287
VD3 4 5 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	VD3 4 5 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7		100	Total Other V	Vaters			0.287
4 5 6 9 9 1 1 SW8	4 5 9 9 9 1 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 5 1 5 5 1 5 5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	1933	0	1000	20	1	1965	
e for the second	Biggin and		-	3		The	1	X
³ ⁶ ₋ ⁹ ² Martin Slough ⁰ 1 SW8	Bill Russes	4		VD3				
3 2 Martin Slough 0 1 SW8	3 2 Martin Slough 0 1 SW8	.4	Ĺ.	VD3		and the second	Tagad	
2 Martin Slough 1 SW8	2 Martin Slough 0 1 SW8	•4		VD3		Pine H	Aill Road	
o 1 SW8	€ 1 SW8	_4 3		VD3 5 6		Pine F	ill Road	
SWB	SW8	4 3 2 Mart	tin Slough	VD3 <u>5</u> 		Pine	ill Road	
swa	swa	4 3 2 Mart	tin Slough	VD3 <u>5</u> 		Pine F	Aill Road	
SW8	SW8	4 3 2 Mart 01	tin Slough	VD3 1 5 		Pine F	HII Road	
and the second		_4 3 2 Mart 0 1	tin Slough	VD3 1 5 		Pinef	AIII Road	
		_4 3 2 Mart 01	tin Slough	VD3 1 5 		Pine F	HII Road	
		.4 3 2 Mart ∙1	tin Slough SW8	VD3 <u>5</u> 		Pine F	ill Road	
		4 3 2 Mart 1	tin Slough SW8	VD3 1 5 		Pine F	ill Road	
a second and a second		4 3 2 Mart 01	tin Slough SW8	VD3 <u>5</u> -6		Pinef	AIII Road	
		4 3 2 Mart 01	tin Slough SW8	VD3 1.5 6		Pine F	All Road	
		.4 3 2 Mart ⊙1	tin Slough SW8	VD3		Pine F	Aill Road	
and the second second		4 3 2 Mart 0 1	tin Slough SW8			Pinet	iiil Road	
		.4 3 2 Mart 0 1	tin Slough SWB	VD3 6		Pine F	ill Road	
Biological Study Area (2.39 acres)	Biological Study Area (2.39 acres)	4 3 2 Mart 01	tin Slough SW8	VD3 1 5 -6	• 3-Param	eter Data	Point	
Biological Study Area (2.39 acres)	Biological Study Area (2.39 acres)	4 3 2 Mart 0 1	tin Slough SW8	VD3 1 ,5 -6	• 3-Param	Pine F	Point	
Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) • 3-Parameter Data Point	Biological Study Area (2.39 acres)	4 3 2 Mart 0 1 Biological St	tin Slough SW8	VD3 1 5 6 7 acres)	 3-Param Culvert 	eter Data	Point	
 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) 3-Parameter Data Point Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert 	Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) • 3-Parameter Data Point Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) • Culvert	4 3 2 Mart 1 Biological St Caltrans App	tin Slough SW8	VD3 1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert 	Pine F	Point	
Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Fenceline	 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline 	4 3 2 Mart 1 Biological St Caltrans App Fenceline	tin Slough SW8	VD3 1 5 6 6 1 7 8 9 a cres) 1 .77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert 	Pine F	Point	
 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Galtrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline 	 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline 	4 3 2 Mart 1 3 2 Caltrans App Fenceline	tin Slough SW8	VD3 1 5 6 1 39 acres) 1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert 	eter Data	Point	
 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline Cross-section Transect Waters of the United States 	 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline Cross-section Transect Waters of the United States 	4 3 2 Mart 1 3 2 Caltrans App Fenceline Cross-sectio	tin Slough SW8 SW8 audy Area (2.3 proved APE (on Transect	VD3 1 5 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the 	eter Data	Point d States	s
 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Galtrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline Cross-section Transect Waters of the United States Wetlands 	 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline Cross-section Transect Waters of the United States Wetlands 	4 3 2 Mart 01 Biological St Caltrans App Fenceline Cross-sectio	tin Slough SW8 sudy Area (2.3 proved APE (an Transect	VD3 5 6 	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the Wetlands 	eter Data	Point d States	s
 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Galtrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline Cross-section Transect Edge of Pavement Waters of the United States 	 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Galtrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline Cross-section Transect Edge of Pavement Waters of the United States 	4 3 2 Mart 1 3 Biological St Caltrans App Fenceline Cross-sectio Edge of Pav	tin Slough SW8 sudy Area (2.: proved APE (on Transect ement	VD3 5 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the Wetlands 	eter Data	Point d States	s
 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline Cross-section Transect Edge of Pavement Seasonal Wetland (0.505 acre) 	 Biological Study Area (2.39 acres) Caltrans Approved APE (1.77 acres) Culvert Fenceline Cross-section Transect Edge of Pavement Waters of the United States Wetlands Seasonal Wetland (0.505 acre) 	4 3 2 Mart 1 3 3 2 Mart 1 3 3 3 2 Mart 1 3 3 3 2 Mart 1 3 3 3 2 Mart 1 3 3 3 2 Mart 1 3 3 3 2 Mart 1 3 3 3 1 3 3 1 3 3 1 3 3 1 3 1 3 1 3	in Slough SW8 audy Area (2.: proved APE (on Transect ement	VD3 5 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the Wetlands Seasona 	eter Data	Point d States	s acre)

--- Centerline

--- Vordinary High Water Mark

Vegetated Ditch (0.197 acre)

Other Waters

Perennial Stream (0.287 acre)

Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project

Figure 3 Waters of the United States October 15, 2013

This page intentionally left blank.



Prepared by: North State Resources, Inc.

5000 Bechelli Lane, Suite 203 Redding, California 96002 Phone (530) 222-5347 Fax (530) 222-4958 <u>www.nsrnet.com</u> Prepared for: Humboldt County Public Works 1106 Second Street Eureka, CA 95501-0579 Attn: Andrew Bundschuh, Senior Environmental Analyst (Phone) (707) 445-7741 (Fax) (707) 445-7409 Notes:

Delineator: Julian Colescott (PWS No. 1920) Delineation Date: July 29, 2013 Orthophotography: Bing Maps Aerial 2013

Environmentallly Senstive Habitat Areas (ESHA) depicted in this figure include features delineated as waters of the State that are subject to regulation by the California Coastal Commission (CCC). NSR advises all parties that the delineation is preliminary until the CCC provides a written verification.



1:1,200

200

Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project

Figure 4 Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Areas, Including Waters of the State, and Rare Plants

This page intentionally left blank.

			1	
Common Name (Scientific Name)	Status ¹ (F/S/RPR)	General Habitat Description and Blooming Period	Habitat Assess- ment ²	Rationale
Coastal marsh milk- vetch (<i>Astragalus</i> <i>pycnostachyus</i> var. <i>pycnostachyus</i>)	—/—/1B.2	Mesic coastal dunes, coastal scrub, marshes and swamps (coastal salt, streamsides). Elevation: 0-100 feet. Bloom: April-October.	HP	The BSA is located on the Coastal plain and the ditches provide suitable mesic and wetland habitat for this species.
Bristle-stalked sedge (<i>Carex leptalea</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Bogs and fens, mesic meadows and seeps, marshes and swamps. Elevation: 0-2300 feet. Bloom: March-July.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present.
Lyngbye's sedge (<i>Carex lyngbyei</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Marshes and brackish or freshwater swamps. Elevation: 0-30 feet. Bloom: April-August.	Ρ	Suitable wetland habitat is present.
Northern meadow sedge (<i>Carex praticola</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Moist to wet meadows. Elevation: 0-10,500 feet. Bloom: May-July.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present.
Humboldt Bay owl's- clover (<i>Castilleja ambigua</i> var. <i>humboldtiensis</i>)	—/—/1B.2	Marshes and coastal salt swamps. Elevation: 0-30 feet. Bloom: June-October.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present.
Point Reyes bird's- beak (<i>Chloropyron</i> <i>maritimum</i> ssp. <i>palustre</i>)	—/—/1B.2	Marshes and coastal salt swamps. Elevation: 0-30 feet. Bloom: April-August.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present.
Pacific gilia (<i>Gilia capitata</i> ssp. <i>pacifica</i>)	—/—/1B.2	Coastal bluff scrub, chaparral, and other openings, coastal prairie, valley and foothill grassland. Elevation: 20-3120 feet. Bloom: April-August.	HP	The BSA provides suitable coastal prairie habitat.
Short-leaved evax (Hesperevax sparsiflora var.brevifolia)	—/—/1B.2	Coastal bluff scrub (sandy), coastal dunes, and coastal prairie. Elevation: 0-710 feet. Bloom: March-June.	HP	The BSA provides suitable coastal prairie habitat.
Marsh pea (<i>Lathyrus palustris</i>)	//2B.2	Bogs and fens, coastal prairie, coastal scrub, lower montane coniferous forest, marshes and swamps, and mesic North Coast coniferous forest. Elevation: 0-330 feet. Bloom: March-August.	HP	Suitable wetland and coastal prairie habitat is present.

Table 3. Special-Status Plants Determined to Have Suitable Habitat in
the BSA and Vicinity

Common Name (Scientific Name)	Status ¹ (F/S/RPR)	General Habitat Description and Blooming Period	Habitat Assess- ment ²	Rationale
Wolf's evening- primrose (<i>Oenothera wolfii</i>)	—/—/1B.1	Coastal bluff scrub, coastal dunes, coastal prairie, sandy lower montane coniferous forest, usually mesic. Elevation: 10-2620 feet. Bloom: May-October.	HP	The BSA provides suitable coastal prairie habitat.
Dwarf alkali grass (<i>Puccinellia pumila</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Marshes and coastal salt swamps. Elevation: 0-30 feet. Bloom: July.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present.
Western sand- spurrey (Spergularia canadensis var. occidentalis)	<i>—/—/</i> 2.1	Marshes and coastal salt swamps. Elevation: 0-10 feet. Bloom: June-August.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present.

1 Status Codes: Federal (F); State (S); and Rare Plant Rank (RPR).

RPR Codes and Extensions:

- 1B Plants rare, threatened, or endangered in California and elsewhere.
- 2B Plants rare, threatened, or endangered in California, but more common elsewhere.
- xx.2 Moderately threatened in California
- xx.1 Seriously threatened in California

2 Absent (A): No habitat present and no further work needed. Habitat Present (HP): Habitat is, or may be present. The species may be present. Present (P): The species is present within 100 feet of BSA. Critical Habitat (CH): BSA is located within a designated critical habitat unit, but does not necessarily mean that appropriate habitat is present.

3.2.3. Special-Status Animals

Special-status animal species include species that are (1) listed as threatened or endangered under the CESA or the ESA; (2) proposed for federal listing as threatened or endangered; (3) state or federal candidates for listing as threatened or endangered; and/or (4) identified by the CDFW as Species of Special Concern or California Fully Protected Species.

A list of regionally occurring special-status animal species was compiled based on a review of pertinent literature, the results of the field surveys, and the review of the USFWS species list, and CNDDB database records. For each species, general habitat requirements were assessed and compared to the habitats within the BSA and immediate vicinity in order to determine their potential to be adversely affected by the proposed project (Appendix C, Table C-2). Based on this review of general habitat requirements and the results of the field assessment, 12 special-status animal species were determined to potentially occur or are known to occur in the BSA and vicinity (Table 4). Potential adverse effects to, and avoidance and minimization measures for these special-status species are discussed in Chapter 4.

Common Name Scientific Name	Status¹ (Fed/State)	General Habitat Description	Habitat Assess- ment ²	Rationale
	F	ederal or State Listed Speci	es	
Southern Oregon Northern California Coasts ESU coho salmon <i>(Oncorhynchus kisutch)</i> Critical Habitat/Essential Fish Habitat	FT/ST, SSC	Spawn and rear in freshwater rivers and streams. Juveniles prefer deep (> 1 m) pools with dense overhead cover, and clear water. Found over a range of substrates from silt to bedrock. Requires cool water temperatures for spawning, egg-incubation, and juvenile rearing. Spawn in riffles with gravel and cobble substrates.	P, CH	SONCC coho salmon are known to occur in Humboldt Bay tributaries, including Swain Slough. Swain Slough in the BSA is designated critical habitat.
California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon <i>(Oncorhynchus tshawytscha)</i> Critical Habitat/Essential Fish Habitat	FT/—	Spawn and rear in freshwater rivers and streams. Requires cool water temperatures for spawning, egg-incubation and juvenile rearing. Spawn in riffles with gravel and cobble substrates. The California Coastal ESU includes occurs in rivers and streams south of the Klamath River to the Russian River.	Ρ	No established spawning population off CC Chinook salmon occurs in Swain Slough watershed and it is not designated critical habitat; but this species does occur in the Elk River and Humboldt Bay (both of which are designated critical habitat).
Northern California DPS steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss) Critical Habitat/Essential Fish Habitat	FT/SSC	Spawn and rear in freshwater rivers and streams. Juveniles prefer deep (> 1 m) pools with dense overhead cover, and clear water. Requires cool water temperatures for spawning, egg-incubation and juvenile rearing. Spawn in riffles with gravel and cobble substrates. This DPS occurs in coastal streams from Redwood Creek south to the Russian River. Adults migrate upstream during the fall and spawn from December to April.	P, CH	No established spawning population off NC steelhead occurs in the Swain Slough watershed; but this species does occur in the Elk River and Humboldt Bay. Swain Slough in the BSA is designated critical habitat.
Tidewater goby (Eucyclogobius newberryi) Critical Habitat	FE/SSC	Shallow lagoons and coastal streams with brackish to fresh and slow-moving or fairly still water.	HP	The BSA is within the current known range of this species and has been documented near the BSA. BSA is not within designated critical habitat.

Table 4Special-Status Animals Determined to Have Suitable Habitat in
the BSA and Vicinity

Common Name Scientific Name Longfin smelt (Spirinchus thaleichthys)	Status ¹ (Fed/State) FC/ST, SSC	General Habitat Description Adult and juvenile longfin smelt occur in salt or brackish water within estuaries of major rivers. Spawning occurs in fresh water over sandy, gravelly, or areas vegetated with aquatic vegetation. In California, occur in Sacramento-San Joaquin estuary. Humboldt	Habitat Assess- ment ² HP	Rationale No suitable spawning habitat in BSA, but known to occur in Humboldt Bay.	
		Bay, the Eel River estuary, and the Klamath River estuary. Not known from the Smith River.			
Other Special-Status Species					
Coastal cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii)	—/SSC	Found in low gradient coastal streams and estuaries. Optimal streams are cool and shady, with a lot of instream cover. Spawn in reaches with small to moderate sized gravels. Must have well oxygenated water with low turbidity. Occur in coastal streams from the Eel River north to the Oregon border.	HP	Swain and Martin sloughs provide seasonal habitat for the species. The CNDDB shows a record of the species occurring in both sloughs.	
Northern red- legged frog <i>(Rana aurora)</i>	—/SSC	Found in humid forests, woodlands, grasslands, ponds, and streams in northwestern California. Generally near permanent water, but can be found far from water. In damp woods and meadows during non- breeding season.	ΗP	The BSA provides suitable ponded (upland ditches) and moist habitat types to support this species. Nearest CNDDB record is 1.5 miles southeast of the BSA in similar habitat type.	
white-tailed kite (<i>Elanus leucurus</i>)	—/FP	White-tailed kites are locally common residents and breeders in northern California, especially in agricultural and riparian areas of the coastal plain.	HP	Foraging and potential nesting habitat is present and the species has been observed in the BSA.	
northern harrier (<i>Circus cyaneus</i>)	—/SSC	Harriers are found primarily in open grassland habitats, primarily lowland pastures and marshlands of the coastal plain.	HP	Foraging and potential nesting habitat is present and the species has been observed in the BSA.	

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (Fed/State)	General Habitat Description	Habitat Assess- ment ²	Rationale
short-eared owl (<i>Asio flammeus</i>)	—/SSC	Occupy open habitats such as overgrown grasslands and scrub, prairies, meadows, dunes, irrigated lands, ungrazed pastures, and both fresh and saltwater marshes.	HP	Migrant and winter visitors and accidental breeders in northwestern California. Suitable habitat is present in the BSA, and they are known from wetland and agricultural areas surrounding Humboldt Bay.
Yellow-breasted chat (<i>Icteria virens</i>)	—/SSC	Breeds in riparian habitats having dense understory vegetation, such as willow and blackberry.	HP	Riparian vegetation in northeast corner of BSA provides suitable nesting and foraging habitat.
Yellow warbler (Setophaga petechia brewsteri)	—/SSC	Breeds in riparian woodlands, particularly those dominated by willows and cottonwoods.	HP	Riparian vegetation in northeast corner of BSA provides suitable nesting and foraging habitat.

Federal and State Codes: Federal Endangered (FE); Federal Threatened (FT); Federal Candidate (FC); State Threatened (ST); State Fully Protected (FP); State Species of Special Concern (SSC).
 Absent (A): No habitat present and no further work needed. Habitat Present (HP): Habitat is, or may be present. The species may be present. Present (P): The species is present within 100 feet of BSA. Critical Habitat (CH): BSA is located within a designated critical habitat unit, but does not necessarily mean that appropriate habitat is present.

3.3. Other Sensitive Biological Resources

Migratory birds and their nests are protected under the federal MBTA (50 CFR 10 and 21). Cliff swallows (*Petrochelidon pyrrhonota*), barn swallows (*Hirundo rustica*), black phoebes (*Sayornis nigricans*), and other migratory birds are known to build nests under artificial structures such as bridges. The existing bridge structure was visually surveyed for evidence of previous migratory bird nesting activity (e.g., remnant mud nests) during the field assessment. One unoccupied black phoebe nest and a small colony of barn swallow nests were observed. Given that the existing bridge structure provides suitable nesting habitat for migratory birds, there is a potential for active nests to be disturbed during project construction. Potential adverse effects to and avoidance and minimization measures for nesting migratory birds are discussed in Section 4.4.1.

Humboldt County protects fish and wildlife resources associated with streams, and water quality within the streams by establishing Streamside Management Areas

(SMAs) [section 3432(5) of the Humboldt County 1984 General Plan] around perennial and intermittent streams. The width of SMAs around Swain Slough and Martin Slough is 100 feet measured as the horizontal distance from the stream transition line on either side of the perennial stream. To comply with the restrictive development restrictions from the County, the project has incorporated many mitigation measures that greatly reduce the adverse effects of the project and make the proposed project the least environmentally damaging feasible project (see Section 1.2.3). In addition, the project is necessary due to the age and structural defects of the existing bridge structure make the proposed project "essential", thereby allowing for it to proceed within the SMA.

South of the County easement (some of which is within the BSA), the pasture land is owned by the North Coast Regional Land Trust (NCRLT), who in conjunction with the Redwood Community Action Agency Natural Resource Services Division and California State Coastal Conservancy, purchased the 43-acre parcel as part of the Martin Slough Enhancement Project. The project is a two-phase fish passage improvement, wetland enhancement, and flood reduction project that will (1) include replacement of the defunct tide gate at the mouth of Martin Slough with a more fishfriendly and functional tide gate; (2) widen of the lower Martin Slough channel to increase flow capacity; (3) construct four acres of tidal wetland; (4) establish riparian habitat along the slough; and (5) enhance 28 acres of productive coastal pasture for grazing. The tide gates were replaced during the fall of 2014 and became fully operational in January 2015. The earthwork for the channel and pond excavation in Martin Slough may occur in 2016, depending on the availability of funding, completing the requirement environmental compliance processes, and coordination over utilities occurring in the restoration area. The Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project will avoid the lands associated with the NCRLT restoration project.

Chapter 4. Results: Biological Resources, Discussion of Impacts and Mitigation

4.1. Habitats and Natural Communities of Concern

4.1.1. Natural Communities

Northern Coastal Salt Marsh in the BSA and vicinity exists solely as fragments along the banks of the Swain and Martin sloughs. Project impacts to this natural community and appropriate avoidance and minimization measures are described in section 4.1.3 which addresses waters of the United States and waters of the state.

4.1.2. Riparian Habitat

4.1.2.1. SURVEY RESULTS

Riparian habitat occurs in the BSA northeast of the bridge along the bank above Swain Slough. This small patch of riparian habitat is outside of the County ROW, and is a non-wetland dominated by Himalayan blackberry, coast twinberry, Oregon grape, coyote brush, coastal willow, cow parsnip, and rose. The riparian habitat is an ESHA.

4.1.2.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

The proposed project may temporarily affect this small patch of riparian habitat (e.g., up to 0.01 acre; will be refined as part of final project design) as part of the pipeline relocation activities. Ground disturbance from the proposed project will avoid this patch of riparian vegetation to fullest extent practicable by limiting construction activities to the existing roadway, road shoulder, and vegetated area on the roadside of the ROW fence.

4.1.2.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

The majority of the proposed project construction activities will avoid the riparian vegetation by staying on the Pine Hill Road side of the existing fence. The "avoided" riparian habitat will be clearly identified in the construction drawings and contractor work plans. The existing fence shall function as exclusionary fencing to mark boundaries of all avoided riparian areas. All pedestrian and vehicular traffic into the avoided areas delineated by the fencing shall be prohibited during construction.

4.1.2.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

Any areas disturbed during construction will be restored to pre-existing conditions following utility relocation work. The County will implement any compensatory

requirements identified in the Coastal Development Permit to be issued by the California Coastal Commission.

4.1.2.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

Cumulative effects are those impacts of future state, local, and private actions affecting endangered and threatened species that are reasonably certain to occur in the BSA. Future projects that result in a federal action will be subject to the consultation requirements established in Section 7 of the ESA and, therefore, are not considered cumulative to the proposed action. One reasonably foreseeable project within the current project's project area is known at this time; the Martin Slough Enhancement Project. This project was designed to improve fish access (replace tide gates at Martin/Swain Slough – completed in 2014), enhance aquatic habitat, and improve sediment transport, and reduce flooding impacts to land use activities within the Martin Slough watershed.

All Martin Slough Enhancement Project activities will take place on the south side of Pine Hill Road and would not impact the small patch of riparian habitat along the Swain Slough bank northeast of the bridge.

4.1.3. Waters of the United States and Waters of the State

4.1.3.1. SURVEY RESULTS

The field delineation was conducted by NSR on July 29 and 30, 2013. A total of 0.989 acre of waters of the United States was mapped in the BSA (Figure 3). A total of 1.165 acres of waters of the state was mapped in the BSA (Figure 4). Waters of the United States and waters of the state occurred as seasonal wetland, vegetated ditch, and perennial stream, including Martin and Swain sloughs.

4.1.3.2. POTENTIAL IMPACTS

Implementation of the proposed project will potentially result in permanent impacts on up to 0.079 acre and temporary impacts on up to 0.017 acre of waters of the United States (note: impact acreage calculation is a worst-case assumption; County will try to further reduce impacts during the final design phase for the project) (See Table 5 and Figure 5).



T		ALC: NO	1 V 1 V 1	10. J. J. B.	
	Summary of	Naters of the Unite	d States		
2	Wetlands				
17	Label	Туре	Length (ft)	Width (ft)	Acreage
	SW 1	Seasonal Wetland			0.032
	SW 2	Seasonal Wetland			0.016
	SW 3	Seasonal Wetland			0.058
	SW 4	Seasonal Wetland			0.041
	SW 5	Seasonal Wetland			0.028
1	SW 6	Seasonal Wetland			0.205
	SW 7	Seasonal Wetland			0.012
4	SW 8	Seasonal Wetland			0.113
		Subtotal			0.505
3					
	VD 1	Vegetated Ditch			0.024
	VD 2	Vegetated Ditch			0.07
	VD 3	Vegetated Ditch			0.007
ř.	VD 4	Vegetated Ditch			0.022
	VD 5	Vegetated Ditch			0.074
		Subtotal			0.197
	Total Wetland	ds			0.702
	Other Waters				
	Label	Type	Length (ft)	Width (ft)	Acreage
	PS 1	Perennial Stream	115	51-67	0 149
	PS 2	Perennial Stream	272	21-26	0 138
		Subtotal			0.287
and the second se	Total Other W Total	laters			0.287 0.989
1	2	AUX -			
Š	2 Parts	and the second		1	C
		AND ADD		Hill Roa	ad
	- 1	/D3	Pille		2-01
		The second s	a at a a	396.01	
in	Slough	T K P MAG	Sec. Pr	and the second	100
		Contract of the second	and a loss	Sec.	1000
2	C-2-0-075-2	AN LONG AN CO		100	- de
	and they		and the second	Start.	Viela.
	ACCENTION NO	COLOR COL	1. 18	9.99	200
	the second se		the second se		the second se
	100 States	and a start of the	W Str	1. 1. 1.	39.22

1:1,200

Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project

Figure 5 Impacts on Waters of the United States

This page intentionally left blank.

JIALES		
Waters Type	Permanent (ac)	Temporary (ac)
Perennial Stream (Swain Slough)	0.003	0.002
Seasonal Wetland	0.021	0.014
Vegetated Ditch	0.055	0.001
Total	0.079	0.017

 Table 5. Permanent and Temporary Impacts on Waters of the United States

Potential impacts on waters of the state additionally take into account 1- and 2parameter seasonal wetlands on the north side of Pine Hill Road that were determined to not qualify as waters of the United States. Implementation of the proposed project will result in permanent impacts on up to 0.119 acre and temporary impacts on up to 0.029 acre of waters of the state (See Table 6).

Waters Type	Permanent (ac)	Temporary (ac)
Perennial Stream (Swain Slough)	0.003	0.002
Seasonal Wetland	0.060	0.026
Vegetated Ditch	0.056	0.001
Total	0.119	0.029

Table 6. Permanent and Temporary Impacts on Waters of the State

Project activities resulting in permanent impacts to Corps jurisdictional waters and waters of the state include cut and fill along the road embankment and the placement of RSP in Swain Slough to protect the new abutments from scour. Temporary impacts would result from the placement of the sheet piles and temporary routing of a utility pipe along the north side of the road.

4.1.3.3. WETLANDS ONLY PRACTICABLE ALTERNATIVE FINDING

Executive Order 11990, Protection of Wetlands (1977), calls for no net loss of habitats referred to as wetlands and established a national policy to avoid adverse effects on wetlands wherever there is a practicable alternative.

The new bridge and the approach embankments would not encroach into the Swain Slough channel. Due to the tidal flow in Swain Slough, scour protection of the new abutments will be required. Approximately 150 cubic yards of RSP, equating to an area of 1,900 square feet will be installed behind sheet piles located in front of and

around the new abutment footings. Installation will partially occur while the slough is diverted; and the top surface of the RSP will be at the approximate elevation of the original channel grade. This will avoid impinging hydraulic flow within the channel and not adversely impact the upstream flooding characteristics of the river. Avoidance and minimization measures outlined in Section 4.1.3.4 include all practicable measures to minimize harm to wetlands and waters of the Unites States.

The project design minimized impacts on wetlands to the extent practicable. All other design considerations would have a greater impact on wetlands. Because the project design with the least impact on wetlands was selected, the project is in compliance with the Wetlands Only Practicable Finding Alternative pursuant to Executive Order 119900, Protection of Wetlands (1977).

4.1.3.4. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

To the extent practicable, the discharge of dredged or fill material into "waters of the United States," including wetlands shall be avoided (this also includes waters not subject to Corps jurisdiction, but subject to Coastal Commission and RWQCB jurisdiction). However, complete avoidance is not feasible due to the need for the placement of RSP and for road widening, thus the following measures shall be implemented to avoid or minimize the potential for project-related impacts on "waters of the United States" and "waters of the state":

- To the maximum extent practicable, activities that increase the erosion potential in the project area shall be restricted to the relatively dry summer and early fall period to minimize the potential for rainfall events to transport sediment to surface water features. If these activities must take place during the late fall, winter, or spring, then temporary erosion and sediment control structures shall be in place and operational at the end of each construction day and maintained until permanent erosion control structures are in place.
- Areas where wetland and upland vegetation need to be removed shall be identified in advance of ground disturbance and limited to only those areas that have been approved by the County.
- Within 10 days of completion of construction in those areas where subsequent ground disturbance will not occur for 10 calendar days or more, weed-free mulch shall be applied to disturbed areas to reduce the potential for short-term erosion. Prior to a rain event or when there is a greater than 50 percent possibility of rain within the next 24 hours, as forecasted by the National Weather Service, weed-free mulch shall be applied to all exposed areas upon

completion of the day's activities. Soils shall not be left exposed during the rainy season.

- Suitable BMPs, such as silt fences, straw wattles, or catch basins, shall be placed below all construction activities at the edge of surface water features to intercept sediment before it reaches the waterway. These structures shall be installed prior to any clearing or grading activities.
- If spoil sites are used, they shall be located such that they do not drain directly into a surface water feature, if possible. If a spoil site drains into a surface water feature, catch basins shall be constructed to intercept sediment before it reaches the feature. Spoil sites shall be graded and vegetated to reduce the potential for erosion.
- Sediment control measures shall be in place prior to the onset of the rainy season and will be monitored and maintained in good working condition until disturbed areas have been revegetated.
- Any new or previously excavated gravel material placed in the channel shall washed at least once and have a cleanliness value of 85 or higher based on Caltrans Test No. 227.
- A site-specific spill prevention plan shall be implemented for potentially hazardous materials. The plan shall include the proper handling and storage of all potentially hazardous materials, as well as the proper procedures for cleaning up and reporting any spills. If necessary, containment berms shall be constructed to prevent spilled materials from reaching surface water features.
- Equipment and hazardous materials shall be stored 50 ft away from surface water features.
- Vehicles and equipment used during construction shall receive proper and timely maintenance to reduce the potential for mechanical breakdowns leading to a spill of materials. Maintenance and fueling shall be conducted in an area at least 50 ft away from both Martin and Swain sloughs or within an adequate fueling containment area.

4.1.3.5. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

• Impacts on jurisdictional waters will be compensated on site at a minimum 1:1 ratio or other ratio as agreed by the County and the Corps, North Coast RWQCB, California Coastal Commission, and the CDFW. The project site contains areas of adequate size that provide necessary conditions to accomplish the potential mitigation requirements (Appendix F). The County plans to acquire additional right-of-way near the project to accommodate proposed mitigation activities, including widening of the slough channel and widening of existing vegetated ditches (Appendix F).

- A Wetlands Mitigation and Monitoring Plan shall be prepared and provided to the Corps, North Coast RWQCB, California Coastal Commission, and the CDFW for review and approval. This Plan shall include the following elements: description and size of mitigation area; site preparation and design; plant species; planting design and techniques; maintenance activities; plant storage; irrigation requirements; success criteria; monitoring schedule; and remedial measures. Following approval by the pertinent regulatory agencies, the Plan will be implemented by the County.
- Temporary impacts to wetlands shall be avoided through implementation of avoidance and minimization measures. All construction staging activities will be located in upland areas, away for wetland features. Temporary barriers to intrusion (e.g., exclusionary fencing) shall be placed at the edge of the verified wetland boundaries to ensure that construction equipment and access do not encroach on jurisdictional waters.

4.1.3.6. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

Cumulative effects are those impacts of future state, local, and private actions affecting endangered and threatened species that are reasonably certain to occur in the BSA. Future projects that result in a federal action will be subject to the consultation requirements established in Section 7 of the ESA and, therefore, are not considered cumulative to the proposed action. The Martin Slough Enhancement Project is the only reasonably foreseeable project within the BSA. The Martin Slough project was designed to improve fish access (replace tide gates at Martin/Swain Slough), enhance aquatic habitat, and improve sediment transport, and reduce flooding impacts to land use activities within the Martin Slough watershed. The tide gates were replaced during the fall of 2014 and became fully operational in January 2015. The earthwork for the channel and pond excavation in Martin Slough may occur in 2016, depending on the availability of funding, completing the requirement environmental compliance processes, and coordination over utilities occurring in the restoration area. Construction of the new bridge will begin in 2016.

In-channel construction associated with restoration and habitat improvements to Martin Slough, particularly in the lowest reaches of Martin Slough, have the potential to mobilize sediments and affect water quality in the project area. Further, activities occurring there also have the potential to result in permanent and/or temporary impacts on waters of the United States. The County and the Natural Resources Services Division of the Redwood Community Action Agency will coordinate to the extent practicable to implement measures to avoid and minimize impacts on waters of the United States. Although both projects will likely result in localized and temporary impacts to aquatic habitat, the long-term benefits will far outweigh any temporary impacts to waters of the United States.

4.1.4. Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Areas

4.1.4.1. SURVEY RESULTS

ESHA within the BSA includes Northern California Salt Marsh, riparian habitat, waters of the United States, and waters of the state described above in Sections 4.1.1 to 4.1.3. The Northern California Salt Marsh is a component of the perennial stream (Swain and Martin sloughs) delineated as waters of the United States. ESHA features are depicted in Figure 4.

4.1.4.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

Potential impacts to ESHA include all of the potential impacts on waters of the state described above in Sections 4.1.2.2 and 4.1.3 and summarized in Table 5. Additionally the relocation of the HCSD water line may temporarily impact on up to 0.01 acre of riparian upland located along Swain Slough northeast of the existing bridge (note – impact acreage may be further reduced during the final project design phase; this work is being undertaken by the HCSD as part of a separate project).

4.1.4.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

In addition to the Conservation Measures included in the project description, avoidance and minimization measures identified above in Sections 4.1.2.3 and 4.1.3.4 shall be implemented.

4.1.4.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

ESHA that may be impacted by the project is primarily the waters of the U.S., described in Section 4.1.3.2, and riparian vegetation, as described in 4.1.2.2. Compensatory mitigation for these potential impacts is described in Sections 4.1.2.4 and 4.1.3.5.

4.1.4.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

Cumulative effects to ESHA would be similar to those previously described for waters of the United States and waters of the state in section 4.1.3.6.

4.2. Special-Status Plant Species

Based on the review of habitat requirements and the results of the field assessment, twelve special-status plant species were determined to have suitable habitat within the BSA. To determine if any of these plants (or any other rare plant) is present in the BSA, a rare plant survey was conducted within the BSA on July 29 and 30, 2013. The following special-status plant species have the potential to occur within the BSA:

Coastal marsh milk-vetch (Astragalus pycnostachyus var. pycnostachyus)Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 1B.2Occurs at elevations between 0 and 100 feet in moist coastal dunes, coastal scrub,
marshes and swamps. Potential habitat within the BSA includes the ditches, swales,

and the banks of the sloughs.

Bristle-stalked sedge (Carex leptalea)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 2B.2Occurs at elevations between 0 and 2,300 feet in bogs and fens, moist meadows and
seeps, and marshes and swamps. Potential habitat within the BSA includes the
ditches, swales, and the banks of the sloughs.

Lyngbye's sedge (*Carex lyngbyei*)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 2B.2

Occurs at elevations between 0 and 30 feet in marshes and freshwater swamps. Potential habitat within the BSA includes the ditches, swales, and the banks of the sloughs.

Northern meadow sedge (Carex praticola)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 2B.2Occurs at elevations between 0 and 10,500 feet in moist to wet meadows. Potentialhabitat within the BSA includes the ditches, swales, and pasture areas.

Humboldt Bay owl's clover (Castilleja ambigua var. humboldtiensis)Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 1B.2

Occurs at elevations between 0 and 30 feet in coastal marshes and swamps. Potential habitat within the BSA includes the patches of salt marsh along the sloughs and seasonally saturated portions of the ditches and pasture.

Point Reyes bird's-beak (Castilleja maritimum ssp. palustre)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 1B.2Occurs at elevations between 0 and 10 feet in coastal marshes and swamps. Potential
habitat within the BSA includes the patches of salt marsh along the sloughs and
seasonally saturated portions of the ditches and pasture.

Point Reyes bird's-beak (Chloropyron maritimum ssp. palustre)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 1B.2Occurs at elevations between 0 and 30 feet in marshes and salt swamps. Potentialhabitat within the BSA includes the ditches, swales, and the banks of the sloughs.

Pacific gilia (Gilia capitata ssp. pacifica)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 1B.2Occurs at elevations between 20 and 3,120 feet in coastal bluff scrub, chaparral,
coastal prairie and valley and foothill grasslands. Potential habitat within the BSA
includes the grassland pastures.

Short-leaved evax (*Hesperevax sparsiflora* var. *brevifolia*)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 1B.2

Occurs at elevations between 0 and 710 feet in coastal bluff scrub, coastal dunes, and coastal prairie. Potential habitat within the BSA includes the grassland pastures.

Marsh pea (Lathyrus palustris)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 2B.2Occurs at elevations between 0 and 330 feet in bogs and fens, coastal prairie, coastal

scrub, lower montane coniferous forest, marshes and swamps, and moist North Coast coniferous forests. Potential habitat within the BSA includes the grassland pastures.

Wolf's evening primrose (Oenothera wolfii)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 1B.1

Occurs at elevations between 10 and 2,620 feet in moist coastal bluff scrub, coastal dunes, coastal prairie, and sandy lower montane coniferous forest. Potential habitat within the BSA includes the grassland pastures.

Dwarf alkali grass (Puccinellia pumila)

Federal status: None State status: None

Occurs at elevations between 0 and 30 feet in marshes and coastal swamps. Potential habitat within the BSA includes the ditches, swales, and the banks of the sloughs.

RPR: 2B.2

Western sand-spurrey (Spergularia canadensis var. occidentalis)

Federal status: NoneState status: NoneRPR: 2B.1

Occurs at elevations between 0 and 10 feet in marshes and coastal salt swamps. Potential habitat within the BSA includes the ditches, swales, and the banks of the sloughs.

4.2.1.1. SURVEY RESULTS

One special-status plant, Lyngbye's sedge (*Carex lyngbyei*), was observed during the July 29 and 30, 2013 rare plant survey. The plant was observed consistently on all of the banks of Martin Slough within the BSA, and near the bridge on the banks of Swain Slough (See Figure 4). The areas where Lyngbye's sedge grows are primarily areas identified as Northern California Salt Marsh.

4.2.1.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

Implementation of the proposed project will potentially result in permanent impacts of up to 0.005 acre of habitat supporting Lyngbye's sedge along the banks of Martin Slough. These impacts would result from the excavation and placement of RSP around the new abutments. The project may also result in up to 0.001 acre of temporary and indirect direct impacts to Lyngbye's sedge due to equipment access and debris removal. Construction activities typically include the refueling of construction equipment on location. As a result, fuel and oil spills might occur during construction, which could result in an indirect effect to these plants.

4.2.1.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

- Prior to the start of construction activities in the proposed project area, the edges and endpoints of the patches of Lyngbye's sedge patches adjacent to the existing bridge will be identified with flagging, as practicable—exclusionary fencing should not be used as much of the sedge is within the mean high tide line. A qualified botanist shall be present to assist with identifying the populations. The flagging shall be periodically inspected throughout each period of construction and be repaired as necessary. All pedestrian and vehicular entry into these patches shall be avoided as practicable.
- Implementation of Conservation Measure #4(Prevention of Accidental Spills) will reduce potential impacts associated with accidental spills of pollutants (i.e., fuel, oil, grease, etc.).

4.2.1.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

Prior to the start of construction activities in the proposed project area, the patches of Lyngbye's sedge that are in the footprint of the proposed RSP will be salvaged and

relocated to designated areas along Swain Slough that are associated with the Martin Slough Enhancement Project.

4.2.1.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

Cumulative effects are those impacts of future state, local, and private actions affecting endangered and threatened species that are reasonably certain to occur in the BSA. Future projects that result in a federal action will be subject to the consultation requirements established in Section 7 of the ESA and, therefore, are not considered cumulative to the proposed action. One reasonably foreseeable project within the current project's project area is known at this time; the Martin Slough Enhancement Project. Being that the long-term goal of the Martin Slough Enhancement Project is to greatly diminish the tidal influence on Martin Slough, this slough will become primarily a fresh water system and Lyngbye's sedge will die out in Martin Slough. Swain Slough will continue to be tidally-influenced in the future and maintain suitable conditions to support the species.

4.3. Special-Status Animal Species

4.3.1. Anadromous Fish

A Biological Assessment/Essential Fish Habitat Assessment (BA/EFHA) was submitted to NMFS (listed salmonids) and USFWS (tidewater goby) for review under Section 7 of the Federal Endangered Species Act. According to the BA/EFHA, the Project "may affect, but is not likely to adversely affect" California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon and Northern California DPS steelhead and "may affect, likely to adversely affect" SONCC ESU coho salmon and tidewater goby. Furthermore, the project impacts to critical habitat "may affect, but are not likely to adversely affect" designated critical habitat for SONCC ESU coho salmon, California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon, Northern California Coast DPS steelhead. Swain Slough in the project area is not designated critical habitat for tidewater goby; therefore, there will be no effect on critical habitat for this species.

Additionally, it is determined that the proposed action "will not affect" (i.e., eliminate or significantly diminish or disrupt) EFH for Pacific salmon inhabiting Swain Slough.

NMFS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 25, 2015 which concluded that the Project is likely to adversely affect Northern California DPS steelhead, SONCC ESU coho salmon, and California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon, but is not likely to jeopardize the species. NMFS also concluded the project is likely to result in an adverse effect to critical habitat for the Coastal SONCC ESU coho salmon, California ESU Chinook salmon ESU, and the Northern California DPS steelhead; the Project is not likely to destroy or adversely modify critical habitat. In the BO, NFMS determined that incidental take would occur to all three salmonid species in the form of capture during fish relocation and by exposure to lethal noise levels resulting from pile driving. NMFS expects no more than one juvenile of each species to be injured and no more than two juvenile of each species will be killed as a result of constructing the Project. NMFS, as part of the Section 305(b) Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act consultation, concluded that the Project would adversely affect essential fish habitat for Pacific salmon species (e.g., SONCC ESU coho salmon, and California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon).

Southern Oregon/Northern California Coasts ESU Coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*)

Federal Status: Endangered State Status: Endangered

On July 19, 1995, NMFS publicly announced its status finding and intent to propose coho salmon as threatened under the federal ESA. Its finding was published in the Federal Register on July 25, 1995 (60 FR 38011) and made final on April 25, 1997. NMFS published its final decision to list coho salmon as threatened under the federal ESA on May 6, 1997 (62 FR 24588). The coho salmon threatened status was reaffirmed August 15, 2011 (76 FR 50447). On May 5, 1999, NMFS announced designation of critical habitat for coho salmon in the Federal Register (64 FR 24049-24062). Designated critical habitat includes all river reaches accessible to listed coho salmon between Cape Blanco, Oregon and Punta Gorda, California. Accessible reaches are those within the historic range of the ESU that can still support any life stage of coho salmon. Designated critical habitat also includes the adjacent riparian zone, which is defined as the area adjacent to a stream that provides shade, sediment, nutrient or chemical regulation, stream bank stability, and is a source of large woody debris or organic matter (64 FR 24049-24062). Essential Fish Habitat is defined as those waters and substrate necessary to the spawning, breeding, feeding, and growth to maturity of commercially important fish, including coho salmon. The Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation Management Act, as amended by the Sustainable Fisheries Act of 1996 (Public Law 104-297), requires all federal agencies to consult with NMFS on actions permitted, funded, or undertaken by the agency that may adversely affect EFH. Swain Slough in the project area is both designated critical habitat and EFH for Pacific salmon.

Estuaries are important habitat for juvenile salmonids and other popular sport fish species. Numerous studies have documented extended estuarine residence by juvenile coho salmon (Tschaplinski 1982; Nielson 1992; Miller and Sadro 2003). Wallace (Wallace 2006) reported that juvenile salmonids, especially young-of-the-year (YOY) coho salmon, rear in Freshwater Creek Slough (a nearby perennial tributary to Humboldt Bay) for significant periods of time making this tidal area important rearing habitat for juvenile salmonids. An ongoing study by CDFW's Anadromous Fisheries Resource Assessment and Monitoring Program (AFRAMP) made observations that suggest YOY coho salmon and age 1 steelhead may rear downstream of the head of the tide during the spring and summer, then migrate back into Freshwater Creek to over-winter before emigrating to the ocean the following (Wallace and Allen 2007). Based upon the multi-year/multi-location Humboldt Bay tributaries surveys, CDFW concluded that juvenile coho throughout the Humboldt Bay watershed redistribute themselves, primarily downstream, to over-winter in low-gradient habitat in the stream-estuary ecotone ringing Humboldt Bay. This project has observed the arrival of smaller "stream-rearing" coho to the stream-estuary ecotone in Martin Slough (upstream of Swain Slough) and other Humboldt Bay tributaries (Wallace 2010).

California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) Federal Status: Threatened State Status: None

The California Coastal Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) Chinook salmon was federally listed as a threatened species on September 16, 1999 (64 FR 50394). Their threatened status was reaffirmed August 15, 2011 (76 FR 50447). The California Coastal ESU includes all naturally spawned populations of Chinook salmon from rivers and streams south of the Klamath River to and including the Russian River, California (64 FR 50394). Seven artificial propagation programs are considered to be part of the ESU: the Humboldt Fish Action Council (Freshwater Creek), Yager Creek, Redwood Creek, Hollow Tree, Van Arsdale Fish Station, Mattole Salmon Group, and Mad River Hatchery fall-run Chinook hatchery programs. NMFS determined that these artificially propagated stocks are no more divergent relative to the local natural population(s) than what would be expected between closely related natural populations within the ESU (70 FR 37160).

The California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon are fall-run, ocean-type fish. California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon usually enter rivers from August to January. These fall-run Chinook salmon typically enter freshwater at an advanced stage of maturity, move rapidly to their spawning areas on the main stem or lower tributaries of rivers, and spawn within a few weeks of freshwater entry (Healey 1991). Run timing is, in part, a

response to stream flow characteristics, with most spawning occurring in November and December. In California, ocean-type Chinook salmon tend to use estuaries and coastal areas for rearing more extensively than stream-type Chinook salmon (Thorpe 1994).

The Elk River, to which Swain Slough is tributary to, represents only one of several Chinook-bearing streams that make up the Humboldt Bay population defined by the TRT. Several fisheries population studies have been conducted in the Elk River, although they have ranged in timing, scope and effort, similar to coastal watersheds identified above, the Elk River appears to support a small spawning population of Chinook salmon during most years. Chinook numbers between 1986 and 2002 ranged from 0 to 108 (The Humboldt Bay Watershed Advisory Committee and The Natural Resources Division of Redwood Community Action Agency 2005).

Northern California DPS steelhead (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) Federal Status: Threatened State Status: None

The Northern California Distinct Population Segment (DPS) steelhead was federally listed as a threatened species on June 7, 2000 (65 FR 36074). Its threatened status was reaffirmed on January 5, 2006, and took effect on February 6, 2006 (71 FR 834). West coast steelhead populations were determined to comprise 10 DPSs (Good et al. 2005). The Northern California DPS includes all naturally spawned anadromous *O. mykiss* (steelhead) populations below natural and manmade impassable barriers in California coastal river basins from Redwood Creek southward to, but not including, the Russian River, as well as two artificial propagation programs: the Yager Creek Hatchery and North Fork Gualala River Hatchery (Gualala River Steelhead Project) steelhead hatchery programs. Steelhead in this DPS include both winter and summer run types, including what is presently considered to be the southernmost population of summer steelhead in the Middle Fork Eel River. The half-pounder² life history also occurs within the range of this DPS, in the Mad and Eel rivers.

Steelhead possess one of the most complex life history patterns of the Pacific salmonid species. Steelhead typically refers to the anadromous form of rainbow trout. Similar to other Pacific salmon, steelhead adults spawn in freshwater and spend a part of their life history at sea. However, unlike Chinook salmon, steelhead exhibit a variety of life history strategies during their freshwater rearing period, and adults may spawn more than once during their life. The typical life history pattern for steelhead is to rear in freshwater streams for two years, followed by up to two or three years of residency in

Pine Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project NES

² A half-pounder is an immature steelhead that returns to freshwater within or about four months of ocean entry.

the marine environment. However, juvenile steelhead may rear in freshwater from one to four years (Moyle 2002).

Steelhead spawn in gravel and small cobble substrates usually associated with riffle and run habitat types. Cover is extremely important in determining distribution; more cover leads to more fish (Meehan and Bjornn 1991).

The Elk River, to which Swain Slough is tributary to, represents one of several steelhead streams that make up the Humboldt Bay population. Several fisheries population studies have been conducted in the Elk River, although they have ranged in timing, scope and effort, similar to coastal watersheds identified above, the Elk River supports a small spawning population of steelhead.

4.3.1.1. SURVEY RESULTS

Southern Oregon/Northern California Coasts ESU Coho salmon

The BSA is located in the coastal plain at the confluence of Swain Slough and Martin Slough (Figure 2). Swain Slough flows approximately 0.5 mile northeast before joining the Elk River, which drains directly into Humboldt Bay. The project area includes the confluence of Martin Slough with Swain Slough; water flowing into and out of Martin Slough is controlled by three 72-inch tide gates and a small auxiliary door³. Low levees are present along the banks of Swain Slough that prevent normal high water from entering the surrounding flat coastal plain. Pine Hill Road is also elevated several feet above the normal high tide level. Much of the watershed is low-lying and subject to seasonal flooding during wet weather due largely to backwater effects caused by tides and high water in Elk River (Coastal Analysis LLC et al. 2006).

The brackish-tidally influenced habitat in the project area is unsuitable for salmonid spawning. The aquatic habitat in the project area is primarily migratory habitat for adult coho and migratory and rearing habitat for juvenile coho. In general, high quality, complex rearing habitat that is most preferred by juvenile coho for summer rearing is absent in the project area. The quality of rearing habitat for coho salmon in the project area is marginal due to the lack of deep structural complexity, slow water habitats or overhanging vegetation, and warmer water temperatures.

³ The auxiliary door is currently being held open to allow for some brackish water to enter Martin Slough to maintain the conditions in lower Martin Slough following the dysfunctional tide gate replacement completed in fall 2014.
Humboldt Bay tributaries support some of the last significant populations of wild coho salmon remaining in California (Brown et al. 1994). Coho occur in all of the significant Humboldt Bay tributary streams including Swain Slough a tributary to Elk River (Wallace 2006, 2010). There is no information on the size for either the historical or existing coho populations in Swain Slough. The available information suggests that small numbers of adult coho salmon spawn and rear in Martin Slough/Creek (T.R. Payne & Associates 2003). According to Wallace (2006), juvenile coho rear throughout the winter in Martin Slough; it is hypothesized that the vast majority of the rearing is non-natal (Wallace Pers comm.). Juvenile coho originally tagged in Elk River Slough were re-captured in Martin Slough and provide further evidence that juvenile coho throughout the Humboldt Bay watershed redistribute themselves, primarily downstream, to over-winter in low gradient habitat in the freshwater-estuary ecotone ringing Humboldt Bay. This "fall redistribution" of coho salmon searching for winter habitat has been observed by other researchers throughout the Pacific Northwest including the Klamath River basin (Lestelle 2007). Wallace (2006) also noted that the coho captured in Martin Slough are among the largest from estuaries and sloughs around the bay suggesting favorable conditions for rearing.

California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon

No Chinook salmon spawning has been documented in the Swain Slough watershed and this species is not known to regularly occur there. Chinook salmon are known to spawn and rear in the Elk River (The Humboldt Bay Watershed Advisory Committee and The Natural Resources Division of Redwood Community Action Agency 2005; Wallace and Allen 2007; Wallace 2010), which is only 0.5-mi from the project area. Juvenile Chinook salmon have been irregularly captured in small numbers in Martin Slough and presumed to have moved up through Swain Slough to rear (Wallace Pers comm.). Because the project area occurs in an area influenced by tides and is subject to regular flooding it is possible that non-natal juvenile Chinook salmon periodically occur in the project area, although they are likely to be limited in number and their residence time given their ocean-type life history. The in-water work window corresponds to the time of the year in which the probability of this species occurring in the project area is very, very small. By conducting all instream work activities during the summer period, the potential for direct effects to non-natal rearing Chinook salmon will minimized since this species and life stage is only believed to occur seasonally in the project area in small numbers, if at all.

Critical habitat in estuaries (e.g. San Francisco-San Pablo-Suisun Bay, Humboldt Bay, and Morro Bay) is defined by the perimeter of the water body as displayed on standard 1:24,000 scale topographic maps or the elevation of extreme high water, whichever is greater (70 FR 52537). Although a Chinook salmon population has not been documented in Swain Slough, it is within the elevation of extreme high water and is therefore considered critical habitat. These PCEs in the project area are limited to estuarine rearing habitat.

Northern California DPS steelhead

No steelhead spawning has been observed in the Swain Slough watershed and this species is not known to regularly occur there; however, small numbers of juvenile steelhead have been periodically captured from Martin and Swain sloughs (Wallace Pers comm.). Much like Chinook and coho salmon, steelhead are expected to seasonally occur in small numbers in the project area and the habitat in the project area is predominantly used as transitory migration and rearing habitat for these non-natal rearing juveniles.

4.3.1.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

The proposed project may cause take of a federally-listed fish species if it results in any one of the following: direct mortality of a federally listed fish species; temporary impacts to habitats such that federally listed species suffer increased mortality or lowered reproductive success; permanent loss of habitat critical to a federally listed fish species; substantial reductions in the size of a special-status fish species population; or substantial reduction in the quantity or value of fish habitat in which a federally listed fish population occurs. The proposed project includes a number of activities that could pose a potential for the take of federally-listed fish species including anadromous salmonids. Project-related stressors that may occur include fish relocation, barotrauma (due to pile driving), increased turbidity, spills of hazardous materials, placement of bank protection, and removal or damage to riparian habitat. In-water construction (e.g., demolition of a portion of the existing structures and construction of new) will occur within an area isolated by sheet piles reducing the potential direct effects from direct physical injury or mortality, although, pile driving and fish rescue activities still pose a small potential to result in take.

Southern Oregon/Northern California Coasts ESU Coho salmon

The project area includes tidally influenced brackish water slough habitat that is seasonally suitable for migratory and rearing juvenile coho salmon, but due to the lack of freshwater pool habitat suitable for summer rearing and daily tidal fluctuations in Swain Slough, and seasonal distribution of coho salmon in Humboldt Bay tributaries, the probability of juvenile coho salmon being present during the construction period is very low. Based on the life history of juvenile coho salmon in Humboldt Bay, it is highly unlikely that juvenile coho salmon would occur in the project area during the construction period (July 1st–October 15th).

California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon

The project effects for Chinook salmon and its habitat will be very similar to those described for coho salmon above; except the probability of Chinook salmon occurring in the project area during the in-water work window is even smaller. Swain Slough is seasonally used as non-natal transitory rearing habitat for juvenile Chinook salmon; when they occur, it is for short periods of time during their transitional rearing period between freshwater residency and migration into Humboldt Bay and out into the Pacific Ocean. The proposed project activities would not cause measurable changes to the waters and substrates necessary for migration, feeding and growth of Chinook salmon, either during or after project construction, therefore impacts to Chinook salmon and its designated critical habitat in the project area would be insignificant.

Northern California DPS steelhead

The project effects to steelhead and its designated critical habitat will be very similar to those described in detail for coho salmon above. The proposed project activities have a very small potential to directly affect steelhead since the project is timed to avoid the period of the year when any life stage of steelhead is likely to occur and would not cause measurable changes to the PCEs of estuarine migration and rearing habitat in the project area

4.3.1.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

In addition to the Conservation Measures included in the project description, the following measures shall be implemented to avoid or minimize project-related impacts upon listed anadromous salmonids and their habitat occurring in the project area.

- All instream work shall be completed between July 1st and October 15th.
- Fish relocation activities shall be performed only by qualified fisheries biologists who have experience with fish capture and handling and have the necessary authorizations for the purposes of relocation. Methods to be used for capturing fish shall include seining and/or dip-netting. Captured fish shall be held in a container, with a lid, that contains cool and aerated water. Aeration shall be administered using fine bubble diffusers and all fish-holding containers will be kept in the shade. Netted live cars constructed of PVC

materials can be used as an optional means to contain fish, provided that suitable habitat conditions exist within the stream channel (e.g., water is of sufficient depth, flow velocities are not too high). Fish shall not be subjected to jostling or excess noise, shall not be overcrowded in the containers, and water temperature in the container shall not be allowed to exceed levels two degrees greater than ambient water temperatures. Multiple holding containers shall be available to segregate young-of-the-year fish from larger fish to avoid predation. Fish are not expected to be abundant, but if they are, the biologist shall periodically cease capture and relocate fish to the pre-selected release location upstream or downstream of the project area. Fish shall not be otherwise removed from the fish-holding container until released.

- Prior to October 15th, the temporary slough protection system and sheet piles shall be removed from the channel. It shall not impede, or tend to impede, the passage of fish at any time, pursuant to Fish and Game Code Section 5901.
- Any structure placed within a stream where fish do/may occur shall be designed, constructed, and maintained such that they do not constitute a barrier to upstream or downstream movement of aquatic life or cause an avoidance reaction by fish that impedes their upstream or downstream movement. This includes, but is not limited to, the supply of water at an appropriate depth, temperature, and velocity to facilitate upstream and downstream fish migration. For this project, this equates to designing the new bridge to allow the free movement of tidal waters through the project area and exert minimal influence on hydro-geomorphic processes. It also includes providing for free flow and passage during the in-water work period when the channel is restricted by sheet pile to isolate the work areas. It excludes the period during pile driving when block nets will be installed and maintained to preclude fish from the area for greatest risk of physical injury and death while pile driving occurs.

4.3.1.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

The proposed action has been designed such that the conservation measures and proposed avoidance and minimization measures will avoid or minimize the potential effects to coho salmon, Chinook salmon, Northern California DPS steelhead, and designated critical habitat to the greatest extent possible. No additional mitigation is required.

4.3.1.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

Cumulative effects are those impacts of future state, local, and private actions affecting endangered and threatened species that are reasonably certain to occur in the BSA. Future projects that result in a federal action will be subject to the consultation requirements established in Section 7 of the ESA and, therefore, are not considered cumulative to the proposed action. One reasonably foreseeable project within the current project's project area is known at this time; the Martin Slough Enhancement Project. This project was designed to improve fish access (replaced tide gates at Martin/Swain Slough), enhance aquatic habitat, and improve sediment transport, and reduce flooding impacts to land use activities within the Martin Slough watershed. The tide gates were replaced during the fall of 2014 and became fully operational in January 2015. The earthwork for the channel and pond excavation in Martin Slough may occur in 2016, depending on the availability of funding, completing the requirement environmental compliance processes, and coordination over utilities occurring in the restoration area. Construction of the new bridge will begin in 2016.

In-channel construction associated with restoration and habitat improvements to Martin Slough, particularly in the lowest reaches of Martin Slough, have the potential to mobilize sediments and affect water quality in the project area. Further, activities occurring there also have the potential to displace fish seasonally rearing in Martin Slough into the project area where they would not otherwise occur and put them at greater risk of take; however, the likelihood for any increased take is very small given recent sampling and water quality measurements that indicate very few coho are likely to occur in the project area during the in-water work windows for both projects. The County and the Natural Resources Services Division of the Redwood Community Action Agency will coordinate to the extent practicable to implement avoidance and minimization measures to protect special-status fish and their habitats in Swain and Martin sloughs during any overlapping construction. During the construction phase of these projects, there may be an increase in the mobilization of suspended sediments, temporary impacts to riparian vegetation and water quality; however, both projects include several measures to avoid and minimize impacts to fishes and their habitat and ultimately the Martin Slough Enhancement, in particular, will improve fish access, enhance aquatic habitat, improve sediment transport and reduce flooding impacts. Although both projects will likely result in localized and temporary impacts to aquatic habitat, the long-term benefits will far outweigh any temporary impacts to aquatic habitat.

4.3.2. Tidewater Goby

The USFWS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 24, 2015 which concluded that the Project is not likely to jeopardize tidewater goby. The also concluded the Project action area is not located within designated critical habitat for the species. In the BO, USFWS determined that incidental take would occur to tidewater goby in the form of capture during fish relocation and or during dewatering activities. The USFWS expects no more than five adult gobies to be injured or killed as a result of constructing the Project.

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, listed the tidewater goby (*Eucyclogobius newberryi*) as endangered on March 7, 1994 (59 FR 5494) and designated critical habitat on November 20, 2000 (67 FR 67803). On June 24, 1999, they published a proposed rule to remove the northern populations of the tidewater goby from the endangered species list (64 FR 33816). The proposed rule (67 FR 67803) was withdrawn on November 7, 2002 (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 2006). Their endangered status was re-affirmed in a 2007 status review (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 2007).

The tidewater goby is a small fish that inhabits coastal brackish water habitats entirely within California, ranging from Tillas Slough (mouth of the Smith River, Del Norte County) near the Oregon border south to Agua Hedionda Lagoon (northern San Diego County). The tidewater goby is known to have formerly inhabited at least 134 localities. Presently 23 (17 percent) of the 134 documented localities are considered extirpated and 55 to 70 (41 to 52 percent) of the localities are naturally so small or have been degraded over time that long-term persistence is uncertain(U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 2005, 2007). No long-term monitoring program is available for the tidewater goby, and population dynamics are not well documented for this species. Deriving population size estimates for the tidewater goby is difficult because of the variability in local abundance. In addition, seasonal changes in distribution and abundance further hamper efforts to estimate population size, especially for a short-lived species. Tidewater goby populations also vary greatly with the varying environmental conditions (e.g., drought, El Niño) among years; this environmental variation is a normal (USFWS 2005).

Tidewater gobies generally select habitat in the upper estuary, usually within the freshsaltwater interface. Tidewater gobies range upstream a short distance into fresh water, and downstream into water of up to about 75 percent sea water (28 parts per thousand). The species is typically found in salinities of less than 12 parts per thousand (Swift et al. 1989). Reproduction/spawning typically occurs in slack, shallow waters in seasonally disconnected (from the ocean) or tidally muted lagoons, estuaries, and sloughs. Flood refugia for juveniles/adults include "perched" habitats, off-channel sloughs, and pockets of still water. Juveniles and adults can be found year-round, although they are most abundant in summer/fall. Juvenile/adult life stages can tolerate flooding/breaching in late fall/winter. Substrate preference is for sand, mud, gravel, and silt, particularly associated with submerged vegetation that is likely used for cover.

4.3.2.1. SURVEY RESULTS

Regular, systematic or quantitative fishery surveys for tidewater goby have not been performed in Swain Slough. Surveys by USFWS only detected 1 goby from 10 sample sites of Elk River upstream and downstream of the Swain Slough Confluence (Chamberlain 2011). Several tidewater goby have been captured from Martin Slough upstream of the project area (Wallace 2010) during surveys conducted by CDFW. According to Mike Wallace, CDFW fishery biologist, tidewater goby have been captured from Martin and Swain sloughs, near the Martin Slough tidegates and Pine Hill Road Bridge (Wallace Pers comm.). The extent, abundance, and regularity to which tidewater goby utilize Swain Slough in the project area unknown, but given their recent capture in and upstream of the project area it is presumed that tidewater goby are present in the project area. Swain Slough in the project area is near the current freshwater interface (Martin Slough) and likely provides suitable habitat through the summer/fall.

4.3.2.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

Potential impacts to tidewater goby will be very similar to those described for anadromous salmonids in section 4.3.1.2 above. The project activities with the greatest potential to adversely affect and result in the take of tidewater goby are pile driving and fish rescue activities. The project area includes tidally influenced brackish water slough habitat that is generally suitable, although it does not consistently provide the preferred water quality condition for goby. Based on the best scientific data available, tidewater goby have the potential to occur in the project area during the seasonal in-water work window, although, this period does correspond to the period of the year during which the fewest number of tidewater goby are expected to occur because of higher salinities and tidal fluctuations. Although most tidewater goby captured in the vicinity are further up into the system (i.e., Martin Slough) a small but unknown number of tidewater goby could be captured and released during fish rescue activities prior to pile driving and they are subject sub-lethal and behavioral effects during pile driving. The project area is generally considered marginal habitat for tidewater goby and the proposed project will not alter the available habitat in the project area such that their survival and population recovery would be measurably reduced. The proposed project will result in temporary effects to water quality. Replacement of the tide gate structure at Martin Slough and associated proposed restoration and habitat improvements at that site, as well as better sediment routing and hydraulic conditions beneath Pine Hill Road, will ultimately improve water quality conditions, habitat access, and habitat quality in the project area.

4.3.2.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

In addition to the Conservation Measures included in the project description, avoidance and minimization measures identified above in section 4.3.1.3 shall be implemented.

4.3.2.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

The proposed project has been designed such that the conservation measures and proposed avoidance and minimization measures will avoid or minimize the potential effects to tidewater goby, and designated critical habitat to the greatest extent possible. No additional mitigation is required.

4.3.2.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

Cumulative effects to tidewater goby and their habitat would be similar to those previously described for anadromous salmonids in section 4.3.1.5. The proposed project would not adversely affect primary constituent elements of aquatic habitat such that the survival of tidewater goby would be measurably reduced in the project area.

4.3.3. Longfin Smelt (Spirinchus thaleichthys)

Federal Status: Candidate State Status: Threatened and Species of Special Concern.

Longfin smelt range from the Gulf of Alaska to Monterey Bay. Adult and juvenile longfin smelt occupy mostly the middle or bottom of the water column in salt or brackish water portions of estuaries. Spawning takes place in fresh water, over sandygravel substrates, rocks, and aquatic plants (California Department of Fish and Game 1995b). The cause of the decline in this species in Humboldt Bay in unknown.

4.3.3.1. SURVEY RESULTS AND POTENTIAL FOR OCCURRENCE

Historically, the longfin smelt was common in Humboldt Bay. However, no longfin smelt have been collected from Humboldt Bay in recent years despite extensive sampling of the estuary (California Department of Fish and Game 1995b).

4.3.3.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

The project area includes tidally influenced brackish water slough habitat that is seasonally suitable for migratory and rearing longfin smelt, but due to the lack of freshwater habitat and the lack of any recent detection of longfin smelt in Humboldt Bay, it is highly unlikely that longfin smelt would be impacted by the project.

4.3.3.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

In addition to the Conservation Measures included in the project description, avoidance and minimization measures identified above in section 4.3.1.3 shall be implemented.

4.3.3.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

None required.

4.3.3.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

Cumulative effects to longfin smelt and their habitat would be similar to those previously described for anadromous salmonids in section 4.3.1.5.

4.3.4. Coastal cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii)

Federal Status: None. State Status: Species of Special Concern. Coastal cutthroat trout are found in coastal streams from the Eel River, Humboldt County, to Seward in southeastern Alaska. Some coastal cutthroat trout may spend their entire lives in fresh water, but most are anadromous, spending the summers in saltwater habitats. They prefer small, low gradient coastal streams and estuarine habitats. In northern California, coastal cutthroat trout begin to migrate up spawning streams in August-October following the first substantial rainfall (California Department of Fish and Game 1995a). Stream sections with small or moderate-sized gravel substrates are essential for spawning. The greatest threat to coastal cutthroat trout populations in California is habitat alteration and destruction, particularly for the developing embryos and fry in small streams.

4.3.4.1. SURVEY RESULTS

Coastal cutthroat trout only rarely enter Humboldt Bay as they are primarily a freshwater species (Fritzsche and Cavanagh 1995) occurring in the streams in the Humboldt Bay basin. Coastal cutthroat trout are known to occur in low numbers in Martin Slough and Swain Slough (California Department of Fish and Wildlife 2014).

4.3.4.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

Potential impacts to coastal cutthroat will be very similar to those described for anadromous salmonids in section 4.3.1.2 above.

4.3.4.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

In addition to the Conservation Measures included in the project description, avoidance and minimization measures identified above in section 4.3.1.3 shall be implemented.

4.3.4.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

None required.

4.3.4.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

Cumulative effects to coastal cutthroat and their habitat would be similar to those previously described for anadromous salmonids in section 4.3.1.5.

4.3.5. Northern red-legged frog (Rana aurora)

Federal Status: None.State Status: Species of Special Concern.The northern red-legged frog is found in humid forests, woodlands, grasslands, andstreamsides with plant cover, and is commonly found in lowlands or foothills.Breeding habitat is typically at permanent or temporary water sources bordered bydense herbaceous or shrubby vegetation.

Like most ranid frogs in California, northern red-legged frog can be found in upland habitats adjacent to aquatic sites, and may travel away from them on wet or rainy nights (Jennings and Hayes 1994). Egg-laying usually occurs in January to March. Clusters of eggs are attached to emergent vegetation in or near pools and tadpoles metamorphose in four to five months. Suitable habitat within the BSA includes the freshwater ditches found adjacent to Pine Hill Road and in the pasture areas near the bridge. The species is not likely to use the water found in Swain Slough or Martin Slough due to the high salinity found in the brackish water (Jennings and Hayes 1994).

4.3.5.1. SURVEY RESULTS AND POTENTIAL FOR OCCURRENCE

No frogs were observed during wildlife habitat assessment and wetland delineation conducted on July 29 and 30, 2013. Those surveys were conducted during the dry season, and the ditch features and other depressions (e.g., cattle wallows) were dry or moist, but not ponded, and it is assumed that the adults were in estivation. Review of wet season photographs suggest that both the ditches and wallows are full of water for the duration of the winter wet season extending into spring or early summer. Unless Swain Slough overtops its banks and floods these ponded features with brackish water, the ditches in particular, and the wallow to some degree, provide suitable freshwater aquatic environment for egg laying and tadpole rearing. Dense emergent vegetation is present within and overhanging the ditches. The CNDDB contains five occurrence

records for the northern red-legged frog within 10 miles of the BSA. The most relevant is 1.5 mile southwest of the BSA, north of Fields Landing. This 2006 record is relevant due to the similar elevation and habitat conditions (as determined from review of aerial photographs).

4.3.5.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

The Project could adversely affect northern red-legged frogs if individuals are present in the Project area during construction. Potential direct effects include harassment, injury, and mortality of individual adult, tadpole and eggs due to equipment and vehicle traffic and construction-related ground disturbance. These direct effects are limited to the freshwater ditches located within the proposed project area (the wallows are within the BSA, but outside of the project disturbance footprint). The species may be indirectly affected if construction activities result in degradation of aquatic habitat and water quality due to erosion and sedimentation, accidental fuel leaks, and spills.

The proposed project has the potential to result in adverse impacts on northern redlegged frogs as identified below:

- Direct loss (e.g., mortality) of egg masses, tadpoles, or adult northern redlegged frogs due to operation of equipment in or adjacent to the ditches or other ponded channel when flowing or standing water is present.
 Implementation of Conservation Measure #3 (construction during the dry season) will minimize the potential for direct take of all life stages.
- Direct loss of adult northern red-legged frogs may occur if they are present in ground disturbance areas during the dry season. Sufficient moisture is present in the ditches to support adult northern red-legged frogs throughout the dry season. Implementation of the Avoidance and Minimization Measures (e.g., pre-construction survey) will reduce this potentially adverse effect.
- Indirect effects to northern red-legged frog may result from the loss of vegetation, alteration of ponded ditch features, or loss of breeding habitat from sedimentation or accidental spills of toxic materials. Removal of vegetation also removes structure used to attach egg masses; decreases availability of potential food items including aquatic and terrestrial invertebrates; eliminates material to hide under to evade predation, or that provides shade for thermoregulation; and can accelerate erosion processes in the BSA that reduces water, and thus habitat, quality. Implementation of Conservation Measure #5 (Replacement of Lost Riparian Habitat) will fully mitigate for any loss of ditch habitat, implementation of Conservation Measure #3 (Erosion and Sediment

Control) will ensure that disturbed areas are stabilized and appropriate erosion control measures (i.e., silt fencing) have been implemented during, as well as immediately following, construction to minimize and/or prevent erosion and sedimentation effects.

 Construction activities typically include the refueling of construction equipment on location. As a result, minor fuel and oil spills may occur, with a risk of larger releases. Without rapid containment and clean up, these materials could be potentially toxic depending on the location of the spill in proximity to surface water features, including the roadside ditches.
 Implementation of Conservation Measure #4 (Prevention of Accidental Spills) will limit the potential for this impact by requiring that the contractor stage equipment and fuels a minimum of 50 feet from water features, maintaining spill containment equipment at the site, and by maintaining construction equipment to avoid mechanical breakdown and potential for fluid leaks.

4.3.5.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

In addition to the Conservation Measures included in the project description, the following measures shall be implemented to avoid or minimize project-related impacts on the northern red-legged frog:

- A pre-construction survey for the species shall be conducted to confirm presence or absence of northern red-legged frogs on the site immediately prior to the onset of project construction. A qualified biologist shall conduct a minimum of one survey of the BSA for these frogs. The survey shall be conducted a maximum of one week prior to construction. If one of these frogs is found within a construction impact zone, the biologist shall move it to a safe location within similar habitat.
- If a northern red-legged frog is encountered during construction, activities in the vicinity shall cease until appropriate corrective measures have been implemented or it has been determined that the frog will not be harmed. Any frogs encountered during construction shall be allowed to move away on their own. Any trapped, injured, or killed frogs shall be reported immediately to CDFW.

4.3.5.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

None required.

4.3.5.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

The proposed bridge replacement will not facilitate further development in the area. Further, impacts on northern red-legged frogs in the BSA would be relatively minor due to the limited nature of the project, implementation of the Conservation Measures and Avoidance Measures. Thus, the proposed project would not result in cumulatively considerable adverse effects on the northern red-legged frogs.

4.3.6. White-Tailed Kite (Elanus leucurus)

Federal Status: None. State Status: Fully Protected.

California supports the largest number of white-tailed kites in North America. They can be found in association with the herbaceous and open stages of a variety of habitat types, including open grasslands, meadows, emergent wetlands, and agricultural lands. Nests are constructed in dense stands located adjacent to foraging areas. The species forages in undisturbed open grasslands, meadows, farmlands, and emergent wetlands, and is seldom observed more than 0.5 mile from an active nest during the breeding season (Zeiner et al. 1990b).

4.3.6.1. SURVEY RESULTS

White-tailed kites occur regularly in the BSA due to the presence of suitable foraging habitat in the wet meadow and along the sloughs.

4.3.6.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

White tailed kite may nest in or adjacent to the BSA. Thus, construction disturbance during the breeding season could result in the loss of fertile eggs or nestlings, or otherwise lead to nest abandonment. Loss of fertile eggs or nesting raptors, or any activities resulting in nest abandonment, may adversely affect these species. The Project may also result in a small, temporary reduction of foraging and/or roosting habitat for these species. However, due to the regional abundance of similar habitats, temporary habitat loss is not expected to result in an adverse effect on these species.

4.3.6.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

The following measures are recommended to avoid or minimize the potential for project-related impacts to raptor species including white-tailed kite:

• Pre-construction surveys for nesting raptors shall be conducted by a qualified biologist within the BSA and a 250-ft buffer around the BSA to ensure that no nests will be disturbed during project implementation. These surveys shall be conducted no more than 7 days prior to the initiation of construction activities, or re-initiation of construction activities if they have ceased for more than 7

days. During this survey, the biologist should inspect all trees immediately adjacent to the impact areas for raptor nests. If an active raptor nest is found close enough (i.e., within 250 ft) to the construction area to be disturbed by these activities, the biologist (in consultation with the CDFW) shall determine the extent of a construction-free buffer zone to be established around the nest. The County will inform Caltrans when such an activity occurs.

• If all necessary approvals have been obtained, potential nesting substrate (e.g., shrubs and trees) that will be removed by the project should be removed before the onset of the nesting season (February 15 through September 30), if practicable. This will help preclude nesting and substantially decrease the likelihood of direct impacts.

4.3.6.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

None required.

4.3.6.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

The Martin Slough Enhancement Project is the only reasonably foreseeable project within the BSA. The potential cumulative effects due to the Martin Slough Enhancement Project—described in Section 4.1.3.6—are expected to be a benefit to raptors including white-tailed kite. The proposed bridge replacement will not facilitate further development in the area. Further, due to the small nature of the proposed Project, impacts to raptors in the BSA will be relatively minor. Thus, with implementation of the recommended avoidance and minimization measures, the proposed Project would not result in cumulatively considerable adverse effects to raptors including white-tailed kite.

4.3.7. Northern harrier (Circus cyaneus)

Federal Status: None. State Status: Species of Special Concern.

In California, the northern harrier is distributed throughout the state, primarily in open habitats, nesting in coastal fresh and saltwater marshes. Nests are built on the ground in areas where long grasses or marsh plants provide cover and protection. Harriers hunt for a variety of prey, including rodents, birds, frogs, reptiles, and insects by flying low and slow in a traversing manner utilizing both sight and sound to detect prey items. Current threats to this species include habitat destruction resulting from agricultural and urban development.

4.3.7.1. SURVEY RESULTS

Locally, the northern harrier is a common migrant and winter resident, found in coastal marshes and grasslands near Humboldt Bay and in the BSA. It occurs in the area year around, but more commonly in winter.

4.3.7.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

Northern harrier may nest in or adjacent to the BSA. Potential impacts to northern harrier are similar to those described for white-tailed kite in Section 4.3.6.2.

4.3.7.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

In addition to the Conservation Measures included in the project description, avoidance and minimization measures identified above in Section 4.3.6.3 shall be implemented.

4.3.7.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

None required.

4.3.7.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

The Martin Slough Enhancement Project is the only reasonably foreseeable project within the BSA. The potential cumulative effects due to the Martin Slough Enhancement Project—described in Section 4.1.3.6—are expected to be a benefit to raptors including northern harrier. The proposed bridge replacement will not facilitate further development in the area. Further, due to the small nature of the proposed Project, impacts to raptors in the BSA will be relatively minor. Thus, with implementation of the recommended avoidance and minimization measures, the proposed Project would not result in cumulatively considerable adverse effects to raptors including northern harrier.

4.3.8. Short-eared owl (Asio flammeus)

Federal Status: NoneState Status: Species of Special ConcernIn California, they nest at only a few of their former breeding locations, and in
northwestern California breed only in coastal areas where prime conditions occur.The short-eared owl is a ground nester and occurs in open country, including
grasslands, wet meadows, and cleared forests. In migration it may appear in alpine
meadows (Fix and Bezener 2000). Current threats to short-eared owls are primarily
decline and degradation of marsh and tall grassland habitat resulting from grazing
pressure.

4.3.8.1. SURVEY RESULTS

Short-eared owls are known from wetland and agricultural areas surrounding Humboldt Bay, including the Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge and Fay Slough and Mad River Slough Wildlife Areas. Nesting is very rare, but displaying birds have been seen at Humboldt Bay National Wildlife Refuge bordering the bay (LeValley 2004). Short-eared owls may occur in the BSA as suitable habitat is present.

4.3.8.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

Due to the low detection rate of nesting short-eared owl in the Humboldt Bay area and the small footprint of the proposed project, it is unlikely that the project would impact nesting short-eared owl. The Project may also result in a small, temporary reduction of foraging and/or roosting habitat for these species. However, due to the regional abundance of similar habitats, temporary habitat loss is not expected to result in an adverse effect on these species.

4.3.8.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

In addition to the Conservation Measures included in the project description, avoidance and minimization measures identified above in Section 4.3.6.3 shall be implemented.

4.3.8.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

None required.

4.3.8.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

The Martin Slough Enhancement Project is the only reasonably foreseeable project within the BSA. The potential cumulative effects due to the Martin Slough Enhancement Project—described in Section 4.1.3.6—are expected to be a benefit to raptors including short-eared owl. The proposed bridge replacement will not facilitate further development in the area. Further, due to the small nature of the proposed Project, impacts to raptors in the BSA will be relatively minor. Thus, with implementation of the recommended avoidance and minimization measures, the proposed Project would not result in cumulatively considerable adverse effects to raptors including short-eared owl.

4.3.9. Songbirds

Yellow-breasted chat (Icteria virens).

Federal Status: None. State Status: Species of Special Concern.

The yellow-breasted chat is a very large warbler with a robust build. A Neotropical migrant, it usually arrives in California in April and departs by late September. In

California, they typically occur in early successional riparian habitats with a welldeveloped shrub layer and an open canopy (Shuford and Gardali 2008). Nesting habitat is usually restricted to the narrow border of streams, creeks, sloughs, and rivers (Shuford and Gardali 2008). Breeding occurs from early May to early August. Nests are built low to the ground, often in dense shrubs along streams. Clutch size generally varies from 3–5 eggs and, typically, only one clutch is produced per year. Foraging patterns usually involve gleaning insects, spiders, and berries from the foliage of shrubs and low trees.

Yellow warbler (Setophaga petechia brewsteri).

Federal Status: None.State Status: Species of Special Concern.The yellow warbler is a Neotropical migrant that principally occurs in California as a
migratory summer resident from late March through early October (Shuford and
Gardali 2008). It is found in dense riparian deciduous habitats with cottonwoods,
willows, alders, and other small trees and shrubs typical of open-canopy riparian
woodlands. The species breeds from March through August, building an open cup
nest in a tree or shrub. They typically produce one clutch size of 4–5 eggs per year.Foraging patterns typically involve gleaning and hovering for insects and spiders.

4.3.9.1. SURVEY RESULTS AND POTENTIAL FOR OCCURRENCE

Neither yellow warbler nor yellow-breasted chat was observed during the July 29 and 30, 2013 field surveys. There are no CNDDB occurrence records of either species within 10 miles of the BSA, although that likely reflects a lack of reporting, not an absence of the species. The small patch of riparian habitat in the northeast corner of the BSA is considered suitable nesting habitat for either species.

4.3.9.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

Construction activities are not proposed within the riparian habitat in the northeast corner of the BSA. This is the only yellow warbler or yellow-breasted chat nesting habitat, thus avoidance of this area will not result in direct effects to the species. Indirect effects (e.g., nest abandonment, incubation or feeding interruptions) from constructing within close proximity of the suitable nesting habitat are possible if construction involves frequent loud noise or percussive tools within the nesting season (March through August).

4.3.9.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

The following measures shall be implemented to avoid or minimize the potential for project-related impacts on nesting yellow warblers and yellow-breasted chats:

• A qualified biologist shall conduct a minimum of one pre-construction survey for yellow warblers and yellow-breasted chats within the BSA and a 250-ft buffer around the BSA. These surveys shall be conducted no more than 7 days prior to the initiation of construction activities, or re-initiation of construction activities if they have ceased for more than 7 days. If an active nest is found, the qualified biologist should determine the extent of a construction-free buffer zone to be established around the nest. The nest should be monitored to determine when nesting is complete so that any construction activities within the buffer area can be completed.

4.3.9.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

None required.

4.3.9.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

The proposed bridge replacement will not facilitate further development in the area. Further, impacts on yellow warblers and yellow-breasted chats in the project area will be relatively minor due to the small nature of the project. Thus, with implementation of the recommended avoidance and minimization measures, the proposed project would not result in cumulatively considerable adverse effects on the yellow warbler or yellow-breasted chat.

4.4. Other Sensitive Biological Resources

4.4.1. Nesting Migratory Birds

4.4.1.1. SURVEY RESULTS

One black phoebe bird nest and a small colony of barn swallow nests were observed within the BSA during the July 29 and 30, 2013 wetland delineation and biological surveys. These species are protected under the MBTA, and if construction occurs during the summer nesting period (March through August) they would be adversely affected by the project.

4.4.1.2. PROJECT IMPACTS

The project will demolish the existing bridge prior to building the new one. The demolition process would result in adverse effects (e.g., nest destruction and mortality of nestlings) to migratory birds nesting under the bridge during project construction.

4.4.1.3. AVOIDANCE AND MINIMIZATION EFFORTS

The following measures are recommended to avoid or minimize project-related impacts on migratory birds nesting under the bridge:

- Construction activities on, and removal of, the existing bridge should be scheduled to avoid the nesting season to the extent feasible. The typical nesting season in northern California extends from March through August. Thus, if bridge demolition can be scheduled to occur between September and December, or the period before nesting begins and after nesting is complete, the nesting season would be avoided, and no impacts would be expected.
- If it is not possible to schedule bridge removal to avoid nesting, any existing unoccupied and inactive nests shall be removed from the existing bridge before March 1 of the construction year. Removal of empty or unfinished nests should be repeated as frequently as necessary (can be up to three times per week) to prevent nest completion. Alternatively, a nest exclusion device can be installed (e.g. tarp or similar barrier that keeps birds from building nests) prior to March 1 or after August 31. Any nest exclusion devices should be approved by CDFW prior to installation. Exclusion efforts should be continued until the initiation of bridge removal.

4.4.1.4. COMPENSATORY MITIGATION

None required.

4.4.1.5. CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

The proposed project will not facilitate further development in the area. Thus, with implementation of the above measures, the proposed project would not result in cumulatively considerable adverse effects.

Chapter 5. Results: Conclusions and Regulatory Determinations

5.1. Federal Endangered Species Act Consultation Summary

A Biological Assessment/Essential Fish Habitat Assessment (BA/EFHA) was submitted to the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) to address potential impacts to federally listed fish species. NMFS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 25, 2015 which concluded that the Project is likely to adversely affect Northern California DPS steelhead, SONCC ESU coho salmon, and California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon, but is not likely to jeopardize the species. NMFS also concluded the project is likely to result in an adverse effect to critical habitat for the Coastal SONCC ESU coho salmon, California ESU Chinook salmon ESU, and the Northern California DPS steelhead; the Project is not likely to destroy or adversely modify critical habitat. In the BO, NFMS determined that incidental take would occur to all three salmonid species in the form of capture during fish relocation and by exposure to lethal noise levels resulting from pile driving. NMFS expects no more than one juvenile of each species to be injured and no more than two juvenile of each species will be killed as a result of constructing the Project.

The Biological Assessment/Essential Fish Habitat Assessment (BA/EFHA) was also submitted to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) to address potential impacts to the federally listed tidewater goby. The USFWS completed the Section 7 consultation and issued a Biological Opinion on September 24, 2015 which concluded that the Project is not likely to jeopardize the species. The also concluded the Project action area is not located within designated critical habitat for the species. In the BO, USFWS determined that incidental take would occur to tidewater goby in the form of capture during fish relocation and or during dewatering activities. The USFWS expects no more than five adult gobies to be injured or killed as a result of constructing the Project.

5.2. Federal Fisheries and Essential Fish Habitat Consultation Summary

NMFS, as part of the Section 305(b) Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act consultation, concluded that the Project would adversely affect essential fish habitat for Pacific salmon species (e.g., SONCC ESU coho salmon, and California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon) and provided EFH conservation recommendations (i.e., minimize effects of temporary habitat loss from block nets and sheet piles by minimizing the maximum extent possible the duration to which migratory and rearing habitat is excluded).

5.3. Migratory Bird Treaty Act

The avoidance and minimization measures described above would be implemented to avoid adverse effects on migratory birds. These measures are outlined in Section 4.3.9 (Songbirds) and Section 4.4.1 (Migratory Birds) above. Implementation of these measures will minimize adverse effects to migratory birds. No permits or authorizations are anticipated to be required.

5.4. California Endangered Species Act Consultation Summary

The Project has the potential to affect the Southern Oregon Northern California Coast coho salmon. Potential impacts to and avoidance and minimization measures for this species are addressed in the BA/EFHA and summarized in Section 4.3.1 of this NES. No other plant or wildlife species listed under the California Endangered Species Act will be affected by the proposed project. Therefore, consultation with the CDFW is not anticipated.

5.5. California Fish and Game Code

The proposed project would involve work within the bed and bank of Swain Slough, a perennial stream. Prior to any activities that would obstruct the flow of, or alter the bed, channel, or bank of such a perennial stream, the County will provide notification of streambed alteration to the CDFW. If required by the CDFW, the County will obtain a streambed alteration agreement and will ensure that all conditions of the agreement are implemented.

Avoidance and minimization measures will be implemented to avoid adverse effects on species of special concern, migratory birds, and fully protected species as specified in both Chapter 4.

5.6. Wetlands and Other Waters Coordination Summary

NSR prepared a delineation of waters of the United States report on November 13, 2013 (Appendix E). The delineation of waters of the United States will be submitted

to the Corps after Caltrans reviews and approves the delineation. Jurisdictional waters occupy a total of 0.989 acre of the BSA.

5.6.1. Corps Section 404 Permit

To ensure compliance with terms and conditions of Section 404 of the federal Clean Water Act (CWA), the County will submit a Pre-Construction Notification to the Corps requesting verification of authorization to proceed with construction of the proposed project under the Nationwide Permit program (likely Nationwide Permit 14 - Linear Transportation Crossings). The Pre-Construction Notification will be submitted to the Corps prior to any discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of the United States.

5.6.2. Section 401 Water Quality Certification

Section 401 of the CWA requires that a Water Quality Certification be obtained from the North Coast RWQCB prior to any discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of the United States. The County will obtain a Water Quality Certification from the North Coast RWQCB prior to any discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of the United States.

5.7. Invasive Species

Implementation of Conservation Measure #6 – Prevention of Spread of Invasive Species will avoid and minimize the spread of invasive species as required by Executive Order 13112.

5.8. Floodplain Management

The proposed bridge will span Swain Slough and will not affect the function of the current floodplain. Therefore, the project complies with this executive order.

5.9. California Coastal Act

The proposed project could result in direct and indirect impacts to ESHA that is regulated by the CCC, and regionally regulated by the LCP adopted by the County. The following natural communities and areas identified as ESHA occur within the 100-foot buffer around the BSA: perennial stream, including Northern Coastal Salt Marsh; seasonal wetland; and riparian upland.

Avoidance and minimization measures would be implemented to avoid and minimize indirect impacts to ESHA. These measures are identified in Sections 4.1.2 and 4.1.3, and 4.1.4. Compensatory mitigation measures are outlined in Section 4.1.4.4.

5.10. Wetlands Only Practicable Alternative Finding

Executive Order 119900, Protection of Wetlands (1977), established a national policy to avoid adverse effects on wetlands wherever there is a practicable alternative. The project design minimized impacts on wetlands to the extent practicable Section 4.1.3.3). All other design considerations would have a greater impact on wetlands. Because the project design with the least impact on wetlands was selected, the project is in compliance with the Wetlands Only Practicable Finding Alternative pursuant to Executive Order 119900, Protection of Wetlands (1977).

Chapter 6. References

- Baldwin, B., D. H. Goldman, K. D. J., R. Patterson, T. J. Rosatti, and D. H. Wilken, eds. 2012. *The Jepson manual: vascular plants of California, 2nd edition*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Barnhart, R. A., M. J. Boyd, and J. E. Pequegnat. 1992. The ecology of Humboldt Bay, California: An estuarine profile. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Report No. Biological Report 1.
- Brown, L. R., P. B. Moyle, and R. M. Yoshiyama. 1994. Historical decline and current status of coho salmon in California. North American Journal of Fisheries Management (14):237-261.
- California Coastal Commission. 2012. Humboldt County LCP Amendment No. HUM-MAJ-1-08 (Samoa): Concurrence with the Executive Director's determination that the action of Humboldt County accepting the Commission's certification of LCP Amendment No. HUM-MAJ-1-08 is legally adequate. July 20, 2012.
- California Department of Fish and Game. 1995a. Fish species of special concern in California, coastal cutthroat trout.
- California Department of Fish and Game. 1995b. Fish species of special concern in California, longfin smelt.
- California Department of Fish and Game. 2008a. California aquatic invasive species management plan. State of California Resources Agency, Department of Fish and Game. Funded in part by the Ocean Protection Council State Coastal Conservancy and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. January 2008.
- California Department of Fish and Game. 2008b. CWHR version 8.2 personal computer program: California Department of Fish and Game, California Interagency Wildlife Task Group.
- California Department of Fish and Game. 2009. Protocols for surveying and evaluating impacts to special status native plant populations and natural communities. State of California, The Resources Agency, Department of Fish and Game. November 24, 2009.

- California Department of Fish and Wildlife. 2014. California natural diversity database (CNDDB) Rarefind 5 for commercial subscribers. Available at <u>http://www.dfg.ca.gov/biogeodata/cnddb/mapsanddata.asp</u> (accessed September 11, 2014).
- California Environmental Resources Evaluation System. 2007. Coastal salt marshes. <u>http://ceres.ca.gov/ceres/calweb/coastal/plants/smarsh.html</u> (accessed December 4, 2007
- California Native Plant Society. 2013. Inventory of rare and endangered plants. Available online at <u>http://www.rareplants.cnps.org/</u> (accessed July 29, 2013).
- Chamberlain, C. D. 2011. Tidewater Goby investigations 2010 north coast populations. In Arcata Fisheries Data Series Report DS-2011-21, edited by Arcata Fish and Wildlife Office. Arcata, California.
- Coastal Analysis LLC, Michael Love & Associates, and Winzler & Kelly Consulting Engineers. 2006. Martin Slough enhancement feasibility study.
- Environmental Laboratory. 1987. *Corps of Engineers wetlands delineation manual*. Vicksburg, Mississippi: U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station.
- Fix, D., and A. Bezener. 2000. *Birds of northern California*. Edmonton: Lone Pine Publishers.
- Fritzsche, R. A., and J. W. Cavanagh. 1995. *A guide to the fishes of Humboldt Bay*: HSU Press.
- Good, T. P., R. S. Waples, and P. Adams. 2005. Updated status of federally listed ESUs of West Coast salmon and steelhead. U.S. Department of Commerce, NOAA Technical Memorandum. NMFS-NWFSC-66.
- Healey, M. C. 1991. Life history of Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*).
 In *Pacific Salmon Life Histories*, edited by C. Groot and L. Margolis.
 Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press.
- Humboldt County Planning Department. 1995. Humboldt Bay Area Plan of theHumboldt County Local Coastal Program. In *Humboldt County General Plan*.Eureka, California.

- Jennings, M. R., and M. P. Hayes. 1994. Amphibian and reptile species of special concern in California. California Department of Fish and Game, Inland Fisheries Division.
- Lestelle, L. C. 2007. Coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) life history patterns in the Pacific Northwest and California. Prepared for U.S. Bureau of Reclamation Klamath Area Office by Biostream Environmental. March 2007.
- LeValley, R. 2004. Bracut Marsh study.
- Mayer, K. E., and W. F. Laudenslayer Jr., eds. 1988. *A guide to wildlife habitats of California*. Sacramento: California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection.
- Meehan, W. R., and T. C. Bjornn. 1991. Salmonid distribution and life histories. In Influences of forest and rangeland management on salmonid fishes and their habitats edited by W. R. Meehan. Bethesda: American Fisheries Society Special Publication 19.
- Miller, B. A., and S. Sadro. 2003. Residence time and seasonal movements of juvenile coho salmon in the ecotone and lower estuary of Winchester Creek, South Slough, Oregon. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 132:546-559.
- Moyle, P. B. 2002. Inland fishes of California. Davis: University of California Press.
- Moyle, P. B., R. M. Yoshiyama, J. E. Williams, and E. D. Wikramanayake. 1995.
 Fish species of special concern in California. Second ed. Rancho Cordova: California Department of Fish and Game, Inland Fisheries Division.
- Nakamura, G., and J. K. Nelson, eds. 2001. Illustrated field guide to selected rare plants of northern California. Oakland, California: University of California. Agriculture and Natural Resources, Publication 3395.
- Nielson, J. L. 1992. Microhabitat-specific foraging behavior, diet, and growth of juvenile coho salmon. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 121:617-634.

Shuford, W. D., and T. Gardali. 2008. California bird species of special concern: A ranked assessment of species, subspecies, and distinct populations of birds of immediate conservation concern in California, Studies of Western Birds 1.
Camarillo and Sacramento, California: Western Field Ornithologists and California Department of Fish and Game.

State of California. 2009. 2009 California Vehicle Code. http://www.dmv.ca.gov/pubs/vctop/vc/vc.htm (accessed May 27, 2009).

- Swift, C. C., J. L. Nelson, C. Maslow, and T. Stein. 1989. Biology and distribution of the tidewater goby, *Eucyclogobius newberryi* (Pisces:Gobiidae) of California; No. 404. In *Contributions in Science*: Natural History Museum of Los Angeles County.
- T.R. Payne & Associates. 2003. Final report of known fisheries resources of Martin Slough basin and recommended impact mitigaiton of the proposed Martin Slough Interceptor Project. Prepared for Roberts, Kemp & Associates. June 10, 2003.
- The Humboldt Bay Watershed Advisory Committee, and The Natural Resources Division of Redwood Community Action Agency. 2005. Humboldt Bay watershed salmon and steelhead conservation plan. Prepared for the California Department of Fish and Game and the California Coastal Conservancy. March 2005.
- Thorpe, J. E. 1994. Salmonid fishes and the estuarine environment. *Estuaries* 17(1A):76-93.
- Tschaplinski, P. J. 1982. Aspects of the population biology of estuary-reared juvenile coho salmon in Carnation Creek: a summary of current research. Paper read at Carnation Creek Workshop: a ten-year review, at Malaspina College, Nanaimo, British Columbia.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2010. Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region (Version 2.0): U. S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center.

- U.S. Bureau of Reclamation. 2012. Inspection and cleaning manual for equipment and vehicles to prevent the spread of invasive species. U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, Technical Memorandum No. 86-68220-07-05. June 2012.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2005. Adult spring Chinook salmon monitoring in Clear Creek, California, 2003-2004. Prepared by J.M. Newton and M.R. Brown. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Red Bluff Fish and Wildlife Office.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2006. Recovery plan for the Carson's wandering skipper (*Pseudocopaeodes eunus obscurus*). U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2007. Tidewater goby (*Eucyclogobius newberryi*) 5year review: summary and evaluation. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Ventura Fish and Wildlife Office. September 2007.
- Wallace, M. 2006. Juvenile salmonid use of Freshwater Slough and tidal portion of Freshwater Creek, Humboldt Bay, California 2003 Annual Report. Natural Stocks Assessment Project. Inland Fisheries. Administrative Report No. 2006-04. California Department of Fish and Game, Northern California – North Coast Region.
- Wallace, M. 2010. Field Note—Martin Slough, thence Swain Slough, Thence Elk River, Thence Humboldt Bay, May 11, 2010: On file in California Department of Fish and Game Office.
- Wallace, M., and S. Allen. 2007. Juvenile salmonid use of the tidal portions of selected tributaries to Humboldt Bay, California. Prepared by the Natural Stocks Assessment Project, California Department of Fish and Game and Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission. June 2007.
- Wallace, T., CDFW Senior Environmental Scientist, Upper Butte Basin Reserve. March 5, 2014 - telephone conversation with M. Gorman, North State Resources, Inc.
- Zeiner, D. C., W. F. Laudenslayer, Jr., and K. E. Mayer, eds. 1989. California's wildlife Volume I: Amphibians and reptiles. Sacramento, California: California Department of Fish and Game.

- Zeiner, D. C., W. F. Laudenslayer, Jr., K. Mayer, and M. White, eds. 1990a. *California's wildlife Volume III: Mammals*. Sacramento, California: California Department of Fish and Game.
- Zeiner, D. C., W. F. Laudenslayer, Jr., K. Mayer, and M. White, eds. 1990b. *California's wildlife Volume II: Birds*. Sacramento, California: California Department of Fish and Game.



United States Department of the Interior

FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE Arcata Fish and Wildlife Office 1655 HEINDON ROAD ARCATA, CA 95521 PHONE: (707)822-7201 FAX: (707)822-8411



Consultation Code: 08EACT00-2016-SLI-0002 Event Code: 08EACT00-2016-E-00003 Project Name: Pine Hill Road Over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement October 05, 2015

Subject: List of threatened and endangered species that may occur in your proposed project location, and/or may be affected by your proposed project

To Whom It May Concern:

The enclosed species list identifies threatened, endangered, proposed and candidate species, as well as proposed and final designated critical habitat, that may occur within the boundary of your proposed project and/or may be affected by your proposed project. The species list fulfills the requirements of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) under section 7(c) of the Endangered Species Act (Act) of 1973, as amended (16 U.S.C. 1531 *et seq.*).

New information based on updated surveys, changes in the abundance and distribution of species, changed habitat conditions, or other factors could change this list. Please feel free to contact us if you need more current information or assistance regarding the potential impacts to federally proposed, listed, and candidate species and federally designated and proposed critical habitat. Please note that under 50 CFR 402.12(e) of the regulations implementing section 7 of the Act, the accuracy of this species list should be verified after 90 days. This verification can be completed formally or informally as desired. The Service recommends that verification be completed by visiting the ECOS-IPaC website at regular intervals during project planning and implementation for updates to species lists and information. An updated list may be requested through the ECOS-IPaC system by completing the same process used to receive the enclosed list.

The purpose of the Act is to provide a means whereby threatened and endangered species and the ecosystems upon which they depend may be conserved. Under sections 7(a)(1) and 7(a)(2) of the Act and its implementing regulations (50 CFR 402 *et seq.*), Federal agencies are required to utilize their authorities to carry out programs for the conservation of threatened and endangered species and to determine whether projects may affect threatened and endangered species and/or designated critical habitat.

A Biological Assessment is required for construction projects (or other undertakings having

similar physical impacts) that are major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the human environment as defined in the National Environmental Policy Act (42 U.S.C. 4332(2) (c)). For projects other than major construction activities, the Service suggests that a biological evaluation similar to a Biological Assessment be prepared to determine whether the project may affect listed or proposed species and/or designated or proposed critical habitat. Recommended contents of a Biological Assessment are described at 50 CFR 402.12.

If a Federal agency determines, based on the Biological Assessment or biological evaluation, that listed species and/or designated critical habitat may be affected by the proposed project, the agency is required to consult with the Service pursuant to 50 CFR 402. In addition, the Service recommends that candidate species, proposed species and proposed critical habitat be addressed within the consultation. More information on the regulations and procedures for section 7 consultation, including the role of permit or license applicants, can be found in the "Endangered Species Consultation Handbook" at:

http://www.fws.gov/endangered/esa-library/pdf/TOC-GLOS.PDF

Please be aware that bald and golden eagles are protected under the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (16 U.S.C. 668 *et seq.*), and projects affecting these species may require development of an eagle conservation plan

(http://www.fws.gov/windenergy/eagle_guidance.html). Additionally, wind energy projects should follow the wind energy guidelines (http://www.fws.gov/windenergy/) for minimizing impacts to migratory birds and bats.

Guidance for minimizing impacts to migratory birds for projects including communications towers (e.g., cellular, digital television, radio, and emergency broadcast) can be found at: http://www.fws.gov/migratorybirds/CurrentBirdIssues/Hazards/towers/towers.htm; http://www.towerkill.com; and http://www.fws.gov/migratorybirds/CurrentPirdIssues/Hazards/towers/comtow.html

http://www.fws.gov/migratorybirds/CurrentBirdIssues/Hazards/towers/comtow.html.

We appreciate your concern for threatened and endangered species. The Service encourages Federal agencies to include conservation of threatened and endangered species into their project planning to further the purposes of the Act. Please include the Consultation Tracking Number in the header of this letter with any request for consultation or correspondence about your project that you submit to our office.

Attachment



Project name: Pine Hill Road Over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement

Official Species List

Provided by:

Arcata Fish and Wildlife Office 1655 HEINDON ROAD ARCATA, CA 95521 (707) 822-7201

Consultation Code: 08EACT00-2016-SLI-0002 Event Code: 08EACT00-2016-E-00003

Project Type: BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION / MAINTENANCE

Project Name: Pine Hill Road Over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement **Project Description:** The Humboldt County Department of Public Works is proposing to replace Bridge No. 04C-0173 on Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough in Eureka, Humboldt County, California. The proposed bridge type is a single-span precast concrete I-girder, and will be slightly longer than the existing bridge to better fit the site conditions. Work will take place between June 15 and October 15, in 2016.

Please Note: The FWS office may have modified the Project Name and/or Project Description, so it may be different from what was submitted in your previous request. If the Consultation Code matches, the FWS considers this to be the same project. Contact the office in the 'Provided by' section of your previous Official Species list if you have any questions or concerns.



Project name: Pine Hill Road Over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement

Project Location Map:



Project Coordinates: MULTIPOLYGON (((-124.18227285146712 40.75250346103289, -124.18240427970886 40.752407963021284, -124.18249547481537 40.752403899273055, -124.18262422084808 40.752507524775034, -124.18242573738098 40.75267007425662, -124.18227285146712 40.75250346103289)))

Project Counties: Humboldt, CA



Project name: Pine Hill Road Over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement

Endangered Species Act Species List

There are a total of 9 threatened or endangered species on your species list. Species on this list should be considered in an effects analysis for your project and could include species that exist in another geographic area. For example, certain fish may appear on the species list because a project could affect downstream species. Critical habitats listed under the **Has Critical Habitat** column may or may not lie within your project area. See the **Critical habitats within your project area** section further below for critical habitat that lies within your project. Please contact the designated FWS office if you have questions.

Birds	Status	Has Critical Habitat	Condition(s)	
Marbled murrelet <i>(Brachyramphus marmoratus)</i> Population: CA, OR, WA	Threatened	Final designated		
Northern Spotted owl <i>(Strix</i> occidentalis caurina) Population: Entire	Threatened	Final designated		
western snowy plover <i>(Charadrius nivosus ssp. nivosus)</i> Population: Pacific coastal pop.	Threatened	Final designated		
Yellow-Billed Cuckoo <i>(Coccyzus americanus)</i> Population: Western U.S. DPS	Threatened	Proposed		
Fishes				
Tidewater goby <i>(Eucyclogobius newberryi)</i> Population: Entire	Endangered	Final designated		
Flowering Plants				
Beach layia (Layia carnosa)	Endangered			

http://ecos.fws.gov/ipac, 10/05/2015 03:59 PM



Project name: Pine Hill Road Over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement

Menzies' wallflower (Erysimum menziesii)	Endangered				
Western lily (Lilium occidentale)	Endangered				
Mammals					
fisher <i>(Martes pennanti)</i> Population: West coast DPS	Proposed Threatened				

http://ecos.fws.gov/ipac, 10/05/2015 03:59 PM


United States Department of Interior Fish and Wildlife Service

Project name: Pine Hill Road Over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement

Critical habitats that lie within your project area

There are no critical habitats within your project area.

http://ecos.fws.gov/ipac, 10/05/2015 03:59 PM

Listed/Proposed Threatened and Endangered Species for the EUREKA Quad (Candidates Included)

July 7, 2014

Document number: 327179038-9408

KEY:

(PE) Proposed Endangered Proposed in the Federal Register as being in danger of extinction

(PT) Proposed Threatened Proposed as likely to become endangered within the foreseeable future

(E) Endangered Listed in the Federal Register as being in danger of extinction

(T) Threatened Listed as likely to become endangered within the foreseeable future

(C) Candidate Candidate which may become a proposed species Habitat Y = Designated, P = Proposed, N = None Designated * Denotes a species Listed by the National Marine Fisheries Service

Туре		Scientific Name	Common Name	Category	Critical Habitat
Plants					mannat
		Erysimum menziesii	Menzies' wallflower	Е	Ν
		Layia carnosa	beach layia	Е	Ν
		Lilium occidentale	western lily	Е	Ν
Invertebra	ites		•		
	*	Haliotis cracherodii	black abalone	Е	Ν
Fish					
	*	Acipenser medirostris	green sturgeon	Т	Y
		Eucyclogobius newberryi	tidewater goby	Е	Y
	*	Oncorhynchus kisutch	S. OR/N. CA coho salmon	Т	Y
	*	Oncorhynchus mykiss	Northern California steelhead	Т	Y
	*	Oncorhynchus tshawytscha	CA coastal chinook	Т	Y
Reptiles			Sumon		
Teptiles	*	Caretta caretta	loggerhead turtle	Т	Ν
	*	Chelonia mydas (incl. agassizi)	green turtle	T	N
	*	Dermochelys coriacea	leatherback turtle	Ē	Y
	*	Lepidochelys olivacea	olive (=Pacific) ridley sea turtle	T	N
Birds					
		Brachvramphus marmoratus	marbled murrelet	Т	Y
		Charadrius alexandrinus nivosus	western snowy plover	Т	Y
		Coccyzus americanus	Western yellow-billed cuckoo	PT	Ν
		Phoebastris albatrus	short-tailed albatross	Е	Ν
		Strix occidentalis caurina	northern spotted owl	Т	Y
		Synthliboramphus hypoleucus	Xantus's murrelet	С	Ν
Mammals					
	*	Balaenoptera borealis	sei whale	Е	Ν
	*	Balaenoptera musculus	blue whale	Е	Ν
	*	Balaenoptera physalus	fin whale	Е	Ν
	*	Eumetopias jubatus	Steller (=northern) sea-lion	Т	Y
	*	Megaptera novaengliae	humpback whale	E	Ν

*	Orcinus orca	killer whale, S. resident	Е	Y
*	Physeter macrocephalus	sperm whale	Е	Ν



Selected Elements by Scientific Name

California Department of Fish and Wildlife

California Natural Diversity Database



Query Criteria: Taxonomic Group is (Dune or Scrub or Herbaceous or Marsh or Riparian or Woodland or Forest or Alpine or Inland Waters or Marine or Estuarine or Riverine or Palustrine or Fish or Amphibians or Reptiles or Birds or Mammals or Mollusks or Arachnids or Crustaceans or Insects or Ferns or Gymnosperms or Monocots or Dicots or Lichens or Bryophytes) and Quad is (Eureka (4012472) or Tyee City (4012482) or Arcata North (4012481) or Arcata South (4012471) or McWhinney Creek (4012461) or Fields Landing (4012462) or Cannibal Island (4012463))

Species	Element Code	Federal Status	State Status	Global Rank	State Rank	Rare Plant Rank/CDFW SSC or FP
Abronia umbellata var. breviflora	PDNYC010N4	None	None	G4G5T2	S1	1B.1
pink sand-verbena						
Accipiter striatus	ABNKC12020	None	None	G5	S3	WL
sharp-shinned hawk						
Acipenser medirostris	AFCAA01030	Threatened	None	G3	S1S2	SSC
green sturgeon						
Arborimus albipes	AMAFF23010	None	None	G3G4	S2S3	SSC
white-footed vole						
Arborimus pomo	AMAFF23030	None	None	G3	S3	SSC
Ardea alba	ABNGA04040	None	None	G5	S4	
great egret		Hono	Nono			
Ardea herodias	ABNGA04010	None	None	G5	S4	
great blue heron						
Ascaphus truei	AAABA01010	None	None	G4	S2S3	SSC
Pacific tailed frog						
Astragalus pycnostachyus var. pycnostachyus	PDFAB0F7B2	None	None	G2T2	S2	1B.2
coastal marsh milk-vetch						
Bryoria spiralifera	NLTEST5460	None	None	G3	S1S2	1B.1
twisted horsehair lichen						
Cardamine angulata	PDBRA0K010	None	None	G5	S1	2B.1
seaside bittercress						
Carex arcta	PMCYP030X0	None	None	G5	S2	2B.2
northern clustered sedge						
Carex leptalea	PMCYP037E0	None	None	G5	S1	2B.2
bristle-stalked sedge						
Carex lyngbyei	PMCYP037Y0	None	None	G5	S2	2B.2
Lyngbye's seage						
Carex praticola northern meadow sedge	PMCYP03B20	None	None	G5	S2S3	2B.2
Castilleja ambigua var. humboldtiensis Humboldt Bay owl's-clover	PDSCR0D402	None	None	G4T2	S2	1B.2
Castilleja litoralis	PDSCR0D012	None	None	G4G5T4	S3	2B.2
Oregon coast paintbrush						
Charadrius alexandrinus nivosus western snowy plover	ABNNB03031	Threatened	None	G3T3	S2	SSC



Selected Elements by Scientific Name California Department of Fish and Wildlife California Natural Diversity Database



Species	Element Code	Federal Status	State Status	Global Rank	State Rank	Rare Plant Rank/CDFW SSC or FP
Chloropyron maritimum ssp. palustre	PDSCR0J0C3	None	None	G4?T2	S2	1B.2
Point Reyes salty bird's-beak						
Cicindela hirticollis gravida	IICOL02101	None	None	G5T2	S1	
sandy beach tiger beetle						
Coastal Terrace Prairie	CTT41100CA	None	None	G2	S2.1	
Coastal Terrace Prairie						
Egretta thula	ABNGA06030	None	None	G5	S4	
snowy egret						
Emys marmorata	ARAAD02030	None	None	G3G4	S3	SSC
western pond turtle						
Erysimum menziesii	PDBRA160R0	Endangered	Endangered	G1	S1	1B.1
Menzies' wallflower						
Erythronium revolutum	PMLIL0U0F0	None	None	G4	S2S3	2B.2
coast fawn lily						
Eucyclogobius newberryi	AFCQN04010	Endangered	None	G3	S2S3	SSC
tidewater goby						
Fissidens pauperculus	NBMUS2W0U0	None	None	G3?	S1	1B.2
minute pocket moss						
Gilia capitata ssp. pacifica	PDPLM040B6	None	None	G5T3T4	S2	1B.2
Pacific gilia						
Gilia millefoliata	PDPLM04130	None	None	G2	S2	1B.2
dark-eyed gilia						
Haliaeetus leucocephalus	ABNKC10010	Delisted	Endangered	G5	S2	FP
bald eagle						
Hesperevax sparsiflora var. brevifolia	PDASTE5011	None	None	G4T2T3	S2S3	1B.2
short-leaved evax						
Lathyrus japonicus	PDFAB250C0	None	None	G5	S2	2B.1
seaside pea						
Lathyrus palustris	PDFAB250P0	None	None	G5	S2S3	2B.2
marsh pea						
Layia carnosa	PDAST5N010	Endangered	Endangered	G2	S2	1B.1
beach layia						
Lilium occidentale	PMLIL1A0G0	Endangered	Endangered	G1	S1	1B.1
western lily						
Lycopodium clavatum	PPLYC01080	None	None	G5	S3	4.1
running-pine						
Martes caurina humboldtensis	AMAJF01012	None	None	G5T1	S1	SSC
Humboldt marten						
Mitellastra caulescens	PDSAX0N020	None	None	G5	S4.2	4.2
leafy-stemmed mitrewort						
Monotropa uniflora	PDMON03030	None	None	G5	S2	2B.2
ghost-pipe						



Selected Elements by Scientific Name California Department of Fish and Wildlife California Natural Diversity Database



Species	Element Code	Federal Status	State Status	Global Rank	State Rank	Rare Plant Rank/CDFW SSC or FP
Montia howellii	PDPOR05070	None	None	G3G4	S3	2B.2
Howell's montia						
Myotis evotis	AMACC01070	None	None	G5	S4?	
long-eared myotis						
Northern Coastal Salt Marsh	CTT52110CA	None	None	G3	S3.2	
Northern Coastal Salt Marsh						
Northern Foredune Grassland	CTT21211CA	None	None	G1	S1.1	
Northern Foredune Grassland						
Nycticorax nycticorax	ABNGA11010	None	None	G5	S3	
black-crowned night heron						
Oenothera wolfii	PDONA0C1K0	None	None	G1	S1	1B.1
Wolf's evening-primrose						
Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii	AFCHA0208A	None	None	G4T4	S3	SSC
coast cutthroat trout						
Oncorhynchus kisutch	AFCHA02032	Threatened	Threatened	G4T2Q	S2?	SSC
coho salmon - southern Oregon / northern California ESU						
Pandion haliaetus	ABNKC01010	None	None	G5	S3	WL
osprey						
Phalacrocorax auritus	ABNFD01020	None	None	G5	S3	WL
double-crested cormorant						
Puccinellia pumila	PMPOA531L0	None	None	G4?	SH	2B.2
dwarf alkali grass						
Rallus longirostris obsoletus	ABNME05016	Endangered	Endangered	G5T1	S1	FP
California clapper rail						
Rana aurora	AAABH01021	None	None	G4	S2?	SSC
northern red-legged frog						
Rana boylii	AAABH01050	None	None	G3	S2S3	SSC
foothill yellow-legged frog						
Rhyacotriton variegatus	AAAAJ01020	None	None	G3G4	S2S3	SSC
		Nono	Throatopod	C.F.	6060	
Ripana ripana	ABPAU00010	None	Inrealeneu	G5	3233	
		Nono	None	C3C4	6264.2	4.0
maple leaved checkerbloom	PDWALTUEU	None	None	6364	3334.Z	4.2
		Nono	Nono	C5T2	60	10.0
Sidaicea maivinora SSP. patula	PDWALTUF9	None	None	G512	32	ID.2
		Nono	Nono	C5T1	C1	10.0
coast sidalcea	FDWALTURS	None	None	6511	31	ID.2
	CTT82110CA	None	None	G1	S1 1	
Sitka Spruce Forest	01102110CA	NULLE	NULE	61	01.1	
Snarqularia canadonsis var occidentalis		None	None	G5T42	S 1	2B 1
western sand-spurrey		HUIL		00171	01	20.1

Commercial Version -- Dated August, 5 2014 -- Biogeographic Data Branch Report Printed on Friday, August 29, 2014



Selected Elements by Scientific Name

California Department of Fish and Wildlife

California Natural Diversity Database



Species	Element Code	Federal Status	State Status	Global Rank	State Rank	Rare Plant Rank/CDFW SSC or FP
Spirinchus thaleichthys longfin smelt	AFCHB03010	Candidate	Threatened	G5	S1	SSC
Thaleichthys pacificus eulachon	AFCHB04010	Threatened	None	G5	S3	SSC
Trichodon cylindricus cylindrical trichodon	NBMUS7N020	None	None	G4G5	S2	2B.2
Usnea longissima Methuselah's beard lichen	NLLEC5P420	None	None	G4	S4	4.2
Viola palustris alpine marsh violet	PDVIO041G0	None	None	G5	S1S2	2B.2

Record Count: 65

(California Pative Plant Society V7-13jul 7-8-13										
St	Status: search results - Mon. Jul. 29. 2013 10:14 ET c										
	{QUAI	DS_12	ı ~= {3	m/672C 654A 654B 655A 672D	672Ale Search						
	Tip: +L		rus +	"coastal dunes" returns on	ly those Lathyrus in co	oastal dunes. Note t	he				
	"+" and	l quote	s.[all ti	ps and help.][search history]							
Y ((Your Quad Selection: Eureka (672C) 4012472, Mcwhinney Creek (654A) 4012461, Fields Landing (654B) 4012462, Cannibal Island (655A) 4012463, Arcata South (672D) 4012471, Arcata North (672A) 4012481, Tyee City (672B) 4012482										
Hi Re	ts 1 to 2 equest	29 01 2 Is th a	19 t sne	cify topo quads will retur	n only Lists 1.3						
	equest	.5 tila	r she	chy topo quado win retur							
	To save	e selec	ted red	cords for later study, click the A	DD button.						
		checke	ed item	s to Plant Press check all c	heck none						
	Selectio	ons will	appea	ar in a new window.							
	open	save	hits	scientific	common	family	CNPS				
	ď		1	<u>Abronia umbellata</u> var. <u>breviflora</u>	pink sand- verbena	Nyctaginaceae	List 1B.1				
	Ť		1	Astragalus pycnostachyus var. pycnostachyus 🕮	coastal marsh milk-vetch	Fabaceae	List 1B.2				
	Ċ		1	Cardamine angulata	seaside bittercress	Brassicaceae	List 2B.1				
	ď		1	Carex arcta	northern clustered sedge	Cyperaceae	List 2B.2				
	Ċ		1	Carex leptalea 🚳	bristle-stalked sedge	Cyperaceae	List 2B.2				
	创		1	Carex lyngbyei	Lyngbye's sedge	Cyperaceae	List 2B.2				
	Ċ		1	Carex praticola	northern meadow sedge	Cyperaceae	List 2B.2				
	ď		1	<u>Castilleja ambigua</u> var. <u>humboldtiensis</u>	Humboldt Bay owl's-clover	Orobanchaceae	List 1B.2				
	È		1	<u>Castilleja litoralis</u>	Oregon coast paintbrush	Orobanchaceae	List 2B.2				
	È		1	<u>Chloropyron maritimum</u> ssp. <u>palustre</u>	Point Reyes bird's-beak	Orobanchaceae	List 1B.2				
	Ċ		1	Erysimum menziesii 🗯	Menzies' wallflower	Brassicaceae	List 1B.1				
	È		1	Erythronium revolutum	coast fawn lily	Liliaceae	List 2B.2				
	È		1	Fissidens pauperculus	minute pocket moss	Fissidentaceae	List 1B.2				
	Ċ		1	<u>Gilia capitata</u> ssp. <u>pacifica</u> 🝘	Pacific gilia	Polemoniaceae	List 1B.2				
	Ť		1	<u>Gilia millefoliata</u> 🕮	dark-eyed gilia	Polemoniaceae	List 1B.2				
			1		short-leaved evax	Asteraceae					

È			<u>Hesperevax</u> <u>sparsiflora</u> var. <u>brevifolia</u> 🛱			List 1B.2		
È		1	Lathyrus japonicus 🚳	seaside pea	Fabaceae	List 2B.1		
È		1	Lathyrus palustris 🚳	marsh pea	Fabaceae	List 2B.2		
È		1	<u>Layia carnosa</u> 🗯	beach layia	Asteraceae	List 1B.1		
È		1	Lilium occidentale 🏁	western lily	Liliaceae	List 1B.1		
È		1	Monotropa uniflora 🗯	ghost-pipe	Ericaceae	List 2B.2		
È		1	<u>Montia howellii</u> 🚳	Howell's montia	Montiaceae	List 2B.2		
È		1	<u>Oenothera</u> <u>wolfii</u> 🚳	Wolf's evening- primrose	Onagraceae	List 1B.1		
È		1	Puccinellia pumila	dwarf alkali grass	Poaceae	List 2B.2		
È		1	<u>Sidalcea</u> <u>malviflora</u> ssp. <u>patula</u> 🗯	Siskiyou checkerbloom	Malvaceae	List 1B.2		
È		1	<u>Sidalcea oregana</u> ssp. <u>eximia</u>	coast checkerbloom	Malvaceae	List 1B.2		
È		1	<u>Spergularia canadensis</u> var. <u>occidentalis</u>	western sand- spurrey	Caryophyllaceae	List 2B.1		
È		1	Trichodon cylindricus	cylindrical trichodon	Ditrichaceae	List 2B.2		
È		1	<u>Viola palustris</u> 🚳	alpine marsh violet	Violaceae	List 2B.2		
Fo save selected records for later study, click the ADD button. ADD checked items to Plant Press check all check none Selections will appear in a new window. No more hits.								
ý :	ΔC)			Powe	oda 🖏		

Appendix C	Review of Regionally
	Occurring Special-Status
	Species

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (F/S/RPR)	General Habitat Description and Blooming Period	Habitat Assessment ²	Rationale
		Federal or State Listed Plant Species		
Menzies' Wallflower (Erysimum menziesii)	FE/SE/1B.1	Coastal dunes. Elevation: 0-110 feet. Bloom: March-September.	A	Habitat is not present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Beach layia (Layia carnosa)	FE/SE/1B.1	Coastal dunes and sandy coastal scrub. Elevation: 0-200 feet. Bloom: March-July.	A	Habitat is not present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Western lily (Lilium occidentale)	FE/SE/1B.1	Coastal scrub or prairie, gaps in conifer forest. Elevation: 0-1000 ft. Bloom: June-August.	A	Habitat is not present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
		Other Special-Status Plant Species		
Pink sand-verbena (Abronia umbellata var. breviflora)	—/—/1B.1	Coastal dunes. Elevation: 0-30 feet. Bloom: June-October.	A	Coastal dune habitat is not present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Coastal marsh milk-vetch (Astragalus pycnostachyus var. pycnostachyus)	—/—/1B.2	Mesic coastal dunes, coastal scrub, marshes and swamps (coastal salt, streamsides). Elevation: 0-100 feet. Bloom: April-October.	HP	The BSA is located on the Coastal plain and the ditches provide suitable mesic and wetland habitat for this species. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Seaside bittercress (Cardamine angulata)	—/—/2B.1	Wet areas, streambanks in lower montane coniferous forest, and North Coast coniferous forest Elevation: 210-3000 feet. Bloom: March-July.	A	The BSA is below the elevational level of the species. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Northern clustered sedge (<i>Carex arcta</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Bogs and fens, mesic North Coast coniferous forest. Elevation: 200-4590 feet. Bloom: June-September.	A	The BSA is lower than the elevation level of the species. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Bristle-stalked sedge (<i>Carex leptalea</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Bogs and fens, mesic meadows and seeps, marshes and swamps. Elevation: 0-2300 feet. Bloom: March-July.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.

Table C-1. Review of Regionally Occurring Special-Status Plant Species

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (F/S/RPR)	General Habitat Description and Blooming Period	Habitat Assessment ²	Rationale
Lyngbye's sedge (<i>Carex lyngbyei</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Marshes and brackish or freshwater swamps. Elevation: 0-30 feet. Bloom: April-August.	Ρ	Suitable wetland habitat is present. Species was observed during botanical field surveys.
Northern meadow sedge (Carex praticola)	—/—/2B.2	Moist to wet meadows. Elevation: 0-10,500 feet. Bloom: May-July.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Humboldt Bay owl's-clover (Castilleja ambigua var. humboldtiensis)	—/—/1B.2	Marshes and coastal salt swamps. Elevation: 0-30 feet. Bloom: June-October.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Oregon coast paintbrush (Castilleja litoralis)	—/—/2B.2	Coastal bluff scrub, coastal dunes, sandy coastal scrub. Elevation: 50-330 feet. Bloom: June.	A	Suitable coastal dune habitat is not present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Point Reyes bird's-beak (Chloropyron maritimum ssp. palustre)	—/—/1B.2	Marshes and coastal salt swamps. Elevation: 0-30 feet. Bloom: June-October.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Coast fawn lily (<i>Erythronium revolutum</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Bogs and fens, broad-leafed upland forest, North Coast coniferous forest. Elevation: 0-3,500 feet. Bloom: March-August.	A	Suitable wetland habitat is not present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Minute pocket moss (<i>Fissidens pauperculus</i>)	—/—/1B.2	North Coast mesic coniferous forest. Elevation: 30-3360 feet.	A	North Coast coniferous forest habitat is not present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Pacific gilia (Gilia capitata ssp. pacifica)	—/—/1B.2	Coastal bluff scrub, chaparral, and other openings, coastal prairie, valley and foothill grassland. Elevation: 20-3120 feet. Bloom: April-August.	HP	The BSA provides suitable coastal prairie habitat. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Dark-eyed gilia (<i>Gilia millefoliata</i>)	—/—/1B.2	Coastal dunes. Elevation: 10-100 feet. Bloom: April-July.	A	Coastal dune habitat is absent. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Short-leaved evax (Hesperevax sparsiflora var.brevifolia)	—/—/1B.2	Coastal bluff scrub (sandy), coastal dunes, and coastal prairie. Elevation: 0-710 feet. Bloom: March-June.	HP	The BSA provides suitable coastal prairie habitat. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (F/S/RPR)	General Habitat Description and Blooming Period	Habitat Assessment ²	Rationale
Seaside pea (<i>Lathyrus japonicus</i>)	—/—/2B.1	Coastal dunes. Elevation: 0-100 feet. Bloom: May-August.	A	Coastal dune habitat is absent. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Marsh pea (<i>Lathyrus palustris</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Bogs and fens, coastal prairie, coastal scrub, lower montane coniferous forest, marshes and swamps, and mesic North Coast coniferous forest. Elevation: 0-330 feet. Bloom: March-August.	HP	Suitable wetland and coastal prairie habitat is present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Ghost-pipe (<i>Monotropa uniflora</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Broad-leafed upland forest, North Coast coniferous forest. Elevation: 30-1800 feet. Bloom: June-August (September).	A	The BSA does not provide suitable forest habitat. Species was not observed botanical field surveys.
Howell's Montia (<i>Montia howellii</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Meadows and seeps, North Coast coniferous forest, vernal pools/vernally mesic, sometimes roadsides. Elevation: 0-2740 feet. Bloom: (February), March- May.	A	The BSA does not provide suitable mesic habitat. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Wolf's evening-primrose (<i>Oenothera wolfii</i>)	—/—/1B.1	Coastal bluff scrub, coastal dunes, coastal prairie, sandy lower montane coniferous forest, usually mesic. Elevation: 10-2620 feet. Bloom: May-October.	HP	The BSA provides suitable coastal prairie habitat. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Dwarf alkali grass (<i>Puccinellia pumila</i>)	—/—/2B.2	Marshes and coastal salt swamps. Elevation: 0-30 feet. Bloom: July.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Siskiyou Checkerbloom (Sidalcea malviflora ssp. patula)	—/—/1B.2	Coastal bluff scrub, coastal prairie, North Coast coniferous forest/often roadcuts. Elevation: 50-2890 feet. Bloom: May-August.	A	The BSA is below the elevational range of the species. The species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Coast Sidalcea (Sidalcea oregana ssp. eximia)	—/—/1B.2	Lower montane coniferous forest, meadows and seeps, North Coast coniferous forest. Elevation: 20-4400 feet. Bloom: June-August.	A	Coniferous forest is not present. The species was not observed during botanical field surveys.
Western sand-spurrey (Spergularia canadensis var. occidentalis)	//2.1	Marshes and coastal salt swamps. Elevation: 0-10 feet. Bloom: June-August.	HP	Suitable wetland habitat is present. Species was not observed during botanical field surveys.

Common Name	Status ¹	General Habitat Description	Habitat	Rationale
Scientific Name	(F/S/RPR)	and Blooming Period	Assessment ²	
Alpine marsh violet (<i>Viola palustris</i>)	<i>//</i> 2.2	Serpentine bogs and fens, marshes and swamps. Elevation: 330-3250 feet. Bloom: April-September.	A	None. Serpentine habitat is not present. Species was not observed during the botanical field surveys.

1 Status Codes: Federal Endangered (FE); State Endangered (SE).

RPR Codes and Extensions:

1B Plants rare, threatened, or endangered in California and elsewhere.

2B Plants rare, threatened, or endangered in California but more common elsewhere.

xx.2 Fairly endangered in California

xx.1 Seriously endangered in California

2 Absent (A): No habitat present and no further work needed.

Habitat Present (HP): Habitat is, or may be present. The species may be present.

Present (P): The species is present.

Critical Habitat (CH): BSA is located within a designated critical habitat unit, but does not necessarily mean that appropriate habitat is present.

.

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (Fed/State)	General Habitat Description	Habitat Assessment ²	Rationale
		Federal or State Listed Specie	S	
Southern DPS green sturgeon (<i>Acipenser medirostris</i>) Critical Habitat	FT/SSC	Anadromous species that spawn and rear in freshwater rivers. Preferred spawning substrate is large cobble, but can range from clean sand to bedrock. The southern DPS occur south of the Eel River. Humboldt Bay is designated Critical Habitat for this species.	A	The BSA is outside the known range of this DPS. The BSA is outside of the boundaries of Critical Habitat for this species.
Tidewater goby (Eucyclogobius newberryi)	FE/SSC	Shallow lagoons and coastal streams with brackish to fresh and slow-moving or fairly still water.	HP	The BSA is within the current known range of this species and has been documented near the action area.
Southern Oregon Northern California Coasts ESU coho salmon (<i>Oncorhynchus kisutch</i>) Critical Habitat/Essential Fish Habitat	FT/ST, SSC	Spawn and rear in freshwater rivers and streams. Juveniles prefer deep (> 1 m) pools with dense overhead cover, and clear water. Found over a range of substrates from silt to bedrock. Requires cool water temperatures for spawning, egg- incubation, and juvenile rearing. Spawn in riffles with gravel and cobble substrates.	P, CH	SONCC coho salmon are known to occur in Humboldt Bay tributaries, including Swain Slough. Swain Slough in the action area is designated critical habitat.
Northern California DPS steelhead (<i>Oncorhynchus mykiss</i>) Critical Habitat/Essential Fish Habitat	T/SSC	Spawn and rear in freshwater rivers and streams. Juveniles prefer deep (> 1 m) pools with dense overhead cover, and clear water. Requires cool water temperatures for spawning, egg-incubation and juvenile rearing. Spawn in riffles with gravel and cobble substrates. This DPS occurs in coastal streams from Redwood Creek south to the Russian River. Adults migrate upstream during the fall and spawn from December to April.	Ρ	No established spawning population off NC steelhead occurs in the Swain Slough watershed; but this species does occur in the Elk River and Humboldt Bay. Swain Slough in the action area is designated critical habitat.
California Coastal ESU Chinook salmon (<i>Oncorhynchus</i> <i>tshawytscha</i>) Critical Habitat/Essential Fish Habitat	T/—	Spawn and rear in freshwater rivers and streams. Requires cool water temperatures for spawning, egg-incubation and juvenile rearing. Spawn in riffles with gravel and cobble substrates. The California Coastal ESU includes occurs in rivers and streams south of the Klamath River to the Russian River.	Ρ	No established spawning population off CC Chinook salmon occurs in Swain Slough watershed and it is not designated critical habitat; but this species does occur in the Elk River and Humboldt Bay (both of which are designated critical habitat).

Table C-2. Review of Regionally Occurring Special-Status Animal Species

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (Fed/State)	General Habitat Description	Habitat Assessment ²	Rationale
Longfin smelt (<i>Spirinchus thaleichthys</i>)	—/ST, SSC	Adult and juvenile longfin smelt occur in salt or brackish water within estuaries of major rivers. Spawning occurs in fresh water over sandy, gravelly, or areas vegetated with aquatic vegetation. In California, occur in Sacramento-San Joaquin estuary, Humboldt Bay, the Eel River estuary, and the Klamath River estuary. Not known from the Smith River.	HP	No suitable spawning habitat in BSA, but known to occur in Humboldt Bay.
Southern eulachon DPS (<i>Thaleichthys pacificus</i>)	FT/SSC	Spend most of their life in salt water. Spawning occurs in the lower reaches of rivers or tributaries with small gravel or in semi-sandy areas with debris.	HP	No suitable spawning habitat in BSA, but known to occur in Humboldt Bay.
Marbled murrelet (<i>Branchyramphus</i> <i>marmoratus</i>) Critical Habitat	FT/SE	Marine subtidal and pelagic habitats; requires dense, mature forests of redwood and Douglas-fir for breeding.	A	The BSA does not support suitable mature forest to support breeding.
Western snowy plover (Charadrius alexandrinus nivosus) Critical Habitat	FT/SSC	Nesting and foraging habitat is the sandy marine and estuarine shorelines. Occurs along the California Coast in Humboldt County.	A	BSA does not provide suitable breeding habitat and is not within designated critical habitat. Currently known to nest on Clam Beach, the south spit of Humboldt Bay, on the Eel River sandpits, and on gravel bars along the lower Eel River.
Western yellow-billed cuckoo (Coccyzus americanus)	PT/SE	Nesting habitat is cottonwood/willow riparian forest. In California, occurs in scattered Sacramento Valley riparian forests. Also occurs at one known location (Cock Robin Island) on the North Coast.	A	The small area of riparian habitat within the BSA is not extensive enough to support this species.
Bald eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus)	FD/SE, SFP	Forages on live and dead fish and nests in large trees or snags. Requires large bodies of water, including ocean shorelines, lake margins, and large, open river courses for foraging, nesting, and wintering habitat.	A	Swain Slough and Marten Slough are too small to support foraging, and no nesting trees occur within or near the BSA. The nearest CNDDB record of a bald eagle nest is 13 miles east northeast on the Mad River.

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (Fed/State)	General Habitat Description	Habitat Assessment ²	Rationale
California clapper rail (<i>Rallus longirostris</i> obsoletus)	FE/SE	Tidewater and brackish marshes, and coastal sloughs in the San Francisco Bay area. Also present in scattered locations inland.	A	The wetlands and the two sloughs provide suitable foraging but extensive marsh habitat suitable for nesting is absent from the BSA and surrounding area. Humboldt County CNDDB occurrences from 1930's are extirpated.
Northern spotted owl (<i>Strix occidentalis</i> <i>caurina</i>)	FT/SCT, SSC	In northern California, resides in large stands of old growth, multi-layered mixed conifer, redwood, and Douglas-fir habitats	A	The BSA does not support suitable nesting or foraging habitat for the species.
Critical Habitat				
Other Special-Status Species				
		Fish		
Pacific-northern DPS green sturgeon (<i>Acipenser medirostris</i>)	FSC/SSC	Spawn and rear in freshwater rivers. Preferred spawning substrate is large cobble, but can range from clean sand to bedrock.	A	The BSA is outside the known range of this DPS.
Pacific-northern DPS Green sturgeon (<i>Acipenser medirostris</i>)	FSC/SSC	Anadromous species that spawn and rear in freshwater rivers. In California, spawning occurs in the Sacramento, Klamath, and Eel Rivers, and the Rogue in Oregon. Spawn in deep pools in larger rivers.	A	The BSA does not provide suitable spawing habitat, and the species is not known to occur in Swain Slough or the Elk Creek drainage.
Coastal cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii)	—/SSC	Found in low gradient coastal streams and estuaries. Optimal streams are cool and shady, with a lot of instream cover. Spawn in reaches with small to moderate sized gravels. Must have well oxygenated water with low turbidity. Occur in coastal streams from the Eel River north to the Oregon border.	HP	Swain Slough and Martin Slough provide suitable habitat for the species. The CNDDB shows a record of the species occurring in both sloughs.
	_	Amphibians	-	-
Pacific tailed frog (Ascaphus truei)	—/SSC	Restricted to perennial montane streams. Montane hardwood-conifer, redwood, Douglas-fir, ponderosa pine habitats.	А	Montane streams not present in the BSA.

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (Fed/State)	General Habitat Description	Habitat Assessment ²	Rationale
Northern red-legged frog (<i>Rana aurora</i>)	—/SSC	Found in humid forests, woodlands, grasslands, ponds, and streams in northwestern California. Generally near permanent water, but can be found far from water. In damp woods and meadows during non-breeding season.	HP	The BSA provides suitable ponded (upland ditches) and moist habitat types to support this species. Nearest CNDDB record is 1.5 miles southeast of the BSA in similar habitat type.
Foothill yellow-legged frog (<i>Rana boylii</i>)	—/SSC	Requires partly shaded, shallow streams and riffles with a rocky substrate in a variety of habitats. Need at least some cobble-sized substrate for egg laying.	A	The BSA does not support suitable rocky stream habitat to support this species.
Southern torrent salamander (<i>Rhyacotriton variegatus</i>)	—/SSC	In California, this species occurs throughout humid coastal drainages from near Pt. Arena in southern Mendocino Co., to the Oregon border along the coast and inland into the Cascade Mountains. Found in shallow, cold, clear, well-shaded streams, waterfalls and seepages, particularly those running through talus and under rocks all year, in mature to old-growth forests	A	The BSA does not provide suitable clear, cold aquatic habitat and talus to support this species.
	1	Reptiles	•	
Western pond turtle (<i>Actinemys marmorata</i>)	—/SSC	Slow water aquatic habitat with emergent vegetation, or vegetated banks, and available basking sites. Hatchlings require shallow water with dense submergent or short emergent vegetation. Require an upland oviposition site in the vicinity of the aquatic site. Pond turtles are not tolerant of salt-water environments.	A	The brackish water chemistry of the streams within the BSA are not suitable for this species.
		Birds		
California brown pelican (<i>Pelecanus occidentalis</i> <i>californicus</i>)	FD/SD, FP	Nest on coastal islands of small to moderate size which afford immunity from attack by ground- dwelling predators. Roost on coastal islands and open beaches.	А	Brown pelicans use Humboldt Bay extensively in the non-breeding season for foraging, loafing, and roosting habitat. No nesting sites are known north of Monterey Bay.
white-tailed kite (<i>Elanus leucurus</i>)	—/FP	White-tailed kites are locally common residents and breeders in northern California, especially in agricultural and riparian areas of the coastal plain.	HP	Foraging and potential nesting habitat is present and the species has been observed in the BSA.

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (Fed/State)	General Habitat Description	Habitat Assessment ²	Rationale
northern harrier (<i>Circus cyaneus</i>)	—/SSC	Harriers are found primarily in open grassland habitats, primarily lowland pastures and marshlands of the coastal plain.	HP	Foraging and potential nesting habitat is present and the species has been observed in the BSA.
short-eared owl (<i>Asio flammeus</i>)	—/SSC	Occupy open habitats such as overgrown grasslands and scrub, prairies, meadows, dunes, irrigated lands, ungrazed pastures, and both fresh and saltwater marshes.	HP	Migrant and winter visitors and accidental breeders in northwestern California. Suitable habitat is present in the BSA, and they are known from wetland and agricultural areas surrounding Humboldt Bay.
Yellow-breasted chat (<i>Icteria virens</i>)	—/SSC	Breeds in riparian habitats having dense understory vegetation, such as willow and blackberry.	HP	Riparian vegetation in northeast corner of BSA provides suitable nesting and foraging habitat.
Yellow-breasted chat (<i>Icteria virens</i>)	—/SSC	Breeds in riparian habitats having dense understory vegetation, such as willow and blackberry.	HP	Riparian vegetation in northeast corner of BSA provides suitable nesting and foraging habitat.
Yellow warbler (Setophaga petechia brewsteri)	—/SSC	Breeds in riparian woodlands, particularly those dominated by willows and cottonwoods.	HP	Riparian vegetation in northeast corner of BSA provides suitable nesting and foraging habitat.
		Mammals		
Pallid bat (<i>Antrozous pallidus</i>)	—/SSC	Forages over many habitats; roosts in buildings, large oaks or redwoods, rocky outcrops and rocky crevices in mines and caves, and under bridges. Roosts must protect from high temperatures	A	BSA does not provide suitable roosting (cave, cavern, or large crevice) habitat.
White-footed vole (<i>Arborimus albipes</i>)	—/SSC	Occurs in mature coastal forests near clear streams with well-developed riparian communities in Humboldt and Del Norte Counties.	A	Mature forests do not occur within the BSA.
Sonoma tree vole (<i>Arborimus pomo</i>)	—/SSC	Mature Douglas-fir, redwood, and mixed evergreen trees in fog belt.	А	Suitable mature forest habitat is not present in the BSA.
Townsend's big-eared bat (Corynorhinus townsendii)	—/SSC	Roosts in colonies in caves, mines, tunnels, or buildings in mesic habitats. The species forages along habitat edges, gleaning insects from bushes and trees. Habitat must include appropriate roosting, maternity and hibernacula sites free from disturbance by humans.	A	BSA does not provide suitable roosting (cave, cavern, or large crevice) habitat.

Common Name Scientific Name	Status ¹ (Fed/State)	General Habitat Description	Habitat Assessment ²	Rationale
Western red bat (<i>Lasiurus blossevillii</i>)	—/SSC	Typically roost solitarily in dense tree foliage, particularly in willows, cottonwoods, and sycamores. Typically found in riparian habitats, particularly mature stands of cottonwood/sycamore near openings over meadows. May hibernate in the duff under the deciduous riparian roost trees.	A	The BSA lacks suitable riparian and other deciduous roosting trees.
Humboldt marten (<i>Martes caurina</i> <i>humboldtensis</i>)	—/SSC	Humboldt marten occur in the coastal redwood forest belt from southern Oregon to Sonoma County. They are associated with mature conifer forests, and use riparian areas and stream channels as travel corridors.	A	The BSA lacks mature forest cover and does not provide suitable denning habitat.

1 Federal and State Codes: Federal Endangered (FE); Federal Threatened (FT); Federal Proposed (FP); Federal Candidate (FC), Federal Delisted (FD); Federal Species of Concern (FSC); State Endangered (SE); State Threatened (ST); State Rare (SR); State Delisted (SD); State Fully Protected (SFP); State Species of Special Concern (SSC).

2 Absent (A): No habitat present and no further work needed. Habitat Present (HP): Habitat is, or may be present. The species may be present. Present (P): The species is present.

PLANTS OBSERVED AT THE PINE HILL ROAD BRIDGE REPLACEMENT PROJECT BSA HUMBOLDT COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

Scientific Name	Common Name	Family	Nativity ¹
Achillea millefolium	yarrow	Asteraceae	Native
Agrostis stolonifera	creeping bent	Poaceae	Naturalized
Angelica lucida	seacoast	Apiaceae	Native
Avena fatua	wild oat	Poaceae	Naturalized
Baccharis pilularis ssp. pilularis	coyote brush	Asteraceae	Native
Berberis sp.	Oregon grape	Berberidaceae	Native
Briza maxima	rattlesnake grass	Poaceae	Naturalized
Carex lyngbyei ²	Lyngbye's sedge	Cyperaceae	Native
Chenopodium album	lamb's quarters	Chenopodiaceae	Naturalized
Cirsium vulgare	bull thistle	Asteraceae	Naturalized
Cotula coronopifolia	brass-buttons	Asteraceae	Naturalized
Cynodon dactylon	bermuda grass	Poaceae	Naturalized
Daucus carota	queen Anne's lace	Apiaceae	Naturalized
Deschampsia cespitosa ssp. cespitosa	tufted hairgrass	Poaceae	Native
Drymocallis glandulosa var. wrangelliana	sticky cinquefoil	Rosaceae	Native
Eleocharis macrostachya	spikerush	Cyperaceae	Native
Equisetum arvense	common horsetail	Equisetaceae	Native
Festuca arundinacea	tall fescue	Poaceae	Naturalized
Festuca perennis	rye grass	Poaceae	Naturalized
Foeniculum vulgare	fennel	Apiaceae	Naturalized
Grindelia stricta	gumweed	Asteraceae	Native
Helminthotheca echioides	bristly ox-tongue	Asteraceae	Naturalized
Heracleum maximum	cow parsnip	Apiaceae	Native
Holcus lanatus	common velvet grass	Poaceae	Naturalized
Hordeum brachyantherum	meadow barley	Poaceae	Naturalized
Hordeum marinum ssp. gussoneanum	Mediterranean barley	Poaceae	Naturalized
Hypochaeris radicata	rough cat's-ear	Asteraceae	Naturalized
Juncus bufonius	toad rush	Juncaceae	Native
Juncus effusus	soft rush	Juncaceae	Native
Leontodon taraxacoides	lesser hawkbit	Asteraceae	Naturalized
Leucanthemum vulgare	ox-eye daisy	Asteraceae	Naturalized
Lonicera involucrata var. Iedebourii	coast twinberry	Caprifoliaceae	Native
Lotus corniculatus	bird's-foot trefoil	Fabaceae	Naturalized
Lupinus sp.	lupine	Fabaceae	Native
Matricaria discoidea	pineapple weed	Asteraceae	Naturalized
Plantago lanceolata	English plantain	Plantaginaceae	Naturalized
Plantago maritima	goose tongue	Plantaginaceae	Native
Poa palustris	fowl blue grass	Poaceae	Naturalized
Poa pratensis	Kentucky bluegrass	Poaceae	Naturalized

Sarah Tona and Julian Colescott, Field Visit Dates: July 29–30, 2013

Scientific Name	Common Name	Family	Nativity ¹
Pteridium aquilinum var. pubescens	bracken fern	Dennstaedtiaceae	Native
Ranunculus repens	buttercup	Ranunculaceae	Naturalized
Raphanus sativus	radish	Brassicaceae	Naturalized
Rosa sp.	rose	Rosaceae	—
Rubus armeniacus	Himalayan blackberry	Rosaceae	Naturalized
Rumex acetosella	sheep sorrel	Polygonaceae	Naturalized
Rumex crispus	curly dock	Polygonaceae	Naturalized
Salicornia bigelovii	pickleweed	Chenopodiaceae	Native
Salix hookeriana	coastal willow	Salicaceae	Native
Scirpus microcarpus	panicled bulrush	Cyperaceae	Native
Spartina densiflora	dense-flowered cord grass	Poaceae	Naturalized
Spergularia rubra	red sand-spurrey	Caryophyllaceae	Naturalized
Symphyotrichum chilense	Pacific aster	Asteraceae	Native
Trifolium pratense	red clover	Fabaceae	Naturalized
Trifolium repens	white clover	Fabaceae	Naturalized
Triglochin maritima	common arrow-grass	Juncaginaceae	Native
Vicia sp.	vetch	Fabaceae	Naturalized

Notes:

1 Nativity designation per The Jepson Manual, 2nd edition (Baldwin et al. 2012)

2 California Rare Plant Rank (CRPR) 2.2

Appendix EDelineation of Waters of the
United States and State

Pine Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project

Delineation of Waters of the United States



November 2013

Prepared for:

Humboldt County Department of Public Works 1106 Second Street Eureka, CA 95501-0579 (707) 445-7741

Prepared by:



5000 Bechelli Lane, Suite 203 Redding, California 96002 (530) 222-5347 FAX: (530) 222-4958

NSR Project No. 51473

Delineation of Waters of the United States Pine Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project

Humboldt County, California Township 4 North, Range 1 West, Section 4 USGS Eureka, California 7.5-Minute Quadrangle 01-HUM-CR-0 BRLO 5904 (112)

November 2013

STATE OF CALIFORNIA Department of Transportation

Prepared by:

Julian Colescott, Professional Wetland Scientist (530) 926-3595, Ext. 201 North State Resources, Inc. 5000 Bechelli Lane, Suite 203, Redding, CA 96002

Local Agency Approved By:

Hundschul

Date: October 15, 2015

Andrew Bundschuh, Project Manager Humboldt County Department of Public Works (707) 445-7741

Caltrans Approved By:

Date: _____

Steven Hansen, Associate Environmental Planner (707) 445-6410 District 1, Caltrans Office of Local Assistance

Caltrans SEP Approved By:

Date:

Brandon Larsen, Senior Environmental Planner (707) 445-6410 District 1, Caltrans Office of Local Assistance

Pine Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project

Delineation of Waters of the United States

1.	Summary				
2. Project Location					
	2.1	Acreage			
	2.2	Proximity to Major Highways and Streets			
3.	Environmen	tal Setting2			
	3.1	Current/Recent Land Use			
	3.2	Site Topography and Elevation			
	3.3	Climate			
	3.4	Hydrology/Hydrologic Features			
	3.5	Soil Map Units			
	3.6	Vegetation Communities			
4.	Methods				
	4.1	Field Delineation			
5.	Results and	Discussion7			
6.	Conclusion				
7.	References				

Tables

Table 1.	Acreage Summary		. 1	1
----------	-----------------	--	-----	---

Figures

-		
Figure 1.	Project Location	. 3
Figure 2.	Soils	. 5
Figure 3.	Waters of the United States	. 8
Figure 4.	Waters of the United States (Black and White Reproduction Figure)	.9

Appendices

Appendix A	Routine Wetland Determination Data Forms
Appendix B	Representative Photographs

1. Summary

On behalf Quincy Engineering, and the Humboldt County Department of Public Works (County), North State Resources, Inc. (NSR) conducted a delineation of waters of the United States occurring in the approximately 2.39-acre Pine Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project biological study area (study area). The study area is located south of the city of Eureka, Humboldt County, California.

The field delineation was conducted on July 29, 2013. A total of 0.989 acre of waters of the United States was mapped within the study area. Waters of the United States occur as seasonal wetland (0.505 acre), vegetated ditch (0.197 acre), perennial stream (0.287 acre, 387 feet).

The purpose of this delineation is to document and describe waters of the United States in order to support a Preliminary Jurisdictional Determination from the United States Army Corps of Engineers (Corps). This delineation of waters of the United States is subject to initial review and approval by the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) and verification by the Corps, San Francisco District. NSR advises all parties to treat the information contained herein as preliminary until the Corps provides written verification of the boundaries of its jurisdiction.

2. Project Location

The study area is located south of the city of Eureka, Humboldt County, California, southeast of the intersection of U.S. Highway 101 and Herrick Road (Attachment A, Figure 1). Specifically, the study area is located along Pine Hill Road, east of the Pine Hill/Elk River Road intersection. The study area is shown on the *Eureka, California* U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 7.5-minute topographic quadrangle; the bridge is identified by the following coordinates: Township 4 North, Range 1 West, Section 4, Humboldt Base and Meridian, and Latitude 40.752536 North by Longitude -124.182588 West, WGS84 datum.

2.1 Acreage

The study area encompasses approximately 2.39 acres.

2.2 Proximity to Major Highways and Streets

To find the study area from downtown Eureka, California, drive south on U.S. Route 101 to exit 702. Go east on Herrick Road for 0.1 mile, then turn south on Elk River Road. Turn left on Pine Hill Road and into the study area (Figure 1).

1

The study area is located in the coastal plain at the confluence of Swain Slough and Martin Slough. Swain Slough flows approximately 0.5 mile northeast before joining the Elk River, which drains directly into Humboldt Bay. Swain Slough is subject to the rise and fall of the tides, but there is a tidal gate preventing normal tidewaters from entering Martin Slough. Low levees are present along the banks of Swain Slough that prevent normal high water from entering the surrounding flat coastal plain. Pine Hill Road is also elevated several feet above the normal high tide level, but according to local residents, the road floods periodically in winter.

3.1 Current/Recent Land Use

Land use in the area is a mix of privately owned rural and residential parcels. The open grassland northwest, southwest, and southeast of the bridge is grazed by cattle, including the lands south of Pine Hill Road that are owned by the North Coast Regional Land Trust. One residence is located in the northeast section of the study area.

3.2 Site Topography and Elevation

The elevation within the study area is between approximately 8 and 12 feet above mean sea level, with the highest point being northeast of the bridge. The topography of the study area is nearly level with the exceptions of the levees around Swain Slough, the elevated Pine Hill Road, and the excavated ditches. The northeast corner of the study area is gently sloped at the base of a small bluff.

3.3 Climate

The climate within the study area as described below is based on information provided in the *Atlas of the Biodiversity of California* (California Department of Fish and Game 2003), historical data collected between 1948 and 2005 at Eureka, Humboldt County, California (Western Regional Climate Center 2013), and on National Weather Service statistics as reported on the Weather Underground website (Weather Underground 2013):

- *Type*: The climate within the study area is characterized by a Mediterranean Summer Fog with cool wet winters and cool foggy summers (California Department of Fish and Game 2003).
- *Precipitation*: Average annual precipitation is approximately 39.5 inches. Most precipitation falls as rain between the months of October and April (Western Regional Climate Center 2013).
- *Air Temperature*: Air temperatures range between an average January high of 55 degrees Fahrenheit (°F), and an average September high of 63 °F. The year-round average high temperature is approximately 59 °F (Western Regional Climate Center 2013).
- *Growing Season*: The growing season (i.e., 50 percent probability of air temperature 28 °F or higher) is 365 days. The soil temperature regime is Isomesic (mean soil temperature of about



North State Resources, Inc.

Figure 1 Biological Study Area Location and Vicinity

⁻ Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project

46 °F with minimal fluctuation between summer and winter) (Western Regional Climate Center 2013).

• *Current Weather Condition:* No rain fell in the ten days prior to the July 30, 2013 field visit (Weather Underground 2013). The most recent rains, totaling 0.84 inch, fell between June 1 and June 20, 2013, approximately six weeks prior to the field visit.

3.4 Hydrology/Hydrologic Features

The study area is situated in the coastal plain at the base of a bluff and the foothills of the Coast Range that rise to the northeast. Swain Slough drains to Humboldt Bay, via the Elk River. Pine Hill Road is lined by roadside ditches west of the bridge. These ditches lead to larger ditches that parallel the west bank of Swain Slough.

3.5 Soil Map Units

The USDA National Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) Web Soil Survey reports the soil survey of the area has not been completed (i.e., "NOTCOM") (Figure 2).

3.6 Vegetation Communities

The vegetation communities within the study area include wet meadow, montane riparian (Meyer and Laudenslayer 1988), the roadway, and the two sloughs.

The wet meadow community occurs west of the bridge on both the north and south sides of Pine Hill Road, and east of the bridge south of the road. This herbaceous plant community is grazed by cattle and appears to be seasonally wet, with ponded water evident in winter photographs reviewed as part of this report. Drier conditions occur in the summer months. Dominant plant species observed in the wet meadow community include: tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea*), velvetgrass (*Holcus lanatus*), Bermudagrass (*Cynodon dactylon*), creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera*), bird's-foot trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus*), rye grass (*Festuca perennis*), red and white clover (*Trifolium pratense, T. repens*), buttercup (*Ranunculus repens*), Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis*), queen Anne's lace (*Daucus carota*), sticky cinquefoil (*Drymocallis glandulosa*), and brass-buttons (*Cotula coronopifolia*). The grazing activities have produced several large wallows (depressions) and cattle droppings. The area has several irrigation/drainage ditches that crisscross the community.

The montane riparian community is present only in a small area northeast of the bridge, between Swain Slough and a house located north of the narrower eastern end of the study area. This community is an impenetrable patch of vegetation, dominated by Himalayan blackberry (*Rubus armeniacus*), coast twinberry (*Lonicera involucrata*), Oregon grape (*Berberis* sp.), coyote brush (*Baccharis pilularis*), coastal willow (*Salix hookeriana*), cow parsnip (*Heracleum maximum*), and rose (*Rosa sp.*). This community is sloped toward Swain Slough and is well drained.

The roadway includes the paved road surface, the shoulders and the ditches on either side of the road. The road is built on a road base that is slightly elevated above the level of the wet meadow described above, and the ditches are excavated to a depth of several feet below the elevation of the surrounding wet meadow. Barbed wire fence is constructed at the outer edges of the Pine Hill Road easement, and



there is a slight rise between the roadside ditches and the fence that is largely vegetated by coyote brush, tufted hair grass (*Deschampsia cespitosa* ssp *cespitosa*), and lamb's quarters (*Chenopodium album*). The ditch vegetation is more emergent due to the continuously saturated conditions found there. Species observed in the ditch include: saltwort (*Salicornia bigelovii*), arrow grass (*Triglochin maritima*), tall fescue, lamb's quarters, and brass-buttons.

Small reaches of both Swain Slough and Martin Slough occur within the study area. Swain Slough is an approximately 60- to 80-foot-wide water feature that drains the eastern portion of the Elk River floodplain and the surrounding hills to the east (see Figure 1). Waters within the feature are assumed to be brackish based on observed low-tide flow (i.e., fresh water) going out to Humboldt Bay, and high-tide flow (salt water) filling the feature as it flows inland. The feature has an unvegetated mud bottom except near the banks, where it is vegetated with Lyngbye's sedge (*Carex lyngbyei*) and dense flowered cordgrass (*Spartina densiflora*) within the ordinary high water mark (OHWM).

Martin Slough is very similar to Swain Slough in that it is an unvegetated mud bottom feature except for the banks near the OHWM, which are also vegetated with Lyngbye's sedge and dense flowered cordgrass. The difference between the two sloughs is that the reach of Martin Slough within the study area has been channelized and is straight, and the tidal influence is limited by a tide gate located at the confluence with Swain Slough.

4. Methods

4.1 Field Delineation

The on-site routine delineation of wetlands and other waters of the United States was based on field observations of positive indicators for wetland vegetation, hydrology, and soils; and indicators of an OHWM. This methodology is consistent with the approach outlined in the *Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual* (Environmental Laboratory 1987), and the *Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region* (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 2010). Taxonomic nomenclature for plant species is in accordance with *The Jepson Manual: Vascular Plants of California* (Baldwin et al. 2012). Wetland indicator status for plant species was confirmed using *The National Wetland Plant List* (Lichvar 2012), and the "50/20 Rule" was applied to determine plant dominance (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 2010). Presence of primary and secondary wetland hydrology indicators were documented for each wetland feature.

A soil pit was dug in each representative wetland feature. Soil pits were dug to a depth sufficient to document the presence or confirm the absence of hydric soil or hydrology indicators. Soils were examined in order to assess field indicators of hydric soils. Positive indicators of hydric soils were observed in the field in accordance with the criteria outlined in *Field Indicators of Hydric Soils in the United States* (Vasilas et al. 2010). Soil colors were determined using a Munsell[®] soil color chart. At least one set of data points was selected to best represent the wetland feature type and the adjacent uplands. Data points were also placed in suspect areas to confirm wetland or upland status.

6

Other waters are Traditional Navigable Waters and their tributaries. Delineation of other waters was based on presence of an OHWM as defined in Corps regulations (33 CFR 328.3 and 33 CFR 328.4) and whether the feature qualifies as tributary to waters of the United States. Physical characteristics of an OHWM include, but are not limited to, a natural line impressed on the bank, shelving, changes in the character of the soil, destruction of terrestrial vegetation, presence of litter and debris, leaf litter disturbed or washed away, scour, deposition, presence of bed and bank, and water staining. At least one data point was selected to best represent the OHWM of other waters for each other waters type.

Twelve data points were selected to characterize and document each wetland or other water feature type, and the adjacent upland. Field observations were conducted on July 30, 2013.

The boundaries of delineated features and the associated data points were mapped using a Trimble Pathfinder Pro XH Global Positioning System (GPS) capable of sub-foot accuracy. All data points were also mapped using the Trimble GPS unit. The GPS and hand-drawn location data were overlaid onto an aerial photograph of the study area to develop the delineation map.

To assist with project planning, seventeen cross section transects were installed at 50-foot intervals starting 100 feet west of the bridge. Each transect corresponds to the width of the County's right-of-way (i.e., fence to fence). The transect start and end points were recorded with the GPS unit, and the start and end intersect points of each wetland feature along the transects were measured with a meter measuring tape and recorded. The GPS location data and the measurements were overlaid onto the delineation map (Figure 3).

5. Results and Discussion

Three types of wetland features were delineated within the study area including: 1) the two sloughs (totaling 0.287 acres and 387 linear feet); 2) seasonal wetland (0.505 acres); and 3) vegetated ditch (0.197 acres). Representative photographs of the wetland features are provided in Appendix A; wetland determination data forms are provided in Appendix B.

Swain Slough and Martin Slough

The physical characteristics of Swain Slough and Martin Slough are described above. The boundaries of these features were delineated using the three-parameter data collected, focusing on the hydrological indicators. The work spanned the period between low and high tide, so the inflow and retreat of tidal waters was observed. The high tide crest fell very near to the sediment stain on vegetation along the bank; the high water mark was delineated at the upper extent of this staining (Appendix B, Photograph 6).

Data Point (DP) 7 and 8 document Swain Slough and the adjacent seasonal wetland feature. DP 7 documents the vegetated bank of the slough below the high water mark. This location is vegetated with Lyngbye's sedge, and has silty clay hydric soils with a strong sulfidic odor. As mentioned above, the vegetation along the bank is stained by sediment that identifies the high tide level and OHWM. The July tide table for Eureka (available at http://tides.mobilegeographics.com) reveals that

7


	Cross-Section Transect Data										
	Measurements in Meters										
Trans	North	North	Ditch	Gravel	Edge of		Edge of	Gravel	South	Ditch	South
Number	Fence	Start	End	Shoulder	Pavement	Centerline	Pavement	Shoulder	Start	End	Fence
1	0	1.7	3.3	4.5	6.5	9.3	12	13.1	15.3	17.4	18.1
2	0	1.9	3.5	4.8	6.3	9.1	12	13.1	15.3	16.5	17.6
3	0	2.6	4.1	5.3	6.4	9.2	12.1	13.7	15.1	16.8	17.7
4	0	2.8	3.5	4.9	6.3	9.1	12	13.4	14.8	16.1	17
5	0	2.8	4.2	4.8	6.3	9.1	12.2	13.5	14.9	16.2	17.3
6	0	2.5	4	4.8	6.2	9.1	12.3	13.5	15	16.2	17.4
7	0	2.6	3.6	4.5	6.1	9	11.9	13.5	14.7	15.9	17.2
8	0	2.1	3.6	4.8	5.8	8.7	11.7	12.9	14.8	16	17
9	0	1.9	3.3	4.4	5.8	8.6	11.7	13	14.3	15.5	16.4
10	0	1.9	3.5	4.3	5.5	8.5	11.7	12.9	14.4	15.7	16.9
11	0	1.8	3	4.2	5.4	8.4	11.4	12.4	14.2	15.5	16.1
12	0	1.7	3	4	5.4	8.2	11.6	13.1	14.1	15.1	16.5
13	0	1.8	3	3.9	5.5	8.4	11.9	13.4	14.4	15.7	16.7
14	0	1.8	3.4	4.2	5.3	8.4	11.6	13.4	14.2	15.5	16.7
15	0	1.5	2.9	3.8	5	8.7	12.6	14	14.5	16.1	16.9
16	0	2.2	3.4	4.3	5.6	9.3	13.5	15.2	16	17.2	20
17	0	1.8	3.3	4.2	5.7	10.5	16.7	18.4	19.2	21	25.5

Biolog Caltra Fence - Cross Edge ----- Gravel Shoulder --- Centerline

Prepared by:

North State Resources, Inc.

5000 Bechelli Lane Suite 203 Redding, CA 96002 Phone (530) 222-5347 Fax (530) 222-4958 <u>www.nsrnet.com</u>

Prepared for: Humboldt County Public Works 1106 Second Street Eureka, CA 95501-0579 Attn: Andrew Bundschuh, Senior Environmental Analyst (Phone) (707) 445-7741 (Fax) (707) 445-7409

Notes:

Delineator: Julian Colescott (PWS No. 1920) Delineation Date: July 29, 2013 Orthophotography: Bing Maps Aerial

This delineation of waters of the United States is subject to verification by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps). NSR advises all parties that the delineation is preliminary until the Corps provides a written verification.



10			100 100 100		
ALC: NOTE OF	Summary of	Waters of the United	States		
and the second second	Wetlands				
the local division	Label	Туре	Length (ft)	Width (ft)	Acreage
C. P. LANDING	SW 1	Seasonal Wetland			0.032
	SW 2	Seasonal Wetland			0.016
The summer of	SW 3	Seasonal Wetland			0.058
- Company	SW 4	Seasonal Wetland			0.041
10 mar 198	SW 4	Seasonal Wetland			0.079
ALC: NO	500 5	Seasonal Welland			0.028
Contraction of the second	SW 6	Seasonal Wetland			0.205
Contract of the	SW 7	Seasonal Wetland			0.012
	SW 8	Seasonal Wetland			0.113
C E Y		Subtotal			0.505
10.5	VD 1	Vegetated Ditch			0.024
1.965 146	VD 2	Vegetated Ditch			0.07
Real Property lies	VD 2	Vogotated Ditch			0.007
NU. (2013)	VD 3	Vegetated Ditch			0.007
CALCERSON !!	VD 4	Vegetated Ditch			0.022
The second	VD 5	Vegetated Ditch			0.074
Contraction of		Subtotal			0.197
(Bass)	Total Wetlan	ds			0.702
10.0	Other Weters				
ALC: NOT	Other waters	-			
and the second second	Label	Туре	Length (ft)	Width (ft)	Acreage
6 7 C C 200	PS 1	Perennial Stream	115	51-67	0.149
	PS 2	Perennial Stream	272	21-26	0.138
	1	Subtotal			0.287
Contraction of					
	Total Other V	Vaters			0.287
L	Total	14	-	199	0.989
E.	Total		STR	L'all	0.989
6	VD3			Road	0.989
	VD3		ainet	Aill Road	0.989
	VD3		Pinet	Aill Road	0.989
	VD3 5 -6		Pinet	HIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough	VD3 5 6		Pinet	Aill Road	0.989
rtin Slough	Total		Pine F	Aill Road	0.989
rtin Slough	VD3 5 		Pine F	HIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough	VD3 5 -6		Pinet	AIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough	Total		Pine F	AIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough	Total		Pinet	HII Road	0.989
rtin Slough	VD3 5 -6		Pinet	All Road	0.989
rtin Slough	Total		Pinet	AIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough	Total		Pine F	AIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough	Total		Pinet	ill Road	0.989
rtin Slough SW8	Total		Pinet	ill Road	0.989
rtin Slough SW8	Total	 3-Parama 	Pine h	AIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough	Total	 3-Paramu Culvert 	Pine t	AIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough SW8	Total	 3-Parama Culvert 	Pine f	AIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough SW8	Total	 3-Parame Culvert 	Pine t	AIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough SW8	Total	 3-Parama Culvert Waters of the 	Pine t Pine t	AIII Road	0.989
rtin Slough SW8 Study Area (2 oproved APE	Total	 3-Parama Culvert Waters of the Watando 	Pine h Pine h eter Data	AIII Road Point d States	0.989
rtin Slough SW8	Total	 3-Parama Culvert Waters of the Wetlands 	Pine f	AIII Road	0.989

--- Vordinary High Water Mark

Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project

Other Waters

Vegetated Ditch (0.197 acre)

Perennial Stream (0.287 acre)

Figure 3 Waters of the United States October 15, 2013



SW3



2013-10-15

2013-08-21

<u>(</u>

SW1

VD1

Summary of	Waters of the United	States		
vvetiands				
Label	lype	Length (ft)	Width (ft)	Acreage
SW 1	Seasonal Wetland			0.032
SW 2	Seasonal Wetland			0.016
SW 3	Seasonal Wetland			0.058
SW 4	Seasonal Wetland			0.041
SW 5	Seasonal Wetland			0.028
SW 6	Seasonal Wetland			0.205
SW 7	Seasonal Wetland			0.012
SW 8	Seasonal Wetland			0.113
	Subtotal			0.505
VD 1	Vegetated Ditch			0.024
VD 2	Vegetated Ditch			0.07
VD 3	Vegetated Ditch			0.007
VD 4	Vegetated Ditch			0.022
VD 5	Vegetated Ditch			0.074
	Subtotal			0.197
Total Wetland	ds			0.702
Other Wet				
Other waters	T	Law with (B)	\A/:-141- /A	A
Label	Iype	Length (ft)	vvidtn (ft)	Acreage
PS 1	Perennial Stream	115	51-67	0.149
PS 2	Perennial Stream	272	21-26	0.138
	Subtotal			0.287
Total Other M	latore			0.297
Total	aters			0.207
Total				0.989

Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project

Figure 4 Waters of the United States October 15, 2013 the afternoon high tide on July30, 2013 was 6.91 feet, 1.70 feet lower than the high tide for the month of 8.61 feet, which occurred nine days earlier on July 21.

For the purposes of this wetland delineation, the OHWM of Swain Slough is considered the upper most staining on the streambank vegetation (Appendix B, Photograph 6). This level of inundation likely occurs several times per year or more frequently depending on the tides. Looking under the bridge, sediment deposits and water stains indicating high tide or high freshwater flows are evident almost at the bottom of the bridge decking (Appendix B, Photograph 10). Stream flow data could not be located for Swain Slough, but residents of the area walking past the project site were interviewed, and reported that Pine Hill Road floods occasionally and becomes impassible. These higher flows are assumed to be "flooding events" that are above the OHWM that occurs at the high tide level.

The seasonal wetland documented by DP 8 is actually the top of the levee adjacent Swain Slough. The height of the OHWM is approximately two feet lower than the top of this levee (Appendix B, Photograph 7). This level of inundation, or perhaps the higher levels of inundation occurring with the 8.61-foot tides, appears to hydrate the feature sufficiently to maintain facultative hydrophytic vegetation, wetland hydrology (oxidized root channels), and hydric soils (depleted matrix). The seasonal wetland is further described below.

Physically, Martin Slough is similar to Swain Slough, but Martin Slough drains a larger watershed east of the study area, and has the tide gates preventing daily tidal influx. Data points 2 and 3 document Martin Slough and the adjacent upland near Pine Hill Road. Data point 1 documents the transition to seasonal wetland south of Martin Slough. The OHWM of Martin Slough is not as evident due to the blockage of tidal flows by the tide gates. Instead of sediment staining from tidal flows, shelving and changes in vegetation indicate the OHWM (Appendix B, Photograph 2).

Seasonal Wetland

Seasonal wetland occurs west of the bridge north and south of Pine Hill Road. The seasonal wetland terminates at the roadside ditch on both sides of the road. Seasonal wetland is also present east of the bridge, south of Martin Slough. The seasonal wetland was documented by DPs 1, 8, 9, 10, and 11. Data point 1 documents dominance of facultative plant species (e.g., tall fescue, rye grass, and white clover), hydric soils indicated by the depleted matrix, and marginal wetland hydrology met by oxidized root channels.

Data point 8 is described above. The significance of DP 8 is that it is located on top of the low levee next to Swain Slough and still meets the three-parameter wetland definition. The soils in that location have clay loam consistency. Smaller soil particle size results in greater capillary flow, and the wetland indicators observed at this location are assumed present due to capillary flow during high water (i.e., high tide or high winter flows) events.

Data points 9, 10, and 11 describe the seasonal wetland north of Pine Hill Road, west of the bridge. These data points document conditions on a small topographic rise west of DP 10 and north of DP 12. The rise corresponds with the line of coyote brush that parallels the roadside ditch, and is relatively narrow except in the vicinity of DP 9 where the rise is also found in the grassland north of the fence line. At DP 9 and DP 11, hydric soil indicators (depleted matrix) are present but hydrophytic vegetation is not, and this small area is shown on Figure 3 as a non-wetland on Figure 3.

Vegetated Ditch

Vegetated ditches occur in two locations: west of the bridge along the north and south sides of Pine Hill Road, and east of the bridge on the north side of the road. The ditches west of the bridge (VD1, VD2, VD3, and VD4) are one to two feet deep, vegetated, and had small pools of standing water during the July 30, 2013 site visit. Data point 12 is representative of conditions in the ditches on the west side of the bridge, and documents the dominance of obligate plant species (i.e., saltwort, arrowgrass), wetland hydrology indicators including ponding and saturation within the upper 12 inches, and hydric soils that released a hydrogen sulfide odor upon shovel entry. An OHWM was not observed in these ditches, and they are considered wetlands, not "other waters."

The vegetated ditch on the east side of the bridge (VD 5) is very different from the ditches on the west side of the bridge, because it occurs within a very shallow depression, the vegetation is mowed, and it is not clearly evident or well defined as a wetland. During the site visit, there was no ponded water or saturated soils, and the observed plants were facultative wetland species (e.g., tall fescue and buttercup) which are as likely to occur in uplands as they are in wetlands. Pine Hill Road disrupts sheetflow to Martin Slough by being located between the hillslope to the north and Martin Slough to the south. As a result, water ponds in the shallow ditch feature. In addition, a layer of clay occurs at about 16 inches below the soil surface that likely reduces the permeability of the soils helping to hold the shallow inundation that occurs during precipitation events. Hydric soils are indicated by depleted matrix; wetland hydrology is indicated by the presence of oxidized rhizospheres.

Waters of the United States	Total Acreage	Total Linear Feet
Wetlands		
Seasonal Wetland	0.505	N/A
Vegetated Ditch	0.197	N/A
Other Waters		
Perennial Stream	0.287	387
Total Waters of the United States	0.989	387

Table 1. Acreage Summary

6. Conclusion

Waters of the United States delineated within the study area occupy a total of 0.989 acre and include: seasonal wetland, vegetated ditch, and perennial stream.

The determinations concerning waters of the United States, including wetlands, were based on current conditions (i.e., normal circumstances) and made in accordance with relevant U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and Corps guidance. The determinations are subject to verification by the Corps. NSR advises all interested parties to treat the information contained herein as preliminary pending written verification of jurisdictional boundaries by the Corps.

- Baldwin, B. G., D. H. Goldman, R. P. D. J. Keil, T. J. Rosatti, and D. H. Wilken. 2012. The Jepson manual: vascular plants of California. 2nd ed. Berkeley, California: University of California Press.
- California Department of Fish and Game. 2003. Atlas of the biodiversity of California. Sacramento, Resources Agency
- Environmental Laboratory. 1987. Corps of Engineers wetlands delineation manual. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. Report No. Y-87-1.
- Lichvar, R. W. 2012. The National Wetland Plant List (ERDC/CRREL TR-12-11): U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Engineer Research and Development Center, Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory.
- Mayer, K. E., and W. F. Laudenslayer, Jr., eds. 1988. A guide to wildlife habitats of California. Sacramento: California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2010. Regional supplement to the Corps of Engineers wetland delineation manual: western mountains, valleys, and coast region (version 2.0): U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture and National Resources Conservation Service. 2013. *Custom Soil Resources Report for Humboldt County, Central Part, California.* Cooperative Soil Survey, a joint effort of the U.S Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service and other Federal agencies, State agencies including the Agricultural Experiment Stations, and local participants. Available from http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/. (Cited August 15, 2013)
- Vasilas, L. M.,G. W. Hurt, and C. V. Noble, eds. 2010. Field indicators of hydric soils in the United States. A guide for identifying and delineating hydric soils. Version 7.0 ed: USDA, NRCS in cooperation with the National Technical Committee for Hydric Soils.
- Weather Underground. 2013. Weather data for Eureka, California. Available from: http://www.wunderground.com/cgi-bin/findweather/getForecast?query=zmw:95518.1.99999. Accessed on August 15, 2013.
- Western Regional Climate Center. 2013. Eureka WSO City, California (042910) Climate Summary: Monthly Climate Summary 7/1/1948 to 11/30/2005. Available from http://www.wrcc.dri.edu. (Cited August 15, 2013)

APPENDIX A

Routine Wetland Determination Data Forms

Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Repl	acement	City/County: Humb	oldt Date: 7/29/
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Dep	partment	of Public W	orks State: California
Investigator(s) Julian Colescott		Section	, Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) TERRECE		 Local relief (concave 	, convex_none) Slope %
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat:	40.7525	3.6 Long:_	<u>-124,182588</u> Datum: <u>WGS84</u>
Soil Map Unit Name: NO SOIL data ava	ilable	N	NI Classification: <u>TEM 1 Col</u>
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for t	this time of year?	⊘) N (If no, explain i	n Remarks.)
Are vegetation Y / soil Y / or hydrology Y sigr	nificantly disturbe	ed? Are normal circums	tances present? Y / N
Are vegetation Y /(N/ soil Y /(N- or hydrology Y /(N) nate	urally problemati	c? (If needed, explain	in Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing s	ampling point loo	ations, transects, impor	tant features, etc.)
Hydrophytic vegetation? W/N Hydric soil? N We	etland hydrology	YN Is sampled are	ea a wetland?(Y) N Other waters? Y / N
Adjacent to Waters Is Explain: Tributary to Waters Is Evaluation of features designated "Other V Indicators: Defined bed and bank Sco Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent	solated (with inte Vaters of the our Ordin Enhemeral	Inited States"	apped Stream Width
Natural Drainage Artificial	Ephemeral Drainage	Navigable Water	
Remarks HILLIDRIC FA. OD DELATING	15.04	FLAT + PO	ORLY DRAINED, SOILS HAVE
	a shar	D. Manietis Re	6 Ene where NULADIAN DOL
WAT SEIGN Z PADAMEN	R + 1	PADAMA NE	2 WID CRING214 MGT
		6 . (\$ all	
Venetation (Use Scientific Names)	Abcolute	Dominant Indicator	Dominance Test Worksheet
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:20' <)	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) Total number of dominant species
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator <u>Species?</u> <u>Status</u>	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 7 Total number of dominant species across all strata:
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: <u>3</u> (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: <u>7</u> (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: <u>10</u> O (A/B)
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 Total number of dominant species across all strata: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 1000 (A/B)
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over:	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Total number of dominant species across all strata: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that Image: OBL Species that Image: Percent of the species that
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 7 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 7 (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 100 (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species x1= FACW Species x2 =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 7 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 7 (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 100 (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species x 1 = FACW Species x 2 = FAC Species x 3 =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $\overline{3}$ (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: $\overline{3}$ (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species $x 2 =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> over:	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 3 (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species $x 1'$ = FACW Species $x 2$ = FAC Species $x 3$ = FACU Species $x 4$ = UPL Species $x 5$ =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 3 (B) Percent of dominant species that 7 (B) Percent of dominant species that $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet $10 \circ$ (A/B) OBL Species $x \gamma =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals (A)
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $\overline{3}$ (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: $\overline{7}$ (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $\overline{10} \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species $x 1^{e}$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals (A) Prevalence Index = B/A =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10°) 1. Image: Calibratic Cali	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Description of the speciesPrevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL SpeciesFACW SpeciesX 2 =FACW SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 3 =FACU SpeciesX 4 =UPL SpeciesX 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20° 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 1. Feestuce 2. 2. 2. 3. 7. Feestuce 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. <	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 3 (B) Percent of dominant species that 7 (B) Percent of dominant species that $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet $10 \circ$ (A/B) OBL Species $x 1^{=}$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals (A) Prevalence Index = B/A =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° r) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 1. 50% 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2.	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% S</u> <u>2 S</u> <u>2 S</u> <u>2 S</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FACUX	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:7(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:7(B)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL. FACW, or FAC:10Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Speciesx 2 =FACW Speciesx 2 =FAC Speciesx 3 =FACU Speciesx 4 =UPL Speciesx 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationXDominance Test is >50%
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° r) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 1. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I.	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 3 =FACU SpeciesX 4 =UPL SpeciesX 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is < 3.01
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 2 3 4 50%= Total Co Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 1. <u>Festuca acundinacae</u> 2. <u>Festuca acundinacae</u> 2. <u>Festuca acundinacae</u> 2. <u>Festuca acundinacae</u> 3 5. <u>Lotus cornectatos</u> 6	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>3 5</u> <u>3 6</u> <u>3 7</u> <u>3 5</u> <u>3 6</u> <u>3 7</u> <u>3 7</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:///////////////////////////////////
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Co Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 50%= 20%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 Z0%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 2 Z0%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 3 Z0%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 3 Z0%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 3 Z0%= Z0%= Total Co Sapling	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:7(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:7(B)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:10Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Speciesx 2 =FACW Speciesx 2 =FAC Speciesx 3 =FACU Speciesx 4 =UPL Speciesx 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index for Hydrophytic VegetationXDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.01Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° r) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 1. Festure 3. Trifelyom Cynodon dae tylon 5. Lotys 6. 7. 8.	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 (A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata: 3 (B)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC: 10 (A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species $x 2 =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation 1 (Explain) $10 dirators of hydric scil and wetland hydrology must be a set of the $
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: $20'r$) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Cd Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: $20'r$) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Cd 50%= 20%= Total Cd 50%= 20%= Total Cd A. 50%= 20%= Total Cd A. 50%= 20%= Total Cd A. 50%= 20%= Total Cd 6. 7. 8. 50%= 20%= Total Cd	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>1 2</u> <u>3 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>7 7</u> over: <u>¶ 7</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:// 0 0(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species// ACW Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// UPL Species// A =// UPL Species// A =// DW Species// A =// DW Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DW Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DW Species// A =// DW Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DPL Species// A =// DW Species// A =// DW Species// A =// DW Species// DW Species// DW Species<
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° r) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Solow= 20%= Total Ca 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 1. Festora 3. Trifolion 6. 7. 8. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size: 0.	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>1 2</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>1 2</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>9 7</u> % Cover	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC N FAC Species? Status	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:Image: Percent of dominant species thatTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 4 =UPL SpeciesX 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation 1 (Explain)*Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must_be present.

20112	S	0	il	S
-------	---	---	----	---

Profile Description: (Describe to the depth need	ed to document the indicator or confirm the	absence of indicators.
(inches) Color (moint) %	DX realures	Toyturo Domorko
$\frac{(\text{Incres})}{2}$ $\frac{(\text{color}(\text{moist}))}{2}$ $\frac{\%}{2}$ $\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}$	1000000000000000000000000000000000000	Texture Remarks
0-24" 10112 1/2 00 1012	16 20 0	SICIT COTTO
¹ Types: C = Concentration D = Depletion RM = Re	educed Matrix ² Location: PL = Pore Lin	ning M = Matrix
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, u	inless otherwise noted)	Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils ³
Histosol (A1)	Sandy Redox (S5)	2 cm Muck (A10)
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Stripped Matrix (S6)	Red Parent Materials (TF21)
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy Mucky Mineral (except	Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)
Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA 1) (F1)	Vegetated Sand/Gravel Bars
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)	Loamy Gleved Matrix (F2)	Other (Explain in Remarks)
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Completed Matrix (F3)	
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox Dark Surface (F6)	³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and
Sandy Gleved Matrix (S4)	Depleted Dark Surface (F7)	wetland hydrology must be present.
	Redax Depressions (F8)	
Restrictive Layer (if present): Type:	Depth (Inches) Hyd	Iric Soil Present? Y/ N
Remarks		
HYDRII SOILS.		
Hydrology		
Wetland Indicators		
Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required.	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)
Surface Water (A1)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA 1.2.4A, and 4B)	MLRA 1.2.4A, and 4B)
Saturation (A3)	Salt Crust (B11)	Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1)	Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)	Drv-Season Water Table (C2)
Sediment Deposits (B2)	Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)	Saturation Visible on
Drift Deposits (B3)	Oxidized Bhizospheres (C3)	Aerial Imagery (C9)
Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)	Geomorphic Position (D2)
Iron Denosite (B5)	Recent Iron Reduction in	Shallow Aquitard (D3)
IION Deposits (B3)		EAC-Netural Test (D5)
Sunde Son Clacks (D0)	Stunted or Stressed Plants	Paised Apt Mounds (D6) (I PP A)
		Erect Henry Hummorks (D7)
Imagery (B7)		
Sparsely vegetaled Concave		
Field Observations		
Surface Water Present? Yes No	Depth (inches) Wetlan	d Hydrology
Water Table Present? Yes No K	Depth (inches)	
Saturation Present? Yes No	Depth (inches) (includes capill	lary fringe)
Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitor	ing well, aerial photos, and previous inspections)), it available:
	and the State	

Worth State Resources, Inc. Data Point Determination Data Form-Western Mountains, Valleys, & Coast Region Projective: Pine Hill Bridge Replacement_Op/Comp. Humboldt Date: 2/52//3 Projective: Pine Hill Bridge Replacement_Op/Comp. Humboldt Date: 2/52//3 Immetryorty: Julian Colescott Sector, Tornsho, Rarge Sec. 4, TAN, RJN Indom/hildsprenze, etc.) Load reflection: Non-State W Sold App Unit Name. No. Sold Teat a valiable No. Sold Teat a valiable NV (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Are ungetain // Nile of Vydiogic conditions on the site typical for this time of year? DN (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Are ungetain // Nile of Vydiogic conditions on the site typical for this time of year? DN (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Summary of Findings (Attach site mog.showing sample point locations; threads, inportant for None weeks? (IN) Molescale USACE JuriedCition Apple threads of the United State? MA2DTN 5LOUGH Maguetin Wings Antidia Duninge Molescale Note: Sold of (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Summary of Findings (Attach site mog.showing sample point locations; threads, inportant for the Sold of (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Summary of Findings (Attach site mog.showing sample point locations; threads, inportant for Molescale (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Summary of Findings (Attach site mog.showing sample point locations; threads, inportant for Molescale (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Sumarks (Inc. Apphin Remarks					<u>A</u>
Wetland Determination Data Form-Western Mountains, Valleys, & Coast Region Feature type Diff. (* / 2/24 / 1/2 Projects/lier Pile Hind Bate: Z_Z/J/S Applend/Ower File Hindbold Country Department of Public Works State: California Investigatory: Julian Coll Secott Sector, Tomohi, Range Dec. 4, TAN, RIM Jundfmm (Nilshop renew, chr.) Locat reflect (concave, conver, conver) Stage: A Subregion (LRR): LRR A (at 40, 752536 Long124, 182588 Datum: MGS84 Subregion (LRR): LRR A (at 40, 752536 Long124, 182588 Datum: MGS84 Are vegatation Y (By coll Y(By at bydrology Y (Bylandam) disturted? VIM (and public his famata): Are vegatation Y (By coll Y(Bylandam) y Guluaday public waiter: (Freeded explain in Famata): Summary of Findings (funch them pythony Kameling onth Locations: Inneatch: (Inpotent Waters of the United State" MA(2)TIN SLOUGH /// N Wedgen thy Waters Total Constructions: State reflections: State reflectio	North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point
Projectistic Date 2/21/3 Appleard/Owner_Humboldt Date 2/21/3 Appleard/Owner_Humboldt Calif.Corr.ia Innedigator() Lotal rate Colles Coll Detextransmitter Subragion (LRR) LRR A Lotal rate (corexer, corrus, corr	Wetland Determination Data Form–Wester	n Mounta	ains, Val	leys, & C	Coast Region Feature Type Dire / Stering
Impediation International I	Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County	. Humb	oldt Date 2/25/13
Applications Applications <td< td=""><td>Applicant/Oumer Humboldt County Depart</td><td>tment</td><td>of Put</td><td>iic W</td><td>orks state California</td></td<>	Applicant/Oumer Humboldt County Depart	tment	of Put	iic W	orks state California
Interlay (all products) Diff and any failing back in the state product in the state preduct in the state preduct in the state preduct in the state predu	Application Tulian Colescott	CIIICIIC	QI FUL	Contion	Taurable Parce Sec. 4 T4N RIW
Lational (maske, tank, t	Investigator(s). <u>DUITAIL COLESCOLE</u>		Leastall	_ Section	(Township, Range Beet, 4, 1417, 1417
Subragin Lark Instrume Normal State Normal State Subragin Lark Normal State Normal State Normal State Are dimatchystopic conditions on the ste typical for this time of year CAIN (If no, explain in Remarks.) Normal States Normal States Are vegetation Y (Mooil Y (Mool hydrology Y (Malganificantly disturbed? Are normatic discumstances present?) (IN Are vegetation?) Normal States Summary of Findings (Atach elle map showing sempling point localions, transects, important features, etc.) Hydrophydic vegetation?) Normarks.) USACE Jurisdiction Total Local Cover Model State Model State Normarks.) USACE Surgers Total Cover Nordal State Normarks.) Normarks.) Vegetation (USA State Action State) State Model State Normarks.) Normarks.) Natural Defined bed and bank State Armonal States Normarks.) Normarks. Normarks.) Natural Defined States. State Armonal. Normarks.) Normarks.) Normarks.) Normarks.) Normarks.) Normarks. Armonal. Normarks.) Normarks.) Normarks.) Normarks.) Normarks.) Normarks. Normarks.) Normarks.) <t< td=""><td>Landform (nillslope, terrace, etc.)</td><td>7525</td><td>_ Local reli</td><td>er (concave,</td><td>Sope %</td></t<>	Landform (nillslope, terrace, etc.)	7525	_ Local reli	er (concave,	Sope %
Soli May Line 2011 Galaxies availability of the time of year CPN (ff.no, opplain in Resemance). Investment of Reserves. Are vegetation Y (g) call Y (g) or hydrology Y (g) and intervent of the caption in Resemance). Remains(s). Are vegetation Y (g) call Y (g) or hydrology Y (g) and intervent of the caption in Resemance). Intervent of the caption in Reserves. Summary of Findings (Attach ete map showing sempling point location, transects, important features, etc.) Hydrophyte vegetation Y (N) Other waters (Y) N USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters (Y) in Metano hydrology (Y) is sampled area a wetland' (Y) N. Other waters (Y) N USACE Jurisdiction Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MAQ2TIA SLOOG (H) Profile bill of an other (Y) is control of the United States (M) in Resemance (MARCH N) (K) (K) (K) (K) (K) (K) (K) (K) (K) (K	Subregion (LKR): <u>LIFK A</u> Lat: 40	10.7020		Long:	-124,102508 Uatum: WG504
Are deniationly diologic conditions on the site bytecal for this time of year? LAN (If no, explain in Hermarks.) Are vegetation Y (M) coil Y (M) outly divelops Y (M) private with the magnitude was a mortain communication of the time of years. An anomal circumstances present (Y) N Are vegetation Y (M) coil Y (M) untryduology Y (M) obtained youtdewastic? (If needed, explain in Remarks.) Summary of Findings (Match etile magnitudewastic?) (If needed, explain in Remarks.) USACE Jurisdiction Ageent to Witters Ageent to Witters Thickary to Waters (M) (M) (W) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M	Soli Map Unit Name: NO SOII Caca availa	addre -	0	NV	
Are vegetation Y (N) (a) V() (a) rundrokey Y (N) (a) functionally problematic? (If needed, explain in Remarks.) Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sampling profile classing, transects, important features, etc.) Hydrophytic vegetation (V) N Hydric sol? (V) N Wettand hydrology (V) It is sampled area a wettand? (V) Other waters (V) N USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MA&27TM 5_0004H Indicators: Defined bad map bank Scours Defined bad map bank Scours Ordinary High Water Mark Mapped Staturate Indicators: Defined bad map bank Scours Ordinary High Water Mark Mapped Remarks: Ordinary High Water Mark Mapped Staturate Multip Diring Natura Draining: Antifusioning Natura Draining Common Lindicator Staturate Multip Diring Staturate CPA MAP Line Common Lindicator The Common Lindicator Staturate The Common Lindicator Staturation (Plot Size: Status Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant spocies (A) 1 Image: Status Math Diring Macoture Status Math Diring </td <td>Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti</td> <td>me of year?</td> <td>UN (If n</td> <td>o, explain il</td> <td>n Remarks.)</td>	Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti	me of year?	UN (If n	o, explain il	n Remarks.)
Are vegetation Y I/Visul Y Visular My columnative? (Inneeded, explain in Rements.) Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transcels, important features, etc.) Hydrophytic vegetation (V) N Hydric Sol? (N) Welland hydrolog/(V) N is sampled area a wetland? (N) Other wetlers (N) N USACE Juriediction Adjacent to Waters Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MA 257/N 5/COVGH Evaluation of features designated. "Other Waters of the United States" MA 257/N 5/COVGH Peature Designation: Durinement and basing the Mark Mapped States MA 257/N 5/COVGH Remarks (M+MA)SLL 126. Socor Confinant Hydri Water Mark Mapped States MA 257/N 5/COVGH Remarks (M+MA)SLL 126. Socor (C) MAR AT the Soc Core (C) MARKAN C MARKAN C) (CARKAN C	Are vegetation Y /(N soil Y /N, or hydrology Y /(N significa	ntly disturbe	ed? Are norr	nal circums	tances present () / N
Summary of Finding: (Attach elle map.phowing sampling point locations, transacts, important features, etc.) With the sampled area a wetland (V) N Other waters (V) N USACE Jurisdiction Addgement to Waters (V) N Other waters (V) N Other waters (V) N Support To Support (V) N Other waters (V) N State (V) N Other waters (V) N Other waters (V) N Explain: State (V) N Other waters (V) N State (V) N Other waters (V) N Other waters (V) N Explain: State (V) N Other waters (V) N State (V) N Other waters (V) N MACTIN Support (V) N Explain: State (V) N Other waters (V) N MACTIN Support (V) N State (V) N Remarks: CHAMARA LINE (V) N Other waters (V) N MACTIN Support (V) N State (V) N Natural Dranking (V) N Other waters (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Natural Dranking (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Natural Dranking (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N State (V) N Not (V) N Natural Dranking (V) N Not (V) N State (V) N	Are vegetation Y / N/ soil Y / N/ or hydrology Y / N aturally	problemati	c? (If need	ed, explain i	in Remarks.)
Hydrophylic vegetation (*) N Hydric sol? (*) N Vettand hydrology (*) Is sampled area a wettand? (*) Other waters (*) Adjacent to Waters (*) Tribulary to Waters (*) Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Evaluation of features designation (*) Other Waters of the United States" M (*) M (*) Feature Designation: Percential (*) Intermittent Control (*) M (*) To be control (*) Intermittent Control (*) Explanation (*) M (*) M (*) Remarks (*) M (*) FE (*) Substrate M (*) M (*) Nature Orange (*) A (*) FE (*) Explanation (*) M (*) M (*) Addition (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) To AC (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) <t< td=""><td>Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample</td><td>ing point loc</td><td>cations, trans</td><td>sects, impor</td><td>tant features, etc.)</td></t<>	Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample	ing point loc	cations, trans	sects, impor	tant features, etc.)
USACE Unisolicition Adjenent to Waters Trobulary to Waters Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Explain: Stock unisolicition Image: Stock units MACTIN SLOUGH Explain: Stock units Defined bed and bank Sour Ordinary High Water Mark Mapped Stock units Feature Designation Defined bed and bank Stock units Stock units Stock units Feature Designation Defined bed and bank Stock units Stock units Stock units Remarks C/HANJARL ULE Stop EAM HT Explain: Norkgabe Water Remarks C/HANJARL ULE Stock units Norkgabe Water Stock units Stock units Ads Stock units Stock units Norkgabe Water Stock units Stock units Ads Stock units	Hydrophytic vegetation? YNN Hydric soil? YNN Wetland	i hvdrologv	YUN Is:	sampled are	a a wetland? (Y)N Other waters? Y)N
USACE Jurisdiction Explain:	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			anaria heren algeori (Angele and Mathematica)	
Adjacent to Waters Inbulary to Waters Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Explain: Substrate MA 27TN Substrate MA 27TN Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MA 27TN Substrate MA 27TN Remarks Childray High Water Mark Mapped Stream With ISS Substrate MA 27TN Remarks Childray Dainage Attificial Dainage Nerdgate Water Substrate MA 27TN Remarks Childray Dainage Attificial Dainage Nerdgate Water Substrate MA 27TN Remarks Childray Dainage Attificial Dainage Nerdgate Water Substrate MA 27TN Substrate MA	USACE Jurisdiction				
Definition Control of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MACTN SLOUGH Indicators: Defined bed and bank S. Scour Ordinary High Water Mark Mapped S. Stream With 15 - 1% Return Designation: Personal Mark Dispect Substrate MUSES Quad S. Stream With 15 - 1% Remarks: CHAMUAR LIZES STPERAM AT ESGE OF FLOOD PUT MACH DISPECT MUSES Quad S. Substrate Remarks: CHAMUAR LIZES STPERAM AT ESGE OF FLOOD PUT MACH DISPECT MUSES Quad S. Substrate Nort OFALSES ISSUE Definance Test Worksheet Number of cominant species New getation (Use Scientific Names) Abcoluc Dominant Indicator Number of cominant species 1.	Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters X Isolate	ed (with inte	rstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
Eventuation of reactives designated of the waters of the Onited States Important Status Stream Victor Important Status Feature Designation: Perennial	Evaluation of footures designated #Other Minte		Inited Ct	ator ³³	MARTIN SLOUGH
Intermeted and start the period of the start that the start and the	Indicators: Defined hed and bank X Scour	ns or the	United Si ary High We	dle6 ter Mark M	anned K Stream Width 15-18
Natural Drainage Natural Drainage Newligable Water Remarks ArtMANDELLIARD STPEAM AT ESGE 0 F CODE PCHM / EDRDE BOUNDARY TD 3AC ISFLUERS STPEAM AT ESGE 0 F Code PCHM / EDRDE BOUNDARY Ads Structure PERTORE (SEE Protocs 2) DP Dominance Test Worksheet Dominant species Tree Stratum FRUE Structure Species2 Status Number of dominant species 1.	Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent E	phemeral_	Blue-lin	e on USGS	Quad X Substrate MUD
Remarks CHMANAGELIZES STPEAM AT ESGE OF FLOOD (CHM / EORS BOUNDARY) TIDAL INFLUENCE. ISSA ISSA ISSA INFLUENCE INFLUE	Natural Drainage 🖄 Artificial Drain	18ge	Navigable \	Nater	_
TJ DAL INFLUSEL DELOCE. IS-20' WUDE. NAPRON (4'4) FRINZE WIDD NOT WARPED A5 54 PACATE FEATORE. (566 PHOTOS). DP DOCUMENTS TWE "GHED WARPED" FEATURE Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Absolute Dominant Indicator 1. Species? Status 2. Total Cover. Species? Status 3. Total Cover. Webreine forminant species intat are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) 2. Total Cover. Webreine forminant species intat are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (B) 3. Total Cover. Webreine forminant species intat are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) 1. Total Cover. Webreine forminant species intat are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) 2. Total Cover. Webreine forminant species intat are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) 3. FACW Species intat are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (D) (A) 4. Species? Status Prevalence Index Worksheet (D) 50%= 20%- Total Cover: Webreine index is status (A) (B) 1. Carex Handbard Yebreine index is status (A) (B) (A) (B) 2. To	Remarks (HANNELIZED STREAM	ATE	965	OF F	LOODPUT / ROAD BOUNDARY
A5 SEPRATE FEATORE (SEE PHOTOS DP Dominants THE "OHLE Worksheet Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Absolute Dominant Indicator Number of dominant species Indicators (A) 1	TIDAL INFLORNCE. 15.20' 1	NIDE.	NARI	con (2.4) FRINGE WILD NOT MAPPED
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test Worksheet 1.	AS SEPARATE FEATORE. (SEE PI	10:05	00	DECIDA	IKAN'S THE "MULLO WHENEDS" EDENIRE
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Absolute Dominant indicator 1.			· · V	<i>yccci</i>	Destroyed Weddhed
Index Statum (Pilor Size: 20 × 10		Absolute % Course	Dominant Creation?	Indicator	Number of dominant species
1	1 (Piol Size, <u>act x 70</u>)	% Cover	Opecies /	318105	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2	1				Total number of dominant species
3.	2				across all strata: (B)
4. 20%=	3	-	-		are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
Subject 20%=	4.				
Saping/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size:	50%= <u>/</u> 1 otal Cover.	~~~~~			Prevalence Index Worksheet
1.	Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size:)	<u>% Cover</u>	Species?	Status	
2.	1				
3.	2		-		FACW Species x/2 =
4.	3				FAC Species x 3 =
50% 20% Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $20 \times 10^{\circ}$) % Cover Species? Status 1. $(arex lyngbye)$ 20 20% Column Totals (A) (B) 2. 20% 20% 20% Prevalence Index = B/A =	4	-			FACU Species x 4 =
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 10) % Cover Species? Status Column Totals (A)(B) 1	50%= 20%= Total Cover:				UPL Species x 5 =
1. Carex 14. Prevalence Index = B/A = 3.	Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 1 0)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals (A) (B)
2.	1. Carex lynabye	20	<u> </u>	OBL	Prevalence Index = B/A =
3.	2				
4.	3				Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
5.	4				Dominance Test is >50%
6.	5				Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^{1}$
7	6				Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting
8.	7				Uata in Remarks of on a separate sheet) Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1
50%= 20%= Total Cover: 20 Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present. Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:) % Cover Species? Status Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? (PIN Notes: VEG PRESENT IN PATCHES 2 50%= 20%= Total Cover: 50%= 20%= Total Cover: % Bare Ground in Herb Stratum % Cover of Biotic Crust Motor Present? (PIN Notes: VEG PRESENT IN PATCHES AS SEPREADE WRITHERS AND FEATURE.	8				Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explain)
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:) % Cover Species? Status be present. 1	50%= 10 20%= 1 Total Cover	20			Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
1.	Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:	% Cover	Species?	Status	be present.
2 Notes: VEG PRESENT IN PATCHES 50%= 20%= Total Cover: ALONG DITCH BANK - BUT W/I 0 HWM. NOT DELINEATED AS SEPARATE WRITAND FEATURE.	1.	10 20101	0,0000	÷	Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? 10/ N
50%= 20%= Total Cover: ALONG DITCH BANK - BUT W/I 50%= 20%= Total Cover: OHWM. NOT DELINGATION AS % Bare Ground in Herb Stratum 40 % Cover of Biotic Crust 10 SEPARATE WRITAND FEATURE.	2		Egenynsenenenenenenenenenenen en		Notes: VEG PRESENT IN PATCHES
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum 40 % Cover of Biotic Crust 2 SEPARATE WRITAND FEATURE.	50%= 20%- Total Course				ALONG BITCH BANK-BUT W/1
Whater 3 " LOVER OF BIOLIC CRUST SEPARATIK WRITAND FEATURE.	V Para Ground in Harb Stration 40 1/ Occurred Di	tio Cruch	Ø		OHWM. NOT DELINEARED AS
	$(\mu) A \gamma \in \mathcal{I}$ \mathcal{I}				SEFARAGE WRILAND FEATURE.

Soils								
Profile Deso Depth	cription: (Describe Matrix	to the depth nee Re	eded to docume edox Features	ent the in	dicator or con	firm the al	bsence of in	ndicators.
(inches)	<u>Color (moist)</u>	<u>%</u>	Color (moist)	%	Type ¹	Loc ²	Texture	Remarks
	NO	Piti	DUG IN	FL	00350	6 617	CH C	NFOLNEL
/_		egeneration Motors					-	
¹ Types: C =	Concentration D = D	epletion RM =	Reduced Matrix	:	² Location: PL :	= Pore Linii	ng M = Ma	trix
Hydric Soil	Indicators: (Applic	able to all LRRs	, unless otherw	ise noted	d)		Indicator	s for Problematic Hydric Soils ³
Hist	tosol (A1)		Sandy	Redox (S5)		2	cm Muck (A10)
Hist	tic Epipedon (A2)		Strippe	d Matrix	(S6)		R	ed Parent Materials (TF21)
Bla	ck Histic (A3)		Loamy	Mucky N	Vineral (exce	pt	V	ery Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)
Hyd	lrogen Sulfide (A4)		MLRA	1) (F1)			V	egetated Sand/Gravel Bars
Dep	leted Below Dark S	Surface (A11)	Loamy	Gleyed	Matrix (F2)		<u> </u>	ther (Explain in Remarks)
Thic	ck Dark Surface (A1	2)	Deplete	ed Matrix	(F3)			
San	dy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox	Dark Su	rface (F6)		³ Indicato	rs of hydrophytic vegetation and
San	dy Gleyed Matrix (S	54)	Deplete	ed Dark	Surface (F7)		wetland	hydrology must be present.
			Redox	Depress	iions (F8)			
		_						
Restrictive	Layer (if present):	Туре:	lansia ⁶²	Depth (Inches)	Hydri	c Soil Pres	ent? Y N
Hydrolog Wetland Ir	gy ndicators							
Primary Inc	dicators (Minimum d	of one is require	d. Check all tha	at apply.)	aga na su Ni a na na na paga da		<u>Secondar</u>	y Indicators (2 or more required)
× Sur	face Water (A1)		Water	Stained	esves (R0) a	vcent	Ŵ	later Stained Leaves (B9) except
High	h Water Table (A2)		MIRA	1.2 44	and 4B)	Neepr	N	ALRA 1.2.4A, and 4B)
X Sati	uration (A3)		Salt Cr	ust (R11)		D.	rainage Patterns (B10)
X Wat	er Marks (B1)		Aquatic	: Invertel	/ brates (B13)		D	rv-Season Water Table (C2)
K Sed	iment Deposits (B2)	Hydroc	en Sulfi	de Odor (C1)		S	aturation Visible on
Drift	Deposits (B3)	/	Oxidize	ed Rhizo	spheres (C3)		A	verial Imagery (C9)
Alaz	al Mat or Crust (B4)		Presen	ice of Re	duced Iron (C	(4)	G	eomorphic Position (D2)
Iron	Deposits (B5)		Recent	Iron Re	duction in	,	S	hallow Aguitard (D3)
Surf	ace Soil Cracks (B	5)	Tilled	Soils (C6	5)		F/	AC-Netural Test (D5)
Inur	dation Visible on A	erial	Stunte	d or Stre	ssed Plants		R	aised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)
lme	igery (B7)		(D1) (I	RR A)			F	rost-Heave Hummocks (D7)
Spa	rselv Vegetated Co	ncave	Other (Explain i	in Remarks)			
Surf	ace (B8)				,			
Field Obse	ervations							
Surface Wat	ler Present? Yes	No No	Depth (inch	es) 0~	. 2'	Wetland	Hvdroloav?	© / N
Water Table	Present? Yes	No	Depth (inch	es)	>		,	с.
Saturation P	resent? Yes	XNo	Depth (inch	es)_E) (includ	des capillar	ry fringe)	
Describe F	Recorded Data (stre	eam gauge, monit	oring well, aerial	photos, a	nd previous ins	pections), i	if available:	
Ø								
Remarks	MAETIN	SLOUGH.	MDE	GA	TR EI	FFEC	FIVE	IN BLOCKING FIDA
WATER	25. PERE	NNIAC.						

North State Resources, Inc.					Data Point	3
Wetland Determination Data Form-Wester	n Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	oast Region	Feature Type	UPLAND
Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County	Humb	oldt		Date: 7/29/13
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Depar	tment	of Pub	olic Wo	orks State: C	aliforn	ia
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section.	Township, Range Se	ec. 4, T4	IN, RIW
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) ROAD PRISM		Local reli	et (concave,	convex none)		Slope % 45
Subregion (LRR): TRR A Lat: 40	.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588	B Datum	WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: No soil data availa	able		NV	VI Classification:	ø	 Record O. Sp. December Sectores
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti	me of year?	TYN (If r	o, explain ir	Remarks.)		
Are vegetation Y/N, soil Y/N, or hydrology Y Asignifica	ntly disturbe	ed? Are nor	mal circumst	tances present? ()/N	VEG 19	5 MOWEN
Are vegetation Y As soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) haturally	problemati	c? (If need	ed, explain i	n Remarks.)		
Summary of Findings (Attach site man showing same	ing point log	eations trans	sects impor	tant features etc.)		
Hydrophylic venetation? WN Hydric soil? Y (N) Wetland	hydrology	2×10^{10} les	sampled are	a a wetland? Y (N) (`)ther watere? V	N
	- nyorology :					
USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolate	ed (with inte	rstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdict	tional)	
Explain:			and a second second		,	
Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate	ers of the	United St	tates"			
Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour_	Ordin	ary High Wa	ater Mark Ma	apped Stream V	Vidth	
Natural Drainage Artificial Drain	INGE	Navigable \	Nater		.le	
Remarks NPIAND PLIP DO DP	' <u></u>	3- 7	NP 1	DCATEN A	N ROAN	Paren
AQUE MLEDIAL ÉLOUCH		Ser a	AA C	and all admits in the	0 6010	1 cr > and
Mine and an another						
Verstation (lies Coloratilia Norman)	Ab	D		Dominance Test W	larkahaat	Allem Martin and Allem Martin Galaking Disease in an and a characteristic black
Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20×5^{-1})	Absolute % Cover	Species?	Indicator	Number of dominant	t species	
1.	70 00101	0000003	Otatas	that are OBL, FACW	V, or FAC:	<u>≶</u> (A)
2	ağındani məsidiri kiri kiri	schem Minnen and an Instance		Total number of don	ninant species	5 (P)
3				Percent of dominant	species that	(D)
4.				are OBL, FACW, or	FAC:	<u>00</u> (A/B)
50%~ 20%= Total Cover:				Prevalence Index V	Norksheet	
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 5)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Total % Cover of:	Multiply by	¥
1. Baccharis Dilularis	5	1	UPC	OBL Species _	x1=	and the second second
2. Rosa californica	2	4	FAC	FACW Species	x 2 =	
3.	and and a second se			FAC Species	x 3 =	
4				FACU Species	x4-	
50%= <u>3,5</u> 20%= <u>/,</u> Total Cover.	7			UPL Species	x 5 =	
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10 × 5)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals	(A)	(B)
1. Holous lanatus	35	4	FAC	Prevalence Index =	B/A =	
2. Calusteria subaraulis	28	1	UPL			
3. Festura arundinacae	35	Y	FAC	Hydrophytic Veget	ation Indicators	5 materia
4. Plantago, lanceorata	5	N	FACU	Dominance T	ir Hydrophytic Ve Test is >50%	egeration
5. toenicolum vulgare	_5	N	UPL	Prevalence II	ndex is $\leq 3.0^1$	
6				Morphologica	al Adaptations ¹ (p	provide supporting
7				Wetland Non	Vascular Plante	¹ ¹
8				Problematic I	Hydrophytic Veg	etation ¹ (Explain)
50%= 20%= Total Cover:	100			*Indicators of hydric be present	soil and wetland	l hydrology must
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 5)	% Cover	Species?	Status	bo proson.		A
1				Hydrophytic Veget	ation Present?	J/N
2/				Notes: HYDEOP	HYIES (T	FAC) ARE
50%= 20%= Total Cover.		~		DOMINANT	•	
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum <u></u> % Cover of Bio	tic Crust _	<u>×</u>				

Profile D Depth (inches) O - J v	escription: (Describ Matrix <u>Color (moist)</u> 16 1/C ³ /z	e to the de <u>%</u> / 0 0	pth needed to docum Redox Features <u>Color (moist)</u>	ent the inc	licator or co	nfirm the a	absence of indicator <u>Texture</u> <u>GRAVEUY</u>	s. <u>Remarks</u> 10 Am -	Rono	BASE
¹ Types:	C = Concentration D =	Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix	2	 Location: Pl	= Pore Lin	ning M = Matrix			-
Hydric S	oil Indicators: (Appli Histosol (A1) Histic Epipedon (A2) Black Histic (A3) Hydrogen Sulfide (A4) Depleted Below Dark Surface (A	a)licable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted) Sandy Redox (S5) Stripped Matrix (S6) Loamy Mucky Mineral (except 4) MLRA 1) (F1) k Surface (A11) Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)					Indicators for Pr 2 cm Muc Red Pare Very Sha Vegetated Other (Ex	roblematic Hydri ck (A10) nt Materials (TF2 llow Dark Surface d Sand/Gravel Ba cplain in Remarks	i c Soils ³ 21) e (TF12) ars)	
	Sandy Mucky Mineral Sandy Gleyed Matrix ((S1) (S4)	Redo: Deple Redo:	Coark Sur ted Dark S Depress	face (F6) Surface (F7) Ions (F8))	³ Indicators of hy wetland hydrolog	drophytic vegetat gy must be presei	llon and nt.	
Restrict	ive Layer (if present)	: Type: _		Depth (I	nches)	Hyd	ric Soil Present? Y	11		_

Remarks NON-HYDRIC SOLLS IN ROAD BASE.

Hydrology			
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimu	m of one is required	I. Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)
Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B3) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks Inundation Visible of Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Surface (B8)	A2) (B2) 34) (B6) n Aerial Concave	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Field Observations		Depth (inches) Wetla	nd Hydrology2 Y (N)
Water Table Present? Ye	es No	Depth (inches) Weta	
Saturation Present? Ye	s No	Depth (inches) (includes capi	illary fringe)
Describe Recorded Data	(stream gauge, monito	ring well, aerial photos, and previous inspections	s), if available:
Remarks No will	D HYDRO. 1	NDICATORS,	

North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point
Wetland Determination Data Form–We	stern Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	Coast Region Feature Type
Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Repl	acement	City/County	Humb	oldt Date: 7/36/(3
Applicant/Owner: Ilumboldt County De	partment	of Pub	olic Wo	orksState:_California
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section	Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) READSIDE		Local reli	et (concave,	convex, none Slope % 3
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat	40.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: <u>No soil data ava</u>	ilable		NV	VI Classification
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for	this time of year	∑∭/N (lfr	o, explain ir	Remarks.)
Are vegetation (V)N, soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N)sig	nificantly disturbe	ed? Are nor	mal circumst	ances present? Y/N MOWED VEG,
Are vegetation Y (N)soil Y (N)or hydrology Y (N)a	lurally problemati	ic? (If need	ed, explain i	n Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing	sampling point lo	cations, trans	sects, impor	tant features, etc.)
Hydrophytic vegetation? (2)/N Hydric soil? Y (1) W	etland hydrology	? Y 🔊 Is:	sampled are	a a wetland? Y IN Other waters? Y IN
	, .,			
Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters	solated (with inte	erstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
Evaluation of features designated "Other I	Natore of the	United St	atoe"	
Indicators: Defined bed and bank So	cour Ordin	ary High Wa	ater Mark Ma	anned Stream Width
Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent	Ephemeral	Blue-lin	e on USGS	Quad Substrate
Natural/Drainage Artificial	Drainage	Navigable \	Nater	
Remarks SMALL SUSPRET	WEILANI), De	SPITE	PRESENCE OF HYDROPHYTIC
VEG, LOCATION 15 WELL	DRTIN	ED W	1 NO	WEILAND HYDROLOGY OR
HYDRIC SOIL INDICATORS	. NOI	N. WIT	D FO	R CCC OR CORPS.
Vegetation (Ose octentific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 10 / 5) 1. 2. 3.	Absolute 	Species?		Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
				Dunualan an Index Markahaat
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10 V S	% Covor	Spacias?	Status	Total % Cover of: Multiply by
1 Rubus avance is cuts	15	Y	FACUL	OBL Species x 1 ≠
2 Posa All Lifa (A. Ca		Ý	FAC	FACW Species x2 =
3			<u>.</u>	FAC Species x 3 =
4.				FACIL Species x4 =
50%= / ⁶ 20%= ^{//} Total C	over 20			
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 107.5)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals (A) (B)
1. Serrous Minrocarous	30	Ŷ	OBL	
2. Ranunculus Frencis	15	4	FAC	
3. Holeus anatus	5	N	FAC	Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
4				Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation
5				Prevalence Index is < 3.01
6				Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting
7				data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)
8.				Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explain)
50%= 20%= Total C	over: 50		Theorem States of the	¹ Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:)	% Cover	Species?	Status	be present.
1				Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?
2				Notes: HYDROPHYIKS DOMINATIE.
50%= 20%= Total C	over:			50% BARE GROOND B/W
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum 50 % Cover	of Biotic Crust	ø		VEG CLUMPS, CURRENTLY FUEL
				10/ MOWER MURPINGS

Soils

Profile Description: (Describe to the dep	th needed to documer	nt the indicator or co	onfirm the a	bsence of indicat	tors.
Deptn Matrix	Redox reatures	0/ Trm=1	1.002	Testure	Domorko
(inches) Color (moist) %	Color (moist)		L0C ²	<u>Texture</u>	Remarks
0-6 JOIR /2 100	20 million and a second s	The second s		CUMP(
				Bearing the second s	
	-				
¹ Types: C = Concentration D = Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix	² Location: P	L = Pore Lini	ng M = Matrix	
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all	LRRs, unless otherwis	se noted)		Indicators for	Problematic Hydric Soils ³
Histosol (A1)	Sandy I	Redox (S5)		2 cm M	luck (A10)
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Strippe	d Matrix (S6)		Red Pa	arent Materials (TF21)
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy	Mucky Mineral (exc	ept	Very SI	hallow Dark Surface (TF12)
Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA	1) (F1)		Vegeta	ted Sand/Gravel Bars
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A1	1) Loamy	Gleyed Matrix (F2)		Other (Explain in Remarks)
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Deplete	d Matrix (F3)			
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox I	Dark Surface (F6)		³ Indicators of	hydrophytic vegetation and
Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Deplete	d Dark Surface (F7	')	wetland hydro	logy must be present.
	Redox I	Depressions (F8)			
		And the second second second second	te		0
Restrictive Layer (if present): Type: Co	NORETE - LIKE	Depth (Inches)	<u>∍</u> Hydri	ic Soil Present?	Y /{II
Remarks GEMENTIUM VI	T @ (."	on which to	PC DF	= HYDRIC	50.L.
	- e . r	10 1000000		1	,, ,
Hydrology					
Wetland Indicators					
Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	quired. Check all that	apply.)		Secondary Indi	icators (2 or more required)
	A BOLEAN AND A DE BOLE AND A DE BOLEAN				
Surface Water (A1)	Water S	Stained Leaves (B9)) except	Water	Stained Loavos (B9) except
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA	1,2,4A, and 4B)		MLRA	1,2,4A, and 4B)
Saturation (A3)	Salt Cru	ust (B11)		Draina	ge Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1)	Aquatic	Invertebrates (B13)	Dry-Se	ason Water Table (C2)
Sediment Deposits (B2)	Hydrog	en Sulfide Odor (C1	1)	Saturat	tion Visible on
Drift Deposits (B3)	Oxidize	d Rhizospheres (C	3)	Aerial	Imagery (C9)
Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Present	ce of Reduced Iron	(C4)	Geomo	orphic Position (D2)
Iron Deposits (B6)	Recent	Iron Reduction in		Shallow	v Aquitard (D3)
Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	Tilled S	Soils (C6)		FAC-N	etural Test (D5)
Inundation Visible on Aerial	Stunted	or Stressed Plants	;	Raised	Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)
Imagery (B7)	(D1) (L	RR A)		Frost-I	leave I lummocks (D7)
Sparsely Vegetated Concave	Other (I	Explain in Remarks)		
Surface (B8)					
Field Observations					\rightarrow
Surface Water Present? Yes No	Depth (inche	es)	Wetland	Hydrology? Y	N
Water Table Present? Yes No	Depth (inche	es)			
Saturation Present? Yes No	Depth (inche	es) (inc	ludes capilla	ry fringe)	
Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge,	monitoring well, aerial p	hotos, and previous i	nspections),	if available:	
ø					
Remarks NO INDICATOR	S OF WE	TITAN HY	DROLDO	Y DES	PITE CEMENTUM
	af 90.00	7 mil 1 1 1	Ph. 1	1 1 Brien 1	a war war war a start of the
SIDPE I'S TO THE	ROADS 10	CATION :	4 WE	IL DRA	INED

R. Wetland Working Group Wetland Del Form Wetland Del Work Files West Mountains Valleys and Coast Wetland Del Form BACK.docx

Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County:	Humb	oldt Date: 7/3
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Depar	tment	of Pub	lic Wo	orks State: California
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section,	Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) ROADSIDE		Local relie	et (concave,	convex, none) Dilcti Slope % 1-2
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 40	.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: NO SOIL data availa	able		NV	VI Classification:
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti	me of year?	2 (If no	o, explain in	Remarks.)
Are vegetation MN, soil Y / , or hydrology Y / Psignifica	ntly disturbe	ed? Are norm	nal circumst	ances present? ()/N - VEL 15 MOWF
Are vegetation Y Insoil Y In or hydrology Y Inaturally	problemati	c? (If neede	id, explain ii	n Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample	ing point loc	cations, trans	ects, import	tant features, etc.)
Hydrophytic vegetation? YN Hydric soil? YN Wetland	hydrology	YN Iss	ampled are	a a wetland? Y/N Other waters? Y/N
USACE Jurisdiction			- 6	
Adjacent to Waters <u>V</u> Tributary to Waters <u>Isolate</u>	ed (with inte	rstate comme	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate	rs of the	United Sta	ates"	
Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour _	Ordin	ary High Wat	ter Mark Ma	apped Stream Width
Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Ep	ohemeral	Blue-line	e on USGS	Quad Substrate
Natural Drainage Artificial Drain	iage	Navigable v	vater	- -
Remarks DEPRESSIONAL DIPC	HIN	ROAD	SIDE	, 3. PARTMENERS ME
CORPS DEFINITION. AND CCC) 	No 0	HWM	OBSERVED, SO MIS 15
AN OTHER WATERS.				
1 Plot Size: <u>ICAS</u> IN PIRCH	% Cuver	Species?	Status	Number of dominant species 3
3.				Total number of dominant species (A) Total number of dominant species (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2				Total number of dominant species
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: /○ × 5)	<u>% Cover</u>	 <u>Species?</u>	Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: /○ × 5) 1	% Cover	 Species?	Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	% Cover		Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	<u>% Cover</u>	Species?	Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	% Cover	Species?	<u>Status</u>	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	<u>% Cover</u>	Species?	Status Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet <u>Total % Cover of:</u> <u>Multiply by</u> OBL Species $x 1 =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 5 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals (A)
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. EEHvca acondinacea	% Cover % Cover ∂ 0	Species?	Status Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(A = FACW Species(A = FACU Species(A = UPL Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A =
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u>Ranvaevivs fepens</u>	% Cover	Species?	Status Status FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. $Festuca$ acoudinacea 2 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. $Festuca$ acoudinacea 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. $Festuca$ acoudinacea 2 3 5	% Cover	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: $lo \times 5$) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $lo \times 5$) 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u>Canvaeolos cepens</u> 3. <u>Lotos corriculatos</u> 4. <u>Holcos Janatos</u>	% Cover	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(A = FACW Species(A = FAC Species(A = UPL Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation \swarrow Dominance Test is >50%
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1. $festuca$ around in accea 2 Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1. $festuca$ around in accea 2 1. $festuca$ around in accea 2 3 4 5. $festos anatos$ 5. $festos anatos$ 5. $festos anatos$	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(X 1 = FACW Species(X 2 = FAC Species(X 3 = FACU Species(X 3 = FACU Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×5</u>) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Herb Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×5</u>) 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3. <u></u> 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3. <u></u> 4. <u></u> 50%=	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15 15 2	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(A = FACW Species(A = FACU Species(A = UPL Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supportidat in Remarks or on a separate sheat)
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: <u>/0×5</u>) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: <u>/0×5</u>) 1. <u>Fertuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u>Canvaevius cepens</u> 3. <u>Lotus corriculatus</u> 4. <u>Holcus janatus</u> 5. <u>Icitolium repens</u> 6. <u>Equisctum acoense</u> 7. <u>Plantago elongata</u>	% Cover 20 20 15 15 2 2	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet <u>Total % Cover of:</u> <u>Multiply by</u> OBL SpeciesX 1 = FACW SpeciesX 2 = FAC SpeciesX 3 = FACU SpeciesX 4 = UPL SpeciesX 5 = Column Totals(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Dominance Test is >50% Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supportidata in Remarks or on a separate sheet) Wetland Non-Vascular Plants ¹
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: /0×5) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: /0×5) 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: /0×5) 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3 4 5. <u></u> 5. <u></u> 6. <u>Equisctom acoes</u> 7. <u>Plantago elongata</u> 8	% Cover % Cover 20 20 20 15 15 2 2 4	Species?	Status Status EAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(X =(A/B) PACW Species(X =(A) =(B) FACW Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Dominance Test is >50% Prevalence Index is < 3.01 Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supportidata in Remarks or on a separate sheet) Vetland Non-Vascular Plants1 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain Itadicators and Multiple of Market Area and Market Area and Market Area and
2 3 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: /0×5) 12 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 3 5 5 follow repeas 6. Equisatom aconse 7. flantago elongata 8 50%= 20%= Total Cover.	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15 2 4 15 2 4 150	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(A =(A/B) FACW Species(A =(A) =(B) FACU Species(A) =(B) Prevalence Index = B/A =(A) =(B) Prevalence Index = B/A =(B) Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Cominance Test is $\geq 50\%$ Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supportidata in Remarks or on a separate sheet) Wettand Non-Vascular Plants ¹ Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explaint ¹ Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present.
2	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15 15 2 4 160 % Cover	Species?	Status Status EAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC Status	Infat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 5 2 6 5 5 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(X =(A/B) PACW Species(X =(A) =(B) FACW Species(A) =(B) Prevalence Index = B/A =(B) Prevalence Index = B/A =(B) Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^{1}$ (A)(B) Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^{1}$ (B) Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^{1}$ (provide supporting the data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

50113							
Profile Description. (Describe to Depth Matrix	the depth need Red	led to docume lox Features	nt the ind	icator or co	nfirm the a	absence of indicato	rs.
(inches) Color (moist)	<u>%</u> Ca	olor (moist)	%	Type ¹	Loc ²	Texture	Remarks
0-4 104R 3/2 1	00	Construction of the Construction	4500mm	(Charlense)	angune-	COBBLE	LOAM
4-16 104R 4/1 c	60 7.5	YR 5/6	20	C	PZ	GILTY CU	4 LOANI
¹ Types: C = Concentration D = Dept	letion RM = R	educed Matrix	2	Location: Pl	_ = Pore Lin	ing M = Matrix	
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable Histosol (A1) Histic Epipedon (A2) Black Histic (A3) Hydrogen Sulfide (A4) Depleted Below Dark Surf Thick Dark Surface (A12)	le to all LRRs, face (A11)	unless otherwi Sandy Strippe Loamy MLRA Doplete	se noted) Redox (S d Matrix (Mucky M 1) (F1) Gleyed M ed Matrix) (S6) lineral (exc /latrix (F2) (F3)	ept	Indicators for F 2 cm Mu Red Par Very Sh Vegetate Other (E	Problematic Hydric Soils ³ ack (A10) ent Materials (TF21) allow Dark Surface (TF12) ed Sand/Gravel Bars xplain in Remarks)
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1 Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4))	Redox Deplete Redox	Dark Sur ed Dark S Depressi	face (F6) Surface (F7) ons (F8))	³ Indicators of h wetland hydrold	ydrophytic vegetation and ogy must be present.
Restrictive Layer (if present): Ty	pe: <u>CUM</u>		Depth (Ir	nches)	Hydi	ric Soil Present?)/ N
Remarks HYDRIC 50	IL INDI	CAIOR	F3	STAR	150	4 TNCHA	5.

Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)
Water Stained Leaves (B9) excep MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
·lydrology? (Y) / N / fringe) f available:

North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point
Wetland Determination Data Form-Western	n Mounta	ains, Vall	leys, & C	oast Region Feature Type
Project/Site Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County	Humbo	oldt Date: 7/30/13
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Depar	tment	of Pub	lic Wo	orks State: California
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section,	Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) ROADSIDE		_ Local relie	et (concave,	convex none) Slope %3
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 40	.7525	36	Long	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: <u>NO SOIL data availa</u>	able		NW	/I Classification:
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti	me of year?	🕐 N (If n	o, explain in	Remarks.)
Are vegetation (Y) N, soil Y (N), or hydrology Y (N) significant	ntly disturbe	d? Are norr	nal circumst	ances present D/N MOWED VEG.
Are vegetation Y /(N) soil Y /(N) or hydrology Y (N) raturally	problematio	c? (If neede	ed, explain ir	n Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sampl	ing point loc	ations, trans	ects, import	ant features, etc.)
Hydrophytic vegetation? 9/N Hydric soil? Y N Wetland	l hydrology"	Y (N) Is s	ampled are	a a wetland? Y/N Other waters? Y/N
Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolate	d (with inte	rstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
Explain:				
Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate	rs of the	United St	ates"	
Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour	Ordin	ary High Wa	ter Mark Ma	pped Stream Width
Natural Drainage Artificial Drain	nemeral	Navigable V	e on USGS Nater	
Remarks DESPITE DE PRESEA	X C C	>F 114	DROPH4	INC VEG. SOILS + HYDRO ARE
NOT MET + THE DP DOCUM	IENIS	: UPU	WD C	LONDINONS WITH RESPECT, TO
CORPS JURISDICTION. CCC DE	NEREMI	astron	V IS	ALSO NON-WETLAND DUE TO
Venetation (line Onland)	0 0 0	e Mai	> 47	Dominance Test Worksheet
Tree Stratum (Plot Size 16 x 5 -) ROAD 41 DE	Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Number of dominant species
1	10 00101	0000001	010100	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2				across all strata: 4 (B)
3	-			Percent of dominant species that 55
4		-	49400000000000000000000000000000000000	are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
50%= 20%= Total Cover.				Prevalence Index Worksheet
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10 × 5)	<u>% Cover</u>	Species?	Status	<u>I total % Cover of:</u> <u>Multiply by</u>
1			Martine - Anna Const	
2				FACW Species X2=
3			Quigo a proposition of the boost	FAC Species X3 =
4				
Herb Stratum (Diot Size: 10×5)	% Cover	Spaciac?	Statue	
1 Cunodon dastular	25	Species !	FACU	Column rotais (A) (B)
2 TRIVOLIUM FRAENS	20	-6-	FAC	Prevalence Index = B/A =
3. Lotus cornipolatus	20	1	FAC	Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
4. Festuca grundinacea	20	ý?	FAC	Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation
5. Plantaso elonaata	5	N	FAC	Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.01
6. Rumex crispus	2	R	FAC	Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting
7 Holeus amatus	-4	N	FAC	Wetland Non-Vascular Plants ¹
8				Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explain)
50%= 20%= Total Cover:	100			be present.
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:)	% Cover	Species?	Status	
1				Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?
2				1000
50%= Z0%= Total Cover.				
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum _ 2 % Cover of Bio	tic Crust _	10000000000000000000000000000000000000		1

Second Process Color (moist) % Color Implementation Implementation Implementation Implementation Implementation Yees: C = Concentration D = Depletion RM = Re ydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, u Histosol (A1) Implementation Implementation Hydrogen Sulfide (A2) Implementation Implementation Implementation Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Implementation Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4) Implementation Implementation Remarks Support Implementation Implementation Implementation None Hydrology Implementation Implementation Implementation	or (moist) % Type1	Loc ² Texture Remarks
iypes: C = Concentration D = Depletion RM = Re ydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, u	duced Matrix ² Location: PL = nless otherwise noted)	Pore Lining M = Matrix Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils ³ 2 cm Muck (A10)
ypes: C = Concentration D = Depletion RM = Re ydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, u Histosol (A1)	added Matrix *Location: PL = nless otherwise noted)	Pore Lining M = MainX Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils ³ 2 cm Muck (A10) Red Parent Materials (TF21) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) Vegetated Sand/Gravel Bars Other (Explain in Remarks) ³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and wetland hydrology must be present. Hydric Soil Present? Y /N HARD SHOWLDER
ydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, u	nless otherwise noted) Sandy Redox (S5) Stripped Matrix (S6) Loamy Mucky Mineral (except MLRA 1) (F1) Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Depleted Matrix (F3) Redox Dark Surface (F6) Depleted Dark Surface (F7) Redox Depressions (F8) GRAVEL Depth (Inches) G	Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils ³ 2 cm Muck (A10)Red Parent Materials (TF21) tVery Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)Vegetated Sand/Gravel BarsOther (Explain in Remarks) ³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and wetland hydrology must be presentHydric Soil Present? Y /N
Restrictive Layer (if present): Type: <u>PACKED</u> Remarks SOLOVEL REGISTANCE NONS HYDRIC.	Redox Depressions (F8)	- Hydric Soil Present? Y IN IN ROAD SHOULDER SUBSIRTING
Restrictive Layer (if present): Type: <u>PACKED</u> Remarks Sofour L RESISTANCE NON HYDRIC.	$\frac{CRAVEL Depth (Inches)}{C} = C + C + C + C + C + C + C + C + C + C$	Hydric Soil Present? Y IN IN ROAD SHOULDER SUBSIRTING
Wetland Indicators		
Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required.	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)
Surface Water (A1)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) ex	ccept Water Stained Leaves (B9) except
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)
Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1)	Sali Crusi (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)	Dry-Season Water Table (C2)
Sediment Deposits (B2)	Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)	Saturation Visible on
Drift Deposits (B3)	Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3)	Aerial Imagery (C9)
Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Presence of Reduced Iron (C4	4) Geomorphic Position (D2)
Iron Deposits (B5)	Recent Iron Reduction in	Shallow Aquitard (D3)
Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	Tilled Soils (C6)	FAC-Netural Test (D5)
Inundation Visible on Aerial	Stunted or Stressed Plants	Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)
Imagery (B7)	(D1) (LRR A) Other (Evalein in Remerte)	Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)
Sparsely vegetaled Concave	Other (Explain in Remarks)	
ield Observations		
Surface Water Present? Yes No	Depth (inches)	Wetland Hydrology? Y //N
Vater Table Present? Yes No	Depth (inches)	
aturation Present? Yes No	Depth (inches) (include	es capillary fringe)
Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitorin	ng well, aerial photos, and previous inspe	ections), if available:
Remarks		

North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point
Wetland Determination Data Form-Western	Mounta	ains, Val	leys, & C	Coast Region Feature Type SLDUGH
Project/Site: <u>Pine Hill Bridge Replace</u> Applicant/Owner HumboldL County Depart	ment	City/County	Humbo	oldt Date: 7/30/13 Date: 7/30/13
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section.	Township Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) DIRKINKGE		Local relie	et (concave)	convex, none) Slope % $O - TOO$
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 40	. 7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: NO SOIL data availa	ble		NW	VI Classification: R2UBH
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this tim	ne of year?	YDN (If n	o, explain in	Remarks.)
Are vegetation Y(N) soil Y/N or hydrology Y (N significant	tly disturbe	d? Are norr	nal circumst	ances present
Are vegetation Y (N soil Y (N)or hydrology Y (N) aturally	problematic	? (If neede	əd, explain ir	n Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing samplin Hydrophylic vegetation? // N Hydric soil? // N Wetland	ng point loc hydrology?	ations, trans	ects, import ampled area	ant features, etc.) a a wetland? ()/N Other waters? ()/N
Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolated Explain: ELK RUSER TO HUMBO	l (with inter シレクて	state comm Bty	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
Evaluation of features designated "Other Water Indicators: Defined bed and bank A Scour Retering Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Eph Natural Drainage Artificial Drainage	s of the COrdinate memeral nge	United St ary High Wa Blue-lin Navigable V	ates" ter Mark Ma e on USGS Vater	pped ≥Stream Width <u>401 - GFS d</u> Quad <u>×</u> Substrate <u>MJD</u>
Remarks of DOCUMENTIS SWATER	5100	Gtt	E Dr. E	C ARE JEGETALED IN MUNY
LOCATIONS RANKS VARY FRA	va si	EFAL	NERS	and to contride DP 15
W/1 THE OHWM OF THE S	LOUGH	FE	FRIEL	COLT TO GRAVITE. VI C
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20×10' - VN FEATURE	Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
1				Total number of dominant species
2				across all strata: (B)
A.				are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
50%= 20%= Total Cover				Provalence Index Worksheet
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20×10)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Total % Cover of: Multiply by
1				OBL Species x/1 =
2				FACW Species x 2 =
3				FAC Species x 3 =
4				FACU Species x 4 =
50%= 20%= Total Cover:				UPL Species x 5 =
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 10	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals (A) (B)
1. Laver lynabyei	100	1	OBL	Prevalence Index = B/A =
2				Hudronbudh Verstetlen Indianen
3				Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation
4				Dominance Test is >50%
5				Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.0 ¹ Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting)
7				data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)
8	And on the state of the state o		-	Wetland Non-Vascular Plants ¹ Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Evaluar)
50%= 20%= Total Cover				¹ Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:	% Cover	Species?	Status	be present.
1.	10 00101	opouldo (010100	Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?
2				Notes: OP DOCUMENTS THE VEGETAGED
50%= 20%= Total Cover:				BANK OF THE SLOUGH.
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum % Cover of Bioti	ic Crust _/	Ø		



Profile I Depth (inches)	Description: (Describe to the dep Matrix <u>Color (moist)</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u>	oth needed to documer Redox Features <u>Color (moist)</u>	it the ind	icator or co <u>Type¹</u>	nfirm the a	bsence of indicato	rs. <u>Remarks</u>
¹ Types:	C = Concentration D = Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix	2	Location: PL	. = Pore Lin	ing M = Matrix	
Hydric S	Goil Indicators: (Applicable to all	LRRs, unless otherwis	e noted)			Indicators for P	roblematic Hydric Soils ³
	Histosol (A1)	Sandy F	Redox (S	5)		2 cm Mu	ck (A10)
	Histic Epipedon (A2)	Stripped	I Matrix (S6)		Red Pare	ent Materials (TF21)
	Black Histic (A3)	Loamy I	Mucky M	ineral (exc	ept	Very Sha	allow Dark Surface (TF12)
X	Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA) (F1)			Vegetate	d Sand/Gravel Bars
	Depleted Below Dark Surface (A	11)Loamy (Gleyed N	latrix (F2)		Other (Ex	xplain in Remarks)
	Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Deplete	d Matrix	(F3)			. ,
	Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox	Dark Sur	ace (F6)		³ Indicators of hy	drophytic vegetation and
	Sandy Gleved Matrix (S4)	Deplete	d Dark S	urface (F7)		wetland hydrolo	av must be present.
		Redox L	Depressi	ons (F8)		,,	07
Restric	tive Layer (if present): Type:		Depth (Ir	iches)	Hydr	ic Soil Present?	2 N

HYDRIC SOILS. DID NOT MAKE DOLDR DETERMINATIONS.

Hydrology Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Check all that apply.) Secondary Indicators (2 or more required) Surface Water (A1) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except Water Stained Leaves (B9) except K High Water Table (A2) MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Saturation (A3) Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10) C Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Saturation Visible on 🖄 Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aguitard (D3) Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Inundation Visible on Aerial Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) Stunted or Stressed Plants Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7) Imagery (B7) (D1) (LRR A) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Other (Explain in Remarks) Surface (B8) **Field Observations** Depth (inches) 0 - 10 Wetland Hydrology 7 Surface Water Present? Yes No_ Water Table Present? Yes No Depth (inches) \mathcal{O} Depth (inches) Saturation Present? Yes No (includes capillary fringe) Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, and previous inspections), if available: \mathcal{D} REMARKS OBSERVED FEATORE DURING HIGH + LOW TIDES. OHWM IS PRESENT AT TOP OF STAINING.

Wetland Determination Data Form-Wester	n Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	Data Point Coast Region Feature Type
Project/Site: <u>Pine Hill Bridge Replace</u> Applicant/Owner: <u>Humboldt County Depar</u> Investigator(s): <u>Julian Colescott</u> Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) <u>PITCH Stort</u> Subregion (LRR): <u>LRR A</u> Lat: <u>40</u> Soil Map Unit Name: <u>No soil data availa</u> Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti Are vegetation Y (N, soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) significa Are vegetation Y (N) soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) significa	ement tment 0.7525 able me of year? ntly disturbe problemati	City/County of Puk Local reli 36 ? N (If n ed? Are norn c? (If need	y: <u>Humb</u> <u>blic Wo</u> <u>Section</u> et (concave Long: Long: No no, explain in mal circums ed, explain in	coldt Date: 2/30(13) orks State: California a, Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W a, Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W .convex()none) Slope % 2 - 12 -124.182588 Datum: WGS84 MI Classification: PEM1Cd n Remarks.) tances present? tances present? N
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample Hydrophytic vegetation? W N Hydric soil? W N Wetland USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolate Explain: Storaget (Storaget) Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour_ Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Epination Natoral Drainage Artificial Drain	ing point loc I hydrology's ed (with inte rs of the Ordin bhemeral raye	rstate comm United SI ary High Wa Blue-lin Navigable V	sects, impor sampled are erce) tates" ater Mark Ma e on USGS Water	tant features, etc.) ea a wetland? (Y)N Other waters? Y (N) Isolated (non jurisdictional) apped Stream Width Quad Substrate
Remarks DP ON TOP OF SI AND SLOVAH. ALL THEEE IN DEFENSION	POILS DICXR	PILE N 290	BET g	WEED SWHIC INTERIOR DITCH MEETS CCC + CORPS
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
1.				OBL Species $x 1 =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$
Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 1. Perficultaris glandulosa 2. Juncus balticus 3. Colium perennis 4. Plantingo lanceotarg 5. Lotus winiculatus 6. Rumex cuspils 7. Calamogiostis rubescens 8. Daircus carota	% Cover 10 10 25 16 26 5 25 10 115		FACU FACU FACU FACU FACU FACU FACU FACU	Column Totals (A) (B) Prevalence Index = B/A = (B) Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
50%= 20%= Total Cover. Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:) . 1 . 2 50%= 20%= Total Cover. % Bare Ground in Herb Stratum % Cover of Bio	// Over % Cover tic Crust _	Species?	Status	be present. Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? (P/N Notes: CALAMOGROSTIS IS DET LISTED INS LICHVAR, BUT OTHER RAMMORIATS' ARE FAC OR FACW, BPJ USED IN "FAC" DETERMINISTION

Profile Description: (Describe to the dep Depth Matrix	th needed to docume Redox Features	ent the indicate	or or confirm the	absence of indicators.
(inches) Color (moist) %	Color (moist)	% T	vpe ¹ Loc ²	Texture Remarks
2-2 104R2/2 100	et allen	~		PEATY LOAM
2-20 104R 4/2 80	7.54R4/6	20 (2 PL	CUM LOAM
erfennen mendelsen verstellen ander Salte gemeinte verset.	an a			66 Kalabanananan
Types: C = Concentration D = Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix	2_Loca	tion: PL = Pore L	–
vdric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all	LRRs, unless otherw	ise noted)		Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
Histosol (A1)	Sandy	Redox (S5)		2 cm Muck (A10)
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Strippe	ed Matrix (S6)		Red Parent Materials (TF21)
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy	Mucky Miner	al (except	Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)
Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA	1) (F1)		Vegetated Sand/Gravel Bars
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A	l1) Loamy	Gleyed Matri	x (F2)	Other (Explain in Remarks)
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Deplet	ed Matrix (F3))	
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox	Dark Surface	(F6)	³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and
Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Deplet	ed Dark Surfa	ice (F7)	wetland hydrology must be present.
	Redox	Depressions	(F8)	
Restrictive Laver (if present). Type:	Ø	Denth (Inche	es) — Hv	dric Soil Present? Y / N
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	quired. Check all that	at apply.)		Secondary Indicators (2 or more required
Surface Water (A1)	Water	Stained Leave	es (B9) except	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA	1,2,4A, and	4B)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)
Saturation (A3)	Salt Ci	ust (B11)		Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1)	Aquati	c Invertebrate	s (B13)	Dry-Season Water Table (C2)
Sediment Deposits (B2)	Hydrog	gen Sulfide Od	dor (C1)	Saturation Visible on
Drift Deposits (B3)	Oxidize	ed Rhizosphe	res (C3)	Aerial Imagery (C9)
Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Preser	ice of Reduce	d Iron (C4)	Geomorphic Position (D2)
Iron Deposits (B6)	Recen	t Iron Reducti	on in	Shallow Aquitard (D3)
Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	Tilled	Soils (C6)		FAC-Netural Test (D5)
Inundation Visible on Aerial	Stunte	d or Stressed	Plants	Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)
Imagery (B7)	(D1) (I	LRR A)		Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Sparsely Vegetated Concave	Other	Explain in Re	marks)	
Surface (B8)				
Field Observations	×			
Sunace water Present? Yes New Yes	Depth (inch	es)	Wetla	na mydrology CV/ N
Saturation Present? Yes No	Depth (Incr	es)	 (includes coni	(llen, fringe)
Describe Recorded Date (stream dougo		nhotos and pro	vious inspections	t available.
	monitoring well, aeliai	priotos, ano pre	wous mapeouons	n, n avanama.
Remarks HYDROLOGY PAR	AMETERI	S MET,		

Netland Determination Data Form-West	ern Mount	ams. vai	levs. & C	Coast Region Feature Type UP LAND - SEE
minute Pine Hill Bridge Repla	cement		. Humb	holdt
Applicant/Owner Humboldt County Depa	artment	of Put	lic W	orks state California
pyestigator(s): Julian Colescott	AT CHICITC	<u>OL LUX</u>	Section	Township Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
andform (hillslone terrace) etc.)		Local reli	_ Concave	(normal share 4 2 - 5
Subregion (IRR): URR A	40.7525	36	Lona.	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
col Man Unit Name NO Soil data avai	lable		Long NV	M Classification FEM 1Cd
ve climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for thi	is time of year'	NIN (Hr	no explain ir	n Remarks)
revenetation X/N soil X/N or hydrology X N signifi	icantly disturbe	d2 Are nor	mal circums	tances present2 %/N
ve venetation Y (N soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) significant	ally moblemati	c? (If need	ed evolain i	in Remarks)
		0. 11 11000	ou, onpranti	
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sar	mpling point loo	cations, trans	sects, impor	rtant features, etc.)
lydrophytic vegetation? Y (N) Hydric soil? 4 N Weth	and hydrology	YN Is:	sampled are	ea a wetland? Y (N) Other waters? Y (N)
JSACE Jurisdiction djacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Iso xplain:	lated (with inte	rstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
idicators: Defined bed and bank Scou eature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Natural Drainage Artificial Dr	aters of the ir Ordin Ephemeral rainage	united Si iary High Wa Blue-lin Navigable V	ates" ater Mark Ma e on USGS Nater	apped Stream Width Quad Substrate
HYDROLOGY. WEREFORE	ET VI	EG. Pi	PRAMI	RIVER, BUT DOES MERT SOIL
A WELD, BUT IS	1 000	REG	MATE	O FEATURE,
regetation (Use Scientific Names)	A CCC Absolute	RE G S	Indicator	Dominance Test Worksheet
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 ×10</u>)	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	RE 6 Dominant Spcoics?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OPL FACW or FAC: 2 (A)
regetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×10</u>)	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	REG Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) Total number of dominant species
regetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×10</u>)	Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	EEATORE Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Demonstrate for dominant species
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×10</u>)	A CCC Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	BE 6 Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A/B)
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>)	A CCC Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A/B)
Image: Control of the second	A <u>COC</u> Absolute <u>% Cover</u> rer:	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>)	A COC Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species ×1=
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>) 50%= 20%= Total Cov apling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>)	A COC Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dorninant Species?	Indicator Status Status Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2
Image: Second	A COC Absolute % Cover 	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species $x 1 = -$ FACW Species $x 2 = -$ FACW Species $50 \times x^2 = -150$
Image: Second Stratum Solution Segetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×10</u>) 50%=20%=	A COC Absolute % Cover 	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 A Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species \bigcirc x 1 = \bigcirc FACW Species \bigcirc x 2 = \bigcirc FAC Species 50 x 3 = 150 FAC Species $\frac{45}{50}$ x 4 = 180
Color Will D., Build regetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×10</u>) 50%=20%=Total Cov apling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×10</u>)	A COCC Absolute % Cover 	Dorninant Species?	Indicator Status Status Status	FEATOREDominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Cold Wile Solid regetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10) 50%=20%=Total Cov apling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10) 50%=20%=Total Cov	A COC Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status Status Status	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species \bigcirc X1 =FACW Species \bigcirc X2 =FAC Species \bigcirc X3 = 150 FACU Species \bigcirc X4 = 120 UPL Species 5 X5 = 25 100
Image: Control of the second secon	A COLOR Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status Status Status	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species0x 1 =FACW Species0x 2 =FAC Species50x 3 =150FACU Species9x 4 =180UPL Species5x 5 =25Column Totals100(A)355(B)
The product of the second	A COLC Absolute % Cover	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU EACU	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species0x1 =FACW Species0x2 =FAC Species50x3 =150FACU Species5x5 =25Column Totals(I)(A)355(B)Prevalence Index = B/A =3.55
Image: Control of the second seco	A COLOR Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status FACU FACU FACU FACU	FEATORE.Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:4Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species 0 x1 = 0 FACW Species 0 x2 = 0 FAC Species 50 x3 = 150 FACU Species 75 x4 = 120 UPL Species 5 x5 = 25 Column Totals 100 (A) 355 Prevalence Index = $B/A = _3.55$ Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	A COCC Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 A Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species 0 x1 = FAC Species 54 x3 = 150 FACU Species 5 x5 = 25 Column Totals 100 (A) 355 (B) Prevalence Index = B/A = 3.55 55 4 4 4 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators 30.55 6 6 </td
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	A COCC Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species0x 2 =FACW Species5x 2 =FAC Species5x 3 =150FACU Species5x 5 =25Column Totals100(A)355(B)Prevalence Index = B/A =3.55Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationNDominance Test is >50%NPrevalence Index is < 3.01
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	A COCC Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Species?	Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC UPL	FEATORE.Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	A COCC Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	FEATORE.Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:4Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species \bigcirc x1 = \bigcirc FACW Species \bigcirc x2 = \bigcirc FAC Species \bigcirc x3 = 150 FACU Species \bigcirc x4 = 100 UPL Species 5 x5 = 25 Column Totals \bigcirc (A) 355 B)Prevalence Index = B/A = 3.55 Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%NPrevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)
Image: A gast is	A COLOR Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species \bigcirc X 1 =FACW Species \bigcirc X 2 = \bigcirc FAC Species \bigcirc X 3 = 150 FACU Species \bigcirc X 4 = 190 UPL Species \bigcirc X 5 = \bigcirc Column Totals \bigcirc (A) \bigcirc Prevalence Index = B/A = \bigcirc \bigcirc Norphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Evrelain)
Image: Control of the stratum (Plot Size: 10×10) image: Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10) 50%=	A COCC Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species \bigcirc X 1 = \bigcirc FACW Species \bigcirc X 2 = \bigcirc FAC Species \bigcirc X 2 = \bigcirc FAC Species \bigcirc X 4 = 150 FACU Species \bigcirc X 5 = \bigcirc Column Totals \bigcirc (A) \bigcirc Species \bigcirc $x 5 =25Column Totals\bigcirc(A)355 (B)Prevalence Index = B/A =\bigcirc\bigcircNorphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)\bigcircWetland Non-Vascular Plants1\bigcircProblematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)^1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must$
$\frac{(247)}{(247)} = \frac{(247)}{(247)} = \frac{(247)}{($	A COLOR Absolute % Cover 	Species? Y Y Y N N Species?	Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	FEATURE:Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:4Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species Δ x1 = Δ FACW Species Δ x2 = Δ FAC Species Δ x3 = 150 FACU Species 5 x4 = 120 UPL Species 5 x5 = 25 Column Totals (100) (A) 355 (B)Prevalence Index = B/A = 3.55 Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)"Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present.
Image: A contract of the stratum (Plot Size: 10×10^{-10}) inee Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10^{-10}) 50%= 20%= 50%= 20%= Total Cov apling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10^{-10}) 50%= 20%= Total Cov apling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10^{-10}) Ach.lea Mill fa.hum Daucus Carata Lotus Cocni culatus FPStruce perenci - 2 Agastis Staton fora Aster chilons 50%= 20%= 20 Total Cov	A COLO Absolute % Cover % Cover	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC Status	FEATURE:Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:4Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species $A = 50$ KACW Species $X = 50$ FAC Species $X = 150$ FAC Species 50 X = 150FACU Species 5 X = 25Column Totals (A) UPL Species 5 X = 3.55Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%NPrevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)'Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present.
A CORP WILD, BUT is //egetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10) 50%=	A COULT Absolute $\frac{6}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ Absolute $\frac{6}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ For: $\frac{6}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{6}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{2}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{1}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{1}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{1}{\sqrt{Cover}}$	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC Status	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:Second Second Se

Data Point _____

Profile D	escription: (Describ) Matrix	e to the de	pth needed to docume Redox Features	ent the in	dicator or co	onfirm the a	absence of indicate	ors.
(inches) 0-6 6-16	<u>Color (moist)</u> 104R 3/2 104R 4/2	% 98 85	<u>Color (moist)</u> 7.54R 4/6 7.54R 4/6	<u>%</u> 2 15	<u>Түре</u> 1 С	Loc ² PL PL	<u>Texture</u> <u>ClayLoam</u> ClayIbam	<u>Remarks</u>
¹ Types:	C = Concentration D =	Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix		2Location: P	L = Pore Lin	ung M = Matrix	
Hydric S	oil Indicators: (Appli Histosol (A1) Histic Epipedon (A2) Black Histic (A3) Hydrogen Sulfide (A4) Depleted Below Dark Thick Dark Surface (A Sandy Mucky Mineral Sandy Gleyed Matrix () Surface (A 12) (S1) (S4)	II LRRs, unless otherw Sandy Strippe Loamy MLRA (11) Loamy X11) Loamy Redox Deplet Redox	ise noted Redox (Matrix Mucky M 1) (F1) Gleyed ed Matrix Dark Su ed Dark Su Depress	1) (S6) Mineral (exc Matrix (F2) ((F3) (face (F6) Surface (F7 ions (F8)	ept	Indicators for F 2 cm Mu Red Par Very \$h Vegetate Other (E ³ Indicators of h wetland hydrology	Problematic Hydric Soils ³ ack (A10) ent Materials (TF21) allow Dark Surface (TF12) ed Sand/Gravel Bars explain in Remarks) ydrophytic vegetation and ogy must be present.
Restrict	tive Layer (if present)	: Type:		Depth (nches) 🧷	S Hydi	ric Soil Present?	Ð/ N
Remar	ks Hydric	50125						

Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is requ	ired. Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)	
Surface Water (A1)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except	
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)	
Saturation (A3)	Salt Crust (B11)	Drainage Patterns (B10)	
Water Marks (B1)	Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)	Dry-Season Water Table (C2)	
Sediment Deposits (B2)	Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)	Saturation Visible on	
Drift Deposits (B3)	X Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3)	Aerial Imagery (C9)	
Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)	Geomorphic Position (D2)	
Iron Deposits (B5)	Recent Iron Reduction in	Shallow Aquitard (D3)	
Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	Tilled Soils (C6)	FAC-Netural Test (D5)	
Inundation Visible on Aerial	Stunted or Stressed Plants	Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)	
Imagery (B7)	(D1) (LRR A)	Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)	
Sparsely Vegetated Concave	Other (Explain in Remarks)		
Surface (B8)			
Field Observations	- 1		
Surface Water Present? Yes No	Depth (inches) Wetlan	d Hydrology? 💯/ N	
Water Table Present? Yes No _	Depth (inches)		
Saturation Present? Yes No 2	Depth (inches) (includes capillary fringe)		
Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, m	onitoring well, aerial photos, and previous inspections)), if available:	
Remarks WEITAGE HUN	PRIME & ALG	annan an a	

	rn Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	Data Point
Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	cement	City/County	Humb	oldt Date: 7/30
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Depa	rtment	of Puk	olic Wo	orks State: California
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			_ Section	, Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.)		Local reli	et (concave,	, convex, none)Slope %
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 4	0.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: NO SOIL data avail	able		NV	NI Classification: <u>PEM 1Cd</u>
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this	time of year?	🕐 N (If n	o, explain ir	n Remarks.)
Are vegetation Y (N) soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) signific	antly disturbe	d? Are norr	nal circumst	tances present? Y) N
Are vegetation Y /N, toil Y N, or hydrology Y N natural	ly problemation	c? (If need	əd, əxplain i	in Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site man showing sam	nlina noint loc	ations trans	ects impor	tant features etc.)
Hydrophylic vegetation? V/N Hydric soil? V/N Wetta	nd hydrology	O(1) le	sampled are	a a wetland? (2/N) Other waterc? V/(N)
Hydropalytics togetablen Op 711 Hydro doin O 711 Houd	ia nyaiology .			
Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent I	Cers of the Ordin Ephemeral	ary High Wa Blue-lin	iter Mark Ma	apped Stream Width
Remarks 3 - PARAMANARS MET	inage	Navigable V	Vater	Quad Substrate
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cuver</u>	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Quad Substrate Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 Alternative of dominant species across all strata: 3 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 66.6 (A/B)
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1) 2) 3	Absolute <u>% Cuver</u>	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Quad Substrate Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet
Remarks 3	Absolute <u>% Cuver</u> 	Dominant Species? Species?	Indicator Status Status	Quad Substrate Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 3 (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by
Remarks 3 - Ithicki Draininge Artificial Artificial Draininge Artificial Artificial Draininge Artificial Draining	Absolute <u>% Cuver</u> 	Dominant Species? Species?	Indicator Status Status	QuadSubstrate
Remarks 3 - Itelevice Draininge Artificial Draws Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1.	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Species? Species?	Indicator Status Status	QuadSubstrate
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolutc <u>% Cuver</u>	Dominant Species? Species? Species?	Indicator Status Status Status	QuadSubstrate Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Total number of dominant species across all strata: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Multiply by OBL Species x1 = FACW Species x2 = FAC Species x3 =
Remarks 3	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Species? Species? Species?	Indicator Status Status Status	Quad Substrate Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Remarks 3 - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge 1. - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge 1. - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge 3. - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge 3. - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge 3. - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge 3. - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge 3. - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge 3. - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge - Itelevice Draininge 3.	Absolute <u>% Cuver</u> 	Navigable V Dominant Species? Species?	Indicator Status Status	Quad Substrate Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 4 0BL Species x1 = FACW Species x2 = FAC Species x3 = FACU Species x4 = UPL Species

50

20

100

5

10

5

120

% Cover

Total Cover:

Total Cover:

% Cover of Biotic Crust

FACU

FAC

FAL

N

N

N

N

Species? Status

GBL

FAC

LIPL

FAC

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators

Prevalence Index = B/A = ___

Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Y Dominance Test is >50%

Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.0¹

_____ Morphological Adaptations¹ (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

____ Wetland Non-Vascular Plants¹

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation¹ (Explain) ¹Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present.

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? ()/ N

Notes: VEG DOMINATION BY FACIL, BUT 2 FAC DECIES ALSO DOMINIANT. VEG 15 MARGINALLY HYDROPHYTTC.

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum a ske note in DP8

Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:

1. Cynodon dactylor

ubescon

Cormantations

Subac

glandulosa

20%= 24

20%=

Trigoglochin Martimum

oerenni

2. Calaminino

Lotus

Lulium

7 Potentilla

50%= 60

Colystea

3.

4.

5.

6.

8.

1. _

2. _____ 50%=_

1.0

Profile Description: (Describe to the depth need) Depth Matrix Red (inches) Color (moist) % Color 0 - 16 16 YIZ % Color	ded to document the indicator or co lox Features <u>olor (moist) % Type1</u> <u>YR 4/6 20 C</u>	onfirm the absence of in Loc ² <u>Texture</u> PL <u>SLLT</u> Y	ndicators. <u>Remarks</u> LUAY LOAM
Types: C = Concentration D = Depletion RM = R lydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, Histosol (A1) Histic Epipedon (A2) Black Histic (A3) Hydrogen Sulfide (A4) Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Thick Dark Surface (A12)	educed Matrix ² Location: P unless otherwise noted) Sandy Redox (S5) Stripped Matrix (S6) Loamy Mucky Mineral (exc MLRA 1) (F1) Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Depleted Matrix (F3)	L = Pore Lining M = Ma Indicator 2 Ri Ri Vi Vi 0	trix s for Problematic Hydric Soils ³ cm Muck (A10) ed Parent Materials (TF21) ery Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) egetated Sand/Gravel Bars ther (Explain in Remarks)
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Redox Dark Surface (F6) Depleted Dark Surface (F7 Redox Depressions (F8)	³ Indicato) wetland l	rs of hydrophytic vegetation and nydrology must be present.
Hydrology Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required	Check all that annly)	Secondar	v Indicators (2 or more required)
Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Dritt Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13 Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C ⁻ Oxidized Rhizospheres (C: Presence of Reduced Iron Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks) exceptW D)D)D)D)S 3)S (C4)G S F F	Vater Stained Leaves (B9) except ILRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) rainage Patterns (B10) ry-Season Water Table (C2) aturation Visible on erial Imagery (C9) eomorphic Position (D2) hallow Aquitard (D3) AC-Netural Test (D5) aised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) rost-Heave Hummocks (D7)
Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes No Water Table Present? Yes No Saturation Present? Yes No	Depth (inches) Depth (inches) Depth (inches) (inc	Wetland Hydrology?	(Y)/ N
Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitor	ing well, aerial photos, and previous i	nspections), if available:	

North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point
Wetland Determination Data Form–Wester	n Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	Coast Region Feature Type <u>Upland</u>
Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County	Humb	oldt Date: 7:30:13
Applicant/Owner. Humboldt County Depar	tment	of Pul	olic We	orks State: California
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section	, Township, Range <u>Sec. 4</u> , T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.)		_ Local reli	et (concave,	, convex, none) <u>CONVEX</u> Slope % O
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 40	.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: NO SOIL data availa	able		NV	NI Classification:
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti	me of year?	Q°/N (lfri	io, explain ir	n Remarks.)
Are vegetation Y / A soil Y / A, or hydrology Y (Isignifica	ntly disturbe	d? Are nor	mal circums	tances present? (Y) N
Are vegetation Y / N, soil Y / N, or hydrology Y / M naturally	r problematio	c? (If need	ed, explain i	in Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample	ing point loc	ations, trans	sects, impor	tant features, etc.)
Hydrophytic vegetation? Y IN Hydric soil? IN Wetland	l hydrology	Υ <i>Ι</i> Ω∿ Is:	sampled are	a a wetland? Y 🕼 Other waters? Y 🕼
USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolate Explain:	ed (with inte	rstate comm	ierce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Epril Natural Drainage Artificial Drain Intermittent Epril	ordin Ordin Ordin	United St ary High Wa Blue-lin Navigable V	tates" ater Mark Ma le on USGS Water	apped Stream Width Quad Substrate
Remarks DP reports a high pour	ot loca	ted be	tween	Pine Hill Road and a pusture
(seasonal wetland) cante bruch ar	m rocu	a otio	alkons	to Pine Hill Pd and a repetited ditch.
Frature has hydre sale but does	ast how	· a STr.p	chuting SI	vesetation or hydrology
Verstation (lies Colonities Normal)	TOT MAN	<u>nyarc</u>	prync	Dominance Test Workshoot
Tree Stratum (Plot Size:	Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Number of dominant species
1.	10.00101	0000001	Olalus	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2	Almalitic and find the Alford Stars	all a sublicit subscription of the second		Total number of dominant species
3				Percent of dominant species that
4				are OBL, FACW, or FAC: <u>50</u> (A/B)
50%= 20%= Total Cover				Prevalence Index Worksheet
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10 × 10)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Total % Cover of: Multiply by
1 Baccharis pilularis	56	Y	UPL	OBL Species x1 =
2. Rubus ursinus	16	N	FACLA	FACW Species $50 \times 2 = 100$
3.				FAC Species x 3 =
4.		###2003383F68443310285888		FACIL Species 15 x4 - 100
50%= 30 20%= 12 Total Cover	60			LIPI Species $53 \times 5 = 375$
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10 by 10)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals 120 (A) 435 (P)
1. Deschandsia cespitosa	50	·/	Frew	
2. Cirscium villagre	5	N	(APL	Prevalence index = B/A =
3. Achillea millefolium	5	N	FACU	Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
4.				Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation
5.				Prevalence Index is < 3.01
6.				Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting
7				data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)
8		distantantantantantana.		Wettand Non-Vascular Plants1 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Evolution)
50%= 30 20%= 12 Total Course	60			¹ Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:	% Cours	Spacios?	Statue	be present.
1	10 COVEI	opeoles (otatus	Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Y(N)
2				Notes: NON - HYDROPHYTIC
50%- 20%- Total Course				VEG IS DOMINIANT
V Berg Orsened in North Orsener 4/A				
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum <u>40</u> % Cover of Bio	otic Crust _<	>		

Soils

Profile Description: (Describe to the depth need Depth Matrix Red	led to document the indicator or con ox Features	nfirm the absence of indicators.
(inches) Color (moist) % Co	<u>lor (moist) % Type¹</u>	Loc ² Texture Remarks
0-5 7,5412 90 51	<u>e 16 10 c</u>	PC CLAY LOAM
5-16 7.5(12/2 60 54	<u>16 40 C</u>	PL Clay 16 am
1Turne: C = Concentration D = Depletion PN = P.	advood Matrix 21 ocation: Pi	- Horo Lining M - Matrix
Hydric Sail Indicators: (Applicable to all I DBa	unless otherwise noted)	Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soile3
Historol (A1)	Sandy Podoy (S5)	2 cm Muck (A10)
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Stripped Matrix (S6)	Red Parent Materials (TF21)
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy Mucky Mineral (exce	very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)
Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA 1) (F1)	Vegetated Sand/Gravel Bars
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)	Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)	Other (Explain in Remarks)
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Depleted Matrix (F3)	
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox Dark Surface (F6)	³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and
Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Depleted Dark Surface (F7)	wetland hydrology must be present.
	Redox Depressions (F8)	
Restrictive Layer (if present): Type:	Depth (Inches)	Hydric Soil Present?
Remarks Hydric Soils present		
Hydrology		
Wetland Indicators		
Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required.	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)
Surface Water (A1)	Water Stained Leaves (B9)	except Water Stained Lcavcs (B9) except
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)
Saturation (A3)	Salt Crust (B11)	Drainage Patterns (B10)

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) _____ Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Saturation Visible on Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Aerial Imagery (C9) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Geomorphic Position (D2) Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Shallow Aquitard (D3) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) Inundation Visible on Aerial Stunted or Stressed Plants Imagery (B7) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7) (D1) (LRR A) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Other (Explain In Remarks) Surface (B8) **Field Observations** Wetland Hydrology? Y / N Surface Water Present? No X Depth (inches) Yes. Depth (inches) Water Table Present? No 🔀 Yes _____ Saturation Present? Yes No 🖄 Depth (inches) ____ (includes capillary fringe) Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, and previous inspections), if available: Hydrology indicators are abount. Remarks

	North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point 2
	Wetland Determination Data Form-Western	n Mounta	ains, Valle	eys, & C	oast Region Feature Type Ratoside Diret
	Project/Site Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County:	Humbo	oldt Date 2/30/13
	Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Depar	tment	of Publ	Lic Wo	orks State: California
	Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section,	Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
	Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.)		Local reliet	(concave)	convex, none) Slope % / 0
	Subregion (LRR): <u>IRR A</u> Lat: <u>40</u>	.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
	Soil Map Unit Name: No soil data availa	ble	0	NV	I Classification: <u>FRM 2 Cd</u>
	Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this tir	me of year?	YN (If no,	, explain in	Remarks.)
	Are vegetation Y (N, soil Y (N, or hydrology Y (N)significar	ntly disturbe	d? Are norma	al circumst	ances present?())/N
	Are vegetation + Ay, soil + (by, or hydrology + (by haturality	problematic	c? (Il needed	i, explain li	remarks.
	Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sampli	ng point loc	ations, transe	cts, import	ant features, etc.)
	Hydrophytic vegetation?(Y)/ N Hydric soil?(Y)/ N Wetland	hydrology?	YYN Is sa	mpled are	a a wetland?(Y) N Other waters? Y (N)
	USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolate	d (with inter	rstate commer	rce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
	Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate	rs of the	United Sta	tes"	
	Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour	Ordina	ary High Wate	er Mark Ma	pped Stream Width
	Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Ep	hemeral aue	Blue-line Navigable Wr	on USGS : ater	Quad Substrate
	Remarks the object of states of the		DALX	155	DITCH UPEARS TO FLOW
	VERY SLOWLY IF AT ALL	1015 50 T	KONDO D	FET INST	STRA AL A WEILAND DOI
	AN OTHER WATERS.		17 8	1 C C., 1 F - F	
	Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>20メダー</u> TIN bit H	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant In Species?	ndicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species
	1		404748001480000000		Total number of dominant species
	2		-		across all strata:
	3				are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
			-		Paralan an Indan Window and
	Sanling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 4)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Total % Cover of: Multiply by
	1.	70 00461	Opecies :	otatus	OBL Species x 1 =
	2. / NO SHEUBS IN DITCH	Harrist Harris Addresses		**************************************	FACW Species x 2 =
	3.				FAC Species x 3 =
	4		-		FACU Species x 4 =
	50%= 20%= Total Cover:	for a second second			UPL Species x 5 =
	Herb Stratum (Plot Size:)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals (A) (B)
ARMAN WORK	1. Arthvochemom susterminate	35	<u> </u>	DIZL DR:	Prevalence Index = B/A =
house our comments t	2 Fritig of Manatima	15	N 1	FLA	Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
	1 agrostis chlonitera	10		EAC	Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation
	5. Calusticana subacaulis	5	1)	UPL	Prevalence I dex is < 3.01
	6				Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting
	7		ationining to service. at		data in Remarks or on a separate sheet) Wetland Non-Vascular Plants ¹
	8				Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explain)
	50%= 20%= Total Cover:	100			Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present.
	Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Budankad Maria Barra Ala
	1				Notes: VEC DALA ERAN
	2				DITCH.
	20%= Iotal Cover:	tio Cruct	8		
	/ Dare Ground in help Statum % Cover of Bio				I

Depth Matrix Red (inches) Color (moist) % Co	lox Features <u>blor (moist) <u>%</u> <u>Type1 Loc</u>2</u>	Texture Remarks
-12 SEE NO/ES		
ypes: C = Concentration D = Depletion RM = R	educed Matrix ² Location: PL = Pore Li	nıng M = Matrix
ydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs,	unless otherwise noted)	Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
Histosol (A1)	Sandy Redox (S5)	2 cm Muck (A10)
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Stripped Matrix (S6)	Red Parent Materials (TF21)
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy Mucky Mineral (except	Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12
_X Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA 1) (F1)	Vegetated Sand/Gravel Bars
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)	Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)	Other (Explain in Remarks)
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Depleted Matrix (F3)	
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox Dark Surface (F6)	³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and
Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Depleted Dark Surface (F7)	wetland hydrology must be present.
	Redox Depressions (F8)	
Postrictiva Lover (if present): Type:	Depth (Inches)	tric Soil Present? V) N
Resultive Layer (in present). Type.		
TIDEIC SUICS.		
Hvdrology		
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required.	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Surface Water (A1)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required.	<u>Check all that apply.)</u> <u>Water Stained Leaves (B9) except</u> MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1)	<u>Check all that apply.)</u> Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhlzospheres (C3)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Sparsely Vegetated Concave	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) excel MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized RhIzospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) excest MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Yes Surface Water Present? Yes	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes X Surface Present? Yes X No	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7) M
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes No Surface Water Present? Yes No No Saturation Present? Yes No No	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) excer MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7) Mary fringe)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes No Sutration Present? Yes No No Saturation Present? Yes No No Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitor)	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) excer MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7) M Hary fringe) if available:
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes Sutration Present? Yes No Saturation Present? Yes No Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitor	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more require Water Stained Leaves (B9) exe MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7) Mary fringe)), if available:

APPENDIX B

Representative Photographs

Photographs taken July 30, 2013



Photograph 1. Looking west. Data point 1 (shovel) documents seasonal wetland above the Martin Slough OHWM.



Photograph 2. Looking east southeast at Martin Slough. DPs 1, 2 and 3 (arrows) document seasonal wetland (No. 1), Martin Slough (No. 2), and adjacent upland (No. 3). The blue line indicates the OHWM of Martin Slough.



Photograph 3. Looking west at Martin Slough and DP 2 (shovel) and DP 3 (orange GPS case).



Photograph 4. Looking west at DP 4. This suspect wetland area is dominated by marginal hydrophytic plants, but lacks evidence of hydric soils or wetland hydrology. The non-wetland area drains toward the road and Martin Slough.



Photograph 5. Looking west at DP 5 (shovel) and DP 6 (bookbag) which document the vegetated ditch (VD 5) on the east end of the study area. The bridge is in the background.



Photograph 6. Looking south at Swain Slough from the bridge. The sediment staining on the vegetation marks the high tide line and identifies the OWHM within the channel.



Photograph 7. Looking north northeast at DP 7 (blue arrow) and 8 (green arrow) documenting Swain Slough and the adjacent seasonal wetland, respectively.



Photograph 8. Soils from DP 8. The depleted matrix and redox features are clearly evident.



Photograph 9. Looking south. High tide.



Photograph 10. Looking north at the west bridge footing. Note the sediment deposits and watermarks (blue arrow), and the drift on the pipe in the background. These high marks indicate the monthly high tide of 8.61 feet. The green arrow indicates the 6.91-foot high tide observed on July 30, 2013. This photograph was taken between high and low tide.


Photograph 11. Looking southeast. Data Points 9 (red arrow) and 10 (blue arrow) document the seasonal wetland (left) – upland (right) boundary. Hydric soil and wetland hydrology indicators are present at DP 9, but at a depth (6 inches) that does not support dominant hydrophytic vegetation.



Photograph 11. Looking northwest. Data Points 11 (red arrow) and 12 (shovel) document the coyote brush covered upland and the roadside ditch, respectively.



November 13, 2013

Humboldt County Department of Public Works Attn: Andrew Bundschuh 1106 Second Street Eureka, CA 95501-0579

SUBJECT: Preliminary Determination of Wetland Status Under the California Coastal Act for the Pine Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project Study Area in Humboldt County, California (NSR Project No. 51473)

Dear Mr. Bundschuh:

North State Resources, Inc. (NSR) conducted a delineation of wetlands that may be subject to regulation under the California Coastal Act of 1976 (Coastal Act) for the approximately 2.39-acre Pine Hill Road at Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project biological study area (study area). The study area is located south of the city of Eureka on Pine Hill Road, east of U.S. Highway 101 and Elk River Road, Humboldt County, California (Attachment A, Figure 1).

Summary

The study area is geographically located at the confluence of Swain Slough and Martin Slough; both are slow moving features of brackish water that are subject to the rise and fall of the tides. The slough confluence occurs within a low elevation coastal plain that is frequently flooded. As a result, much of the land within the study area meets the Corps three-parameter wetland criteria, and the one-parameter criteria under the Coastal Act definition. Based on field observations and data evaluated in this report, it was determined that the wetland boundaries for purposes of the Coastal Act exceed the wetland boundaries for purposes of the Clean Water Act. Coastal Act wetland features include both Swain Slough (0.149 acre; 115 linear feet) and Martin Sloughs (0.138 acre; 272 linear feet), seasonal wetlands (totaling 0.681 acre), and vegetated ditch (0.197 acre) located adjacent to the road east and west of the bridge.

Background

One of the roles of the California Coastal Commission (CCC) in implementing the Coastal Act is to regulate the diking, filling, or dredging of wetlands within the coastal zone. Section 30121 of the Coastal Act defines the term "wetland" as:

Lands within the coastal zone which may be covered periodically or permanently with shallow water and include saltwater marshes, freshwater marshes, open or closed brackish water marshes, swamps, mudflats, and fens.

☑ CORPORATE OFFICE 5000 Bechelli Lane, Suite 203 Redding, California, 96002 Phone 530.222.5347 Fax 530.222.4958 2020 L Street, Suite 340
 Sacramento, CA 95811
 Phone 916.446.2566
 Fax 916.446.2792

□ 500 Orient Street, Suite 150 Chico, CA 95928 Phone 530.345.4552 Fax 530.345.4805 □ 305 Chestnut Street Mount Shasta, CA 96067 Phone 530.926.3595 Fax 530.926.3857 The CCC has provided further specificity for the definition of wetlands, and the CCC administrative regulations (14 CCR Section 13577) define wetlands as:

Wetlands shall be defined as land where the water table is at, near, or above the land surface long enough to promote the formation of hydric soils or to support the growth of hydrophytes, and shall also include those types of wetlands where vegetation is lacking and soil is poorly developed or absent as a result of frequent or drastic fluctuations of surface water levels, wave action, water flow, turbidity or high concentrations of salts or other substances in the substrate. Such wetlands can be recognized by the presence of surface water or saturated substrate at some time during each year and their location within, or adjacent to, vegetated wetlands or deepwater habitats.

In practice, the CCC definition establishes a "one parameter" approach that only requires evidence of a single parameter to establish wetland conditions (i.e., hydrology, hydrophytic vegetation, or hydric soils). This contrasts with the Corps' approach which requires all three parameters to be present to qualify an area as a wetland. It is important to note, however, that the 1981 *Statewide Interpretive Guidelines* prepared by the CCC state that hydric soils and hydrophytic vegetation "are useful indicators of wetland conditions, but the presence or absence of hydric soils and/or hydrophytes alone are not necessarily determinative when the CCC identifies wetlands under the Coastal Act." This acknowledges that determination of wetland status is not always easily identifiable by a simple one-parameter approach, and provides the CCC with the discretion to consider multiple factors (e.g., soil characteristics, hydrology, size, landscape position) and to rely on professional judgment in making wetland determinations.

Location of the Study Area

The study area is located south of the city of Eureka, Humboldt County, California, southeast of the intersection of U.S. Highway 101 and Elk River Road (Attachment A, Figure 1). Specifically, the study area is located along Pine Hill Road, east of the Pine Hill/Elk River Road intersection. The study area is shown on the *Eureka, California* U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 7.5-minute topographic quadrangle; the bridge is identified by the following coordinates: Township 4 North, Range 1 West, Section 4, Humboldt Base and Meridian, and Latitude 40.752536 North by Longitude -124.182588 West, WGS84 datum.

Environmental Setting

The study area is located in the coastal plain at the confluence of Swain Slough and Martin Slough. Swain Slough flows approximately 0.5 mile northeast before joining the Elk River, which drains directly into Humboldt Bay. Swain Slough is subject to the rise and fall of the tides, but there is a tidal gate preventing normal tidewaters from entering Martin Slough. Low levees are present along the banks of Swain Slough that prevent normal high water from entering the surrounding flat coastal plain. Pine Hill Road is also elevated several feet above the normal high tide level, but according to local residents, the road floods periodically in winter.

Land use in the area is a mix of rural and residential. The open grassland on the northwest, southwest, and southeast sides of the bridge is grazed by cattle. Lands south of Pine Hill Road are owned by the North Coast Regional Land Trust. One residence is located in the northeast section of the study area.

Elevation and Topography

The elevation within the study area is between approximately 8 and 12 feet above mean sea level, with the highest point being northeast of the bridge. The topography of the study area is nearly level with the exceptions of the levees around Swain Slough, the elevated Pine Hill Road, and the excavated ditches. The northeast corner of the study area is gently sloped at the base of a small bluff.

Climate

The climate within the study area as described below is based on information provided in the *Atlas of the Biodiversity of California* (California Department of Fish and Game 2003), historical data collected between 1948 and 2005 at Eureka, Humboldt County, California (Western Regional Climate Center 2013), and on National Weather Service statistics as reported on the Weather Underground website (Weather Underground 2013):

- *Type*: The climate within the study area is characterized by a Mediterranean Summer Fog with cool wet winters and cool foggy summers (California Department of Fish and Game 2003).
- *Precipitation*: Average annual precipitation is approximately 39.5 inches. Most precipitation falls as rain between the months of October and April (Western Regional Climate Center 2013).
- *Air Temperature*: Air temperatures range between an average January high of 55 degrees Fahrenheit (°F), and an average September high of 63 °F. The year-round average high temperature is approximately 59 °F (Western Regional Climate Center 2013).
- *Growing Season*: The growing season (i.e., 50 percent probability of air temperature 28 °F or higher) is 365 days. The soil temperature regime is Isomesic (mean soil temperature of about 46 °F with minimal fluctuation between summer and winter) (Western Regional Climate Center 2013).
- *Current Weather Condition:* No rain fell in the 10 days prior to the July 30, 2013 field visit (Weather Underground 2013). The most recent rains, totaling 0.84 inch, fell between June 1 and June 20, 2013, approximately six weeks prior to the field visit.

Hydrology/Hydrologic Features

The study area is situated in the coastal plain at the base of a bluff and foothills of the Coast Range that rise to the northeast. Swain Slough drains to Humboldt Bay, via the Elk River. Pine Hill Road is lined by roadside ditches west of the bridge. These ditches lead to larger ditches that parallel the west bank of Swain Slough.

Soil Map Units

The USDA National Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) Web Soil Survey reports the soil survey of the area has not been completed (i.e., "NOTCOM") (Figure 2).

Vegetation Communities

The vegetation communities within the study area include wet meadow, montane riparian (Meyer and Laudenslayer 1988), the roadway, and the two sloughs.

The wet meadow community occurs west of the bridge on both the north and south sides of Pine Hill Road, and east of the bridge south of the road. This herbaceous plant community is grazed by cattle and appears to be seasonally wet, with ponded water evident in winter photographs reviewed as part of this report. Drier conditions occur in the summer months. Dominant plant species observed in the wet meadow community include: tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea*), velvetgrass (*Holcus lanatus*), Bermudagrass (*Cynodon dactylon*), creeping bentgrass (*Agrostis stolonifera*), bird's-foot trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus*), rye grass (*Festuca perennis*), red and white clover (*Trifolium pratense, T. repens*), buttercup (*Ranunculus repens*), Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis*), queen Anne's lace (*Daucus carota*), sticky cinquefoil (*Drymocallis glandulosa*), and brass-buttons (*Cotula coronopifolia*). The grazing activities have produced several large wallows (depressions) and cattle droppings. The area has several irrigation/drainage ditches that crisscross the community.

The montane riparian community is present only in a small area northeast of the bridge, between Swain Slough and a house located north of the narrower eastern end of the study area. This community is an impenetrable patch of vegetation, dominated by Himalayan blackberry (*Rubus armeniacus*), coast twinberry (*Lonicera involucrata*), Oregon grape (*Berberis* sp.), coyote brush (*Baccharis pilularis*), coastal willow (*Salix hookeriana*), cow parsnip (*Heracleum maximum*), and rose (*Rosa sp.*). This community is sloped toward Swain Slough and is well drained.

The roadway includes the paved road surface, the shoulders and the ditches on either side of the road. The road is built on a road base that is slightly elevated above the level of the wet meadow described above, and the ditches are excavated to a depth of several feet below the elevation of the surrounding wet meadow. Barbed-wire fence is constructed at the outer edges of the Pine Hill Road easement, and there is a slight rise between the roadside ditches and the fence that is largely vegetated by coyote brush, tufted hair grass (*Deschampsia cespitosa* ssp *cespitosa*), and lamb's quarters (*Chenopodium album*). The ditch vegetation is more emergent due to the continuously saturated conditions found there. Species observed in the ditch include: saltwort (*Salicornia bigelovii*), arrow grass (*Triglochin maritima*), tall fescue, lamb's quarters, and brass-buttons.

Small reaches of both Swain Slough and Martin Slough occur within the study area. Swain Slough is an approximately 60- to 80-foot-wide water feature that drains the eastern portion of the Elk River floodplain and the surrounding hills to the east (see Figure 1). Waters within the feature are assumed to be brackish based on observed low-tide flow (i.e., fresh water) going out to Humboldt Bay, and high-tide flow (salt water) filling the feature as it flows inland. The feature has an unvegetated mud bottom except near the banks, where it is vegetated with Lyngbye's sedge (*Carex lyngbyei*) and dense flowered cordgrass (*Spartina densiflora*) within the ordinary high water mark (OHWM).

Martin Slough is very similar to Swain Slough in that it is an unvegetated mud bottom feature except for the banks near the OHWM, which are also vegetated with Lyngbye's sedge and dense flowered cordgrass. The difference between the two sloughs is that the reach of Martin Slough within the study area has been channelized and is straight, and the tidal influence is limited by a tide gate located at the confluence with Swain Slough.

Methods

The field delineation utilized the routine field wetland delineation methodology prescribed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) in the *Wetland Delineation Manual* (Environmental Laboratory 1987), and the *Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region (Version 2.0)* (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 2010) to determine and document whether any of the three wetland parameters (dominant hydrophytic vegetation, hydric soils, and/or wetland hydrology are present in the suspect wetland features within the study area. The wetland delineation was conducted on July 30, 2013by NSR biologist Julian Colescott (SWS Professional Wetland Scientist No. 1920) and NSR botanist Sarah Tona. Three-parameter wetland data collected in the field was analyzed further to determine which of the data collected satisfy the "one-parameter" wetland definition under the Coastal Act definition.

The boundaries of delineated features and the associated data points were mapped using a Trimble Pathfinder Pro XH Global Positioning System (GPS) capable of sub-foot accuracy. All data points were also mapped using the Trimble GPS unit. The GPS and hand-drawn location data were overlaid onto an aerial photograph of the study area to develop the delineation map.

To assist with project planning, seventeen cross section transects were installed at 50-foot intervals starting 100 feet west of the bridge. Each transect corresponds to the width of the County's right-of-way (i.e., fence to fence). The transect start and end points were recorded with the GPS unit, and the start and end intersect points of each wetland feature along the transects were measured with a meter measuring tape and recorded. The GPS location data and the measurements were overlaid onto the delineation map (Figure 3).

Delineation Results and Discussion

Three types of wetland features were delineated within the study area including: 1) the two sloughs (totaling 0.2.87 acre and 387 linear feet); 2) seasonal wetland (0.681 acre); and 3) vegetated ditch (0.197 acre). A delineation map of the study area is provided as Figure 3 (Attachment A). Representative photographs of the wetland features are provided in Attachment B. Wetland determination data forms are provided in Attachment C.

Swain Slough and Martin Slough

The physical characteristics of Swain Slough and Martin Slough are described above. The boundaries of these features were delineated using the three-parameter data collected, focusing on the hydrological indicators. The work spanned the period between low and high tide, so the inflow and retreat of tidal waters was observed. The high tide crest fell within the sediment stain on vegetation along the bank; the high water mark was delineated at the upper extent of this staining (Attachment B, Photograph 6).

Data Point (DP) 7 and 8 document Swain Slough and the adjacent seasonal wetland feature. DP 7 documents the vegetated bank of the slough below the high water mark. This location is vegetated with Lyngbye's sedge and has silty clay hydric soils with a strong sulfidic odor. As mentioned above, the

vegetation along the bank is stained by sediment that identifies the high tide level and OHWM. The July tide table for Eureka (available at http://tides.mobilegeographics.com/calendar/year/1845.html) reveals that the afternoon high tide on July30, 2013 was 6.91 feet, 1.70 feet lower than the high tide for the month of 8.61 feet, which occurred nine days earlier on July 21.

For the purposes of this wetland delineation, the OHWM of Swain Slough is considered the upper most staining on the streambank vegetation (Attachment B, Photograph 6). This level of inundation likely occurs several times per year or more frequently depending on the tides. Looking under the bridge, sediment deposits and water stains indicating high tide or high freshwater flows are evident almost at the bottom of the bridge decking (Attachment B, Photograph 10). Stream flow data could not be located for Swain Slough, but residents of the area walking past the project site were interviewed, and reported that Pine Hill Road floods occasionally and becomes impassible. These higher flows are assumed to be "flooding events" that are above the OHWM that occurs at the high tide level.

The seasonal wetland documented by DP 8 is actually the top of the levee adjacent Swain Slough. The height of the OHWM is approximately two feet lower than the top of this levee (Attachment B, Photograph 7). The level of inundation that occurs with high tides (i.e., the 8.61-foot tides), appears to hydrate the feature sufficiently to maintain facultative hydrophytic vegetation, and indicators of wetland hydrology (oxidized root channels), and hydric soils (depleted matrix). The seasonal wetland is further described below.

Physically, Martin Slough is similar to Swain Slough, but Martin Slough drains a larger watershed east of the study area, and has the tide gates preventing daily tidal influx. Data points 2 and 3 document Martin Slough and the adjacent upland near Pine Hill Road. Data point 1 documents the transition to seasonal wetland south of Martin Slough. Instead of sediment staining from tidal flows, shelving and changes in vegetation indicate the location of the OHWM (Attachment B, Photograph 2).

Seasonal Wetland

Seasonal wetland occurs west of the bridge, north and south of Pine Hill Road. The seasonal wetland terminates at the roadside ditch on both sides of the road. Seasonal wetland is also present east of the bridge, south of Martin Slough. The seasonal wetland was documented by DPs 1, 8, 9, 10, and 11. Data point 1 documents dominance of facultative plant species (e.g., tall fescue, rye grass, and white clover), hydric soils indicated by the depleted matrix, and marginal wetland hydrology met by oxidized root channels. This evidence satisfies both a three-parameter or one-parameter wetland definition.

Data point 8 is described above. The significance of DP 8 is that it is located on top of the low levee next to Swain Slough and still meets the three-parameter wetland definition. The soils in that location are of clay loam consistency. Smaller soil particle size results in a greater capillary fringe, and the wetland indicators observed at this location are assumed present due to saturation from within the capillary fringe during high water (i.e., high tide or high winter flows) events.

Data points 9, 10 and 11 describe the seasonal wetland north of Pine Hill Road, west of the bridge. These data points are in a cluster because there is a topographic rise west of DP 10 and north of DP 12. The rise corresponds with the line of coyote brush that parallels the roadside ditch, and is relatively narrow except in the vicinity of DP 9 where the rise is also found in the grassland north of the fence line. The three

wetland parameters comprising the Corps wetland definition are not met within the rise as is documented by DP 9 and 11. However, at both of these points hydric soil indicators (depleted matrix) are present. The depleted matrix suggests that despite the lack of hydrophytic vegetation at both points, there is at least seasonal saturation close to the ground surface for sufficient duration that redoximorphic features have formed. The presence of this ground water is sufficient to meet the Coastal Commission wetland definition and, as a result, the area corresponding with the rise is shown as seasonal wetland on Figure 3.

Vegetated Ditch

Vegetated ditches occur in two locations: west of the bridge along the north and south sides of Pine Hill Road, and east of the bridge on the north side of the road. The ditches west of the bridge (VD1, VD2, VD3, and VD4) are one to two feet deep, vegetated, and had small pools of standing water during the July 30, 2013 site visit. Data point 12 is representative of conditions in the ditches on the west side of the bridge, and documents the dominance of obligate plant species (saltwort, arrowgrass), wetland hydrology indicators including ponding and saturation within the upper 12 inches, and hydric soils that released a hydrogen sulfide odor upon shovel entry. An OHWM was not observed in these ditches, and they are considered wetlands, not "other waters."

The vegetated ditch on the east side of the bridge (VD 5) is very different from the ditches on the west side of the bridge, because it occurs within a very shallow depression, the vegetation is mowed, and it is not clearly evident or well defined as a wetland. During the site visit, there was no ponded water or saturated soils, and the observed plants were facultative wetland species (e.g., tall fescue and buttercup). Pine Hill Road disrupts sheetflow to Martin Slough by being located between the hillslope to the north and Martin Slough to the south. As a result, water ponds in the shallow ditch feature. In addition, a layer of clay occurs at about 16 inches below the soil surface that likely reduces the permeability of the soils helping to hold the shallow inundation that occurs during precipitation events. Hydric soils are indicated by depleted matrix; and wetland hydrology is indicated by the presence of oxidized rhizospheres.

Conclusions

The purpose of the wetland delineation was to identify the boundaries of wetlands that may be subject to regulation by the CCC under the Coastal Act. The field delineation utilized the methodology prescribed by the Corps, with additional consideration given to the different definitions of wetlands as recognized by the Corps and CCC.

Three types of Coastal Act wetland features were delineated within the study area including: 1) both Swain Slough (0.149 acre; 115 linear feet) and Martin Sloughs (0.138 acre; 272 linear feet); 2) seasonal wetlands (totaling 0.681 acre), and 3) vegetated ditch (0.197 acre). Please note that the determinations made in this report are preliminary and are subject to verification by the CCC. NSR advises all interested parties to treat the information contained herein as preliminary pending written verification of jurisdictional determination by the CCC. Thank you for providing NSR with the opportunity to assist with your project needs. Please contact me if you have any questions or require additional information. I can be reached by telephone at (530) 926-3595 ext. 201, or by e-mail at <u>colescott@nsrnet.com</u>.

Sincerely,

NORTH STATE RESOURCES, INC.

Jul: Clescott

Julian Colescott SWS Professional Wetland Scientist (PWS No. 1920)

Attachments:

Attachment A: Figures Attachment B: Representative Photographs Attachment C: Wetland Determination Data Forms

References

- California Department of Fish and Game. 2003. Atlas of the biodiversity of California. Sacramento, Resources Agency
- Environmental Laboratory. 1987. Corps of Engineers wetlands delineation manual. Vicksburg: U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station.
- Lichvar, R.W. 2012. The National Wetland Plant List. ERDC/CRREL TR-12-11. Hanover, NH: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Cold Regions Research and Engineering Laboratory. http://acwc.sdp.sirsi.net/client/search/asset:asset?t:ac=\$N/1012381.
- Mayer, K. E. and W. F. Laudenslayer Jr., eds. 1988. A guide to wildlife habitats of California. Sacramento: California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2010. Regional supplement to the Corps of Engineers wetland delineation manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region (Version 2.0), ed. J. S. Wakeley, R. W. Lichvar, and C. V. Noble. ERDC/EL TR-10-3. Vicksburg, MS: U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture and National Resources Conservation Service. 2013. *Custom Soil Resources Report for Humboldt County, Central Part, California.* Cooperative Soil Survey, a joint effort of the U.S Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service and other Federal agencies, State agencies including the Agricultural Experiment Stations, and local participants. Available from http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/. (Cited August 15, 2013)
- Weather Underground. 2013. Weather data for Eureka, California. Available from: <u>http://www.wunderground.com/cgi-bin/findweather/getForecast?query=zmw:95518.1.99999</u>. Accessed on August 15, 2013.
- Western Regional Climate Center. 2013. Eureka WSO City, California (042910) Climate Summary: Monthly Climate Summary 7/1/1948 to 11/30/2005. Available from http://www.wrcc.dri.edu. (Cited August 15, 2013)

ATTACHMENT A

Figures



North State Resources, Inc.

Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project

Figure 1 Biological Study Area Location and Vicinity





Measurements in Meters North North Ditch Gravel South Ditch South Trans Gravel Edge of Edge of Number Fence Start End Shoulder Pavement Centerline Pavement Shoulder Start End Fence 18.1 4.5 6.5 9.3 12 13.1 15.3 17.4 0 1.7 3.3 1.9 4.8 6.3 9.1 12 13.1 15.3 16.5 17.6 3.5 0 2.6 4.1 5.3 6.4 9.2 12.1 13.7 15.1 16.8 17.7 2.8 4.9 9.1 16.1 Λ 0 3.5 6.3 12 13.4 14.8 17 2.8 16.2 0 4.2 4.8 6.3 9.1 12.2 13.5 14.9 17.3 2.5 4 4.8 6.2 9.1 12.3 13.5 15 16.2 17.4 0 2.6 3.6 4.5 6.1 9 11.9 13.5 14.7 15.9 17.2 0 2.1 3.6 4.8 5.8 8.7 12.9 14.8 0 11.7 16 17 1.9 3.3 4.4 5.8 8.6 11.7 13 14.3 15.5 16.4 0 9 10 1.9 3.5 4.3 5.5 8.5 11.7 12.9 14.4 15.7 16.9 0 11 0 1.8 3 4.2 5.4 8.4 11.4 12.4 14.2 15.5 16.1 1.7 15.1 12 0 3 4 5.4 8.2 11.6 13.1 14.1 16.5 13 1.8 3.9 5.5 8.4 11.9 13.4 14.4 15.7 16.7 0 3 14 0 1.8 3.4 4.2 5.3 8.4 11.6 13.4 14.2 15.5 16.7 15 0 1.5 2.9 3.8 5 8.7 12.6 14 14.5 16.1 16.9 17.2 4.3 9.3 16 2.2 3.4 5.6 13.5 15.2 16 20 0 17 1.8 3.3 4.2 5.7 10.5 16.7 18.4 19.2 21 25.5 0

Prepared by:

NJR North State Resources, Inc.

5000 Bechelli Lane Suite 203 Redding, CA 96002 Phone (530) 222-5347 Fax (530) 222-4958 <u>www.nsrnet.com</u> Prepared for: Humboldt County Public Works 1106 Second Street Eureka, CA 95501-0579 Attn: Andrew Bundschuh, Senior Environmental Analyst (Phone) (707) 445-7741 (Fax) (707) 445-7409

Notes:

Delineator: Julian Colescott (PWS No. 1920) Delineation Date: July 29, 2013 Orthophotography: Bing Maps Aerial

This wetland delineation is subject to verification by the California Coastal Commission (CCC). NSR advises all parties that the delineation is preliminaryuntil the CCC provides a written verification.



	-		100 100 000		
The second second	Summary of Wetlands	Waters of the United	dStates		
STATISTICS DE LICE	Label	Type	Lenath (ft)	Width (ft)	Acreage
Carlos of Manager, Name of Street, or other	SW 1	Seasonal Wetland	Longer (**,	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.032
	SW 2	Seasonal Wetland			0.214
CP/ CONTRACTOR STRATEGICS	SW 3	Seasonal Wetland			0.011
A DESCRIPTION OF THE OWNER OF THE	SW 4	Seasonal Wetland			0.053
Constant of the second s	SW 5	Seasonal Wetland			0.248
and the second sec	SW 6	Seasonal Wetland			0.010
Statement of the local division of the	SW 7	Seasonal Wetland			0.010
SALE - SALES	300 1	Subtotal			0.681
A REAL PROPERTY.		Manadated Ditab			0.004
	VD 1	Vegetated Ditch			0.024
AND DESCRIPTION OF THE OWNER OF T	VD 2	Vegetated Ditch			0.070
State of the local division of the local div	VD 3	Vegetated Ditch			0.007
Contraction of the second s	VD 4	Vegetated Ditch			0.022
100 A 400 A	VD 5	Vegetated Ditch			0.074
		Subiolar			0.137
185 B25	Total Wetlan	ds			0.878
all and a	Other Waters				
V. Cold Street of the Street of the	Label	Туре	Length (ft)	Width (ft)	Acreage
C. S. P. Barrison and Carlos	PS 1	Perennial Stream	115	51-67	0.149
	PS 2	Perennial Stream	272	21-26	0.138
Sy marker 1		Subtotal			0.287
State State	Total Other V	Vaters			0.287
	Total				1.165
ALL AND A DECK	VD3	allen (1)	Sharp?	200	1
.4	VD3 5 6		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3	VD3 <u>5</u> 6		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough	VD3 5 6		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough	VD3 5 6		Pine F	ill Road	
.4 3 2 Martin Slough .01	VD3 1_5 6		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough • 1	VD3 1 5 -6		Pine F	iii Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough 01 SW7	VD3 1_5 6		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough 1 5W7	VD3 1_5 6		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough 01 SW7	VD3 1 5 6		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough 1 SW7	VD3 1 5 -6		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough 0 1 SW7	VD3 1_5 6		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough 01 SW7	VD3 1 5 		Pine F	ill Road	
4 3 2 Martin Slough 0 1 SW7 Biological Study Area (2	2.39 acres)	 3-Param 	Pine H	Point	
4 3 2 Martin Slough 1 SW7 Biological Study Area (2	vD3 1 5 -6 -6 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0	 3-Param 	Pine H	Point	
A 3 2 Martin Slough 01 SW7 Biological Study Area (2 Caltrans Approved APE	2.39 acres)	 3-Param Culvert 	Pine F	Point	
A 3 2 Martin Slough 1 SW7 Biological Study Area (2 Caltrans Approved APE	2.39 acres) (1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert 	Pine F	Point	
A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	2.39 acres) (1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert 	Pine F	Point	
A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	2.39 acres) (1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the 	eter Data	Point d States	5
A 3 2 Martin Slough 0 1 SW7 Biological Study Area (2 Caltrans Approved APE Fenceline Cross-section Transect	2.39 acres) (1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the Wetlands 	eter Data	Point d States	5
A 3 2 Martin Slough 0 1 SW7 Biological Study Area (2 Caltrans Approved APE Fenceline Cross-section Transect Edge of Pavement	2.39 acres) (1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the Wetlands 	eter Data	Point d States	5
A 3 2 Martin Slough 0 1 SW7 SW7 Biological Study Area (2 Caltrans Approved APE Fenceline Cross-section Transect Edge of Pavement	2.39 acres) (1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the Wetlands Seasona 	Pine F Pine F eter Data	Point d States	s acre)
4 3 2 Martin Slough 0 3 2 Martin Slough 0 5 W7 5 W7 6 SW7 8 SW7 SW7 SW7 SW7 SW7 SW7 SW7 SW7	2.39 acres) (1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the Wetlands Seasona Vagetat 	Pine F Pine F Pine F Pine F Pine F Pine F	Point d States d (0.681 a 0 197 ac	s acre)
A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	2.39 acres) (1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the Wetlands Seasona Vegetat 	Pine F Pine F Pine F Pine F Pine F	Point d States d (0.681 a 0.197 ac	s acre) re)
A 3 2 Martin Slough 1 SW7 Biological Study Area (2 Caltrans Approved APE Fenceline Cross-section Transect Edge of Pavement Gravel Shoulder Centerline	2.39 acres) (1.77 acres)	 3-Param Culvert Waters of the Wetlands Seasona Vegetat Other Waters 	Pine F Pine F eter Data	Point d States d (0.681 a 0.197 ac	s acre) re)

Pine Hill Bridge Replacement Project

Figure 3 Waters of the United States October 15, 2013

ATTACHMENT B

Representative Photographs

Photographs taken July 30, 2012



Photograph 1. Looking west. Data point 1 (shovel) documents seasonal wetland above the Martin Slough OHWM.



Photograph 2. Looking east southeast at Martin Slough. DPs 1, 2 and 3 (arrows) document seasonal wetland (No. 1), Martin Slough (No. 2), and adjacent upland (No. 3). The blue line indicates the approximate OHWM of Martin Slough.



Photograph 3. Looking west at Martin Slough and DP 2 (shovel) and DP 3 (orange GPS case).



Photograph 4. Looking west at DP 4. This suspect wetland area is dominated by marginal hydrophytic plants, but lacks evidence of hydric soils or wetland hydrology. The area drains toward the road and Martin Slough and is a non-wetland.



Photograph 5. Looking west at DP 5 (shovel) and DP 6 (bookbag) which document the vegetated ditch (VD 5) on the east end of the study area. The bridge is in the background.



Photograph 6. Looking south at Swain Slough from the bridge. The sediment staining on the vegetation marks the high tide line and the OWHM within the channel.



Photograph 7. Looking north northeast at DP 7 (blue arrow) and 8 (green arrow) documenting Swain Slough and the adjacent seasonal wetland, respectively.



Photograph 8. Soils from DP 8. The depleted matrix and redox features are clearly evident.



Photograph 9. Looking south. High tide.



Photograph 10. Looking north at the west bridge footing. Note the sediment deposits and watermarks (blue arrow), and the drift on the pipe in the background. These high marks indicate the monthly high tide of 8.61 feet. The green arrow indicates the 6.91-foot high tide observed on July 30. This photograph was taken between high and low tide.



Photograph 11. Looking southeast. Data Points 9 (red arrow) and 10 (blue arrow) document dominance of nonhydrophytic vegetation and hydrophytic vegetation, respectively, within the seasonal wetland. Both sides of the green line satisfy the Coastal Act one-parameter wetland definition.



Photograph 11. Looking northwest. Data Points 11 (red arrow) and 12 (shovel) document that the coyote brush covered rise between the roadside ditch and seasonal wetland to the north is still a wetland under the CCC definition. The dominant vegetation at DP 11 is non-hydrophytic, but indicators of hydric soils and wetland hydrology are still present.

ATTACHMENT C

Wetland Determination Data Forms

Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Repl	acement	City/County: Humb	oldt Date: 7/29/
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Dep	partment	of Public W	orks State: California
Investigator(s) Julian Colescott		Section	, Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) TERRECE		 Local relief (concave 	, convex_none) Slope %
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat:	40.7525	3.6 Long:_	<u>-124,182588</u> Datum: <u>WGS84</u>
Soil Map Unit Name: NO SOIL data ava	ilable	N	NI Classification: <u>TEM 1 Col</u>
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for t	this time of year?	⊘) N (If no, explain i	n Remarks.)
Are vegetation Y / soil Y / or hydrology Y sigr	nificantly disturbe	ed? Are normal circums	tances present? Y / N
Are vegetation Y /(N/ soil Y /(N- or hydrology Y /(N) nate	urally problemati	c? (If needed, explain	in Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing s	ampling point loo	ations, transects, impor	tant features, etc.)
Hydrophytic vegetation? W/N Hydric soil? N We	etland hydrology	YN Is sampled are	ea a wetland?(Y) N Other waters? Y / N
Adjacent to Waters Is Explain: Tributary to Waters Is Evaluation of features designated "Other V Indicators: Defined bed and bank Sco Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent	solated (with inte Vaters of the our Ordin Enhemeral	Inited States"	apped Stream Width
Natural Drainage Artificial	Ephemeral Drainage	Navigable Water	
Remarks HILLIDRIC FA. OD DELATING	15.04	FLAT + PO	ORLY DRAINED, SOILS HAVE
	a shar	D. Manietis Re	6 Ene where NULADAN DOL
WAT SEIGN Z PADAMEN	R + 1	PADAMA NE	2 WID CRING214 MGT
		6 . (\$ all	
Venetation (Use Scientific Names)	Abcolute	Dominant Indicator	Dominance Test Worksheet
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:20' <)	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) Total number of dominant species
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator <u>Species?</u> <u>Status</u>	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 7 Total number of dominant species across all strata:
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Indicator <u>Species?</u> <u>Status</u> 	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: <u>3</u> (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: <u>7</u> (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: <u>10</u> O (A/B)
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 Total number of dominant species across all strata: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 1000 (A/B)
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over:	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Total number of dominant species across all strata: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Image: Percent of dominant species that OBL Species x 1/=
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 7 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 7 (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 100 (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species x1= FACW Species x2 =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 7 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 7 (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 100 (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species x 1 = FACW Species x 2 = FAC Species x 3 =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $\overline{3}$ (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: $\overline{3}$ (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species $x 2 =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> over:	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 3 (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species $x 1'$ = FACW Species $x 2$ = FAC Species $x 3$ = FACU Species $x 4$ = UPL Species $x 5$ =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 3 (B) Percent of dominant species that 7 (B) Percent of dominant species that $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet $10 \circ$ (A/B) OBL Species $x \gamma =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals (A)
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Indicator Species? Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $\overline{3}$ (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: $\overline{7}$ (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: $\overline{10} \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species $x 1^{e}$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals (A) Prevalence Index = B/A =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10°) 1. Image: Calibratic Cali	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Description of the speciesPrevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL SpeciesFACW SpeciesX 2 =FACW SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 3 =FACU SpeciesX 4 =UPL SpeciesX 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20° 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 1. Feestuce 2. 2. 2. 3. 7. Feestuce 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. <	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 3 (B) Percent of dominant species that 7 (B) Percent of dominant species that $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet $10 \circ$ (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet $10 \circ$ (A/B) OBL Species $x 1^{=}$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals (A) Prevalence Index = B/A =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° r) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Color 1. 50% 2. 50% 3. 50%	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% S</u> <u>2 S</u> <u>2 S</u> <u>2 S</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FACUX	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:7(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:7(B)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL. FACW, or FAC:10Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Speciesx 2 =FACW Speciesx 2 =FAC Speciesx 3 =FACU Speciesx 4 =UPL Speciesx 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationXDominance Test is >50%
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° r) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 1. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I. I.	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 3 (B) Percent of dominant species that 7 (B) Prevalence Index Worksheet 7 (A/B) OBL Species $x 1^{-2}$ FAC Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals (A) Prevalence Index = B/A =
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 2 3 4 50%= Total Co Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 1. <u>Festuca acundinacae</u> 2. <u>Festuca acundinacae</u> 2. <u>Festuca acundinacae</u> 2. <u>Festuca acundinacae</u> 3. <u></u> 5. <u></u> <i>Lotus cornectatos</i> 6	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>3 5</u> <u>3 6</u> <u>3 7</u> <u>3 5</u> <u>3 6</u> <u>3 7</u> <u>3 7</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:// 0 0(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species// 2 =FACW Species// 2 =FACW Species// 3 =FACU Species// 4 =UPL Species// 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.01Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Co Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 50%= 20%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 1 Z0%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 2 Z0%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 3 Z0%= Total Co Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 3 Z0%= Z0%= Total Co Sapling Co Sap	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Description of the speciesPrevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL SpeciesPACW SpeciesX 2 =FACW SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 3 =FACU SpeciesX 4 =UPL SpeciesX 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index to r Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.01Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° r) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 50%= 20%= Total Ca 1. Festure 3. Trifelyom Cynodon dae tylon 5. Lotys 6. 7. 8.	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 3 (A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata: 3 (B)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC: 10 (A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species $x 2 =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation 1 (Explain) 1000
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: $20'r$) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Cd Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: $20'r$) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Cd 50%= 20%= Total Cd 50%= 20%= Total Cd A. 50%= 20%= Total Cd A. 50%= 20%= Total Cd A. 50%= 20%= Total Cd 6. 7. 8. 50%= 20%= Total Cd	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>1 2</u> <u>3 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>7 7</u> over: <u>¶ 7</u>	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:// 0 0(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species// ACW Species// 2 =FACW Species// 3 =FACW Species// 4 =UPL Species// 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.01Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation 1/Explain)1/Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology mustbe present.
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20°) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20° r) 1. 2. 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 3. 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca Solow= 20%= Total Ca 4. 50%= 20%= Total Ca 1. Festora 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. 2. <tr< td=""><td>Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>1 2</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>1 2</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>9 7</u> % Cover</td><td>Dominant Indicator Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC N FAC Species? Status</td><td>Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:Image: Percent of dominant species thatTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 4 =UPL SpeciesX 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation 1 (Explain)Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must_be present.</td></tr<>	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> over: <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>1 2</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>1 2</u> <u>7 5</u> <u>2 6</u> <u>9 7</u> % Cover	Dominant Indicator Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Species? Status Y FAC Y FAC Y FAC N FAC N FAC N FAC Species? Status	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:ID Image: Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:Image: Percent of dominant species thatTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 2 =FAC SpeciesX 4 =UPL SpeciesX 5 =Column Totals(A)Prevalence Index = B/A =Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation 1 (Explain)Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must_be present.

Data Point

20112	S	0	il	S
-------	---	---	----	---

Profile Description: (Describe to the depth need	ed to document the indicator or confirm the	absence of indicators.
(inches) Color (moint) %	DX realures	Toyturo Domorko
$\frac{(\text{Incres})}{2}$ $\frac{(\text{color}(\text{moist}))}{2}$ $\frac{\%}{2}$ $\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2}$	1000000000000000000000000000000000000	Texture Remarks
0-24" 10112 1/2 00 1012	16 20 0	SICITY COTTONI
¹ Types: C = Concentration D = Depletion RM = Re	educed Matrix ² Location: PL = Pore Lin	ning M = Matrix
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, u	inless otherwise noted)	Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils ³
Histosol (A1)	Sandy Redox (S5)	2 cm Muck (A10)
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Stripped Matrix (S6)	Red Parent Materials (TF21)
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy Mucky Mineral (except	Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)
Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA 1) (F1)	Vegetated Sand/Gravel Bars
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)	Loamy Gleved Matrix (F2)	Other (Explain in Remarks)
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Completed Matrix (F3)	
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox Dark Surface (F6)	³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and
Sandy Gleved Matrix (S4)	Depleted Dark Surface (F7)	wetland hydrology must be present.
	Redax Depressions (F8)	
Restrictive Layer (if present): Type:	Depth (Inches) Hyd	Iric Soil Present? Y/ N
Remarks		
HYDRII SOILS.		
Hydrology		
Wetland Indicators		
Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required.	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)
Surface Water (A1)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA 1.2.4A, and 4B)	MLRA 1.2.4A, and 4B)
Saturation (A3)	Salt Crust (B11)	Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1)	Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)	Drv-Season Water Table (C2)
Sediment Deposits (B2)	Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)	Saturation Visible on
Drift Deposits (B3)	Oxidized Bhizospheres (C3)	Aerial Imagery (C9)
Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)	Geomorphic Position (D2)
Iron Denosite (B5)	Recent Iron Reduction in	Shallow Aquitard (D3)
IION Deposits (B3)		EAC-Netural Test (D5)
Sunde Son Clacks (D0)	Stunted or Stressed Plants	Paised Apt Mounds (D6) (I PP A)
		Erect Henry Hummorks (D7)
Imagery (B7)		
Sparsely vegetaled Concave		
Field Observations		
Surface Water Present? Yes No	Depth (inches) Wetlan	d Hydrology
Water Table Present? Yes No K	Depth (inches)	
Saturation Present? Yes No	Depth (inches) (includes capill	lary fringe)
Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitor	ing well, aerial photos, and previous inspections)), it available:
	and the State	

Worth State Resources, Inc. Data Point Determination Data Form-Western Mountains, Valleys, & Coast Region Projective: Pine Hill Bridge Replacement_Op/Comp. Humboldt Date: 2/52//3 Projective: Pine Hill Bridge Replacement_Op/Comp. Humboldt Date: 2/52//3 Immetryorty: Julian Colescott Sector, Tornsho, Rarge Sec. 4, TAN, RJN Indom/hildsprenze, etc.) Load reflection: Non-State W Sold App Unit Name. No. Sold Teat a valiable No. Sold Teat a valiable NV (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Are ungetain // Nile of Vydiogic conditions on the site typical for this time of year? DN (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Are ungetain // Nile of Vydiogic conditions on the site typical for this time of year? DN (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Summary of Findings (Attach site mog.showing sample point locations; threads, inportael features, etc.) Mole Dimension (Inc. opphin in Remarks) USACE JuriedCition Apple and the trained by end hydrology (Y) Hill sample area seveleted (YN) Other weters (YN) Under weters (YN) USACE JuriedCition Apple and makes (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Subartise (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Summary of Findings (Attach site mog.showing sample point locations; threads, inportael features, designated "Other Weters of the United State" MA_DIM SLOUGH USACE JuriedCition Apple and makes (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Subartise (Inc. opphin in Remarks) Summary of Findings (Match site mog.s					<u>A</u>
Wetland Determination Data Form-Western Mountains, Valleys, & Coast Region Feature type Diff. (* / 2/24 / 1/2 Projects/lier Pile Hind Bate: Z_Z/J/S Applend/Ower File Hindbold Country Department of Public Works State: California Investigatory: Julian Coll Secott Sector, Tomohi, Range Dec. 4, TAN, RIM Jundfmm (Nilshop renew, chr.) Locat reflect (concave, conver, conver) Stage: A Subregion (LRR): LRR A (at 40, 752536 Long124, 182588 Datum: MGS84 Subregion (LRR): LRR A (at 40, 752536 Long124, 182588 Datum: MGS84 Are vegatation Y (By coll Y(By at bydrology Y (Bylandam) disturted Park normal circumstances present?) IN Are vegatation Y (By coll Y(Bylandam) y Guburady problematic? (* Meeding explain in Remarks.) Are vegatation Y (By coll Y(Bylandam) y Guburady problematic? Meeding (truch line insplain) framinks.) Subremit Means.) Summary of Findings (truch line insplain) framinks.) Are vegatation Y (Bylandam) y Weden Any Hopk Water Mark Mapped 2: Stream Wath (S-1/2) Wadport to Yakes Third at any bylandam y Hopk Water Mark Mapped 2: Stream Wath (S-1/2) Provide (Meeding Means) Hate Mark Mapped 2: Stream Wath (S-1/2) Wadport to Yakes Third at any bylandam Hopk Markange Park Mapped 2: Stream Wath (S-1/2)	North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point
Projectistic Date 2/21/3 Appleard/Owner_Humboldt Date 2/21/3 Appleard/Owner_Humboldt Calif.Corr.ia Innedigator() Lotal rate Colles Coll Detextransmitter Subragion (LRR) LRR A Lotal rate (corexer, corrus, corr	Wetland Determination Data Form–Wester	n Mounta	ains, Val	leys, & C	Coast Region Feature Type Dire / Stering
Impediation International I	Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County	. Humb	oldt Date 2/25/13
Applications Applications <td< td=""><td>Applicant/Oumer Humboldt County Depart</td><td>tment</td><td>of Put</td><td>iic W</td><td>orks state California</td></td<>	Applicant/Oumer Humboldt County Depart	tment	of Put	iic W	orks state California
Interlay (all products) Diff and any failing back in the state product in the state preduct in the state preduct in the state preduct in the state predu	Application Tulian Colescott	CIIICIIC	QI FUL	Contion	Taurable Parce Sec. 4 T4N RIW
Lational (maske, tank, t	Investigator(s). <u>DUITAIL COLESCOLE</u>		Least roll	_ Section	(Township, Range Beet, 4, 1417, 1417
Subragin Lark Instrume Normal State Normal State Subragin Lark Normal State Normal State Normal State Are dimatchystopic conditions on the ste typical for this time of year CAIN (If no, explain in Remarks.) Normal States Normal States Are vegetation Y (Mooil Y (Mool hydrology Y (Malganificantly disturbed? Are normatic discumstances present?) (IN Are vegetation?) Normal States Summary of Findings (Atach ele map showing sempling point localions, transects, important features, etc.) Hydrophydic vegetation?) Normal States Hydrophydic vegetation?) Tholary to Waters of the United States? MACTIN SLOUGH States Explain: States States Norther Waters of the United States? MACTIN SLOUGH Vegetation: Defined bed and bank States States Multical Defining Natural Definings Xet (State Are CAIL) Norther States Norther States Norther CAIL North Construct States Norther CAIL Norther CAIL Norther CAIL Norther CAIL North Construct States Norther CAIL Norther CAIL Norther CAIL Norther CAIL North Construct States Norther CAIL Norther CAIL	Landform (nillslope, terrace, etc.)	7525	_ Local reli	er (concave,	Sope %
Soli May Line 2011 Galaxies availability of the time of year CPN (ff.no, opplain in Resemance). Investment of Reserves. Are vegetation Y (g) call Y (g) or hydrology Y (g) and intervent of the caption in Resemance). Remains(s). Are vegetation Y (g) call Y (g) or hydrology Y (g) and intervent of the caption in Resemance). Intervent of the caption in Reserves. Summary of Findings (Attach ete map showing sempling point location, transects, important features, etc.) Hydrophyte vegetation Y (N) Other waters (Y) N USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters (Y) in Metano hydrology (Y) is sampled area a wetland' (Y) N. Other waters (Y) N USACE Jurisdiction Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MAQ2TIA SLOOG (H) Profile bit of an above (M) intervention of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MAQ2TIA SLOOG (H) State (M) Nutra Dariange (M) May	Subregion (LKR): <u>LIFK A</u> Lat: 40	10.7020		Long:	-124,102508 Uatum: WG504
Are deniationly diologic conditions on the site bytecal for this time of year? LAN (If no, explain in Hermarks.) Are vegetation Y (M) coil Y (M) outly divelops Y (M) private with the magnitude was a mortain communication of the time of years. An anomal circumstances present (Y) N Are vegetation Y (M) coil Y (M) untryduology Y (M) obtained youtdewastic? (If needed, explain in Remarks.) Summary of Findings (Match etile magnitudewastic?) (If needed, explain in Remarks.) USACE Jurisdiction Ageent to Witters Ageent to Witters Thickary to Waters (M) (M) (W) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M) (M	Soli Map Unit Name: NO SOIT Caca avaita	addre -	0	NV	
Are vegetation Y (N) (a) V() (a) rundrokey Y (N) (a) functionally problematic? (If needed, explain in Remarks.) Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sampling profile classing, transects, important features, etc.) Hydrophytic vegetation (V) N Hydric sol? (V) N Wettand hydrology (V) It is sampled area a wettand? (V) Other waters (V) N USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MA&27TM 5_0006H Indicators: Defined bad map bank Scours Defined bad map bank Scours Ordinary High Water Mark Mapped Staturate Indicators: Defined bad map bank Scours Scours Scours Natura Drainings Available Water MAR (Armange Attillable Map Baseline on USSS Class dd) Dominance Test Worksheet Remarks: Size (Artica Prezi Arabia (A	Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti	me of year?	UN (If n	o, explain il	n Remarks.)
Are vegetation Y I/Visul Y Visular My columnative? (Inneeded, explain in Rements.) Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transcels, important features, etc.) Hydrophytic vegetation (V) N Hydric Sol? (N) Welland hydrolog/(V) N is sampled area a wetland? (N) Other wetlers (N) N USACE Juriediction Adjacent to Waters Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MA 257/N 5/COVGH Evaluation of features designated. "Other Waters of the United States" MA 257/N 5/COVGH Peature Designation: Durinement and basing the Mark Mapped States MA 257/N 5/COVGH Remarks (M+MA)SLL 126. Socor Confinant Hydri Water Mark Mapped States MA 257/N 5/COVGH Remarks (M+MA)SLL 126. Socor (C) MAR AT the Soc Core (C) MARKAN C MARKAN C) (CARKAN C	Are vegetation Y /(N soil Y /N, or hydrology Y /(N significa	ntly disturbe	ed? Are norr	nal circums	tances present () / N
Summary of Finding: (Attach elle map.phowing sampling point locations, transacts, important features, etc.) With the sampled area a wetland (V) N Other waters (V) N USACE Jurisdiction Addgement to Waters (V) N Other waters (V) N Other waters (V) N Support To Support (V) N Other waters (V) N State (V) N Other waters (V) N Other waters (V) N Explain: State (V) N Other waters (V) N State (V) N Other waters (V) N Other waters (V) N Explain: State (V) N Other waters (V) N State (V) N Other waters (V) N MACTIN Support (V) N Explain: State (V) N Other waters (V) N MACTIN Support (V) N State (V) N Remarks: CHAMARA LINE (V) N Other waters (V) N MACTIN Support (V) N State (V) N Natural Dranking (V) N Other waters (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Natural Dranking (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Natural Dranking (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N Not (V) N State (V) N Not (V) N Natural Dranking (V) N Not (V) N State (V) N	Are vegetation Y / N/ soil Y / N/ or hydrology Y / N aturally	problemati	c? (If need	ed, explain i	in Remarks.)
Hydrophylic vegetation (*) N Hydric sol? (*) N Vettand hydrology (*) Is sampled area a wettand? (*) Other waters (*) Adjacent to Waters (*) Tribulary to Waters (*) Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Evaluation of features designation (*) Other Waters of the United States" M (*) M (*) Feature Designation: Percential (*) Intermittent Control (*) M (*) To be control (*) Intermittent Control (*) Explanation (*) M (*) M (*) Remarks (*) M (*) FE (*) Substrate M (*) M (*) Nature Orange (*) A (*) FE (*) Explanation (*) M (*) M (*) Addition (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) To AC (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) M (*) <t< td=""><td>Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample</td><td>ing point loc</td><td>cations, trans</td><td>sects, impor</td><td>tant features, etc.)</td></t<>	Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample	ing point loc	cations, trans	sects, impor	tant features, etc.)
USACE Unisolicition Adjenent to Waters Trobulary to Waters Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Explain: Stock unisolicition Image: Stock units MACTIN SLOUGH Explain: Stock units Defined bed and bank Sour Ordinary High Water Mark Mapped Stock units Feature Designation Defined bed and bank Stock units Stock units Stock units Feature Designation Defined bed and bank Stock units Stock units Stock units Remarks C/HANJARL ULE Stop EAM HT Explain: Norkgabe Water Remarks C/HANJARL ULE Stock units Norkgabe Water Stock units Stock units Ads Stock units Stock units Norkgabe Water Stock units Stock units Ads Stock units	Hydrophytic vegetation? YNN Hydric soil? YNN Wetland	i hvdrologv	YUN Is:	sampled are	a a wetland? (Y)N Other waters? Y)N
USACE Jurisdiction Explain:	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			anaria heren algeori (Angele and Mathematica)	
Adjacent to Waters Inbulary to Waters Isolated (with interstate commerce) Isolated (non jurisdictional) Explain: Substrate MA 27TN Substrate MA 27TN Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MA 27TN Substrate MA 27TN Remarks Childray High Water Mark Mapped Stream With ISS Substrate MA 27TN Remarks Childray Dainage Attificial Dainage Nerdgate Water Substrate MA 27TN Remarks Childray Dainage Attificial Dainage Nerdgate Water Substrate MA 27TN Remarks Childray Dainage Attificial Dainage Nerdgate Water Substrate MA 27TN Substrate MA	USACE Jurisdiction				
Definition Control of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" MACTN SLOUGH Indicators: Defined bed and bank S. Scour Ordinary High Water Mark Mapped S. Stream With 15 - 1% Return Designation: Personal Mark Dispect Substrate MUSES Quad S. Stream With 15 - 1% Remarks: CHAMUAR LIZES STPERAM AT ESGE OF FLOOD PUT MACH DISPECT MUSES Quad S. Substrate Remarks: CHAMUAR LIZES STPERAM AT ESGE OF FLOOD PUT MACH DISPECT MUSES Quad S. Substrate Nort OFALSES ISSUE Definance Test Worksheet Number of cominant species New getation (Use Scientific Names) Abcoluc Dominant Indicator Number of cominant species 1	Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters X Isolate	ed (with inte	rstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
Eventuation of reactives designated of the waters of the Onited States Important Status Stream Victor Important Status Feature Designation: Perennial	Evaluation of footures designated #Other Minte		Inited Ct	ator ³³	MARTIN SLOUGH
Intermeted and start the period of the start that the start and the	Indicators: Defined hed and bank X Scour	ns or the	United Si ary High We	dle6 ter Mark M	anned K Stream Width 15-18
Natural Drainage Natural Drainage Newligable Water Remarks ArtMANDELLIARD STPEAM AT ESGE 0 F CODE PCHM / EDRDE BOUNDARY TD 3AC ISFLUERS STPEAM AT ESGE 0 F Code PCHM / EDRDE BOUNDARY Ads Structure PERTORE (SEE Protocs 2) DP Dominance Test Worksheet Dominant species Tree Stratum FRUE Structure Species2 Status Number of dominant species 1.	Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent E	phemeral_	Blue-lin	e on USGS	Quad X Substrate MUD
Remarks CHMANAGELIZES STPEAM AT ESGE OF FLOOD (CHM / EORS BOUNDARY) TIDAL INFLUENCE. ISSA ISSA ISSA INFLUENCE INFLUE	Natural Drainage 🖄 Artificial Drain	18ge	Navigable \	Nater	_
TJ DAL INFLUSEL DELOCE. IS-20' WUDE. NAPRON (4'4) FRINZE WIDD NOT WARPED A5 54 PACATE FEATORE. (566 PHOTOS). DP DOCUMENTS TWE "GHED WARPED" FEATURE Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Absolute Dominant Indicator 1. Species? Status 2. Total Cover. Species? Status 3. Total Cover. Webreine dominant species I. (B) 2. Total Cover. Webreine dominant species I. (B) 3. Total Cover. Webreine dominant species I. (B) 2. Total Cover. Webreine dominant species I. (C) 3. Total Cover. Webreine dominant species I. (C) 4. Total Cover. Webreine dominant species X = [D & (AB) 7. Total Cover. Webreine dominant species X = [D & (AB) 8. Total Cover. Webreine dominant species X = [D & (AB) 9. Total Cover. Webreine dominant species X = [D & (AB) 1. Carex Handbare Y = [D & (AB) Prevalence Index Worksheet 1. Carex Handbare Y = [D & (C) Y = [D & (Remarks (HANNELIZED STREAM	ATE	-D65	OF F	LOODPUT / ROAD BOUNDARY
A5 SEPRATE FEATORE (SEE PHOTOS DP Dominants THE "OHLE Worksheet Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Absolute Dominant Indicator Number of dominant species Indicators (A) 1	TIDAL INFLORNCE. 15.20' 1	NIDE.	NARI	con (2.4) FRINGE WILD NOT MAPPED
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test Worksheet 1.	AS SEPARATE FEATORE. (SEE PI	10:05	00	DECIDA	IKAN'S THE "MULLO WHENEDS" EDENIRE
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Absolute Dominant indicator 1.			· · V	<i>yccci</i>	Designed Test Westered
Index Statum (Pilor Size: 20 × 10		Absolute % Course	Dominant Creation?	Indicator	Number of dominant species
1	1 (Piol Size, <u>act x 70</u>)	% Cover	Opecies /	318105	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2	1				Total number of dominant species
3.	2				across all strata: (B)
4. 20%=	3	-	-		are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
Subject 20%=	4.				
Saping/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size:	50%= <u>/</u> 1 otal Cover.	~~~~~			Prevalence Index Worksheet
1.	Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size:)	<u>% Cover</u>	Species?	Status	OP Species v1=
2.	1				
3.	2		-		FACW Species x/2 =
4.	3				FAC Species x 3 =
50% 20% Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $20 \times 10^{\circ}$) % Cover Species? Status 1. $(arex lyngbye)$ 20 20% Column Totals (A) (B) 2. 20% 20% 20% Prevalence Index = B/A =	4	-			FACU Species x 4 =
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 10) % Cover Species? Status Column Totals (A)(B) 1	50%= 20%= Total Cover:				UPL Species x 5 =
1. Carex 14. Prevalence Index = B/A = 3.	Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 1 0)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals (A) (B)
2.	1. Carex lynabye	20	<u> </u>	OBL	Prevalence Index = B/A =
3.	2				
4.	3				Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
5.	4				Dominance Test is >50%
6.	5				Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^{1}$
7	6				Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting
8.	7				Uata in Remarks of on a separate sheet) Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1
50%= 20%= Total Cover: 20 Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present. Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:) % Cover Species? Status Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? (PIN Notes: VEG PRESENT IN PATCHES 2 50%= 20%= Total Cover: 50%= 20%= Total Cover: % Bare Ground in Herb Stratum % Cover of Biotic Crust Motor Present? (PIN Notes: VEG PRESENT IN PATCHES AS SEPREADE WRITHERS AND FEATURE.	8				Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explain)
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:) % Cover Species? Status be present. 1	50%= 10 20%= 1 Total Cover	20			Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
1.	Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:	% Cover	Species?	Status	be present.
2 Notes: VEG PRESENT IN PATCHES 50%= 20%= Total Cover: ALONG DITCH BANK - BUT W/I 0 HWM. NOT DELINEATED AS SEPARATE WRITAND FEATURE.	1.	10 20101	0,0000	÷	Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? 10/ N
50%= 20%= Total Cover: ALONG DITCH BANK - BUT W/I 50%= 20%= Total Cover: OHWM. NOT DELINGATION AS % Bare Ground in Herb Stratum 40 % Cover of Biotic Crust 10 SEPARATE WRITAND FEATURE.	2		<u>Estimation and a second se</u>		Notes: VEG PRESENT IN PATCHES
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum 40 % Cover of Biotic Crust 2 SEPARATE WRITAND FEATURE.	50%= 20%- Total Course				ALONG BITCH BANK-BUT W/1
Whater 3 " LOVER OF BIOLIC CRUST SEPARATIK WRITAND FEATURE.	V Para Ground in Harb Stration 40 1/ Occurred Di	tio Cruch	Ø		OHWM. NOT DELINEARED AS
	$(\mu) A \gamma \in \mathcal{I}$ \mathcal{I}				SEFARAGE WRILAND FEATURE.

Soils								
Profile Deso Depth	cription: (Describe Matrix	to the depth nee Re	eded to docume edox Features	ent the in	dicator or con	firm the al	bsence of in	ndicators.
(inches)	<u>Color (moist)</u>	<u>%</u>	Color (moist)	%	Type ¹	Loc ²	Texture	Remarks
	NO	Piti	DUG IN	FL	00350	6 617	CH C	HAINEL
/_		egeneration Motors					-	
¹ Types: C =	Concentration D = D	epletion RM =	Reduced Matrix	:	² Location: PL :	= Pore Linii	ng M = Ma	trix
Hydric Soil	Indicators: (Applic	able to all LRRs	, unless otherw	ise noted	d)		Indicator	s for Problematic Hydric Soils ³
Hist	tosol (A1)		Sandy	Redox (S5)		2	cm Muck (A10)
Hist	tic Epipedon (A2)		Strippe	d Matrix	(S6)		R	ed Parent Materials (TF21)
Bla	ck Histic (A3)		Loamy	Mucky N	Vineral (exce	pt	V	ery Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)
Hyd	lrogen Sulfide (A4)		MLRA	1) (F1)			V	egetated Sand/Gravel Bars
Dep	leted Below Dark S	Surface (A11)	Loamy	Gleyed	Matrix (F2)		<u> </u>	ther (Explain in Remarks)
Thic	ck Dark Surface (A1	2)	Deplete	ed Matrix	(F3)			
San	dy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox	Dark Su	rface (F6)		³ Indicato	rs of hydrophytic vegetation and
San	dy Gleyed Matrix (S	54)	Deplete	ed Dark	Surface (F7)		wetland	hydrology must be present.
			Redox	Depress	iions (F8)			
		_						
Restrictive	Layer (if present):	Туре:	lansia ⁶²	Depth (Inches)	Hydri	c Soil Pres	ent? Y N
Hydrolog Wetland Ir	gy ndicators							
Primary Inc	dicators (Minimum d	of one is require	d. Check all tha	at apply.)	aga na su Ni a na na na paga da		<u>Secondar</u>	y Indicators (2 or more required)
× Sur	face Water (A1)		Water	Stained	esves (R0) a	vcent	Ŵ	later Stained Leaves (B9) except
High	h Water Table (A2)		MIRA	1.2 44	and 4B)	Neepr	N	ALRA 1.2.4A, and 4B)
X Sati	uration (A3)		Salt Cr	ust (R11)		D.	rainage Patterns (B10)
X Wat	er Marks (B1)		Aquatic	: Invertel	/ brates (B13)		D	rv-Season Water Table (C2)
K Sed	iment Deposits (B2)	Hydroc	en Sulfi	de Odor (C1)		S	aturation Visible on
Drift	Deposits (B3)	/	Oxidize	ed Rhizo	spheres (C3)		A	verial Imagery (C9)
Alaz	al Mat or Crust (B4)		Presen	ice of Re	duced Iron (C	(4)	G	eomorphic Position (D2)
Iron	Deposits (B5)		Recent	Iron Re	duction in	,	S	hallow Aguitard (D3)
Surf	ace Soil Cracks (B	5)	Tilled	Soils (C6	5)		F/	AC-Netural Test (D5)
Inur	dation Visible on A	erial	Stunte	d or Stre	ssed Plants		R	aised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)
lme	igery (B7)		(D1) (I	RR A)			F	rost-Heave Hummocks (D7)
Spa	rselv Vegetated Co	ncave	Other (Explain i	in Remarks)			
Surf	ace (B8)				,			
Field Obse	ervations							
Surface Wat	ler Present? Yes	No No	Depth (inch	es) 0~	. 2'	Wetland	Hvdroloav?	© / N
Water Table	Present? Yes	No	Depth (inch	es)	>		,	с.
Saturation P	resent? Yes	XNo	Depth (inch	es)_E) (includ	des capillar	ry fringe)	
Describe F	Recorded Data (stre	eam gauge, monit	oring well, aerial	photos, a	nd previous ins	pections), i	if available:	
Ø								
Remarks	MAETIN	SLOUGH.	MDE	GA	TR EI	FFEC	FIVE	IN BLOCKING FIDA
WATER	25. PERE	NNIAC.						

North State Resources, Inc.					Data Point	3
Wetland Determination Data Form-Wester	n Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	oast Region	Feature Type	UPLAND
Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County	Humb	oldt		Date: 7/29/13
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Depar	tment	of Pub	olic Wo	orks State: C	aliforn	ia
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section.	Township, Range Se	ec. 4, T4	IN, RIW
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) ROAD PRISM		Local reli	et (concave,	convex none)		Slope % 45
Subregion (LRR): TRR A Lat: 40	.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588	B Datum	WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: No soil data availa	able		NV	VI Classification:	ø	 Record O. Sp. December Sectores
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti	me of year?	TYN (If r	o, explain ir	Remarks.)		
Are vegetation Y/N, soil Y/N, or hydrology Y Asignifica	ntly disturbe	ed? Are nor	mal circumst	tances present? ()/N	VEG 19	5 MOWEN
Are vegetation Y As soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) haturally	problemati	c? (If need	ed, explain i	n Remarks.)		
Summary of Findings (Attach site man showing same	ing point log	eations trans	sects impor	tant features etc.)		
Hydrophylic venetation? WN Hydric soil? Y (N) Wetland	hydrology	2×10^{10} le o	sampled are	a a wetland? Y (N) (`)ther watere? V	N
	- nyorology :					
USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolate	ed (with inte	rstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdict	tional)	
Explain:			and a second second		,	
Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate	ers of the	United St	tates"			
Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour_	Ordin	ary High Wa	ater Mark Ma	apped Stream V	Vidth	
Natural Drainage Artificial Drain	INGE	Navigable \	Nater		.le	
Remarks NPIAND PLIP DO DP	' <u></u>	3- 7	NP 1	DCATEN A	N ROAN	Paren
AQUE MLEDIAL ÉLOUCH		Ser a	AA C	and all admits in the	0 6010	1 cr > and
Mine and an another						
Verstation (lies Coloratilia Norman)	Ab	D		Dominance Test W	larkahaat	Allem Martin and Allem Allem Allem Allem and an and a share a large share before
Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20×5^{-1})	Absolute % Cover	Species?	Indicator	Number of dominant	t species	
1.	70 00101	0000003	Otatas	that are OBL, FACW	V, or FAC:	<u>≶</u> (A)
2	ağından in milliri kiri kiri	schemint Floren fast and het concern		Total number of don	ninant species	5 (P)
3				Percent of dominant	species that	(D)
4.				are OBL, FACW, or	FAC:	<u>00</u> (A/B)
50%~ 20%= Total Cover:				Prevalence Index V	Norksheet	
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 5)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Total % Cover of:	Multiply by	¥
1. Baccharis Dilularis	5	1	UPC	OBL Species _	x1=	and the second second
2. Rosa californica	2	4	FAC	FACW Species	x 2 =	
3.	and and a second se			FAC Species	x 3 =	
4				FACU Species	x4-	
50%= <u>3,5</u> 20%= <u>/,</u> Total Cover.	7			UPL Species	x 5 =	
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10 × 5)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals	(A)	(B)
1. Holous lanatus	35	4	FAC	Prevalence Index =	B/A =	
2. Calusteria subaraulis	28	1	UPL			
3. Festura arundinacae	35	Y	FAC	Hydrophytic Veget	ation Indicators	5 materia
4. Plantago, lanceorata	5	N	FACU	Dominance T	ir Hydrophytic Ve Test is >50%	egeration
5. toenicolum vulgare	_5	N	UPL	Prevalence II	ndex is $\leq 3.0^1$	
6				Morphologica	al Adaptations ¹ (p	provide supporting
7				Wetland Non	Vascular Plante	¹ ¹
8				Problematic I	Hydrophytic Veg	etation ¹ (Explain)
50%= 20%= Total Cover:	100			*Indicators of hydric be present	soil and wetland	l hydrology must
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 5)	% Cover	Species?	Status	bo proson.		A
1				Hydrophytic Veget	ation Present?	J/N
2/				Notes: HYDEOP	HYIES (T	FAC) ARE
50%= 20%= Total Cover.		~		DOMINANT	•	
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum <u></u> % Cover of Bio	tic Crust _	<u>×</u>				

Soils

Profile D Depth (inches) O - J v	escription: (Describ Matrix <u>Color (moist)</u> 1648 ³ /2	e to the de <u>%</u> / 0 0	pth needed to docum Redox Features <u>Color (moist)</u>	ent the inc	licator or co	nfirm the a	absence of indicator <u>Texture</u> <u>GRAVEUY</u>	s. <u>Remarks</u> 10 Am -	Rono	BASE
¹ Types:	C = Concentration D =	Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix	2	 Location: Pl	= Pore Lin	ning M = Matrix			-
Hydric S	oil Indicators: (Appli Histosol (A1) Histic Epipedon (A2) Black Histic (A3) Hydrogen Sulfide (A4) Depleted Below Dark Surface (A	cable to a Surface (A	II LRRs, unless otherv Sandy Stripp Loam MLRA \11) Loam	vise noted / Redox (S ed Matrix y Mucky N V 1) (F1) y Gleyed N ted Matrix) (S6) /ineral (exc Matrix (F2)	ept	Indicators for Pr 2 cm Muc Red Pare Very Sha Vegetated Other (Ex	roblematic Hydri ck (A10) nt Materials (TF2 llow Dark Surface d Sand/Gravel Ba cplain in Remarks	i c Soils ³ 21) e (TF12) ars)	
	Sandy Mucky Mineral Sandy Gleyed Matrix ((S1) (S4)	Redo: Deple Redo:	Coark Sur ted Dark S Depress	face (F6) Surface (F7) Ions (F8))	³ Indicators of hy wetland hydrolog	drophytic vegetat gy must be presei	llon and nt.	
Restrict	ive Layer (if present)	: Type: _		Depth (I	nches)	Hyd	ric Soil Present? Y	11		_

Remarks NON-HYDRIC SOLLS IN ROAD BASE.

Hydrology			
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimu	m of one is required	I. Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)
Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B3) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks Inundation Visible of Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Surface (B8)	A2) (B2) 34) (B6) n Aerial Concave	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Field Observations		Depth (inches) Wetla	nd Hydrology2 Y (N)
Water Table Present? Ye	es No	Depth (inches) Weta	
Saturation Present? Ye	s No	Depth (inches) (includes capi	illary fringe)
Describe Recorded Data	(stream gauge, monito	ring well, aerial photos, and previous inspections	s), if available:
Remarks No will	D HYDRO. 1	NDICATORS,	

North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point
Wetland Determination Data Form–We	stern Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	Coast Region Feature Type
Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Repl	acement	City/County	Humb	oldt Date: 7/36/(3
Applicant/Owner: Ilumboldt County De	partment	of Pub	olic Wo	orksState:_California
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section	Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) READSIDE		Local reli	et (concave,	convex, none Slope % 3
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat	40.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: <u>No soil data ava</u>	ilable		NV	VI Classification
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for	this time of year	∑∭/N (lfr	o, explain ir	Remarks.)
Are vegetation (V)N, soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N)sig	nificantly disturbe	ed? Are nor	mal circumst	ances present? Y/N MOWED VEG,
Are vegetation Y (N)soil Y (N)or hydrology Y (N)a	lurally problemati	ic? (If need	ed, explain i	n Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing	sampling point lo	cations, trans	sects. impor	tant features, etc.)
Hydrophytic vegetation? (2)/N Hydric soil? Y (1) W	etland hydrology	? Y 🔊 Is:	sampled are	a a wetland? Y IN Other waters? Y IN
	, .,			
Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters	solated (with inte	erstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
Evaluation of features designated "Other I	Natore of the	United St	atoe"	
Indicators: Defined bed and bank So	cour Ordin	ary High Wa	ater Mark Ma	anned Stream Width
Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent	Ephemeral	Blue-lin	e on USGS	Quad Substrate
Natural/Drainage Artificial	Drainage	Navigable \	Nater	
Remarks SMALL SUSPRET	WEILANI	D' DE	SPITE	PRESENCE OF HYDROPHYTIC
VEG, LOCATION 15 WELL	DRTIN	ED W	1 NO	WEILAND HYDROLOGY OR
HYDRIC SOIL INDICATORS	. NOI	N. WIT	D FO	R CCC OR CORPS.
Vegetation (Ose octentific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 10 / 5) 1. 2. 3.	Absolute 	Species?		Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
				Dunualan an Index Markahaat
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10 V S	% Covor	Spacias?	Status	Total % Cover of: Multiply by
1 Rubus avance is cuts	15	Y	FACUL	OBL Species x 1 ≠
2 Posa All Vifa (A. Ca		Ý	FAC	FACW Species x2 =
3			<u>.</u>	FAC Species x 3 =
4.				FACIL Species x4 =
50%= / ⁶ 20%= ^{//} Total C	over 20			
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 107.5)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals (A) (B)
1. Serrous Minrocarous	30	Ŷ	OBL	
2. Ranunculus Frencis	15	4	FAC	
3. Holeus anatus	5	N	FAC	Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
4				Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation
5				Prevalence Index is < 3.01
6				Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting
7				data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)
8.				Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explain)
50%= 20%= Total C	over: 50		Theorem States of the	¹ Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:)	% Cover	Species?	Status	be present.
1				Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?
2				Notes: HYDROPHYIKS DOMINATIE.
50%= 20%= Total C	over:			50% BARE GROOND B/W
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum 50 % Cover	of Biotic Crust	ø		VEG CLUMPS, CURRENTLY FUEL
				10/ MOWER MURPINGS

Data Point

Soils

Profile Description: (Describe to the dep	th needed to documer	nt the indicator or co	onfirm the a	bsence of indicat	tors.
Deptn Matrix	Redox reatures	0/ Trm=1	1.002	Testure	Domorko
(inches) Color (moist) %	Color (moist)		LOC ²	<u>Texture</u>	Remarks
0-6 JOIR /2 100	20 million and a second s	Thermony Construction of the Construction of t		COMP(
				Bearing the second s	
	-				
¹ Types: C = Concentration D = Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix	² Location: P	L = Pore Lini	ng M = Matrix	
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all	LRRs, unless otherwis	se noted)		Indicators for	Problematic Hydric Soils ³
Histosol (A1)	Sandy I	Redox (S5)		2 cm M	luck (A10)
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Strippe	d Matrix (S6)		Red Pa	arent Materials (TF21)
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy	Mucky Mineral (exc	ept	Very SI	hallow Dark Surface (TF12)
Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA	1) (F1)		Vegeta	ted Sand/Gravel Bars
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A1	1) Loamy	Gleyed Matrix (F2)		Other (Explain in Remarks)
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Deplete	d Matrix (F3)			
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox I	Dark Surface (F6)		³ Indicators of	hydrophytic vegetation and
Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Deplete	d Dark Surface (F7	')	wetland hydro	logy must be present.
	Redox I	Depressions (F8)			
		And the second second second second	te		0
Restrictive Layer (if present): Type: Co	NORETE - LIKE	Depth (Inches)	<u>∍</u> Hydri	ic Soil Present?	Y /{II
Remarks GEMENTIUM VI	T @ (."	on which to	PC DF	= HYDRIC	50.L.
	- e . r	10 1000000		1	,, ,
Hydrology					
Wetland Indicators					
Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	quired. Check all that	apply.)		Secondary Indi	icators (2 or more required)
	A BOLEAN AND A DE BOLE AND A DE BOLEAN				
Surface Water (A1)	Water S	Stained Leaves (B9)) except	Water	Stained Loavos (B9) except
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA	1,2,4A, and 4B)		MLRA	1,2,4A, and 4B)
Saturation (A3)	Salt Cru	ust (B11)		Draina	ge Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1)	Aquatic	Invertebrates (B13)	Dry-Se	ason Water Table (C2)
Sediment Deposits (B2)	Hydrog	en Sulfide Odor (C1	1)	Saturat	tion Visible on
Drift Deposits (B3)	Oxidize	d Rhizospheres (C	3)	Aerial	Imagery (C9)
Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Present	ce of Reduced Iron	(C4)	Geomo	orphic Position (D2)
Iron Deposits (B6)	Recent	Iron Reduction in		Shallow	v Aquitard (D3)
Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	Tilled S	Soils (C6)		FAC-N	etural Test (D5)
Inundation Visible on Aerial	Stunted	or Stressed Plants	;	Raised	Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)
Imagery (B7)	(D1) (L	RR A)		Frost-I	leave I lummocks (D7)
Sparsely Vegetated Concave	Other (I	Explain in Remarks)		
Surface (B8)					
Field Observations					\rightarrow
Surface Water Present? Yes No	Depth (inche	es)	Wetland	Hydrology? Y	N
Water Table Present? Yes No	Depth (inche	es)			
Saturation Present? Yes No	Depth (inche	es) (inc	ludes capilla	ry fringe)	
Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge,	monitoring well, aerial p	hotos, and previous i	nspections),	if available:	
ø					
Remarks NO INDICATOR	S OF WE	TITAN HY	DROLDO	Y DES	PITE CEMENTUM
	af 90.00	7 mil 1 1 1	Ph. 1	1 1 Brien 1	I MAN MONTH AND IN THE REAL
SIDPE I'S TO THE	ROADS 10	CATION :	4 WE	IL DRA	INED

R. Wetland Working Group Wetland Del Form Wetland Del Work Files West Mountains Valleys and Coast Wetland Del Form BACK.docx

Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County:	Humb	oldt Date: 7/3
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Depar	tment	of Pub	lic Wo	orks State: California
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section,	Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) ROADSIDE		Local relie	et (concave,	convex, none) Dilcti Slope % 1-2
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 40	.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: NO SOIL data availa	able		NV	VI Classification:
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti	me of year?	2 (If no	o, explain in	Remarks.)
Are vegetation MN, soil Y / , or hydrology Y / Psignifica	ntly disturbe	ed? Are norm	nal circumst	ances present? ()/N - VEL 15 MOWF
Are vegetation Y Insoil Y In or hydrology Y Inaturally	problemati	c? (If neede	id, explain ii	n Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample	ing point loc	cations, trans	ects, import	tant features, etc.)
Hydrophytic vegetation? YN Hydric soil? YN Wetland	hydrology	YN Iss	ampled are	a a wetland? Y/N Other waters? Y/N
USACE Jurisdiction			- 6	
Adjacent to Waters <u>V</u> Tributary to Waters <u>Isolate</u>	ed (with inte	rstate comme	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate	rs of the	United Sta	ates"	
Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour _	Ordin	ary High Wat	ter Mark Ma	apped Stream Width
Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Ep	ohemeral	Blue-line	e on USGS	Quad Substrate
Artificial Drainage Artificial Drain	iage	Navigable v	vater	- -
Remarks DEPRESSIONAL DIPC	HIN	ROAD	SIDE	, 3. PARTMENERS ME
CORPS DEFINITION. AND CCC) 	No 0	HWM	OBSERVED, SO IT IS IS
AN OTHER WATERS.				
1 Plot Size: <u>ICAS</u> IN PICT	% Cuver	Species?	Status	Number of dominant species 3
3.				Total number of dominant species (A) Total number of dominant species (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2				Total number of dominant species
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: /○ × 5)	<u>% Cover</u>	 <u>Species?</u>	Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: /○ × 5) 1	% Cover	 Species?	Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	% Cover		Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	<u>% Cover</u>	Species?	Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	% Cover	Species?	<u>Status</u>	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	<u>% Cover</u>	Species?	Status Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet <u>Total % Cover of:</u> <u>Multiply by</u> OBL Species $x 1 =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 5 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$ Column Totals (A)
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. EEHvca acondinacea	% Cover % Cover ∂ 0	Species?	Status Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(A = FACW Species(A = FACU Species(A = UPL Species(A = Column Totals(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A =
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u>Ranvaevivs fepens</u>	% Cover	Species?	Status Status FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. $Festuca$ acoudinacea 2 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. $Festuca$ acoudinacea 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. $Festuca$ acoudinacea 2 3 5	% Cover	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: $lo \times 5$) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $lo \times 5$) 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u>Canvaeolos cepens</u> 3. <u>Lotos corriculatos</u> 4. <u>Holcos Janatos</u>	% Cover	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(A = FACW Species(A = FAC Species(A = UPL Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation \swarrow Dominance Test is >50%
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1. $festuca$ around in accea 2 Herb Stratum (Plot Size: $/0 \times 5$) 1. $festuca$ around in accea 2 1. $festuca$ around in accea 2 3 4 5. $festos anatos$ 5. $festos anatos$ 5. $festos anatos$	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(X = FACW Species(X = FACW Species(X = FACU Species(X = UPL Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Dominance Test is >50% Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^{1}$
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×5</u>) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover: Herb Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×5</u>) 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3. <u></u> 1. <u>Festuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3. <u></u> 4. <u></u> 50%=	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15 15 2	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(A = FACW Species(A = FACU Species(A = UPL Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Rominance Test is >50% Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supportiting that in Remarks or on a separate sheat)
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: <u>/0×5</u>) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: <u>/0×5</u>) 1. <u>Fertuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: <u>/0×5</u>) 1. <u>Fertuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3. <u></u> 4. <u></u> 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: <u>/0×5</u>) 1. <u>Fertuca acondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3. <u></u> 3. <u></u> 4. <u></u> 5. <u></u> 5. <u></u> 6. <u>Equisctum acoense</u> 7. <u>Plantago elongata</u>	% Cover 20 20 15 15 2 2	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet <u>Total % Cover of:</u> <u>Multiply by</u> OBL SpeciesX 1 = FACW SpeciesX 2 = FAC SpeciesX 3 = FACU SpeciesX 4 = UPL SpeciesX 5 = Column Totals(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Dominance Test is >50% Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supportidata in Remarks or on a separate sheet) Wetland Non-Vascular Plants ¹
2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: /0×5) 1 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: /0×5) 1. <u>Festuca arondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: /0×5) 1. <u>Festuca arondinacea</u> 2. <u></u> 3 4 5. <u></u> 5. <u></u> 6. <u>Equisctum aroense</u> 7. <u>Plantago elongata</u> 8	% Cover % Cover 20 20 20 15 15 2 2 4	Species?	Status Status EAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(X = FACW Species(X = FACU Species(X = UPL Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Dominance Test is >50% Prevalence Index is < 3.0' Morphological Adaptations' (provide supportidata in Remarks or on a separate sheet) Vetland Non-Vascular Plants' Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation' (Explain Itadicate and Audition and and and the fact in the fact and the fact is the fact and the fact in the fact and the fact is the fact the fact in the fact and the fact is the fact and the fact is the fact the fact is the fact the fact the fact is the fact the fact is the fact the fact is the fact the fact the fact is the fact
2 3 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: /0×5) 12 2 3 4 50%= 20%= Total Cover. Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10×5) 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 1. Festuca acondinacea 2 3 5 5 follow repeas 6. Equisatom aconse 7. flantase elongata 8 50%= 20%= Total Cover.	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15 2 4 15 2 4 150	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(A =(A/B) FACW Species(A =(A) =(B) FACU Species(A) =(B) Prevalence Index = B/A =(A) =(B) Prevalence Index = B/A =(B) Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Cominance Test is $\geq 50\%$ Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supportidata in Remarks or on a separate sheet) Wettand Non-Vascular Plants ¹ Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explaint ¹ Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present.
2	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15 15 2 4 160 % Cover	Species?	Status Status EAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC Status	Infat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
2	% Cover % Cover 20 20 15 15 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 15 2 4 5 2 6 5 5 6 6 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	Species?	Status Status FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of:(A/B) OBL Species(X =(A/B) PACW Species(X =(A)(B) FACW Species(A)(B) Prevalence Index = B/A = Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation Dominance Test is >50% Prevalence Index is < 3.0' Morphological Adaptations' (provide supportindata in Remarks or on a separate sheet) Wethand Non-Vascular Plants' Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation' (Explain 'Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology musible present. Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? (Y/ N Notes:(A)

50113							
Profile Description. (Describe to Depth Matrix	the depth need Red	led to docume lox Features	nt the ind	icator or co	nfirm the a	bsence of indicate	rs.
(inches) Color (moist)	<u>%</u> Ca	olor (moist)	%	Type ¹	Loc ²	Texture	Remarks
0-4 104R 3/2 1	00	Constrainers	45030-rt	Albertan and	eargine.	COBBLE	LOAM
4-16 104R 4/1 c	60 7.5	YR 5/6	20	C	PZ	GILTY CU	4 LOANI
¹ Types: C = Concentration D = Dep	letion RM = R	educed Matrix	2	Location: Pl	= Pore Lin	ing M = Matrix	
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicab Histosol (A1) Histic Epipedon (A2) Black Histic (A3) Hydrogen Sulfide (A4) Depleted Below Dark Surf Thick Dark Surface (A12)	le to all LRRs, face (A11)	unless otherwi Sandy Strippe Loamy MLRA Doplete	se noted) Redox (S d Matrix (Mucky M 1) (F1) Gleyed M ed Matrix) (S6) lineral (exc /latrix (F2) (F3)	ept	Indicators for F 2 cm ML Red Par Very Sh Vegetate Other (E	Problematic Hydric Soils ³ ack (A10) ent Materials (TF21) allow Dark Surface (TF12) ed Sand/Gravel Bars Explain in Remarks)
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox Dark Surface (F6) Depleted Dark Surface (F7) Redox Depressions (F8)			³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and wetland hydrology must be present.		
Restrictive Layer (if present): Ty	/pe:		Depth (Ir	nches)	Hydr	ric Soil Present?)/ N
Remarks HYDRIC 50	IL INDI	CAIOR	F3	STAR	50	4 TNCHA	5.

Hydrology			
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is	required. Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)	
Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) Frost-I leave I lummocks (D7)	
ield Observations urface Water Present? Yes No Depth (inches) /ater Table Present? Yes No Depth (inches) aturation Present? Yes No Depth (inches) (includes capillary fringe) escribe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, and previous inspections), if available:			
Remarks WETLAND HY	LEO MET,		

North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point		
Wetland Determination Data Form-Western Mountains, Valleys, & Coast Region Feature Type						
Project/Site Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County	Humbo	oldt Date: 7/30/13		
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Department of Public Works State: California						
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott Section, Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W						
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) ROADS (DE Local reliet (concave, convex.tuone) Slope % (-3)						
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 40	.7525	36	Long	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84		
Soil Map Unit Name: <u>NO SOIL data availa</u>	able		NW	/I Classification:		
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year? N (If no, explain in Remarks.)						
Are vegetation (Y)N, soil Y (N), or hydrology Y (N) significantly disturbed? Are normal circumstances present (Y)/N MOWED VEG						
Are vegetation Y /(N) soil Y /(N) or hydrology Y (N) raturally	problematio	c? (If neede	ed, explain in	n Remarks.)		
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sampl	ing point loc	ations, trans	ects, import	ant features, etc.)		
Hydrophytic vegetation? 9/N Hydric soil? Y N Wetland	l hydrology"	Y (N) Is s	ampled area	a a wetland? Y/N Other waters? Y/N		
			-			
Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolate	d (with inte	rstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)		
Explain:						
Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate	rs of the	United St	ates"			
Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour	Ordin	ary High Wa	ter Mark Ma	pped Stream Width		
Natural Drainage Artificial Drain	nemeral	Navigable V	e on USGS Vater			
Remarks DESPITE DE PRESEA	X C C	>F 114	DEOPH4	INC VEG. SOILS + HYDRO ARE		
NOT MET + THE DP DOCUM	IENIS	: UPU	WD C	LONDINONS WITH RESPECT, TO		
CORPS JURISDICTION. CCC DE	NEREMI	astron	V 15	ALSO NON - WETLAND DUE TO		
Venetation (line Onland)	0 0 0	e Mai	> 471	Dominance Test Worksheet		
Tree Stratum (Plot Size 16 x 5 -) ROAD +1 DE	Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator	Number of dominant species		
1	10 00101	0000001	010100	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)		
2				across all strata: 4 (B)		
3	-		-	Percent of dominant species that 55		
4			สมอาณาราชการระดังได้สัง	are OBL, FACW, of FAC: (A/B)		
50%= 20%= Total Cover.				Prevalence Index Worksheet		
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10 × 5)	<u>% Cover</u>	Species?	Status	<u>I total % Cover of:</u> <u>Multiply by</u>		
1						
2				FACW Species X2=		
3			angeographic and a station	FAC Species X3 =		
4						
Herb Stratum (Diot Size: 10×5)	% Cover	Spaciac?	Statue			
1 Cunodon destulor	25	Opecies:	FACU	Column rotais (A) (B)		
2. Tritolium repens	20	1	FAC	Prevalence index = B/A =		
3. Latus cornicolatus	20	1	FAC	Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators		
4. Festuca grundinacea	20	je se	FAC	Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation		
5. Plantaso elonaata	5	N	FAC	Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.01		
6. Rumex crispus	2	R	FAC	Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting		
7 Holeus amatus	-4	N	FAC	Wetland Non-Vascular Plants ¹		
8 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explain)						
50%= 20%= Total Cover: 1000 Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present						
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:)	% Cover	Species?	Status			
1				Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?		
2 Noles:						
50%= Z0%= Total Cover:						
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum _ 2 % Cover of Bio	tic Crust _	Agos gap of the second s		1		

Soils

	Redox Features			absence of indicato	
$\frac{\text{inches}}{1-6} = \frac{\text{Color (moist)}}{10 \text{YR}^{5/2}} = \frac{\%}{100}$	<u>Color (moist)</u>	<u>% Type1</u>	Loc ²	Texture SANDY,G	Remarks RALEUY LOAM
ypes: C = Concentration D = Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix	² Location: PL	. = Pore Lin	iing M = Matrix	
ydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all Histosol (A1) Histic Epipedon (A2) Black Histic (A3) Hydrogen Sulfide (A4) Depleted Below Dark Surface (A1 Thick Dark Surface (A12) Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Sandy Gleved Matrix (S4)	LRRs, unless otherw Sandy Strippe Loamy MLRA 1) Loamy Deplet Redox Deplet	ise noted) Redox (S5) d Matrix (S6) Mucky Mineral (exce 1) (F1) Gleyed Matrix (F2) ed Matrix (F3) Dark Surface (F6) ed Dark Surface (F7)	ept	Indicators for P 2 cm Mu Red Pare Very Sha Vegetate Other (E: ³ Indicators of hy wetland hydrology	roblematic Hydric Soils ³ ck (A10) ent Materials (TF21) allow Dark Surface (TF12) ed Sand/Gravel Bars xplain in Remarks) ydrophytic vegetation and gy must be present.
Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Depier	Depressions (F/)		wettand riyurolo	gy must be present.
NONS HYDRIC.	nren (e 6	. Dr is	, <u>,</u> ,	Ken 2 200	ULUEK JUDJIETIK
Hydrology Wetland Indicators					
Hydrology Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	quired. Check all the	at apply.)		Secondary Indic	ators (2 or more required)
Hydrology Netland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re Surface Water (A1)	guired. Check all tha	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9)	except	Secondary Indic	ators (2 or more required) ained Leaves (B9) except
Hydrology Vetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2)	quired. Check all the Water MLRA	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) \ 1,2,4A, and 4B)	except	Secondary Indica Water St MLRA 1	ators (2 or more required) ained Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B)
Hydrology Vetland Indicators 'rimary Indicators (Minimum of one is re Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3)	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Ci	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11)	except	Secondary Indic Water St MLRA 1 Drainage	ators (2 or more required) ained Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) Patterns (B10)
Hydrology Vetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is regeneration)	quired. Check all the Water MLRA Salt Co Aquati	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13)	except	Secondary Indica Water St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Seas	ators (2 or more required) alned Leaves (B9) except , 2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2)
iydrology Vetland Indicators 'rimary Indicators (Minimum of one is re Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2)	quired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1)	except	Secondary Indic Wøter St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio	ators (2 or more required) alned Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on
łydrology Vetland Indicators rimary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidiza	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3	except	Secondary Indic Weter St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Common	ators (2 or more required) alined Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9)
Hydrology Vetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is regeneration Surface Water (A1)	quired. Check all the Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidize Preser Recen	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) nce of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in	except)) C4)	Secondary Indica Water St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Geomory Shallow	ators (2 or more required) alned Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3)
Hydrology Vetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Dnft Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidize Preser Recen Tilled	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) ace of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6)	except)) (C4)	Secondary Indic Weter St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Geomor Shallow FAC-Net	ators (2 or more required) ained Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) ural Test (D5)
Hydrology Vetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is regenering) Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidiz Preser Recen Tilled Stunte	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) nce of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6) d or Stressed Plants	except)) C4)	Secondary Indic Water St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Geomor Shallow FAC-Net Raised A	ators (2 or more required) alned Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) tural Test (D5) ont Mounds (D6) (LRR A)
Hydrology Vetland Indicators Yrimary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidize Preser Recen Tilled Stunte (D1) (0	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) nce of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6) d or Stressed Plants L RR A)	except)) (C4)	Secondary Indica Wøter St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Geomory Shallow FAC-Net Raised A Frost-I le	ators (2 or more required) alned Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on nagery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) aural Test (D5) ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) ave Hummocks (D7)
Iydrology Vetland Indicators rimary Indicators (Minimum of one is re Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidiza Preser Recen Tilled Stunte (D1) (I Other	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) nce of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6) d or Stressed Plants L RR A) (Explain in Remarks)	except)) (C4)	Secondary Indic Water St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Geomory Shallow FAC-Net Raised A Erost-I le	ators (2 or more required) alined Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) aural Test (D5) ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) ave Hummocks (D7)
Hydrology Vetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidize Preser Recen Tilled Stunte (D1) (f Other f	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) face of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6) d or Stressed Plants LRR A) (Explain in Remarks)	except)) (C4)	Secondary Indica Water St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Geomory Shallow FAC-Net Raised A Frost-I le	ators (2 or more required) alined Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) aural Test (D5) ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) ave Hummocks (D7)
Hydrology Primary Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is regeneration of the second secon	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidiza Preser Recen Tilled Stunte (D1) (I Other backs	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) face of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6) d or Stressed Plants L RR A) (Explain in Remarks)	except)) (C4)	Secondary Indic Water St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Geomory Shallow FAC-Net Raised A Frost-I le	ators (2 or more required) alined Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) aural Test (D5) ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) ave Hummocks (D7)
Hydrology Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	guired. Check all that MLRA Salt Cr Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidize Preser Recen Tilled Stunte (D1) (f Other f	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) A 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) face of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6) d or Stressed Plants LRR A) (Explain in Remarks)	except)) (C4) Wetland	Secondary Indica Water St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Seas Saturation Aerial In Geomory Shallow Shallow FAC-Net Raised A Frost-I le	ators (2 or more required) alned Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) cural Test (D5) ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) ave Hummocks (D7)
Hydrology Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Ci Aquati Preser Recen Tilled Stunte (D1) (i Other of Depth (inch	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) a 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) ince of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6) d or Stressed Plants LRR A) (Explain in Remarks) mes)	except)) (C4) Wetland	Secondary Indica Wøter Sf MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Geomory Shallow FAC-Net Raised A Trost-I le	ators (2 or more required) alined Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) obtic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) tural Test (D5) tural Test (D5) tural Test (D5) ave Hummocks (D7)
Hydrology Vetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is regimer y Water Table (A2) Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Water Table Present? Yes No Vater Table Present? Yes No Water Table Present? Yes No	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidiza Preser Recen Tilled Stunte (D1) (i Other of Depth (inch Depth (inch Depth (inch	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) ince of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6) d or Stressed Plants LRR A) (Explain in Remarks) (Explain in Remarks) (Explain in Remarks) (Explain in Remarks)	except)) (C4) Wetland	Secondary Indic Water St MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturatio Aerial In Geomor Shallow FAC-Net Raised A Frost-I le	ators (2 or more required) alined Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) tural Test (D5) ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) ave Hummocks (D7)
Hydrology Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	guired. Check all that Water MLRA Salt Cr Aquati Hydrog Oxidiz Preser Recen Tilled Stunte (D1) (i Other for Depth (inch Depth (inch Depth (inch Depth (inch Depth (inch Depth (inch	at apply.) Stained Leaves (B9) 1,2,4A, and 4B) ust (B11) c Invertebrates (B13) gen Sulfide Odor (C1) ed Rhizospheres (C3) ince of Reduced Iron (t Iron Reduction in Soils (C6) d or Stressed Plants LRR A) (Explain in Remarks) es) res) res) photos, and previous in	except)) C4) Wetland udes capilla spections),	Secondary Indica MLRA 1 MLRA 1 Drainage Dry-Sea Saturation Aerial In Geomory Shallow FAC-Net Raised A Frost-I le Hydrology? Y / (ary fringe) if available:	ators (2 or more required) alined Leaves (B9) except ,2,4A, and 4B) e Patterns (B10) son Water Table (C2) on Visible on magery (C9) ohic Position (D2) Aquitard (D3) tural Test (D5) ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) ave Hummocks (D7)

North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point			
Wetland Determination Data Form-Western	Mounta	ains, Val	leys, & C	oast Region Feature Type SLOUGH			
Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replacer Applicant/Owner Humboldt County Depart	ment	City/County	Humbo	oldt Date: 7/30/13 Date: 7/30/13			
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section.	Township Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W			
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) $D(PA + NAGE$ Local reliet (concave, convex, none) Slope % $O = 100$							
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 40.752536 Long: -124.182588 Datum: WGS84							
Soil Map Unit Name: NO soil data available NWI Classification: R2UBH							
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?							
Are vegetation Y(N) soil Y(N) or hydrology Y(N) significantly disturbed? Are normal circumstances present(Y) N							
Are vegetation Y (N) soil Y (N) or hydrology Y / N thaturally problematic? (If needed, explain in Remarks.)							
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.) Hydrophytic vegetation? // N Hydric soil? // N Wetland hydrology? // N Is sampled area a wetland? // N Other waters? // N							
Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolated Explain: ELK RUFE TO HUMBO	(with inter	state comm Bty	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)			
Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters of the United States" Indicators: Defined bed and bank A Scour C Ordinary High Water Mark Mapped A Stream Width 40° - GTS A Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Ephemeral Blue-line on USGS Quad S Substrate Mode Natural Drainage Artificial Drainage							
Remarks of bocompasis SwATH	5100	Gtt	E Dr. E	C ARE JEGETAGED IN MUNY			
LOCATIONS RANKS VARY FRA	M 67	EFAL	NERS	erc) to contrate DP 15			
W/1 THE OHWA OF THE SI	OUGH	FE	FRIEL	CLAJ TO GRADUTE. VI II			
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size: 20×10' - VN FEATURE	Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)			
2				Total number of dominant species			
2				across all strata: (B)			
A.				are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)			
50%= 20%= Total Cover				Provalence Index Worksheet			
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 20×10)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Total % Cover of: Multiply by			
1				OBL Species x/1 =			
2				FACW Species x 2 =			
3				FAC Species x 3 =			
4				FACU Species x 4 =			
50%= 20%= Total Cover: _				UPL Species x 5 =			
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 20 × 10)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals (A) (B)			
1. Laver lunabuel	100	4	OBC	Prevalence Index = B/A =			
2				Ludwards Vagatation Indiantam			
3				Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation			
4				Dominance Test is >50%			
5				Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.0° Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting)			
7				data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)			
8				Wetland Non-Vascular Plants ¹ Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Evolution)			
50%= 20%= Total Cover				¹ Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must			
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:)	% Cover	Species?	Status	be present.			
1		0,00000	0.0100	Hydrophytic Vegetation Present?			
2				Notes: OP DOCUMENTS THE VEGETHIED			
50%= 20%= Total Cover:				BANK OF THE SLOUGH.			
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum % Cover of Biote	c Crust _/	Ø					
Soils



Profile I Depth (inches)	Description: (Describe to the dep Matrix <u>Color (moist)</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u> <u>%</u>	oth needed to documer Redox Features <u>Color (moist)</u>	it the ind	icator or co <u>Type¹</u>	nfirm the a	bsence of indicato	rs. <u>Remarks</u>
¹ Types:	C = Concentration D = Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix	2	Location: PL	. = Pore Lin	ing M = Matrix	
Hydric S	Goil Indicators: (Applicable to all	LRRs, unless otherwis	e noted)			Indicators for P	roblematic Hydric Soils ³
	Histosol (A1)	Sandy F	Redox (S	5)		2 cm Mu	ck (A10)
	Histic Epipedon (A2)	Stripped	I Matrix (S6)		Red Pare	ent Materials (TF21)
	Black Histic (A3)	Loamy I	Mucky M	ineral (exc	ept	Very Sha	allow Dark Surface (TF12)
X	Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA) (F1)			Vegetate	d Sand/Gravel Bars
	Depleted Below Dark Surface (A	11)Loamy (Gleyed N	latrix (F2)		Other (Ex	xplain in Remarks)
	Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Deplete	d Matrix	(F3)			. ,
	Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox	Dark Sur	ace (F6)		³ Indicators of hy	drophytic vegetation and
	Sandy Gleved Matrix (S4)	Deplete	d Dark S	urface (F7)		wetland hydrolo	av must be present.
		Redox L	Depressi	ons (F8)		,,	07
Restric	tive Layer (if present): Type:		Depth (Ir	iches)	Hydr	ic Soil Present?	2 N

HYDRIC SOILS. DID NOT MAKE DOLDR DETERMINATIONS.

Hydrology Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Check all that apply.) Secondary Indicators (2 or more required) Surface Water (A1) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except Water Stained Leaves (B9) except K High Water Table (A2) MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Saturation (A3) Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10) C Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Saturation Visible on 🖄 Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aguitard (D3) Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Inundation Visible on Aerial Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) Stunted or Stressed Plants Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7) Imagery (B7) (D1) (LRR A) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Other (Explain in Remarks) Surface (B8) **Field Observations** Depth (inches) 0 - 10 Wetland Hydrology 7 Surface Water Present? Yes No_ Water Table Present? Yes No Depth (inches) \mathcal{O} Depth (inches) Saturation Present? Yes No (includes capillary fringe) Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, and previous inspections), if available: \mathcal{D} REMARKS OBSERVED FEATORE DURING HIGH + LOW TIDES. OHWM IS PRESENT AT TOP OF STAINING.

Wetland Determination Data Form-Wester	n Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	Data Point Coast Region Feature Type
Project/Site: <u>Pine Hill Bridge Replace</u> Applicant/Owner: <u>Humboldt County Depar</u> Investigator(s): <u>Julian Colescott</u> Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) <u>PITCH Stort</u> Subregion (LRR): <u>LRR A</u> Lat: <u>40</u> Soil Map Unit Name: <u>No soil data availa</u> Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti Are vegetation Y (N, soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) significa Are vegetation Y (N) soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) significa	ement tment 0.7525 able me of year? ntly disturbe problemati	City/County of Puk Local reli 36 ? N (If n ed? Are norn c? (If need	y: <u>Humb</u> <u>blic Wo</u> <u>Section</u> et (concave <u>Long:</u> No no, explain in mal circums ed, explain in	coldt Date: 2/30(13) orks State: California a, Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W a, Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W .convex()none) Slope % 2 - 12 -124.182588 Datum: WGS84 MI Classification: PEM1Cd n Remarks.) tances present? tances present? N
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample Hydrophytic vegetation? W N Hydric soil? W N Wetland USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolate Explain: Storaget (Storaget) Evaluation of features designated "Other Waters Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour_ Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Epination Natoral Drainage Artificial Drain	ing point loc I hydrology's ed (with inte rs of the Ordin bhemeral rage	rstate comm United SI ary High Wa Blue-lin Navigable V	sects, impor sampled are erce) tates" ater Mark Ma e on USGS Water	tant features, etc.) ea a wetland? (Y)N Other waters? Y (N) Isolated (non jurisdictional) apped Stream Width Quad Substrate
Remarks DP ON TOP OF SI AND SLOVAH. ALL THEEE IN DEFENSION	POILS DICXR	PILE N 290	BET IETg	WEED SWHIC INTERIOR DITCH MEETS CCC + CORPS
Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
1.				OBL Species $x 1 =$ FACW Species $x 2 =$ FAC Species $x 3 =$ FACU Species $x 4 =$ UPL Species $x 5 =$
Herb Stratum (Plot Size:) 1. Perficultaris glandulosa 2. Juncus balticus 3. Colium perennis 4. Plantingo lanceotarg 5. Lotus winiculatus 6. Rumex cuspils 7. Calamogiostis rubescens 8. Daircus carota	% Cover 10 10 25 16 26 5 25 10 115		FACU FACU FACU FACU FACU FACU FACU FACU	Column Totals (A) (B) Prevalence Index = B/A = (B) Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
50%= 20%= Total Cover. Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:) . 1 . 2 50%= 20%= 50%= 20%= Total Cover. % Bare Ground in Herb Stratum % Cover of Bio	// Over % Cover tic Crust _	Species?	Status	be present. Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? (P/N Notes: CALAMOGROSTIS IS DET LISTED INS LICHVAR, BUT OTHER RAMMORIATS' ARE FAC OR FACW, BPJ USED IN "FAC" DETERMINISTION

Soils

Profile Description: (Describe to the dep Depth Matrix	th needed to docume Redox Features	ent the indicate	or or confirm the	absence of indicators.
(inches) Color (moist) %	Color (moist)	% T	vpe ¹ Loc ²	Texture Remarks
2-2 104R2/2 100	et allen	~		PEATY LOAM
2-20 104R 4/2 80	7.54R4/6	20 (2 PL	CUM LOAM
erfennen mendelsen verstellen en der Sande eine stelle eine stelle son der stelle son der stelle son der stelle	an a			66 Kalabanananan
Types: C = Concentration D = Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix	2_Loca	tion: PL = Pore L	–
vdric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all	LRRs, unless otherw	ise noted)		Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
Histosol (A1)	Sandy	Redox (S5)		2 cm Muck (A10)
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Strippe	ed Matrix (S6)		Red Parent Materials (TF21)
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy	Mucky Miner	al (except	Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)
Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA	1) (F1)		Vegetated Sand/Gravel Bars
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A	l1) Loamy	Gleyed Matri	x (F2)	Other (Explain in Remarks)
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Deplet	ed Matrix (F3))	
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox	Dark Surface	(F6)	³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and
Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Deplet	ed Dark Surfa	ice (F7)	wetland hydrology must be present.
	Redox	Depressions	(F8)	
Restrictive Laver (if present). Type:	Ø	Denth (Inche	es) — Hv	dric Soil Present? Y / N
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is re	quired. Check all that	at apply.)		Secondary Indicators (2 or more required
Surface Water (A1)	Water	Stained Leave	es (B9) except	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA	1,2,4A, and	4B)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)
Saturation (A3)	Salt Ci	ust (B11)		Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1)	Aquati	c Invertebrate	s (B13)	Dry-Season Water Table (C2)
Sediment Deposits (B2)	Hydrog	gen Sulfide Od	dor (C1)	Saturation Visible on
Drift Deposits (B3)	Oxidize	ed Rhizosphe	res (C3)	Aerial Imagery (C9)
Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Preser	ice of Reduce	d Iron (C4)	Geomorphic Position (D2)
Iron Deposits (B6)	Recen	t Iron Reducti	on in	Shallow Aquitard (D3)
Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	Tilled	Soils (C6)		FAC-Netural Test (D5)
Inundation Visible on Aerial	Stunte	d or Stressed	Plants	Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)
Imagery (B7)	(D1) (I	LRR A)		Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Sparsely Vegetated Concave	Other	Explain in Re	marks)	
Surface (B8)				
Field Observations	×			
Sunace water Present? Yes New Yes	Depth (inch	es)	Wetla	na mydrology CV/ N
Saturation Present? Yes No	Depth (Incr	es)	 (includes coni	(llen, fringe)
Describe Recorded Date (stream double		nhotos and pro	vious inspections	t available.
	monitoring well, aeliai	priotos, ano pre	wous mapeouons	n, n avanama.
Remarks HYDROLOGY PAR	AMETERI	S MET,		

Vetland Determination Data Form-West	ern Mount	ams. vai	levs. & C	Coast Region Feature Type UP LAND - SEE
minute Pine Hill Bridge Repla	cement		. Humb	holdt
Applicant/Owner Humboldt County Depa	artment	of Put	lic W	orks state California
pyestigator(s): Julian Colescott	AT CHICITC	<u>OL LUX</u>	Section	Township Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
andform (hillslone terrace) etc.)		Local reli	_ Concave	(normal share 4 2 - 5
Subregion (IRR): URR A	40.7525	36	Lona.	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
col Man Unit Name NO Soil data avai	lable		Long NV	M Classification FEM 1Cd
ve climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for thi	is time of year'	NIN (Hr	no explain ir	n Remarks)
revenetation X/N soil X/N or hydrology X N signifi	icantly disturbe	d2 Are nor	mal circums	tances present2 %/N
ve venetation Y (N soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) significant	ally moblemati	c? (If need	ed evolain i	in Remarks)
		0. 11 11000	ou, onpranti	
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sar	mpling point loo	cations, trans	sects, impor	rtant features, etc.)
lydrophytic vegetation? Y (N) Hydric soil? 4 N Weth	and hydrology	YN Is:	sampled are	ea a wetland? Y (N) Other waters? Y (N)
JSACE Jurisdiction djacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Iso xplain:	lated (with inte	rstate comm	erce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)
idicators: Defined bed and bank Scou eature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Natural Drainage Artificial Dr	aters of the ir Ordin Ephemeral rainage	united Si iary High Wa Blue-lin Navigable V	ates" ater Mark Ma e on USGS Nater	apped Stream Width Quad Substrate
HYDROLOGY. WEREFORE	ET VI	EG. Pi	PRAMI	RIVER, BUT DOES MERT SOIL
A WELD, BUT IS	1 000	REG	MATE	O FEATURE,
regetation (Use Scientific Names)	A CCC Absolute	RE G S	Indicator	Dominance Test Worksheet
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 ×10</u>)	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	RE 6 Dominant Spcoics?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OPL FACW or FAC: 2 (A)
regetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×10</u>)	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	REG Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A) Total number of dominant species
regetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×10</u>)	Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	EEATORE Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata:(B) Demonstrate for dominant species
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10×10</u>)	A CCC Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	BE 6 Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A/B)
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>)	A CCC Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A/B)
Image: Control of the second	A <u>COC</u> Absolute <u>% Cover</u> rer:	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2(A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4(B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50(A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>)	A COC Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species ×1=
ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>) 50%= 20%= Total Cov apling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>)	A COC Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dorninant Species?	Indicator Status Status Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2
Image: Second	A COC Absolute % Cover 	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A/B) Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species $x 1 = -$ FACW Species $x 2 = -$ FACW Species $50 \times x^2 = -150$
Image: Second Stratum Solution Segetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>) 50%= 20%= Total Cov apling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: <u>10 × 10</u>)	A COC Absolute % Cover 	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 A Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species \bigcirc x 1 = \bigcirc FACW Species \bigcirc x 2 = \bigcirc FAC Species 50 x 3 = 150 FAC Species $\frac{45}{50}$ x 4 = 180
Color Will D. Build Size ree Stratum (Plot Size:	A COCC Absolute % Cover 	Dorninant Species?	Indicator Status Status Status	FEATOREDominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Image: Second	A COC Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status Status Status	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species \bigcirc X1 =FACW Species \bigcirc X2 =FAC Species \bigcirc X3 = 150 FACU Species \bigcirc X4 = 120 UPL Species 5 X5 = 25 100
Image: Control of the second secon	A COLOR Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status Status Status	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species0x1 =FACW Species0x2 =FAC Species50x3 =150FACU Species9x4 =180UPL Species5x5 =25Column Totals100A355(B)
The product of the second	A COLC Absolute % Cover	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU EACU	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species0x1 =FACW Species0x2 =FAC Species50x3 =150FACU Species5x5 =25Column Totals(IO)(A)355(B)Prevalence Index = B/A =3.55
Image: Control of the second seco	A COLO Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status FACU FACU FACU FACU	FEATORE.Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:4Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species 0 x1 = 0 FACW Species 0 x2 = 0 FAC Species 50 x3 = 150 FACU Species 75 x4 = 120 UPL Species 5 x5 = 25 Column Totals 100 (A) 355 Prevalence Index = $B/A = 3.55$ Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	A COCC Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 2 A Total number of dominant species across all strata: 4 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 Prevalence Index Worksheet Total % Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species 0 x1 = FAC Species 54 x3 = 150 FACU Species 5 x5 = 25 Column Totals 100 (A) 355 (B) Prevalence Index = B/A = 3.55 55 4 4 4 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators 30.55 6 6 </td
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	A COCC Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species0x 2 =FACW Species5x 2 =FAC Species5x 3 =150FACU Species5x 5 =25Column Totals100(A)355(B)Prevalence Index = B/A =3.55Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationNDominance Test is >50%NPrevalence Index is < 3.01
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	A COCC Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Species?	Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC UPL	FEATORE.Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:4Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species 0 x1 = 0 FACW Species 0 x2 = 0 FAC Species 50 x3 = 150 FACU Species 50 x4 = 120 UPL Species 5 x5 = 25 Column Totals 100 (A) 355 Prevalence Index = B/A = 3.55 Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50%Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting
$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	A COCC Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:4(B)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species \bigcirc X1 =FACW Species \bigcirc X2 =FAC Species \bigcirc X3 =150FACU Species \bigcirc X4 =UPL Species \bigcirc X5 =Column Totals \bigcirc (A) \bigcirc Species \bigcirc X5 =(B)Prevalence Index = B/A = \bigcirc \bigcirc Norphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)
Image: A gast is	A COLOR Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species \bigcirc X 1 =FACW Species \bigcirc X 2 = \bigcirc FAC Species \bigcirc X 3 = 150 FACU Species \bigcirc X 4 = 190 UPL Species \bigcirc X 5 = \bigcirc Column Totals \bigcirc (A) \bigcirc Prevalence Index = B/A = \bigcirc \bigcirc Norphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Evrelain)
Image: Control of the stratum (Plot Size: 10×10) image: Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10) 50%=	A COLO Absolute % Cover 	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:9Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species \bigcirc X 1 = \bigcirc FACW Species \bigcirc X 2 = \bigcirc FAC Species \bigcirc X 2 = \bigcirc FAC Species \bigcirc X 4 = 150 FACU Species \bigcirc X 5 = \bigcirc Column Totals \bigcirc (A) \bigcirc Species \bigcirc $x 5 =25Column Totals\bigcirc(A)355 (B)Prevalence Index = B/A =\bigcirc\bigcircNorphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)\bigcircWetland Non-Vascular Plants1\bigcircProblematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)^1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must$
$\frac{(247)}{(247)} = \frac{(247)}{(247)} = \frac{(247)}{($	A COLOR Absolute % Cover 	Species? Y Y Y N N Species?	Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:4(B)Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species \bigcirc X1 =FACW Species \bigcirc X2 = \bigcirc FAC Species \bigcirc X3 = 150 FAC Species \bigcirc X4 =UPL Species \bigcirc X5 =Column Totals $(\bigcirc$ (A) 355 (B)Prevalence Index = B/A = 355 Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation \bigcirc \bigcirc Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet) \bigcirc Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1 \bigcirc Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain) 1 Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present.
Image: A contract of the stratum (Plot Size: 10×10^{-10}) inee Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10^{-10}) 50%= 20%= 50%= 20%= Total Cov apling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10^{-10}) 50%= 20%= Total Cov apling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10^{-10}) Ach.lea Mill fa.hum Daucus Carata Lotus Cocni culatus FPStruce perenci - 2 Agastis Staton fora Aster chilons 50%= 20%= 20 Total Cov	A COLO Absolute % Cover % Cover	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC Status	FEATURE:Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:4Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:50(A/B)Prevalence Index WorksheetTotal % Cover of:Multiply byOBL Species $A = 50$ KACW Species $X = 50$ FAC Species $X = 150$ FAC Species 50 X 3 = 150 FACU Species 5 X 5 = 25 Column Totals (A) UPL Species 5 X 5 = 25 Column Totals (A) 355 Hydrophytic Vegetation IndicatorsRapid Test for Hydrophytic VegetationDominance Test is >50% A Prevalence Index is $\leq 3.0^1$ Morphological Adaptations1 (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)'Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present.
A CORP WILD, BUT is //egetation (Use Scientific Names) ree Stratum (Plot Size: 10×10) 50%=	A COULT Absolute $\frac{6}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ Absolute $\frac{6}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ For: $\frac{6}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{6}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{2}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{1}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{1}{\sqrt{Cover}}$ $\frac{1}{\sqrt{Cover}}$	Species?	Status Status Status Status Status FACU FACU FAC FAC FAC FAC FAC Status	Dominance Test WorksheetNumber of dominant speciesthat are OBL, FACW, or FAC:2(A)Total number of dominant speciesacross all strata:Percent of dominant species thatare OBL, FACW, or FAC:Second Second Se

Data Point _____

Soils

Profile Depth	escription: (Describ) Matrix	e to the de	pth needed to docume Redox Features	ent the in	dicator or co	onfirm the a	absence of indicate	ors.
(inches) 0-6 6-16	<u>Color (moist)</u> 104R 3/2 104R 4/2	% 98 85	<u>Color (moist)</u> 7.54R 416 7.54R 416	<u>%</u> 2 15	Type ¹	Loc ² PL PL	<u>Texture</u> <u>ClayLoam</u> ClayIbam	<u>Remarks</u>
¹ Types:	C = Concentration D =	Depletion	RM = Reduced Matrix		² Location: P	L = Pore Lir	ung M = Matrix	
Hydric S	oil Indicators: (Appli Histosol (A1) Histic Epipedon (A2) Black Histic (A3) Hydrogen Sulfide (A4) Depleted Below Dark Thick Dark Surface (A Sandy Mucky Mineral Sandy Gleyed Matrix () Surface (A 12) (S1) (S4)	II LRRs, unless otherw Sandy Strippe Loamy MLRA (11) Loamy X11) Loamy Redox Redox Redox	ise noted Redox (Matrix Mucky M 1) (F1) Gleyed ed Matrix Dark Su ed Dark Su Depress	1) (S6) Mineral (exc Matrix (F2) ((F3) (face (F6) Surface (F7 Jons (F8)	ept	Indicators for F 2 cm Mu Red Par Very \$h Vegetate Other (E ³ Indicators of h wetland hydrology	Problematic Hydric Soils ³ ack (A10) ent Materials (TF21) allow Dark Surface (TF12) ed Sand/Gravel Bars explain in Remarks) ydrophytic vegetation and ogy must be present.
Restric	tive Layer (if present)	: Type:		Depth (Inches) 🧷	S Hyd	ric Soil Present?	Ð/ N
Remar	ks Hydric	50125						

Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is requ	uired. Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)
Surface Water (A1)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except	Water Stained Lcavcs (B9) except
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)
Saturation (A3)	Salt Crust (B11)	Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1)	Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)	Dry-Season Water Table (C2)
Sediment Deposits (B2)	Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)	Saturation Visible on
Drift Deposits (B3)	$\underline{\times}$ Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3)	Aerial Imagery (C9)
Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)	Geomorphic Position (D2)
Iron Deposits (B5)	Recent Iron Reduction in	Shallow Aquitard (D3)
Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	Tilled Soils (C6)	FAC-Netural Test (D5)
Inundation Visible on Aerial	Stunted or Stressed Plants	Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)
Imagery (B7)	(D1) (LRR A)	Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)
Sparsely Vegetated Concave	Other (Explain in Remarks)	
Surface (B8)		
Field Observations		
Surface Water Present? Yes No _	Depth (inches) Wetlan	d Hydrology? 💯/ N
Water Table Present? Yes No _	Depth (inches)	
Saturation Present? Yes No 2	Depth (inches) (includes capil	lary fringe)
Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, m	onitoring well, aerial photos, and previous inspections), if available:
Remarks WEITAG & HUN	PRIME'S ALL	annan an a

	rn Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	Coast Region Feature Type 55450044
Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County	Humb	oldt Date: 7/30/1
Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Depa	rtment	of Puk	olic Wo	orks State: California
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			_ Section	Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.)		Local reli	et (concave,	convex, none)Slope %
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 4	0.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84
Soil Map Unit Name: NO SOIL data avail	able		NV	VI Classification: <u>PEM 1 Cd</u>
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this	time of year?	🕐 N (If n	o, explain ir	Remarks.)
Are vegetation Y (N) soil Y (N) or hydrology Y (N) signific	antly disturbe	d? Are norr	nal circumst	ances present? Y) N
Are vegetation Y /N, coil Y N, or hydrology Y N natural	ly problematio	c? (If need	əd, əxplain i	n Remarks.)
Summary of Findings (Attach site man showing sam	nlina noint loc	ations trans	ects impor	tant features etc.)
Hydrophylic vegetation? V/N Hydric soil? V/N Wetta	ad hydrology	2O(1N) les	sampled are	a a wetland? (\mathcal{D}/N) Other waters? \vee/N
Hydropalytics togetablen Op 711 Hydro doin O 711 Houd	ia nyaiology :			
Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent I	Drdin	ary High Wa	ter Mark Ma e on USGS	apped Stream Width
Remarks 3 - PARAMANTERS MOLT		Navigable V	Vater	Quad Substrate
Remarks Z PARAmentees Matrix Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Image: Comparison of the second seco	Absolutc <u>% Cuver</u>	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: Z (A) Total number of dominant species across all strata: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: G (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: G (A/B)
Remarks S PARAmentees Monte Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Image: Comparison of the second secon	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Species?	Nater Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Remarks 3.	Absolute <u>% Cuver</u> 	Dominant Species? Species?	Indicator Status Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Remarks 3	Absolute <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Species? Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Remarks > It Remarks > It Remarks Mountailed Vegetation (Use Scientific Names) Tree Stratum (Plot Size:) 1	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Species? Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Remarks 3	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u> <u>% Cover</u>	Dominant Species? Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: across all strata: Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (B) Percent of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (Cover of: Multiply by OBL Species x 1 = FACW Species x 2 = FAC Species x 3 =
Remarks 3.	Absolute <u>% Cover</u> 	Dominant Species? Species? Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:
Remarks 3	Absolute <u>% Cuver</u> 	Dominant Species? Species?	Indicator Status	Dominance Test Worksheet Number of dominant species that are OBL, FACW, or FAC:

50

20

100

5

10

5

120

% Cover

Total Cover:

Total Cover:

% Cover of Biotic Crust

FACU

FAC

FAL

N

N

N

N

Species? Status

GBL

FAC

LIPL

FAC

Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators

Prevalence Index = B/A = ___

Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

Y Dominance Test is >50%

Prevalence Index is ≤ 3.0¹

_____ Morphological Adaptations¹ (provide supporting data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

____ Wetland Non-Vascular Plants¹

Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation¹ (Explain) ¹Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must be present.

Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? ()/ N

Notes: VEG DOMINATION BY FACIL, BUT 2 FAC DECIES ALSO DOMINIANT. VEG 15 MARGINALLY HYDROPHYTTC.

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum a ske note in DP8

Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:

1. Cynodon dactylor

ubescon

Cormantations

Subac

glandulosa

20%= 24

20%=

Trigoglochin Martimum

oerenni

2. Calaminino

Lotus

Lulium

7 Potentilla

50%= 60

Celysten

3.

4.

5.

6.

8.

1. _

2. _____ 50%=_

1.0

Soils

Profile Description: (Describe to the depth need) Depth Matrix Red (inches) Color (moist) % Color 0 - 16 16 YIZ % Color	ded to document the indicator of ox Features <u>olor (moist) % Type</u> <u>YR 4/6 20 C</u>	r confirm the absence of <u>Loc² Texture</u> PL <u>SLLT</u>	indicators. <u>Remarks</u> Y <u>LIAY LOAM</u>
Types: C = Concentration D = Depletion RM = Ri ydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, Histosol (A1) Histic Epipedon (A2) Black Histic (A3) Hydrogen Sulfide (A4) Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Thick Dark Surface (A12)	educed Matrix ² Location: unless otherwise noted) Sandy Redox (S5) Stripped Matrix (S6) Loamy Mucky Mineral (e MLRA 1) (F1) Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F Depleted Matrix (F3)		atrix rs for Problematic Hydric Soils ³ 2 cm Muck (A10) Red Parent Materials (TF21) /ery Shallow Dark Surface (TF12) /egetated Sand/Gravel Bars Dther (Explain in Remarks)
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Redox Dark Surface (F6 Depleted Dark Surface (Redox Depressions (F8)	i) ³ Indicat (F7) wetland)	ors of hydrophytic vegetation and hydrology must be present.
Hydrology Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required	Check all that apply)	Seconda	ary Indicators (2 or more required)
Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Dritt Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)	Water Stained Leaves (I MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (Oxidized Rhizospheres I Presence of Reduced In Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plan (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remar	B9) except [(13) [(C1) S (C3) (C3) (C4)	Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)
Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes No Water Table Present? Yes No Saturation Present? Yes No	Depth (inches) Depth (inches) Depth (inches) (Wetland Hydrology?	? (Y)/ N
Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitor	ing well, aerial photos, and previou	is inspections), if available:	

North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point			
Wetland Determination Data Form–Wester	n Mount	ains, Val	leys, & C	Coast Region Feature Type <u>Upland</u>			
Project/Site: Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County	. Humb	oldt Date: 7:30:13			
Applicant/Owner. Humboldt County Depar	tment	of Pul	olic We	orks State: California			
Investigator(s): Julian Colescott			Section	, Township, Range <u>Sec. 4</u> , T4N, R1W			
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) Local reliet (concave, convex, none) Slope % Slope %							
Subregion (LRR): LRR A Lat: 40	.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84			
Soil Map Unit Name: NO SOIL data availa	able		NV	NI Classification:			
Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this ti	me of year?	Q°/N (lfri	io, explain ir	n Remarks.)			
Are vegetation Y / A soil Y / A, or hydrology Y (Isignification	ntly disturbe	d? Are nor	mal circums	tances present? (Y) N			
Are vegetation Y / N, soil Y / N, or hydrology Y / M naturally	r problematio	c? (If need	ed, explain i	in Remarks.)			
Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sample	ing point loc	ations, trans	sects, impor	tant features, etc.)			
Hydrophytic vegetation? Y IN Hydric soil? V N Wetland	i hydrology i	Υ <i>Ι</i> Ω∿ Is:	sampled are	a a wetland? Y 🕼 Other waters? Y 🕼			
USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters Tributary to Waters Isolate Explain:	ed (with inte	rstate comm	ierce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)			
Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Epril Natural Drainage Artificial Drain Intermittent Epril	ordin Ordin Ordin	United St ary High Wa Blue-lin Navigable V	tates" ater Mark Ma le on USGS Water	apped Stream Width Quad Substrate			
Remarks DP reports a high pour	ot loca	ted be	tween	Pine Hill Road and a pusture			
(seasonal wetland) cante bruch ar	m rocu	a otio	alkons	to Pine Hill Pd and a repetited ditch.			
Frature has hydre sale but does	ast how	· a STr.p	chuting SI	vesetation or hydrology			
Verstation (lies Colonities Normal)	TOT MAN	<u>nyarc</u>	prync	Dominance Test Workshoot			
Tree Stratum (Plot Size:	Absolute % Cover	Dominant Species?	Indicator Status	Number of dominant species			
1.	10 00101	0000001	Olalus	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)			
2	Almalitic and find the Alford Stars	all a sublicit subscription of the second		Total number of dominant species			
3				Percent of dominant species that			
4				are OBL, FACW, or FAC: 50 (A/B)			
50%= 20%= Total Cover				Prevalence Index Worksheet			
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: 10 × 10)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Total % Cover of: Multiply by			
1 Baccharis pilularis	56	Y	UPL	OBL Species x1 =			
2. Rubus ursinus	16	N	FACLA	FACW Species $50 \times 2 = 100$			
3.				FAC Species x 3 =			
4.		###2003383F68443310285888		FACIL Species 15 x4 - 100			
50%= 30 20%= 12 Total Cover	60			LIPI Species $53 \times 5 = 375$			
Herb Stratum (Plot Size: 10 by 10)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals 120 (A) 435 (P)			
1. Deschandsia cespitosa	50	·/	Frew				
2. Cirscium villagre	5	N	(APL	Prevalence index = B/A =			
3. Achillea millefolium	5	N	FACU	Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators			
4.				Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation			
5.				Prevalence Index is < 3.01			
6				Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting			
7				data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)			
8		distantantantantantana.		Wettand Non-Vascular Plants1 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Evolution)			
50%= 30 20%= 12 Total Course	60			¹ Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must			
Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:	% Cours	Spacios?	Statue	be present.			
1	10 COVEI	opeoles (otatus	Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Y(N)			
2				Notes: NON - HYDROPHYTIC			
50%- 20%- Total Course				VEG IS DOMINIANT			
V Berg Orsened in North Orsener 4/A							
% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum <u>40</u> % Cover of Bio	otic Crust _<	3					

Data Point

Soils

Profile Description: (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators. Depth Matrix Redox Features										
(inches) Color (moist) % Co	<u>lor (moist) % Type¹</u>	Loc ² Texture Remarks								
0-5 7,5412 90 51	<u>e 16 10 c</u>	PC CLAY LOAM								
5-16 7.5(12/2 60 54	<u>16 40 C</u>	PL Clay 16 am								
1Turne: C = Concentration D = Depletion PN = P.	advood Matrix 21 ocation: Pi	- Horo Lining M - Matrix								
Hydria Call Indicatory (Applicable to all I DBa		- Fore Linning M - Matrix								
Historol (A1)	Sandy Podoy (S5)	2 cm Muck (A10)								
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Stripped Matrix (S6)	Red Parent Materials (TF21)								
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy Mucky Mineral (exce	very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)								
Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA 1) (F1)	Vegetated Sand/Gravel Bars								
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)	Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)	Other (Explain in Remarks)								
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Depleted Matrix (F3)									
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox Dark Surface (F6)	³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and								
Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Depleted Dark Surface (F7)	wetland hydrology must be present.								
	Redox Depressions (F8)									
Restrictive Layer (if present): Type:	Depth (Inches)	Hydric Soil Present?								
Remarks Hydric Soils present										
Hydrology										
Wetland Indicators										
Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required.	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)								
Surface Water (A1)	Water Stained Leaves (B9)	except Water Stained Lcavcs (B9) except								
High Water Table (A2)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)	MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)								
Saturation (A3)	Salt Crust (B11)	Drainage Patterns (B10)								

Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) _____ Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Saturation Visible on Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Aerial Imagery (C9) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Geomorphic Position (D2) Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Shallow Aquitard (D3) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A) Inundation Visible on Aerial Stunted or Stressed Plants Imagery (B7) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7) (D1) (LRR A) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Other (Explain In Remarks) Surface (B8) **Field Observations** Wetland Hydrology? Y / N Surface Water Present? No X Depth (inches) Yes. Depth (inches) Water Table Present? No 🔀 Yes _____ Saturation Present? Yes No 🖄 Depth (inches) ____ (includes capillary fringe) Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, and previous inspections), if available: Hydrology indicators are abount. Remarks

	North State Resources, Inc.				Data Point 2				
	Wetland Determination Data Form-Western	n Mounta	ains, Valle	ys, & C	oast Region Feature Type Ratoside Diret				
	Project/Site Pine Hill Bridge Replace	ement	City/County:	Humbo	oldt Date 2/30/13				
	Applicant/Owner: Humboldt County Depar	tment	of Publ	ic Wo	orks State: California				
	Investigator(s): Julian Colescott Section, Township, Range Sec. 4, T4N, R1W								
	Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.) DUCH Local reliet (concave) convex, none) Slope % 0-10								
	Subregion (LRR): <u>IRR A</u> Lat: <u>40</u>	.7525	36	Long:	-124.182588 Datum: WGS84				
	Soil Map Unit Name: No soil data availa	ble	2	NV	I Classification: <u>FRM 2 Cd</u>				
	Are climatic/hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this tir	me of year?	YN (If no,	explain in	Remarks.)				
	Are vegetation Y (N, soil Y (N, or hydrology Y (N)significar	ntly disturbe	d? Are norma	al circumst	ances present?())/N				
	Are vegetation + Ay, soil + (by, or hydrology + (by naturality	problematic	c? (Il neeueu	, explain li	remarks.				
	Summary of Findings (Attach site map showing sampli	ng point loc	ations, transed	cts, import	ant features, etc.)				
	Hydrophylic vegetation?(Y)/ N Hydric soil?(Y) N Wetland	hydrology?	(Y)/N Is sai	mpled are	a a wetland?(Y) N Other waters? Y (N)				
	USACE Jurisdiction Adjacent to Waters K Tributary to Waters K Isolate	d (with inter	rstate commer	ce)	Isolated (non jurisdictional)				
	Evaluation of features designated "Other Wate	rs of the	United Stat	tes"					
	Indicators: Defined bed and bank Scour	Ordina	ary High Wate	er Mark Ma	pped Stream Width				
	Feature Designation: Perennial Intermittent Ep	hemeral aue	Blue-line (Navigable Wa	on USGS (ater	Quad Substrate				
	Remarks the optimize spread to		DALX	INE	DITCH UPEARS TO FLOW				
	VERY SLOWLY IF AT ALL	1015 50 T	KONDA KONDA	FET INST	STRA AL A WEILAND DOI				
	AN OTHER WATERS.		17 8	1 C 1 1 - 1					
	Vegetation (Use Scientific Names)	Absolute	Dominant In	ndicator	Dominance Test Worksheet				
	1	<u>% Cover</u>	Spcoles?	Status	that are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)				
	2.		1000 Pallon (2000 Pallon (2000)	Carlor and a second second	Total number of dominant species				
	3.				Percent of dominant species that				
	4		-		are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)				
	50%= 20%= Total Cover:				Prevalence index Worksheet				
	Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot Size: <u>20 × 9</u>)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Total % Cover of: Multiply by				
	1				OBL Species X 1 =				
	2. / no streets in price				FAC Species x3 =				
	Δ				FACII Species x4 =				
	50%= 20%= Total Cover:		and and a second s		UPI Species x5=				
	Herb Stratum (Plot Size:)	% Cover	Species?	Status	Column Totals (A) (B)				
	1. Arthrochemum subterminate	35	<u>Y</u>	OBL	Prevalence Index = B/A =				
AARONT WING	2. Triglor.hin Maratima	35	<u> </u>	DBL					
	3. Festuca arundinucca	15	<u>N</u>	Fre	Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation				
	4. agrostis stoienitera	10_	<u>N</u>	1PI	Dominance Test is >50%				
	5. Laigs regia supacaulis		<u>r J</u>	VIC	Morphological Adaptations ¹ (provide supporting				
	7		-		data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)				
	8.		an a		Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation ¹ (Explain)				
	50%= 20%= Total Cover:	100			¹ Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must				
	Woody/Vine Stratum (Plot Size:)	% Cover	Species?	Status	be present.				
	1				Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? YN				
	2		-		NOLES: VEG DA.A FROM W/1				
	50%= 20%= Total Cover:		~		DIICH.				
	% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum % Cover of Bio	tic Crust \downarrow	Ø						

Data Point 12

Depth Matrix Red (inches) Color (moist) % Co	lox Features <u>blor (moist) <u>%</u> <u>Type1 Loc</u>2</u>	Texture Remarks
-12 SEE NO/ES		
ypes: C = Concentration D = Depletion RM = R	educed Matrix ² Location: PL = Pore Li	nıng M = Matrix
ydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs,	unless otherwise noted)	Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils
Histosol (A1)	Sandy Redox (S5)	2 cm Muck (A10)
Histic Epipedon (A2)	Stripped Matrix (S6)	Red Parent Materials (TF21)
Black Histic (A3)	Loamy Mucky Mineral (except	Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12
_X Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)	MLRA 1) (F1)	Vegetated Sand/Gravel Bars
Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11)	Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2)	Other (Explain in Remarks)
Thick Dark Surface (A12)	Depleted Matrix (F3)	
Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1)	Redox Dark Surface (F6)	³ Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and
Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)	Depleted Dark Surface (F7)	wetland hydrology must be present.
	Redox Depressions (F8)	
Postrictiva Lover (if present): Type:	Bonth (Inchos)	tric Soil Present? V) N
Resultive Layer (in present). Type.		
TIDEIC SUICS.		
Hvdrology		
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required.	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Surface Water (A1)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required.	<u>Check all that apply.)</u> <u>Water Stained Leaves (B9) except</u> MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1)	<u>Check all that apply.)</u> Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. Surface Water (A1) High Water Table (A2) Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Set	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Sparsely Vegetated Concave	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized Rhizospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) excel MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)	Check all that apply.) Water Stained Leaves (B9) except MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Salt Crust (B11) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1) Oxidized RhIzospheres (C3) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Other (Explain in Remarks)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) excest MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Yes Surface Water Present? Yes	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) exce MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes Water Table Present? Yes No	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) excer MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7) M
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes No Surface Water Present? Yes No No Saturation Present? Yes No No	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) excer MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7) Mary fringe)
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes No Sutration Present? Yes No No Saturation Present? Yes No No Saturation Present? Yes No No	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more required Water Stained Leaves (B9) excer MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7) M Hary fringe) if available:
Wetland Indicators Primary Indicators (Minimum of one is required. X Surface Water (A1) X High Water Table (A2) X Saturation (A3) Water Marks (B1) Sediment Deposits (B2) Drift Deposits (B3) Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Iron Deposits (B5) Surface Soil Cracks (B6) Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8) Field Observations Surface Water Present? Yes Sutration Present? Yes No Saturation Present? Yes No Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitor	Check all that apply.)	Secondary Indicators (2 or more require Water Stained Leaves (B9) exe MLRA 1,2,4A, and 4B) Drainage Patterns (B10) Dry-Season Water Table (C2) Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9) Geomorphic Position (D2) Shallow Aquitard (D3) FAC-Netural Test (D5) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR Frost-I leave Hummocks (D7) Mary fringe)), if available:

Appendix FWetland Mitigation Conceptand Right-of-Way Needs

		EXISTING	CREATED		
	PERENNIAL STREAM	3,677 SF			
	PERENNIAL STREAM		1,007 SF		
TOTAL POST CONSTRUCTION PERENNIAL STREAM 4,684 SF					







			COUNTY OF HUMBOLDT Department of public works	SHEET			
	DESIGNED BY:	KP	PINE HILL ROAD BRIDGE OVER SWAIN SLOUGH	1			
	DRAWN BY:	KP		OF			
letland Post-	REVIEWED.dov:	JJ	WETLAND				
	APPROVED BY						

SCALE: 1"=30'

	PRE- CONSTRUCTION	POST- CONSTRUCTION
SEASONAL WETLAND	5,868 SF	4,084 SF
VEGETATED DITCH	3,054 SF	4,441 SF



APN	OWNER	TOTAL PARCEL	PERMANENT ROADWAY EASEMENT	TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION EASEMENT	REMAINDER
		SF	SF	SF	SF
302-181-008-000	PRIOR ROBERT D TR	914,760	3,110	3,310	911,650
302-151-019-000	CHAMBERLAIN SHARON B TR	110,642	2,995	1,500	107,647
302-151-020-000	JACOBSON LOU & ELIZABETH	20,909	1,695	370	19,214

RIGHT OF WAY NEEDS RW-1

SCALE: 1"=30'



Appendix F - Archaeological Study Report (ASR)

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Located near Eureka, Humboldt County, California

Prepared For: Hank Seemann Natural Resources Division Humboldt County Department of Public Works 1106 2nd Street Eureka, CA 95501

Roscore ranso

Prepared By: James Roscoe and William Rich With contributions by Jerry Rohde Roscoe and Associates 3781 Brookwood Drive Bayside, CA 95524

Reviewed By:

Timothy Keefe, Office of Local Assistance Archaeologist & Local Assistance Native American Coordinator PQS, Caltrans District 2

Approved By:

District Environmental Branch Chief Caltrans District 1 P. O. Box 3700 Eureka, CA 95502-3700

USGS 7.5' Topographic Quadrangle Maps: Eureka, CA Acreage of Survey: 2.7 acres No Historic Properties/Resources Identified

January 2013

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

Archaeological and other heritage resources can be damaged or destroyed through uncontrolled public disclosure. Archaeological site locations and culturally sensitive information is considered confidential and public access to such information is restricted by state and federal law.

Information regarding the location, character or ownership of a historic resource is exempt from the Freedom of Information Act pursuant to 16 U.S.C. 470w-3; Section 304 of the National Historic Preservation Act, 36 CFR 800(6)(a)(5) and 36 CFR 800.11(c); Section 9(a) of the Archaeological Resources Protection Act; Executive Order 13007; Section 6254.10 of the California State Government Code: and the 2005 California Senate Bill 922.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

i

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

During the fall of 2012, Roscoe and Associates completed a Phase I archaeological survey at the location of the Swain Slough Bridge (#04C-0173) Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road approximately 300 meters east of Elk River Road, near Eureka, Humboldt County California. Swain Slough Bridge is a 63-foot long, three span structure constructed in 1955, which is now proposed for replacement. Roscoe and Associates conducted this investigation under contract with the Humboldt County Department of Public Works who is working with California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) and the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) with funding from the Highway Bridge Program and the Toll Credit Bridge Replacement Fund. This project qualifies as a federal undertaking subject to review under the January 2004 Programmatic Agreement (PA) among the FHWA, the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation California, the California State Historic Preservation Officer and Caltrans regarding compliance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act (Section 106 PA).

Caltrans is the lead federal agency, following the provisions of the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Federal Highway Administration and the California Department of Transportation concerning the State of California's participation in the Surface Transportation Project Delivery Program, which became effective on October 1, 2012 pursuant to 23 USC 326 or 23 USC 327. As a result, the State of California has assumed FHWA's responsibilities under NEPA, as well as, consultation and coordination responsibilities. In that, this project is covered by the above referenced MOU, FHWA has assigned, and Caltrans has assumed, FHWA responsibility for environmental review, consultation, and coordination on this project. The Humboldt County Department of Public Works is the lead agency for the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).

The purpose of this report is to document whether historic properties/resources are present within the proposed project area pursuant to Section 15064.5 of CEQA, 36 CFR 800.4(b), and Section 106 PA. This report describes the proposed project, the APE description, background historical information, correspondence with knowledgeable individuals, investigation methods and results.

The North Coastal Information Center (NCIC) records indicate that the project APE had been subject to a previous archaeological investigation by Roscoe and Associates in 2002 (NCIC Survey #24019). The NCIC base and primary maps, however, show that no cultural resources have been recorded in the project APE.

Background research indicates that the project area is situated in the historical territory of the Wiki subdivision of the Wiyot Tribe. The closest know village, CA-HUM-77 is at the mouth of Elk River, approximately one mile to the northwest (Loud 1918). Loud (1918) also reports of a Wiyot village and fishing place further to the southeast near Elk River School. Although no sites are known in the specific project area, Swain Slough is navigable, and would have provided access to the Elk River Valley and upstream areas. Based on the historic research conducted during this investigation, Pine Hill Road has crossed Swain Slough at this location since c.1890s,

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013 when the road was used to connect Elk River Corner and Humboldt Hill. The specific project location was under agriculture by the 1870s, with an early building, probably a barn, being mapped at the confluence of Martin Slough and Swain Slough, approximately 100 meters to the south. There is no mapping of ownership of the project area until 1886, at which time it appears that the property was owned by S. F. Pine. The nearby Lorensen Ranch buildings were subject to a preliminary historical significance evaluation in 2002 (Roscoe and Van Kirk) and found eligible for listing.

Local Native American tribes were contacted. This was initiated with the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) who provided a list of Native American individuals and tribes with ancestral interest in this portion of Humboldt County. Correspondence was ultimately conducted with representatives of the Bear River Band of the Rohnerville Rancheria, Blue Lake Rancheria and the Wiyot Tribe. Ms. Erika Collins, Tribal Historic Preservation Officer for the Bear River Band of the Rohnerville Rancheria was present during the field survey.

An archaeological field survey was conducted on August 24, 2012, September 2 and 20, 2012 by James Roscoe and William Rich. The field survey was conducted under fair conditions. Archaeological material was sought in exposures of mineral soils which were found along the margins of the APE and in the adjacent areas. This low profile bridge crossing over Swain Slough is situated on the flat bottom of lower Elk River valley where recent sediment aggregation has filled in the historic channel causing an increase in flooding. The areas of existing ground disturbance from levy construction along Swain Slough, and a tide gate on Martin Slough provided ample mineral soil exposure to survey for expected archaeological site indicators that could be present in the project APE.

No cultural resources were identified during this investigation. The Swain Slough Bridge (#04C-0173) itself exceeds 50 years of age; however, the structure was previously included in Caltrans's Statewide Bridge Inventory and evaluated as ineligible for listing on the California Register of Historic Resources. Therefore, this investigation supports a finding of "No Historic Properties Affected" (36 CFR 800.4(d)(1)) and "No Adverse Effects to Historical Resources" (Public Resource Code 5020.1). At this time, no further archaeological studies are recommended. If, however, the APE changes to include areas not previously surveyed, additional investigation would be required.

It is Caltrans' policy to avoid cultural resources whenever possible. If however, buried cultural materials are encountered during project construction, work shall stop in the immediate vicinity of the find(s) until the Humboldt County Public Works Department can follow Caltrans' procedures for discovery of cultural resources during implementation of an undertaking, as described at 36 CFR 800.13.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

Section	Page
1.0 Introduction and Project Description	6
1.1 Area of Potential Effect	7
2.0 Environmental and Cultural Setting	8
 2.1 Natural Setting 2.2 Prehistory 2.3 Ethnogeography 2.3.1 Ethnogeography of the Project Area and Surroundings 	8 8 9 11
2.4 History	12
3.0 Methods	16
 3.1 Background Research and Consultation	16 16 16 16 17 17 17
4.0 Findings	18
4.1 Pre-Field Search Results4.1.1 Results of North Coastal Information Center Records Search	18 18
5.0 Conclusions	20
 5.1 Protocols for Inadvertent Discoveries 5.1.1 Inadvertent Discovery of Cultural Resources 5.1.2 Inadvertent Discovery of Human Remains 	20 20 20
6.0 References Cited	23

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 1	Previous	Archaeological	Surveys	within ½ 1	nile of the	project	t APE	18	Z
14010 1.	11011040	i nonaoologicai	Darrego		mie or me	project	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		•

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

Table

APPENDIX A – Report Figures

Figure 1. General Vicinity MapFigure 2. Project Location MapFigure 3. Area of Potential Effect MapFigure 4. 1870 U.S. Coast Survey MapFigure 5. Cultural Resources Survey Coverage shown on 2009 Air PhotoFigure 6. Field Photos

APPENDIX B - Humboldt County Department of Public Works Project Plans and Project Description for the Construction of the Swain Slough Bridge

APPENDIX C - Native American Correspondence

APPENDIX D - North Coastal Information Center Record Search Results

v

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROJECT DESCRIPTION

During September and October of 2012, Roscoe and Associates completed a Phase I archaeological survey for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project near Eureka, Humboldt County, California (Appendix A-Figure 1). The Swain Slough Bridge (#04C-0173) provides access between lower Elk River Road and Herrick Street. The project is designed to replace the existing 1955 bridge, which has been classified as structurally deficient and functionally obsolete due to aging timber and concrete foundation. The existing bridge will be replaced with a new single span, post tensioned slab, which will be cast in place.

The existing bridge will be removed with heavy equipment while working from the road surface and disposed of offsite. A row of sheet piles will be vibrated into the Swain Slough channel in order to divert the tidal flow and allow for removal of the existing abutments and footings. The new abutment footings will be constructed on driven piles. Construction of the bridge abutments will require two excavation areas each measuring approximately 30 feet long by 12 feet wide. The falsework for the bridge construction will use the newly constructed abutments and will not require supports within the channel. Rock slope protection at the face and adjacent to the bridge will be required. Mainline roadway approach construction will include fills of up to 5 feet.

A 12" water line is located on the north side of Pine Hill Road and is attached to the outside edge of the existing bridge. The overhead electric lines and sewage pump plant located to the east of the project will not be affected. The underground waterline will need relocation. Coordination will conform to the latest Caltrans procedural guidelines for relocation.

Humboldt County has 66' of maintenance easement along the centerline of Pine Hill Road. It is anticipated that the permanent improvements can be accommodated within this existing area. The detour and temporary construction areas (including staging areas) will likely be located outside of the maintenance easement area. Coordination and agreements with the neighboring landowner(s) for these temporary uses will be required. Equipment and materials will be staged on the existing asphalt concrete roadway approaches.

Humboldt County currently has prescriptive right-of-way on Pine Hill Road for the existing roadway and bridge alignment. It is anticipated that temporary construction easements (TCE) will also be required to construct the new bridge. The new bridge rail and end protection is likely to affect access to the field at the southeast corner of the bridge. There is currently an access gate immediately adjacent to the existing bridge that would likely need to be relocated to the east. This existing access crosses Martin Slough via metal culverts that have flap gates attached to the downstream ends. A new access to the east may be required and would likely require new metal culverts.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013 6 The new bridge will accommodate two 10 foot traffic lanes and 5 foot shoulders with railing along both sides. Construction will take place during daylight hours using heavy equipment which may include an excavator, front end loader and/or a bulldozer. During project implementation, traffic will be restricted from access to the bridge location and a detour will be set in place. Silt fence and or fiber rolls will be used to reduce erosion and staging and stockpiling will occur on the roadway to the west of the bridge.

The project APE is situated in the south half of the southeast quarter of Section 4 of Township 4 North, Range 1 West (HBM). This location is shown on the 7.5' USGS Eureka, California Topographic Quadrangle Map (Appendix A - Figure 2). The bridge is located at UTM coordinates (NAD 83, UTM Zone 10) 400,166mE / 4,511,971mN. The elevation of this location is approximately 20 feet above sea level.

Roscoe and Associates is a cultural resource management consulting firm working in northwest California for over 30 years. All key staff meet the Secretary of Interior's Professional Qualifications Standards for Archaeology (Title 36 Code of Federal Regulations Part 61, and 48 Federal Regulation 44716). Principal Investigator James Roscoe, M.A., and Registered Professional Archaeologist (RPA) William Rich, M.A., conducted the archaeological field survey and prepared this report. Jerry Rohde, M.A. prepared the background history section.

1.1 AREA OF POTENTIAL EFFECT

The horizontal APE boundary is rectangular in shape and aligned with the center of the roadway. This APE boundary measures 300 meters in length and varies in width from 15 to 30 meters. The APE includes locations of the existing Swain Slough Bridge, Pine Hill Road and the proposed staging area in the west end of the APE. The vertical limits of the APE will be greatest for the construction of the bridge abutments and piers. Footing construction is expected to occur at the location of the existing footings, and reach depths of 3 meters or more. It is expected that geotechnical boring will be conducted prior to final project design. All equipment and materials staging will occur within the boundaries of the APE. The map provided in Appendix A -Figure 3 shows a detailed plan of the APE. The county project plans and description have also been included as Appendix B.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

7

2.0 Environmental and Cultural Setting

2.1 NATURAL SETTING

The project location is approximately two miles upstream from the mouth of Elk River at Humboldt Bay and is influenced by the semidiurnal tides of the Pacific Ocean. Swain Slough drains all of Martin Slough and the small watersheds on the east side of the lower Elk River Valley. The project setting is relatively flat, dominated by the low gradient, slow moving water of the slough which makes a mild sweeping turn at the project location. The mouth of Martin Slough has been altered to enter Swain Slough at a tide gate along Pine Hill Road. Formerly it would have entered 100 meters to the south, upstream on Swain Slough. During the historic period, Swain Slough, and others around the bay, were lined with an earthen levee to control flooding. The surface geology of the project location is of relatively recent age, less than 10,000 years old (Strand 1962). The sediments at the project location may have been inundated during the tsunami of 1700 (State of California Tsunami Inundation Map 2009).

The land surrounding the project location is currently maintained as open pasture for cattle and horse grazing. Before these intensive agricultural practices, this landscape would have hosted a dense riparian woodland. Sitka spruce would have dominated, with a varying mosaic of willow, alder, and other trees tolerant of exposure to the coast. Animals that frequent this vegetation community include a variety of large and small mammals, various birds, several fish species and invertebrate resources. Prior to the contact period, grizzly bear, elk and condor were present but are now extirpated. The large and small mammals currently present in this environment include black-tailed deer, black bear, mountain lion, coyote, bobcat, ground squirrels, rabbits and many other small mammals. It is probable that high numbers of anadromous fish and eel were present in Swain and Martin Slough, and that these species and others were utilized by neighboring Wiyot villages. These fish are still present and the focus of several restoration efforts in the Elk River Watershed (Raskin and Roscoe 2011).

2.2 PREHISTORY

The prehistory of the north coast region of California is often described with reference to northwest interior and has a deep prehistoric record reaching to the early Holocene Period over 7,000 years ago. This is an environment where the persistent coastal moisture and the arid interior converge. Coupled with the geologic complexity of the Franciscan formation, this area had a unique prehistoric cultural expression. Archaeological research in this general region has hypothesized a continuous prehistoric cultural chronology for the last 7,800 years before present.

The oldest is the Borax Lake Pattern (8,000 to 3,000 B.P.), attributed to the earliest known prehistoric occupation for this portion of northwest California. These remains are thought to represent the activities of small, highly mobile family groups who ranged over wide areas

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

(Fitzgerald and Hildebrandt 2001). The early period assemblages have been documented on the ridgelines east of Humboldt Bay and at a coastal terrace overlooking Little River, in Dows Prairie (Hildebrandt and Hayes 1983, 1984, Roscoe 1995).

The Middle Period (5,000 to 2,500 B.P.) is represented by the Mendocino Pattern, an adaptive orientation toward the use of low elevations, along salmon bearing streams near acorn crops and which could be occupied by larger concentrations of people during the winter months (Hildebrandt and Hayes 1983, 1984, Bickel 1979). Archaeological sites associated with middle period assemblages have been located in the coastal hills adjacent to Humboldt Bay and at bay margin sites in Arcata (Eidsness 1993).

The late period Tuluwat (formerly Gunther) Pattern is generally dated after 1,100 years ago and presumed to represent a continuation of the Middle Archaic Period with a particular focus on coastal resources. Sites dating to this time are found throughout the western North Coast Ranges in moderate density. The environments around Humboldt Bay are marked by ethnographically described sites of this period, but generally seem to lack any archaeological deposits of the middle or early period occupations. Late period archaeology has been investigated at the Wiyot Village of Tuluwat (CA-HUM-67), on Indian (Gunther) Island in Humboldt Bay, among others, and more recently at an archaeological site owned by the Blue Lake Rancheria in Manila (Loud 1918, Tushingham 2011)

2.3 ETHNOGEOGRAPHY

TRANSFORMENT AND INCOME.

The study area lies within the traditional territory of the Wiki division of the Wiyot Indian tribe. This group occupied lands adjacent to Humboldt Bay (Nomland and Kroeber 1936, Curtis 1970, and Merriam 1998), while other divisions of the tribe inhabited areas to the north and south. The Wiyot language has been categorized as Algonquian-based. In it, the Wiyots called themselves the Soo-lah-te-luk (Merriam 1998). The name "Wiyot" itself is derived from the Yurok term "weyet or "weyot" (Loud 1918:297); the Yurok, who lived to the north, also spoke a language classified as Algonkian (Teeter 1964). Although the Wiyot and Yurok languages are distinctly different, linguists have linked the two in "a provisional group called Ritwan" that is alternatively classified as Algic (Elsasser 1978:155). Linguistic research implies that the two groups are distantly related, and this "unlikely Yurok-Wiyot proximity" has been hypothetically explained as "parallel migrational responses by two similar but separate groups at different times to similar geographic and ecological pressures and/or opportunities" (Moratto 1984:483, 564-564).

According to Humboldt State University linguist Victor Golla, the Wiyots arrived in the Humboldt Bay area approximately 2,000 years ago, inhabiting a lagoon environment that afforded the use of coastal resources. The Yuroks then came "at a much later date," sometime subsequent to the arrival of the first Athabascan speakers, who came after 600 CE (Common Era) (Golla 2003).

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013 The living habits of the Wiyots have been summarized most notably by Curtis (1970), Loud (1918) Nomland and Kroeber (1936), and Elsasser (1978). Interviews with Wiyots born near the time of white arrival have provided at least a partial picture of what traditional tribal life was like. The photographer and ethnographer Edward S. Curtis relates that "Wiyot houses were like those of the Klamath river tribes, with plank walls and gabled roof, and a deep excavation occupying the greater part of the enclosed square" (Curtis 1970:71). Archaeologist L. L. Loud describes a slightly different structure with a shallow pit in the center, and also tells of sweat houses that were half subterranean and "at least sixteen feet square" (Loud 1918:267). Wiyot redwood canoes were similar to those of the Yuroks and were used primarily on the bay and rivers, although "in calm weather [the Wiyots] sometimes fished outside the heads" (Curtis 1970:72-76). They mainly hunted two marine mammals from canoes:

A seal sleeping on the water was warily approached by two men in a canoe, who remained quiet while the animal's nose was above water and paddled when it was submerged. When the canoe was a few yards distant, the man in the bow launched the harpoon (Curtis 1970:73).

Sea lions, on the other hand,

were harpooned as they lay on the rocks. The victim plunged into the water, carrying the harpoon along, and the hunter then rejoined his men in the canoe and gave chase. Other small harpoons were planted in the animal as opportunity was offered, and at last when it was somewhat exhausted the line was drawn in while one of the men stood ready with a heavy club and another with an additional harpoon. The largest sea-lions were dangerous, and would attempt to seize the canoe in their teeth (Curtis 1970:73).

Other animals were hunted or caught in various ways. Elk were pursued by a hunter and his dogs in a running chase that could last as much as two days. Deer and sometimes elk were caught in rope snares. Bears were trapped in deadfalls, or, if hibernating in a hollow log, suffocated by smoke after the openings had been partially blocked. Waterfowl were hunted from blinds; the expenditure of "thirty to forty wooden-pointed arrows would succeed in killing perhaps six or eight waterfowl out of a flock" (Curtis 1970:73). Salmon might be taken in gill nets or in either of two types of fish weirs. Smelt were caught in surf nets and other fish by other means.

Clothing was mostly made from deer skins. Women and girls wore basketry caps. Basketmaking materials included spruce and willow roots, bear grass, maidenhair and Woodwardia ferns, and a dye made from alder bark juice (Curtis 1970:71-72). The women wove twine baskets for carrying and cooking foods (Curtis 1970:76-77).

The Wiyot lived in villages that were uniformly close to water, for they were people of the wetlands, where their sustenance often came from bay or river, and where their way could often most easily be made by canoe rather than on foot. Although the Wiyot were "as 'coastal' in

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

residence as a people could be...they used the ocean very little for either subsistence or travel" (Nomland and Kroeber 1936:45). On the other hand, "[e]very bay settlement was on tidewater" (Nomland and Kroeber 1936:45).

The main Wiyot travel route extended from the mouth of the Mad River to the mouth of the Eel, running down Mad River Slough and part of the Samoa peninsula before crossing the bay to Indian Island (travelers on the peninsula would shout or build a fire to attract a boatman from the island) (Loud 1918:231), continuing across to Eureka, arcing down and around the bay, crossing Elk River near its mouth, to the end of Table Bluff, and then down McNulty Slough to the Eel. Two side trails, one from White's Slough and one from Hookton Slough, forked southeast to connect with the area near Fernbridge (Nomland and Kroeber 1936:43, 47. The Wiyot, "though they rarely slept beyond the smell of salt water, managed their lives so as to avoid more than an occasional putting to sea" (Nomland and Kroeber 1936:45-47).

2.3.1 Ethnogeography of the Project Area and Surroundings

The closest known Wiyot village site to the project area is Loud site 77, *iksori*, which he claims was among those used by the tribe in 1850 (Loud 1918:286, Plate 1). The Wiyots also called Elk River iksori, and the village of that name was at the river's mouth. The tribe's most noted leader at the time of white arrival, Ki-we-lat-tah, "lived here part of the time". *Iksori* lay on a sandspit between the river and Humboldt Bay. Loud indicates that *iksori* was subsequently "washed away," and his field map of village sites shows iksori located in the waters of Humboldt Bay slightly northwest of the mouth of Elk River (Loud 1913; 1918:270, 277, 286, Plate 1).

The location of *iksori* is approximately three-quarters of a mile northwest of the project area. Given the lifestyle patterns of the Wiyot, it is likely that *iksori* residents and perhaps other Wiyots used Swain Slough for canoe travel for hunting, fishing, and/or gathering. The slough may also have provided access to Martins Slough and the bluff top area to the northeast of the slough. It is also possible that there were habitation areas adjacent the slough at locations of higher ground near fresh water. This would fit with the characteristic south-facing, hillside locations favored by most local tribal groups. The incomplete record of Wiyot habitation in the Elk River drainage leaves this possibility in the realm of speculation, however.

Although there may have been several villages up river (Rohde 2010), only one other community on iksori river was spoken of: *chwanochkok*, which was located near the Elk River School. Wiyot camped there to catch salmon and dry them. The Gregg Party stayed at this location (Loud 1918:273, 286, Plate 1) on their way south—perhaps lost, perhaps looking for an easy crossing of the river. The sudden arrival of this group of heavily armed outsiders was a portent of the mass immigration that followed a few months later. Soon the new settlers were pushing the Wiyot out of many village locations. Within a few years *iksori* was one of only three Indian settlements left along the bay (Loud 1918:323). In February 1852 the murder of two white men living on Eel River was blamed on the Wiyots. Enraged community members met at various towns and deployed parties to mete out retribution. *Iksori* village came under one of a series of attacks that resulted in several deaths (Loud 1918:323-324). The river iksori was a travel route for the Wiyots. They would paddle their canoes upstream to a point opposite the ridgeline north of Elk River's North Fork. From there they took a trail up the ridge to the western portion of Kneeland prairie, on Barry Ridge, where they would hunt and gather in the summertime and attempt to avoid conflicts with the Athabaskan tribes that came to Kneeland from the Mad River and Yager Creek drainages (Loud 1918:230-231, 255, Plate 1).

There likely were more Wiyot trails in the area, but they have not been recorded. The settlers of central Humboldt Bay, using either an existing Indian trail or building a new one of their own, developed a route through the Elk River drainage to the inland mines. By 1854-1855 the government survey had mapped the "Eureka and Trinity Trail" that came south from today's Cutten area. It followed the approximate course of Walnut Drive and then, at Ridgewood Heights, continued south along the ridgeline, above the east side of the Elk River valley. At a point north of the North Fork of Elk River, this trail turned left, following the Wiyot route up to Kneeland and then continuing on its way to Trinity County (Surveyor General's Office 1854a, 1855a, 1890a, 1890b, Doolittle 1865).

In early 1860 an association of white ranchers committed a series of massacres against the local Indians. Over a dozen villages were attacked, including *iksori* and others on Elk River. Many of the surviving Indians, who were mostly Wiyots, were removed to distant Indian reservations (Rohde 2010). It is likely that at this time the Indian population in the Elk River drainage was virtually eliminated. By the early 1900s, no Indians were listed as inhabiting the area (Kelsey 1971).

2.4 HISTORY

A survey of historic maps showing the project area reveals the following information:

- 1852: A bare outline of lower Elk River is shown with no depiction of either Swain or
- Martin sloughs. The nearest cultural features are the communities of Humboldt [City] and Bucksport, each approximately two miles away (U. S. Coast Survey 1852).
- 1855: Elk River is again shown with no subsidiary sloughs. The project area is shown as apparently being within "R. M. William's [*sic*] School Location," a reference to a large parcel (part of the boundary is not rendered) that was probably school warrant land belonging to R. M. Williams. No structures are shown in the area. (Surveyor General's Office 1855a).
- 1865: Land north of the project area is shown in the ownership of R. M. Williams. Land west of the project area, across a road going up Elk River valley, is shown being owned by J. K. Shanahan. Land just south of Martin Slough, in the vicinity of the project area, belongs to A. Swain (Doolittle 1865).

- 1870: Both Swain and Martin sloughs are now depicted. What appear to be two ranches, with barns and orchards, are shown on the blufftop north and northeast of the project area. A road runs up the Elk River valley west of the project area (following the approximate course of today's Elk River Road. The "Road from Eureka to Rohnerville Hydesville and Eel River" comes down from Humboldt Hill, runs along the north side of Elk River, and then crosses the river at the later site of Elk River Corners. One structure is shown immediately northwest of the river crossing. This road then reaches a "T" junction with the road up Elk River. East of the latter road are cultivated areas west of Swain Slough and south of Martin slough. A structure is shown as being in the cultivated area west of Swain Slough and in an unmarked area east of the slough (U. S. Coast Survey 1870).
- 1886: The Bucksport and Elk River Railroad is shown running west of the Elk River Road past what became Elk River Corners. The project area apparently belongs to S. F. Pine (Forbes 1886).
- 1890: The cultural features appear similar to those depicted on the 1870 map. The section of Pine Hill Road east of Elk River Road does not appear on the map (United States Coast and Geodetic Survey 1894).
- 1898: Property boundaries are incomplete, but the project area appears to still be owned by S. F. Pine. The road from Humboldt Hill now forms a four-way intersection with the Elk River road at a community labeled Elk River, but which is actually Elk River Corners. A new road section to the east (Pine Hill Road) crosses Swain Slough and then runs northeast (and uphill) into the "Myers Tr[act]" (Lentell 1898). This new section is what is now called Pine Hill Road.
- 1911: The road configuration remains the same. The crossroads community is still called Elk River. The project area is now shown as belonging to "Myers," while land to the northwest is owned by "J. Pine" (Denny 1911).
- 1916: The structure immediately south of the confluence of Martin and Swain sloughs is still present. Several structures are shown on the hillside northeast of the project area, above the bend where Pine Hill Road turns into Myers Road (Laird 2007).
- 1921: The "State Highway" has replaced the road down Humboldt Hill as the main route to and from Eureka. A remnant of the old road runs from the highway east to the Elk River Corners intersection. The portion of the project area west of what is called "Martin's Slough" but is depicted on current maps as Swain Slough is owned by Ira L. Tooby. The project area portion east of the slough appears to be part of the Myers Tr[act] north of the road and owned by Cornelius Lorenson south of the road (Belcher 1921:6).

13

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

• 1949: The old road that crossed Elk River just west of Elk River Corners now stops at the east side of the river, with a new road extending south from this endpoint approximately one-quarter mile. The project area west of Swain Slough is owned by Ira L. Tooby. East of the slough crossing, the area south of the road is owned by E. H. Lorensen and the area to the north is part of the Myers Tract (Metsker 1949:19).

Research of historic maps listed above indicates that the project area was under cultivation at least as early as 1870 (Appendix A-Figure 4). At that time there was one building, perhaps a barn or large shed, adjacent to or within the project area. It was located just south of the confluence of Martin and Swain sloughs and thus also just south of Pine Hill Road. The mouth of Swains Slough has since been moved to the north.

There is no mapping of ownership of the project area until 1886, at which time it appears that the property was owned by S. F. Pine. Pine was a business owner, rancher, and elected official. In 1890 Pine was listed as the proprietor of the Eureka Dairy (Hamm 1890:132), member of the Ninth District Board of Agriculture (Hamm 1890:viii), clerk of the Bucksport School District (Hamm 1890:21), and as "silent partner" in the Eureka Foundry and Machine Shop (Hamm 1890:205). His "milk ranch" comprised 350 acres of land that had been "subject to overflow on the occasion of high tides." Pine, however, diked the land after he purchased it in 1880. The ranch included a house on "a lofty bluff," with orchards and gardens around it. At the foot of the bluff were horse and milk cow "stables," the latter accommodating 116 dairy animals. There were two pastures for the farm animals (Hamm 1890:191, 193).

A comparison of the 1898 Lentell map, which shows property ownership, with the 1894 Coast and Geodetic Survey map, which shows cultural features, indicates that Pine's property ran from a line just east of the mouth of Elk River eastward to encompass part of the blufftop across which Herrick Avenue now runs. The property extended south to Elk River, included the area east of the river down to Elk River Corners; its line then followed the eastern side of Elk River Road to a point southeast of the confluence of Martin and Swain sloughs. The line then ran easterly some distance before turning north and west to gain the top of the bluff. A ranch road that approximates the route of today's Herrick Avenue went east from the main road to climb the bluff and reach the ranch house and orchards. The structure at the confluence of Martin and Swain sloughs that appears on the 1870 map is still present. It appears to be within Pine's property and may have been one of "stables" or barns referred to in the 1890 report (Lentell 1898; United States Coast and Geodetic Survey 1894). The configuration of ranch buildings and roads appears to be the same as that shown on the 1870 Coast Survey map (U. S. Coast Survey 1870). In 1904 Pine is listed as the chairman of the Humboldt County Board of Supervisors (Times Publishing Co. 1904).

By 1921-1922 Ira L. Tooby has taken over the Pine property as part of a parcel that extends on both sides of Elk River and that includes the project area. Ira was the son of George J. Tooby, a "pioneer merchant and stock rancher of southern Humboldt" (Humboldt Standard 1927). A review of basic information sources did not uncover information about the other land owners.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

The map information cited above indicates that the section of Pine Hill Road that runs through the project area was constructed between 1894 and 1898. No further information was located about the road.

intera ner narsananna narsa

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

3.0 Methods

3.1 BACKGROUND RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION

3.1.1 North Coastal Information Center Records Search

Background research for the cultural resources survey at Swain Slough Bridge included a records search at the North Coastal Information Center (NCIC) and a background literature review. The literature review for this project included an examination of historical maps, records and published documents at the Humboldt County Historical Society, Humboldt State University Library, and the Humboldt County Library.

William Rich conducted a records search at the NCIC located in Klamath, California on July 24, 2012. This included searching an area considered the investigation "study area" as measured by a ½ mile buffer from the boundaries of the APE. Previous survey areas and recorded site locations were copied onto a blank USGS topographic map. This records search included the direct project area with a 500 meter radius buffer. Within this record search area, all past surveys were plotted. All previously recorded cultural resources were also plotted and the site records were copied. Also searched at the NCIC were files on the Humboldt County NRHP-Listed Properties and Determined Eligible Properties, California Register of Historical Resources, California Points of Historical Interest, California Inventory of Historical Resources, and the listing of the California Historical Landmarks.

3.1.2 Background Archival Research

Background archival research was aimed at obtaining information pertinent to the prehistoric and historical uses of the survey area. It was also hoped that this would generate specific geographic information about archaeological and historic sites in the survey area and its vicinity. Background research also provided an understanding of the types of cultural resources that were likely to be encountered in each of the project's APE. Ethnohistoric research included an examination of historical maps, records and published and unpublished ethnographic documents at the Humboldt County Historical Society, Humboldt State University Library as well as the author's personal libraries.

3.1.3 Consultation with Native Americans

On August 7, 2012 written correspondence regarding the cultural resources investigation was sent to the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) requesting a search of the Sacred Lands Inventory File (Appendix C). Roscoe and Associates also requested the current list of local Native American groups and individuals who may have interests and/or concerns about cultural resources in the project site. The NAHC responded on August 14, 2012 with a current Native American contact list for the region. Letters were sent to all those listed on August 14, 2012. This included The Wiyot Tribe, Bear River Band of the Rohnerville Rancheria and the Blue Lake Rancheria. Notification letters included a brief project description, investigation methodology, and a project location map. A written emailed response was received from Erika Collins, Tribal Historic Preservation Officer (THPO) from the Bear River Band of the

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

Rohnerville Rancheria on August 15, 2012, in which she commented on the sensitivity of the area. A follow-up phone call was made and Ms. Collins participated in a field visit with Roscoe and Associates on September 20, 2012, where the bridge abutments and other areas of expected ground disturbance is occurring. We discussed the potential vertical APE for the project and Ms. Collins was satisfied and had no further concerns. Janet Eidsness, THPO for the Blue Lake Rancheria and Monique Sonoquie, THPO for the Wiyot Tribe responded by email August 22, 2012 and September 24, 2012, respectively. Both THPO's requested that they be notified if any cultural resources were found. No other concerns were noted. (Appendix C).

3.2 SURVEY METHODS

3.2.1 Survey Expectations

Historical research indicated that the project vicinity had low potential for Native American archaeological sites, as it occurs in the bottom lands surrounding Humboldt Bay and associated sloughs and may have also been subject to the past tsunami inundation. Historic period cultural resources associated with homesteading, and ranching could be located in the project vicinity. Prehistoric archaeological site indicators would predominantly include stone tools of chert and obsidian, stone tool manufacturing debitage, ground stone implements, milling stone features, locally darkened midden soils with marine shell and/or bone debris, pit features and rock alignments. Expected historic period cultural resource indicators include standing or ruined buildings; ceramic, glass, or metal artifacts; structures; trails; tailings and pits.

3.2.2 Field Investigation

James Roscoe and William Rich conducted a pedestrian survey at the project APE on August 24, 2012, September 2 and 20, 2012 (Appendix A – Figure 5 and Figure 6). The APE was surveyed with an intensive pedestrian approach where close spaced (less than 5 meters) zig-zag transects were utilized while visually scanning the ground surface. Exposures of mineral soils were closely examined. Special attention was given to the slough levees and the road margin of Pine Hill Road. Extensive surface scraping was not conducted.

4.0 FINDINGS

4.1 PRE-FIELD SEARCH RESULTS

The NCIC record search included the project APE and a 500-meter buffer around its perimeter. The record search results and map are attached to this report as Appendix D.

4.1.1 Results of North Coastal Information Center Records Search

A records search was conducted by Roscoe and Associates at the NCIC in Klamath, California on July 24, 2012 (Appendix D). This search revealed that the project area had been subject to a past cultural resources investigation by Roscoe and Van Kirk (2002) but that no cultural resources were identified in the current project APE. This report does however document the recordation efforts and historical significance evaluation of the Lorensen house and ranch Buildings within the 500 meter buffer. Roscoe and Van Kirk (2002) provided a preliminary opinion that the buildings are eligible for listing on the California Register of Historical Resources because of their high level of historic integrity and association with early dairy ranching around Humboldt Bay. The NCIC lists two additional surveys within 500 meters of the project area (Roscoe 1989, Roscoe 1995), and one written overview of the Humboldt Bay Area (Benson 1977) (Table 1). Roscoe's past surveys were for private development and widening of Elk River Road. No cultural resources were identified in the project area as a result of these past surveys.

NCIC Report #	Author/Date	Report Title	Results
10975	Roscoe, J. 1989	An Archaeological Investigation of the Proposed Widening of Elk River Road, Humboldt County, CA	Negative
17643	Roscoe J. 1995	A Cultural Resources Study of the Hales Property APN 302-131-07, Humboldt County, CA	Negative
24019	Roscoe J. and S. Van Kirk 2002	A Cultural Resources Investigation of the Proposed Martins Slough Sewer Connector Route, City of Eureka, Humboldt County, CA	Lorensen Ranch Buildings Identified and Evaluated
886	Benson, J. 1977	Archaeological Reconnaissance of the Humboldt Bay Area for the Humboldt Waste Management Authority	Negative

Table 1. Previous archaeological surveys within the project area and ½ mile of the project APE.

In conclusion, the background literature search (Section 2.0) and NCIC records search provided no information regarding the proximity of ancestral Native American cultural resources at or near the project area. A review of Loud (1918) indicates that the closest known village, CA-HUM-77 is at the mouth of Elk River, approximately one mile to the northwest. This site is located outside of the 500-meter buffer and was not specifically reviewed and/or visited during this investigation. Information regarding the proximity of historic period features and or buildings is limited to what is shown on historic maps. The roadway which became the current project area at Pine Hill Road first appears on the 1870 U.S. Coast Survey Map of Humboldt

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013 Bay. A possible building is also shown approximately 100 meters to the south. The nearby Lorensen house and ranch buildings evaluated by Roscoe and Van Kirk (2002) are also located outside of the APE.

4.2 FIELD SURVEY RESULTS

The cultural resources field survey at the Swain Slough Bridge was conducted over a five-hour period. Conditions during the field survey were optimal with clear, bright skies and ample lighting. Fair visibility of mineral soil was encountered throughout the survey areas. Survey was focused at the levee along both sides of Swain Slough and the bridge foundation areas. No cultural resources were identified during this investigation.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

19

5.0 CONCLUSIONS

This investigation has determined that no historic properties/resources are present in or adjacent to the APE. This supports a finding of "No Historic Properties Affected" (36 CFR 800.4(d)(1)) and "No Adverse Effects to Historical Resources" (Public Resource Code 5020.1).

No further archaeological studies are recommended at this time. It is the opinion of Roscoe and Associates that this investigation constitutes a reasonable and good faith effort to identify cultural resources in and near the project location. It is unlikely, given the project setting, background research and intensive field survey that significant cultural resources will be discovered during project implementation. If, however any archaeological materials are uncovered during project activities, the following pages offer recommendations for ensuring that potential project impacts to significant cultural resources are eliminated or reduced to less than significant levels.

5.1 PROTOCOLS FOR INADVERTENT DISCOVERIES

5.1.1 Inadvertent Discovery of Cultural Resources

If cultural resources, such as chipped or ground stone, historic debris, building foundations, or bone are discovered during ground-disturbance activities, work shall be stopped within 20 meters (66 feet) of the discovery, per the requirements of CEQA (January 1999 Revised Guidelines, Title 14 CCR 15064.5 (f)) and Section 106 (36 CFR 800.13). Work near the archaeological finds shall not resume until a professional archaeologist, who meets the Secretary of the Interior's Standards and Guidelines, has evaluated the materials and offered recommendations for further action.

Prehistoric materials which could be encountered include: obsidian and chert flakes or chipped stone tools, grinding implements, (e.g., pestles, handstones, mortars, slabs), bedrock outcrops and boulders with mortar cups, locally darkened midden, deposits of shell, dietary bone, and human burials. Historic materials that could be encountered include: ceramics/pottery, glass, metal, can and bottle dumps, cut bone, barbed wire fences, building pads, structures, trails/roads, railroad rails and ties, trestles, etc.

5.1.2 Inadvertent Discovery of Human Remains

If human remains are discovered during project construction, work will stop at the discovery location, within 20 meters (66 feet), and any nearby area reasonably suspected to overlie adjacent to human remains (Public Resources Code, Section 7050.5). The Humboldt County coroner will be contacted to determine if the cause of death must be investigated. If the coroner determines that the remains are of Native American origin, it is necessary to comply with state laws relating to the disposition of Native American burials, which fall within the jurisdiction of the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) (Public Resources Code, Section 5097). The coroner will contact the NAHC. The descendants or most likely descendants of the deceased will be contacted, and work will not resume until they have made a recommendation to the landowner or

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013
the person responsible for the excavation work for means of treatment and disposition, with appropriate dignity, of the human remains and any associated grave goods, as provided in Public Resources Code, Section 5097.98. Work may resume if NAHC is unable to identify a descendant or the descendant failed to make a recommendation.

The following text details procedures for treatment of an inadvertent discovery of Human Remains:

CONTRACTOR OF STREET

- Immediately following discovery of known or potential human remains all grounddisturbing activities at the point of discovery shall be halted,
 - No material remains shall be removed from the discovery site, a reasonable exclusion zone shall be cordoned off,
 - The Humboldt County Public Works Department Project Manager and property owner shall be notified and the Department Public Works Project Manager shall contact the county coroner.
 - It is highly recommended that the Humboldt County Public Works Department retain the services of a professional archaeologist to immediately examine the find and assist the process.

- All ground-disturbing construction activities in the discovery site exclusion area shall be suspended.

- The discovery site shall be secured to protect the remains from desecration or disturbance, with 24-hour surveillance, if prudent.
- Discovery of Native American remains is a very sensitive issue, and all project personnel shall hold any information about such a discovery in confidence and divulge it only on a need-to-know basis.
- The Coroner has two working days to examine the remains after being notified. If the remains are Native American, the Coroner has 24 hours to notify the Native American Heritage Council (NAHC) in Sacramento (telephone (916) 653-4082).
- The NAHC is responsible for identifying and immediately notifying the Most Likely Descendant (MLD) of the deceased Native American.
- Within 24 hours of their notification by the NAHC, the MLD shall be granted permission by the landowner's authorized representative to inspect the discovery site, if they so choose.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

- Within 24 hours of their notification by the NAHC, the MLD shall recommend to the landowner and Humboldt County Public Works Department Project Manager means for treating or disposing, with appropriate dignity, the human remains and any associated grave goods. The Recommendation may include the scientific removal and non-destructive or destructive analysis of human remains and items associated with Native American burials.
- Whenever the NAHC is unable to identify a MLD, or the MLD identified fails to make a recommendation, or the landowner or his/her authorized representative rejects the recommendation of the MLD and mediation between the parties by the NAHC fails to provide measures acceptable to the landowner, the landowner or his/her authorized representatives shall re-inter the human remains and associated grave offerings with appropriate dignity on the property in a location not subject to further subsurface disturbance.
- Following final treatment measures, the Humboldt County Public Works Department shall ensure that a report is prepared that describes the circumstances, nature and location of the discovery, its treatment, including results of analysis (if permitted), and final disposition, including a confidential map showing the reburial location. Appended to the report shall be a formal record about the discovery site prepared to current California standards on DPR 523 form(s). Humboldt County Public Works Department shall ensure that report copies are distributed to the NCIC, NAHC and MLD.

6.0 REFERENCES CITED

Belcher Abstract & Title Co.

1921-1922 Atlas of Humboldt County, California. Eureka: Belcher Abstract & Title Co.

Benson, James

1977 Archaeological Reconnaissance of the Humboldt Bay Area for the Humboldt Waste Management Authority, Humboldt County, CA. Report on file at the North Coastal Information Center.

Bickel, Polly

1979 *A Study of Cultural Resources in Redwood National Park.* Report on file at the Cultural Resources Facility-Humboldt State University.

Curtis, Edward S.

1970 *The North American Indian*, Vol. 13. Reprinted by Johnson Reprint Corporation, New York. [Originally published 1924].

Doolittle, A. J.

1865 Official Township Map of Humboldt Co., Cal. San Francisco: A. J. Doolittle.

Eidsness, Janet P.

1993 Archaeological Investigations At CA-HUM-351/H on Humboldt Bay, California For The Arcata Community Park And Sports Complex. A professional service for the City of Arcata.

Elsasser, Albert B.

1978 Mattole, Nongatl, Sinkyone, Lassik, and Wailaki. *Handbook of North American Indians, vol.8.* Washington: Smithsonian Institution.

Fitzgerald, R.T. and W.R. Hildebrandt

2001 Will the True Age of the Borax Lake Pattern Please Stand Up? The Archaeology of CA-HUM-573, an Early Holocene Site on the South End of Pilot Ridge, Humboldt County, California. Paper presented at the 2001 annual meeting of the Society of California Archaeology.

Forbes, Stanley

1886 Official Map of Humboldt County, California. San Francisco.

Golla, Victor

2003 Personal Communication -interview with Jerry Rohde.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013 Hamm, Lillie E.

1890 1890-1 History and Business Directory of Humboldt County. Eureka, CA: Daily Humboldt Standard.

Hildebrandt, William R. and John F. Hayes

1983 Archaeological Investigations on Pilot Ridge, Six Rivers National Forest. Anthropological Studies Center, Sonoma State University and Center for Anthropological Research, San Jose State University. Copies of the report are on file at Six Rivers National Forest, Eureka, CA.

1984 Archaeological Investigations on South Fork Mountain, Six Rivers and Shasta-Trinity National Forests. Anthropological Studies Center, Sonoma State University, Rohnert Park, California, and Center for Anthropological Research, San Jose State University, San Jose, California. Submitted to U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Six Rivers National Forest, Eureka, California, Contract No. 53-9A47-3-27

Humboldt Standard

1927 George Tooby, Pioneer Resident of County, Dies In This City. Humboldt Standard, August 3, 1927.

Kelsey, C. E.

1971 Census of Non-Reservation California Indians, 1905 – 1906. Archaeological Research Facility, Department of Anthropology, Berkeley.

Laird, Alderon, Brian Powell, Jeff Robinson, and Karen Schubert

2007 Historical Atlas of Humboldt Bay and Eel River Delta. Eureka: Humboldt Bay Harbor, Recreation and Conservation District. Electronic document: DVD.

Lentell, J. N.

1898 Official Map of Humboldt County California. N.p.

Loud, Llewellyn L.

- 1913 Field Map of Wiyot Territory. Original available at the Bancroft Library, University of California, Berkeley.
- 1918 *Ethnography and Archaeology of the Wiyot Territory*. University of California Publications in American Archaeology and Ethnology 14(3):221-436. Berkeley.

Merriam, C. Hart.

1976 Ethnogeographic and Ethnosynonymic Data from Northern California Tribes. Archaeological Research Facility, Department of Anthropology, University of California, Berkeley.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

Merriam, C. Hart.

1998 C. Hart Merriam Papers, Volume 1: Papers Relating to Work with California Indians, 1850-1974 (bulk 1898-1938). Microfilm available at Humboldt State University Library, Arcata, California.

Metsker

1949 Metsker's Atlas of Humboldt County, California. Tacoma, WA: Charles F. Metsker.

Moratto, Michael J.

1984 California Archaeology. Academic Press, Inc., Orlando, Florida.

Nomland, Gladys Ayer, and A. L. Kroeber

1936 *Wiyot Towns*. University of California Publications in American Archaeology and Ethnology 35(5):39-48. Berkeley.

Raskin, Karen and James Roscoe

2011 A Cultural Resources Investigation of the Elk River Road Decommissioning and Sediment Control Project; Phase II Additional Sites California Department of Fish and Game Fisheries Restoration Grant Program located in Humboldt County, California. On file at Humboldt State University-Cultural Resources Facility.

Rohde, Jerry

2010 Genocide & Extortion. Web page. Electronic document

http://www.northcoastjournal.com/news/2010/02/25/genocide-and-extortion-indian-island/ accessed on October 29, 2011. Also available, without endnotes, in: North Coast Journal, February 25, 2010:10-17.

Roscoe, James

1989 An Archaeological Investigation of the Proposed Widening of Elk River Road, Humboldt County, CA. Report on file at the North Coast Information Center.

Roscoe, James

1995 The Nursery Site- A Borax Lake Pattern Site in a Coastal Setting. Society of California Annual Meeting, Eureka, California

Roscoe, James

1995 *A Cultural Resources Study of the Hales Property APN 302-131-07, Humboldt County, CA.* Report on file at the North Coast Information Center.

Roscoe, James and Susie Van Kirk

2002 A Cultural Resources Investigation of the Proposed Martins Slough Sewer Connector Route, City of Eureka, Humboldt County, CA. Report on file at the North Coastal Information Center.

State of California

2009 Tsunami Inundation Map for Emergency Planning, County of Humboldt, Humboldt Bay).

Strand, R.G.

1962 Geologic map of California : Redding sheet: California Division of Mines and Geology, scale 1:250000.

Surveyor General's Office

1854a [Map of] Fractional Township № 5 North, Range № 1 West of the Humboldt Meridian. San Francisco: Surveyor General's Office.

Surveyor General's Office

1855a [Map of] Township N^o IV North, Range N^o I West of the Humboldt Meridian.

1890a [Map of] Township Nº. 4 North, Range Nº. 1 West, Humboldt Meridian. San Francisco: Surveyor General's Office.

1890b [Map of] Fractional Township № 5 North, Range № 1 West, Humboldt Meridian.

Teeter, Karl V.

1964 The Wiyot Language. University of California Publications in Linguistics 37. Berkeley.

Times Publishing Co.

1904 Humboldt County Souvenir. Eureka: The Timed Publishing Co.

Tushingham, Shannon

2011 Preliminary Results of Fine Grained Analyses of Cultural Materials from Site CA-HUM-321. Unpublished summary report on file at the Cultural Resources Facility – Humboldt State University.

U. S. Coast Survey

1852 Preliminary Survey of Humboldt Bay California, 2nd ed.

1870 Part of Humboldt Bay, California. Register Nº 1174.

United States Coast and Geodetic Survey

1894 Humboldt Bay California.

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

Appendix A Report Figures

Figure 1. General Vicinity Map

Figure 2. Project Location Map

Figure 3. Area of Potential Effect Map

Figure 4. 1870 U.S. Coast Survey Map

Figure 5. Cultural Resources Survey Coverage shown on 2009 Air Photo

Figure 6. Field Photos

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013



Appendix A-Figure 1. General vicinity map for Swain Slough Bridge at Pine Hill Road

ASR Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

.



Appendix A-Figure 2. Project location map showing Swain Slough Bridge at Pine Hill Road



Appendix A-Figure 3. Area of Potential Effects Map

ASR Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013



Appendix A-Figure 4. Portion of the 1870 US Coast Survey Map of Humboldt Bay showing Swain Slough and possible building south of the confluence with Martin Slough

ASR- Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013



Appendix A-Figure 5. Cultural Resources Survey Coverage Map with project APE

ASR- Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013



ASR- Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road

ASR- Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Re Humboldt County, California January 2013

Appendix B Humboldt County Department of Public Works Project Plans and Project Description for the Construction of the Swain Slough Bridge

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013



Project Description

The Humboldt County Department of Public Works is proposing to replace Bridge No. 04C-0173 Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough. The project site is located just south of Eureka and north of Elk River. Currently, the project is scheduled to begin construction in 2014. The project is funded through the Federal Aid Highway Bridge Program (HBP) utilizing Toll Credits as the match. The bridge was inspected by Caltrans in 2011 and is classified 'Structurally Deficient' with a sufficiency rating of 44.6. This bridge is eligible for replacement under the HBP guidelines.

The existing bridge is a 63 foot timber stringer structure with a concrete deck and concrete abutments and was built in 1955. The two bent caps are constructed of reinforced concrete on 8 reinforced concrete piles. The bridge clear width is 19 feet with a 6" curb/rail on each side for a total bridge width of 20 feet. The railing is constructed of painted timbers and there is no end protection at the bridge corners.

The overall roadway alignment is consistent with the flat terrain of the Elk River Valley. The asphalt concrete approach roadway is approximately 19' in width. The bridge is located on a tangent segment of the roadway. There is a slight vertical curve both east and west of the bridge though the bridge itself is flat.



Photo 1 – Aerial View of project site (from Google Earth)

The preferred alternative is to replace the existing bridge on the existing alignment. In accordance with County requirements, the bridge will provide two 10' traffic lanes and 5' shoulders, in addition to barrier rails along both sides. The bridge elevation will need to be raised in order to meet federal hydraulic clearance requirements. The proposed bridge type is a single-span post-tensioned cast–in-place voided slab, and will be slightly longer than the existing for constructibility. The single-span bridge option will minimize the environmental impacts to the slough as it will not require any supports in the creek channel.

As part of the HBP guidelines, the environmental review will be required in accordance with the Caltrans Local Assistance Procedures Manual (LAPM) and subject to both the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). The County will be developing the environmental documentation with support from the engineering consultant.

Under CEQA, the bridge project would require preparation of an Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration (IS/MND) as measures may be needed to mitigate potentially significant impacts. This presumes that all impacts can be mitigated to levels below significance and that public controversy will not elevate the environmental review to a higher level of analysis. Under NEPA, the rehabilitation or replacement of a bridge project would qualify for a Categorical Exclusion (CE). The following tasks are anticipated for this project:

- Conduct field studies
- Prepare technical studies & reports

Prepare environmental documentation

Conduct public meeting

- Obtain agency clearances and concurrences
 Process environmental documents
 - Apply for and obtain permits from regulatory agencies

The Pine Hill Road Bridge is located in a very biologically sensitive area adjacent to Humboldt Bay. US Army Corps of Engineers jurisdictional waterways and wetlands are present at each of the four corners of the bridge. Sensitive fish species including the Tidewater Goby and Coho Salmon are present within Swain Slough. Any bridge replacement option will need to minimize impacts to these resources and protected species.

The bridge site is also within the jurisdiction of the California Coastal Commission. A permit considering the project effects to the coastal scenery will be required. Aesthetic enhancements to the bridge and rail will help minimize these impacts.



Photo 2 - Profile of existing bridge looking north

The project is within the Elk River watershed and crosses Swain Slough immediately downstream of its confluence with Martin Slough. The mouth of Martin Slough is separated from Swain Slough by a levee and tidegates. The Martin Slough Enhancement Project was proposed and funded by the California State Water Quality Control Board, California Department of Water Resources, and the California State Coastal

Conservancy. Alternatives were evaluated in the Martin Slough Enhancement Feasibility Study in 2006. The preferred alternative consists of removing the existing tidegates and installing new tidegates with a habitat door designed to create a muted tide cycle and facilitate fish passage. Also included in the project is increasing the size of existing ponds, creating new ponds, and making channel modifications throughout the project area. These project modifications have the potential to affect the hydrology at Swain Slough. The Hydraulic Design Criteria established in the Caltrans Local Procedures Manual prescribe that the facility be capable of conveying the base or 100-year flood (Q100) and passing the 50-year flood (Q50) "without causing objectionable backwater, excessive flow velocities or encroaching on through traffic lanes." Due to the very flat nature of the project site and the configuration of the Elk River floodplain, obtaining 2' of freeboard beyond the Q50 is not feasible as the approach roadways would become very long and the bridge would be

unnecessarily elevated. The County has requested the bridge convey the Q100.



Photo 3 - Looking east at tide gates

The existing bridge would be removed and disposed of offsite to allow the construction of the new structure. The roadway would be closed to through traffic as the detour is approximately 1.6 miles. A row of sheet piles would be vibrated into the Swain Slough channel in order to divert the tidal flow and to allow for removal of the existing abutments and footings. The new abutment footings would be constructed on driven piles. The falsework for the bridge construction would use the newly constructed abutments and would not require supports within the channel. The new bridge and the approach embankments would not encroach into the Swain Slough channel, though rock slope protection at the face and adjacent to the bridge will be required. Mainline roadway approach construction will include fills of up to 5 feet. Construction of the bridge abutments will require two excavation areas each measuring approximately 30 feet long by 12 feet wide.

Page 3 of 5

The design of the replacement structure will be in accordance with AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications, Fourth Edition, and the Caltrans Amendments preface dated November 2011, as well as the current *Seismic Design Criteria Version 1.4*, June 2006. The span length would be set based on the proximity of the existing concrete foundations. It is anticipated that the span length would be about 70 feet.

Humboldt County currently has prescriptive right-of-way on Pine Hill Road for the existing roadway and bridge alignment. It is anticipated that temporary construction easements (TCE) will also be required to construct the new bridge. The new bridge rail and end protection is likely to affect access to the field at the southeast corner of the bridge. There is currently an access gate immediately adjacent to the existing bridge that would likely need to be relocated to the east. This existing access crosses Martin Slough via metal culverts that have flap gates attached to the downstream ends. A new access to the east may be required and would likely require new metal culverts. Any option to revise the access across Martin Slough that effects the culverts and flap gates would need to be compatible with the State of California's Martin Slough Enhancement Project. Existing overhead utilities are present east of the project site and serve the Humboldt Community Services District (HCSD) sewage pump plant and the Brown residence. A 12" water line is located on the north side of Pine Hill Road and is attached to the east of the project will not be affected. The underground waterline will need relocation. Coordination will begin early and will conform to the latest Caltrans procedural guidelines for relocation.



Photo 4 - Looking east at 12" water line

Humboldt County has 66' of maintenance easement along the centerline of Pine Hill Road. It is anticipated that the permanent improvements can be accommodated within this existing area. The detour and temporary

construction areas (including staging areas) will likely be located outside of the maintenance easement area. Coordination and agreements with the USFS for these temporary uses will be required.

The recommended new roadway would consist of two 10'-foot lanes and two 5'-foot shoulders. Based on the roadway classification, flat terrain, and daily traffic volumes, it is anticipated that a roadway design speed of 35 mph will be used.

Scour protection of the abutments from Swain Slough flows will be required and is expected to consist of ¼ ton rock slope protection (RSP). Installation will occur while the slough is diverted and will consist of digging a keyway trench and installing RSP by Method B placement so that the top surface of the RSP will be at the approximate elevation of the original channel grade. This is will avoid impinging hydraulic flow within the on the channel and not adversely impacted the upstream flooding characteristics of the river. The RSP is expected to consist of a 3'-4" minimum thickness ¼ ton layer over by a 1'-3" thick No. 2 Backing layer with RSP fabric underneath. The depth of the end of the RSP key is expected to be approximately 6'-0" deep and will slope back to the bottom of the abutment front footing face. Installation will occur while the river is diverted and will consist of digging a keyway trench and installing the RSP.

In-river construction activities associated with the bridge replacement at Swain Slough will occur in the following sequence:

- Detour traffic and close Pine Hill Road to through traffic.
- Construct slough protection system required to remove and dispose of the existing bridge.
- Vibrate sheet piles to divert slough, remove existing abutment footings, and to allow for new footing excavation.
- Construct abutments which are located outside of the low-flow channel. Abutments are constructed
 from cast-in-place concrete founded on driven piles. Piles will be driven in an isolated condition to
 reduce hydroacoustic effects. These will be constructed from the new approaches which are outside of
 the low-flow channel.
- Install new RSP along on both banks of Swain Slough from at an existing ground slope.
- Remove sheet piling
- Construct falsework that is attached to the newly constructed abutments.
- Construct bridge deck.
- Remove falsework for new bridge.
- Construct roadway approaches to new bridge.
- Remove the detour

Equipment and materials will be staged on the existing asphalt concrete roadway approaches.

Appendix C Native American Correspondence

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013

FAX COVER SHEET

DATE: August 7, 2012

TO: Debbie Pilas-Treadway Native American Heritage Commission

FAX: 916-657-5390

FROM: James Roscoe, M.A.

SUBJECT: Native American Contact List and Sacred Lands Database Search: Pine Hill -Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project, Humboldt County, CA

PAGES: 2 (cover and 1 map)

Dear Debbie,

Roscoe and Associates will be conducting a cultural resources investigation for the Pine Hill -Swain Slough Bridge Replacement. The project is located on Pine Hill Road two miles south of Eureka in Section 4, Township 4 North, Range 1 West, and is shown on the accompanying Eureka 7.5' USGS quadrangle map.

The proposed project is replacement of an existing concrete bridge with a new, single-span, cast in place, pre-stressed concrete slab or box girder bridge. The new bridge will include two standard road widths (11-12-ft) and adjacent shoulder/bike lanes (4-6-ft).

I would greatly appreciate a list of Native American contacts and a search of the sacred lands database for previously identified sites of concern within the project area or a one-half mile radius.

Thank you for your assistance.

Sincerely,

James Roscoe, M.A. Roscoe and Associates 3781 Brookwood Drive Bayside, CA 95524 Voice (707) 845-5239 Fax (707) 826-4336



7.5" USGS Eureka, Ca Topographic Quadrangle Map 1:24,000 Section 4 of Township 4 North, Range 1 West (HBM)

0 500 1,000 Meters



Proposed Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project Roscoe and Associates 2012 2009 USDA Air Photo Section 4 of Township 4 North, Range 1 West (HBM)

	t_Area			
)	100	200 Meters		

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Edmund G. Brown, Jr., Governor

NATIVE AMERICAN HERITAGE COMMISSION 915 CAPITOL MALL, ROOM 364

915 CAPIFOL MALL, ROOM 36 SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 (916) 653-6251 Fax (916) 657-5390



August 14, 2012

James Roscoe Roscoe and Associates 3781 Brookwood Drive Bayside, CA 95524

Sent by Fax: 707-826-4336 Number of Pages: 2

Re: Pine Hill-Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project, Humboldt County.

Dear Mr. Roscoe:

A record search of the sacred land file has failed to indicate the presence of Native American cultural resources in the immediate project area. The absence of specific site information in the sacred lands file does not indicate the absence of cultural resources in any project area. Other sources of cultural resources should also be contacted for information regarding known and recorded sites.

Enclosed is a list of Native Americans individuals/organizations who may have knowledge of cultural resources in the project area. The Commission makes no recommendation or preference of a single individual, or group over another. This list should provide a starting place in locating areas of potential adverse impact within the proposed project area. I suggest you contact all of those indicated, if they cannot supply information, they might recommend others with specific knowledge. By contacting all those listed, your organization will be better able to respond to claims of failure to consult with the appropriate tribe or group. If a response has not been received within two weeks of notification, the Commission requests that you follow-up with a telephone call to ensure that the project information has been received.

If you receive notification of change of addresses and phone numbers from any of these individuals or groups, please notify me. With your assistance we are able to assure that our lists contain current information. If you have any questions or need additional information, please contact me at (916) 653-4038.

Sincerely

Debble Pilas-Treadway Environmental Specialist III

Native American Contacts Humboldt County August 13, 2012

Bear River Band of Rohnerville Rancheria Len Bowman, Jr., Chairperson 27 Bear River Drive Wivot , CA 95551 Loleta Mattole Ibowman@bearriver.com (707) 733-1900 (707) 733-1972 Fax

Bear River Band of Rohnerville Rancheria Erika Collins, THPO 27 Bear River Drive Wiyot Loleta , CA 95551 Mattole thpo@bearrivertribe.com (707) 733-1900 ext 233

(707) 733-1972 (FAX)

Bear River Band of Rohnerville Rancheria Edwin Smith, Environmental Coordinator/Cultural 27 Bear River Drive Wivot Loleta , CA 95551 Mattole (707) 733-1900 (707) 733-1972 (FAX)

Blue Lake Rancheria Claudia Brundin, Chairperson P.O. Box 428 Wivot , CA 95525 Blue Lake (707) 668-5101 (707) 668-4272 Fax

Yurok Tolowa

Blue Lake Rancheria Arla Ramsey, Tribal Administrator P.O. Box 428 Wivot , CA 95525 Blue Lake Yurok bmobbs@bluelakerancheria- Tolowa (707) 668-5101 (707) 668-4272 Fax

Blue Lake Rancheria **Diane Holliday** P.O. Box 645 Wivot Blue Lake , CA 95525 Yurok Tolowa (707) 668-5635

Blue Lake Rancheria THPO Janet Eidsness, Historic Preservation Officer P.O. Box 428 Wivot Blue Lake , CA 95525 jeidsness@bluelakerancheria-nsn.

(707) 668-5101 ext 329 707-668-4272

Wivot Tribe Ted Hernandez, Chairperson 1000 Wivot Drive Wivot , CA 95551 Loleta (707) 733-5055 (707) 733-5601 Fax

Wivot Tribe Andrea Davis, Environmental Coordinator 1000 Wiyot Drive Wiyot , CA 95551 Loleta stephen@wiyot.us (707) 733-5055 (707) 733-5601 Fax

Wiyot Tribe THPO Monique Sonoquie, Tribal Historic Preservation 1000 Wiyot Drive Wiyot Loleta , CA 95551 monique@wiyot.us (707) 733-5055 (707) 733-5601 Fax

This list is current only as of the date of this document.

Distribution of this list does not relieve any person of statutory responsibility as defined in Section 7050.5 of the Health and Safety Code, Section 5097.94 of the Public Resources Code and Section 5097.98 of the Public Resources Code

This list is only applicable for contacting local Native Americans with regard to cultural resources for the proposed Pine Hill Swain Slough Bridge Replacement project, Humboldt County

August 14, 2012

Distribution List

1. Blue Lake Rancheria – Arla Ramsey, Tribal Administrator; Claudia Brundin, Chairperson; Janet Eidsness, THPO; Diane Holliday

2. Wiyot Tribe – Brian Mead, Tribal Administrator; Ted Hernandez, Chairperson; Monique Sonoquie, THPO; Andrea Davis, Environmental Coordinator

3. Bear River Band of Rohnerville Rancheria – Len Bowman Jr., Chairperson; Edwin Smith, Environmental Coordinator/Cultural; Erika Collins, THPO

Dear Tribal Representative,

Under contract with the Humboldt County Public Works Department, Roscoe and Associates will be conducting a cultural resources investigation for the Pine Hill -Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project. This project is located on Pine Hill Road, two miles south of Eureka in Section 4, Township 4 North, Range 1 West, as shown on the accompanying Eureka 7.5' USGS quadrangle map. This project is occurring on private and Northcoast Regional Land Trust property.

This project proposes to replace the existing 63-foot long, three span structure with a concrete deck on timber stringers. This bridge, constructed in 1955, provides access over Swain Slough, connecting Elk River Road with Herrick Street via Pine Hill Road. The existing timber stringers and concrete support columns are in poor condition. The bridge is listed by the County to be structurally deficient and functionally obsolete. A new, single-span, concrete slab or box girder bridge is proposed for this location along the existing road alignment. The new bridge will include two standard road widths (11-12-ft) with adjacent shoulder/bike lanes (4-6-ft). The bridge (#04C0173) has been evaluated as ineligible for inclusion to the National Register on the statewide historic bridge inventory maintained by Caltrans.

Because the project will be funded by Caltrans, a project Area of Potential Effects (APE) has been delineated. The horizontal limits of this area are aligned with the existing roadway and measure approximately 1000 feet long, with varying width between 35, 85 and 110 feet. This APE includes the bridge replacement and staging areas and is aligned with the existing roadway.

We plan to conduct a cultural resources investigation of the APE in late August and would appreciate any information the tribe might have regarding Native American cultural resources in or near to this project area. If you have any information, concerns or questions please contact James Roscoe. Any culturally sensitive information that you may disclose to Roscoe and Associates or any Native American cultural sites that may be identified during the field inspection will be held under strict confidentiality and will not be made available to the public. All cultural sites will be documented in accordance to the guidelines established by the Office of Historic Preservation. A copy of the final report and any completed archaeological site records will be submitted to Humboldt County Department of Public Works and the California Historical Resources Information Systems' regional North Coastal Information Center.

Thank you in advance for your assistance.

Sincerely,

James Roscoe, M.A.

Enclosures (2)

Roscoe and Associates- Cultural Resources Consultants 3781 Brookwood Drive, Bayside, CA 95524 (707) 845-5239 cell; (707) 826-4336 fax





Proposed Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project Roscoe and Associates 2012 2009 USDA Air Photo Section 4 of Township 4 North, Range 1 West (HBM)



Humboldt State University Mail - FW: Blue Lake Rancheria THPO comm ...



James Roscoe <jmr4@humboldt.edu>

FW: Blue Lake Rancheria THPO comments on Pine Hill road Bridge Replacement (Elk river/Swain Slough) in south Eureka

2 messages

James Roscoe <jkroscoe@suddenlink.net> To: James.Roscoe@humboldt.edu Sat, Aug 25, 2012 at 3:22 PM

From: Janet Eidsness [mailto:JEidsness@bluelakerancheria-nsn.gov] Sent: Wednesday, August 22, 2012 3:01 PM To: jkroscoe@suddenlink.net Cc: erikacollins@brb-nsn.gov; monique@wiyot.us Subject: Blue Lake Pancheria THPO comments on Pine Hill road Bridge

Subject: Blue Lake Rancheria THPO comments on Pine Hill road Bridge Replacement (Elk river/Swain Slough) in south Eureka

Dear Jamie,

Thank you for notifying the Tribe in your letter dated 8/14/12 about the subject project and your plan to conduct a cultural resources investigation for the County Public Works Dept.

Our confidential database does not show any known Wiyot cultural resources in or adjacent to the project APE. Please keep me informed if prehistoric artifacts or sites are discovered during your study.

Regards,

Janet P. Eidsness, M.A., RPA

Tribal Heritage Preservation Officer (THPO)

Blue Lake Rancheria

P.O. Box 428 (428 Chartin Road)

Blue Lake, CA 95525

Office (707) 668-5101 ext. 1037

Fax (707) 668-4272

Humboldt State University Mail - FW: Roscoe and Associates-Consultati ...

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ui=2&ik=7134d39d16&view=pt&sear...

GMail Kimberly Rich <ksm6@humboldt.edu> FW: Roscoe and Associates-Consultation Letters (2) 1 message Mon, Oct 29, 2012 at 8:00 AM William Rich <wcr@2xtreme.net> To: ksm6@humboldt.edu From: Erika Collins [mailto:erikacollins@brb-nsn.gov] Sent: Wednesday, August 15, 2012 3:26 PM To: wcr@2xtreme.net; Jamie Roscoe Subject: Re: Roscoe and Associates-Consultation Letters (2) Hi Bill and Jamle, Thanks for the letters, I have a quick question about the Pine Hill Bridge Replacement project. You mention that Caltrans has delineated the APE, and describe and depict the horizontal APE, but what is the vertical APE? The location of the project is pretty sensitive for buried deposits... Erika On Tue, Aug 14, 2012 at 10:55 AM, wcr@2xtreme.net <wcr@2xtreme.net> wrote: Hello Erika, Altached are two consultation letters from Roscoe and Associates. Hard copies have also been sent out. Thank you! Bill Erika Collins, M.A. Tribal Historic Preservation Officer Bear River Band of Rohnerville Rancherla 27 Bear River Drive Loleta, CA 95551

707-733-1900 x233 Office

707-502-5233 Cell

707-733-1972 Fax

erikacollins@brb-nsn.gov

James & Kimberley Roscoe

From: Monique Sonoquie [monique@wiyot.us]

Sent: Monday, September 24, 2012 8:09 AM

To: 'Janet Eidsness'; jkroscoe@suddenlink.net

Cc: erikacollins@brb-nsn.gov

Subject: RE: Blue Lake Rancheria THPO comments on Pine Hill road Bridge Replacement (Elk river/Swain Slough) in south Eureka

He'válou'

This letter is in response to the above referenced project. After reviewing the project location, the Wiyot Tribe has no known cultural sites in the area.

We will not be requesting a monitor at this time. However we request that we are contacted as soon as possible if any cultural resources are found during or after the implementation of this project. If you have any questions or concerns, you may contact me at the number below. Alternately, I can be reached via e-mail at <u>monaque@wiyot.us</u>.

We appreciate your patience and understanding regarding this project and look forward to working with you in the future.

Hou'

Monique Sonoquie, Cultural Director/THPO Wiyot Tribe 1000 Wiyot Drive Loleta, CA 95551

Phone: 707.733.5055 Fax: 707.733.5601 Web: <<u>www.wiyot.us</u>> <u>Monique@wiyot.us</u>

'This communication, including any attachments, may contain privileged or confidential information intended for a specific individual and purpose, and is protected by law. If you are not the intended recipient, you should delete this communication and/or shred the materials and any attachments and are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, or distribution of this communication, or the taking of any action based on it, is strictly prohibited. Hou' (thank you).

From: Janet Eidsness [mailto:JEidsness@bluelakerancheria-nsn.gov] Sent: Wednesday, August 22, 2012 3:01 PM To: jkroscoe@suddenlink.net Cc: erikacollins@brb-nsn.gov; monique@wiyot.us

Appendix D Record Search Results

An Archaeological Survey Report for the Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project at Pine Hill Road Humboldt County, California January 2013



Appendix G - Historic Property Study Report (HPSR)

State of California

Department of Transportation

HISTORIC PROPERTY SURVEY REPORT

1. UNDERTAKING DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION								
District	County	Route (Local Agency)	Local Assistance Project Prefix	Post Miles (Project No.)	Charge Unit (Agreement)	Expenditure Authorization (Location)		
1	HUM							

(For Local Assistance projects off the highway system, use headers in italics)

Project Description:

The Federal Highway Administration and California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), in conjunction with Humboldt County Public Works Department (County), propose to replace Swain Slough Bridge (#04-0173) located at Pine Hill Road near Eureka, Humboldt County, California (HSPR Appendix A - Figure 1). The project is situated in the south half of the southeast quarter of Section 4 of Township 4 North, Range 1 West (HBM). This location is shown on the 7.5' USGS Eureka, California Topographic Quadrangle Map (HPSR Appendix A - Figure 2). The bridge is located at UTM coordinates (NAD 83, UTM Zone 10) 400,166mE / 4,511,971mN. The elevation of this location is approximately 20 feet above sea level.

The Swain Slough Bridge (#04C-0173) provides access between lower Elk River Road and Herrick Street. The project is designed to replace the existing 1955 bridge, which has been classified as structurally deficient and functionally obsolete due to aging timber and concrete foundation. The existing bridge will be replaced with a new single span, post tensioned slab, which will be cast in place.

The existing bridge will be removed with heavy equipment while working from the road surface and disposed of offsite. A row of sheet piles will be vibrated into the Swain Slough channel in order to divert the tidal flow and allow for removal of the existing abutments and footings. The new abutment footings will be constructed on driven piles. Construction of the bridge abutments will require two excavation areas each measuring approximately 30 feet long by 12 feet wide. The falsework for the bridge construction will use the newly constructed abutments and will not require supports within the channel. Rock slope protection at the face and adjacent to the bridge will be required. Mainline roadway approach construction will include fills of up to 5 feet.

A 12" water line is located on the north side of Pine Hill Road and is attached to the outside edge of the existing bridge. The overhead electric lines and sewage pump plant located to the east of the project will not be affected. The underground waterline will need relocation. Coordination will conform to the latest Caltrans procedural guidelines for relocation.

Humboldt County has 66' of maintenance easement along the centerline of Pine Hill Road. It is anticipated that the permanent improvements can be accommodated within this existing area. The detour and temporary construction areas (including staging areas) will likely be located outside of the maintenance easement area. Coordination and agreements with the neighboring landowner(s) for these temporary uses will be required. Equipment and materials will be staged on the existing asphalt concrete roadway approaches.

Humboldt County currently has prescriptive right-of-way on Pine Hill Road for the existing roadway and bridge alignment. It is anticipated that temporary construction easements (TCE) will also be required to construct the new bridge. The new bridge rail and end protection is likely to affect access

[HPSR form: 08-20-07]

For the federal undertaking described in Part 1: To minimize redundancy and paperwork for the California Department of Transportation and the State Historic Preservation Officer, and in the spirit intended under the federal Paperwork Reduction Act (U.S.C. 44 Chapter 35), this document also satisfies consideration under California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines Section §15064.5(a) and, as appropriate, Public Resources Code §5024 (a)(b) and (d).
California Department of Transportation

State of California Business, Transportation and Housing Agency

HISTORIC PROPERTY SURVEY REPORT

to the field at the southeast corner of the bridge. There is currently an access gate immediately adjacent to the existing bridge that would likely need to be relocated to the east. This existing access crosses Martin Slough via metal culverts that have flap gates attached to the downstream ends. A new access to the east may be required and would likely require new metal culverts.

The new bridge will accommodate two 10 foot traffic lanes and 5 foot shoulders with railing along both sides. Construction will take place during daylight hours using heavy equipment which may include an excavator, front end loader and/or a bulldozer. During project implementation, traffic will be restricted from access to the bridge location and a detour will be set in place. Silt fence and or fiber rolls will be used to reduce erosion and staging and stockpiling will occur on the roadway to the west of the bridge.

2. AREA OF POTENTIAL EFFECTS

The horizontal APE boundary is rectangular in shape and aligned with the center of the roadway. This APE boundary measures 300 meters in length and varies in width from 15 to 30 meters. The APE includes locations of the existing Swain Slough Bridge, Pine Hill Road and the proposed staging area in the west end of the APE. The vertical limits of the APE will be greatest for the construction of the bridge abutments and piers. Footing construction is expected to occur at the location of the existing footings, and reach depths of 3 meters or more. It is expected that geotechnical boring will be conducted prior to final project design. All equipment and materials staging will occur within the boundaries of the APE. The map provided in HPSR Appendix A -Figure 3 shows a detailed plan of the APE. The county project plans and description are included in the ASR as Appendix B.

3. CONSULTING PARTIES / PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

- X Local Government (Head of local government, Preservation Office / Planning Department)
 - Hank Seemann, Environmental Services Manager, Humboldt County Public Works
 Department
- X Native American Tribes, Groups and Individuals

On August 7, 2012 correspondence was sent to the Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) requesting a search of the Sacred Lands Inventory File. The NAHC responded on August 14, 2012 with the results of the Sacred Lands File Search and a current list of individuals/organizations who might have knowledge of cultural resources in the project area. Those groups and individuals indicated by the NAHC were consulted by writing on August 14, 2012 and included the Blue Lake Rancheria, Wiyot Tribe and Bear River Band of the Rohnerville Rancheria. Notification letters included a brief project description, investigation methodology, and a project location map. A written emailed response was received from Erika Collins, Tribal Historic Preservation Officer (THPO) from the Bear River Band of the Rohnerville Rancheria on August 15 2012, in which she commented on the sensitivity of the area. A follow-up phone call was made and Ms. Collins participated in a field visit with Roscoe and Associates on September 20, 2012, where the bridge abutments and other areas of expected ground disturbance is occurring. We discussed the potential vertical APE for the project and Ms.

[HPSR form: 08-20-07]

For the federal undertaking described in Part 1: To minimize redundancy and paperwork for the California Department of Transportation and the State Historic Preservation Officer, and in the spirit intended under the federal Paperwork Reduction Act (U.S.C. 44 Chapter 35), this document also satisfies consideration under California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines Section §15064.5(a) and, as appropriate, Public Resources Code §5024 (a)(b) and (d).

State of California Business, Transportation and Housing Agency

HISTORIC PROPERTY SURVEY REPORT

Collins was satisfied and had no further concerns. Janet Eidsness, THPO for the Blue Lake Rancheria and Monique Sonoquie, THPO for the Wiyot Tribe responded by email August 22, 2012 and September 24, 2012, respectively. Both THPO's requested that they be notified if any cultural resources were found. No other concerns were noted.

- Native American Heritage Commission Х
 - Debbie Pilas-Treadwell Letter sent August 7, 2012
- Local Historical Society / Historic Preservation Group (also if applicable, city archives, etc.)

- Other

4. SUMMARY OF IDENTIFICATION EFFORTS

- National Register of Historic Places X
- X California Register of Historical Resources
- X California Inventory of Historic Resources
- X California Historical Landmarks
- Х California Points of Historical Interest
- State Historic Resources Commission

Caltrans Historic Highway Bridge Inventory X

- Archaeological Site Records [List names of Institutions & date below]
- Other sources consulted [e.g., historical societies, city archives, etc. List names and dates below]
- Results: (provide a brief summary of records search and research results, as well as inventory findings) Х

Records Search/Literature Review

A records search was conducted by Roscoe and Associates at the NCIC in Klamath, California on July 24, 2012 (Appendix C). This search revealed that the project area had been subject to a past cultural resources investigation by Roscoe and Van Kirk (2002) but that no cultural resources were identified in the current project APE. This report does however document the recordation efforts and historical significance evaluation of the Lorensen house and ranch Buildings within the 500 meter buffer. Roscoe and Van Kirk (2002) provided a preliminary opinion that the buildings are eligible for listing on the California Register of Historical Resources because of their high level of historic integrity and association with early dairy ranching around Humboldt Bay. The NCIC lists two additional surveys within 500 meters of the project area (Roscoe 1989, Roscoe 1995), and one written overview of the Humboldt Bay Area (Benson 1977) (Table 1). Roscoe's past surveys were for private development and widening of

Year: 1992 & supplemental information to date Year: 1976 Year: 1995 & supplemental information to date Year: 1992 & supplemental information to date

Month & Year: 1979-2002 & supplements

Year: 1980-present, minutes from quarterly meetings

Public Information Meetings (list locations, dates below and attach copies of notices)

Year: 2006 & supplemental information to date

For the federal undertaking described in Part 1: To minimize redundancy and paperwork for the California Department of Transportation and the State Historic Preservation Officer, and in the spirit intended under the federal Paperwork Reduction Act (U.S.C. 44 Chapter 35), this document also satisfies consideration under California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines Section §15064.5(a) and, as appropriate, Public Resources Code §5024 (a)(b) and (d).

State of California Business, Transportation and Housing Agency

California Department of Transportation

HISTORIC PROPERTY SURVEY REPORT

Elk River Road. No cultural resources were identified in the project area as a result of these past surveys.

Background research indicates that the project area is situated in the historical territory of the Wiki subdivision of the Wiyot Tribe. A review of Loud (1918) indicates that the closest known village, CA-HUM-77 is at the mouth of Elk River, approximately one mile to the northwest. This site is located outside of the 500-meter buffer and was not specifically reviewed and/or visited during this investigation.

Based on the historic research conducted during this investigation, Pine Hill Road has crossed Swain Slough at this location since c.1890s, when the road was used to connect Elk River Corner and Humboldt Hill. The specific project location was under agriculture by the 1870s, with an early building, probably a barn, being mapped at the confluence of Martin Slough and Swain Slough, approximately 100 meters to the south. There is no mapping of ownership of the project area until 1886, at which time it appears that the property was owned by S. F. Pine.

Field Results

The cultural resources field survey at the Swain Slough Bridge was conducted over a five-hour period. Conditions during the field survey were optimal with clear, bright skies and ample lighting. Fair visibility of mineral soil was encountered throughout the survey areas. Survey was focused at the levee along both sides of Swain Slough and the bridge foundation areas. No cultural resources were identified during this investigation. (HSPR Appendix A-Figure 4).

5. PROPERTIES IDENTIFIED

X No cultural resources in project APE.

6. LIST OF ATTACHED DOCUMENTATION

- X Project Vicinity, Location, and APE Maps
- Archaeological Survey Report (ASR)

7. HPSR to File

Not applicable.

- X No properties requiring evaluation are present within the project's APE.
- X As Assigned by FHWA, Caltrans has determined a Finding of No Historic Properties Affected, according to Section 106 PA Stipulation IX.A and 36 CFR 800.4(d) (1), is appropriate for this undertaking.

8. HPSR to SHPO

X Not applicable.

9. Findings for State-Owned Properties

X Not applicable; project does not involve Caltrans right-of-way or Caltrans-owned property.

State of California Business, Transportation and Housing Agency

California Department of Transportation

HISTORIC PROPERTY SURVEY REPORT

10. CEQA IMPACT FINDINGS

X Not applicable; Caltrans is not the lead agency under CEQA.

 Caltrans has determined a finding of no impact is appropriate because there are no historical resources within the Project Area limits, or there are no impacts to historical resource(s), pursuant to CEQA Guidelines §15064.5(b)(3).

Prepared by (sign on line): District Caltrans PQS;	PQSflevel and discipline]	Date
Drepored by (sim on line)	James Roseve	1/8/2013
Consultant / discipline:	[Appropriate PQS discipline] Roscoe and Associates	Date
Affiliation	[Firm/company and location]	
Reviewed for approval by: <i>(sign on line)</i> District <u>1</u> Caltrans PQS discipline/level:	Jone (T. n. Keete IPQS centification level) Co - PI Prehistoric	<u> /14/13</u> Date
Approved by: (sign on line)	Bendan	01/14/13
District EBC:	[Environmental Branch name]	Date

State of California Business, Transportation and Housing Agency California Department of Transportation HISTORIC PROPERTY SURVEY REPORT

APPENDIX A

Project Vicinity, Project Location, APE and Survey Coverage Maps

Figure 1. General Vicinity Map

Figure 2. Project Location Map

Figure 3. Area of Potential Effects Map

Figure 4. Cultural Resources Survey Coverage shown on 2012



Appendix A-Figure 1. General vicinity map for Swain Slough Bridge at Pine Hill Road



Appendix A-Figure 2. Project location map showing Swain Slough Bridge at Pine Hill Road



Appendix A-Figure 3. Area of Potential Effects Map



Appendix A-Figure 4. Cultural Resources Survey Coverage Map with project APE



Appendix H - Preferred Alternative



APPLICABLE STANDARD PLANS

CALTRANS STANDARD PLANS DATED 2015. (SEE SPECIAL PROVISIONS STANDARD PLAN LIST)

NOTES

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL HAVE A CLASS "A" LICENSE FOR THIS PROJECT.

INDEX OF SHEETS

ROADWAY PLANS

- COVER SHEET
- TYPICAL CROSS SECTIONS
- LAYOUT
- PROFILE 4
- CONSTRUCTION DETAILS -5
- EROSION CONTROL PLAN 6
- CONTOUR GRADING AND ROCK SLOPE PROTECTION
- DRAINAGE PLAN
- 9 DRAINAGE PROFILES
- DRAINAGE DETAILS 10
- 11 UTILITY PLAN
- 12 DFTOUR PLAN
- 13 SUMMARY OF QUANTITIES

STRUCTURE PLANS

- 14 GENERAL PLAN
- DECK CONTOURS 15
- FOUNDATION PLAN 16
- ABUTMENT LAYOUT 17
- ABUTMENT DETAILS No.1 18
- ABUTMENT DETAILS NO.2 19
- 20 TYPICAL SECTION
- 21 GIRDER LAYOUT
- WIDE FLANGE GIRDER DETAILS NO.1 22
- WIDE FLANGE GIRDER DETAILS NO.2 23
- 24 CONSTRUCTION SEQUENCE
- 25 MISCELLANEOUS DETAILS
- 26-28 LOG OF TEST BORINGS







3ID	PRICE	CONSTRUCTED BY			RESIDENT ENGINEER	
		PROJECT COMPLETED	1	1	CONSTRUCTION COST \$	





BRIDGE No. 04C0260

SHORT RADIUS GUARDRAIL SYSTEM

-Exist BRIDGE No. 04C0173

302-161-003

NORTHCOAST

REGIONAL LAND TRUST

SURVEY	CONTROL	DATA	

302-181-008

PRIOR

			JUNIE	CONT	NUL DATA		
No.	NORTHING	EASTING	ELEV	LINE	STATION	OFFSET	DESCRIPTION
CP1	2164937.002	5957031.194	10.172	"A"	14+34.23	19.36' R†	SET80DSPIKE
CP2	2165008.312	5956085.236	9.142	"A"			BRASSCAPHUMCORE19203
CP4	2164947.122	5957432.660	9.366	"A"	18+35.19	0.88' R+	SETMAGNAIL&DPWTAG
CP5	2165073.438	5957926.179	8.956	"A"			FD1510

L-1





: №. 260	S W	AIN	SLOUGH	IE	3 R	ID	G	Ε		l
MILES		G E	NERAL	PL		1				•
RACT	NO.:	DISREGARD E	PRINTS BEARING VISION DATES	5/22/15	REVISIO	N DATES		SHEET 1	оғ 14	





. №.)173	PIN	E HILL	RO	A D)	BI	RII	D G	ì E	
ILES		GENE	RAL	Ρ	L	A I	N			
RACT NO.: DISREGARD PRINTS BEARING EARLIER REVISION DATES					F	REVISIO	N DATES		SHEET 1	0F 1



Appendix I - Preliminary Project Cost Estimates

Q uincy	Engineer	ing, Inc.				
90% F	PS&E 1	0% CONTINGENCY			Date	2/12/2018
Projec	t Name	SWAIN SLOUGH BRIDGE REPLACEMENT AT PINE HILL ROA Project. No			Project. No.	H07-300
Bridge	e Name	SWAIN SLOUGH BRIDGE			Road Q's By	K. Panayotov
Bridg	ge. No.	04C0260		Road	Check Q's By	A. Mitchell
				0		T
Item No.	Item Code		Unit	Quantity	Unit Price	
1	022776		LS		\$ 15,000.00	\$ 15,000.00 \$ 15,000.00
2	028284		LS		\$ 15,000.00	\$ 15,000.00
3	120090				\$ 5,000.00	\$ 6,000.00 \$ 5,000.00
- 4 - 5	120100		LS EA	LUIVIF SUIVI	\$ 5,000.00	\$ 5,000.00
5	120120				\$ 100.00	\$ <u>960.00</u>
7	130200		1.5		\$ 3,000,00	\$ <u>20,000.00</u>
8	130640		LG	926	\$ 7.00	\$ 6,482.00
9	130680		LI	920	\$ 6.00	\$ 5,402.00
10	130710		ΕΔ	2	\$ 3,000,00	\$ 6,000,00
11	130900		15		\$ 4,000,00	\$ 4,000,00
12	146002		1.5		\$ 30,000,00	\$ <u>30,000,00</u>
13	170103		1.5		\$ 10,000,00	\$ 10,000.00
14	190101		CY	634	\$ 150.00	\$ 95 100 00
15 F	192008	STRUCTURE EXCAVATION (TYPE A)	CY	358	\$ 250.00	\$ 89,500,00
16 F	193003		CY	135	\$ 150.00	\$ 20,250,00
17	198010	IMPORTED BORROW (CY)	CY	346	\$ 80.00	\$ 27.680.00
18	210430	HYDROSEED	SQFT	10441	\$ 0.50	\$ 5.220.50
19	260203	CLASS 2 AGGREGATE BASE (CY)	CY	451	\$ 120.00	\$ 54.120.00
20	390132	HOT MIX ASPHALT (TYPE A)	TON	315	\$ 200.00	\$ 63,000.00
21	480600	TEMPORARY SHORING	LS	LUMP SUM	\$ 50,000.00	\$ 50,000.00
22	490550	FURNISH 24" STEEL PIPE PILING	LF	2094	\$ 85.00	\$ 177,990.00
23	490555	DRIVE 24" STEEL PIPE PILE	EA	22	\$ 1,300.00	\$ 28,600.00
24	510000	SEAL COURSE CONCRETE	CY	112	\$ 300.00	\$ 33,600.00
25 F	510051	STRUCTURAL CONCRETE, BRIDGE FOOTING	CY	67	\$ 800.00	\$ 53,600.00
26 F	510053	STRUCTURAL CONCRETE, BRIDGE	CY	85	\$ 1,000.00	\$ 85,000.00
27 F	510054	STRUCTURAL CONCRETE, BRIDGE (POLYMER FIBER)	CY	98	\$ 1,100.00	\$ 107,800.00
28 F	510085	STRUCTURAL CONCRETE, APPROACH SLAB (TYPE EQ)	CY	23	\$ 1,200.00	\$ 27,600.00
29	512206	80')	EA	5	\$ 18,000.00	\$ 90,000.00
30	512500	ERECT PRECAST PRESTRESSED CONCRETE GIRDER	EA	5	\$ 5,000.00	\$ 25,000.00
31	519081	JOINT SEAL (MR 1/2")	LF	67	\$ 70.00	\$ 4,690.00
32 F	520106	BAR REINFORCING STEEL (EPOXY COATED)	LB	42297	\$ 1.75	\$ 74,019.75
33	600097	BRIDGE REMOVAL	LS	LUMP SUM	\$ 40,000.00	\$ 40,000.00
34	650010	12" REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE	LF	18	\$ 150.00	\$ 2,700.00
35	650014	18" REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE	LF	78	\$ 200.00	\$ 15,600.00
36	705201	12" CONCRETE FLARED END SECTION	EA	2	\$ 1,000.00	\$ 2,000.00
37	705204	18" CONCRETE FLARED END SECTION	EA	4	\$ 1,200.00	\$ 4,800.00
38	710136	REMOVE PIPE (LF)	LF	37	\$ 30.00	\$ 1,110.00
39	723060	(CY)	CY	178	\$ 300.00	\$ 53,400.00
40	723070	ROCK SLOPE PROTECTION (150 lb, Class III, METHOD B) (CY)	CY	4	\$ 260.00	\$ 1,040.00
41	729011	ROCK SLOPE PROTECTION FABRIC (CLASS 8)	SQYD	425	\$ 20.00	\$ 8,500.00
42	800001	FENCE (TYPE BW, METAL POST)	LF	612	\$ 30.00	\$ 18,360.00
43	803020		LF	638	\$ 10.00	\$ 6,380.00
44	810230		EA	48	\$ 15.00	\$ 720.00
45	820134	OBJECT MARKER (TYPE P)	EA	4	\$ 100.00	\$ 400.00
46	820220		EA	4	\$ 30.00	\$ 120.00
47	839001	SHORT RADIUS GUARDRAIL SYSTEM	EA	1	\$ 12,000.00	ъ 12,000.00

48		839543	TRANSITION RAILING (TYPE WB-31)	EA	3	\$	6,000.00	\$ 18,000.00
49		839584	ALTERNATIVE IN-LINE TERMINAL SYSTEM	EA	3	\$	4,500.00	\$ 13,500.00
50	F	839740	CALIFORNIA ST-10 BRIDGE RAIL	LF	209	\$	300.00	\$ 62,700.00
51		840501	THERMOPLASTIC TRAFFIC STRIPE	LF	2220	\$	2.00	\$ 4,440.00
52		999990	MOBILIZATION	LS	LUMP SUM	\$15	0,588.63	\$ 150,588.63
					SUBTOTAL	CON	ITRACT	\$ 1,656,474.88
		SUPPLEM	ENTAL WORK					
53		066015	FEDERAL TRAINEE PROGRAM	LS	LUMP SUM	\$	800.00	\$ 800.00
54		066596	ADDITIONAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL	LS	LUMP SUM	\$	-	\$ -
55						\$	-	
56						\$	-	
57						\$	-	
			SI	JBTOTAL	SUPPLEMEN	ITAL	. WORK	\$ 800.00
						SU	BTOTAL	\$ 1,657,274.88
				CONTIN	IGENCIES		10.0%	\$ 165,725.13
				TOTAL				\$ 1,823,000.00



Appendix J - Preliminary Foundation Report

Final Foundation Report

Pine Hill Road Bridge at Swain Slough, Eureka, Humboldt County, California

Prepared for:

Quincy Engineering Inc.

11017 Cobblerock Drive, Suite 100 Rancho Cordova, California 95670 and **Humboldt County Public Works**

1106 Second Street Eureka, California 95501



812 W. Wabash Ave. Eureka, CA 95501-2138 707-441-8855

December 2015 012163



Reference: 012163

December 29, 2015

Mr. Jason Jurrens, PE Quincy Engineering, Inc. 11017 Cobblerock Drive, Suite 100 Rancho Cordova, CA 95670

Subject: Final Foundation Report, Pine Hill Road Bridge at Swain Slough, Eureka, Humboldt County, California

Dear Mr. Jurrens:

Enclosed is our final foundation report for the Pine Hill Road Bridge at Swain Slough in Eureka, California. This report contains the findings of our subsurface exploration, conclusions, and recommendations for foundation design and roadway approaches for the new bridge.

We appreciate this opportunity to work with you on this project. If there are any questions as to the content of this report, please feel free to contact any of the undersigned.

Sincerely,

SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologists, Inc.

John H. Dailey, PE, GE Senior Geotechnical Engineer

JHD:GDS:amg Enclosure: Final Foundation Report

Gary D. Simpson, CEG Senior Engineering Geologist

\\Eureka\projects\2012\012163-PineHillbridg\PUBS\rpts\20151229-PineHillFinalGeotechnicalRpt.doc

Reference: 012163

Final Foundation Report

Pine Hill Road Bridge at Swain Slough Eureka, Humboldt County, California

Prepared for:

Quincy Engineering Inc. 11017 Cobblerock Drive, Suite 100 Rancho Cordova, California 95670 and

Humboldt County Public Works

1106 Second Street Eureka, California 95501



John H. Dailey, PE, GE

Gary D. Simpson, CEG

GARY D. SIMPSON

E

Prepared by:

Consulting Engineers & Geologists, Inc. 812 W. Wabash Ave. Eureka, CA 95501-2138 707-441-8855

December 2015

QA/QC: GDS_

 $\label{eq:linear} $$ \eqref{eq:linear} exposed on the set of the$

Table of Contents

En/

List of	Illustrations	ii
Abbrev	viations and Acronyms	iii
1.0	Introduction 1.1 General Information 1.2 Purpose and Scope	1 1 1
2.0	Site and Project Description	2
3.0	 Field Exploration and Laboratory Testing 3.1 Field Exploration Program 3.2 Cone Penetrometer Tests 3.3 Machine Borings. 3.4 Laboratory Testing. 	2 2 2 3 3
4.0	Site Conditions4.1Geologic Setting4.2Seismicity4.3Subsurface Conditions4.4Seismic Data and Evaluation4.4.1Ground Motion Study4.4.2Liquefaction and Cyclic Failure Potential of Silts and Clays4.4.3Lateral Spreading4.4.4Tsunami Inundation	3 5 6 7 7 7 7 8 9
5.0	 Geotechnical Site Conditions	9 9 10
	5.3 Settlement under Static Conditions5.4 Scour Condition	10 11
6.0	Recommendations.6.1Earthwork6.1.1Site Preparation6.1.2Fill Placement and Compaction6.2Utility Trench Backfill6.3Foundations6.4Retaining Walls6.5Soil Corrosion Potential	12 12 13 15 16 18 19
7.0	Additional Services	20
	7.1 Plan and Specification Review7.2 Construction Phase Monitoring	20 20
8.0	Closure and Limitations	20
9.0	References	21

Appendices

- A. Log of Test Borings
- B. Laboratory Test Data
- C. Site Specific Response Spectrum (Langan Treadwell Rollo)
- D. Liquefaction Analysis Reports
- E. Lateral Pile Analyses
- F. Corrosion Test Results

List of Illustrations

Figures

Follows Page

1.	Location Map	1
2.	Site Plan Map with Exploration Locations	1

Tables

Page

Design Level Scour Condition	11
Foundation Design Data	16
Foundation Design Loads	16
Pile Data Table	17
Equivalent Fluid Unit Weight	18
Soil Corrosion Test Summary	19
	Design Level Scour Condition Foundation Design Data Foundation Design Loads Pile Data Table Equivalent Fluid Unit Weight Soil Corrosion Test Summary

Abbreviations and Acronyms

pcf	pounds per cubic foot
psf	pounds per square foot
AASHTO	American Association of State Highway and Traffic Officials
ASCE	American Society of Civil Engineers
ASTM	American Society for Testing and Materials-International
BH-#	bore hole-number
Cal-OSHA	California Occupational Heath and Safety Administration
Caltrans	California Department of Transportation
CBC	California Building Code
CGS	California Geological Survey
CDMG	California Department of Mines and Geology
CPT	cone penetration test
CRR	cyclic resistance ratio
CSR	cyclic stress ratio
CSZ	Cascadia Subduction Zone
EFZ	Earthquake Fault Zone
FEMA	Federal Emergency Management Agency
LRFD	load and resistance factor design
М	magnitude
$M_{\rm w}$	moment magnitude
MRfz	Mad River fault zone
OSHA	U.S. Occupational Health and Safety Administration
SHN	SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologists, Inc.
SPT	Standard Penetration Test
USGS	U.S. Geologic Survey

1.0 Introduction

1.1 General Information

SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologists, Inc. prepared this Final Foundation Report for the Pine Hill Road Bridge at Swain Slough in Eureka, Humboldt County, California. The general site location is shown on Figure 1, Location Map. This report presents our findings, conclusions, and recommendations for design of the new bridge foundations and roadway approaches.

This report is intended for Quincy Engineering, Inc. (QEI) and the Humboldt County Department of Public Works to use during design and construction of the bridge. The foundation and retaining wall recommendations presented in this report are based on load and resistance design (LRFD) factors outlined in the AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications–Sixth Edition (2012) with modifications based on the California Amendments to the AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications – Sixth Edition, dated January 2014. This report is prepared in English units.

1.2 Purpose and Scope

The primary purposes of this investigation were to explore and evaluate subsurface soil and bedrock conditions at the site and to develop geotechnical recommendations and design criteria for earthwork and foundation support for the proposed structure.

The scope of services included reviewing available subsurface information, conducting cone penetrometer tests (CPT), excavating one machine boring, performing laboratory tests on selected soil samples, and developing recommendations for site grading and foundation design. Specifically, the following information, recommendations, and design criteria are presented in this report:

- Description of site terrain and local geology;
- Description of subsurface soil, bedrock, and groundwater conditions interpreted based on our field exploration, laboratory testing, and review of existing geotechnical information;
- Logs of Test Borings (LOTB) including four CPT soundings and two machine borings, and the results of laboratory tests conducted for this investigation;
- Assessment of potential earthquake-related geologic/geotechnical hazards (e.g. surface fault rupture, liquefaction, differential settlement, site instability) and discussion of possible mitigation measures, as necessary;
- Completion of a site-specific ground motion analysis;
- Evaluation of corrosion potential based on corrosion testing of a representative soil sample obtained from the machine boring completed at the site;
- Recommendations for earthwork, including site and subgrade preparation, fill material, placement and compaction requirements for roadway approaches;
- Discussion of appropriate foundation options;
- Recommendations regarding foundation elements including:
 - o allowable pile capacities (dead, live, and seismic loads)





- estimates of settlement (total and differential)
- o lateral pile capacities and top of pile deflections
- lateral earth pressures for design of retaining structures;
- Recommendations for observation of site preparation and grading and driven pile installation, materials testing and inspection, and other construction considerations.

2.0 Site and Project Description

The site coordinates are approximately: latitude 40.75255° north and longitude 124.18264° west. At this location, Pine Hill Road is aligned in a general east-west orientation where it crosses Swain Slough. The existing 63 foot long three span timber bridge, which is approximately 65 years old, crosses Swain Slough about 0.2 miles east of Elk River Road, just south of Eureka, California. It is proposed to replace the existing structurally deficient and functionally obsolete bridge with an approximately 80 foot long precast wide-flange girder bridge structure. We understand that preliminary Service – Limit State Loads (LRFD) are 1,180 kips at each abutment. The roadway approaches are anticipated to be raised by up to about 3 feet, to elevation 12.8 feet, with engineered fill. In order to minimize impacts to sensitive areas, retaining walls may be utilized to contain the new approach roadway fills.

3.0 Field Exploration and Laboratory Testing

General descriptions of the field and laboratory testing programs performed for the current site investigation are presented below. More detailed descriptions of the subsurface explorations and laboratory testing programs including the final CPT and boring logs, and laboratory test data are presented in Appendices A and B, respectively.

3.1 Field Exploration Program

The field exploration program for this investigation consisted of installing four CPT soundings and two machine borings, logging the soils encountered and obtaining samples of the subsurface materials, and performing geotechnical laboratory tests on selected representative samples. The locations of the CPT soundings and machine borings are shown on Figure 2, Site Map Showing Test Locations, and the attached Log of Test Borings (LOTB) in Appendix A.

3.2 Cone Penetrometer Tests

CPT soundings were advanced on September 28, 2012 using a GeoProbe 6600 operated by Fisch Drilling of Hydesville, California. The CPT soundings were advanced to depths of between 72.5 feet and 103.5 feet below ground surface. The CPT locations were approximately located in the field to encompass the four corners of the proposed bridge abutments. Digital CPT logs indicating the soil behavior type were prepared by Fisch Drilling on behalf of SHN. Electronic text files of the CPT data were also supplied to SHN for the quantitative liquefaction potential analysis. Shear wave velocities were measured in two of the CPT soundings (CPT1 and CPT3), at each abutment location, to be used for evaluating the site response spectra.

 $[\]label{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constrain$

3.3 Machine Borings

Two machine borings, denoted as B-1 and B-2 on the LOTB, were excavated by Taber Drilling of West Sacramento, California. On October 16, 2012 a geotechnical engineer from SHN logged and sampled the soils encountered in boring B-1, which was located near the southeast corner of the existing bridge (Abutment 2). The machine boring was excavated to a maximum depth of 90.5 feet using hollow-stem auger (0- 40 feet) and mud rotary wash (40 – 90.5 feet) drilling equipment. On September 30, 2015 a certified engineering geologist from SHN logged and sampled the soils encountered in boring B-2, which was located near the southwest corner of the existing bridge (Abutment 1). The machine boring for B-2 was excavated to a maximum depth of 150.5 feet using mud rotary wash drilling equipment. The completed borings were both backfilled with cement/bentonite slurry.

Relatively undisturbed soil samples submitted for laboratory testing were obtained with a 3.0-inch inside-diameter (ID) Shelby tube sampler pushed into the soft clays and highly plastic silts. We also collected samples of the firmer underlying soils using a 2.5-inch ID California Modified Sampler and/or a 1.4-inch ID Standard Penetration Test (SPT) sampler. Penetration resistance during sample driving using these two samplers was recorded as the two borings were advanced. Where shown on the LOTB, the blow counts record the number of blows required to drive the sampler 18 inches (in 6 inch increments) by a 140-pound hammer dropping 30 inches inside the boring, controlled with an auto-hammer. Sampler types are noted on the LOTB, in Appendix A. Soils encountered in the machine boring were logged in general accordance with ASTM D2488 (Visual-Manual Procedure).

3.4 Laboratory Testing

Selected soil samples were tested in SHN's certified materials testing laboratory to evaluate their physical characteristics and engineering properties. Samples were tested for their moisture content and unit weight, Atterberg Limits (liquid limit and plasticity index), gradation, percent passing the #200 sieve (combined silt and clay), consolidation, unconfined compression and consolidated-undrained triaxial shear strength. Laboratory test results are presented in Appendix B and adjacent to the corresponding sample intervals on the LOTB in Appendix A.

4.0 Site Conditions

The following sections describe the proposed bridge site and current surface conditions, the geologic and seismic settings of the site, and subsurface soil and groundwater conditions encountered at the time of our field exploration.

4.1 Geologic Setting

The project is located within Martin Slough, a broad estuarine valley that opens into the eastern shore of Humboldt Bay at the southern margin of the City of Eureka. The Humboldt Bay region occupies a complex geologic environment characterized by very high rates of active tectonic deformation and seismicity. The area lies just north of the Mendocino Triple Junction, the intersection of three crustal plates (the North American, Pacific, and Gorda plates). North of Cape Mendocino, the Gorda plate is being actively subducted beneath the North American plate, forming

```
\label{eq:linear} \label{eq:linear} where the the the transformation of tr
```

S.V

what is commonly referred to as the Cascadia Subduction Zone. In the Humboldt Bay region, the subduction zone is manifested on-land as a series of northwest-trending, southwest-vergent thrust faults, and intervening folds ("fold and thrust belt"). The geomorphic landscape of the Humboldt Bay region is largely a manifestation of the active tectonic processes in this dynamic coastal environment.

Basement rock beneath Humboldt Bay is the Paleocene-Eocene Yager terrane, a part of the Coastal belt of the Franciscan Complex (Blake et al., 1985; Clarke, 1992). The Franciscan Complex is a regional bedrock unit that consists of a series of "terranes," which are discrete blocks of highly deformed oceanic crust that have been welded to the western margin of the North American plate over the past 140 million years. The Yager terrane consists of as much as 9,800 feet of well-indurated marine mudstone and thin-bedded siltstone. Yager terrane bedrock is in excess of 1,000 feet below the ground surface in the vicinity of Humboldt Bay, based on a deep exploratory well south of Eureka (Woodward-Clyde Consultants, 1980).

Basement rock in the Humboldt Bay region is unconformably overlain by a late Miocene to middle Pleistocene age sequence of marine and terrestrial deposits referred to as the Wildcat Group (Ogle, 1953). The marine portion of the Wildcat Group includes some 6,000 to 8,000 feet of mudstone and lesser amounts of sandstone that were deposited in a deep coastal basin (for example, the Eel River basin). Gradationally overlying the marine portion of the Wildcat Group are 2,500 to 3,250 feet of nonmarine sandstone and conglomerate, which represent the uppermost part of the Wildcat depositional sequence. The Wildcat Group is truncated at its top by an unconformity of middle Pleistocene age, and is overlain by coastal plain and fluvial deposits of middle to late Pleistocene age. In the Eureka area, these middle and late Pleistocene age deposits are referred to as the Hookton Formation (Ogle, 1953). Hookton Formation sediments are described as gravel, sand, silt, and clay which have a characteristically yellow-orange color (Ogle, 1953).

Along the coast of northern California between Cape Mendocino on the south and Big Lagoon, about 60 miles (100 kilometers [km]) to the north, a sequence of uplifted late Pleistocene age marine terraces are preserved The terraces are preserved as erosional remnants of raised shore platforms and associated cover sediments. Sea level has fluctuated throughout the late Pleistocene in response to the advance and retreat of large continental ice sheets. Marine terraces preserved along the coast represent surfaces eroded during the highest levels of these sea level fluctuations, superimposed on a coastline being uplifted by regional tectonics. Marine terraces in the region range in age from about 64,000 years old, to as much as 240,000 years old.

Beneath Humboldt Bay, and along its margins, the Hookton Formation and marine terrace deposits are overlain by late Holocene age (younger than about 5,000 to 6,000 years old) bay muds and associated littoral and estuarine deposits. Near alluvial sources at the fringes of the bay, bay muds are intermixed with terrestrial alluvial deposits. These youthful, unconsolidated deposits vary in thickness and composition around the bay and in the adjacent coastal valleys, often exhibiting large amounts of lateral variation over very small distances. Bay deposits typically consist of silty clays or clayey silts (bay muds) interbedded with clean sand lenses and beds.

Martin Slough and other coastal valleys around Humboldt Bay represent sediment-filled estuaries that reflect the late Quaternary history of sea level changes and tectonic deformation. Formation of these coastal valleys likely post-dates the formation of the adjacent marine terrace platforms, the youngest of which in the Martin Slough area is thought to be some 83,000 years old. Because of its

coastal setting, Martin Slough is sensitive to base level fluctuations associated with the rise and fall of sea level. During most of the late Quaternary, sea level was lower than its present position, resulting in a shoreline located farther to the west, and a lower fluvial base level to which all coastal streams would be graded. During these low sea levels, streams within the coastal valleys around Humboldt Bay would be incised. Subsequent sea level fluctuations would result in cycles of filling and incision in these coastal valleys, depending on the relative base level (the ocean shoreline). Sea level apparently reached its current high level in the mid-Holocene, about 6,000 years ago. As such, at least the uppermost part of the sediment filling the Martin Slough valley would be anticipated to be mid-Holocene in age, or younger.

Sediment filling Martin Slough is generally fine-grained (silt, with lesser amounts of clay). The material is derived from alluvial sources (overbank/floodplain deposits) in the upper part of the canyon, and estuarine sources (tidal marine deposits, etc.) in the lower reaches of the valley nearest the bay. Evidence of marine influence (deposits with marine shells for example) does not appear to extend very far up the Martin Slough valley, based on subsurface investigations for previous studies for various projects, indicating that most of the sediment in the valley is derived from alluvial sources. Valley fill sediments are uniformly soft, unconsolidated materials that locally contain a high amount of organic materials. Sandy deposits are present locally, particularly near alluvial sources and approaching the bay margins.

4.2 Seismicity

The project site is located in a region of high seismicity. Over sixty earthquakes have produced discernible damage in the region since the mid-1800s (Dengler et al., 1992). Historic seismicity and paleoseismic studies in the area suggest there are six distinct sources of damaging earthquakes in the Eureka region: (1) the Gorda Plate; (2) the Mendocino fault; (3) the Mendocino Triple Junction; (4) the northern end of the San Andreas fault; (5) faults within the North American Plate (including the Little Salmon fault and Mad River fault zone); and (6) the Cascadia Subduction Zone (Dengler et al., 1992).

Earthquakes originating within the Gorda Plate account for the majority of historic seismicity. These earthquakes occur primarily offshore along left-lateral faults, and are generated by the internal deformation within the plate as it moves toward the subduction zone. Significant historic Gorda Plate earthquakes have ranged from magnitude 5 to 7.5. The November 8, 1980, earthquake (magnitude 7.2) was generated 30 miles (48 km) off the coast of Trinidad on a left-lateral fault within the Gorda Plate. Other recent Gorda Plate earthquakes include the 2010 event with a magnitude of 6.5, and a magnitude 6.8 earthquake that occurred in March 2014.

The Mendocino fault is the second most frequent source of earthquakes in the region. The fault represents the plate boundary between the Gorda and Pacific plates, and typically generates right lateral strike-slip displacement. Significant historic Mendocino fault earthquakes have ranged from magnitude 5 to magnitude 7.5. The September 1, 1994, magnitude 7.2 event originating west of Petrolia was generated along the Mendocino fault. The Mendocino triple junction was identified as a separate seismic source only after the August 17, 1991 magnitude 6.0 earthquake. Significant seismic events associated with the triple junction are shallow onshore earthquakes that appear to range from magnitude 5 to 6. Raised Holocene age marine terraces near Cape Mendocino suggest larger events are possible in this region.

^{\\}Eureka\projects\2012\012163-PineHillbridg\PUBS\rpts\20151229-PineHillFinalGeotechnicalRpt.doc

Earthquakes originating on the northern San Andreas fault are extremely rare, but can be very large. The northern San Andreas fault is a right lateral strike-slip fault that represents the plate boundary between the Pacific and North American plates. The fault extends through the Point Delgada region and terminates at the Mendocino triple junction. The 1906 San Francisco earthquake (magnitude 8.3) caused the most significant damage in the north coast region, with the possible exception of the April 1992 Petrolia earthquake (Dengler et. al., 1992).

Earthquakes originating within the North American plate can be anticipated from a number of intraplate sources, including the Mad River fault zone and Little Salmon fault. There have been no large magnitude earthquakes associated with faults within the North American plate, although the December 21, 1954, magnitude 6.5 event may have occurred in the Mad River fault zone. The Little Salmon fault is the closest known active fault to the project area (Wills, 1990). The Little Salmon fault is a northwest-trending, southwest-vergent reverse fault (the northeast side of the fault slides up and over the southwest side of the fault along a northeast-dipping fault plane). Paleoseismic studies of the Little Salmon fault indicate that the fault deforms late Holocene sediments at the southern end of Humboldt Bay (Clarke and Carver, 1992). Estimates of the amount of fault slip for individual earthquakes along the fault range from 15 to 23 feet (4.5 to 7 meters). Radiocarbon dating suggests that earthquakes have occurred on the Little Salmon fault about 300, 800, and 1,600 years ago. Average slip rate for the Little Salmon fault for the past 6,000 years is between 6 and 10 mm/yr. Based on currently available fault parameters, the maximum magnitude earthquake for the Little Salmon fault is thought to be between 7.0 (CDMG/USGS, 1996) and 7.3 (Geomatrix Consultants, 1994).

The Cascadia Subduction Zone (CSZ) represents the most significant potential earthquake source in the north coast region. The CSZ is the location where the oceanic crust of the Gorda and Juan de Fuca plates are being subducted beneath the continental crust of the North American Plate. A great subduction event may rupture along 200 km or more of the coast from Cape Mendocino to British Columbia, may be up to magnitude 9.5, and could result in extensive tsunami inundation in lowlying coastal areas. The April 25, 1992, Petrolia earthquake (magnitude 7.1) appears to be the only historic earthquake involving slip along the subduction zone, but this event was confined to the southernmost portion of the fault. It is estimated that there have been 6 significant subduction zone events along the CSZ in the last 3,000 years (Darienzo and Peterson, 1995). Paleoseismic studies along the subduction zone suggest that great earthquakes are generated along the zone every 300 to 500 years. Historic records from Japan describing a tsunami thought to have originated along the Cascadia Subduction Zone suggest the most recent great subduction event occurred on January 27, 1700. A great subduction earthquake would generate long duration, very strong ground shaking throughout the north coast region. Available mapping indicates that the surface expression of the subduction zone is located some 30 to 35 miles west of the project site (Clarke, 1992; McLaughlin et al., 2000). Seismic profiles suggest that the subduction interface dips landward at an angle of about 11 degrees (McPherson, 1992), which would place it at a depth of about 6 miles beneath the project area (using right angle projection).

4.3 Subsurface Conditions

The results of our subsurface exploration indicate that the site is underlain by soft, organic-rich, estuarine deposits of lean clays and high plasticity silts, with intermittent thin lenses/layers of loose sands, interpreted to extend to a depth of about 66 feet. The estuarine deposits, in turn, overlie Pleistocene age sediments associated with the Hookton Formation, consisting of consolidated

medium dense to very dense sands, and medium stiff to stiff silts and clays, which exist to the maximum depths explored of 150.5 feet below the existing ground surface. Based on the results of the subsurface investigation, it appears that the contact between the estuarine deposits and underlying sediments associated with the Hookton Formation slopes down to the southwest.

Ground water was encountered at a depth of about 5 feet in the machine boring B-1; boring B-2 was excavated using rotary-wash drilling method and water levels could not be measured. Ground water levels adjacent to Swain Slough are influenced by tidal fluctuations, such that the water table rises during high tides. During the rainy season, water frequently ponds on the ground surface throughout the Martin Slough Valley.

4.4 Seismic Data and Evaluation

4.4.1 Ground Motion Study

Based on the results of the subsurface exploration, including shear wave velocity measurements indicating an average shear wave velocity (V_{S30}) from the CPT soundings equal to 140 meters per second for the upper 100 feet of soil profile, Caltrans design criteria requires the development of a site-specific response spectra. Quincy Engineering requested that the site-specific analyses include the nonlinear response of any soft clays subjected to high levels of shaking present at the site and a nonlinear effective stress analysis, taking into consideration the potential pore pressure generation and dissipation during liquefaction. We subcontracted with Langan Treadwell Rollo of San Francisco, California to perform the analyses and prepare a report presenting the development of a site-specific response spectrum for the bridge site. Their analyses indicate a maximum magnitude earthquake (M_{max}) of 7.25±0.25 with corresponding peak ground acceleration (PGA) of 0.3g. The results of their analyses were presented in their report dated July 22, 2014, which is attached as Appendix C.

4.4.2 Liquefaction and Cyclic Failure Potential of Silts and Clays

Liquefaction is a soil behavior phenomenon in which a soil loses a substantial amount of strength due to high excess pore-water pressure generated by strong earthquake ground shaking. Relatively young (i.e. deposited within last few thousand years) and unconsolidated soils and artificial fills located below the groundwater surface are considered susceptible to liquefaction (Youd and Perkins, 1978). Typically, the soils that are most susceptible to liquefaction include relatively clean, loose, uniformly graded sand, silty sand, and non-plastic deposits.

As previously discussed in this report, the CPT and machine boring data collected during this investigation indicates that the soils underlying the site are soft, organic-rich, estuarine deposits of lean clays and high plasticity silts, with intermittent thin lenses of loose sands, to a depth of about 66 feet. Underlying the estuarine deposits are Pleistocene age sediments associated with the Hookton Formation, consisting of consolidated medium dense to very dense sands, and medium stiff to stiff silts and clays, which exist to the maximum depths explored of 150.5 feet below the existing ground surface.

The potential for liquefaction and liquefaction-induced settlement was evaluated for the project site using the data collected from the CPT soundings. The evaluation was performed in accordance with the methodology presented in *Evaluating Cyclic Liquefaction Potential Using the Cone Penetration*

 $[\]label{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constrain$

Test, Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Volume 35 (Robertson and Wride, 1998) combined with the recommendations presented in the publications *Soil Liquefaction During Earthquakes, Monograph MNO-12, Earthquake Engineering Research Institute, Oakland, CA* (Idriss and Boulanger, 2008) and *CPT and SPT Based Liquefaction Triggering Procedures; Center for Geotechnical Modeling, University of California Davis, Report No. UCD/CGM-14/01* (Boulanger and Idriss, 2014), using the software program CLiq, version 1.7.6.34, by GeoLogismiki, Inc. An earthquake magnitude M_{max} of 7.50 and PGA of 0.30 times gravity were used in our analyses. Graphical results of the analyses are presented in Appendix D.

The results of the liquefaction analyses indicate that intermittent thin intervals identified in the CPT soundings (inferred to be sand layers) are susceptible to liquefaction. The intervals susceptible to liquefaction are relatively thin (typically less than 1-foot in thickness) and discrete, and are bounded by non-liquefiable layers with a factor of safety (FOS) greater than 2.0. The cumulative amount of potential liquefaction-induced settlement calculated at each CPT location is 0.58 inches at CPT1, 0.31 inches at CPT2, 2.7 inches at CPT3, and 2.2 inches at CPT4.

The soft silts and clays underlying the site are not considered to be susceptible to "classic cyclically induced liquefaction". However, they may be susceptible to cyclic failure potential where their strength is reduced during earthquake shaking sufficiently strong to trigger a drop to remolded or residual shear strengths. Comparison of a soil's natural water content (w_n) to its Atterberg limits can provide useful information on the potential for strength loss following cyclic failure during earthquake shaking. This comparison has been shown to provide reasonable correlations to a soil's sensitivity (St), which is the ratio of the soil's peak undrained shear strength (su) to its fully remolded (residual) undrained shear strength (sur). Based on the results of the laboratory testing performed, the underlying silts and clays appear to have a medium to very sensitive potential for strength loss.

We provide a discussion of the liquefaction potential and cyclic failure potential of the silts and clays, and their associated risks in Section 5.2, below.

4.4.3 Lateral Spreading

Lateral spreading is the displacement of soil that can occur when a continuous soil layer liquefies and the overlying soil layers move toward an unsupported slope face. The depth of the liquefiable layers are about 50 feet or greater in CPT 1 and CPT2, and about 45 feet in CPT4; however, in CPT3 the uppermost liquefiable layer appears to be at about 10 feet below the existing ground surface. The unsupported slope face is about 10 feet in height. The depth of the liquefiable layer is well below the unsupported slope face in CPT1, CPT2, and CPT4. Based on the Lateral Spreading Index (LDI) from the liquefaction assessment results for CPT3, there is a potential for about two inches of lateral spreading to occur in the soil layer overlying the liquefiable layer at a depth of 10 feet; the deeper liquefiable layers are well below the unsupported slope face. We judge the overall potential for lateral spreading to occur to be very low based on the liquefiable layer, and the results of the analyses.

We provide a discussion of the risk of lateral spreading in Section 5.2, below.

 $[\]label{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constrain$
4.4.4 Tsunami Inundation

Tsunamis are long-period sea waves caused by sea floor deformation associated with submarine fault rupture or submarine landslides, sometimes from sources hundreds or thousands of miles away. Because the project is located in a low-lying coastal area in a seismically active region, the bridge site is subject to tsunami inundation. The hazard associated with tsunami inundation is increased in the Humboldt County area due to the proximity of the Cascadia Subduction Zone and other active offshore seismic sources that are capable of generating very large earthquakes.

Tsunamis have been observed along the northern California coastline following large earthquakes in the recent past. The most significant historical tsunami inundation in the region occurred in Crescent City in 1964 following a magnitude 9.2 earthquake in Alaska. Inundation associated with this tsunami generated over seven million dollars of damage in Crescent City and resulted in ten fatalities. Over 1,000 automobiles were also destroyed. The 1964 tsunami resulted in run-up of 6 feet (about 2 meters) in Humboldt Bay (Lander and Lockridge, 1989), but caused no significant damage. The tsunami resulted in fourteen knot currents near the bay entrance, and the bay was filled with logs and other debris. A ten-foot-high sea wall was breached at the Eureka Boat Basin (Lander et al., 1993). More recently, on April 25, 1992, a series of strong earthquakes occurred near Cape Mendocino. The main shock was magnitude 7.1, and was followed by strong aftershocks with magnitudes of 6.6 and 6.7. The magnitude 7.1 main shock generated a small tsunami that was recorded by tide gauges from Oregon to southern California (Bernard et al., 1994), including at Humboldt Bay. The wave was 0.7 to 1 foot (20 to 30 centimeters [cm]) high at the Humboldt Bay entrance, and caused no damage.

The Pine Hill Road Bridge is located in an area that is highly susceptible to tsunami inundation in the event of a moderate to large tsunami event. The site is within the "Tsunami Inundation Area" shown on the State Tsunami Inundation Map for Emergency Planning (Humboldt Bay sheet; 2009). It is located directly inboard of the Humboldt Bay entrance, and therefore has high exposure to waves as they first enter the bay. The dynamics of tsunami waves in Humboldt Bay are not well understood, but it is reasonable to assume that the site may be subject to significant flow velocity during an inundation event and, therefore, scour potential.

5.0 Geotechnical Site Conditions

5.1 General

Soils underlying the site are soft, organic-rich, estuarine deposits of lean clays and high plasticity silts, with intermittent thin lenses/layers of loose sands, interpreted to extend to a depth of about 66 feet below the bridge site. The estuarine deposits, in turn, overlie Pleistocene age sediments associated with the Hookton Formation, consisting of consolidated medium dense to very dense sands, and medium stiff to stiff silts and clays, which exist to the maximum depths explored of 150.5 feet below the existing ground surface.

Ground water was encountered at a depth of about 5 feet in the machine boring B-1. Ground water levels adjacent to Swain Slough are influenced by tidal fluctuations, such that the water table rises during high tides.

 $[\]label{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constrain$

The principal geologic/geotechnical engineering considerations affecting design and construction of the project include the following:

- 1) Strong earthquake ground shaking.
- 2) Tsunami inundation.
- 3) The presence of underlying stratigraphic layers which are potentially susceptible to liquefaction and lateral spreading during relatively infrequent, upper-bound seismic events. Our quantitative liquefaction analysis indicates that up to about 2 inches of seismicallyinduced differential settlement may occur during these rare events, as well as a very low probability of lateral spreading.
- 4) The presence of soft, organic-rich, estuarine deposits of lean clays and high plasticity silt within the upper about 66 feet of the ground surface that have the potential for strength loss following cyclic failure during earthquake shaking and are prone to consolidation settlement (both total and differential) under new structural and approach fill material loads.

Recommendations presented in Section 6 below include design parameters for site preparation and grading, and the foundation system, which will reduce the hazard associated with seismically-induced settlement and lateral spreading, and static settlement (consolidation).

5.2 Liquefaction, Cyclic Failure Potential of the Silts and Clays, and Lateral Spreading

The liquefaction potential and risk of lateral spreading appears relatively low (based on our quantitative models) at the project site. The potential risk of strength loss of the underlying soft silts and clays during earthquake shaking depends on the intensity and duration of the earthquake shaking to trigger a drop to remolded or residual shear strengths. However, due to the inherent uncertainties, it is prudent to evaluate the potential mitigation strategies relative to the acceptable level of risk. This risk should be commensurate with that of other bridges in the Eureka area. The bridge should be able to resist a major level of earthquake ground motion having an intensity equal to the strongest either experienced or forecast for the site, without collapse, but possibly with some structural as well as nonstructural damage.

Within the recommendations section we have provided criteria for foundation design that is appropriate for mitigating the potential risk of strength loss in the upper more sensitive silts and clays, and the potential for differential settlement of approximately 2 inches during a seismic event. In our professional judgment, this is likely to result in a relatively conservative foundation design. However, the risk will be mitigated to a low level if the recommended foundation design criteria presented below are adhered to.

5.3 Settlement under Static Conditions

The upper approximately 66 feet of the soil profile beneath the bridge site is typically composed of soft, organic-rich, estuarine deposits of lean clays and high plasticity silts. These deposits are relatively compressible, and are subject to settlement under new proposed loads associated with the bridge structure and approach fills.

 $[\]label{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constrain$

The proposed bridge foundations would experience unacceptable settlement if founded on shallow foundations, and will need to be founded in the firmer Hookton Formation at depth using a deepened foundation system. It is our opinion, that under normal static conditions the risk of significant post-construction foundation settlement will be mitigated to a low level if the recommended foundation design criteria presented below are adhered to.

Based on the results of laboratory consolidation tests from representative samples of the soft, lean clays and highly plastic silts, the up to 3 foot wedge of engineered fill being placed for the bridge approaches, we calculated that up to about 4 inches of settlement (consolidation) should be anticipated. Based on time rate of settlement calculations from laboratory consolidation tests performed, we estimate that over fifty percent of the settlement will occur in the first six months, sixty seven percent will occur in about 1 year, and ninety percent will occur in about 3 years. If piles are installed before this settlement is complete, negative skin friction or downdrag on the pile can develop in the soil zone that is settling, imposing additional loading on the pile.

Allowing the embankment fill and foundation soils to settle before constructing the CISS piles can effectively reduce negative skin friction. Placing an additional surcharge of approximately 3 feet of soil in the vicinity of the approach fills and CISS foundations could reduce the settlement period by half. During construction, settlement should be carefully monitored using a system of settlement plates and monuments that can measure deflections at the top and base of the fill. The CISS piles could be installed after a sufficient amount of settlement has occurred, for example fifty percent or 2 inches.

Maintenance may be required over the first few years following construction to prevent a "step" from forming at the contact between the bridge structure and approach. Presumably, this "maintenance" would include placement of additional asphalt material to raise the approach to meet the bridge grade.

5.4 **Scour Condition**

We understand that the bridge site has been identified as being susceptible to significant scour by WRECO analysis. Below is the plan by QEI to meet scour condition criteria at the bridge site.

	Low Ta	Low Tailwater High Tailwate							
Scour Component	Abutment 1	Abutment 2	Abutment 1	Abutment 2					
Contraction Scour Depth (ft)	4.4	4.4	3.1	3.1					
Local Scour Depth (ft)	10.1	11.0	13.5	4.4					
Total Scour Depth (ft)	14.5	15.4	16.6	17.5					
Thalweg (ft)	0	0	0	0					
Scour Elevation w/ RSP (ft)	-4.4	-4.4	-3.1	-3.1					
Scour Elevation w/o RSP (ft)	-14.5	-15.4	-16.6	-17.5					

Table 1 Design Level Scour Conditions

Elevations are referenced to North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88)

The bridge design by QEI includes Rock Slope Protection (RSP) at the abutments to minimize scour. Therefore, SHN is designing the foundations for the scour elevation with RSP at the abutments.

^{\\}Eureka\projects\2012\012163-PineHillbridg\PUBS\rpts\20151229-PineHillFinalGeotechnicalRpt.doc

6.0 Recommendations

We recommend the bridge structure be designed to withstand strong seismic shaking in accordance with the seismic design requirements outlined in the Caltrans Seismic Design Guidelines. Because there is a potential for some liquefaction-induced settlement, potential cyclic loss of strength in the underlying silts and clays during a severe earthquake event, and possible minor lateral spreading, we believe the bridge structure should be supported on a deepened foundation system consisting of driven cast-in-place-steel-shell (CISS) piles. Reinforced concrete is placed inside the steel shell for the upper portion of the pile to enhance lateral pile performance, especially during a seismic event. One of the main advantages of using steel shells, especially in seismic regions like Humboldt County, is the satisfactory performance of the steel casings to enhance the ductile capacity of the reinforced concrete section through confinement of the concrete core. Based on our Preliminary Foundation Report, QEI selected CISS 24PPX0.75 piles for the proposed bridge structure.

6.1 Earthwork

Earthwork for construction of the proposed bridge structure will require preparation of an Erosion and Sedimentation Control Plan. This is especially relevant for the Pine Hill Bridge replacement project due to the narrow, confined work area and the proximity to both Swain Slough and Martin Slough, each of which maintain populations of protected Salmonids. Preparation and implementation of this plan are the sole responsibility of the Contractor. The Plan should identify the likely sources of construction related erosion and define mitigations to prevent movement of sediment outside the general working area. The Plan should be reviewed, and the project construction contract should require its implementation.

As appropriate, notify Underground Service Alert (USA) prior to commencing site work to provide utility clearance.

6.1.1 Site Preparation

In graded areas, all surficial vegetation and deleterious, organic, and oversized materials (greater than 4 inches in maximum dimension) should be stripped and isolated from the site prior to removal of any potentially useable soils.

Areas to receive fill should be stripped of loose or soft earth materials until a firm subgrade is exposed, or should be stabilized so that the subgrade is firm and unyielding. The stripping work should include the removal of existing uncompacted fill (if present), topsoil, and any other material that, in the judgment of the Geotechnical Engineer, is compressible or contains significant voids. The subgrade soils exposed at the bottom of stripping or other excavations should be observed by the Geotechnical Engineer or qualified representative from our office prior to placement of any fill.

Soft and yielding subgrade is likely to be encountered. It is recommended that the exposed subgrade be stabilized prior to initiating construction operations or placement of engineered fill so that, in the judgment of the Geotechnical Engineer, the subgrade is capable of adequately supporting the specific project improvements. If the subgrade cannot be stabilized through aeration/moisture conditioning and recompaction of soils, then the soils will need to be stabilized using other methods. The Contractor should have the sole responsibility for design and implementation of subgrade stabilization techniques.

Some methods that we have observed to be effective in stabilizing subgrades have included the following:

- use of ³/₄-inch to 1¹/₂-inch floatrock worked into the subgrade and covered with a geotextile fabric such as Mirafi 500X; and
- placement of a geotextile fabric, such as Mirafi 500X, on the subgrade and covered with at least one foot of compacted processed miscellaneous base (PMB) conforming to the requirements of Section 200-2.5 of the Greenbook, latest edition.

Prior to placement of engineered fills, the approved native subgrade should be scarified to a minimum depth of 6 inches, uniformly moisture-conditioned or aerated to near optimum moisture content and compacted to at least 90 percent relative compaction¹. Care should be exercised in moisture conditioning the near surface soils, as excess moisture may cause a pumping condition. Subgrades stabilized with floatrock or geotextile will not require scarification.

6.1.2 Fill Placement and Compaction

We expect that the majority of the existing earth materials encountered at the proposed bridge site are generally too high in plasticity to be suitable for use as engineered fill. Engineered fill material should be free of debris, rocks over 4 inches in diameter, organic material, have a plasticity index less than 14 percent, and be evenly graded. All imported fill materials should be observed, tested, and approved by SHN prior to transportation to the site.

Soil used as engineered fill should be uniformly moisture conditioned to within 2-percent of the optimum moisture content. Engineered fill should be placed in lifts less than 8 inches in loose thickness, and compacted to at least 90 percent relative compaction.

6.1.2.1 Compaction Adjacent to Walls

Backfill within 5 feet, measured horizontally, behind retaining structures should be compacted with relatively lightweight, hand-operated compaction equipment to reduce the potential for creation of relatively large compaction-induced stresses. If large or heavy compaction equipment is used, compaction-induced stresses could result in increased lateral earth pressures on the retaining walls in addition to those presented in this report.

6.1.2.2 Excavation Stability Considerations

We anticipate that the Contractor will need to use temporary excavations during construction of the bridge structure. The excavations will require the Contractor to either slope the excavation walls or install shoring or caisson systems to support the temporary cut slopes during construction. Since the soils are indicated to be unconsolidated and are of generally soft to very soft consistency, and likely to be saturated to near the ground surface, sloping the excavations may be physically and environmentally impractical.

¹ Relative compaction refers to the in-place dry density of a soil expressed as a percentage of the maximum dry density of the same soil, as determined by the ASTM D1557 Test Method. Optimum moisture content is the water content (percentage by dry weight) corresponding to the maximum dry density.

 $[\]label{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constrain$

Approximate stability analyses of the site soils, based on assumed soil parameters, indicate that excavation cut slopes are likely to be unstable, even at the OSHA mandated 1.5:1 (horizontal:vertical) cut slope gradients for Type C soils. For example, total stress analysis of very soft site soils with an estimated cohesion of 200 pounds per square foot and an angle of internal friction of zero indicate instability where 1.5:1 cut slopes exceed approximately 10 to 15 feet in height. These results are based on estimated soil parameters, and actual conditions may vary, but they suggest potential instability at typical cut slope gradients in the site's weak soils.

The Contractor shall be responsible for the stability of all temporary excavations and should comply with applicable Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) regulations (California Construction Safety Orders, Title 8). The Contractor should periodically monitor all open cuts for evidence of incipient stability failures. According to the OSHA specifications, excavations deeper than 4 feet below existing grades (or shallower if excavations appear unsafe) should be laid back to a safe slope inclination, or mechanically supported, and in accordance with the Contractor's judgment of safe working conditions. In addition, slopes for excavations deeper than 20 feet are required to be designed by an engineer licensed to practice in the State of California. It should be noted that the Contractor is solely responsible for site safety and safe working conditions during construction. A logical alternative to laying back the excavation side slopes would be a temporary shoring system installed in a configuration that would allow vertical side slopes. The Contractor should select the type of shoring system to be used and should be solely responsible for the design and performance of the shoring system.

For the type of soil conditions encountered, temporary braced excavation shoring systems may be designed using typical procedures for braced excavations made into soft, normally consolidated clay. In addition, the shoring should be designed to withstand hydrostatic pressure assuming the water table at the ground surface. Passive pressure below the bottom of the excavation may be taken as an equivalent fluid pressure of 175 and 225 pounds per cubic foot (pcf) for the design, under static and dynamic loading conditions, respectively, for drained soil conditions. For undrained conditions, the soil passive component is 50 and 65 pcf, respectively. In undrained conditions, water pressure would also be applicable. We recommend the Contractor submit shoring plans, along with supporting geotechnical data used for those plans, for review and approval prior to construction. SHN should be retained to review and comment on the geotechnical data provided by the Contractor.

6.1.2.3 Fill Slopes

Permanent fill slopes may be made as steep as 2H:1V for slopes meeting the above recommendations for engineered fills. If more steeply inclined fill slopes are desired, these fills should be reinforced with geogrids, or should be mechanically stabilized earth (MSE). An MSE slope is typically used for applications where slope inclinations range from 1.5H:1V to 1H:1V, and no segmental block facing is used. Where vertical or near vertical faces are desired or required, then MSE walls with a segmental block facing are used. Recommendations can be provided if future plans call for the use of MSE slopes and/or walls.

6.2 Utility Trench Backfill

Excavations should be made in accordance with OSHA specifications and conditions. According to those specifications, excavations deeper than 4 feet below existing grades (or shallower if excavations appear unsafe) should be laid back to a safe slope inclination, and in accordance with the Contractor's judgment of safe working conditions. It should be noted that the Contractor is solely responsible for site safety and safe working conditions during construction.

Unless lean concrete bedding is required around utilities, bedding should consist of sand having a Sand Equivalent of at least 30. The bedding should extend from 6 inches below to 1 foot above the conduit or pipe. Sand bedding should not be jetted or ponded into place and should be mechanically compacted to a minimum of 90 percent relative compaction.

In areas to support improvements such as pavements and adjacent to structure foundations, backfill placed above the bedding in utility trenches should be properly placed and adequately compacted to minimize settlement and provide a stable subgrade. If possible, the trench backfill should be compacted following rough grading but prior to final grading and compaction. On-site inorganic soils meeting the requirements for engineered fill may be used as trench backfill. Backfill consisting of on-site soils should be placed in layers not exceeding 8 inches in loose thickness, moisture-conditioned, and compacted to at least 90 percent relative compaction as described for engineered fill. Trench backfill need only be compacted to 85 percent relative compaction in landscape areas or in areas more than 5 feet beyond the limits of buildings, pavements, concrete slabs-on-grade, sidewalks, or other flatwork. The upper 6 inches of trench backfill under pavements should be compacted to at least 95 percent relative compaction.

Special care should be given to ensuring that adequate compaction is made beneath the haunches of utility pipes (that area from the pipe springline to the pipe invert) and that no voids remain in this space.

All temporary excavations must comply with applicable local, state, and federal safety regulations, including the current OSHA Excavation and Trench Safety Standards. Construction site safety generally is the responsibility of the Contractor, who should be solely responsible for the means, methods, and sequencing of construction operations so that a safe working environment is maintained.

Heavy construction equipment, building materials, excavated soil, and vehicular traffic should not be allowed within a 1:1 (horizontal to vertical) projection from the toe of open excavations to the ground surface. Support systems such as shoring or bracing should be used to provide structural stability and to protect personnel working within the excavation in accordance with good construction practices and all applicable safety regulations. Soils that are subject to caving should be anticipated within trenches at the project site.

Shallow or perched groundwater may be encountered within the depths of typical trench excavations, depending upon the depth of excavation and the season of construction. The contractor should install measures to divert groundwater, or channel groundwater to flow towards collection points to be removed from the trench and disposed of at an approved area.

 $[\]label{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constrain$

6.3 Foundations

Because there is a potential for liquefaction-induced settlement, cyclic softening of the soft silts and clays, local and contraction scour, and lateral spreading, we recommended that the bridge structure be supported on a deepened foundation system consisting of driven cast-in-place-steel-shell (CISS) piles. We understand that QEI proposes to use PP24X0.75 CISS pipe piles for support of the proposed structure.

To evaluate the recommended abutment piles for the bridge structure, SHN used the following information in Table 2 below, provided by QEI.

		1401	c 2 i oundati		Sign D	ata					
Support	Pile Type	Finished	Cut-off	Pile	Cap	Permissible	Number				
No.		Grade	Elevation	Size (ft)		Size (ft)		Size (ft)		Settlement under	of
		Elevation (ft)	(ft)	В	L	Service Load (in)	Piles per				
							Support				
Abut 1	CISS	12.8	-0.58	10	34	2	11				
	24PPX0.75										
Abut 2	CISS	12.8	-058	10	34	2	11				
	24PPX0.75										

Table 2 Foundation Design Data

Abutments protected with RSP

6.3.1 Axial Capacity

In order to assess the vertical capacity of the proposed CISS pile foundations, we used the computer program APILE 2015 by ENSOFT, Inc. and undrained shear strength values. The undrained shear strength values were based on laboratory strength tests of samples from the machine borings, and interpreted from the CPT data using the software program CPeT-IT, version 1.7.6.42, by GeoLogismiki, Inc. The analyses used a resistance factor of 0.7, based on the California Amendments to the AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications – Sixth Edition, January 2014 (Caltrans, 2014). QEI provided the following foundation design loads.

Support	Service-1	Limit State	Strength/Construction Limit				Extreme Event Limit State				
No.	(1	kips)	State (Controlling Group, kips) (Controllin						Group, kips)		
	Total	Permanent	Compres	ssion	Tensi	on	Compres	ssion	Tension		
	Load	Load per	Per	Max	Per	Max	Per	Max	Per	Max	
	Per	Support	Support	Per	Support	Per	Support	Per	Support	Per	
	Support			Pile		Pile		Pile		Pile	
Abut 1	760	650	1050	125	0	0	660	90	0	0	
Abut 2	760	650	1050	125	0	0	660	90	0	0	

The design capacity is based on a combination of skin friction and end bearing using a resistance factor of 0.7, and a scour elevation of -4.4 ft (NAVD 88). The results of our analyses are presented in Table 4 below.

					Specified	Nominal
		Nominal Re	sistance	Design Tip	Tip	Driving
Support	Pile	(kips)		Elevation (ft.)	Elevation	Resistance
No.	Type	Compression	Tension		(ft)	(kips)
Abut 1	PP24X0.75	160	0	-106.0 (a), -106.0 (b)	-106.0	200
Abut 2	PP24X0.75	160	0	-88.0 (a), -88.0 (b)	-90.0	200

1) Design tip elevations for abutments are controlled by (a) Compression, (b) Lateral Load

- 2) Do not raise specified tip elevation
- 3) Considers unsuitable soil layers (cyclic softened, liquefiable, and scourable, etc.) that do not contribute to nominal resistance.

A minimum 15 feet of undisturbed soil plug should be maintained in the CISS piles during cleanout for installation of the cage reinforcement and placement of the concrete core.

Under static loading conditions, total settlements of less than 1-inch are anticipated for single piles designed in accordance with the preceding recommended capacities. This pertains to soil compressibility only, and is in addition to the elastic compression of the pile itself.

6.3.2 Drag Loads

When designing driven piles it is important to understand that two separate loading conditions must be considered; dead plus drag load, without live or transient loads, and dead and live or transient loads, without drag load.

There are two events that may cause drag load on the piles, settlement due to consolidation of the foundation soils due to placement of engineered fill for the bridge approaches, and during an earthquake event when any loose sand layers experience compression and induce negative skin friction as they move downward relative to the pile. The accumulated negative skin friction will result in a drag load on the pile. As indicated in Section 3.11.8 of the AASHTO LRFD Specifications, liquefaction-induced downdrag shall not be combined with the downdrag induced by consolidation settlements. In order to assess the magnitude of the drag load from either event, the neutral plane must be determined. The neutral plane is located where the negative skin friction changes over to positive shaft resistance (the point of equilibrium). The location is determined by the requirement that the sum of the applied dead load plus the drag load is in equilibrium with the sum of the positive shaft resistance and the toe resistance. Provided the shear stress along the pile does not diminish with depth, the neutral plane lies below the midpoint of the pile. If the soil below the neutral plane is strong, the neutral plane lies near the pile toe.

With a dead load of 125 kips per pile, we anticipate that the depth range of the neutral plane will vary from about 75 to 90 percent of the pile depth, and the drag force will not exceed about 50 kips due to consolidation settlement, assuming the abutment areas (where bridge approach fill is placed) are not surcharged prior to pile installation. The geotechnical capacity of the piles will be governed by the extreme case of dead load plus earthquake load; the drag load should not be included in the consideration of the geotechnical capacity.

Liquefaction of the soil layers above the static neutral plane (i.e., the neutral plane that exists prior to liquefaction) will have a minor effect on the piles regardless of the magnitude of the liquefaction-

induced settlement. The effect of the liquefaction is limited to a loss of skin friction in the liquefied zones (which are anticipated be small), and a slight reduction of the drag load and geotechnical axial capacity.

6.3.3 Lateral Capacity

We estimated the lateral response of single piles due to laterally displacing soil using the computer program LPILE 2015 by Ensoft Inc., and the strength/construction limit state axial load of 125 kips, presented in Table 3 above, to the top of the pile. Analyses were performed for a fixed-head condition assuming scour conditions (-4.4 feet) and an average pile spacing of 5 pile diameters, center-to-center (CTC), for a single row of piles. For two rows of piles with a spacing of 3 pier diameters center-to-center, use a P-multiplier of 0.75 for piles in the first row and 0.55 for piles in the second row. For a ¼-inch top-of-pile deflection we calculated a lateral resistance of 27.8 kips, with a maximum bending moment at the fixed-head connection of about 3,150 kip-inches; and for a 1-inch top-of-pile deflection we calculated a lateral resistance of 60.0 kips, with a maximum bending moment at the fixed-head connection of about 8,000 in-kips.

Deflection, moment, and shear curves for PP24X0.75 CISS piles are presented in Appendix E.

6.4 Retaining Walls

Retaining walls should be designed to resist static earth pressures, seismic earth pressures, and surcharge pressures. Retaining wall backfill should be placed and compacted according to the recommendations in Section 6.1.2, and drainage should be provided behind walls according to the recommendations that follow.

The recommended lateral earth pressures and geotechnical design parameters given in this section may be used for design of the wall alternatives. Retaining wall foundations should be designed according to the recommendations given in Section 6.3, Foundations.

Active earth pressures may be used for design of unrestrained retaining walls where the top of the wall is free to translate or rotate. To develop active earth pressures, the walls should be capable of deflecting by at least 0.004H (where H is the height of the wall). At-rest earth pressures should be used for design of retaining walls where the wall top is restrained such that the deflections required to develop active soil pressures cannot occur or are undesirable. Cantilever walls retaining engineered fill may be designed for active or at-rest lateral earth pressures for various backfill slopes using the equivalent fluid unit weights presented in Table 5.

Table 5 Equivalent Fluid Unit Weight (pcf) ¹							
Backfill SlopeAt-Rest ConditionsActive Conditions							
Level	62	36					
3H:1V	81	46					
2H:1V	89	55					
1. pcf: pounds per cubic foot							

^{\\}Eureka\projects\2012\012163-PineHillbridg\PUBS\rpts\20151229-PineHillFinalGeotechnicalRpt.doc

Lateral earth pressures for backfill slopes other than those given above can be estimated by interpolation. The lateral earth pressures should be applied to a plane extending vertically upward from the base of the heel of the retaining wall to the ground surface.

The lateral earth pressures given above apply where the wall backfill is fully drained, is not subject to traffic or other surcharge loads, and the backfill is not subject to heavy compaction equipment within a distance of one-third the height of the backfill. Lateral surcharge pressures are discussed later in this section. Drainage behind walls should be placed in accordance with Caltrans "Standard Plans and Specifications."

In addition to the active or at-rest lateral soil pressures, retaining walls should be designed to resist additional dynamic earth pressures during earthquake loading. The additional dynamic pressure increment may be calculated using an equivalent fluid pressure of 17 pcf for back slopes up to 3H:1V. The dynamic pressure increment should be applied to the wall as a triangular distribution so the resultant force acts at a distance of 0.33H above the base of the wall (where H is the height of the wall). Under the combined effects of static and dynamic loading, a factor of safety of 1.1 against sliding or overturning is acceptable. The dynamic component of the lateral earth pressure was calculated using the Mononabe-Okabe equation (kh was calculated using the equation in Section 11.6.5 of the AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications) and, therefore, assumes that sufficient deformation of the wall will occur during seismic loading to develop active soil conditions. For walls that are restrained at the top, the walls should be designed using the most critical condition, either at-rest lateral pressure or the combined effects of static active and seismic loading.

Where retaining wall backfill will be subject to traffic loading within a distance of H/2 from the top of the wall (where H is the wall height), the wall should be designed to resist an additional uniform lateral pressure of 72 psf applied to the back of yielding walls (active conditions), or 124 psf applied to the back of non-yielding walls (at-rest conditions).

6.5 Soil Corrosion Potential

The corrosion potential of the onsite soils was evaluated by means of resistivity, pH, and chemical analysis of a selected soil sample taken from boring B-1 at a depth of 11 feet. Results of the corrosion tests are presented in Appendix F, and summarized in Table 6 below.

Table 6 Soil Corrosion Test Summary									
Sample Description	Minimum Resistivity (ohm-cm) ¹	pН	Chloride Content (ppm) ²	Sulfate Content (ppm)					
B-1 @11′	172	7.2	2,889	1,709					
1. ohm-cm: ohm centimeter									
2. ppm: parts per milli	on								

While a comprehensive discussion or evaluation of the site corrosivity or mitigation measures is outside the scope of this study, these corrosion test results suggest the site soil is corrosive. Caltrans corrosion guidelines considers a site to be corrosive if one or more of the following conditions exist for the representative soil samples taken at a site; *chloride concentration is 500 ppm or greater, sulfate concentration is 2,000 ppm or greater, or the pH is 5.5 or less*. Buried metal and reinforced concrete should be designed to resist corrosion based on the test results. In addition, corrosion

 $\label{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constrain$

 $S_{\mathcal{N}}$

testing should be performed on any imported fill that will be in contact with buried metal and concrete.

7.0 Additional Services

We suggest communications be maintained during the design phase between the design team and SHN to optimize compatibility between the design and soil and groundwater conditions. We also recommend that SHN be retained during the construction phase to verify the implementation of our recommendations related to earthwork.

7.1 Plan and Specification Review

We have assumed, in preparing our recommendations, that SHN will be retained to review those portions of the plans and specifications that pertain to earthwork and foundations. The purpose of this review is to confirm that our earthwork and foundation recommendations have been properly interpreted and implemented during design. If we are not provided this opportunity for review of the plans and specifications, our recommendations could be misinterpreted.

7.2 Construction Phase Monitoring

In order to assess construction conformance with the intent of our recommendations, it is important that a representative of SHN perform the following tasks:

- Monitor site stripping, including removal any unsuitable material if it is determined that this is required;
- Monitor subgrade preparation;
- Observe and test placement of structural fill and backfill;
- Observe placement and compaction of retaining wall backfill and installation of drainage; and
- Observe pile foundation installation.

This construction phase monitoring is important as it provides the stakeholders and SHN the opportunity to verify anticipated site conditions, and recommend appropriate changes in design or construction procedures if site conditions encountered during construction vary from those described in this report. It also allows SHN to recommend appropriate changes in design or construction procedures if construction methods adversely affect the competence of on-site soils to support the structural improvements.

8.0 Closure and Limitations

The analyses, conclusions, and recommendations contained in this report are based on site conditions that we observed at the time of our investigation, data from our subsurface explorations and laboratory tests, our current understanding of proposed project elements, and on our experience with similar projects in similar geotechnical environments. We have assumed that the

information obtained from our limited subsurface explorations is representative of subsurface conditions throughout the areas of proposed development addressed in this report.

We recommend a representative of our firm confirm site conditions during the construction phase. If subsurface conditions differ significantly from those disclosed by our investigation, we should be given the opportunity to re-evaluate the applicability of our conclusions and recommendations. Some alteration of recommendations may be appropriate.

If the scope of the proposed construction, including the proposed loads, grades, or structural locations, changes from that described in this report, our recommendations should also be reviewed.

If there is a substantial lapse of time between the submission of our report and the start of work at the site, or if conditions have changed due to natural causes or construction operations at or adjacent to the site, we should review our report to determine the applicability of the conclusions and recommendations considering the changed conditions and time lapse. This report is applicable only to the project and site studied.

The conclusions and recommendations presented in this report are professional opinions derived in accordance with current standards of professional practice. Our recommendations are tendered on the assumption that design of the improvements will conform to their intent. No representation, express or implied, of warranty or guarantee is included or intended.

The field and laboratory work was conducted to investigate the site characteristics specifically addressed by this report. Assumptions about other site characteristics, such as hazardous materials contamination, or environmentally sensitive or culturally significant areas, should not be made from this report.

9.0 References

- Al Atik, L. and Sitar, S. (2010). *Seismic Earth Pressures on Cantilever Retaining Structures*. Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering, ASCE, October 2010, vol. 136, pp 1324 1333.
- American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials. (2012). AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications,
- Bernard, E., C. Mader, G. Curtis, and K. Satake. (1994). *Tsunami Inundation Model Study for Eureka* and Crescent City, California. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Technical Memorandum ERL PMEL-103. 80 p. with maps.
- Blake, M.C., A.S. Jayko, and R.J. McLaughlin. (1985). "Tectonostratigraphic Terranes of the Northern Coast Ranges," California, in D.G. Howell (ed), Tectonostratigraphic Terranes of the Circum-Pacific Region: Circum-Pacific Council for Energy and Mineral Resources Earth Science Series 1. P. 159-171.
- Boulanger, R.W. and Idriss, I.M. (2004). *Evaluating the Potential for Liquefaction or Cyclic Failure of Silts and Clays*. Report No. UCD/CGM-04/01, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of California, Davis, CA. 132p.

 $\label{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constraint} $$ \eqref{eq:constrain$



- --- (2014). *CPT and SPT Based Liquefaction Triggering Procedures*. Report No. UCD/CGM-14/01, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of California, Davis, CA. 134p.
- California Building Standards Commission. (2013). 2013 California Building Code–Title 24 Part 2, Two-Volumes. Based on International Building Code (2012) by the International Code Council. Sacramento, CA: California Building Standards Commission.
- Caltrans. (2014). California Amendments to AASHTO LRFD Bridge design Specifications 6th Edition
- Carver, G.A., and R.M. Burke. (1992). "Late Cenozoic Deformation on the Cascadia Subduction Zone in the Region of the Mendocino Triple Junction," *in* Burke, R.M. and Carver, G.A. (eds). 1992 *Friends of the Pleistocene Guidebook, Pacific Cell*, p. 31-63. NR: FOP.
- Clarke, S.H., Jr. (1992). *Geology of the Eel River Basin and Adjacent Region: Implications for Late Cenozoic Tectonics of the Southern Cascadia Subduction Zone and Mendocino Triple Junction: AAPG Bulletin,* v. 76, no. 2, p. 199-224. NR: AAPG.
- Clarke, S.H., Jr. and G.A. Carver. (1992). "Late Holocene Tectonics and Paleoseismicity of the Southern Cascadia Subduction Zone, Northwestern California," Science, v. 255, p. 188-192.
- Darienzo, M.E. and C.D. Peterson (1995), Magnitude and frequency of subduction-zone earthquakes along the northern Oregon coast in the past 3,000 years. Oregon Geology, v. 57, p. 3-12.
- Dengler, L., R. McPherson, and G.A. Carver. (1992). "Historic Seismicity and Potential Source Areas of Large Earthquakes in North Coast California," *in* Burke, R.M. and Carver, G.A. (eds). 1992 *Friends of the Pleistocene Guidebook, Pacific Cell*, p. 112-118. NR: FOP.
- Geomatrix Consultants. (1994). Seismic Ground Motion Study for Humboldt Bay Bridges on Route 255. Unpublished Consultants Report for the California Department of Transportation. NR: Geomatrix.
- Idriss, I.M., and Boulanger, R.W. (2008). *Soil Liquefaction During Earthquakes*. Monograph MNO-12, Earthquake Engineering Research Institute, Oakland, CA, 261p
- Jayko, A.S., G.A. Marshall, and G.A. Carver. (1992). "Elevation Changes," in Special Issue: The Cape Mendocino Earthquakes of April 25-26, 1992. Earthquakes and Volcanoes, v. 23, p. 139-143. NR: NR.
- McCulloch, D.S., A.T. Long, and P.A. Utter. (1977). *Acoustic Profiles Offshore Humboldt Bay, California. United States Geological Survey Open-File Report* 77-667. NR: USGS.
- McLaughlin, R.J., et al. (2000). "Geology of the Cape Mendocino, Eureka, Garberville, and Southwestern Part of the Hayfork 30 x 60 Minute Quadrangles and Adjacent Offshore Area, Northern California," U.S. Geological Survey Miscellaneous Field Studies MF-2336. NR: USGS.
- McPherson, R.C. (1992). "Style of Faulting at the Southern End of the Cascadia Subduction Zone," *in* Burke, R.M. and Carver, G.A. (eds). 1992 *Friends of the Pleistocene Guidebook, Pacific Cell*, p. 97-111. NR: FOP.
- Ogle, B.A. (1953). *Geology of the Eel River Valley Area, Humboldt County, California: California Department of Natural Resources, Division of Mines, Bulletin 164.* Sacramento: CDNR.
- Petersen, M.D., et al. (1996). Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Assessment for the 1996 Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Assessment for the State of California, California Division of Mines and Geology Open-File Report 96-08, U.S. Geologic Survey Open-File Report 96-706, 33 p., with appendices. NR: NR.

 $\label{eq:linear} \label{eq:linear} \end{tabular} expose \end{tabular} where \end{ta$

- Robertson, P.K., and Wride, C.E., (1998). *Evaluating Cyclic Liquefaction Potential Using the Cone Penetration Test,* Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Volume 35, p 442-459.
- SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologists, Inc. (2003). *Geotechnical Study, Proposed Martin Slough Interceptor Sewer Project.* Eureka, CA:SHN.
- ---. (2009). Geotechnical Baseline Report, Phases I and II, Martin Slough Interceptor Project. Eureka, CA:SHN.
- ---. (2013). Geotechnical Report, Martin Slough Enhancement Project. Eureka, CA:SHN
- Uhrhammer, R.A. (1991). "Chapter 7: Northern California Seismicity," in *Neotectonics of Northern California*, Slemmons, D.B., E.R. Engdahl, M.D. Zoback, and D.D. Blackwell, Eds. pp. 99 106. NR: Geological Society of America, Decade of North American Geology.
- Valentine, D., G. Vick, G. Carver, and C. Shivelle-Manhart. (1992). "Late Holocene Stratigraphy and Paleoseismicity, Humboldt Bay, California," *in* Burke, R.M. and Carver, G.A. (eds). 1992 Friends of the Pleistocene Guidebook, Pacific Cell, p. 182-187. NR: FOP.
- Wills, C. J. (1990). Little Salmon and Related Faults. California Division of Mines and Geology Fault Evaluation Report FER-215. Sacramento: CDMG.
- Woodward-Clyde Consultants. (1980). *Evaluation of the potential for resolving the geologic and seismic issues at the Humboldt Bay Power Plant Unit No.* 3. Unpublished consultants report for Pacific Gas and Electric. NR W-C.
- Youd, T.L., and S.N. Hoose. (1978). *Historic Ground Failures in Northern California Triggered by Earthquakes.* United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 993. 177 p. NR: USGS.
- Youd, T.L., and D.M. Perkins (1978), "*Mapping of Liquefaction-Induced Ground Failure Potential*," Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division, ASCE, Vol. 104, No. GT4, pp. 433-446.
- Youd, T.L., et al. (2001), "Liquefaction Resistance of Soils: Summary Report from the 1996 NCEER and 1998 NCEER/NSF Workshops on Evaluation of Liquefaction Resistance of Soils," *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, October 2001.
- Zhang, G., Robertson, P.K., and Brachman, R.W.I. (2002), "*Estimating Liquefaction-induced Ground Settlements from CPT for Level Ground*", Canadian Geotechnical Journal, Vol. 39, pp. 1168-1180.



Log of Test Borings



NOTES:

- 1. THIS LOTB SHEET WAS PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE "CALTRANS SOIL & ROCK LOGGING, CLASSIFICATION, AND PRESENTATION MANUAL" (2010).
- 2. FIELD CLASSIFICATION OF SOILS WAS IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM D2488-06 "DESCRIPTION AND IDENTIFICATION OF SOILS (VISUAL-MANUAL PROCEDURE).
- 3. STANDARD PENETRATION TESTS WERE COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM D 1586–11 USING A HAMMER WITH AN AUTOMATED DROP SYSTEM. DRILL RODS WERE 1 5/8–INCH DIAMETER "A" RODS; 1.4–INCH INSIDE DIAMETER SPLIT SPOON SAMPLER WAS DRIVEN WITHOUT BRASS LINERS.
- 4. 2.5-INCH INSIDE DIAMETER MODIFIED CALIFORNIA SAMPLER WAS DRIVEN IN THE SAME MANNER AS SPT, BUT WITH BRASS LINERS.
- 5. 3.0-INCH SHELBY TUBE WAS PUSHED INTO SOFT SOILS.
- 6. THE LENGTH OF EACH SAMPLES INTERVAL IS SHOWN GRAPHICALLY ON THE BORING LOG. WHOLE NUMBER BLOW COUNTS ("N") REPRESENT THE "STANDARD PENETRATION RESISTANCE" INTERVAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM DI586-11. WHERE LESS THAN 1 FOOT OF PENETRATION IS ACHIEVED, THE BLOW COUNT SHOWN IS FOR THAT FRACTION OF THE INTERVAL ACTUALLY PENETRATED AND THE AMOUNT OF PENETRATION IS SHOWN IN INCHES.
- 7. SPT HAMMER ENERGY MEASUREMENTS WERE NOT TAKEN DURING FIELD EXPLORATION.
- 8. GROUNDWATER SURFACE (GWS) ELEVATIONS IN THE BORINGS INDICATED ON THE LOG OF TEST BORINGS SHEETS REFLECT THE FLUID LEVEL IN THE BORING ON THE SPECIFIED DATE.
- 9. SEISMIC CONE PENETRATION TESTING LOGS SHOW SHEAR WAVE VELOCITY IN FEET PER SECOND.
- 10. ELECTRONIC MEDIA FOR PLAN VIEW PROVIDED BY QUINCY ENGINEERING.
- 11. BORING AND CPT ELEVATIONS ESTIMATED FROM TOPOGRAPHY PROVIDED BY QUINCY ENGINEERING.

DESIGN OVERSIGHT	DRAWN BY	C. NEWELL	John Dailey, G.E.	c		PREPARED FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA				Jason P. Jurrens			BRIDGE		
	CHECKED BY		FIELD INVESTIGATION BY:			UIA				21 XI XI/	1	PROJECT ENGINEER	1		POST M
SIGN OFF DATE	CHECKED BY	G.D. SIMPSON				DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION				N					
GS GEOLOGIST LOG OF TEST BORINGS SHEET (ENGLISH) (REV. 03/14/12)			ORIGINAL SCALE IN INCHES FOR REDUCED PLANS		I	1	1	2	I	3	UNIT: PROJECT NUMBER &	PHASE:	X X	CONTR	

DIST	COUNTY	ROUTE	POST MILES TOTAL PROJECT	SHEET No	TOTAL SHEETS					
01	HUM	CR								
CERTI PLA The S	10-31-2014 CERTIFIED ENGINEERING GEOLOGIST DATE PLANS APPROVAL DATE The State of California or its officers or agents shall not be responsible for the									
accura of this	s plan sheet.	eteness of sca	inned copies	CALIFORN	×/					
SHN C 812 W EUREK	ONSULTING E WABASH A, CA 95501	NGINEERS & G	EOLOGISTS, INC.	FILE No	o. 012163					
QUINC 3247 SACRA	Y ENGINEERIN RAMOS CIRCL MENTO, CA S	IG, INC. E 95827–2501								

NO.												
173	PINE HILL BRIDGE											
iles												
	LOG OF TEST BORINGS											
				REVISIO	N DATES		SHEET OF	OF				
RACT N	IO.: X	EARLIER REVISION DATES	x 1				5					
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·												

	B-2	6"				B-1		
10	10 FT MSL	ASPHALT PAVING			FILL_	9.80 FT MSL D=	GRAVELLY SAND (SM), MEDIUM DENSE,	BROWN, MOIST
		ORGANIC-RICH SILT (OH) TO SI	ILT (MH) SOFT, DARK GRAY, WET			4 1.4 GWS EL 286 ET ▼	LEAN CLAY (CL), BLUEISH GRAY, VERY MINOR SAND, MINOR ORGANICS	SOFT, WET
						10-16-12		
0						P 1.4 P 3		
-10	3 1.4	ELASTIC SILT (MH), SOFT, BLUIS LOW TOUGHNESS	SH-BLACK, WET, HIGH PLASTICITY,			P 3	PICUMUW (LL=32, PI-12, MC=34.6%	UW=85 PCF)
-20					Ш Z	P 3	CUMUW SILT (MH), SOFT, GRAY, WE AND CLAM SHELLS (MC=37	T, CLAY, MINOR ORGANICS .1%, UW=82 PCF)
					TUAR			
70					/es.			
-30	9 1.4	SILT (ML), NO RECOVERY			L N N	P 3	(PICU MUW) 6" AND ORGANICS (LL=53	DIOM SHIFF, GRAT, WEI, PI=24, MC=39.7%, UW=
					BAY			
							SILTY SAND (SM), MEDIUM DEN	SE, BROWNISH-GRAY, WET
-+0							CUM UW FEW ORGANICS AND SHELL FRA	GMENTS
							ORGANICS AND SHELL FRAGMEN	TIFF, GRAY, WET, FEW NTS, CLAY (MC=42.3%, UN
-50						12 2 5	SILTY SAND (SM), MEDIUM DEN	SE, BROWNISH-GRAY, WE NICS WITH FEW ROUNDED
	9 1.4	SANDY SILT/SILTY SAND (SM/M GREENISH-GRAY, LOW TO MEDIL CEMENTATION, SAND IS MOSTLY	IL) STIFF, GREENISH-BLACK TO VERY DARK UM PLASTICITY, LOW TOUGHNESS, NO FINE. 1" THICK LAYER OF WOODY DEBRIS				INTERBED OF SANDY CLAY (CL.	, REDDISH-BROWN, FEW
		IN SAMPLER					SILTY CLAY (CL), SOFT TO MEL (MC=50.3%, UW=69 PCF)	DIUM STIFF, GRAY, WET
-60						151.4	CLAYEY SAND (SC), MEDIUM DENSE, G	RAY, WET,
							C FEW ORGANICS (-200=45.4%)	
					-		SILTY CLAY (CL), VERY STIFF, GRAY, W	ET
-70	15 1 4	PEAT (PT), POOR RECOVERY			∑ L	48 2.5	(-200=27.8%)	
	•				NOT			
	•				QX			
-80	9 1.4	PEAT/ELASTIC SILT (PT/MH) ST	IFF, DARK GRAY, WET, MEDIUM TO			85/10"1.4	F POORLY GRADED SAND (SP), VERY DEN (-200=12.9%)	ISE, WET, MEDIUM-GRAINE
		HIGH PLASTICITY, LOW TO MEDIL	UM TOUGHNESS, TRACE WOODY DEBRIS		-	10-16-	12	
						TERMINATED AT ELE	V -80.7 FEET	
-90	15 1.4	SILT (ML), POOR RECOVERY						
-100	27 2.5	CLEAN CLAY (CL), VERY STIFF, PLASTICITY, MEDIUM TOUGHNESS	VERY DARK BLUISH-GRAY, MOIST, LOW 5, DRY STRENGTH, NO CEMENTATION, INTS OF WOODY DEBPIS					
		(MC=26%, UW=102 PCF, UC=1	650 PCF)					
-110	18 1.4	SILT (ML), STIFF, BLACK, MOIST	, LOW PLASTICITY, TRACE ORGANICS,					
-120	29 1.4	SILTY SAND (SM), MEDIUM DENS STRENGTH, MOSTLY FINE SAND.	SE, DARK BLUISH-GRAY, MOIST, LOW DRY NON-PLASTIC, NO CEMENTATION					
		DRILL RIG CHATTERING AT -129	9'; FINE GRAVEL IN DRILL CUTTINGS.					
-130	50/2" 1.4	NO RECOVERY						
		DRILL RIG CHATTERING AT -135	5'					
-140	<u> 50/4" 1.4</u> 9-30-15	SILI (ML), HAKD, DAKK GKAT, I	MOIST, LOW PLASTICITY					
	TERMINATED AT ELEV -	-140 FEET						
150								
-750								
4+00			٤	+00			6+00	
				PROFILE				
				NTS				
								<u></u>
	DRAWN BY		John Dailay, C.E.		PREPA	RED FOR THE	loon B. lugare	BRIDGE
DESIGN OVERSIGHT	<u> </u>	C. NEWELL	FIELD INVESTIGATION BY:		STATE (OF CALIFORNIA	PROJECT ENGINEER	04C-01
SIGN OFF DATE	CHECKED BY	G.D. SIMPSON	DATE: October 2012		DEPARTMEN	T OF TRANSPORTATION		
GS GEOLOGIST LOG OF TEST BORINGS SHE	EET (ENGLISH) (REV. 03/14/12)			ORIGINAL SCALE		· ·	UNIT: X	
				FOR REDUCED F	Lang		INCOLOGY MUMBER & DUAGE. V	CONTR

						lourn	TOTAL
		DIST	COUNTY	ROUTE	TOTAL PROJECT	No	SHEETS
	10	01	HUIVI	UK			
	- 10	CERTI	FIED ENGINEE		10-31-2014	ONAL GEO	
		0EIIII			Qe ^C Ga	ry Simpson	25. 26. 27. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20. 20
	0				((No	2107	-)))
		The St	tate of Califo	ornia or its off	icers or	Jertified Igineering Ifologist /	/*/H
	10	agents accurc	s shall not b icy or compli s plan sheet	e responsible f eteness of sca	or the nned copies	F CALIFOR	
		SHN C	ONSULTING E	NGINEERS & G	EOLOGISTS, INC.		
		812 W EUREK	A, CA 95501			FILE No	. 012163
25	-20	QUINC 3247	Y ENGINEERIN RAMOS CIRCI	IG, INC. F			
		SACRA	MENTO, CA	95827-2501			
MINOR SAND	-30						
'=80 PCF)							
_							
£1,	-40						
JW=77 PCF)							
ET D GRAVELS TO 1/2". GRAVELS AND ORGANICS	-50						
	60						
	-70						
NED							
	-80						
							ŀ
	-90						
	100						
	100						
	-110						
	_120						
	120						
	-130						
	140						
	-150						
E NO.		D)GE		
II/3 MLES		۲ 					
		LOG	5 OF TI	EST BO	RINGS	-	
				T	REVISION DATES	I SHEET	г ог Т

			REVISIO	N DATES	SHEET	OF	'
CT NO.: X	EARLIER REVISION DATES	x			2	5	
							Î

						DRI		RED	FOR	, тне					BRIDGE N
		C. NEWELL	John Dailey, G.E.		STATE OF CALLEORNIA			Ja	Jason P. Jurrens		04C-017				
BESIGN OVERSIGN			FIELD INVESTIGATION BY:						י וובר		~	PI	ROJECT ENGINEER		POST MILI
	CHECKED BY		DATE: October 2012		l r	FPART	MENT			ORTATI	ON				
SIGN OFF DATE		G.D. SIMPSON								UNIAN					
GS GEOLOGIST LOG OF TEST BORINGS SHEET (ENGLISH) (REV. 03/14/12)				ORIGINAL SCALE IN INCHES								UN	IT:	X	
				FOR REDUCED PLANS	5		1		2		3	PR	OJECT NUMBER & PHASE:	x	CONTRA



CONE PENETRATION TEST (CPT) BORINGS



DIST	COUNTY	ROUTE	POST MILES TOTAL PROJECT	SHEET No	TOTAL SHEETS						
01	HUM	CR									
10-31-2014 CERTIFIED ENGINEERING GEOLOGIST DATE Vertical State of California or its officers or											
agents accurd of this	s shall not b acy or compl s plan sheet.	e responsible f eteness of sca	nned copies	CALIFORN	NA						
SHN C 812 W EUREK	CONSULTING E WABASH A, CA 95501	NGINEERS & G	EOLOGISTS, INC.	FILE No	. 012163						
QUINC 3247 SACRA	Y ENGINEERIN RAMOS CIRCL MENTO, CA S	IG, INC. E 95827–2501									

1

NO.			DG	F							
173		I INC THEE DIV									
LES	LOG OF TEST BORINGS										
		DISREGARD PRINTS REARING		REVISIO	N DATES		SHEET	OF			
ACT N	0.: X EARLIER REVISION DATES X 3 5										
		•									

REFERENCE: CALTRANS SOIL & ROCK LOGGING, CLASSIFICATION, AND PRESENTATION MANUAL (2010)

	CEMENTATION						
Description Criteria							
Weak	Crumbles or breaks with handling or little finger pressure.						
Moderate	Crumbles or breaks with considerable finger pressure.						
Strong	Will not crumble or break with finger pressure.						

		BOREHOLE IDENTIFICATION
Symbol	Hole Type	Description
Size Size	A RW RC P R HD HA D CPT O	Auger Boring (hollow or solid stem bucket) Rotary drilled boring (conventional) Rotary drilled with self-casing wire-line Rotary core with continuously-sampled, self-casing wire-line Rotary percussion boring (air) Rotary drilled diamond core Hand driven (1-inch soil tube) Hand Auger Dynamic Cone Penetration Boring Cone Penetration Test (ASTM D 5778) Other (note on LOTB)
		Note: Size in inches.

	(CONSISTENCY OF COHES	SIVE SOILS	
Description	Shear Strength (tsf)	Pocket Penetrometer Measurement, PP, (tsf)	Torvane Measurement, TV, (tsf)	Vane Shear Measurement, VS, (tsf)
Very Soft	Less than 0.12	Less than 0.25	Less than 0.12	Less than 0.12
Soft	0.12 - 0.25	0.25 - 0.5	0.12 – 0.25	0.12 – 0.25
Medium Stiff	0.25 - 0.5	0.5 – 1	0.25 - 0.5	0.25 - 0.5
Stiff	0.5 - 1	1 – 2	0.5 – 1	0.5 – 1
Very Stiff	1 – 2	2 - 4	1 - 2	1 - 2
Hard	Greater than 2	Greater than 4	Greater than 2	Greater than 2





DESIGN OVERSIGHT	DRAWN BY	C. NEWELL	John Dailey, G.E.		PREPARED FOR THE	Jason P. Jurrens	BRIDGE NO. 04C-0173		PINE HILL BRI	DGE			
SIGN OFF DATE	CHECKED BY	G.D. SIMPSON	DATE: October 2012		DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION	PROJECT ENGINEER	POST MILES	LOG OF TEST BORING		RINGS	1GS		
GS GEOLOGIST LOG OF TEST BORINGS SHEET (ENGLISH) (REV. 03/14/12)				ORIGINAL SCALE IN INCHES FOR REDUCED PLANS 0		UNIT: X PROJECT NUMBER & PHASE: X	CONTRACT N	0.: X	DISREGARD PRINTS BEARING EARLIER REVISION DATES	REVISION D/	TES	SHEET 4	o ⊧ 5
									•		-		





REFERENCE: CALTRANS SOIL & ROCK LOGGING, CLASSIFICATION, AND PRESENTATION MANUAL (2010)

0						TESTING
Graphic/Symbol		Graphic/	Symbol	Group Names		
GW GW GP	Well-graded GRAVEL Well-graded GRAVEL with SAND Poorly-graded GRAVEL		CL	Lean CLAY Lean CLAY with SAND Lean CLAY with GRAVEL SANDY lean CLAY SANDY lean CLAY with GRAVEL GRAVELLY lean CLAY	(C)	Consolidation (ASTM D 2435) Collapse Potential (ASTM D 5333)
GW-GM	Poorly–graded GRAVEL with SAND Well-graded GRAVEL with SILT Well-graded GRAVEL with SILT and SAND			GRAVELLY lean CLAY with SAND SILTY CLAY SILTY CLAY with SAND SILTY CLAY with GRAVEL		Compaction Curve (CTM 216)
GW-GC	Well-graded GRAVEL with CLAY (or SILTY CLAY) Well-graded GRAVEL with CLAY and SAND (or SILTY CLAY and SAND)		CL-ML	SANDY SILTY CLAY SANDY SILTY CLAY with GRAVEL GRAVELLY SILTY CLAY GRAVELLY SILTY CLAY with SAND		(CTM 643, CTM 422, CTM 417) Consolidated Undrained Triaxial (ASTM D 4767)
	Poorly-graded GRAVEL with SILT Poorly-graded GRAVEL with SILT and SAND		ML	SILT SILT with SAND SILT with GRAVEL SANDY SILT		Direct Shear (ASTM D 3080)
GP-GC	(or SILTY CLAY) Poorly-graded GRAVEL with CLAY and SAND (or SILTY CLAY and SAND)			SANDY SILT with GRAVEL GRAVELLY SILT GRAVELLY SILT with SAND		Expansion Index (ASTM D 4829)
G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G	SILTY GRAVEL SILTY GRAVEL with SAND		OL	ORGANIC lean CLAY with SAND ORGANIC lean CLAY with GRAVEL SANDY ORGANIC lean CLAY		Moisture Content (ASTM D 2216)
GC	CLAYEY GRAVEL CLAYEY GRAVEL with SAND			SANDY ORGANIC lean CLAY with GRAVEL GRAVELLY ORGANIC lean CLAY GRAVELLY ORGANIC lean CLAY with SAND		Organic Content-% (ASTM D 2974)
GC-GM	SILTY, CLAYEY GRAVEL SILTY, CLAYEY GRAVEL with SAND		OL	ORGANIC SILT with SAND ORGANIC SILT with GRAVEL SANDY ORGANIC SILT	P	Permeability (CTM 220)
SW	Well-graded SAND Well-graded SAND with GRAVEL			SANDY ORGANIC SILT with GRAVEL GRAVELLY ORGANIC SILT GRAVELLY ORGANIC SILT with SAND		Particle Size Analysis (ASTM D 422
SP	Poorly-graded SAND Poorly-graded SAND with GRAVEL		СН	Fat CLAY Fat CLAY with SAND Fat CLAY with GRAVEL SANDY fat CLAY		Liquid Limit (AASHTO T 89) Point Load Index (ASTM D 5731)
SW-SM	Well-graded SAND with SILT Well-graded SAND with SILT and GRAVEL			SANDY fat CLAY with GRAVEL GRAVELLY fat CLAY GRAVELLY fat CLAY with SAND	PM	Pressure Meter
sw-sc	(or SILTY CLAY) Well-graded SAND with CLAY and GRAVEL (or SILTY CLAY and GRAVEL)		МН	Elastic SILT with SAND Elastic SILT with GRAVEL SANDY elastic SILT		R-Value (CTM 301)
SP-SM	Poorly-graded SAND with SIL1 Poorly-graded SAND with SILT and GRAVEL			GRAVELLY elastic SILT with GRAVEL GRAVELLY elastic SILT GRAVELLY elastic SILT with SAND		Sand Equivalent (CTM 217)
SP-SC	(or SILTY CLAY) Poorly-graded SAND with CLAY and GRAVEL (or SILTY CLAY and GRAVEL)		ОН	ORGANIC fat CLAY with SAND ORGANIC fat CLAY with GRAVEL SANDY ORGANIC fat CLAY	SG (SG)	Specific Gravity (AASHTO T 100)
SM	SILTY SAND SILTY SAND with GRAVEL			SANDY ORGANIC fat CLAY with GRAVEL GRAVELLY ORGANIC fat CLAY GRAVELLY ORGANIC fat CLAY with SAND	sw)	Swell Potential (ASTM D 4546)
sc	CLAYEY SAND CLAYEY SAND with GRAVEL		ОН	ORGANIC elastic SILT with SAND ORGANIC elastic SILT with GRAVEL SANDY ORGANIC elastic SILT		Unconfined Compression-Sc (ASTM D 2166)
SC-SM	SILTY, CLAYEY SAND SILTY, CLAYEY SAND with GRAVEL			SANDY ORGANIC elastic SILT with GRAVEL GRAVELLY ORGANIC elastic SILT GRAVELLY ORGANIC elastic SILT with SAND		Unconfined Compression-Ro (ASTM D 2938)
<u>، ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. ۲. </u>	PEAT		OL/OH	ORGANIC SUIL ORGANIC SOIL with SAND ORGANIC SOIL with GRAVEL SANDY ORGANIC SOIL		Unconsolidated Undrained Triaxial (ASTM D 2850)
	COBBLES COBBLES and BOULDERS BOULDERS	ר אר אין ר אר אר ר אר אר		SANDY ORGANIC SOIL with GRAVEL GRAVELLY ORGANIC SOIL GRAVELLY ORGANIC SOIL with SAND		Unit Weight (ASTM D 4767)

DESIGN OVERSIGHT	DRAWN BY C. NEWELL		John Dailey, G.E.		PREPARED FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA	Jason P. Jurrens	BRIDGE NO. 04C-0173	PINE HILL BRIDGE
	CHECKED BY		DATE: October 2012			PROJECT ENGINEER	POST MILES	LOG OF TEST BORINGS
SIGN OFF DATE		G.D. SIMPSON			DEFARIMENT OF TRANSPORTATION			
GS GEOLOGIST LOG OF TEST BORINGS SHEET (ENGLISH) (REV. 03/14/12)		ORIGINAL SCALE IN INCHES FOR REDUCED PLANS	IIIII III D 1 2 3 F	UNIT: X PROJECT NUMBER & PHASE: X	CONTRACT NO.: X	DISREGARD PRINTS BEARING EARLIER REVISION DATES REVISION DATES SHEET OF X 5 5		
		1				T		•

I											
DIST	COUNTY	ROUTE	POST MILES TOTAL PROJECT	SHEET No	TOTAL SHEETS						
01	HUM	CR									
ID-31-2014 CERTIFIED ENGINEERING GEOLOGIST DATE PLANS APPROVAL DATE The State of California or its officers or agents shall not be responsible for the accuracy or completeness of scanned copies of this plan sheet.											
SHN C 812 W EUREK	ONSULTING E WABASH A, CA 95501	NGINEERS & G	EOLOGISTS, INC.	FILE No	. 012163						
QUINC 3247 SACRA	Y ENGINEERIN RAMOS CIRCL MENTO, CA S	IG, INC. E 95827–2501									

MOISTURE				
Description	Criteria			
Dry	No discernable moisture			
Moist	Moisture present, but no free water			
Wet	Visible free water			

PERCENT OR PROPORTION OF SOILS				
Description	Criteria			
Trace	Particles are present but estimated to be less than 5%			
Few	5% - 10%			
Little	15% – 25%			
Some	30% – 45%			
Mostly	50% - 100%			

	PART	ICLE SIZE
Des	scription	Size (in.)
Boulder		Greater than 12
Cobble		3 - 12
Cravel	Coarse	3/4 - 3
Gravel	Fine	1/5 - 3/4
	Coarse	1/16 - 1/5
Sand	Medium	1/64 - 1/16
	Fine	1/300 - 1/64
Silt and Cla	y	Less than 1/300
E NO.		
173	PIN	E HILL BRIDGE
III FS		

Laboratory Test Data

B



Mon, 26-NOV-2012 13:12:26

Phase calculations based on start and end of test.



Mon, 26-NOV-2012 13:13:12

Phase calculations based on start and end of test.



CONSOLIDATED UNDRAINED TRIAXIAL TEST by ASTM D4767

Mon, 26-NOV-2012 13:36:38

Phase calculations based on start and end of test.



Mon, 26-NOV-2012 13:37:31

Phase calculations based on start and end of test.



Sy	mbol		no de la companya de	
Te	st No.	12-835		
	Diameter, in	2.42		
	Height, in	5.7		
ō	Water Content, %	50.34		
Init	Dry Density, pcf	68.574		a second a second s
	Saturation, %	94.44		
	Void Ratio	1.4125		
U	confined Compressive Strength, psf	1776.6		
U	ndrained Shear Strength, psf	888.28		
Ti	ne to Failure, min	12.75		
SI	rain Rate, %/min	1		
S	ecific Gravity	2.65		
Li	quid Limit	0		
PI	astic Limit	0		
P	asticity Index	0		
F	ilure Sketch			
			 b	

Project: Pine Hill Road Bridge	
Location: Eureka	
Project No.: 012163	
Boring No.: BH1 @ 61'	
Sample Type: 2.5"cal brl	
Description: Gray Silt	
Remarks:	

Mon, 03-DEC-2012 09:47:21



Location: Eureka	Project No.: 012163
Tested By: JMA	Checked By: DL Date
Test Date: 11/8/12	Depth: 11'
Sample Type: 3" shelby	Elevation:
le a ser la s	
	Location: Eureka Tested By: JMA Test Date: 11/8/12 Sample Type: 3" shelby



		a seconda de la			Before Test	After Test
Overburden Pressure, psf:		Water Content, %	41.37	30.78		
Preconsoli	dation Pressure,	psf:		Dry Unit Weight, pcf	79.16	92.479
Compress	on Index:	The part of the second se		Saturation, %	102.40	105.99
Diameter:	2.5 in	Height: 1	in	Void Ratio	1.05	0.76
LL: 0	PL: 0	PI: 0	GS: 2.60			

Project: Pine Hill Road Bridge	Location: Eureka	Project No.: 012163
Boring No.: B1 @ 11'	Tested By: JMA	Checked By:
Sample No.: 12-830	Test Date: 11/8/12	Depth: 11'
Test No.: 12-830	Sample Type: 3" shelby	Elevation:
Description: Soft Gray Silt		
Remarks:		



Project: Pine Hill Road Bridge	Location: Eureka	Project No.: 012163
Boring No.: B1@ 31'	Tested By: JMA	Checked By: NL Plain
Sample No.: 12-832	Test Date: 11/12/12	Depth: 31'
Test No.: 12-832	Sample Type: 3" shelby	Elevation:
Description: Soft Gray Silt		
Remarks;		



					Before Test	After Test
Overburden Pressure, psf:		Water Content, %	43.05	35.63		
Preconsoli	dation Pressure,	psf:		Dry Unit Weight, pcf	75.358	86.625
Compressi	on Index:			Saturation, %	97.00	106.03
Diameter:	2.5 in	Height: 1 i	n 	Void Ratio	1.15	0.87
LL: O	PL: 0	PI: 0	GS: 2.60			

Project: Pine Hill Road Bridge	Location: Eureka	Project No.: 012163	
Boring No.: B1@ 31'	Tested By: JMA	Checked By:	
Sample No.: 12-832	Test Date: 11/12/12	Depth: 31'	
Test No.: 12-832	Sample Type: 3" shelby	Elevation:	
Description: Soft Gray Silt			
Remarks:			

CONSULTING ENGINEERS & GEOLOGISTS, INC.

812 W. Wabash Eureka, CA 95501-2138 Tel: 707/441-8855 FAX: 707/441-8877 E-mail: shninfo@shn-engr.com

LIQUID LIMIT, PLASTIC LIMIT, and PLASTICITY INDEX (ASTM-D4318)

JOB NAME: Pine Hill Rd Bridge	JOB #:	012163	LAB SAMPLE #:	12-833	
SAMPLE ID: B1 @ 41'	PERFORMED BY:	JMA	DATE:	11/12/2012	6.0
PROJECT MANGER: JHD	CHECKED BY:	X	DATE	18/50/12	
	$w_{\alpha}(y) = 0 \text{if } y = 0 if$	and the second second second	and the second	and the second sec	1

		TRIAL NO 1	TRIAL NO 2	TRIAL NO. 1	TRIAL NO. 2	TRIAL NO. 3
Δ	DAN#	12	14	7	8	9
		22 190	10.060	20.010	20 180	28 720
D	PAN WI. (g)	22.100	19.900	29.010	29.100	20.720
C	WT. WET SOIL & PAN (g)	28.250	27.350	36.340	36.640	36.120
D	WT. DRY SOIL & PAN (g)	26.890	25.670	33.870	34.030	33.480
E	WT. WATER (C-D)	1.360	1.680	2.470	2.610	2.640
F	WT. DRY SOIL (D-B)	4.710	5.710	4.860	4.850	4.760
G	BLOW COUNT			35	23	17
Н	MOISTURE CONTENT (E/F*100	28.9	29.4	50.8	53.8	55.5

LIQUID LIMIT	PLASTIC INDEX	PLASTIC LIMIT					
53	24	29					



CONSULTING ENGINEERS & GEOLOGISTS, INC.

812 W. Wabash Eureka, CA 95501-2138 Tel: 707/441-8855 FAX: 707/441-8877 E-mail: shninfo@shn-engr.com

LIQUID LIMIT, PLASTIC LIMIT, and PLASTICITY INDEX (ASTM-D4318)

JOB NAME:	Pine Hill Rd Bridge	JOB #:	012163	LAB SAMPLE #:	12-831	2 1001 - 100
SAMPLE ID:	B1 @ 21'	PERFORMED BY:	JMA	DATE:	11/12/2012	
PROJECT MANGER:	JHD	CHECKED BY:	Th	DATE:	ulsoin	-1
	The second second second second second	All a construction of the second s		an and a second s	and the second	0.001

LINE NO.		TRIAL NO. 1	TRIAL NO. 2	TRIAL NO. 1	TRIAL NO. 2	TRIAL NO. 3
A	PAN #	15	16	4	5	6
В	PAN WT. (g)	20.640	21.030	29.390	28.860	29.690
С	WT. WET SOIL & PAN (g)	27.300	28.200	38.710	37.410	38.440
D	WT. DRY SOIL & PAN (g)	26.180	27.010	36.470	35.300	36.250
Е	WT. WATER (C-D)	1.120	1.190	2.240	2.110	2.190
F	WT. DRY SOIL (D-B)	5.540	5.980	7.080	6.440	6.560
G	BLOW COUNT			28	24	18
Н	MOISTURE CONTENT (E/F*100)	20.2	19.9	31.6	32.8	33.4

LIQUID LIMIT	PLASTIC INDEX	PLASTIC LIMIT				
32	.12	20				



20

30 40 BLOW COUNT



PERCENT PASSING # 200 SIEVE (ASTM - D1140)

Project Name:	Pine Hill Rd. Bridge	Project Number:	012163		
Performed By:	SJ	Date: 10-De)C		
Checked By:		Date:			
Project Manager:					
l ah Sample Number	12-091	2			
	12-001				
Boring Label	B-1		sur é des te		
Sample Denth (ft)	81'				
Pan Number	777				
Dry Weight of Soil & Pan	552.3				
by morgine of oon of an	002.0				
Pan Weight	235.0				
	200.0				
Weight of Dry Soil	317.3				
Weight of Dry Soli	517.5				
Soil Weight Retained on	464.0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
#200@Pan	404.0		4 A 10 M		
Sail Waight Desaing #200	00 2				
Soli Weight Passing #200	00.3				
Development Development #000	07.0				
Percent Passing #200	21.0		1.0		
Lab Sample Number					
			-		
Boring Label					
Sample Depth (ft)		2			
		E.N			
Pan Number	2 - C.				
Dry Weight of Soil & Pan	°e				
			2		
Pan Weight		14 The second			
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Weight of Dry Soil					
Soll Weight Retained on	2.6				
#200&Pan					
Soli weight Passing #200					
D. (D.)					
Percent Passing #200			8		



CONSULTING ENGINEERS & GEOLOGISTS, INC.

812 W. Wabash Eureka, CA 95501-2138 Tel: 707/441-8855 FAX: 707/441-8877 E-mail: shninfo@shn-engr.com

PROJECT NAME:	Pine Hill Rd. Bridge	PROJECT NUMBER: 012163
SAMPLE ID:	B-1, 70' depth	Lab Sample#: 12-090
DATE TESTED:	12/10/12	

SIEVE	3"	2 1/2"	2"	1 1/2"	1"	3/4"	1/2"	3/8"	#4	#8	#10	#16	#30	#40	#50	#60	#100	#200
SIEVE SIZE (mm)	76.2	63.5	50.8	38.1	25.4	19.1	12.7	9.53	4.75	2.36	2.00	1.18	0.600	0.425	0.300	0.250	0.150	0.075
PERCENT PASSING	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	99.7	99.3	99.3	99.0	97.8	96.5	92.2	86.0	55.0	45.4
SPEC REQUIRED					4 - 2		1	1	102			9 1	11.7	4				

Gradation Test Results





CONSULTING ENGINEERS & GEOLOGISTS, INC.

335 S. Main St. Willits, CA 95490 Tel: 707/459-4518 FAX: 707/459-1884 E-mail: shninfo@shn-engr.com

PROJECT NAME:	Pine Hill Rd. Bridge	PROJECT NU	MBER: 012163
SAMPLE ID:	B-1, 90' depth	Lab Sample#:	12-092
DATE TESTED:	12/10/12		

SIEVE	3"	2 1/2"	2"	1 1/2"	1"	3/4"	1/2"	3/8"	#4	#8	#10	#16	#30	#40	#50	#60	#100	#200
SIEVE SIZE (mm)	76.2	63.5	50.8	38.1	25.4	19.1	12.7	9.53	4.75	2.36	2.00	1.18	0.600	0.425	0.300	0.250	0.150	0.075
PERCENT PASSING	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100.0	100.0	100.0	99.7	97.9	88.3	69.6	20.1	12.9
SPEC REQUIRED		12								11	1		195995			19 - 1 -		



Revised 1/03
(V7
N	YAA	'/

CONSULTING ENGINEERS & GEOLOGISTS, INC.

812 W. Wabash Eureka, CA 95501-2138 Tel: 707/441-8855 FAX: 707/441-8877 E-mail: shninfo@shn-engr.com

LIQUID LIMIT, PLASTIC LIMIT, and PLASTICITY INDEX (ASTM-D4318)

JOB NAME: Pir	ne Hill Bridge	JOB #:	012163	LAB SAMPLE #:	15-488
SAMPLE ID: B2	@110.5-111.0	PERFORMED BY:	JMA/LWP	DATE:	10/7/2015
PROJECT MANGER: GD	DS	CHECKED BY:	25	DATE:	10/8/15

			έ.			
NO.		TRIAL NO. 1	TRIAL NO. 2	TRIAL NO. 1	TRIAL NO. 2	TRIAL NO. 3
A	PAN #	15	16	4	5	6
В	PAN WT. (g)	20.590	21.000	29.330	28.820	29.650
С	WT. WET SOIL & PAN (g)	26.940	28.010	37.940	37.450	38.750
D	WT, DRY SOIL & PAN (g)	25.950	26.850	35.870	35.220	36.330
E	WT. WATER (C-D)	0.990	1.160	2.070	2.230	2.420
F	WT. DRY SOIL (D-B)	5.360	5.850	6.540	6.400	6.680
G	BLOW COUNT	122		33	21	18
н	MOISTURE CONTENT (E/F*100	18.5	19.8	31.7	34.8	36.2

LIQUID LIMIT	PLASTIC INDEX	PLASTIC LIMIT
34	15	19



BLOW COUNT



Sy	mbol			
Te	st No.	15-488		
	Diameter, in	2.35		
	Height, in	4.9		
	Water Content, %	25.68		
Li1	Dry Density, pcf	101.77		
	Saturation, %	107.52		
	Void Ratio	0.6378		
Ur	confined Compressive Strength, psf	1652.1		
Ur	drained Shear Strength, psf	826.07		
Tir	ne to Failure, min	19.504		
St	rain Rate, %/min	1		
Sp	ecific Gravity	2.67		
Lic	uid Limit	34		
PI	astic Limit	19	*	
Plo	asticity Index	15		
Failure Sketch				

Project: Pine Hill Bridge
Location: Eureka
Project No.: 012163
Boring No.: B2 @ 110.5
Sample Type: 2.5" CalBrl
Description: Gray SILT
Remarks: Catcher used on specimen reduced sample diameter

UNCONFINED COMPRESSION TEST REPORT



Project: Pine Hill Bridge	Location: Eureka	Project No.: 012163			
Boring No.: B2 @ 110.5	Tested By: JMA	Checked By: DL 1005			
Sample No.: 15-488	Test Date: 10/5/15	Depth: 110.5-111			
Test No.: 15-488	Sample Type: 2.5" CalBrl	Elevation:			
Description: Gray SILT					
Remarks: Catcher used on specimen reduced sample diameter					

Site-Specific Response Spectrum

LANGAN TREADWELL ROLLO

Technical Excellence Practical Experience Client Responsiveness

22 July 2014

Mr. John H. Dailey SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologist, Inc. 335 S. Main Street Willits, California 95490

Subject: Development of Site-Specific Response Spectrum Pine Hill Road Replacement Bridge Eureka, California Langan Project No.: 731630801

Dear Mr. Dailey:

This letter-report presents the results of our ground motion study to develop site-specific response spectrum for the proposed Pine Hill Road replacement bridge in Eureka, California. We understand the existing 63-foot long, 65 years old, three span timber bridge is structurally deficient and is proposed to be replaced by an approximately 70-foot long reinforced concrete bridge. Figure 1 presents the site location map. The design of the new bridge will follow the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) Seismic Design Criteria Version 1.7, April 2013. In general, the subsurface conditions consist of soft clay to a depth of approximately 70 feet. This layer is underlain by approximately 30 feet of potentially liquefiable medium dense to dense sand. Medium stiff to stiff clay underlies the sand. Considering these conditions, Caltrans design criteria requires development of site-specific response spectrum.

1.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES

Our study was performed in accordance with the scope of services presented in our revised proposal dated 6 February 2014. We used the subsurface information developed by SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologist, Inc. (SHN). Our scope of services did not include any site visits or performing supplemental field investigation. We developed site-specific response spectrum in accordance with the guidelines presented in Appendix B of 2013 Caltrans Seismic Design Criteria (Caltrans 2013). Specifically, we performed the following:

- Probabilistic seismic hazard analysis (PSHA) for a 5 percent probability of exceedance in 50 years (975 year return period)
- Deterministic seismic hazard analysis for the median spectrum of the governing scenario earthquake
- Developed site-specific design response spectrum for stiff soil for input into the nonlinear ground response analysis based on the envelope of the PSHA and deterministic spectra
- Spectrally matched five time series to the site-specific stiff soil spectrum
- Nonlinear ground response analysis
- Developed site-specific response spectrum for the project

2.0 SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS

The subsurface information provided by you included one boring drilled to a depth of 90.5 feet below existing ground surface (bgs) and four Cone Penetrometer Tests (CPTs) advance to depths ranging from approximately 73 to 103 feet bgs. In addition, shear wave velocities were measured in two of the CPT soundings. We also received laboratory test results on selected samples from the boring. In general, the subsurface conditions consist of soft clay to a depth of approximately 70 feet. This layer is underlain by approximately 30 feet of medium dense to dense sand that is potentially liquefiable. Medium stiff to stiff clay underlies the sand.

On the basis of the shear wave velocity measurements, the average shear wave velocity in the top 30 meters (100 feet) is approximately 145 m/s (477 ft/sec). Considering these conditions, Caltrans design criteria requires development of site-specific response spectrum. Because the site is underlain by deposits of soft clay and potentially liquefiable sand, we performed nonlinear ground response analysis. To perform this type of an analysis, time series are needed as input at the base of the model. On the basis of our discussions with HSN, we understand bedrock is on the order of about 1,400 feet (500 m) below the ground surface. Furthermore, the site-specific data suggest that the shear wave velocity at a depth of approximately 100 feet is about 1,000 ft/sec. Consequently, we developed stiff soil response spectrum as the basis for the development of the input motions for the ground response analysis. Details of this development are presented in the following sections of the report.

3.0 PROBABILISTIC SEISMIC HAZARD ANALYSIS

Because the location, recurrence interval, and magnitude of future earthquakes are uncertain, we performed a PSHA, which systematically accounts for these uncertainties. The results of a PSHA define a uniform hazard for a site in terms of a probability that a particular level of shaking will be exceeded during the given life of the structure.

To perform a PSHA, information regarding the seismicity, location, and geometry of each source, along with empirical relationships that describe the rate of attenuation of strong ground motion with increasing distance from the source, are needed. The assumptions necessary to perform the PSHA are that:

- the geology and seismic tectonic history of the region are sufficiently known, such that the rate of occurrence of earthquakes can be modeled by historic or geologic data
- the level of ground motion at a particular site can be expressed by an attenuation relationship that is primarily dependent upon earthquake magnitude and distance from the source of the earthquake
- the earthquake occurrence can be modeled as a Poisson process with a constant mean occurrence rate.

As part of the development of the site-specific spectrum at the base of the soil column for the nonlinear ground response analysis, we performed a PSHA to develop site-specific response spectra for 5 percent probability of exceedance in 50 years. The ground surface spectra were developed using the computer code EZFRISK 7.62 (Risk Engineering 2012). The approach used in EZFRISK is based on the probabilistic seismic hazard model developed by Cornell (1968) and McGuire (1976). Our analysis modeled the faults in area as linear and areal sources, and earthquake activities were assigned to the faults based on historical and geologic data. The levels of shaking were estimated using Next Generation Attenuation (NGA) relationships that are primarily dependent upon the magnitude of the earthquake and the distance from the site to the fault.

3.1 **Probabilistic Model**

In probabilistic models, the occurrence of earthquake epicenters on a given fault is assumed to be uniformly distributed along the fault. This model considers ground motions arising from the portion of the fault rupture closest to the site rather than from the epicenter. Fault rupture lengths were modeled using fault rupture length-magnitude relationships given by Wells and Coppersmith (1994).

The probability of exceedance, $P_e(Z)$, at a given ground-motion, Z, at the site within a specified time period, T, is given as:

$$P_{a}(Z) = 1 - e^{-V(z)T}$$

where V(z) is the mean annual rate of exceedance of ground motion level Z. V(z) can be calculated using the total-probability theorem.

$$V(z) = \sum_{i} V_{i} \iint P[Z > z | m, r] f_{M_{i}}(m) f_{R_{i}|M_{i}}(r;m) drdm$$

where:

 v_i = the annual rate of earthquakes with magnitudes greater than a threshold M_{oi} in source i

P[Z > z | m,r] = probability that an earthquake of magnitude m at distance r produces ground motion amplitude Z higher than z

 f_{Mi} (m) and f_{RiMi} (r;m) = probability density functions for magnitude and distance

Z represents peak ground acceleration, or spectral acceleration values for a given frequency of vibration. The peak accelerations are assumed to be log-normally distributed about the mean with a standard error that is dependent upon the magnitude and attenuation relationship used.

3.2 Source Modeling and Characterization

The segmentation of faults, mean characteristic magnitudes, and recurrence rates were modeled using the data presented in the WGCEP (2008) and Cao et al. (2003) reports. We also included the combination of fault segments and their associated magnitudes and recurrence rates as described in the WGCEP (2008) in our seismic hazard model. Table 1 presents the distance and direction from the site to the fault, mean characteristic magnitude, mean slip rate, and fault length for individual fault segments. We used the 2008 California, Oregon, and Cascadia fault databases identified in EZFRISK 7.62. We understand EZFRISK obtained this database directly from USGS and models the faults with multiple segments. Each segment is characterized with multiple magnitudes, occurrence or slip rates and weights. This approach takes into account the epistemic uncertainty associated with the various seismic sources in our model.

Fault Segment	Approx. Distance from fault (km)	Direction from Site	Mean Characteristic Moment Magnitude	Mean Slip Rate (mm/yr)	Approx. Fault Length (km)
Little Salmon (Onshore)	1.7	West	7.10	5	34
Little Salmon Connected	1.7	West	7.50	2.7	80
Little Salmon (Offshore)	4.2	West	7.30	1	46
Table Bluff	6.7	Southwest	7.20	0.6	49
Mendocino	7.3	East	7.3	35	260
Cascadia	14	West	9.0	35	1,300
Fickle Hill	16	East	7.10	0.6	32
Mad River	18	Northeast	7.20	0.7	42
McKinleyville	20	Northeast	7.20	0.6	47
Trinidad	24	Northeast	7.50	0.7	88
Big Lagoon-Bald Mtn	38	Northeast	7.50	0.5	90
Maacama-Garberville	56	South	7.40	9	221
N. San Andreas; SAO	60	Southwest	7.37	24	136
N. San Andreas; SAO+SAN	60	Southwest	8.00	24	326
N. San Andreas; SAO+SAN+SAP	60	Southwest	7.95	22	410
N. San Andreas; SAO+SAN+SAP+SAS	60	Southwest	8.05	22	472
Bartlett Springs	79	Southeast	7.30	6	174
Whaleshead	153	Northeast	7.01	2.6	46
Battle Creek	173	East	6.70	0.5	29
N. San Andreas; SAN	179	South	7.51	24	189
N. San Andreas; SAN+SAP	179	South	7.73	22	274
N. San Andreas; SAN+SAP+SAS	179	South	7.87	21	336
Great Valley 1	193	Southeast	6.80	0.1	44

TABLE 1Source Zone Parameters

3.3 Attenuation Relationships

On the basis of the measured shear wave velocity, we assumed a shear wave velocity of 1,000 ft/sec for the development of stiff soil response spectrum used for developing the input motions for the nonlinear ground response analysis.

Consistent with the requirements of Appendix B of Caltrans Seismic Design Criteria (2013), we used Campbell and Bozorgnia (2008) and Chiou and Youngs (2008) attenuation relationships for shallow crustal faults and Youngs et al. (1997) relationships for subduction zone.

3.4 PSHA Results

Figure 2 presents the results of the PSHA for 5 percent probability of exceedance in 50 years. The average of the four attenuation relationships is also shown on these figures. Because of the close proximity of the Little Salmon fault we considered near-source directivity using Abrahamson (2000) model.

Figure 3 presents the deaggregation plots of the PSHA results for the 5 percent probability of exceedance in 50 years hazard level. From the examination of these results, it can be seen that the Little Salmon connected fault ($M_w = 7.5$ at 1.7 km) dominate the hazard at the project site at different periods of interest.

4.0 DETERMINISTIC

We performed a deterministic analysis to develop the design spectrum at the site. In a deterministic analysis, a given magnitude earthquake occurring at a certain distance from the source is considered as input into an appropriate ground motion attenuation relationship. The scenario earthquake was defined as an event having a Moment Magnitude of 7.5 consistent with the mean magnitude assigned by WGCEP (2008) for the Little Salmon connected fault at a distance of approximately 1.7 kilometers from the site.

The same attenuation relationships used in the PSHA for shallow crustal faults were used in our deterministic analysis. We also included near-source directivity as discussed in Section 3.4. Figure 4 presents the median deterministic results for the attenuation relationships used in the analysis and the average of these relationships.

5.0 RECOMMENDED STIFF SOIL SPECTRUM

The Design Earthquake spectrum as defined in in Appendix B of the 2013 Caltrans code is the envelope of the 975 year return PSHA and the median deterministic on the governing fault. Figure 5 presents the PSHA and determinisitic median spectra for the site. Also, shown on this figure is the envelope of these spectra. For periods shorter than 1.0 second the PSHA spectrum governs and periods longer than or equal to 1.0 second the deterministic spectrum governs the stiff soil design spectrum. Table 2 presents the site-specific stiff soil spectrum.

Development of Site-Specific Response Spectrum Pine Hill Road Replacement Bridge Eureka, California Langan Project No.: 731630801 22 July 2014 Page 6 of 11

TABLE 2

Site-Specific Stiff Soil Spectrum S_a (g) for 5 percent damping

0.245 June 12 12 10 10 10	provide a second s
Period (seconds)	S _a (g)
0.01	0.967
0.10	1.455
0.20	1.862
0.30	1.938
0.40	1.886
0.50	1.817
0.60	1.687
0.75	1.516
1.00	1.345
1.50	1.031
2.00	0.738
3.00	0.404
4.00	0.264
5.00	0.208

6.0 MATCHED TIME SERIES

The selection of a recorded time series is an important step in developing the ground motion. The intent in this selection process is to choose time series that in general have a similar magnitude and distance as that of the design ground motion. The suite of time series recommended for this project are from recordings from large events, similar to the seismic regime of the northern part of the state of California. In addition, the use of different earthquakes captures the unique and different character of each particular earthquake. Table 3 presents the time series used for matching to the recommended spectra.

TABLE 3

EQ., Year	NGA Seq. No.	Rupture Mechanis m	Mag	Time History	Vs30 (m/s), Site Class	Epi. Dist. (km)	Closest Dist. to Rupture (km)	Comp.	PGA (g)	PGV (cm/s)	PGD (cm)
Loma Prieta, 1989	779	Reverse, oblique	6.9	Los Gatos PC	478, C	23	6	0	0.966	108.5	65.8
Cape Mendocino, 1992	501	Subduction	7.0	Cape Mendocino	514, C	10	7	0	1.497	125.1	39.7
Duzce, 1999	1605	Strike-slip	7.1	Duzce	276, D	2	7	270	0.535	83.4	51.6
Tabas, 1979	143	Thrust	7.4	Tabas	767, B	55	2	L	0.836	97.8	38.7
ChiChi, 2002	1503	Reverse	7.4	TCU067	433, C	29	0.6	E	0.503	79.6	93.1

Earthquake Time Series Used for Matching to Recommended Stiff Soil Spectrum

Figures 6 through 10 present the acceleration, velocity, and displacement of the matched time series and comparison between the initial, recommended matched spectrum for the stiff soil.

7.0 NONLINEAR GROUND RESPONSE ANALYSIS

Because the site is underlain by soft clay and potentially liquefiable layers, the response spectra at the ground surface were developed using the computer program DEEPSOIL Version 5.1 (Hashash et al. 2012). DEEPSOIL is a one-dimensional site response analysis program that performs non-linear time domain wave propagation analysis based on vertically propagating, horizontal shear waves. The program mathematically transmits input base motions vertically through an idealized soil column to the ground surface. DEEPSOIL incorporates the pressure-dependent hyperbolic model which was modified by Matasovic (1993) and adjusts the hyperbolic model by Konder and Zelasko (1963) by introducing two additional parameters Beta and s that adjust the shape of the back bone curve β . The stress strain equation is:

$$\tau = \frac{G_{mo}\gamma}{1 + Beta\left(\frac{G_{mo}\gamma}{\tau_{mo}}\right)^{s}} = \frac{G_{mo}\gamma}{1 + Beta\left(\frac{\gamma}{\gamma_{r}}\right)^{s}}$$

where: G_{mo} = initial shear modulus, τ_{mo} = shear strength, γ = shear strain. Beta, s, and γ_r are model parameters.

¹ From NGA flatfile

We performed both total stress and effective stress (with generation and dissipation of pore pressures) nonlinear one dimensional analyses and used the strain dependent shear modulus reduction and damping curves developed by Seed and Idriss (1970) and Vucetic and Dobry (1991) for the sand and clay layers at the site, respectively. The model parameters were internally developed by curve fitting to Seed and Idriss (1970) and Vucetic and Dobry (1991) curves. The effective stress analyses were performed to account for pore pressure generation and dissipation and its effect on the computed response spectra. The modeling of for pore pressure generation and dissipation was performed using the model parameter developed by Matasovic (1992) for sand and Matasovic and Vucetic (1995) for clay as part of the effective stress analysis option in DEEPSOIL.

To develop the idealized model at the site we used subsurface information developed by SHN. We assigned the input motion (matched time series from Section 6.0) at an assumed depth of 150 feet below the ground surface and performed the analyses using the lower bound and upper bound shear wave velocities measured at the site. The lower and upper shear wave velocities used in idealized profiles in our analyses are summarized in Tables 4 and 5, respectively.

Layer	Depth Range (feet)	Assigned Lower Bound Shear Wave Velocity (ft/sec)
Clay	0 – 19	315
Clay	19 – 30	364
Clay	30 – 40	381
Clay	40 – 50	486
Clay	50 - 60	479
Clay	60 – 70	502
Sand	70 – 80	630
Sand	80 – 90	850
Sand	90 – 100	870
Clay	100 - 150	1,000 (assumed)

TABLE 4

Lower Bound V_s Idealized Profile Used in DEEPSOIL Analyses

Layer	Depth Range (feet)	Assigned Upper Bound Shear Wave Velocity (ft/sec)
Clay	0 - 30	380
Clay	30 – 35	404
Clay	35 – 40	590
Clay	40 - 50	530
Clay	50 – 60	615
Clay	60 – 70	655
Sand	70 – 90	850
Sand	90 – 100	870
Clay	100 - 150	1,000 (assumed)

8	TABLE 5
Upper B	ound V. Idealized Profile Used in DEEPSOIL Analyses

The matched time series were used as outcrop input motion applied at a depth of 150 feet.

7.1 Results of Nonlinear Ground Response Analysis

The results of the DEEPSOIL nonlinear analysis for the five input motions are presented on Figures 11 and 12 present for the nonlinear total stress and effective stress analysis, respectively using the upper bound shear wave velocities. These figures present the results for each of the five input motions along with average of the results and the envelope of the results. Figures 13 and 14 present similar results using the lower bound shear wave velocities. Figure 15 presents the average results for the four sets of analyses. The envelope of the results is used as the basis for the development of the recommended site-specific response.

7.2 Recommended Spectrum

Figure 16 presents a comparison of the spectrum for the envelope of the results and the ARS curves from the ATC-35 report for site class E for $M = 7.25 \pm 0.25$ and the ARS from the Caltrans web tool for $V_{s30} = 150$ m/s. The recommended smooth spectrum is presented as red triangles on the figure. Digitized values of the recommended spectrum are presented in Table 6.

Development of Site-Specific Response Spectrum Pine Hill Road Replacement Bridge Eureka, California Langan Project No.: 731630801 22 July 2014 Page 10 of 11

TABLE 6Recommended Ground Surface Spectrumfor Damping Ratio of 5 percent

Period (seconds)	S _a (g)
0.00	0.300
0.10	0.500
0.20	0.680
0.30	0.800
0.40	0.850
0.50	0.875
0.60	0.900
0.70	0.950
0.80	1.000
0.90	1.140
1.00	1.145
1.10	1.150
1.20	1.155
1.30	1.155
1.40	1.150
1.50	1.150
1.60	1.150
1.70	1.175
1.80	1.175
1.90	1.175
2.00	1.150
2.10	1.050
2.20	0.950
2.30	0.900
2.40	0.850
2.50	0.811
2.60	0.775
2.70	0.743
2.80	0.710
2.90	0.690
3.00	0.675
3.50	0.578
4.00	0.487
5.00	0.411

LANGAN TREADWELL ROLLO

Development of Site-Specific Response Spectrum Pine Hill Road Replacement Bridge Eureka, California Langan Project No.: 731630801 22 July 2014 Page 11 of 11

We appreciate the opportunity to assist you on this project. If you have any questions, please call.

Sincerely, Langan Treadwell Rollo

John Gouchon, G.E. Principal/Vice President

731630801.01_RG_Pine Hill Road Report

Attachments: Figures 1 through 16







Ramin Golesorkhi, Ph.D., G.E. Principal/Vice President

LANGAN TREADWELL ROLLO

REFERENCES

Abrahamson, N. A. (2000). "Effects of Rupture Directivity of Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Analysis." Proceedings of Sixth International Conference on Seismic Zonation, Palm Springs.

Applied Technology Council (1996). "Improved Seismic Design Criteria for California Bridges: Provisional Recommendations". Report ATC-32, Redwood City, California.

California Division of Mines and Geology (1996). "Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Assessment for The State Of California." DMG Open-File Report 96-08.

Caltrans (2013), Seismic Design Criteria, Version 1.7.

Campbell, K. W. and Bozorgnia, Y. (2008). "NGA Ground Motion Model for the Geometric Mean Horizontal Component of PGA, PGV, PGD, and 5%-Damped PSA at Spectral Periods between 0.01 s and 10.0 s." *Earthquake Spectra*, 24(1), 139-171.

Cao, T., Bryant, W. A., Rowshandel, B., Branum D. and Wills, C. J. (2003). "The Revised 2002 California Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Maps."

Chiou, B. S.-J., and Youngs, R. R. (2008). "An NGA Model for the Average Horizontal Component of Peak Ground Motion and Response Spectra." *Earthquake Spectra*, 24(1), 173-215.

Cornell, C. A. (1968). "Engineering Seismic Risk Analysis." *Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America*, 58(5).

Hashash, Y. M. A., Groholski, D. R., Phillips, C. A., Park, D., Musgrove, M. (2012). "DEEPSOIL 5.1, User Manual and Tutorial." 107 p.

Kondner, R. L. and Zelasko, J. S. (1963). "Hyperbolic Stress-Strain Formulation of Sands." Second Pan American Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Sao Paulo, Brazil, 289-324.

Lienkaemper, J. J. (1992). "Map of Recently Active Traces of the Hayward Fault, Alameda and Contra Costa counties, California." Miscellaneous Field Studies Map MF-2196.

Matasovic, N. (1993). "Seismic Response of Composite Horizontally-Layered Soil Deposits." PhD Thesis, University of California, Los Angeles.

Matasovic, N. and Vucetic, M. (1995). "Generalized Cyclic Degradation-pore Pressure Generation Model for Clays." ASCE *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 121(1).

Matasovic, N. and Vucetic, M. (1993). "Cyclic Characterization of Liquefiable Sands." ASCE *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 119(11).

McGuire, R.K. (2005). Personal communications.

LANGAN TREADWELL ROLLO

REFERENCES (continued)

McGuire, R. K. (1976). "FORTRAN Computer Program for Seismic Risk Analysis." U.S. Geological Survey, Open-File Report 76-67.

Risk Engineering Inc. (2012). "EZFRISK computer program." Version 7.62.

Seed, H. B. and Idriss, I. M. (1970). "Soil Moduli and Damping Factors for Dynamic Response Analyses." Report No. EERC 70-10, Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley.

Townley, S. D. and Allen, M. W. (1939). "Descriptive Catalog of Earthquakes of the Pacific Coast of the United States 1769 to 1928." *Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America*, 29(1).

Vucetic M. and Dobry, R. (1991). "Effect of Soil Plasticity on Cyclic Response." ASCE *Journal* of Geotechnical Engineering, 117(1).

Wells, D. L. and Coppersmith, K. J. (1994). "New Empirical Relationships among Magnitude, Rupture Length, Rupture Width, Rupture Area, and Surface Displacement." *Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America*, 84(4).

Wesnousky, S. G. (1986). "Earthquakes, Quaternary Faults, and Seismic Hazards in California." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 91(1312).

Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities (WGCEP) (2008). "The Uniform California Earthquake Rupture Forecast, Version 2." Open File Report 2007-1437.

Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities (WGCEP) (2003). "Summary of Earthquake Probabilities in the San Francisco Bay Region: 2002 to 2031." Open File Report 03-214.

Youngs, R. R., Chiou, S. J., Silva, W. J., and Humphrey, J. R. (1997). "Strong Ground Motion Attenuation Relationships for Subduction Zone Earthquakes." *Seismological Research Letters*, 68(1).

































Liquefaction Analysis Reports

GeoLogismiki



Geotechnical Engineers Merarhias 56

http://www.geologismiki.gr

Project title : Pine Hill Road Bridge

Location : Eureka, CA

LIQUEFACTION ANALYSIS REPORT





Zone B: Liquefaction and post-earthquake strength loss unlikely, check cyclic softening Zone C: Cyclic liquefaction and strength loss possible depending on soil plasticity, brittleness/sensitivity, strain to peak undrained strength and ground geometry

qc1N,cs







Input parameters and analysis data

Analysis method:	B&I (2014)	Depth to GWT (erthq.):	
Fines correction method:	B&I (2014)	Average results interval:	
Points to test:	Based on Ic value	Ic cut-off value:	•••
Earthquake magnitude M _w :	7.50	Unit weight calculation:	_
Peak ground acceleration:	0.30	Use fill:	
Depth to water table (insitu):	8.00 ft	Fill height:	

CLiq v.1.7.6.34 - CPT Liquefaction Assessment Software - Report created on: 12/23/2014, 10:19:03 AM Project file: \\Eureka\projects\2012\012163-PineHillbridg\Data\CLiq.clq

ŝ

Very high risk High risk Low risk

Liquefaction and no liq. are equally likely

Almost certain it will liquefy Very likely to liquefy

125.00 lb/ft³

Almost certain it will not liquefy

Unlike to liquefy

No Yes Sand & Clay No N/A

Fill weight: Transition detect. applied: K₅ applied: Clay like behavior applied: Limit depth: Limit depth:

2.60 Based on SBT Yes 3.00 ft

8.00 ft
GeoLogismiki



Geotechnical Engineers Merarhias 56

http://www.geologismiki.gr

Project title : Pine Hill Road Bridge

Location : Eureka, CA

LIQUEFACTION ANALYSIS REPORT



CLiq v.1.7.6.34 - CPT Liquefaction Assessment Software - Report created on: 12/23/2014, 10:19:04 AM Project file: \\Eureka\projects\2012\012163-PineHillbridg\Data\CLiq.clq

This software is licensed to: SHN Consulting Engineers





Input parameters and analysis data

Based on Ic value Ic cut-off value: 7.50 Unit weight calculation: 0.30 Use fill height -
--

CLiq v.1.7.6.34 - CPT Liquefaction Assessment Software - Report created on: 12/23/2014, 10:19:04 AM Project file: \\Eureka\projects\2012/012163-PineHillbridg\Data\CLiq.clq

ц

LPI color scheme

Very high risk High risk Low risk

Almost certain it will liquefy

F.S. color scheme

Very likely to liquefy

Liquefaction and no liq. are equally likely

125.00 lb/ft³ No Yes Sand & Clay N/A N/A

K_o applied: Clay fike behavior applied: Limit depth applied: Limit depth:

2.60 Based on SBT Yes 3.00 ft

Fill weight: Transition detect. applied:

8.00 ft

Almost certain it will not liquefy

Unlike to liquefy

GeoLogismiki



Geotechnical Engineers Merarhias 56

http://www.geologismiki.gr

Project title : Pine Hill Road Bridge

Location : Eureka, CA

Use fill:

Clay like behavior

Yes

LIQUEFACTION ANALYSIS REPORT

8.00 ft



CPT file : shn pine hill3



This software is licensed to: SHN Consulting Engineers







21

GeoLogismiki

Geotechnical Engineers Merarhias 56 Geotechnical Software

http://www.geologismiki.gr

Project title : Pine Hill Road Bridge

Location : Eureka, CA

LIQUEFACTION ANALYSIS REPORT



FEO



This software is licensed to: SHN Consulting Engineers





Input parameters and analysis data

	•	
Analysis method:	B&I (2014)	Depth to GWT (erthq.):
Fines correction method:	B&I (2014)	Average results interval
Points to test:	Based on Ic value	Ic cut-off value:
Earthquake magnitude M:	7.50	Unit weight calculation:
Peak ground acceleration:	0.30	Use fill:
Depth to water table (insitu):	8.00 ft	Fill height:

CLiq v.1.7.6.34 - CPT Liquefaction Assessment Software - Report created on: 12/23/2014, 10:19:08 AM Project file: \\Eureka\projects\2012/012163-PineHillbridg\Data\CLiq.clq

29

LPI color scheme

High risk Low risk

Liquefaction and no liq. are equally likely

125.00 lb/ft³ No Yes Sand & Clay N/A N/A

K_o applied: Clay like behavior applied: Limit depth applied: Limit depth:

8.00 ft 3 2.60 Based on SBT Yes 3.00 ft

..

Fill weight: Transition detect. applied:

Almost certain it will liquefy

F.S. color scheme

Very likely to liquefy

Almost certain it will not liquefy

Unlike to liquefy

Lateral Pile Analyses

E



PP24X0.75 CISS Pile - Fixed Head Condition



PP24X0.75 CISS Pile - Fixed Head Condition



PP24X0.75 CISS Pile - Fixed Head Condition

Corrosion Test Results

F

			the second se	Soil Visual Description	Frank Land B.	Very Dark Greenish Gray Sandy CLAY (Silty)														
		163	Moisture	At Test %	ASTM D2216	31.7														
		12	Sulfide	Qualitative by I ead	Acetate Paper															
	Chackad	Proj. No:	4	ox) At Teet	Temp °C	20						1977 1977 -								
ح	A. A. A.		NO	(Red F(mv)	ASTM G200	476					-									
mmai	ā	2	Hq		ASTM G51	7.2														
sts Su	Toehod Bu-	lge by:	ate	***	Cal 417-mod.	0.1709		5 N				5			1					
ity Te		Hill Rd. Brid	Sulf	mg/kg	Cal 417-mod.	1,709												5. 1	e 1. 	
rrosiv	013	Pine	Chloride	mg/kg	al 422-mod.	2,889			-	. "										
Ŭ	3/26/2	710710	m-cm)	Sat.	ASTM G57 C	172	i. Te										E 			
	Date:	Project:	y @ 15.5 oC (O	Min	Cal 643	•			i u			5								
「ないない	A MAR		Resistivit	As Rec.	ASTM G57								8							
	g	SHN	D	The state	Depth, ft.	11			ч Ц						с К. Ц. —					
OPER	054.15	31-4CD	e Location or	「「「「「「	ample, No.											1 - 2 - E				
	# III	Client:	Sampl	いたいかい	Boring	B-1							19 No.	1						

COPER			Corrosiv	ity Tests		
CTL Job No:	054-158		Project No.:	12163	IC lons to test for:	Both
Client:	SHN		Date:	3/12/2013		
Project Name:	Pine Hill Rd. Brid	ge	By:	PJ		
Sample:	D-1	da ¹ e - ¹				
Depth, ft:	11	ų.				
Soil Description:	Very Dark				240 B	
	Greenish Gray Sandy CLAY				1	×
	(Silty)					и 1
		· ·			*	
-	3		14			
			TRACTION			
Fortugation Flools No.		EX	TRACTION	×		
Extraction Flask No.	105.01		11 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (
Vol of water (m)	105.91	300	200	200	200	200
	300	<u> </u>	Extracted Sampl	e:	300	300
Pan No.		//////				0 % E0
Pan wt. (g)	19.78					
Total wet wt. (g)	140.96					1.
Total dry wt (g)	111.77		2			
		ORP /	SULFIDE TES	TS		
Beaker No.						
ORP, E _H (NHE) (Rmv)	475.7					
ORP Test Temp, ^O C	20.2					
Sulfide						
		ASTM RESIS	V Y - AS Re		-	
Small Dial Reading		2			2 P.	
Large Diai Reading		19 II.				
remp. C	L	I STM BESISTI	 / TV - 100% S	aturation		
Bowl No					4	
Small Dial Reading	100					
Large Dial Reading	1.49			-		
Temp. °C	21.6			×		
			pH TEST		<u> </u>	
pH measurement #1	7.17					
pH measurement #2	7.16					
pH measurement #3	7.15					
	(D SULFATE 1	ESTING		
IC lons to test for:	Both	Both	Both	Both	Both	Both
Vial No.						
More concluse OF	719.6					
weas. conc(mg Ci /L)	/ 13.6	C				
Meas. conc(mg SO2/L)	422.2					102 01 01 01 01 01 00 20
		~ .				Ξ.
Comments:	š			2		1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -

LANGAN TREADWELL ROLLO

Technical Excellence Practical Experience Client Responsiveness

22 July 2014

Mr. John H. Dailey SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologist, Inc. 335 S. Main Street Willits, California 95490

Subject: Development of Site-Specific Response Spectrum Pine Hill Road Replacement Bridge Eureka, California Langan Project No.: 731630801

Dear Mr. Dailey:

This letter-report presents the results of our ground motion study to develop site-specific response spectrum for the proposed Pine Hill Road replacement bridge in Eureka, California. We understand the existing 63-foot long, 65 years old, three span timber bridge is structurally deficient and is proposed to be replaced by an approximately 70-foot long reinforced concrete bridge. Figure 1 presents the site location map. The design of the new bridge will follow the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) Seismic Design Criteria Version 1.7, April 2013. In general, the subsurface conditions consist of soft clay to a depth of approximately 70 feet. This layer is underlain by approximately 30 feet of potentially liquefiable medium dense to dense sand. Medium stiff to stiff clay underlies the sand. Considering these conditions, Caltrans design criteria requires development of site-specific response spectrum.

1.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES

Our study was performed in accordance with the scope of services presented in our revised proposal dated 6 February 2014. We used the subsurface information developed by SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologist, Inc. (SHN). Our scope of services did not include any site visits or performing supplemental field investigation. We developed site-specific response spectrum in accordance with the guidelines presented in Appendix B of 2013 Caltrans Seismic Design Criteria (Caltrans 2013). Specifically, we performed the following:

- Probabilistic seismic hazard analysis (PSHA) for a 5 percent probability of exceedance in 50 years (975 year return period)
- Deterministic seismic hazard analysis for the median spectrum of the governing scenario earthquake
- Developed site-specific design response spectrum for stiff soil for input into the nonlinear ground response analysis based on the envelope of the PSHA and deterministic spectra
- Spectrally matched five time series to the site-specific stiff soil spectrum
- Nonlinear ground response analysis
- Developed site-specific response spectrum for the project

2.0 SUBSURFACE CONDITIONS

The subsurface information provided by you included one boring drilled to a depth of 90.5 feet below existing ground surface (bgs) and four Cone Penetrometer Tests (CPTs) advance to depths ranging from approximately 73 to 103 feet bgs. In addition, shear wave velocities were measured in two of the CPT soundings. We also received laboratory test results on selected samples from the boring. In general, the subsurface conditions consist of soft clay to a depth of approximately 70 feet. This layer is underlain by approximately 30 feet of medium dense to dense sand that is potentially liquefiable. Medium stiff to stiff clay underlies the sand.

On the basis of the shear wave velocity measurements, the average shear wave velocity in the top 30 meters (100 feet) is approximately 145 m/s (477 ft/sec). Considering these conditions, Caltrans design criteria requires development of site-specific response spectrum. Because the site is underlain by deposits of soft clay and potentially liquefiable sand, we performed nonlinear ground response analysis. To perform this type of an analysis, time series are needed as input at the base of the model. On the basis of our discussions with HSN, we understand bedrock is on the order of about 1,400 feet (500 m) below the ground surface. Furthermore, the site-specific data suggest that the shear wave velocity at a depth of approximately 100 feet is about 1,000 ft/sec. Consequently, we developed stiff soil response spectrum as the basis for the development of the input motions for the ground response analysis. Details of this development are presented in the following sections of the report.

3.0 PROBABILISTIC SEISMIC HAZARD ANALYSIS

Because the location, recurrence interval, and magnitude of future earthquakes are uncertain, we performed a PSHA, which systematically accounts for these uncertainties. The results of a PSHA define a uniform hazard for a site in terms of a probability that a particular level of shaking will be exceeded during the given life of the structure.

To perform a PSHA, information regarding the seismicity, location, and geometry of each source, along with empirical relationships that describe the rate of attenuation of strong ground motion with increasing distance from the source, are needed. The assumptions necessary to perform the PSHA are that:

- the geology and seismic tectonic history of the region are sufficiently known, such that the rate of occurrence of earthquakes can be modeled by historic or geologic data
- the level of ground motion at a particular site can be expressed by an attenuation relationship that is primarily dependent upon earthquake magnitude and distance from the source of the earthquake
- the earthquake occurrence can be modeled as a Poisson process with a constant mean occurrence rate.

As part of the development of the site-specific spectrum at the base of the soil column for the nonlinear ground response analysis, we performed a PSHA to develop site-specific response spectra for 5 percent probability of exceedance in 50 years. The ground surface spectra were developed using the computer code EZFRISK 7.62 (Risk Engineering 2012). The approach used in EZFRISK is based on the probabilistic seismic hazard model developed by Cornell (1968) and McGuire (1976). Our analysis modeled the faults in area as linear and areal sources, and earthquake activities were assigned to the faults based on historical and geologic data. The levels of shaking were estimated using Next Generation Attenuation (NGA) relationships that are primarily dependent upon the magnitude of the earthquake and the distance from the site to the fault.

3.1 **Probabilistic Model**

In probabilistic models, the occurrence of earthquake epicenters on a given fault is assumed to be uniformly distributed along the fault. This model considers ground motions arising from the portion of the fault rupture closest to the site rather than from the epicenter. Fault rupture lengths were modeled using fault rupture length-magnitude relationships given by Wells and Coppersmith (1994).

The probability of exceedance, $P_e(Z)$, at a given ground-motion, Z, at the site within a specified time period, T, is given as:

$$P_{e}(Z) = 1 - e^{-V(z)T}$$

where V(z) is the mean annual rate of exceedance of ground motion level Z. V(z) can be calculated using the total-probability theorem.

$$V(z) = \sum_{i} v_{i} \iint P[Z > z \,|\, m, r] f_{M_{i}}(m) f_{R_{i} | M_{i}}(r; m) dr dm$$

where:

 $v_{\rm i}$ = the annual rate of earthquakes with magnitudes greater than a threshold $M_{\rm oi}$ in source i

P[Z > z | m,r] = probability that an earthquake of magnitude m at distance r produces ground motion amplitude Z higher than z

 f_{Mi} (m) and $f_{Ri|Mi}$ (r;m) = probability density functions for magnitude and distance

Z represents peak ground acceleration, or spectral acceleration values for a given frequency of vibration. The peak accelerations are assumed to be log-normally distributed about the mean with a standard error that is dependent upon the magnitude and attenuation relationship used.

3.2 Source Modeling and Characterization

The segmentation of faults, mean characteristic magnitudes, and recurrence rates were modeled using the data presented in the WGCEP (2008) and Cao et al. (2003) reports. We also included the combination of fault segments and their associated magnitudes and recurrence rates as described in the WGCEP (2008) in our seismic hazard model. Table 1 presents the distance and direction from the site to the fault, mean characteristic magnitude, mean slip rate, and fault length for individual fault segments. We used the 2008 California, Oregon, and Cascadia fault databases identified in EZFRISK 7.62. We understand EZFRISK obtained this database directly from USGS and models the faults with multiple segments. Each segment is characterized with multiple magnitudes, occurrence or slip rates and weights. This approach takes into account the epistemic uncertainty associated with the various seismic sources in our model.

Fault Segment	Approx. Distance from fault (km)	Direction from Site	Mean Characteristic Moment Magnitude	Mean Slip Rate (mm/yr)	Approx. Fault Length (km)
Little Salmon (Onshore)	1.7	West	7.10	5	34
Little Salmon Connected	1.7	West	7.50	2.7	80
Little Salmon (Offshore)	4.2	West	7.30	1	46
Table Bluff	6.7	Southwest	7.20	0.6	49
Mendocino	7.3	East	7.3	35	260
Cascadia	14	West	9.0	35	1,300
Fickle Hill	16	East	7.10	0.6	32
Mad River	18	Northeast	7.20	0.7	42
McKinleyville	20	Northeast	7.20	0.6	47
Trinidad	24	Northeast	7.50	0.7	88
Big Lagoon-Bald Mtn	38	Northeast	7.50	0.5	90
Maacama-Garberville	56	South	7.40	9	221
N. San Andreas; SAO	60	Southwest	7.37	24	136
N. San Andreas; SAO+SAN	60	Southwest	8.00	24	326
N. San Andreas; SAO+SAN+SAP	60	Southwest	7.95	22	410
N. San Andreas; SAO+SAN+SAP+SAS	60	Southwest	8.05	22	472
Bartlett Springs	79	Southeast	7.30	6	174
Whaleshead	153	Northeast	7.01	2.6	46
Battle Creek	173	East	6.70	0.5	29
N. San Andreas; SAN	179	South	7.51	24	189
N. San Andreas; SAN+SAP	179	South	7.73	22	274
N. San Andreas; SAN+SAP+SAS	179	South	7.87	21	336
Great Valley 1	193	Southeast	6.80	0.1	44

TABLE 1Source Zone Parameters

3.3 Attenuation Relationships

On the basis of the measured shear wave velocity, we assumed a shear wave velocity of 1,000 ft/sec for the development of stiff soil response spectrum used for developing the input motions for the nonlinear ground response analysis.

Consistent with the requirements of Appendix B of Caltrans Seismic Design Criteria (2013), we used Campbell and Bozorgnia (2008) and Chiou and Youngs (2008) attenuation relationships for shallow crustal faults and Youngs et al. (1997) relationships for subduction zone.

3.4 **PSHA Results**

Figure 2 presents the results of the PSHA for 5 percent probability of exceedance in 50 years. The average of the four attenuation relationships is also shown on these figures. Because of the close proximity of the Little Salmon fault we considered near-source directivity using Abrahamson (2000) model.

Figure 3 presents the deaggregation plots of the PSHA results for the 5 percent probability of exceedance in 50 years hazard level. From the examination of these results, it can be seen that the Little Salmon connected fault ($M_w = 7.5$ at 1.7 km) dominate the hazard at the project site at different periods of interest.

4.0 DETERMINISTIC

We performed a deterministic analysis to develop the design spectrum at the site. In a deterministic analysis, a given magnitude earthquake occurring at a certain distance from the source is considered as input into an appropriate ground motion attenuation relationship. The scenario earthquake was defined as an event having a Moment Magnitude of 7.5 consistent with the mean magnitude assigned by WGCEP (2008) for the Little Salmon connected fault at a distance of approximately 1.7 kilometers from the site.

The same attenuation relationships used in the PSHA for shallow crustal faults were used in our deterministic analysis. We also included near-source directivity as discussed in Section 3.4. Figure 4 presents the median deterministic results for the attenuation relationships used in the analysis and the average of these relationships.

5.0 RECOMMENDED STIFF SOIL SPECTRUM

The Design Earthquake spectrum as defined in in Appendix B of the 2013 Caltrans code is the envelope of the 975 year return PSHA and the median deterministic on the governing fault. Figure 5 presents the PSHA and deterministic median spectra for the site. Also, shown on this figure is the envelope of these spectra. For periods shorter than 1.0 second the PSHA spectrum governs and periods longer than or equal to 1.0 second the deterministic spectrum governs the stiff soil design spectrum. Table 2 presents the site-specific stiff soil spectrum.

TABLE 2Site-Specific Stiff Soil SpectrumSa (g) for 5 percent damping

Period (seconds)	S _a (g)
0.01	0.967
0.10	1.455
0.20	1.862
0.30	1.938
0.40	1.886
0.50	1.817
0.60	1.687
0.75	1.516
1.00	1.345
1.50	1.031
2.00	0.738
3.00	0.404
4.00	0.264
5.00	0.208

6.0 MATCHED TIME SERIES

The selection of a recorded time series is an important step in developing the ground motion. The intent in this selection process is to choose time series that in general have a similar magnitude and distance as that of the design ground motion. The suite of time series recommended for this project are from recordings from large events, similar to the seismic regime of the northern part of the state of California. In addition, the use of different earthquakes captures the unique and different character of each particular earthquake. Table 3 presents the time series used for matching to the recommended spectra.

TABLE 3

EQ., Year	NGA Seq. No.	Rupture Mechanis m	Mag	Time History	Vs30 [.] (m/s), Site Class	Epi. Dist. (km)	Closest Dist. to Rupture (km)	Comp.	PGA (g)	PGV (cm/s)	PGD (cm)
Loma Prieta, 1989	779	Reverse, oblique	6.9	Los Gatos PC	478, C	23	6	0	0.966	108.5	65.8
Cape Mendocino, 1992	501	Subduction	7.0	Cape Mendocino	514, C	10	7	0	1.497	125.1	39.7
Duzce, 1999	1605	Strike-slip	7.1	Duzce	276, D	2	7	270	0.535	83.4	51.6
Tabas, 1979	143	Thrust	7.4	Tabas	767, B	55	2	L	0.836	97.8	38.7
ChiChi, 2002	1503	Reverse	7.4	TCU067	433, C	29	0.6	E	0.503	79.6	93.1

Earthquake Time Series Used for Matching to Recommended Stiff Soil Spectrum

Figures 6 through 10 present the acceleration, velocity, and displacement of the matched time series and comparison between the initial, recommended matched spectrum for the stiff soil.

7.0 NONLINEAR GROUND RESPONSE ANALYSIS

Because the site is underlain by soft clay and potentially liquefiable layers, the response spectra at the ground surface were developed using the computer program DEEPSOIL Version 5.1 (Hashash et al. 2012). DEEPSOIL is a one-dimensional site response analysis program that performs non-linear time domain wave propagation analysis based on vertically propagating, horizontal shear waves. The program mathematically transmits input base motions vertically through an idealized soil column to the ground surface. DEEPSOIL incorporates the pressure-dependent hyperbolic model which was modified by Matasovic (1993) and adjusts the hyperbolic model by Konder and Zelasko (1963) by introducing two additional parameters Beta and s that adjust the shape of the back bone curve β . The stress strain equation is:

$$\tau = \frac{G_{mo}\gamma}{1 + Beta\left(\frac{G_{mo}\gamma}{\tau_{mo}}\right)^{s}} = \frac{G_{mo}\gamma}{1 + Beta\left(\frac{\gamma}{\gamma_{r}}\right)^{s}}$$

where: G_{mo} = initial shear modulus, τ_{mo} = shear strength, γ = shear strain. Beta, s, and γ_r are model parameters.

¹ From NGA flatfile

We performed both total stress and effective stress (with generation and dissipation of pore pressures) nonlinear one dimensional analyses and used the strain dependent shear modulus reduction and damping curves developed by Seed and Idriss (1970) and Vucetic and Dobry (1991) for the sand and clay layers at the site, respectively. The model parameters were internally developed by curve fitting to Seed and Idriss (1970) and Vucetic and Dobry (1991) curves. The effective stress analyses were performed to account for pore pressure generation and dissipation and its effect on the computed response spectra. The modeling of for pore pressure generation and dissipation was performed using the model parameter developed by Matasovic (1992) for sand and Matasovic and Vucetic (1995) for clay as part of the effective stress analysis option in DEEPSOIL.

To develop the idealized model at the site we used subsurface information developed by SHN. We assigned the input motion (matched time series from Section 6.0) at an assumed depth of 150 feet below the ground surface and performed the analyses using the lower bound and upper bound shear wave velocities measured at the site. The lower and upper shear wave velocities used in idealized profiles in our analyses are summarized in Tables 4 and 5, respectively.

Layer	Depth Range (feet)	Assigned Lower Bound Shear Wave Velocity (ft/sec)
Clay	0 – 19	315
Clay	19 – 30	364
Clay	30 – 40	381
Clay	40 – 50	486
Clay	50 – 60	479
Clay	60 – 70	502
Sand	70 – 80	630
Sand	80 – 90	850
Sand	90 – 100	870
Clay	100 - 150	1,000 (assumed)

TABLE 4 Lower Bound V, Idealized Profile Used in DEEPSOIL Analyses

Layer	Depth Range (feet)	Assigned Upper Bound Shear Wave Velocity (ft/sec)
Clay	0 – 30	380
Clay	30 – 35	404
Clay	35 – 40	590
Clay	40 – 50	530
Clay	50 - 60	615
Clay	60 – 70	655
Sand	70 – 90	850
Sand	90 – 100	870
Clay	100 - 150	1,000 (assumed)

TABLE 5Upper Bound Vs Idealized Profile Used in DEEPSOIL Analyses

The matched time series were used as outcrop input motion applied at a depth of 150 feet.

7.1 Results of Nonlinear Ground Response Analysis

The results of the DEEPSOIL nonlinear analysis for the five input motions are presented on Figures 11 and 12 present for the nonlinear total stress and effective stress analysis, respectively using the upper bound shear wave velocities. These figures present the results for each of the five input motions along with average of the results and the envelope of the results. Figures 13 and 14 present similar results using the lower bound shear wave velocities. Figure 15 presents the average results for the four sets of analyses. The envelope of the results is used as the basis for the development of the recommended site-specific response.

7.2 Recommended Spectrum

Figure 16 presents a comparison of the spectrum for the envelope of the results and the ARS curves from the ATC-35 report for site class E for M = 7.25 \pm 0.25 and the ARS from the Caltrans web tool for V_{s30} =150 m/s. The recommended smooth spectrum is presented as red triangles on the figure. Digitized values of the recommended spectrum are presented in Table 6.

TABLE 6
Recommended Ground Surface Spectrum
for Damping Ratio of 5 percent

Devied	
(seconds)	S _a (g)
0.00	0.300
0.10	0.500
0.20	0.680
0.30	0.800
0.40	0.850
0.50	0.875
0.60	0.900
0.70	0.950
0.80	1.000
0.90	1.140
1.00	1.145
1.10	1.150
1.20	1.155
1.30	1.155
1.40	1.150
1.50	1.150
1.60	1.150
1.70	1.175
1.80	1.175
1.90	1.175
2.00	1.150
2.10	1.050
2.20	0.950
2.30	0.900
2.40	0.850
2.50	0.811
2.60	0.775
2.70	0.743
2.80	0.710
2.90	0.690
3.00	0.675
3.50	0.578
4.00	0.487
5.00	0.411

We appreciate the opportunity to assist you on this project. If you have any questions, please call.

Sincerely, Langan Treadwell Rollo

John Gouchon, G.E. Principal/Vice President

731630801.01_RG_Pine Hill Road Report

Attachments: Figures 1 through 16

NO. 2282 Exp. 06/30/15





Ramin Golesorkhi, Ph.D., G.E. Principal/Vice President

REFERENCES

Abrahamson, N. A. (2000). "Effects of Rupture Directivity of Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Analysis." Proceedings of Sixth International Conference on Seismic Zonation, Palm Springs.

Applied Technology Council (1996). "Improved Seismic Design Criteria for California Bridges: Provisional Recommendations". Report ATC-32, Redwood City, California.

California Division of Mines and Geology (1996). "Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Assessment for The State Of California." DMG Open-File Report 96-08.

Caltrans (2013), Seismic Design Criteria, Version 1.7.

Campbell, K. W. and Bozorgnia, Y. (2008). "NGA Ground Motion Model for the Geometric Mean Horizontal Component of PGA, PGV, PGD, and 5%-Damped PSA at Spectral Periods between 0.01 s and 10.0 s." *Earthquake Spectra*, 24(1), 139-171.

Cao, T., Bryant, W. A., Rowshandel, B., Branum D. and Wills, C. J. (2003). "The Revised 2002 California Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Maps."

Chiou, B. S.-J., and Youngs, R. R. (2008). "An NGA Model for the Average Horizontal Component of Peak Ground Motion and Response Spectra." *Earthquake Spectra*, 24(1), 173-215.

Cornell, C. A. (1968). "Engineering Seismic Risk Analysis." *Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America*, 58(5).

Hashash, Y. M. A., Groholski, D. R., Phillips, C. A., Park, D., Musgrove, M. (2012). "DEEPSOIL 5.1, User Manual and Tutorial." 107 p.

Kondner, R. L. and Zelasko, J. S. (1963). "Hyperbolic Stress-Strain Formulation of Sands." Second Pan American Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, Sao Paulo, Brazil, 289-324.

Lienkaemper, J. J. (1992). "Map of Recently Active Traces of the Hayward Fault, Alameda and Contra Costa counties, California." Miscellaneous Field Studies Map MF-2196.

Matasovic, N. (1993). "Seismic Response of Composite Horizontally-Layered Soil Deposits." PhD Thesis, University of California, Los Angeles.

Matasovic, N. and Vucetic, M. (1995). "Generalized Cyclic Degradation-pore Pressure Generation Model for Clays." ASCE *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 121(1).

Matasovic, N. and Vucetic, M. (1993). "Cyclic Characterization of Liquefiable Sands." ASCE *Journal of Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Engineering*, 119(11).

McGuire, R.K. (2005). Personal communications.

REFERENCES (continued)

McGuire, R. K. (1976). "FORTRAN Computer Program for Seismic Risk Analysis." U.S. Geological Survey, Open-File Report 76-67.

Risk Engineering Inc. (2012). "EZFRISK computer program." Version 7.62.

Seed, H. B. and Idriss, I. M. (1970). "Soil Moduli and Damping Factors for Dynamic Response Analyses." Report No. EERC 70-10, Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley.

Townley, S. D. and Allen, M. W. (1939). "Descriptive Catalog of Earthquakes of the Pacific Coast of the United States 1769 to 1928." *Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America*, 29(1).

Vucetic M. and Dobry, R. (1991). "Effect of Soil Plasticity on Cyclic Response." ASCE *Journal* of *Geotechnical Engineering*, 117(1).

Wells, D. L. and Coppersmith, K. J. (1994). "New Empirical Relationships among Magnitude, Rupture Length, Rupture Width, Rupture Area, and Surface Displacement." *Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America*, 84(4).

Wesnousky, S. G. (1986). "Earthquakes, Quaternary Faults, and Seismic Hazards in California." *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 91(1312).

Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities (WGCEP) (2008). "The Uniform California Earthquake Rupture Forecast, Version 2." Open File Report 2007-1437.

Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities (WGCEP) (2003). "Summary of Earthquake Probabilities in the San Francisco Bay Region: 2002 to 2031." Open File Report 03-214.

Youngs, R. R., Chiou, S. J., Silva, W. J., and Humphrey, J. R. (1997). "Strong Ground Motion Attenuation Relationships for Subduction Zone Earthquakes." *Seismological Research Letters*, 68(1).


































Appendix K - Hydraulics Information

Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project Humboldt County, California Federal-Aid Project No. BRLO-5904(112) Existing Bridge No. 04C0173

Location Hydraulic Study Report



Prepared for:



Prepared by:

wreco

Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project Humboldt County, California Federal-Aid Project No. BRLO-5904(112) Existing Bridge No. 04C0173

Location Hydraulic Study Report

Submitted to: Humboldt County Department of Public Works

This report has been prepared by or under the supervision of the following Registered Engineer. The Registered Civil Engineer attests to the technical information contained herein and has judged the qualifications of any technical specialists providing engineering data upon which recommendations, conclusions, and decisions are based.

Han-Bin Liang, Ph.D., P.E. Registered Civil Engineer

11/18/2015

Date



November 2015

Table of Contents

Executive Summaryiii
Acronymsv
Location Hydraulic Study Formvi
Summary Floodplain Encroachment Reportix
1 General Description
1.1 Existing Bridge
1.2 Proposed Bridge
1.3 Regulatory Setting
1.3.1 Executive Order 11988
1.3.2 California's National Flood Insurance Program
1.3.3 Humboldt Floodplain Data
1.4 Design Standards
1.4.1 FEMA Standards
1.4.2 FHWA Standards7
1.4.3 Caltrans Standards7
1.4.4 Design Exception
1.5 Traffic
1.6 Other Projects in the Project Vicinity
1.7 Vertical Datum
2 Affected Environment
2.1 Geographic Location
2.2 Watershed Description
2.3 Receiving Water Bodies
2.4 Precipitation
2.5 Land Use
2.6 FEMA Floodplains
3 Hydrology and Hydraulics
3.1 Hydrologic Assessment
3.1.1 Hydrologic Design Methods
3.1.2 United States Geological Survey Regional Regression Equations
3.1.3 Rainfall/Runoff Model
3.1.4 Design Discharge Summary and Selected Design Discharges
3.1.5 Hydrologic Stability
3.2 Hydraulic Assessment
3.2.1 Design Tools
3.2.2 Cross Section Data
3.2.3 Modeled Hydraulic Structures
3.2.4 Model Boundary Condition
3.2.5 National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Data for Humboldt Bay. 20
3.2.6 Federal Emergency Management Agency Data for Humboldt Bay
3.2.7 Selected Downstream Boundary Condition
3.2.8 Sea Level Rise
21
3.3 Water Surface Elevations

4		Project Evaluation	23
	4.1	Risk Associated with the Proposed Action	23
	4.1.1	Change in Land Use	23
	4.1.2	2 Change in Impervious Surface Area	23
	4.1.3	3 Fill Inside the Floodplain	23
	4.1.4	4 Change in the 100-Year Water Surface Elevation	23
	4.2	Summary of Potential Encroachments	23
	4.2.1	Potential Traffic Interruptions for the Base Flood	24
	4.2.2	2 Potential Impacts on Natural and Beneficial Floodplain Values	24
	4.2.3	3 Support of Probable Incompatible Floodplain Development	24
	4.2.4	Longitudinal Encroachments	24
5		Avoidance, Minimization, and/or Mitigation Measures	25
	5.1	Minimize Floodplain Impacts	25
	5.2	Restore and Preserve Natural and Beneficial Floodplain Values	25
	5.3	Alternatives to Significant Encroachments	25
	5.4	Alternatives to Longitudinal Encroachments	25
	5.5	Coordination with Local, State, and Federal Water Resources and Floodplain	l
		Management Agencies	25
6		References	26

Figures

0	
Figure 1. Project Location Map	1
Figure 2. Project Vicinity Map	2
Figure 3. Project Aerial Map	3
Figure 4. General Plan	5
Figure 5. Project Watershed Map	12
Figure 6. Land Use Map for Project Watershed	14
Figure 7. Tidal Elevations at North Spit Tide Gage	19
Figure 8. Swain Slough 100-Year Water Surface Profile at Pine Hill Road	21
Figure 9. Upstream Face of Existing and Proposed Bridge, Looking Downstream (No	orth)
	22

Tables

Table 1. Watershed Areas	11
Table 2. Mean Annual Precipitation	13
Table 3. Regional Regression Design Discharges for the Project	16
Table 4. Swain/Martin Sloughs and Elk River Peak Discharge Values	18
Table 5. Humboldt Bay Stillwater Elevations	20
Table 6. Water Surface Elevations at Upstream Side of Pine Hill Road Bridge with	
Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	21

Appendices

Appendix A FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM)

Executive Summary

The Humboldt County Department of Public Works is proposing to replace the Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough (Bridge No. 04C0173). The proposed approach is to replace the existing bridge with a new bridge on the existing alignment. In accordance with Humboldt County requirements, the bridge will provide two 10-ft-wide traffic lanes and 5-ft-wide shoulders, in addition to barrier rails along both sides. In order to satisfy the 50year event hydraulic clearance requirements, the existing bridge would need to be replaced and the existing roadway profile would have to be raised significantly. This will have major cost implications along with increased environmental and right-of-way impacts. The proposed bridge will need design exceptions to the FHWA freeboard criteria based on site conditions. The proposed bridge type is a single-span precast concrete I-girder, and will be slightly longer than the existing to better fit the site conditions. The single-span bridge option will minimize the environmental impacts to the slough as it will not require any supports in the creek channel.

The purpose of this Location Hydraulic Study is to examine and analyze the existing floodplains within the Project limits, to document any potential impacts to or encroachments upon these floodplains resulting from the proposed action, and to recommend any mitigation that may be required.

The peak discharges for Swain/Martin sloughs were estimated using a rainfall/runoff model in HEC-HMS, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Hydrologic Engineering Center (USACE)'s Hydrologic Modeling System. The 100-year peak discharge value for Swain/Martin sloughs was estimated to be 2,490 cubic feet per second (cfs). The hydraulic characteristics at the Project site were evaluated using the Hydrologic Engineering Centers River Analysis System (HEC-RAS) modeling software, Version 4.1.0 developed by the USACE. The channel cross sections and proposed bridge geometry were based on data provided by Quincy Engineering, Inc.

The hydraulic characteristics for the Project site are governed by the tailwater elevations from Humboldt Bay. Tidal elevations were estimated from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) data sources. The proposed bridge will be longer and wider than the existing bridge. It will also be a single-span structure with no piers while the existing bridge is a three-span structure with two piers. However, these geometric improvements would not significantly affect the water surface elevations in the vicinity of the bridge due to the backwater effect from the bay. The roadway and approaches would still be inundated during these extreme storm events. A summary of the 100-year WSEs at the bridge is presented in the following table.

		100-Year WSE (ft)			
River Station	Description	Existing	Proposed		
3118.45	Farthest upstream in the model	12.23	12.23		
2868.63	Upstream of existing/proposed bridge	12.04	12.04		
2686 / 2984.7	2686 /Upstream face, existing/proposed2984.7bridge		12.10		
2686 /Downstream face,2984.7existing/proposed bridge		12.09	12.09		
2616.89	Downstream of existing/proposed bridge	11.78	11.78		

Note: The elevations reference the National American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88); River Station decreases numerically travelling downstream

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRMs), dated August 5, 1986, for Humboldt County, California and Incorporated Areas show the estimated extents of the 100-year flood, Zone A, which includes the project site. No base flood elevations or depths are shown within this zone.

The Project does not propose to change the land use within the Project limits. Therefore, the Project would have insignificant impacts on the floodplain storage. The Project would not increase the WSEs upstream of the bridge. The overall potential risk associated with the proposed bridge is low.

Based on the hydraulic model results, no additional traffic interruptions are anticipated from the base flood due to the proposed improvements. The soffit elevation is designed to be higher than the adjacent banks, so the slough overtops before the soffit gets wet.

Regulatory permits and approvals are required from the USACE, the California Department of Fish and Wildlife, and the Regional Water Quality Control Board as the Project enters the final design phase. The County will coordinate with local, state, and federal water resources and floodplain management agencies as necessary during all aspects of the proposed Project.

Temporary environmental impacts resulting from construction activities for the proposed Project can be minimized with standard measures such as revegetation, best management practices, and other activities that are part of the Project's permit conditions. Long-term adverse effects to the natural and beneficial floodplain values are not anticipated as a result of the Project.

Acronyms

ACES	Automated Coastal Engineering System
ADT	Average Daily Traffic
BIR	Bridge Inspection Report
Caltrans	California Department of Transportation
CEDAS	Coastal Engineering Design and Analysis System
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
CN	Curve Number
DWR	California Department of Water Resources
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
FEMA	Federal Emergency Management Agency
FHWA	Federal Highway Administration
FIRM	Flood Insurance Rate Map
FIS	Flood Insurance Study
HBP	Highway Bridge Program
HEC-HMS	Hydrologic Engineering Centers Hydrologic Modeling System
HEC-RAS	Hydrologic Engineering Centers River Analysis System
HSG	hydrologic soil group
Project	Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project
NAVD 88	North American Vertical Datum of 1988
NGVD 29	National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929
NFIP	National Flood Insurance Program
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NRCS	Natural Resources Conservation Service
SCS	Soil Conservation Service
TR-55	Technical Release 55
USACE	U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
USGS	United States Geological Survey
WSE	water surface elevation

LOCATION HYDRAULIC STUDY FORM

Dist. 1	Co. Humboldt	Rte. Pine Hill H	Road	_P.M	N/A
EA: <u>N/A</u> Federal-Aid Project I	Number: BRI $\Omega_{-}5904(1)$	12)			
Tederal-Ald Troject	Mullioci. <u>DIALO-3704(1</u>	12)			
Floodplain Description	on: The Project is within I	FEMA FIRM panel ()600600775C	<u>C, effectiv</u>	<u>ve</u>
August 5, 1986. The	Special Flood Hazard Are	a (SFHA) classificat	<u>ion for Swain</u>	n Slough	at the
Pine Hill Road cross	ing is Zone A, which repre	sents areas that are v	<u>vithin a 100-y</u>	year flood	<u>lplain,</u>
and no base flood ele	evations (BFE) are determi	ned.		_	
1. Description of Pro minimize floodplain impacts,	posal (include any physical barrie	rs i.e. concrete barriers, soi	ındwalls, etc. and	design elem	ents to
The Project is located	d approximately 0.2 mi eas	t of Elk River Road	at the existing	g bridge	<u>site just</u>
south of Eureka, CA.	The preferred alternative	is to replace the exis	ting bridge of	n the exis	sting
alignment. In accorda	ance with County requirem	ents, the bridge will	provide two	<u>10-ft-wie</u>	<u>de</u>
traffic lanes and 5-ft-	wide shoulders, in addition	n to barrier rails alon	<u>ig both sides.</u>	The prop	<u>posed</u>
bridge will need desi	gn exceptions to the FHW	A freeboard criteria	based on site	condition	ns. The
proposed bridge type	s is a single-span precast co	oncrete I-girder, and	will be slight	ly longer	<u>than</u>
the existing to better	fit the site conditions. The	single-span bridge of	option will mi	<u>inimize ti</u>	<u>ne</u>
environmental impac	as to the slough as it will h	ot require any suppo	orts in the cree	ek channe	<u>ei.</u>
2. ADT: Curr	ent (year 2010) 18	<u>7</u> Pr	ojected	(year 20	030) 278
3. Hydraulic Data:	Base Flood Q100=	2,490 CFS			
•	WSE100= 12.1 ft	NAVD 88 (existing	and propose	d)	The flood
of record, if greater than Q1	00:				
	Q = CFS	W OF	SE =		
1)	Overtopping flood $Q=$	$>Q_{100}$ CFS W	SE = 12.1 ft	(existing	and
proposed)					
Are NFIP maps and s	studies available?	N	0	YES	\checkmark
4 To (b - b' - b 1	- (i 1((i (i - i	1-(
4. Is the highway loc	ation alternative within a r	egulatory Hoodway?		VEC	
		IN	J <u>v</u>	<u>1E5</u>	
5. Attach map with fl base floodplain.	lood limits outlined showin	ng all buildings or ot	her improven	nents wit	hin the
Potential Q1	00 backwater damages:			/	T T C
A.	Residences?		NO	v	YES
B.	Other Bldgs?		NO	▼	YES
<u>C</u> .	Crops?		NO	√	YES
D.	Natural and beneficial	Floodplain values?	NO	✓	YES
"Natural and beneficial floo	d-plain values" shall include but are	not limited to fish, wildlife,	plants, open space	e, natural be	auty,

"Natural and beneficial flood-plain values" shall include but are not limited to fish, wildlife, plants, open space, natural beauty, scientific study, outdoor recreation, agriculture, aquaculture, forestry, natural moderation of floods, water quality maintenance, and groundwater recharge.

6. Type of Traffic:

A. Emergency supply or evacuation route?	NO	\checkmark	YES
B. Emergency vehicle access?	NO	✓	YES
C. Practicable detour available?	NO	Y	ES✓

Location Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project Humboldt County, California Federal-Aid Project No. BRLO-5904(112) Existing Bridge No. 04C0173 WRECO P1225

LOCATION HYDRAULIC STUDY FORM cont.

I	rederal-Aid Project N EA N/A	lumber: BRLC)-5904(112)	Bridge No.	04C0	173 (Ex	cisting)
	D. Sc	hool bus or mail	route?		NO_	1	YES_
7	7. Estimated duration	of traffic interrup	otion for 100-y	ear event hours:_	N/A		
8	B. Estimated value of	Q100 flood dama	ages (if any) –	moderate risk lev	el.		
	B.	Property Total	\$ <u> </u>				
Ş	 Assessment c 	f Level of Risk	Low_ ✓ Moderate_				

For High Risk projects, during design phase, additional Design Study Risk Analysis may be necessary to determine design alternative.

PREPARED BY:

Signature:

I vertify that I have conducted a Location Hydraulic Study consistent with 23 CFR 650 and that the information summarized in items numbers 3, 4, 5, 8, and 9 of this form is accurate.

District Hydraulic Engineer (capital and 'on' system projects)

Date

Mhiles Dale 11/18/2015

Local Agency/Consulting Hydraulic Engineer (local assistance projects)

Is there any longitudinal encroachment, significant encroachment, or any support of incompatible Floodplain development? NO \checkmark YES

If yes, provide evaluation and discussion of practicability of alternatives in accordance with 23 CFR 650.113

Information developed to comply with the Federal requirement for the Location Hydraulic Study shall be retained in the project files.

1 certify that item numbers 1, 2, 6 and 7 of this Location Hydraulic Study Form are accurate and will ensure that Final PS&E reflects the information and recommendations of said report:

Date

District Project Engineer (cupitol and 'on' system projects)	
	- · · · ·

Local Agency Project Engineer (local assistance projects)

1/10/15 Dale

LOCATION HYDRAULIC STUDY FORM cont.

Dist.	1	_Co.	Humboldt	Rte	Pine 1	Hill Road	P.M.	N/A
Federa	I-Aid Project Num	ber:	BRLO-5904(112)					
EA	N/A			Bridg	e No	04C0173	<u>3 (Exis</u>	ting)
CONC I have rev submittal	URRED BY: viewed the quality and ad is adequate to meet the n	equacy o nandates	f the floodplain submittal cons of 23 CFR 650.	istent with th	e attached	checklist, and c	concur th	at the
				Date				
Distric	t Project Manager	(capital	and'on' system projects)					
				Date				
Local A	Agency Project Ma	anager	(Local Assistance projects)					
				Date				
Distric	t Local Assistance	Engin	eer (or District Hydraulic Br	anch for very	v complex p	projects or when	ı require	d expertise is
unavailab with the i	ele. Note: District Hydra nformation provided).	ulic Bra	nch review of local assistance	projects shal	l be based	on reasonablen	ess and c	concurrence
I concur t	hat the natural and benej	ficial floo	odplain values are consistent w	with the result	ts of other s	studies prepared	d pursuai	nt to 23 CFR
771, and i	that the NEPA document	or deteri	nination includes environment	al mitigation	consistent	with the Flood	olain ana	ılysis.
				Date				
Distric	t Senior Environm	ental I	Planner (or Designee)					

Note: If a significant floodplain encroachment is identified as a result of floodplains studies, FHWA will need to approve the encroachment and concur in the Only Practicable Alternative Finding.

Location Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project Humboldt County, California

Federal-Aid Project No. BRLO-5904(112) Existing Bridge No. 04C0173 WRECO P1225

Summary Floodplain Encroachment Report

Dist. 1 Co. Humboldt Rte.	Pine Hill Road	K.P
Federal-Aid Project Number (Local Assistance)_	BRLO-5904(112)	
Project No.:	Bridge No	04C0173 (Existing)

Limits: The Project is located approximately 0.2 mi east of Elk River Road at the existing bridge site just south of Eureka, CA. The preferred alternative is to replace the existing bridge on the existing alignment. In accordance with County requirements, the bridge will provide two 10-ftwide traffic lanes and 5-ft-wide shoulders, in addition to barrier rails along both sides. The proposed bridge will need design exceptions to the FHWA freeboard criteria based on site conditions. The proposed bridge type is a single-span precast concrete I-girder, and will be slightly longer than the existing to better fit the site conditions. The single-span bridge option will minimize the environmental impacts to the slough as it will not require any supports in the creek channel.

Floodplain Description: The Project is within FEMA FIRM panel 0600600775C, effective August 5, 1986. The Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) classification for Swain Slough at the Pine Hill Road crossing is Zone A, which represents areas that are within a 100-year floodnlain, and no base flood elevations (BFE) are determined.

		NO	Yes
1.	Is the proposed action a longitudinal encroachment of the base	~	
	floodplain?		
2.	Are the risks associated with the implementation of the proposed action significant?	~	
3,	Will the proposed action support probable incompatible floodplain development?	1	
4.	Are there any significant impacts on natural and beneficial floodplain values?	1	
5.	Routine construction procedures are required to minimize impacts on the floodplain. Are there any special mitigation measures necessary to minimize impacts or restore and preserve natural and beneficial	1	
	floodplain values? If yes, explain		
6	Does the proposed action constitute a significant floodplain	1	
ч.	encroachment as defined in 23 CFR, Section 650.105(q).		
7.	Are Location Hydraulic Studies that document the above answers on file? If not explain,	<u> </u>	~
	ALLY F AA AANY WEBPANIALAI		

PREPARED BY:

:	Date	an han sha ka ka mbaka wa sheka wa sheka wa sheka wa sa
		District Project Engineer (capital and 'on' system projects)
, 1	Date	Mitos
	_ Date	Local Agency/Consulting Hydraulic Engineer (age

CONCURRED BY:

Date 11/18/2015 stance projects) Date 11/18/15

November 2015

Summary Floodplain Encroachment Report cont.

Dist.	1	Co	Humboldt	Rte	Pine Hill Road	K.P	
Feder	al-Aid	Project	Number (Local A	ssistance)	BRLO-5904(112)		
Projec	ct No.:	-			Bridg	e No. <u>04C017</u>	<u>3 (Existing)</u>
District Project Manager (capital and 'on' system projects)							
					Date		
District Local Assistance Engineer (Local Assistance projects)							
I concur that impacts to natural and beneficial floodplain values are consistent with the results of other studies prepared pursuant to 23 CFR 771, and that the NEPA document or determination includes environmental mitigation consistent with the Floodplain analysis.							
					Date		_
Distric	et Senio	r Enviro	nmental Planner	(or Designe	e)		

Note: If a significant floodplain encroachment is identified as a result of floodplains studies, FHWA will need to approve the encroachment and concur in the Only Practicable Alternative Finding.

1 GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The Humboldt County Department of Public Works is proposing to replace Bridge No. 04C0173 Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough. The Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project (Project) site is located just south of Eureka and north of Elk River. The Project is funded through the Federal Aid Highway Bridge Program (HBP) utilizing toll credits as the matching funds. The bridge was inspected by the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) in 2011 and is classified "Structurally Deficient" with a sufficiency rating of 44.6. This bridge is eligible for replacement under the HBP guidelines.

See Figure 1 for the Project Location Map, Figure 2 for the Project Vicinity Map, and Figure 3 for the Project Aerial Map.



Figure 1. Project Location Map

Source: United States Geological Survey (USGS)



Figure 2. Project Vicinity Map

Source: USGS



Figure 3. Project Aerial Map

Source: Google Earth

1.1 Existing Bridge

The existing bridge is a 63 ft three-span timber stringer structure with a concrete deck and concrete abutments and was built in 1955 (see Photo 1). The two bent caps are constructed of reinforced concrete on eight total reinforced concrete piles. The bridge clear width is 19ft with a 6-in. curb/rail on each side for a total bridge width of 20 ft. The railing is constructed of painted timbers and there is no end protection at the bridge corners.

The overall roadway alignment is consistent with the flat terrain of the Elk River Valley. The asphalt concrete approach roadway is approximately 19 ft in width. The bridge is located on a tangent segment of the roadway. There is a slight vertical curve both east and west of the bridge though the bridge itself is flat. The non-standard clearance condition has existed at the bridge site since it was constructed. The structure has provided reliable service in its existing condition and does not appear affected or damaged by reduced hydraulic clearance.

1.2 Proposed Bridge

The preferred alternative is to replace the existing bridge with a new bridge on the same alignment. In order to satisfy the 50-year event hydraulic clearance requirements, the existing bridge would need to be replaced and the existing roadway profile would have to be raised significantly. This will have major cost implications along with increased environmental and right-of-way impacts. In accordance with County requirements, the

bridge will provide two 10-ft-wide traffic lanes and 5-ft-wide shoulders, in addition to barrier rails along both sides.

The proposed bridge will need design exceptions to the FHWA freeboard criteria based on site conditions. The channel banks are overtopped, and the surrounding area is inundated during the design event in both the existing and proposed conditions. Considering that: 1) the proposed deck elevation is set above the 100-year water surface elevations, 2) the soffit is above the bank elevations, and 3) the proposed bridge provides a significant increase in available conveyance under the bridge with no significant backwater impacts, the preferred alternative maximizes hydraulic performance while minimizing the impact on adjacent areas.

The proposed bridge type is a single-span precast concrete wide flange girder, and will be slightly longer than the existing to better fit the site conditions by reducing the encroachment into the channel. The single-span bridge option will minimize the environmental impacts to the slough as well as adjacent wetlands as it will not require any supports in the creek channel. The proposed bridge does not significantly affect the existing hydraulic clearance conditions such as water surface elevations or flow velocities. The proposed bridge general plan is shown in Figure 4.



Photo 1. Existing Bridge (Looking North/Downstream)

Location Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road Bridge Replacement Project Humboldt County, California

Federal-Aid Project No. BRLO-5904(112) Existing Bridge No. 53C2164 WRECO P1225



Figure 4. General Plan

Source: QEI, Inc.

1.3 Regulatory Setting

1.3.1 Executive Order 11988

Executive Order 11988 (Floodplain Management) directs all federal agencies to avoid, to the extent possible, long- and short-term adverse impacts associated with the occupancy and modification of floodplains, and to avoid direct and indirect support of floodplain development wherever there is a practicable alternative. Requirements for compliance are outlined in Title 23, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 650, Subpart A (23 CFR 650A) titled "Location and Hydraulic Design of Encroachment on Floodplains."

If the preferred alternative involves significant encroachment onto the floodplain, the final environmental document (final environmental impact statement or finding of no significant impact) must include:

- The reasons why the proposed action must be located in the floodplain,
- The alternatives considered and why they were not practicable, and
- A statement indicating whether the action conforms to applicable State or local floodplain protection standards.

1.3.2 California's National Flood Insurance Program

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) is the nationwide administrator of the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), which is a program that was established by the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 to protect lives and property, and to reduce the financial burden of providing disaster assistance. Under the NFIP, FEMA has the lead responsibility for flood hazard assessment and mitigation, and it offers federally backed flood insurance to homeowners, renters, and business owners in communities that choose to participate in the program. FEMA has adopted the 100-year floodplain as the base flood standard for the NFIP. FEMA is also concerned with construction that would be within a 500-year floodplain for proposed projects that are considered "critical actions," which are defined as any activities where even a slight chance of flooding is too great. FEMA issues the Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs) for communities that participate in the NFIP. These FIRMs present delineations of flood hazard zones.

In California, nearly all of the State's flood-prone communities participate in the NFIP, which is locally administered by the California Department of Water Resources' (DWR) Division of Flood Management. Under California's NFIP, communities have a mutual agreement with the State and Federal government to regulate floodplain development according to certain criteria and standards, which is further detailed in the NFIP.

1.3.3 Humboldt Floodplain Data

The Project site is located within FIRM panel 775 out of 1900 for Humboldt County, California, and incorporated areas, effective August 5, 1986.

1.4 Design Standards

The following criteria were considered in the design of the proposed bridge.

1.4.1 FEMA Standards

FEMA standards are employed for design, construction, and regulation to reduce flood loss and to protect resources. Two types of standards are often employed: design criteria and performance standards.

A design criteria or specified standard dictates that a provision, practice, requirement, or limit be met; e.g., using the 1% flood and establishing floodway boundaries so as not to cause more than a 1-ft increase in flood stages.

A performance standard dictates that a goal is to be achieved, leaving it to the individual application as to how to achieve the goal; e.g., providing protection to the regulatory flood, keeping post-development stormwater runoff the same as pre-development, or maintaining the present quantity and quality of water in a wetland.

The 1% annual chance flood and floodplain have been adopted as a common design and regulatory standard in the United States. The NFIP adopted it in the early 1970s, and it was adopted as a standard for use by all federal agencies with the issuance of Executive Order 11988. States or local agencies are free to impose a more stringent standard within their jurisdiction.

1.4.2 FHWA Standards

The FHWA criterion for the hydraulic design of bridges is that they be designed to pass the 2% probability of annual exceedance flow (50-year recurrence interval design discharge) with adequate freeboard, where practicable, to account for debris and bedload.

1.4.3 Caltrans Standards

The Caltrans criteria for the hydraulic design of bridges is that they be designed to pass the 2% probability of annual exceedance flow (50-year design discharge) or the flood of record, whichever is greater, with adequate freeboard to pass anticipated drift. Two feet (2 ft) of freeboard is commonly used in bridge designs. The bridge should also be designed to convey the 1% probability of annual exceedance flow (100-year design discharge, or base flood). No freeboard is added to the base flood.

1.4.4 Design Exception

An evaluation should be performed to determine, if horizontal and vertical driftway requirements warrant a modified freeboard. The existing and proposed bridges do not meet the freeboard criteria. Although the proposed bridge would not meet freeboard criteria, the 100-year flow is still conveyed through the bridge or across the approach roadways. The soffit elevation is designed to be higher than the adjacent banks, so the slough overtops before the soffit gets wet. The bridge deck has been designed to remain dry during a 100-year flow event. The bridge would not cause objectionable backwater.

The approach roadways leading to the bridge become inundating during high flows. The existing bridge is not accessible from adjacent County roads during flood events, and the County does not plan to improve the approach roadways to meet standard flood elevation. Raising the bridge to meet all hydraulics criteria would be impractical considering the roadway approaches to the new bridge are well below the hydraulics criteria, making the bridge impossible to reach during times of flood.

Configuring the bridge to meet all hydraulics criteria including sea level rise would be very costly and would significantly increase the environmental impacts. The bridge has been designed to accommodate a future raise if needed due to sea level rise.

1.5 Traffic

In 2010, the average daily traffic (ADT) on the bridge was 109. The ADT is projected by the City to increase to 278 in 2030.

1.6 Other Projects in the Project Vicinity

The mouth of Martin Slough is separated from Swain Slough by a levee and tide gates (see Photo 2**Error! Reference source not found.**). The Martin Slough Enhancement Project was proposed and funded by the California State Water Quality Control Board Department of Water Resources and California State Coastal Conservancy. Alternatives were evaluated in the *Martin Slough Enhancement Feasibility Study* in 2006. The preferred alternative for that project consisted of removing the existing tide gates, installing new tide gates with a habitat door designed to create a muted tide cycle and facilitate fish passage, increasing the size of existing ponds, creating new ponds, and making channel modifications throughout the Project area. This structure has been built and in-place at the time this report was written (see Photo 3).



Photo 2. Tide Gates (Looking East from the Bridge)



Photo 3. New Martin Slough Tide Gates

1.7 Vertical Datum

The Project references the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88). All elevations presented in this report are based on the NAVD 88 datum unless otherwise specified.

2 AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT

2.1 Geographic Location

The Project is located at 40°45' North latitude and 124°11' West longitude, just south of the city of Eureka, California. The Project site is located on Pine Hill Road and crosses over Swain Slough immediately downstream of its confluence with Martin Slough. The Project site is located approximately 0.2 mi east of Elk River Road.

2.2 Watershed Description

The Project is within the Elk River watershed. Pine Hill Road crosses over Swain Slough just downstream of Swain Slough's confluence with Martin Slough. Elk River joins the Swain Slough at a confluence approximately 1,750 feet downstream of the project site. Because of Elk River's proximity to the Project site, it was also analyzed. The watershed delineations are shown in Figure 5. The watershed that drains to the Project site was estimated to be 5.5 square mi.

Flow Change Location	Watershed Area (sq. mi)
Swain Slough	0.2
Martin Slough	5.2
Swain Slough Downstream of its Confluence with Martin Slough	5.5
Elk River Upstream of its Confluence with Martin/Swain Slough	50.2
Elk River Downstream of its Confluence with Martin/Swain Slough	55.8

Table 1. Watershed Areas

2.3 Receiving Water Bodies

The confluence of Swain Slough with Elk River is 0.5 mi downstream of the Project site. Elk River eventually drains into Humboldt Bay approximately 1.5 mi further downstream. Because of its close proximity to Humboldt Bay, the Project is tidally influenced. Flooding in the area will also be affected by sea level rise. The nearest tide gage is North Spit, Humboldt Bay (NOAA Station ID No. 9418767), which was installed in October 6, 1991.

2.4 Precipitation

The mean annual precipitation for the watershed basins described in Section 2.2 were estimated using the USGS StreamStats application, and are summarized in Table 2.

The precipitation depths were obtained from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's (NOAA) Atlas 14 website for California Precipitation Frequency Data using the longitude and latitude of the approximate centroid of the watershed. The 100-year 24-hour precipitation depth was estimated to be 6.53 in. Based on the rainfall distribution map from the NRCS, the Project is within the rainfall distribution Type IA (1986).



Figure 5. Project Watershed Map

Source: USGS

Table 2	2. Mean	Annual	Preci	pitation
I abit 4	a mican	¹ Minuai	11001	priation

Flow Change Location	Mean Annual Precipitation (in.)
Swain Slough	41.5
Martin Slough	43.1
Swain Slough Downstream of its Confluence with Martin Slough	43.0
Elk River Upstream of its Confluence with Martin/Swain Slough	54.7
Elk River Downstream of its Confluence with Martin/Swain Slough	53.5

2.5 Land Use

The Humboldt County general plan was updated in 2015. The Humboldt GIS Portal web mapping application was accessed to view the land uses for Humboldt County. The Martin/Swain Slough and Elk River watersheds are superimposed on the planned land uses from the General Plan (see Figure 6). A portion of the Martin/Swain Slough watershed is within the already developed city of Eureka. Other land uses within the Martin/Swain Slough watershed are designated in the general plan as low density residential, medium density residential, open space, public facility, coastal timberland, and agricultural exclusive. The land uses within the Elk River watershed are designated low density residential, medium density residential, rural residential, agricultural exclusive, natural resource, open space, public lands, coastal timberland, with a majority of the watershed designated as timberland. The land use element of the general plan describes these land uses and provides policies to ensure that the management of public lands within Humboldt County are consistent with the goals of the general plan. In general, the areas that are designated residential land uses are already developed. A portion of the Martin/Swain Slough watershed that is designated low density residential is currently undeveloped.

2.6 FEMA Floodplains

The Project site is located in Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) Zone A, which represents areas subject to flooding by the 100-year flood event determined by approximate methods where BFEs are not shown. At the Project site, the 100-year flood elevation is approximately 12.1 ft NAVD 88, 2.8 ft over the bridge deck.



Figure 6. Land Use Map for Project Watershed

Source: USGS

3 HYDROLOGY AND HYDRAULICS

3.1 Hydrologic Assessment

The following sub-sections describe the hydrologic data sources that were used to estimate the flows for the Project site.

3.1.1 Hydrologic Design Methods

WRECO evaluated the hydrology for Martin/Swain Sloughs at the Project site using the following hydrologic methods:

- 1. USGS Regional Regression Equations
- 2. Rainfall/Runoff Model using Hydrologic Engineering Center's Hydrologic Modeling System (HEC-HMS) Software

WRECO evaluated the hydrology for Elk River using the United States Geological Survey Regional Regression Equations.

3.1.2 United States Geological Survey Regional Regression Equations

Flood-frequency equations were developed by the USGS based on analysis of gage station data. California is divided into six regions; the Project site is within the North Coast region. These flood-frequency equations are generally used to estimate stream flow for ungaged sites that are not affected by substantial urban development and that are natural (unregulated) streams.

On July 18, 2012, the USGS issued *Methods for Determining Magnitude and Frequency of Floods in California, Based on Data through Water Year 2006* (Gotvald et. al. 2012), which contains regional flood-frequency equations, and includes boundaries of the six regions within California. These equations are based on annual peak-flow data through water year 2006 for 771 streamflow-gaging stations in California having 10 or more years of data.

The flood-frequency equation is as follows (Gotvald et. al., 2012):

 $Q_{100} = 48.5(DRNAREA)^{0.866}(PRECIP)^{0.556}$

Where:

$Q_x =$	peak discharge for a storm event with a return period of x years, cubic feet per second (cfs)
DRNAREA =	drainage area, square mi
PRECIP =	mean annual precipitation, in.

The drainage areas for the watersheds in the vicinity of the Project site are presented in Section 2.2 and the mean annual precipitation values for the corresponding watersheds are presented in Section 3.1.3. The design discharges for Martin and Swain Sloughs were estimated based on a combined watershed area because Pine Hill Road crosses over Swain Slough immediately downstream of its confluence with Martin Slough. The calculated design discharges are summarized in Table 3.

Stream and Location	100 Year Peak Discharge (cfs)
Swain Slough	
(downstream of confluence with	1,710
Martin Slough)	
Elk River	
(upstream of confluence with	13,340
Swain Slough)	
Elk River	
(downstream of confluence with	14,430
Swain Slough)	

Table 3. Regional Regression Design Discharges for the Project

3.1.3 Rainfall/Runoff Model

WRECO developed a rainfall/runoff model to estimate the 100-year recurrence interval design discharge for Swain/Martin sloughs using HEC-HMS software, and following the Soil Conservation Service's (SCS) Unit Hydrograph Method. The input parameters were estimated following the procedures in Technical Release 55 (TR-55), the *Urban Hydrology for Small Watersheds* manual (Natural Resources Conservation Service [NRCS] 1986) and *A Guide to Hydrologic Analysis Using SCS Methods* (McCuen 1982).

The Project site drains a watershed area of 5.5 square mi. The watersheds were modeled using the SCS Curve Number (CN) loss method and the SCS Unit Hydrograph transform method. The SCS CN is based on the cover type, hydrologic condition of that cover, and the hydrologic soil group (HSG). Cover types are typically selected based on aerial photographs and land use maps. The hydrologic condition indicates the effects of cover type and treatment on infiltration and runoff.

Infiltration rates and runoff potential are indicated by the soil's HSG. Soils may be assigned to one of four groups (A, B, C, or D). Group A has high infiltration rates (low runoff potential) and consists mainly of deep, well-drained to excessively drained sands or gravelly sands. On the other end of the spectrum, Group D has very slow infiltration rates (high runoff potential) and consists chiefly of clays that have a high shrink-swell potential or soils with a clay or nearly impervious layer near the surface. The HSGs were not available from the NRCS online *Web Soil Survey* (2015), and the soils underlying the Project's watershed were assumed to be HSG D, as the major soil type onsite is observed to be clay.

Based on the land uses from the county general plan and the HSG, a composite CN was estimated to represent the watershed basin. In the hydrologic model, the rainfall is converted to runoff by using a CN. The composite CN was estimated to be 91 and the corresponding initial abstraction value was estimated to be 0.198 inches. The initial abstraction is the part of rainfall that occurs before direct stormwater runoff begins, and consists of interception, initial infiltration, surface depression storage, evapotranspiration, and other factors.

The lag time was estimated using the lag time presented in *A Guide to Hydrologic Analysis Using SCS Methods* (McCuen 1982). The lag time is calculated using the following equation:

$$L = \frac{\ell^{0.8} (S+1)^{0.7}}{1900 Y^{0.5}}$$

Where:

L = lag time, which is the time from the center of mass of rainfall excess to the peak discharge, hours

 ℓ = hydraulic length, feet

S = maximum retention, unitless

$$S = \frac{1000}{CN} - 10$$

Where:
 $CN =$ runoff curve number
 $Y =$ slope, percent

The lag time was calculated to be 1.6 hours.

The peak discharge at the Project site during the 100-year event was estimated to be 2,490 cfs.

3.1.4 Design Discharge Summary and Selected Design Discharges

Because the majority of the watershed area for Elk River is rural where flows are generally unaffected by urban development, the peak discharges calculated using the regional regression equations were used for the hydraulic analysis.

A large portion of the watershed area for Swain/Martin sloughs is encompassed by the city of Eureka as well as other residential areas within unincorporated Humboldt County. Because of the urban nature of the watershed, the regional regression equations for Swain/Martin sloughs were only used as a basis of comparison. Therefore, the peak discharges calculated using the rainfall/runoff method were selected for use in the hydraulic analysis.

The peak discharges selected for the hydraulic analysis are presented in Table 4, and the confluence points are identified in the aerial map image in Figure 3.
Tuble 11 5 Wull Mill Mill Sloughs und Elk Miller I euk Dischurge Vuldes			
Stream and Location	100-Year Peak Discharge (cfs)		
Swain Slough (downstream of confluence with Martin Slough)	2,490		
Elk River (River Station 1407.91: upstream of confluence with Swain Slough)	13,340		
Elk River (River Station 62.62: downstream of confluence with Swain Slough)	14,430		

Table 4. Swain/Martin Sloughs and Elk River Peak Discharge Values

3.1.5 Hydrologic Stability

Based on a review of aerial imagery and land use maps from the Humboldt County general plan, a portion of the Martin/Swain Slough watershed is within the already developed city of Eureka. A portion of the Martin/Swain Slough watershed that is designated low density residential is currently undeveloped. In general, the areas that are designated residential land uses are already developed. Flows from these area are expected to be larger than undeveloped flows. Future development in the watershed may result in changes to the hydrograph.

3.2 Hydraulic Assessment

The following subsections discuss the development of the hydraulic models and summarize the results for the existing and proposed conditions. The water surface profile plots, hydraulic summary tables, and channel cross sections are included in Section 3.3 for the existing and proposed bridges.

3.2.1 Design Tools

The hydraulic analyses were performed for the existing and proposed conditions using the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Hydrologic Engineering Center's (USACE) Hydrologic Engineering Centers River Analysis System (HEC-RAS) modeling software, Version 4.1.0.

3.2.2 Cross Section Data

Survey data was provided by Quincy Engineering, Inc., which included stream survey of Swain Slough, Martin Slough, and Elk River. The survey data referenced the NAVD 88 datum.

3.2.3 Modeled Hydraulic Structures

The geometry of the existing bridge in the hydraulic model is based on information from the Caltrans Bridge Inspection Report (BIR) and survey data provided by Quincy Engineering, Inc. The bridge deck elevations were based on the survey data. The proposed structural design and roadway profiles for the proposed bridge replacement were based on General Plan documents provided by Quincy Engineering, Inc.

3.2.4 Model Boundary Condition

Because of the Project site's proximity to Humboldt Bay, the downstream model boundary condition used tidal elevations from Humboldt Bay for the hydraulic design of the bridge. Information from FEMA and NOAA was obtained to develop the model's downstream boundary condition. The proposed bridge is designed based on the tidal elevations at Humboldt Bay. Although there are various studies investigation sea level rise, the downstream tidal elevations used for the model boundary conditions are based on current information.

For the purposes of scour, two other downstream boundary conditions were considered: a normal depth slope of 0.1% and mean lower-low water (MLLW). Mean lower low water from the tide gage at North Spit, Humboldt Bay, California (Station ID Number 9418767) for the 1983 to 2001 tidal epoch (tidal datum analysis period between January 1, 1983 and December 31, 2001) is -0.34 ft NAVD 88. The tidal elevations for the North Spit tide gage are graphically depicted in Figure 7.



Figure 7. Tidal Elevations at North Spit Tide Gage

Source: NOAA

3.2.5 National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Data for Humboldt Bay

The calculation of extreme water surface events was performed using the Automated Coastal Engineering System (ACES), a program developed by the USACE and included as part of the Coastal Engineering Design and Analysis System (CEDAS). Historical tide data was obtained from NOAA's website for the tide gage at North Spit. The monthly highest water levels from 1979 through 2011 were retrieved from NOAA's database. This data was used to determine the historical yearly maximum water surface elevation, which was then used in the Extremal Significant Wave Height Analysis module of ACES to calculate 100-year and 50-year water surface elevations. The Weibull distribution with k equal to 2.0 was the best fit for the data, with a correlation of 0.99. The extreme tidal water surface elevations were calculated to be 8.04 ft for the 100-year event and 7.92 ft for the 50-year event.

3.2.6 Federal Emergency Management Agency Data for Humboldt Bay

The effective Flood Insurance Study (FIS) for Humboldt County (FEMA 1999) included stillwater elevations for Humboldt Bay at the city of Eureka. The reported elevations reference the National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929 (NGVD 29) vertical datum. A height conversion of 3.31 ft from NOAA's VERTCON was used to convert the elevations from NGVD 29 to NAVD 88 to match the vertical datum referenced for the Project. A preliminary FIS for Humboldt County (FEMA 2015) includes stillwater elevations for Humboldt Bay that already reference the NAVD 88 datum.

Table 5. Humboldt Day Stinwater Elevations			
Source	50-Year Stillwater Elevation		
Effective FIS 1999	6.1 ft NGVD 29		
	(9.41 ft NAVD 88)		
Preliminary FIS 2015	9.67 ft NAVD 88		

Table 5. Humboldt Bay Stillwater Elevations

3.2.7 Selected Downstream Boundary Condition

The stillwater elevation for Humboldt Bay from the preliminary FIS was selected as the downstream boundary condition for the hydraulic design. Although the FIS is preliminary, it provides the best available data and is a more conservative estimate than the effective data.

3.2.8 Sea Level Rise

The proposed bridge is designed based on the tidal elevations at Humboldt Bay and there are provisions to raise the bridge in the future to address sea level rise, but the currently proposed bridge is not designed to account for sea level rise. The following discussions are included based on currently available information and should be verified if the bridge is raised in the future. The bridge foundations are designed for the superstructure to be able to be raised in the future to accommodate sea level rise.

Sea level rise at the Project site was estimated using information from *Sea-Level Rise for the Coasts of California, Oregon, and Washington: Past, Present and Future (National Academy of Science 2012).* The sea level rise in the year 2100 is projected to be 91.9 +/-25.5 cm in San Francisco and its surrounding regions.

3.3 Water Surface Elevations

The water surface elevations at the upstream side of the bridge for the existing and proposed conditions are summarized in Table 6. The water surface profiles along the studied stream reach are presented in Figure 8 for the existing and proposed bridges. The cross sections at the upstream sides of the existing and proposed bridges are shown in Figure 9.

Table 6. Water Surface Elevations at Upstream Side of Pine Hill Road Bridge	with
Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	

Bridge Condition	100-Year Water Surface Elevation (ft)		
Existing	12.1		
Proposed	12.1		

The proposed bridge will be longer and wider than the existing bridge. It will also be a single-span structure with no piers while the existing bridge is a three-span structure with two piers. However, these geometric improvements would not significantly affect the water surface elevations in the vicinity of the bridge. The tidal water surface elevations from Humboldt Bay govern the water surface elevations at the Project site. The bridge approaches would still be inundated during these extreme storm events.



Figure 8. Swain Slough 100-Year Water Surface Profile at Pine Hill Road



Figure 9. Upstream Face of Existing and Proposed Bridge, Looking Downstream (North)

4 **PROJECT EVALUATION**

Executive Order 11988 requires federal agencies to avoid to the maximum extent possible the long- and short-term adverse impacts associated with the occupancy and modification of floodplains and to avoid direct and indirect support of floodplain development wherever there is a practicable alternative. This section analyzes the impacts associated with this Project.

4.1 Risk Associated with the Proposed Action

As defined by the FHWA, risk shall mean the consequences associated with the probability of flooding attributable to an encroachment. It shall include the potential for property loss and hazard to life during the service life of the bridge and roadway.

The potential risk associated with the implementation of the proposed action includes but is not limited to: 1) change in land use, 2) change in impervious surface area, 3) fill inside the floodplain, or 4) change in the 100-year water surface elevation. Change in Land Use The Project does not propose to change the land use within the Project limits.

4.1.1 Change in Land Use

The project will not change the land use. Therefore, there is no risk due to this factor.

4.1.2 Change in Impervious Surface Area

The proposed bridge will not result in significant change in the impervious surface area, so there is no risk due to this factor.

4.1.3 Fill Inside the Floodplain

The proposed bridge will not cause increase in fill inside the floodplain, so there is no risk due to this criterion.

4.1.4 Change in the 100-Year Water Surface Elevation

The hydraulic model indicated that the proposed bridge would result in no significant change of WSE upstream of the bridge, as discussed in Section 3.3. The tidal water surface elevations from Humboldt Bay govern the water surface elevations at the Project site. The bridge and approaches would still be inundated during these extreme storm events. Therefore, the risk due to this factor is low.

4.2 Summary of Potential Encroachments

The FHWA defines a significant encroachment as a highway encroachment, and any direct support of likely base floodplain development, that would involve one or more of the following construction or flood-related impacts: 1) significant potential for interruption or termination of a transportation facility that is needed for emergency vehicles or provides a community's only evacuation route, 2) a significant risk, or 3) a significant adverse impact on the natural and beneficial floodplain values (FHWA 1994).

The following sections discuss the potential impacts to the floodplain that may result from the proposed action. The risk associated with implementation of the action is discussed in Section 4.1.

4.2.1 Potential Traffic Interruptions for the Base Flood

Under existing conditions, the FEMA FIRM shows the bridge and roadway approaches are within Zone A, which represents areas that are within the 100-year floodplains. Based on the hydraulic model that was prepared for this Project, the proposed bridge will not cause significant change in WSE during storm events. Therefore, additional traffic interruptions due to the base flood are not anticipated at the Project location.

4.2.2 Potential Impacts on Natural and Beneficial Floodplain Values

Natural and beneficial floodplain values include, but are not limited to: fish, wildlife, plants, open space, natural beauty, scientific study, outdoor recreation, agriculture, aquaculture, forestry, natural moderation of floods, water quality maintenance, and ground water recharge.

The proposed bridge replacement project will not adversely impact any natural or beneficial floodplain value in the project vicinity.

4.2.3 Support of Probable Incompatible Floodplain Development

As defined by the FHWA, the support of incompatible base floodplain development will encourage, allow, serve, or otherwise facilitate incompatible base floodplain development, such as commercial development or urban growth.

As the project site is in not in an urban or industrial setting, the support of probable incompatible floodplain development is not of concern due to the project.

4.2.4 Longitudinal Encroachments

As defined by the FHWA, a longitudinal encroachment is an action within the limits of the base floodplain that is longitudinal to the normal direction of the floodplain.

A longitudinal encroachment is "[a]n encroachment that is parallel to the direction of flow. Example: A highway that runs along the edge of a river is usually considered a longitudinal encroachment." The requirement for consideration of avoidance alternatives must be included in a Location Hydraulic Study by including an evaluation and a discussion of the practicability of alternatives to any significant encroachment or any support of incompatible floodplain development.

Although the improvements would longitudinally encroach onto the base floodplain, the existing road and bridge already encroaches longitudinally onto the base floodplain. The improvements would not significantly impact the WSEs.

5 AVOIDANCE, MINIMIZATION, AND/OR MITIGATION MEASURES

5.1 Minimize Floodplain Impacts

Based on the hydraulic modeling, the proposed bridge would not result in changes in land use. The Project would have minimal effects to the floodplains within the Project limits. The potential negative impacts of the proposed bridge to the existing floodplain would be minimal. No special minimization or mitigation measures are required.

5.2 Restore and Preserve Natural and Beneficial Floodplain Values

Environmental impacts due to temporary construction activities can be mitigated with standard best management practice measures. The USACE Individual Permit and Clean Water Act Section 404 permits, the California Department of Fish and Wildlife 1600 Streambed Alteration agreement, and the Regional Water Quality Control Board 401 Water Quality Certification are in place for the Project

5.3 Alternatives to Significant Encroachments

5.4 The Project would not impact the elevation of the 100-year flood within the Project vicinity. There would be no floodplain encroachments. Because this Project is not considered a significant encroachment, other alternatives were not

evaluated. Alternatives to Longitudinal Encroachments

Although the improvements would longitudinally encroach onto the base floodplain, the existing road and bridge already encroaches longitudinally onto the base floodplain. The improvements would not significantly impact the WSEs. Therefore, avoidance alternatives were not considered.

5.5 Coordination with Local, State, and Federal Water Resources and Floodplain Management Agencies

The City will coordinate with local, state, and federal water resources and floodplain management agencies as necessary during all aspects of the proposed Project. Regulatory permits and approvals, as mentioned in Section 5.2, would be required as the Project enters the final design phase.

6 **REFERENCES**

- California Department of Transportation. (October 2000). *California Bank and Shore Rock Slope Protection Design*. Final Report No. FHWA-CA-TL-95-10. Caltrans Study No. F90TL03. Third Edition.
- California Department of Transportation. (2003). Memo to Designers 1-23: Hydraulic and Hydrologic Data.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency. (February 8, 1999). Flood Insurance Study for Humboldt County, California Unincorporated Areas. Community Number
- Federal Emergency Management Agency. (2006). National Training and Education Emergency Management Institute. "Chapter 13: Regulatory and Design Standards for Reducing Losses." *Floodplain Management – An Integrated Approach*.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency. (January 9, 2015). Flood Insurance Study for Humboldt County, California and Incorporated Areas. Preliminary. Flood Insurance Study Number 06023CV000A.
- Federal Highway Administration. (1994). "Location and Hydraulic Design of Encroachment on Flood Plains." Federal-Aid Policy Guide. Title 23, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 650, Subpart A (23 CFR 650A December 7, 1994, Transmittal 12. <u>http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/legsregs/directives/fapg/cfr0650a.htm</u>
- Federal Highway Administration. (2004). Code of Federal Regulations. Title 23 Highways. Sub-chapter G – Engineering and Traffic Operations. Part 650 – Bridges, Structures, and Hydraulics.
- Gotvald, A.J., N.A. Barth, A.G. Veilleux, and C. Parrett. (2012). Methods for determining magnitude and frequency of floods in California, based on data through water year 2006. U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2012–5113, 38 p., 1 pl., available online only at <http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2012/5113/>.
- Humboldt County. Planning Division Maps and GIS Information. http://gis.co.humboldt.ca.us/defaultprev.asp (Last accessed: June 17, 2015)
- McCuen., R. (1982). A Guide to Hydrologic Analysis Using SCS Methods. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Hydrometeorological Design Studies Center. (2012). NOAA Atlas 14 Point Precipitation Frequency Estimates: CA. <<u>http://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/pfds_map_cont.html?bkmrk=ca</u>> (Last accessed: August 14, 2012)
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Orthometric Height Conversion. <http://www.ngs.noaa.gov/cgi-bin/VERTCON/vert_con.prl> (Last accessed: June 16, 2015).

- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Tides and Currents. Datums for 9418767, North Spit CA. http://co-ops.nos.noaa.gov/datums.html?id=9418767 (Last accessed: June 19, 2015).
- Natural Resources Conservation Service. (1986). *Technical Release 55* (TR-55) *Urban Hydrology for Small Watersheds*. 210-VI-TR-55. Second Edition. June 1986.
- Natural Resources Conservation Service. *Web Soil Survey*. http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/WebSoilSurvey.aspx (Last accessed: August 14, 2012)
- SHN Consulting Engineers and Geologists, Inc. (October 2014). Final Foundation Report. Pine Hill Road Bridge at Swain Slough, Eureka, Humboldt County, California. Reference: 012163.
- United States Geological Survey. (2001). California: Seamless USGS Topographic Maps. CDROM, Version 2.6.8, Part Number: 113-100-004. National Geographic Holdings, Inc

Appendix AFederal Emergency Management AgencyFlood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM)



Source: FEMA

Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Humboldt County, California Federal-Aid Project No. BRLO-5904(112) Existing Bridge No. 04C0173

Bridge Design Hydraulic Study Report



Prepared for: Prepared by: P

November 2015

Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Humboldt County, California Federal-Aid Project No. BRLO-5904(112) Existing Bridge No. 04C0173

Bridge Design Hydraulic Study Report

Submitted to: Humboldt County Department of Public Works

This report has been prepared by or under the supervision of the following Registered Engineer. The Registered Civil Engineer attests to the technical information contained herein and has judged the qualifications of any technical specialists providing engineering data upon which recommendations, conclusions, and decisions are based.

Han-Bin Liang, Ph.D., P.E. Registered Civil Engineer

11/18/2015

Date



Table of Contents

E	xecutive	e Summary	. iv
А	cronym	S	viii
1		General Description	1
	1.1	Existing Bridge	4
	1.2	Proposed Bridge	5
	1.3	Purpose	5
	1.4	Key Tasks	5
	1.5	Design Criteria	7
	1.5.1	Hydraulic Design Criteria	7
	1.5.2	2 Scour Design Criteria	7
	1.5.3	3 Rock Slope Protection Design Criteria	8
	1.6	Vertical Datum	8
2		Geographic Setting	9
	2.1	Geographic Location	9
	2.2	Watershed Description	11
	2.3	Receiving Water Bodies	12
	2.4	Precipitation	12
	2.5	Land Use	14
3		Hydrologic Analysis	16
	3.1	Hydrologic Design Methods	16
	3.1.1	United States Geological Survey Regional Regression Equations	16
	3.1.2	2 Rainfall/Runoff Model	17
	3.2	Design Discharge Summary and Selected Design Discharges	19
	3.3	Hydrologic Stability	19
4		Hydraulic Analysis	20
	4.1	Design Tools	20
	4.2	Cross Section Data	20
	4.3	Modeled Hydraulic Structures	20
	4.4	Model Boundary Condition	20
	4.4.1	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Data for Humboldt Bay.	21
	4.4.2	2 Federal Emergency Management Agency Data for Humboldt Bay	21
	4.4.3	3 Selected Downstream Boundary Condition	22
	4.4.4	Sea Level Rise	22
	4.5	Manning's Roughness Coefficients	23
	4.6	Expansion and Contraction Coefficients	23
	4.7	Water Surface Elevations	23
	4.8	Freeboard	27
	4.9	Flow Velocities	28
5		Scour Analysis	29
	5.1	Caltrans Bridge Inspection Reports	29
	5.2	Existing Channel Bed	29
	5.3	Long-Term Bed Elevation Change	30
	5.4	Contraction Scour	30
	5.5	Local Abutment Scour	31

5	.6	Total Scour and Scour Countermeasures	. 33
	5.6.	1 Total Scour	. 33
	5.6.	2 Scour Countermeasures	. 34
6		References	. 35

Figures

0	
Figure 1. Project Location Map	1
Figure 2. Project Vicinity Map	2
Figure 3. Project Aerial Map	3
Figure 4. Proposed Bridge General Plan	6
Figure 5. Project Watershed Map	13
Figure 6. Land Use Map for Project Watershed	15
Figure 7. Tidal Elevations at North Spit Tide Gage	21
Figure 8. Upstream Face of Existing Bridge, Looking Downstream (North) with	
Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	24
Figure 9. Upstream Face of Proposed Bridge, Looking Downstream (North) with	
Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	24
Figure 10. Existing Bridge 100-Year and 50-Year Water Surface Profiles with Stilly	water
Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	25
Figure 11. Proposed Bridge 100-Year and 50-Year Water Surface Profiles with Still	lwater
Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	26
· · ·	

Tables

Table 1. Watershed Areas	. 11
Table 2. Mean Annual Precipitation	. 12
Table 3. Regional Regression Design Discharges for the Project	. 17
Table 4. Unit Hydrograph Design Discharges for Swain/Martin Sloughs at Project Site	18
Table 5. Swain/Martin Sloughs and Elk River Peak Discharge Values	. 19
Table 6. Humboldt Bay Stillwater Elevations	. 22
Table 7. Sea Level Rise Estimates for the Year 2100 near Humboldt Bay, California	. 23
Table 8. Water Surface Elevations at Upstream Side of Pine Hill Road Bridge with	
Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	. 23
Table 9. 100-Year Water Surface Elevations and Freeboard Based on Stillwater	
Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	. 27
Table 10. 50-Year Water Surface Elevations and Freeboard Based on Stillwater	
Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	. 27
Table 11. Average Channel Velocities – 100-Year Flow with Stillwater Elevations of	
Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS	. 28
Table 12. Average Channel Velocities – 100-Year Flow with Normal Depth	. 28
Table 13. Average Channel Velocities – 100-Year Flow with MLLW from Humboldt	
Bay	. 28
Table 14. Ultimate (Contraction) Scour	. 31
Table 15. Local Abutment Scour	. 32
Table 16. Proposed Bridge Total Scour Elevation	. 33

Photos

Photo 1. Existing Bridge (Looking North/Downstream)	4
Photo 2. Existing Tide Gates (Looking East from the Bridge)	10
Photo 3. New Martin Slough Tide Gates	11

Appendices

- Appendix AHEC-RAS Existing ConditionAppendix BHEC-RAS Proposed Condition
- Appendix BHEC-RAS Proposed ConditionAppendix CScour CalculationsAppendix DRock Slope Protection Calculations

Executive Summary

The Humboldt County Department of Public Works is proposing to replace Bridge No. 04C0173 Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough. The Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project (Project) site crosses over Swain Slough immediately downstream of its confluence with Martin Slough. The mouth of Martin Slough is separated from Swain Slough by a levee and tide gates. The confluence of Swain Slough with Elk River is 0.5 mi downstream of the Project site. Elk River eventually drains into Humboldt Bay approximately 1.5 mi further downstream. Because of its close proximity to Humboldt Bay, the Project is tidally influenced, and Elk River was also analyzed. Quincy Engineering, Inc. has provided the engineering design plans for the bridge design for the Project.

The purpose of this Bridge Design Hydraulic Study report is to present the hydrologic and hydraulic characteristics for the Project site, present the estimated scour depths at the proposed bridge, and provide recommendations for scour countermeasures for the proposed bridge.

The peak discharges for Swain/Martin sloughs were estimated using a rainfall/runoff model. The 100-year and 50-year peak discharge values for Swain/Martin sloughs were estimated to be 2,490 cubic feet per second (cfs) and 2,200 cfs, respectively. The hydraulic characteristics at the Project site were evaluated using the Hydrologic Engineering Centers River Analysis System (HEC-RAS) modeling software, Version 4.1.0 developed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE).

The hydraulic characteristics for the Project site are governed by the tailwater elevations from Humboldt Bay. Tidal elevations were estimated from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) data sources. The proposed bridge will be longer and wider than the existing bridge. It will also be a single-span structure with no piers while the existing bridge is a three-span structure with two piers. However, these geometric improvements would not significantly affect the water surface elevations in the vicinity of the bridge. The tidal water surface elevations from Humboldt Bay govern the water surface elevations at the Project site. The roadway approaches would still be inundated during these extreme storm events.

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) criteria indicates that the bridge should be designed to pass the 50-year storm event with adequate freeboard to account for debris and bedload. The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) also recommends that the bridge be designed to pass the 50-year storm event with adequate freeboard to account for debris and bedload (Caltrans recommends 2 ft of freeboard), or the 100-year storm event with no freeboard. The existing and proposed bridges do not meet the freeboard criteria. The water surface elevations and freeboard for the existing and proposed bridges are presented in the tables below for the 100-year and 50-year storm

events. Although the bridge would not meet freeboard requirements, the 100- and 50-year flows are still conveyed through the bridge or across the approach roadways.

The proposed bridge will need design exceptions to the FHWA freeboard criteria based on site conditions. The channel banks are overtopped, and the surrounding area is inundated during the design event in both the existing and proposed conditions. Considering that: 1) the proposed deck elevation is set above the 100-year water surface elevations, 2) the soffit is above the bank elevations, and 3) the proposed bridge provides a significant increase in available conveyance under the bridge with no significant backwater impacts, the preferred alternative maximizes hydraulic performance while minimizing the impact on adjacent areas.

100-Year Water Surface Elevations and Freeboard at Upstream Face of Bridges

Alternative	Lowest Bridge Soffit Elevation (ft*)	Water Surface Elevation (ft*)	Available Freeboard (ft)
Existing	9.3	12.1	-2.8
Proposed	8.9	12.1	-3.2

Note: * The elevations reference the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88)

50-Year W	/ater Surfac	e Elevations	s and Freeb	oard at Uj	pstream	Face of Bridges

Alternative	LowestWaterBridge SoffitSurfaceElevationElevation(ft*)(ft*)		Available Freeboard (ft)
Existing	9.3	11.5	-2.2
Proposed	8.9	11.5	-2.6

Note: * The elevations reference the NAVD 88 datum.

Scour calculations were performed for the proposed conditions based on the FHWA's *Hydraulic Engineering Circular No. 18*, "Evaluating Scour at Bridges" (HEC-18). WRECO evaluated the scour potential and scour countermeasure analysis using the hydraulic characteristics for the 100-year storm event from the hydraulic analysis for the proposed bridge. Because of the tidal nature of the Project site, scour was estimated using three downstream boundary conditions: the estimated stillwater elevation of Humboldt Bay from the preliminary Flood Insurance Study (FIS), a downstream normal depth slope, and the mean lower low water elevation from the North Spit tide gage. With the stillwater elevation from Humboldt Bay, the average channel velocities would be slow, and the water surface elevations would be high. With normal depth slope, because of the overall flat longitudinal channel slope, the average channel velocities would be slow, and the water surface elevations would be high. With the MLLW elevation from Humboldt Bay, the model also excluded the flow from Elk River. By doing so, because the water surface elevations at the Project site would not be impacted by the backwater effects from Elk River, the velocities would be faster than if modeled with the flows from Elk River.

With the stillwater elevation from Humboldt Bay and normal depth, the average channel velocities would be slow, and the water surface elevations would be high, resulting in high scour estimates. However, the probability of the stillwater elevation from Humboldt Bay and the 100-year flows from Elk River and Martin/Swain Slough all occurring concurrently is rare. The probability of these events happening simultaneously is less than 1 in 100. The scour calculations using the MLLW from Humboldt Bay as a downstream boundary condition results in more reasonable scour estimates.

The median grain size diameter used in the analysis was 0.2 mm. For the purposes of scour, a median grain size diameter that is 0.2 mm or less is the threshold for cohesive soils.

The total estimated scour depths reflect the sum of the long-term bed elevation change, contraction scour, and local scour, with the bridge supported on soil. The long-term bed elevation change was not estimated due to inconsistencies in the channel measurements included in the Bridge Inspection Reports. However, historical information from Caltrans indicated that the foundations at the existing bridge are stable. The total estimated scour depth was qualitatively estimated using the local abutment sour depth and contraction scour depths. The minimum elevations for the proposed foundations are referenced to the thalweg of the channel. For the proposed bridge, the thalweg is 0 ft. The calculated scour depths and elevations are presented in the following table.

Per the FHWA HEC-18, for footings (with a designed countermeasure, such as RSP, to prevent local scour from forming at the base of the abutment), the top of the footing should reference the thalweg and be below the estimated long-term degradation and contraction scour depth. For footings (without a designed countermeasure), the top of the footing should reference the thalweg and be below the total scour depth.

Bridge Component	Thalweg Elevation (ft)	Total Scour (ft)	Total Scour Elevation (ft)
Abutment 1 (west)	0	9.3	-9.3
Abutment 2 (east)	0	9.7	-9.7

Proposed Bridge Total Scour Elevation (Mean Lower Low Water)

Based on both the *California Bank and Shore RSP Design* and the FHWA's HEC-23 RSP design criteria, as well as engineering judgment, a minimum size of Light class RSP is recommended to be used to protect the abutments of the proposed bridge. Per the *California Bank and Shore RSP Design* manual, Light class RSP should include RSP fabric type A. The RSP fabric should be placed on the bank as the initial filter separator material between the RSP and the bank. The minimum layer thickness is 2.5 ft per the Caltrans *California Bank and Shore RSP Design* manual. The abutment fill slopes should be protected with RSP to an elevation of 2 ft above the 100-year flood. The slope

protection should extend from the face of the abutment to the toe of slope. The RSP should be keyed in vertically 5 ft, or to the anticipated scour elevation in the stream bed.

Acronyms

ACES	Automated Coastal Engineering System
BIR	Bridge Inspection Report
Caltrans	California Department of Transportation
CEDAS	Coastal Engineering Design and Analysis System
CN	Curve Number
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
FEMA	Federal Emergency Management Agency
FHWA	Federal Highway Administration
FIS	Flood Insurance Study
HBP	Highway Bridge Program
HEC-18	Hydraulic Engineering Circular No. 18
HEC-23	Hydraulic Engineering Circular No. 23
HEC-HMS	Hydrologic Engineering Centers Hydrologic Modeling System
HEC-RAS	Hydrologic Engineering Centers River Analysis System
HSG	hydrologic soil group
Project	Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project
NAVD 88	North American Vertical Datum of 1988
NGVD 29	National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NRCS	Natural Resources Conservation Service
RSP	rock slope protection
SCS	Soil Conservation Service
TR-55	Technical Release 55
USACE	U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
USGS	United States Geological Survey
WSE	water surface elevation

1 GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The Humboldt County Department of Public Works is proposing to replace Bridge No. 04C0173 Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough. The Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Project (Project) site is located just south of Eureka and north of Elk River. The Project is funded through the Federal Aid Highway Bridge Program (HBP) utilizing Toll Credits as the match. The bridge was inspected by Caltrans in 2011 and is classified 'Structurally Deficient' with a sufficiency rating of 44.6. This bridge is eligible for replacement under the HBP guidelines.

See Figure 1 for the Project Location Map, Figure 2 for the Project Vicinity Map, and Figure 3 for the Project Aerial Map.



Figure 1. Project Location Map

Source: United States Geological Survey (USGS)

Bridge Design Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Humboldt County, California



Figure 2. Project Vicinity Map

Source: USGS

Bridge Design Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Humboldt County, California Federal-Aid Project No. BRLO-5904(112) Existing Bridge No. 04C0173 WRECO P12025



Figure 3. Project Aerial Map

Source: Google Earth

1.1 Existing Bridge

The existing bridge is a 63 ft three-span timber stringer structure with a concrete deck and concrete abutments and was built in 1955 (see Photo 1). The two bent caps are constructed of reinforced concrete on 8 reinforced concrete piles. The bridge clear width is 19 ft with a 6 in. curb/rail on each side for a total bridge width of 20 ft. The railing is constructed of painted timbers and there is no end protection at the bridge corners.

The overall roadway alignment is consistent with the flat terrain of the Elk River Valley. The asphalt concrete approach roadway is approximately 19 ft in width. The bridge is located on a tangent segment of the roadway. There is a slight vertical curve both east and west of the bridge though the bridge itself is flat. The non-standard clearance condition has existed at the bridge site since it was constructed. The structure has provided reliable service in its existing condition and does not appear affected or damaged by reduced hydraulic clearance.



Photo 1. Existing Bridge (Looking North/Downstream)

1.2 Proposed Bridge

The preferred alternative is to replace the existing bridge on the existing alignment. In order to satisfy the 50-year event hydraulic clearance requirements, the existing bridge would need to be replaced and the existing roadway profile would have to be raised significantly. This will have major cost implications along with increased environmental and right-of-way impacts. In accordance with County requirements, the bridge will provide two 10-ft-wide traffic lanes and 5-ft-wide shoulders, in addition to barrier rails along both sides.

The proposed bridge will need design exceptions to the FHWA freeboard criteria based on site conditions. The channel banks are overtopped, and the surrounding area is inundated during the design event in both the existing and proposed conditions. Considering that: 1) the proposed deck elevation is set above the 100-year water surface elevations, 2) the soffit is above the bank elevations, and 3) the proposed bridge provides a significant increase in available conveyance under the bridge with no significant backwater impacts, the preferred alternative maximizes hydraulic performance while minimizing the impact on adjacent areas.

The proposed bridge type is a single-span precast concrete wide flange girder, and will be slightly longer than the existing to better fit the site conditions. The single-span bridge option will minimize the environmental impacts to the slough as well as adjacent wetlands as it will not require any supports in the creek channel. The proposed bridge does not significantly affect the existing hydraulic clearance conditions such as water surface elevations or flow velocities. The proposed bridge general plan is shown in Figure 4.

1.3 Purpose

The purpose of this Bridge Design Hydraulic Study is to present the design flow characteristics for the existing bridge and the proposed replacement bridge. This report provides the calculated scour potential and recommendations on the need for scour countermeasures for the proposed bridge. This report presents the hydraulic characteristics and scour potential and recommendations for the proposed bridge.

1.4 Key Tasks

Key tasks performed in this study included: 1) a review of available hydrologic data, 2) a hydrologic study, 3) a hydraulic analysis to determine design water surface elevations (WSEs) and flow velocities for the existing and proposed bridges, 4) a scour analysis to estimate potential scour depths for the proposed bridge, and 5) scour countermeasure analyses and recommendations for the proposed bridge.



Figure 4. Proposed Bridge General Plan

Source: Quincy Engineering, Inc.

1.5 Design Criteria

The following criteria were considered in the design of the proposed bridge.

1.5.1 Hydraulic Design Criteria

1.5.1.1 FHWA Standards

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) criterion for the hydraulic design of bridges is that they be designed to pass the 2% probability of annual exceedance flow (50-year recurrence interval design discharge) with adequate freeboard, where practicable, to account for debris and bedload.

1.5.1.2 Caltrans Standards

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) criteria for the hydraulic design of bridges is that they be designed to pass the 2% probability of annual exceedance flow (50-year design discharge) or the flood of record, whichever is greater, with adequate freeboard to pass anticipated drift. Two feet (2 ft) of freeboard is commonly used in bridge designs. The bridge should also be designed to convey the 1% probability of annual exceedance flow (100-year design discharge, or base flood). No freeboard is added to the base flood.

1.5.1.3 Design Exception

An evaluation should be performed to determine, if horizontal and vertical driftway requirements warrant a modified freeboard. The existing and proposed bridges do not meet the freeboard criteria. Although the proposed bridge would not meet freeboard criteria, the 100-year flow is still conveyed through the bridge or across the approach roadways. The soffit elevation is designed to be higher than the adjacent banks, so the slough overtops before the soffit gets wet. The bridge deck has been designed to remain dry during a 100-year flow event. The bridge would not cause objectionable backwater.

The approach roadways leading to the bridge become inundating during high flows. The existing bridge is not accessible from adjacent County roads during flood events, and the County does not plan to improve the approach roadways to meet standard flood elevation. Raising the bridge to meet all hydraulics criteria would be impractical considering the roadway approaches to the new bridge are well below the hydraulics criteria, making the bridge impossible to reach during times of flood.

Configuring the bridge to meet all hydraulics criteria including sea level rise would be very costly and would significantly increase the environmental impacts. The bridge has been designed to accommodate a future raise if needed due to sea level rise.

1.5.2 Scour Design Criteria

The evaluation of potential scour at the proposed bridge followed the criteria described in the FHWA's Hydraulic Engineering Circular No. 18 (HEC-18), *Evaluating Scour at Bridges* (2012). The evaluation of potential scour was based on hydraulic characteristics

of the 100-year design discharge. The total scour was estimated based upon the cumulative effects of the long-term bed elevation change, general (contraction) scour, and local scour. The life expectancy of the bridge was considered in determining the long-term bed elevation change of the waterway; it was based on an assumed 75-year design life for a new replacement bridge.

1.5.3 Rock Slope Protection Design Criteria

Two procedures for determining rock slope protection (RSP) design were considered: 1) the FHWA's Hydraulic Engineering Circular No. 23 (HEC-23), *Bridge Scour and Stream Instability Countermeasures: Experience, Selection, and Design Guidance* (Third Edition) (September 2009); and 2) Caltrans' *California Bank and Shore Rock Slope Protection Design* (Third Edition) (October 2000). The RSP design was based on the hydraulic characteristics of the 100-year design discharge for the proposed bridge.

1.6 Vertical Datum

The Project references the North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88). All elevations presented in this report are based on the NAVD 88 datum unless otherwise specified.

2 GEOGRAPHIC SETTING

2.1 Geographic Location

The Project is located at 40°45' North latitude and 124°11' West longitude just south of the city of Eureka, California. The Project site is located on Pine Hill Road and crosses over Swain Slough immediately downstream of its confluence with Martin Slough. The Project site is located approximately 0.2 mi east of Elk River Road. Pine Hill Road provides access across Swain Slough to residential neighborhoods, and connects to Herrick Street, which is a major arterial road that leads out of southern Eureka.

The mouth of Martin Slough is separated from Swain Slough by a levee and tide gates (see Photo 2). The Martin Slough Enhancement Project was proposed and funded by the California State Water Quality Control Board Department of Water Resources and California State Coastal Conservancy. Alternatives were evaluated in the *Martin Slough Enhancement Feasibility Study* in 2006. The preferred alternative for that project consisted of removing the existing tide gates, installing new tide gates with a habitat door designed to create a muted tide cycle and facilitate fish passage, increasing the size of existing ponds, creating new ponds, and making channel modifications throughout the project area. This structure has been built and in-place at the time this report was written (see Photo 3).



Photo 2. Existing Tide Gates (Looking East from the Bridge)



Photo 3. New Martin Slough Tide Gates

2.2 Watershed Description

The Project is within the Elk River watershed. Pine Hill Road crosses over Swain Slough just downstream of its confluence with Martin Slough. Because of its proximity to the Project site, Elk River was also analyzed. The watershed delineations are shown in Figure 5. The watershed that drains to the Project site was estimated to be 5.5 square mi.

Flow Change Location	Watershed Area (sq mi)
Swain Slough	0.2
Martin Slough	5.2
Swain Slough Downstream of its Confluence with Martin Slough	5.5
Elk River Upstream of its Confluence with Martin/Swain Slough	50.2
Elk River Downstream of its Confluence with Martin/Swain Slough	55.8

Table 1. Watershed Areas

2.3 Receiving Water Bodies

The confluence of Swain Slough with Elk River is 0.5 mi downstream of the Project site. Elk River eventually drains into Humboldt Bay approximately 1.5 mi further downstream. Because of its close proximity to Humboldt Bay, the Project is tidally influenced. Flooding in the area will also be affected by sea level rise. The nearest tide gage is North Spit, Humboldt Bay (NOAA Station ID No. 9418767), which was installed in October 6, 1991.

2.4 Precipitation

The mean annual precipitation for the watershed basins described in Section 2.2 were estimated using the USGS StreamStats application, and are summarized in Table 2.

Flow Change Location	Mean Annual Precipitation (in.)
Swain Slough	41.5
Martin Slough	43.1
Swain Slough Downstream of its Confluence with Martin Slough	43.0
Elk River Upstream of its Confluence with Martin/Swain Slough	54.7
Elk River Downstream of its Confluence with Martin/Swain Slough	53.5

Table 2. Mean Annual Precipitation



Figure 5. Project Watershed Map

2.5 Land Use

The Humboldt County general plan was updated in 2015. The Humboldt GIS Portal web mapping application was accessed to view the land uses for Humboldt County. The Martin/Swain Slough and Elk River watersheds are superimposed on the planned land uses from the General Plan (see Figure 6). A portion of the Martin/Swain Slough watershed is within the already developed city of Eureka. Other land uses within the Martin/Swain Slough watershed are designated in the general plan as low density residential, medium density residential, open space, public facility, coastal timberland, and agricultural exclusive. The land uses within the Elk River watershed are designated low density residential, medium density residential, rural residential, agricultural exclusive, natural resource, open space, public lands, coastal timberland, with a majority of the watershed designated as timberland. The land use element of the general plan describes these land uses and provides policies to ensure that the management of public lands within Humboldt County are consistent with the goals of the general plan. In general, the areas that are designated residential land uses are already developed. A portion of the Martin/Swain Slough watershed that is designated low density residential is currently undeveloped.


Figure 6. Land Use Map for Project Watershed

3 HYDROLOGIC ANALYSIS

The following sub-sections describe the hydrologic data sources that were used to estimate the flows for the Project site.

3.1 Hydrologic Design Methods

WRECO evaluated the hydrology for Martin/Swain sloughs at the Project site using the following hydrologic design methods:

- 1. United States Geological Survey Regional Regression Equations
- 2. Rainfall/Runoff Model using Hydrologic Engineering Centers Hydrologic Modeling System (HEC-HMS) Software

WRECO evaluated the hydrology for Elk River using the United States Geological Survey Regional Regression Equations.

3.1.1 United States Geological Survey Regional Regression Equations

Flood-frequency equations were developed by the USGS and based on analysis of data from gage stations. California is divided into six regions; the Project site is within the North Coast region. These flood-frequency equations are generally used to estimate stream flow for ungaged sites that are not affected by substantial urban development and that are natural (unregulated) streams.

On July 18, 2012, the USGS issued *Methods for Determining Magnitude and Frequency of Floods in California, Based on Data through Water Year 2006* (Gotvald et. al. 2012), which contains updated regional flood-frequency equations, and revised the boundaries of the six unique regions within California. These equations are based on annual peak-flow data through water year 2006 for 771 streamflow-gaging stations in California having 10 or more years of data. The updated equations were used in support of the Project's hydrologic analysis.

The flood-frequency equations are as follows (Gotvald et. al., 2012):

 $Q_{100} = 48.5(DRNAREA)^{0.866}(PRECIP)^{0.556}$ $Q_{50} = 36.3(DRNAREA)^{0.87}(PRECIP)^{0.589}$

Where:

DRNAREA = drainage area, square mi	$Q_x =$	peak discharge for a storm event with a return period of x years, cubic feet per second (cfs)
<i>PRECIP</i> = mean annual precipitation. in.	DRNAREA = PRECIP =	drainage area, square mi mean annual precipitation, in.

The drainage areas for the watersheds in the vicinity of the Project site are presented in Section 2.2 and the mean annual precipitation values for the corresponding watersheds are presented in Section 2.4. The design discharges for Martin and Swain Sloughs were estimated based on a combined watershed area because Pine Hill Road crosses over Swain Slough immediately downstream of its confluence with Martin Slough. The calculated design discharges are summarized in Table 3.

Tuble et Regional Regiosbion Design Disenarges for the Hojeet		
Stream and Location	Peak Discharge (cfs)	
Stream and Location	100-year	50-year
Swain Slough		
(downstream of confluence with	1,710	1,460
Martin Slough)		
Elk River		
(upstream of confluence with	13,340	11,570
Swain Slough)		
Elk River		
(downstream of confluence with	14,430	12,520
Swain Slough)		

Table 3. Regional Regression Design Discharges for the Project

3.1.2 Rainfall/Runoff Model

WRECO developed a rainfall/runoff model to estimate the 100- and 50-year recurrence interval design discharges for Swain/Martin sloughs using HEC-HMS software, and following the Soil Conservation Service's (SCS) Unit Hydrograph Method. The input parameters were estimated following the procedures in Technical Release 55 (TR-55), the *Urban Hydrology for Small Watersheds* manual (Natural Resources Conservation Service [NRCS] 1986) and *A Guide to Hydrologic Analysis Using SCS Methods* (McCuen 1982).

The Project site drains a watershed area of 5.5 square mi. The watersheds were modeled using the SCS Curve Number (CN) loss method and the SCS Unit Hydrograph transform method. The SCS CN is based on the cover type, hydrologic condition of that cover, and the hydrologic soil group (HSG). Cover types are typically selected based on aerial photographs and land use maps. The hydrologic condition indicates the effects of cover type and treatment on infiltration and runoff. The Project considered the future land uses for the watershed, as described in Section 2.5.

The HSGs were not available from the NRCS online *Web Soil Survey* (2015), and the soils underlying the Project's watershed were assumed to be HSG D. Infiltration rates and runoff potential are indicated by the soil's HSG. Soils may be assigned to one of four groups (A, B, C, or D). Group A has high infiltration rates (low runoff potential) and consists mainly of deep, well-drained to excessively drained sands or gravelly sands. On the other end of the spectrum, Group D has very slow infiltration rates (high runoff potential) and consists chiefly of clays that have a high shrink-swell potential or soils with a clay or nearly impervious layer near the surface.

Based on the land uses from the general plan and the HSG, a composite CN was estimated to represent the watershed basin. In the hydrologic model, the rainfall is converted to runoff by using a CN, which is based on the watershed's soils, plant cover type and treatment, amount of impervious areas, interception, and surface storage. The composite CN was estimated to be 91 and the corresponding initial abstraction value was estimated to be 0.198. The initial abstraction is the part of rainfall that occurs before direct stormwater runoff begins, and consists of interception, initial infiltration, surface depression storage, evapotranspiration, and other factors.

The lag time was estimated using the lag method presented in *A Guide to Hydrologic Analysis Using SCS Methods* (McCuen 1982). The lag method is calculated using the following equation:

$$L = \frac{\ell^{0.8} (S+1)^{0.7}}{1900 Y^{0.5}}$$

Where:

- L = time lag, which is the time from the center of mass of rainfall excess to the peak discharge, hours
- ℓ = hydraulic length, feet

S = maximum retention, unitless

$$S = \frac{1000}{CN} - 10$$

Where:
 CN = runoff curve number
 Y = slope, percent

The lag time was calculated to be 1.6 hours.

The precipitation depths were obtained from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration's (NOAA) Atlas 14 website for California Precipitation Frequency Data using the longitude and latitude of the approximate centroid of the watershed. The 100-year 24-hour precipitation depth was estimated to be 6.53 in. and the 50-year 24-hour precipitation depth was estimated to be 5.86 in. Based on the rainfall distribution map from the NRCS, the Project is within the rainfall distribution Type IA (1986).

The peak discharges were estimated for the Project site as summarized in Table 4.

Table 4. Unit Hydrograph Design Discharges for Swain/Martin Sloughs at Project Site

Peak Discharge (cfs)		
100-Year 50-Year		
2,490	2,200	

3.2 Design Discharge Summary and Selected Design Discharges

Because the majority of the watershed area for Elk River is rural where flows are generally unaffected by urban development, the peak discharges calculated using the regional regression equations were used for the hydraulic analysis.

A large portion of the watershed area for Swain/Martin sloughs is encompassed by the city of Eureka as well as other residential areas within unincorporated Humboldt County. Because of the urban nature of the watershed, the regional regression equations for Swain/Martin sloughs were only used as a basis of comparison. Therefore, the peak discharges calculated using the rainfall/runoff method were selected for use in the hydraulic analysis.

The peak discharges selected for the hydraulic analysis are presented in Table 5, and the confluence points are identified in the aerial map image in Figure 3.

Stream and Location	Peak Discharge (cfs)	
Stream and Location	100-year	50-year
Swain Slough		
(downstream of confluence with	2,490	2,200
Martin Slough)		
Elk River		
(River Station 1407.91:	12 240	11 570
upstream of confluence with	15,540	11,370
Swain Slough)		
Elk River		
(River Station 62.62:	14 420	12 520
downstream of confluence with	14,430	12,320
Swain Slough)		

Table 5. Swain/Martin Sloughs and Elk River Peak Discharge Values

3.3 Hydrologic Stability

Based on a review of aerial imagery and land use maps from the Humboldt County general plan, a portion of the Martin/Swain Slough watershed is within the already developed city of Eureka. A portion of the Martin/Swain Slough watershed that is designated low density residential is currently undeveloped. In general, the areas that are designated residential land uses are already developed. The land use element of the general plan describes these land uses and provides policies to ensure that the management of public lands within Humboldt County are consistent with the goals of the general plan. Based on the 2015 general plan, no significant changes to the hydrology of Martin/Swain sloughs are expected. Future development in the watershed would result in changes to the hydrograph.

4 HYDRAULIC ANALYSIS

The following sections discuss the development of the hydraulic models and summarize the results for the existing and proposed conditions. The water surface profile plots, hydraulic summary tables, and channel cross sections are included in Appendix A for the existing bridge and Appendix B for the proposed bridge.

4.1 Design Tools

The hydraulic analyses were performed for the existing and proposed conditions using the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers' (USACE) Hydrologic Engineering Centers River Analysis System (HEC-RAS) modeling software, Version 4.1.0.

4.2 Cross Section Data

Survey data was provided by Quincy Engineering, Inc., which included stream survey of Swain Slough, Martin Slough, and Elk River. The survey data referenced the NAVD 88 datum.

4.3 Modeled Hydraulic Structures

The geometry of the existing bridge in the hydraulic model is based on information from the Caltrans BIR and survey data provided by Quincy Engineering, Inc. The bridge deck elevations were based on the survey data. The bridge soffit was modeled to be 0.5 ft below the bridge deck. The minimum soffit elevation is 9.3 ft. The proposed structural design and roadway profiles for the proposed bridge replacement were based on General Plan documents provided by Quincy Engineering, Inc. The proposed bridge is designed with a minimum bridge deck elevation of 12.82 ft along the centerline of Pine Hill Road. The minimum bridge deck elevation at the upstream and downstream faces of the bridge would be 12.49 ft with a minimum soffit elevation of 8.89 ft. There are provisions to raise the bridge in the future.

4.4 Model Boundary Condition

Because of the Project site's proximity to Humboldt Bay, the downstream model boundary condition used tidal elevations from Humboldt Bay for the hydraulic design of the bridge. Information from the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) and NOAA were obtained to develop the model's downstream boundary condition. The proposed bridge is designed based on the tidal elevations at Humboldt Bay. There are provisions to raise the bridge in the future to address sea level rise, which are not addressed with the currently proposed bridge.

For the purposes of scour, two other downstream boundary conditions were considered: a normal depth slope of 0.1% and mean lower low water. Mean lower low water from the tide gage at North Spit, Humboldt Bay, California (Station ID Number 9418767) for the 1983 to 2001 tidal epoch (tidal datum analysis period between January 1, 1983 and December 31, 2001) is -0.34 ft NAVD 88. The tidal elevations for the North Spit tide gage are graphically depicted in Figure 7.



Figure 7. Tidal Elevations at North Spit Tide Gage

Source: NOAA

4.4.1 National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Data for Humboldt Bay

The calculation of extreme water surface events was performed using the Automated Coastal Engineering System (ACES), a program developed by the USACE and included as part of the Coastal Engineering Design and Analysis System (CEDAS). Historical tide data was obtained from NOAA's website for the tide gage at North Spit, Humboldt Bay, California (Station ID Number 9418767). The monthly highest water levels from 1979 through 2011 were retrieved from NOAA's database. This data was used to determine the historical yearly maximum water surface elevation, which was then used in the Extremal Significant Wave Height Analysis module of ACES to calculate 100-year and 50-year water surface elevations. The Weibull distribution with k equal to 2.0 was the best fit for the data, with a correlation of 0.99. The extreme tidal water surface elevation was calculated to be 8.04 ft for the 100-year event and 7.92 ft for the 50-year event.

4.4.2 Federal Emergency Management Agency Data for Humboldt Bay

The effective Flood Insurance Study (FIS) for Humboldt County (FEMA 1999) included stillwater elevations for Humboldt Bay at the city of Eureka. The reported elevations reference the National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929 (NGVD 29) vertical datum. A

height conversion of 3.31 ft from NOAA's VERTCON was used to convert the elevations from NGVD 29 to NAVD 88 to match the vertical datum referenced for the Project. A preliminary FIS for Humboldt County (FEMA 2015) includes stillwater elevations for Humboldt Bay that already reference the NAVD 88 datum.

Source	Stillwater Elevation		
Source	100-Year	50-Year	
Effective EIS 1000	6.1 ft NGVD 29	6.0 ft NGVD 29	
Effective FIS 1999	(9.41 ft NAVD 88)	(9.31 ft NAVD 88)	
Preliminary FIS 2015	9.67 ft NAVD 88	9.37 ft NAVD 88	

Table 6. Humboldt Bay Stillwater Elevations

4.4.3 Selected Downstream Boundary Condition

The stillwater elevation for Humboldt Bay from the preliminary FIS was selected as the downstream boundary condition for the hydraulic design. Although the FIS is preliminary, it provides the best available data and is a more conservative estimate than the effective data.

4.4.4 Sea Level Rise

The proposed bridge is designed based on the tidal elevations at Humboldt Bay and there are provisions to raise the bridge in the future to address sea level rise, but the currently proposed bridge is not designed to account for sea level rise. The following discussions are included based on currently available information and should be verified if the bridge is raised in the future. The bridge foundations are designed for the superstructure to be able to be raised in the future to accommodate sea level rise.

Sea level rise estimates for the Project site were estimated using information from the following three studies:

- *The Probability of Sea Level Rise* (Environmental Protection Agency [EPA] 1995)
- Climate Change Scenarios and Sea Level Rise Estimates for the California 2009 Climate Change Scenarios Assessment (Cayan 2009), and
- *The Proceedings of National Academy of Science* (PNAS) (Vermeer and Rahmstorf 2009)

A range of values (low and high) for the sea level rise projected to the year 2100 are presented in Table 7. The highest high and lowest positive low sea level rise estimates were derived from the PNAS study.

Mathad/Saumaa	Sea Level Rise (ft)		
Method/Source	High	Low	
EPA	3.0	-0.8	
Cayan	4.6	3.3	
PNAS	4.9	1.3	

Table 7. Sea Level Rise Estimates for the Year 2100 near Humboldt Bay, California

4.5 Manning's Roughness Coefficients

Manning's roughness coefficients were used in the hydraulic model to estimate energy losses in the flow due to friction. A roughness coefficient of 0.045 was used to describe the channel, and a roughness coefficient of 0.06 was used to describe the overbank areas. These values were selected based on visual observations of the Project vicinity.

4.6 Expansion and Contraction Coefficients

Expansion and contraction coefficients were used in the hydraulic model to represent energy losses in the channel. An expansion coefficient of 0.3 and a contraction coefficient of 0.1 were used to represent the channel. These values represent a channel with gradual transitions between cross sections. The expansion and contraction coefficients used in the vicinity of the bridge were 0.5 and 0.3, respectively. These values represent the flow interference caused by the bridge.

4.7 Water Surface Elevations

The water surface elevations at the upstream side of the bridge for the existing and proposed conditions are summarized in Table 8. The cross sections at the upstream sides of the existing and proposed bridges are shown in Figure 8 and Figure 9. The water surface profiles along the studied stream reach are presented in Figure 10 for the existing bridge and Figure 11 for the proposed bridge.

Sumwater Lievations of Humbolat Day from Fremmany 115				
Bridge	Water Surface Elevation (ft)			
Condition	100-Year	50-Year		
Existing	12.1	11.5		
Proposed	12.1	11.5		

Table 8. Water Surface Elevations at Upstream Side of Pine Hill Road Bridge withStillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS

The proposed bridge will be longer and wider than the existing bridge. It will also be a single-span structure with no piers while the existing bridge is a three-span structure with two piers. However, these geometric improvements would not significantly affect the water surface elevations in the vicinity of the bridge. The tidal water surface elevations

from Humboldt Bay govern the water surface elevations at the Project site. The roadway approaches would still be inundated during these extreme storm events.



Figure 8. Upstream Face of Existing Bridge, Looking Downstream (North) with Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS



Figure 9. Upstream Face of Proposed Bridge, Looking Downstream (North) with Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS

Bridge Design Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Humboldt County, California Federal-Aid Project No. BRLO-5904(112) Existing Bridge No. 04C0173 WRECO P12025



Figure 10. Existing Bridge 100-Year and 50-Year Water Surface Profiles with Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS

Bridge Design Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Humboldt County, California



Figure 11. Proposed Bridge 100-Year and 50-Year Water Surface Profiles with Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS

4.8 Freeboard

The freeboard guidelines applicable to the Project are discussed in Section 1.5.1. To summarize, FHWA guidelines indicate that the bridge should be designed to pass the 50-year storm event with adequate freeboard to account for debris and bedload. Caltrans criteria is that the bridge should be designed to pass the 50-year storm event with adequate freeboard to account for debris and bedload (Caltrans recommends 2 ft of freeboard), or the 100-year storm event with no freeboard.

The available freeboard distances for the existing and proposed bridges are summarized in Table 9 and Table 10. The existing and proposed bridges do not meet the freeboard criteria. Although the proposed bridge would not meet freeboard criteria, the 100- and 50-year flows are still conveyed through the bridge or across the approach roadways. The soffit elevation is designed to be higher than the adjacent banks, so the slough overtops before the soffit gets wet. The bridge deck has been designed to remain dry during a 100and 50-year flow events. The bridge would not cause objectionable backwater. The approach roadways leading to the bridge become inundating during high flows. The existing bridge is not accessible from adjacent County roads during flood events, and the County does not plan to improve the approach roadways to meet standard flood elevation. Raising the bridge to meet all hydraulics criteria would be impractical considering the roadway approaches to the new bridge are well below the hydraulics criteria, making the bridge impossible to reach during times of flood.

Table 9. 100-Year Water Surface Elevations and Freeboard Based on StillwaterElevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS

	Lowest	Water	
	Bridge Soffit	Surface	Available
	Elevation	Elevation	Freeboard
Alternative	(f t)	(ft)	(ft)
Existing	9.3	12.1	-2.8
Proposed	8.9	12.1	-3.2

Table 10. 50-Year Water Surface Elevations and Freeboard Based on Stillwater
Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS

	Lowest	Water	
	Bridge Soffit	Surface	Available
	Elevation	Elevation	Freeboard
Alternative	(ft)	(f t)	(f t)
Existing	9.3	11.5	-2.2
Proposed	8.9	11.5	-2.6

4.9 Flow Velocities

The average channel flow velocities were estimated for the existing and proposed conditions from the developed hydraulic models, which are summarized in Table 11 Table 11through Table 13 for the locations in the vicinity of the bridges. The proposed bridge would result in increases in average channel velocities in the vicinity of the bridge. The proposed bridge will be longer and wider than the existing bridge, it will have a soffit higher than the existing bridge, and it would have no piers while the existing bridge has two piers. The geometric improvements associated with the proposed bridge would result in an increase in channel area, and improved velocities just upstream of the bridge.

Table 11. Average Channel Velocities – 100-Year Flow with Stillwater Elevations of Humboldt Bay from Preliminary FIS

	Velocity (ft/s)	
Description	Existing	Proposed
Just upstream of bridge	0.7	0.5
Upstream face of bridge	0.4	0.5
Downstream face of bridge	0.4	0.5
Just downstream of bridge	0.7	1.2

Table 12. Average Channel Velocities – 100-Year Flow with Normal Depth

	Velocity (ft/s)	
Description	Existing	Proposed
Just upstream of bridge	0.4	0.4
Upstream face of bridge	0.2	0.2
Downstream face of bridge	0.2	0.2
Just downstream of bridge	0.4	0.7

Table 13. Average Channel Velocities – 100-Year Flow with MLLW from Humboldt Bay

	Veloci	ty (ft/s)
Description	Existing	Proposed
Just upstream of bridge	1.7	0.8
Upstream face of bridge	1.0	1.4
Downstream face of bridge	1.0	1.4
Just downstream of bridge	1.8	2.1

5 SCOUR ANALYSIS

WRECO evaluated bridge scour per the criteria described in HEC-18 (FHWA 2012). The minimum design criterion for bridge scour is the 100-year design storm. WRECO evaluated the scour potential and scour countermeasure analysis using the results of the steady-state flow analysis from HEC-RAS for the proposed bridge. Because of the tidal nature of the Project site, a range of scour values were estimated using three downstream boundary conditions: the estimated stillwater elevation of Humboldt Bay from the preliminary FIS, a downstream normal depth slope, and the mean lower low water elevation from the North Spit tide gage.

With the stillwater elevation from Humboldt Bay, the average channel velocities would be slow, and the water surface elevations would be high. With normal depth slope, because of the overall flat longitudinal channel slope, the average channel velocities would be slow, and the water surface elevations would be high. With the MLLW elevation from Humboldt Bay, the model also excluded the flow from Elk River. By doing so, because the water surface elevations at the Project site would not be impacted by the backwater effects from Elk River, the velocities would be faster than if modeled with the flows from Elk River.

The following sub-sections summarize the results of the analysis. The detailed scour calculations are included in Appendix C.

5.1 Caltrans Bridge Inspection Reports

Based on historic bridge inspections, it was observed that Abutment 1 was undermined 1 m (3.3 ft) vertically and 1.2 m (3.9 ft) horizontally along the entire length of the abutment. The right wingwall at Abutment 1 was undermined approximately 200 mm (0.7 ft) vertically and 300 mm (1 ft) horizontally along the entire length of the wingwall. No footing exposure or undermining of the back wall was noted during the inspection of Abutment 4. The abutment appeared to be in good condition.

The 2008 hydraulic bridge inspection noted that the bridge was not scour critical. The tidal influence did not appear to have significant scour effect on the structure.

Based on the 2013 Bridge Inspection Report (BIR), the Item 113, vulnerability to scour, is rated 5: Bridge foundations determined to be stable for assessed or calculated scour condition. Scour is determined to be within the limits of footing or piles by assessment (i.e., bridge foundations are on rock formations that have been determined to resist scour within the service life of the bridge), by calculations or by installation of properly designed countermeasures.

5.2 Existing Channel Bed

SHN Consulting Engineers and Geologists, Inc., the geotechnical engineering consultants for the Project, have indicated that the material in the banks are lean clays and high

plasticity silts that are typically at least 60 ft thick in depth in the area of Swain Slough. Two boring samples at a depth of 70 ft and 90 ft were collected at the Project site. Based on gradation test results provided by SHN Consulting Engineers and Geologists, Inc., the median grain size diameter for the bed material is approximately 0.2 mm. Scour equations are available in HEC-18 to estimate ultimate (contraction) and pier scour depths for channel bed materials that are cohesive. In general, the threshold for cohesive bed materials is a median grain size diameter that is 0.2 mm or less.

5.3 Long-Term Bed Elevation Change

Aggradation at the bridge site is a result of the deposition of material eroded from the channel. Degradation at the bridge site is a result of scouring of the channel due to sediment deficit. Only degradation is accounted for in scour calculations. The long-term bed elevation changes can be estimated based on historical data at the bridge site.

Two channel measurements were included in the BIRs: May 9, 2007 and June 2, 2008. Both measurements were made relative to the top of curb and both measurements were provided in meters. However, the width of the bridge in the 2007 BIR was 18.3 meters while the width of the bridge in the 2008 BIR was 70.41 meters. No other channel measurements were provided. Due to the inconsistencies in the measurements and the limited data, the long-term bed elevation change was not quantified. However, based on the 2013 BIR, the existing bridge foundations have been determined to be stable for the scour condition, and therefore, long-term scour is negligible. The channel bed at the bridge location should continue to be monitored for signs of scour or lateral channel migration.

5.4 Contraction Scour

Contraction scour occurs when the flow area of a stream is reduced by: 1) the natural contraction of the stream channel; 2) by a bridge structure; or 3) the overbank flow forced back to the channel by roadway embankments at the roadway approach to a bridge. From the continuity equation, a decrease in flow area results in an increase in average velocity and bed shear stress through the contraction. Hence, there is an increase in erosive forces in the contraction section, and more bed material is removed from the contracted reach than is transported into the reach. This increase in transport of bed material from the reach lowers the natural bed elevation. As the bed elevation is lowered, the flow area increases. Thus, the velocity and shear stress decrease until relative equilibrium is reached; i.e., the quantity of bed material that is transported into the reach is equal to that removed from the reach, or the bed shear stress is decreased to a value such that no sediment is transported out of the reach. Contraction scour, in a natural channel or at a bridge crossing, involves removal of material from the bed across all or most of the channel width (FHWA).

Equations are available to estimate ultimate (contraction) and pier scour depths for channel bed materials that are cohesive. In general, the threshold for cohesive bed materials is a median grain size diameter that is 0.2 mm or less. Based on gradation test results from SHN Consulting Engineers and Geologists, Inc., the median grain size

diameter for the bed material is approximately 0.2 mm, and the bed material in the channel banks are described as being lean organic clays and high plasticity clayey silts.

The equation for estimating ultimate scour, as presented in HEC-18, is as follows:

$$y_{s-ult} = 0.94 y_1 \left(\frac{1.83V_2}{\sqrt{gy_1}} - \frac{K_u \sqrt{\frac{\tau_c}{\rho}}}{gny_1^{1/3}} \right)$$

Where:

 y_{s-ult} = scour depth for cohesive soils, ft

 y_1 = average depth in the upstream main channel, ft

 V_2 = average flow velocity in the contracted section, ft/s

g = gravitational acceleration, 32.2 ft/s²

 $K_u = 1.486$ for U.S. Customary units, and 1.0 for S.I. units

 τ_c = critical shear stress, lbs/ft²

 ρ = density of sediment, slugs/ft³

n = Manning's roughness coefficient, unitless

The ultimate (contraction) scour estimates are presented in Table 14.

Table 14. Ultimate (Contraction) Scour

Downstream Boundary Condition	Ultimate Contraction Scour (ft)
Stillwater Elevation from Humboldt Bay	0.3
from Preliminary FIS	
Normal Depth Slope	0.1
MLLW Elevation from Humboldt Bay	1.1

5.5 Local Abutment Scour

Abutment scour occurs when the bridge abutments block approaching flow. Abutment scour is commonly evaluated using either the Froehlich or HIRE live-bed scour equation. The HIRE equation is applicable when the ratio of the projected abutment length (the L parameter) to the flow depth (the y_1 parameter) is greater than 25. The HIRE equation was used for this scour analysis when the ratio of the projected abutment length to the flow depth was greater than 25. The Froehlich equation was used for the scour analysis when the ratio of the projected abutment length to the scour analysis when the ratio of the greater than 25. The scour analysis when the ratio of the projected abutment length to the flow depth at each of the abutments was less than 25.

The HIRE abutment scour equation is given below:

$$\frac{y_s}{y_1} = 4Fr^{0.33} \frac{K_1}{0.55} K_2$$

Where:

- $y_s =$ Scour depth, ft
- y_1 = Depth of flow at the abutment on the overbank or in the main channel, ft
- y_1 = Froude Number based on the velocity and depth adjacent to and upstream of the abutment
- K_1 = Abutment shape coefficient (from Table 8.1 of HEC-18)
- K_2 = Coefficient for skew angle of abutment to flow

The Froehlich equation is given below:

$$y_s = y_a \left[2.27K_1 K_2 \left(\frac{L'}{y_a} \right)^{0.43} Fr^{0.61} + 1 \right]$$

Where:

- $y_s =$ scour depth, ft
- K_1 = abutment shape coefficient (from Table 7.1 of HEC-18)
- K_2 = coefficient for skew angle of abutment to flow
- L' = length of active flow obstructed by the embankment, ft
- Fr = Froude number, based on the velocity and depth adjacent to and upstream of the abutment
- $y_a =$ average depth of flow at the abutment = A_e/L , ft
- L = length of embankment projected normal to the flow, ft
- A_e = flow area of the approach cross section obstructed by the embankment, sq ft

The local abutment scour estimates are presented in Table 15.

Table 15. Local Abutment Scour

Downstream Boundary	Local Abutment Scour (ft)					
Condition	Abutment 1 (Western)	Abutment 2 (Eastern)				
Stillwater Elevation from						
Humboldt Bay from Preliminary	11.1	11.3				
FIS						
Normal Depth Slope	12.5	17.4				
MLLW Elevation from	8.2	9.6				
Humboldt Bay	8.2	8.0				

5.6 Total Scour and Scour Countermeasures

With the stillwater elevation from Humboldt Bay and normal depth, the average channel velocities would be slow, and the water surface elevations would be high, resulting in high scour estimates. However, the probability of the stillwater elevation from Humboldt Bay and the 100-year flows from Elk River and Martin/Swain Slough all occurring concurrently is rare. The probability of these events happening simultaneously is less than 1 in 100. The scour calculations using the MLLW from Humboldt Bay as a downstream boundary condition results in more reasonable scour estimates.

5.6.1 Total Scour

According to the *Caltrans Bridge Memo to Designers*, bridge footings supported on soil or degradable rock should be embedded below the maximum computed scour depth (2003). It also states that "footings on piles may be located above the lowest anticipated scour level provided the piles are designed for this condition." The total estimated scour depths reflect the sum of the long-term bed elevation change, contraction scour, and local scour, with the bridge supported on soil. The long-term bed elevation change was not quantified. However, the historical information provided in the Caltrans BIRs has indicated that the foundations at the existing bridge are stable, and therefore, was determined to be negligible. The total estimated scour depth was qualitatively estimated using the local abutment scour depth and contraction scour depths.

The minimum elevations for the proposed foundations are referenced to the thalweg of the channel. For the proposed bridge, the thalweg is 0 ft. The calculated scour depths and elevations are presented in Table 16.

Bridge Component	Thalweg Elevation (ft)	Contraction Scour (ft)	Local Scour (ft)	Total Scour (ft)	Total Scour Elevation (ft)
Abutment 1 (west)	0	1.1	8.2	9.3	-9.3
Abutment 2 (east)	0	1.1	8.6	9.7	-9.7

 Table 16. Proposed Bridge Total Scour Elevation

Per FHWA's HEC-18, for footings (with a designed countermeasure, such as RSP, to prevent local scour from forming at the base of the abutment), the top of the footing should reference the thalweg and be below the estimated long-term degradation and contraction scour depth. For footings (without a designed countermeasure), the top of the footing should reference the thalweg and be below the total scour depth. The bridge abutment footings are placed above the lowest estimated total scour depth, and the piles are designed for this condition.

5.6.2 Scour Countermeasures

RSP generally consists of rocks on channel and structure boundaries to limit the effects of scour. It is the most common type of scour countermeasure due to its general availability, ease of installation, and relatively low cost. RSP sizing was calculated following Caltrans' *California Bank and Shore RSP Design* manual (Caltrans 2000) and the FHWA's HEC-23 (2009). The detailed RSP calculations are included in Appendix D.

The D_{50} of the RSP for the bridge abutments was calculated using the Isbash relationship or Equation 14.2 from HEC-23, Design Guideline 14, depending on the Froude number from the hydraulic analysis for the proposed bridge. The median stone diameter is a function of velocity and depth. The average channel flow velocities and flow depths for the 100-year storm event from the hydraulic analysis were used to calculate the minimum required median stone diameter of the RSP to protect the embankments in the vicinity of the bridge.

Based on both the *California Bank and Shore RSP Design* and the FHWA's HEC-23 RSP design criteria, as well as engineering judgment, a minimum size of Light class RSP is recommended to be used to protect the abutments of the proposed bridge. Per the *California Bank and Shore RSP Design* manual, Light class RSP should include RSP fabric type A. The RSP fabric should be placed on the bank as the initial filter separator material between the RSP and the bank. The minimum layer thickness is 2.5 ft per the Caltrans *California Bank and Shore RSP Design* manual. The abutment fill slopes should be protected with RSP to an elevation of 2 ft above the 100-year flood. The slope protection should extend from the face of the abutment to the toe of slope. The RSP should be keyed in vertically 5 ft, or to the anticipated scour elevation in the stream bed.

6 **REFERENCES**

- California Department of Transportation. (2003). Memo to Designers 1-23: Hydraulic and Hydrologic Data.
- California Department of Transportation. (October 2000). *California Bank and Shore Rock Slope Protection Design*. Final Report No. FHWA-CA-TL-95-10. Caltrans Study No. F90TL03. Third Edition.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency. (January 9, 2015). Flood Insurance Study for Humboldt County, California and Incorporated Areas. Preliminary. Flood Insurance Study Number 06023CV000A.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency. (February 8, 1999). Flood Insurance Study for Humboldt County, California Unincorporated Areas. Community Number 060060.
- Federal Highway Administration. *Evaluating Scour at Bridges*. Fifth edition. By L.A. Arneson, L.W. Zevenbergen, P.F. Lagasse, P.E. Clopper. (Hydraulic Engineering Circular No. 18). (Publication No. FHWA-HIF-12-003). Springfield, VA: National Technical Information Service, April 2012.
- Federal Highway Administration. Bridge Scour and Stream Instability Countermeasures: Experience, Selection, and Design Guidance. Third edition. By P.F. Lagasse, P.E. Clopper, J.E. Pagán-Ortiz, L.W. Zevenbergen, L.A. Arneson, J.D. Schall, L.G. Girard. (Hydraulic Engineering Circular No. 23). (Publication No. FHWA-NHI-09-111). Springfield, VA: National Technical Information Service, September 2009.
- Gotvald, A.J., N.A. Barth, A.G. Veilleux, and C. Parrett. (2012). *Methods for determining magnitude and frequency of floods in California, based on data through water year 2006*. U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2012–5113, 38 p., 1 pl., available online only at <http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2012/5113/>.
- Humboldt County. Planning Division Maps and GIS Information. http://gis.co.humboldt.ca.us/defaultprev.asp (Last accessed: June 17, 2015)
- McCuen. (1982). A Guide to Hydrologic Analysis Using SCS Methods. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J.
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Hydrometeorological Design Studies Center. (2012). NOAA Atlas 14 Point Precipitation Frequency Estimates: CA. <<u>http://hdsc.nws.noaa.gov/hdsc/pfds/pfds_map_cont.html?bkmrk=ca</u>> (Last accessed: August 14, 2012)
- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Orthometric Height Conversion. <http://www.ngs.noaa.gov/cgi-bin/VERTCON/vert_con.prl> (Last accessed: June 16, 2015).

- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Tides and Currents. Datums for 9418767, North Spit CA. http://co-ops.nos.noaa.gov/datums.html?id=9418767 (Last accessed: June 19, 2015).
- Natural Resources Conservation Service. *Web Soil Survey*. http://websoilsurvey.aspx (Last accessed: August 14, 2012)
- Natural Resources Conservation Service. (1986). *Technical Release 55* (TR-55) *Urban Hydrology for Small Watersheds*. 210-VI-TR-55. Second Edition. June 1986.
- SHN Consulting Engineers and Geologists, Inc. (October 2014). Final Foundation Report. Pine Hill Road Bridge at Swain Slough, Eureka, Humboldt County, California. Reference: 012163.
- United States Army Corps of Engineers Hydrologic Engineering Center. (2010). Hydrologic Modeling System. HEC-HMS. Version 3.5. Software. August 2010. http://www.hec.usace.army.mil/software/hec-hms.
- United States Army Corps of Engineers Hydrologic Engineering Center. (2010). River Analysis System. HEC-RAS. Version 4.1.0. Software. January 2010. http://www.hec.usace.army.mil/software/hec-ras/hecras-download.html
- United States Geological Survey. (2001). *California: Seamless USGS Topographic Maps*. CDROM, Version 2.6.8, Part Number: 113-100-004. National Geographic Holdings, Inc.

Appendix A HEC-RAS Existing Condition



HEC-RAS Plan: Existing_Rev

River	Reach	River Sta	Profile	Q Total	Min Ch El	W.S. Elev	Crit W.S.	E.G. Elev	E.G. Slope	Vel Chnl	Flow Area	Top Width	Froude # Chl
				(cfs)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft/ft)	(ft/s)	(sq ft)	(ft)	
Swain Slough	1	3118.45	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.20	12.23		12.26	0.000229	1.96	1845.70	314.70	0.12
Swain Slough	1	3118.45	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.20	11.60		11.63	0.000253	1.96	1646.92	314.70	0.12
Swain Slough	1	2936.16	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	0.20	12.03		12.19	0.000656	3.59	882.39	120.31	0.21
Swain Slough	1	2936.16	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	0.20	11.40		11.55	0.000671	3.46	807.15	120.31	0.21
Swain Slough	1	2868.63	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	0.62	12.04		12.13	0.000396	2.68	1165.69	175.79	0.16
Swain Slough	1	2868.63	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	0.62	11.41		11.50	0.000417	2.61	1054.75	175.79	0.17
Swain Slough	2	2695.15	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	0.00	12.09	5.80	12.09	0.000028	0.72	7148.31	1863.49	0.04
Swain Slough	2	2695.15	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	0.00	11.45	5.51	11.46	0.000037	0.80	5960.57	1863.49	0.05
Swain Slough	2	2686		Bridge									
Swain Slough	2	2676.8	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	0.00	12.09		12.09	0.000030	0.73	6966.73	1840.64	0.04
Swain Slough	2	2676.8	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	0.00	11.45		11.46	0.000039	0.81	5799.09	1795.17	0.05
Swain Slough	2	2616.89	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.44	11.78		12.02	0.000876	4.09	700.42	90.79	0.24
Swain Slough	2	2616.89	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.44	11.17		11.39	0.000874	3.90	644.96	90.03	0.23
Swain Slough	2	2159.91	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.68	11.90		11.90	0.000036	0.81	5294.00	1008.61	0.05
Swain Slough	2	2159.91	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.68	11.27		11.27	0.000042	0.84	4655.40	1007.54	0.05
		4040.50		0.400.00		11.07		44.00			0004.04		
Swain Slough	2	1643.56	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.86	11.87		11.88	0.000063	1.13	3961.64	824.36	0.06
Swain Slough	2	1643.56	50-yr FEIMA WSE	2200.00	-0.86	11.23		11.24	0.000075	1.18	3435.88	821.62	0.07
Swein Clough		E20.4E		2400.00	0.70	11.50		11.60	0.000707	2.50	740.50	100.47	0.00
Swain Slough	2	538.45		2490.00	-0.78	11.50		11.69	0.000797	3.50	740.52	123.17	0.22
Swain Slough	2	536.45	DU-YI FEIVIA WSE	2200.00	-0.78	10.85		11.03	0.000797	3.40	003.13	109.40	0.22
Elk River	2	62 62	100-vr FEMA WSE	14430.00	-7.07	9.67		10.64	0.002567	7 88	1832.08	172 67	0.43
Elk River	2	62.62	50-vr FEMA WSE	12520.00	-7.07	9.37		10.01	0.002087	7.03	1780.50	170.30	0.38
	-			12020.00		0.07		10.14	0.002007	,.00			0.00
Elk River	2	61.62	100-vr FEMA WSE	14430.00	-7.07	9.67	4.47	10.63	0.002569	7.88	1831,57	172.64	0.43
Elk River	2	61.62	50-yr FEMA WSE	12520.00	-7.07	9.37	3.77	10.14	0.002088	7.03	1780.13	170.28	0.38

Plan: Existing_Rev Swain Slough 2 RS: 2686 Profile: 100-yr FEMA WSE

E.G. US. (ft)	12.09	Element	Inside BR US	Inside BR DS
W.S. US. (ft)	12.09	E.G. Elev (ft)	12.09	12.09
Q Total (cfs)	2490.00	W.S. Elev (ft)	12.09	12.09
Q Bridge (cfs)	146.43	Crit W.S. (ft)	6.20	6.24
Q Weir (cfs)		Max Chl Dpth (ft)	12.09	12.09
Weir Sta Lft (ft)		Vel Total (ft/s)	0.37	0.37
Weir Sta Rgt (ft)		Flow Area (sq ft)	6790.55	6724.86
Weir Submerg		Froude # Chl	0.02	0.02
Weir Max Depth (ft)		Specif Force (cu ft)	14649.38	14550.28
Min El Weir Flow (ft)	7.19	Hydr Depth (ft)	3.64	3.65
Min El Prs (ft)	9.49	W.P. Total (ft)	2018.35	1996.12
Delta EG (ft)	0.00	Conv. Total (cfs)	396821.4	392993.6
Delta WS (ft)	0.00	Top Width (ft)	1863.49	1840.64
BR Open Area (sq ft)	377.61	Frctn Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
BR Open Vel (ft/s)	0.39	C & E Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
Coef of Q		Shear Total (lb/sq ft)	0.01	0.01
Br Sel Method	Energy only	Power Total (lb/ft s)	-905.19	-907.26

Plan: Existing_Rev Swain Slough 2 RS: 2686 Profile: 50-yr FEMA WSE

E.G. US. (ft)	11.46	Element	Inside BR US	Inside BR DS
W.S. US. (ft)	11.45	E.G. Elev (ft)	11.46	11.46
Q Total (cfs)	2200.00	W.S. Elev (ft)	11.45	11.45
Q Bridge (cfs)	175.26	Crit W.S. (ft)	5.86	5.92
Q Weir (cfs)		Max Chl Dpth (ft)	11.45	11.45
Weir Sta Lft (ft)		Vel Total (ft/s)	0.39	0.40
Weir Sta Rgt (ft)		Flow Area (sq ft)	5603.24	5557.98
Weir Submerg		Froude # Chl	0.02	0.02
Weir Max Depth (ft)		Specif Force (cu ft)	10699.31	10635.27
Min El Weir Flow (ft)	7.19	Hydr Depth (ft)	3.01	3.10
Min El Prs (ft)	9.49	W.P. Total (ft)	2013.33	1949.50
Delta EG (ft)	0.00	Conv. Total (cfs)	292355.6	292573.3
Delta WS (ft)	0.00	Top Width (ft)	1859.75	1795.30
BR Open Area (sq ft)	377.61	Frctn Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
BR Open Vel (ft/s)	0.46	C & E Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
Coef of Q		Shear Total (lb/sq ft)	0.01	0.01
Br Sel Method	Energy only	Power Total (lb/ft s)	-905.19	-907.26







			HEC	-RAS	Vers	ion 4	.1.	0 Jan	2010			
	U.S. Army Corps of Engineers											
	Hydrologic Engineering Center											
				60	9 Se	cond	Str	eet				
				Da	vis,	Cali	for	nia				
	Х	Х	XXXXXX	XX	xx		XX	XX	Х	X	XXX	٢X
	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
	XXX	XXXXX	XXXX	Х		XXX	XX	XX	XXX	XXX	XXX	X۷
	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х		Х
	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х		Х
	Х	Х	XXXXXX	XX	XX		Х	Х	Х	Х	XXXX	Xک
PROJECT	DATA											
Project	Title:	Pine	Hill Rd	Bridg	е							

Project File : PineHillRoadBrid.prj Run Date and Time: 11/18/2015 2:55:54 PM

Project in English units

PLAN DATA

```
Plan Title: Existing_Rev
Plan File : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS
Model\PineHillRoadBrid.p02
```

```
Geometry Title: Existing_Rev
Geometry File : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18
RAS Model\PineHillRoadBrid.g03
```

```
Flow Title
              : Swain/Martin/Elk
              : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18
Flow File
RAS Model\PineHillRoadBrid.f06
```

Plan Summary Information:

Number o	of:	Cross Sections	=	16	Multiple Openings	=	0
		Culverts	=	0	Inline Structures	=	0
		Bridges	=	1	Lateral Structures	=	0

Computational Information Water surface calculation tolerance = 0.01

Critical depth calculation tolerance	=	0.01
Maximum number of iterations	=	20
Maximum difference tolerance	=	0.3
Flow tolerance factor	=	0.001

Computation Options Critical depth computed only where necessary Conveyance Calculation Method: At breaks in n values only Friction Slope Method: Average Conveyance Computational Flow Regime: Subcritical Flow

FLOW DATA

Flow Title: Swain/Martin/Elk
Flow File : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS
Model\PineHillRoadBrid.f06

Flow Data (cfs)

River	Reach	RS	100-yr FEMA WSE	50-yr FEMA WSE	100-yr ND
100-yr MLLW					
Elk River	1	1407.91	13340	11570	
13340	.01				
Elk River	2	62.62	14430	12520	
14430	.01				
Martin Slough	1	180.1	2490	2200	
2490	2490				
Swain Slough	1	3118.45	2490	2200	
2490	2490				
Swain Slough	2	2695.15	2490	2200	
2490	2490				

Boundary Conditions

River Downstream	Reach	Profile	Upstream	
Elk River = 9.67	2	100-yr FEMA WSE		Known WS
Elk River = 9.37	2	50-yr FEMA WSE		Known WS
Elk River = 0.001	2	100-yr ND		Normal S
Elk River = -0.34	2	100-yr MLLW		Known WS

Geometry Title: Existing_Rev Geometry File : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\PineHillRoadBrid.g03

Reach Connection Table

River	Reach	Upstream Boundary	Downstream Boundary
Elk River	1		Swain-Elk
Elk River	2	Swain-Elk	
Martin Slough	1		Pine Hill Rd
Swain Slough	1		Pine Hill Rd
Swain Slough	2	Pine Hill Rd	Swain-Elk

JUNCTION INFORMATION

Name: Pine Hill Rd Description: Energy computation Method

Length acro	oss Junction	Tributary			
River	Reach	River	Reach	Length Ar	ngle
Swain Slough	1	to Swain Slough	2	173.48	
Martin Slough	1	to Swain Slough	2	5	

Name: Swain-Elk Description: Energy computation Method

Length acr	oss Junction	Tributary			
River	Reach	River	Reach	Length	Angle
Swain Slough	2	to Elk River	2	475.83	
Elk River	1	to Elk River	2	657.7	

CROSS SECTION

RIVER: Elk River REACH: 1 RS: 1407.91

INPUT

1111 0 1					
Descriptio	on: Line 1				
Station El	evation Data	num= 33			
Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev
-495.656	6.6 .4983	6.6 9.8966	6.36 20.6811	4.76 22.7645	2.76
28.2917	2.03 33.1512	.82 35.9649	38 37.5126	78 41.1892	-2.09
49.0949	-2.62 51.3937	-2.91 53.9924	-3.27 70.1936	-5.36 79.709	-5.96
83.7181	-5.68 90.0982	-3.37 95.0206	-2.45101.6848	-2.24 111.091	31
119.8141	.76 125.488	.71132.7298	.3139.2829	.15145.4747	73
550.1818	9559.5398	9620.5295	9622.8073	8625.2212	7
628.3207	6631.9674	6 641.629	7		

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge	\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Existing.rep	Wednesday, November 18, 2015 3:00 PM
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-495.656 .06 .4983	.045550.1818 .06	
Bank Sta: Left Right .4983550.1818	Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Contr. 329.47 329.47 329.47 .1	Expan. .3
CROSS SECTION		
RIVER: Elk River		
REACH: 1	RS: 1078.44	
INPUT		
Description: Line 2	21	
Station Elevation Data	num= 31	
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta	Elev 2 01
-402.133 0.74 0	0.74 13.9004 5.77 10.5737 4.10 19.3555 1 12 25 0071 - 06 27 218 -1 01 46 0715	2.91 -2.74
24.2445 2.20 30.3345 AC AEEC 2.69 66 6612		-2.74
40.4550 -2.08 00.0015	-5.05 62.0256 -2.61 90.5396 -2.46 90.9076	00 6.06
100.8131 .04107.3000	1./111.4/51 2.23119.0/34 2.9/120.0001 7 14162 9666 7 67160 6722 10 04167 7746	10.28
	7.14152.0555 7.07159.5722 10.04107.7740 9.640.000 0604.6266 0.606.101	10.29
645.293 7647.7288 697.2163 7	0 049.900 9094.0300 9 090.101	0
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-482.133 .06 0	.045 123.145 .06	
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Contr.	Expan.
0 123.145	420.74 420.74 420.74 .1	. 3
CROSS SECTION		
RIVER: Elk River		
REACH: 1	RS: 657.7	
INPUT		
Description: Line 3		
Station Elevation Data	num= 32	
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta	Elev
-555.487 8.15 0	8.15 5.1318 8.23 7.662 7.11 10.9105	6.43
24.7099 6.6 43.8952	6.31 45.7699 5.41 46.8227 2.68 53.4299	1.77
63.584 .08 69.1987	-1.79 79.6939 -3.03 91.547 -2.62111.1688	-2.55
121.4236 -1.39127.5531	.12 136.55 1.43145.5573 2.42159.8011	3.66
160.4782 4.49164.8015	5.5170.1038 6.6172.4629 8.08176.7684	7.68
184.2836 9.13653.1684	9669.4502 9684.5269 9734.8904	9
736.7045 8739.7709	8	
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-555.487 .06 5.1318	.045184.2836 .06	

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge	\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Existing.rep	Wednesday, November 18, 2015 3:00 PM
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Co	ontr. Expan.
5.1318184.2836	0 0 0	.1 .3
CROSS SECTION		
RIVER: Elk River		
REACH: 2	RS: 62.62	
INPUT		
Description: Line 4		
Station Elevation Data	num= 39	
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev	Sta Elev
-30.6735 11.69 1.7051	12 5.112 11 8.3018 10 10	.6871 9
13.206 8 15.5476	7 16.7659 6 17.7209 5.36 18	.0539 5
19.2578 4 20.3652	3 21.4603 2 22.4528 1 25	.1102 1.98
32.41216 39.8847	-1.77 48.5214 -2.57 56.9498 -3.08 64	.6987 -3.51
73.3526 -4.13 85.8668	-5.73 94.8034 -6.29105.5397 -7.07117	.8966 -6.09
129.1598 -1.9135.9209	.67138.9949 1.14147.2467 2.07 159	9.587 3.09
171.4851 4.48175.2133	6.99177.2178 8178.0591 9183	.5394 10
185.5446 11191.1513	12223.5299 12381.2216 12	
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-30.6735 .06 1.7051	.045191.1513 .06	
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Co	ontr. Expan.
1.7051191.1513	1 1 1	.1 .3
CROSS SECTION		
RIVER: Elk River		
REACH: 2	RS: 61.62	
INPUT		
Description: Copy of Line	4	
Station Elevation Data	num= 39	
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev	Sta Elev
-30.6735 11.69 1.7051	12 5.112 11 8.3018 10 10	.6871 9
13.206 8 15.5476	7 16.7659 6 17.7209 5.36 18	.0539 5
19.2578 4 20.3652	3 21,4603 2 22,4528 1 25	.1102 1.98
32.41216 39.8847	-1.77 48.5214 -2.57 56.9498 -3.08 64	.6987 -3.51
73.3526 -4.13 85.8668	-5.73 94.8034 -6.29105.5397 -7.07117	.8966 -6.09
129.1598 -1.9135.9209	.67138.9949 1.14147.2467 2.07 15	9.587 3.09
171.4851 4.48175.2133	6.99177.2178 8178.0591 9183	.5394 10
185.5446 11191.1513	12223.5299 12381.2216 12	
	1001.0010 10	
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-30.6735 .06 1.7051	.045191.1513 .06	
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Co	ontr. Expan.
1.7051191.1513		.1 .3
		· -

CROSS SECTION

RIVER: Martin Slough		
REACH: 1	RS: 180.1	
TNDITT		
Description: Line 14		
Station Flevation Data		
Station Elevation Data	Flow Sta Flow S	ta Elou Sta Elou
162 122 6 146 227		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
-155.155 0-145.257	6 3 13 5256 6 1 <i>1</i> 6	
22 2612 2 23 5276	$2 \ 93 \ 25 \ 5578 \ - \ 47 \ 27 \ 10$	-5 -5 20.5055 -1
31 6165 1 43 31 7153	2.95 25.5576 = .47 27.10	23 - 34 0014 - 663
34 8132 7 06 44 3037	8 47 3797 8 3 65 75	53 9 71 7228 10
79 4184 11 90 838		51 14145 5885 15
/5.4104 11 50.050	12110.1051 15125.54	51 14145.5005 15
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-153.133 .06 0	.045 33.2223 .06	
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Righ	t Coeff Contr. Expan.
0 33.2223	180.1 180.1 180.	1 .1 .3
CROSS SECTION		
RIVER: Martin Slough	100	
REACH: I	RS: 100.73	
TNDIIT		
Description: Line 15		
Station Elevation Data	num= 53	
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev S	ta Elev Sta Elev
-342.841 8-311.098	9-265.531 9-226.4	35 8-188.784 7
-156.117 6-148.601	6-143.833 7	0 7 4.1243 6
5.1721 5 7.9804	4 11.0274 3 19.3	34 3 23.1117 4
25.7662 5 27.3436	6 28.9803 7 32.16	84 7.26 37.9916 8
41.8027 8.47 50.8164	9 52.1745 9.07 54.74	01 9 54.7902 9
63.0434 8.76 67.5874	8.4 72.6961 9 72.71	76 9 78.024 9.45
79.6654 10 80.6923	11 83.7436 12 86.84	28 13 92.4978 14
96.1042 15106.2177	16115.1048 16119.68	58 16134.6643 17
138.0456 18140.7584	19161.9231 19164.98	96 18167.9579 17
172.1182 17 176.487	18206.1302 18212.33	56 18214.2315 19
216.2697 20218.4128	21221.1067 22	
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-342.841 .06 0	.045 50.8164 .06	
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Righ	t Coeff Contr. Expan.
	0 0	1 3

CROSS SECTION

DIVED: Guein Glauch			
RIVER: Swain Slough	DO: 2110 45		
REACH: 1	RS: 3118.45		
INPUT			
Description: Line 8			
Station Elevation Data	num= 29		
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev
-97.9254 7 -9.6099	7 0 8.63 6.5839	6.23 10.5031	4.91
13.7673 4 23.5333	3.01 23.7593 .86 27.8821	.09 32.3231	2
34.883202 37.7423	.53 40.3977 1.59 42.4233	4.24 42.7578	1.98
46.1172 2.49 54.0575	2.71 55.9147 4.77 60.5714	5.54 67.144	8.69
73.758 5.77 76.2974	4.72 78.2433 6.91 79.7778	3.12 84.5895	4.18
85.7079 5.75 93.1683	6.43 98.9451 7 216.774	8	
		Ũ	
Manning's n Values	num= 3		
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val		
-97.9254 .06 0	.045 67.144 .06		
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right	Coeff Contr.	Expan.
0 67.144	182.29 182.29 182.29	.1	.3
0 0/.111		• ±	• 5
CROSS SECTION			
RIVER: Swain Slough			
REACH: 1	RS: 2936.16		
TNPUT			
Description: Line 9			
Station Elevation Data	num= 26		
Sta Fley Sta	Flev Sta Flev Sta	Flev Sta	Flow
-43 8533 7-36 2473	6-17 6671 5-10 2326	5 _9 006	6
7 555 7 50.2475		1 10 6401	2
	1 77 10 2706 1 22 747	4 ± 10.0401	2 1
13.3407 2 13.9407	1.// 18.2/06 1 22./4/	.2 31.4931	
38.9011 1.67 40.3033	2 42.0707 3 42.8974	4 44.0699	5
50.9562 6 53.1115	7 65.9823 7 67.7883	6 74.0239	6
76.4603 7			
	2		
Manning's n Values	num= 3		
Sta n Val Sta	n val Sta n Val		
-43.8533 .06 0	.045 53.1115 .06		
			-
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right	Coett Contr.	Expan.
0 53.1115	67.53 67.53 67.53	.1	.3
CROSS SECTION			

RIVER: Swain Slough REACH: 1 RS: 2868.63
INPUT								
Description: Li	ine 10							
Station Elevation	ion Data	num=	25					
Sta Ele	ev Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-34.3974	7-13.8813	6-11	.3092	5	-2.2697	5 -	1.2206	б
0	7 10.7265	6 15	.2428	6	24.2409	4	28.751	3
33.2421	2 33.8764	1.86 38	.7846	1	40.7294	.62 5	1.9939	1
61.863	2 63.5125	3 64	.7918	4	73.1363	57	9.6641	6
81.9044	7 93.6721	8115	.4074	81	L18.6834	714	1.3972	7
Manning's n Val	lues	num=	3					
Sta n Va	al Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val				
-34.3974 .0	06 0	.045 81	.9044	.06				
Bank Sta: Left	Right	Lengths:	Left C	hannel	Right	Coeff	Contr.	Expan.
0	81.9044	27	0.09	270.09	270.09	00011	. 1	. 3
· ·	0100011	_ ,			2,0,00			•••
CROSS SECTION								
RIVER: Swain Sl	lough							
REACH: 2		RS: 2695.	15					
INPUT								
Description: Li	ine 11							
Station Elevati	ion Data	num=	54					
Sta Ele	ev Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-905.194 8.6	51-876.298	8.4-83	6.233	8.11-	-779.831	7.45-7	68.408	7.22
-706.668 7.4	49-684.968	7.63-63	4.669	7.82-	-536.259	7.58 -	437.15	7.55
-343.411 7.1	18-313.251	7.23-22	4.143	7.39-	-144.427	7.82-1	00.496	8.15
-75.2063 8.6	53-50.1786	8.9-26	.0294	9.18	0	9	1.9662	2
7.3509	1 11.2434	0 25	.5344	0	32.5629	1 3	9.0786	2
42.7122	3 45.0992	4 47	.4638	5	58.9415	5	60.762	5
60.8709	9 62.0607	9.85 87	.5355	9.231	L12.0104	8.8913	7.6754	8.87
161.8089 8.4	47207.3775	8.2217	.7859	8.272	243.4937	8.327	4.4125	8.38
318.5187 8.7	78337.0036	9359	.5423	9.23	401.738	9.6145	7.9224	9.49
504.0239	10552.0157	10.44606	.4791	10.860	588.3458	9.9676	1.2707	8.69
829.5144 7.8	36886.1743	8.17924	.6126	8.839	958.2914	9.51		
Manning's n Val	lues	num=	3					
Sta n Va	al Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val				
-905.194 .0	06 0	.045 62	.0607	.06				
Rank Cta. Iaft	Dich+	Lengthat	Loft d	hannol	Pich+	Cooff	Contr	Funan
Damin Sta. Hell	62 0607	ленуснь• 1		18 25	18 25	COELT	2	۲. E
0	02.000/	T		T0.33	TO.33		د.	. 0
BRIDGE								

RIVER: Swain Slough REACH: 2 RS: 2686

INPUT Description:

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Existing.rep

Distance	from Upstream X	(S =	.1				
Deck/Road	lway Width	=	18				
Weir Coef	ficient	= 2	.6				
Upstream	Deck/Roadway C	Coordinate	S				
num=	468						
Sta	Hi Cord Lo Cord	l Sta	Hi Cord	Lo Cord	Sta	Hi Cord	Lo Cord
-935.3	9.8	-920.3	9		-914.6	9	
-909.5	9.1	-908.6	9.2		-905.5	9	
-894.9	9	-891.5	9		-891.4	9	
-891.4	9	-889	9		-883.6	8.9	
-883.5	8.9	-883.5	8.9		-861.1	8	
-856	8.5	-855.1	8.5		-853.1	8.6	
-843.1	8	-843.1	8		-842	8	
-841.9	8	-836.2	8		-828.7	8	
-827.7	8	-824.5	8		-824.3	8	
-823.2	8	-817.2	8		-814.1	8	
-813	8	-802.5	8		-802.1	8	
-793.2	7.6	-786.3	7.3		-786.3	7.3	
-779.8	7.7	-779	7.6		-778.6	7	
-775.3	7	-774	7		-772.2	7	
-772.1	7	-771.8	7		-767.5	7	
-761.4	7	-755.7	7		-754.6	7	
-738.8	7	-730.4	7		-715.1	7	
-713.5	7	-711.7	7.4		-709.5	7.8	
-708.2	7.6	-704.8	7		-700.3	7	
-699.2	7	-697.2	7		-696.5	7.1	
-688.6	7.1	-687.2	7		-686.7	7	
-681.9	7	-677	7.2		-676.8	7.3	
-669.4	7.7	-664.7	8		-664.6	8	
-664.3	8	-663.1	8		-641.6	8	
-638.2	8.1	-637.9	8.1		-636.9	8.1	
-634.5	8.1	-634	8.1		-633.9	8.1	
-633.4	8.1	-631	8.1		-627.1	8.1	
-619	8	-606	8		-601.6	8	
-601.6	8	-601.4	8		-599.6	8	
-549.1	7	-546.2	7		-543.1	7.1	
-538.5	7	-538.1	7		-538.1	7	
-535.2	7.4	-534	7.7		-531.1	7.1	
-531	7	-530.8	7		-486.6	7	
-447.3	7	-447.2	7		-444.2	7	
-444.2	7	-444.2	7		-440.9	7	
-440.8	7	-438.4	7.7		-431.3	7.1	
-430.5	7	-428.1	7		-424.7	7	
-386.7	7	-386.2	7		-344.4	7	
-344.3	7	-343.9	7		-342.5	7.4	
-342.2	7.5	-340	7		-328.2	7	
-326.1	7	-317.7	7		-317.6	7	
-315.9	7	-312.1	7		-312.1	7	
-309.9	7	-309.9	7		-309.7	7	
-304.1	7	-303.7	7		-302.1	7	
-289.9	7	-289.7	7		-276.6	7	
-276	7	-275.6	7		-274.5	7.1	
-272	7.3	-269.6	7.6		-268.5	7.6	
-262.8	7.5	-238.4	7		-238.2	7	

-238	7	-234.5	7	-233.6	7	
-231.7	7	-219.7	7	-212.1	7	
-211.8	7	-207	7	-206.9	7	
-204.2	7	-204	7	-203.5	7	
-195.3	7.2	-194.5	7.2	-181.4	7.8	
-181.4	7.8	-167.6	8	-167.6	8	
-167.2	8	-150.6	8	-147.7	8	
-145.8	8	-145.5	8	-144.1	8.1	
-142.1	8.1	-134.4	8.1	-133.2	8.1	
-125.4	8.5	-124.6	8.5	-121.7	8.4	
-113.1	8.1	-103.4	8.1	-102.9	8.1	
-102.5	8.2	-99.4	8.7	-90.7	8.2	
-90.4	8.2	-74.9	9	-74.4	9	
-74.4	9	-72.4	9	-71.6	9	
-59.1	9	-58.2	9	-55.6	9	
-53.6	9	-50.5	9.2	-49.5	9.2	
-45.1	9	-44.7	9	-33.6	9	
-30.7	9	-30.2	9	-25.5	9	
-24.8	9.3	-24.7	9.3	-24.6	9.4	
-24.6	9.4	-15.6	9.1	0	9.8	
.2	9.8	.3	9.8	9.3 63	10	9.5
63.1	10	63.2	10	63.2	10	
63.2	10	63.4	10	64.2	9.9	
64.4	10	64.5	10	64.5	10	
64.9	10	74.6	9.8	87.5	9.7	
88.1	9.7	89.3	9.1	96.9	9.1	
97.1	9	99.1	9	108.9	9	
108.9	9	112.5	9	112.6	9	
116.1	9	116.4	9	118.5	9	
125.9	9	131.9	9	132.6	9	
135.1	9.1	137.1	9.2	137.8	9.2	
138	9.2	138.2	9.2	143.4	9	
149.4	9	150.8	9	160	9	
161.7	9.1	162.9	9	176.2	9	
182	9	183.1	9	183.2	9	
183.3	9	192.9	9	193	9	
196.7	8.9	204.1	8.9	204.1	8.9	
204.2	8.9	213.1	8.6	218.6	8.5	
221.4	8.4	230.5	8.4	235.2	8.6	
244.2	9	244.4	9	245.4	9	
245.7	9	250.4	9	251.1	9	
252.8	9	252.8	9	254	9	
255.7	9	282.8	9	286	9	
288	9	300.8	9.3	300.8	9.3	
313.3	9	315.8	9	327.3	9	
331.8	9	331.9	9	360.4	9.4	
365.8	9.4	366.5	9.4	381.3	9.3	
397.6	9.5	397.7	9.5	408.7	9.2	
418.1	9	421.4	9	436.9	9.5	
438	9.5	438.4	9.5	438.9	9.5	
439.5	9.5	439.7	9.5	441.4	9.5	
453.2	9.1	453.2	9	455.4	8.9	
465.8	8.7	465.9	8.7	469.5	8.8	
492	9.9	494	9.8	494.9	9.8	

-10-

		-		-	
495.8	9.3	496	9	504.4	9.6
507.7	9.6	514	9.5	516.6	9.5
516.7	9.5	521.9	9.6	524	9.7
524.2	9.7	527.8	9.7	531.4	9.8
535.4	9.8	539.7	10	540.4	10.2
545	10.1	550.6	10.7	560.1	11.2
560.3	11.1	566.9	11	568.2	11
569.1	11.1	570.8	11.2	577.1	11.3
577.5	11.3	577.9	11.3	579.8	11.3
580.6	11.3	580.9	11.3	581	11.3
583.1	11.3	585	11.2	585.5	11.2
589.4	11.2	589.9	11.2	590.4	11.2
590.6	11.2	590.9	11.2	593.7	11.2
594.1	11.2	599.4	11.4	601.7	11.5
602.7	11.5	603.5	11.5	603.7	11.5
608.2	11.2	612.6	11.2	615	11.2
616.5	11.2	616.6	11.2	618.4	11.2
622	11.2	625.1	11.2	627.3	11.2
628.3	11.2	635.3	11.1	637.9	11
638.1	11	639.5	11	642.3	10.9
642.7	10.9	642.9	10.9	643.2	10.9
643.9	10.9	656.8	10.6	660.9	10.6
667.4	10.4	671	10.3	672	10.3
673.5	10.3	674.1	10.3	676	10.2
680.1	10.2	681.7	10.2	687.2	10.1
687.3	10.1	687.4	10.1	692.4	10
693	10	693	10	693.1	10
693.2	10	693.2	10	693.2	10
693.3	10	693.4	10	693.8	10
695.3	9.9	719.8	9	719.9	9
721.5	9	726	8.7	726.2	8.7
729.9	8.5	731.5	8.5	733.2	8.5
734.6	8.4	745.8	8.1	746.6	8.1
747.4	8.1	750	8.1	751.1	8.1
753.4	8.4	755.9	8.4	759.3	8.4
762	8	763.9	8	767.1	8
767.9	8	773.7	7.4	781.4	7.5
781.8	7.5	783.1	7.5	784.5	7.5
785.9	7.5	788.4	7.5	790.6	7.5
791.1	7.5	791.7	7.5	792.3	7.5
794	7.5	795.6	7.5	796.1	7.5
804.8	7.3	805.7	7.3	806	7.3
806.9	7.3	809.3	7.3	823.7	7.9
827.4	7.9	832.6	7.4	837.7	7.4
849.1	7.6	849.8	7.6	850.9	7.6
852	7.6	852.3	7.6	853.1	7.7
854	7.7	854.3	7.7	854.6	7.7
855.7	7.7	860.5	8	866.6	8
869.3	8	870.7	8	875.8	8
879.4	8	880.5	8	881.1	8.1
883.3	8.1	884.8	8.1	888.3	8.5
892.6	9	894	9	895.5	9.1
895.6	9.1	896.5	9.1	896.5	9.1
898.6	9.2	899.9	9.2	901.7	9.2

Upstream Bridge Cross Section Data

Station Ele	evation D	Data	num=	54					
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-905.194	8.61-87	6.298	8.4-8	36.233	8.11-77	79.831	7.45-	768.408	7.22
-706.668	7.49-68	4.968	7.63-6	34.669	7.82-53	36.259	7.58	-437.15	7.55
-343.411	7.18-31	3.251	7.23-2	24.143	7.39-14	44.427	7.82-	100.496	8.15
-75.2063	8.63-50	.1786	8.9-2	26.0294	9.18	0	9	1.9662	2
7.3509	1 11	.2434	0 2	25.5344	0 32	2.5629	1	39.0786	2
42.7122	3 45	.0992	4 4	7.4638	5 58	3.9415	5	60.762	5
60.8709	9 62	.0607	9.85 8	87.5355	9.23112	2.0104	8.891	37.6754	8.87
161.8089	8.47207	.3775	8.221	7.7859	8.27243	3.4937	8.32	74.4125	8.38
318.5187	8.78337	.0036	935	9.5423	9.23 40	01.738	9.614	57.9224	9.49
504.0239	10552	.0157	10.4460	6.4791	10.86688	3.3458	9.967	61.2707	8.69
829.5144	7.86886	.1743	8.1792	4.6126	8.83958	3.2914	9.51		

Sta Hi Cord Lo Cord

9.2

8.9

8.5

9

9

9

8

8

Sta Hi Cord Lo Cord

-914.6

-905.5

-891.4

-883.6

-861.1

-853.1

-828.7

-842

9

9

9

8

8

8

8.9

8.6

Manning's	n Values		num=	3	
Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val
-905.194	.06	0	.045	62.0607	.06

Bank	Sta:	Left	Right	Coeff Contr.	Expan.
		0	62.0607	.3	.5

-920.3

-908.6

-891.5

-883.5

-855.1

-843.1

-836.2

-889

Downstream Deck/Roadway Coordinates

9

9

8

8

8.9

8.5

num= 468 Sta Hi Cord Lo Cord 9.8 -935.3 -909.5 9.1 -894.9 -891.4

-883.5

-843.1

-841.9

-856

-827.7	8	-824.5	8	-824.3	8	
-823.2	8	-817.2	8	-814.1	8	
-813	8	-802.5	8	-802.1	8	
-793.2	7.6	-786.3	7.3	-786.3	7.3	
-779.8	7.7	-779	7.6	-778.6	7	
-775.3	7	-774	7	-772.2	7	
-772.1	7	-771.8	7	-767.5	7	
-761.4	7	-755.7	7	-754.6	7	
-738.8	7	-730.4	7	-715.1	7	
-713.5	7	-711.7	7.4	-709.5	7.8	
-708.2	7.6	-704.8	7	-700.3	7	
-699.2	7	-697.2	7	-696.5	7.1	
-688.6	7.1	-687.2	7	-686.7	7	
-681.9	7	-677	7.2	-676.8	7.3	
-669.4	7.7	-664.7	8	-664.6	8	
-664.3	8	-663.1	8	-641.6	8	
-638.2	8.1	-637.9	8.1	-636.9	8.1	
-634.5	8.1	-634	8.1	-633.9	8.1	
-633.4	8.1	-631	8.1	-627.1	8.1	
-619	8	-606	8	-601.6	8	
				-12-		

		•		0 1		
-601.6	8	-601.4	8	-599.6	8	
-549.1	7	-546.2	7	-543.1	7.1	
-538.5	7	-538.1	7	-538.1	7	
-535.2	7.4	-534	7.7	-531.1	7.1	
-531	7	-530.8	7	-486.6	7	
-447.3	7	-447.2	7	-444.2	7	
-444.2	7	-444.2	7	-440.9	7	
-440.8	7	-438.4	7.7	-431.3	7.1	
-430.5	7	-428.1	7	-424.7	7	
-386.7	7	-386.2	7	-344.4	7	
-344.3	7	-343.9	7	-342.5	7.4	
-342.2	7.5	-340	7	-328.2	7	
-326.1	7	-317.7	7	-317.6	7	
-315.9	7	-312.1	7	-312.1	7	
-309.9	7	-309.9	7	-309.7	7	
-304.1	7	-303.7	7	-302.1	7	
-289.9	7	-289.7	7	-276.6	7	
-276	7	-275.6	7	-274.5	7.1	
-272	7.3	-269.6	7.6	-268.5	7.6	
-262.8	7.5	-238.4	7	-238.2	7	
-238	7	-234.5	, 7	-233.6	, 7	
-231.7	, 7	-219.7	, 7	-212.1	, 7	
-211 8	7	-207	, 7	-206 9	, 7	
-204 2	7	-204	, 7	-203 5	, 7	
-195 3	72	-194 5	72	-181 4	78	
-181 4	78	-167 6	8	-167 6	8	
-167 2	8	-150 6	8	-147 7	8	
-145 8	8	-145 5	8	-144 1	8 1	
-142 1	8 1	-134 4	8 1	-133 2	8 1	
-125 4	85	-124 6	8 5	-121 7	8 4	
-113 1	8 1	-103 4	8 1	-102 9	8 1	
-102 5	8 2	-99 4	8 7	-90 7	8 2	
-90 4	8.2	-74 9	9	-74 4	9	
-74 4	9	-72 4	9	-71 6	9	
-59 1	9	-58 2	9	-55.6	9	
-53 6	9	-50.5	9 2	-49 5	9 2	
-45 1	9	-44 7	9	-33 6	9	
-30 7	9	-30.2	9	-25.5	9	
-24 8	93	-24 7	93	-24 6	94	
-24 6	94	-15 6	9 1	21.0	9.8	
21.0	9.8	10.0	98	93 63	10	95
63 1	10	63 2	10	63 2	10	2.5
63 2	10	63.4	10	64 2	9 9	
64 4	10	64 5	10	64 5	10	
64 9	10	74 6	9 8	87.5	97	
88 1	9.7	89.3	9.0	96.9	9 1	
97 1	9.7	99.1	9.1	108.9	9.1	
102 9	9	110 5	a	110 K	a	
116 1	9 Q	116 A	e a	110 F	و م	
125 0	9 Q	121 0	و ۵	120 G	و	
125 1	9 1	127 1	9 9	127 Q	ر م	
120	9.2	120 2	9.2	142 A	<u>م</u> . ر	
149 4	9	150.2	ے ۔ ر م	160	و م	
161 7	9 1	162 9	a	176 0	و م	
-U/	ノ・エ	102.9	2	1/0.2	2	

10 10 10 10 10 10	24 12251 116 1111	ita bilageloabilittaisizoit		nouen Existing.rep	
182	9	183.1	9	183.2	9
183.3	9	192.9	9	193	9
196.7	8.9	204.1	8.9	204.1	8.9
204.2	8.9	213.1	8.6	218.6	8.5
221.4	8.4	230.5	8.4	235.2	8.6
244.2	9	244.4	9	245.4	9
245.7	9	250.4	9	251.1	9
252 8	9	252 8	9	254	9
255 7	9	282.8	9	286	9
288	9	300 8	93	300 8	93
313 3	9	315 8	9	327 3	9
331 8	9	331 9	9	360 4	94
365 8	94	366 5	94	381 3	93
397 6	95	397 7	9 5	408 7	9.2
418 1	9	421 4	9.5	436 9	95
438	95	438 4	95	438 9	95
439 5	9.5	439 7	9.5	441 4	9.5
453 2	9.5	453 2	J.J 9	455 4	2.5
465 8	9.1 8 7	465 9	87	469 5	8.8
102.0	0.7	405.9	0.7	409.5	0.0
105 0	9.9	494	9.0 Q	504 A	9.0
507 7	9.5	= 90 51 <i>4</i>	9 5	516 6	9.0
516 7	9.0	521 Q	9.5	510.0	9.5
510.7	9.5	521.9	9.0	524 521 /	9.7
524.2	9.7	527.8	9.7	531.4	9.0 10.2
535.4	9.0 10 1	559.7	10 7	540.4	11 2
545	11 1	550.0	11	500.1 ECO 2	11
500.5	11 1	500.9		508.2	11 2
509.1 577 5	11 2	570.8	11 2	577.1	11 2
577.5 EQO 6	11 2	577.9	11 2	579.0	11 2
500.0	11 2	500.9	11 2	E0E E 70T	11 2
503.I	11 0	E00 0	11 2	505.5	11 2
500 6	11 2	509.9	11 2	590.4	11 2
590.0 50/ 1	11 2	590.9	11 /	595.7	11 5
602 7	11 5	602 F	11 5	602 7	11 E
602.7	11.0	610 6	11 0	615	11 0
616 E	11 2	616 6	11 2	610 A	11 2
622	11 2	625 1	11 2	627 2	11 2
620 2	11 2	625.2	11 1	627.3	11
628 1	11	639 5	11 ±	642 3	10 9
642 7	10 9	642 9	10 9	642.3	10.9
6/2 9	10.9	656 8	10.5	660 9	10.5
667 4	10.9	671	10.0	672	10.0
672 5	10.4	67/ 1	10.3	676	10.3
600 1	10.3	601 7	10.3	6070 607 0	10.2
607.1	10.2	607.4	10.2	607.2	10.1
602	10.1	602	10.1	602 1	10
602 0	10	600 D	10	603 J	10
602 2	10	602 4	1 O	693.2	10
093.3 605 7	T 0 0	073.4 710 0	τU	073.8	TO
ひょう、う ワク1 E	۲.۶	119.0 796	ע ר ס	719.9	צ ריס
720 0	Э 0 г	720 721 F	0./	120.2	0./
147.9 701 C	C.O N 0	/31.3 7/E 0	0.5	133.2	0.5
134.0 7/7 /	0.4 Q 1	743.0	0.1 Q 1	/40.0 751 1	0.⊥ Q 1
/ ± / • 4	0.1	/50	0.1	/ フ 工 . Ĺ	0.1

Elev 7.68 7.3 9.09 2 2 9 8.76 8.89

9.09

9.98

8.86

G:\Projects\Y2012	2\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge	Submittals\201	5-11-18 RAS	Model\Existing	.rep			W
753.4	8.4	755.9	8.4		759.3	8.4		
762	8	763.9	8		767.1	8		
767.9	8	773.7	7.4		781.4	7.5		
781.8	7.5	783.1	7.5		784.5	7.5		
785.9	7.5	788.4	7.5		790.6	7.5		
791.1	7.5	791.7	7.5		792.3	7.5		
794	7.5	795.6	7.5		796.1	7.5		
804.8	7.3	805.7	7.3		806	7.3		
806.9	7.3	809.3	7.3		823.7	7.9		
827.4	7.9	832.6	7.4		837.7	7.4		
849.1	7.6	849.8	7.6		850.9	7.6		
852	7.6	852.3	7.6		853.1	7.7		
854	7.7	854.3	7.7		854.6	7.7		
855.7	7.7	860.5	8		866.6	8		
869.3	8	870.7	8		875.8	8		
879.4	8	880.5	8		881.1	8.1		
883 3	8 1	884 8	8 1		888 3	8 5		
892 6	9	894	9.1		895 5	9 1		
895 6	9 1	896 5	9 1		896 5	9 1		
898 6	9.2	899 9	9.2		901 7	9.2		
0,0,0	<i></i>	000.0			J 0 1 . /			
Downstream	N Bridge Cross S	ection Da	ta					
Station El	evation Data	num=	56					
Sta	Elev Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	I
-907.259	9.02-851.064	8.33-7	67.859	7.34-	690.752	7.48-67	4.312	-
-634.012	7.86-542.575	7.67-4	36.989	7.53-	342.677	7.1-31	0.625	
-246.582	7.31-174.339	7.68-9	9.0834	8.54-	73.8754	8.69-49	.7054	c
-24.1212	9.18 0	9.56	.9522	9	1.0641	3 2	.3107	
10.4984	1 21.7144	0 2	6.4557	0	30.8535	1 36	.2293	
41.5189	3 48.3547	4 6	1.6524	5	61.7237	9 61	.9538	
63.1937	9.76 88.821	9.2511	2.0223	9.041	37.7226	8.89 1	62.82	8
192.847	8.59219.0203	8.7223	5.4593	8.672	46.9746	8.82251	.7447	5
270 7995	8 89323 3417	8 9636	4 6551	8 884	26 4643	8 79463	3697	Ċ
511 5541	9 76596 7125	11 6362	4 7191	11 636	57 2901	11 01694	9018	-
720 0103	9785 5819	8 0983	0 9925	7 98	86 8119	8 22909	9197	-
933.3759	9.47	0.0700	0.7720		0010112	0.112.02		
/	2.11							
Manning's	n Values	num=	3					
Sta	n Val Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val				
-907.259	.06 0	.045 6	3.1937	.06				
Bank Sta:	Left Right	Coeff Co	ntr.	Expan.				
	0 63.1937		.3	.5				
Upstream E	mbankment side	slope		=	0 hor:	iz. to 1.0	verti	cal
- Downstream	n Embankment sid	e slope		=	0 hor	iz. to 1.0	verti	cal
Maximum al	lowable submerg	ence for	weir fl	Low =	.98			
Elevation	at which weir f	low begin	s	=				
Energy hea	d used in spill	way desig	n	=				
	–	- 5						

Number of Abutments = 2

Weir crest shape

Spillway height used in design

= Broad Crested

=

Abutment Da	ta						
Upstream	num=	3					
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev		
0	9.8	2.9	9.8	2.9	0		
Downstream	num=	-	3				
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev		
0	9.8	2.9	9.8	2.9	0		
Abutment Da	ta						
Upstream	num=	3					
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev		
59.16	0	59.16	10	62.06	10		
Downstream	num=	-	3				
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev		
60.297	06	50.297	10	63.194	10		
Number of P	iers =	2					
Pier Data							
Pier Statio	n (Ir	ostream=	21.0	7 Dowr	stream=	21.45	
Upstream	num=	2		20.01			
Width	Elev	- Width	Elev				
2.9	0	2.9	9.9				
Downstream	num=	= :	2				
Width	Elev	Width	Elev				
2.9	0	2.9	9.9				
Pier Data							
Pier Statio	n Ur	ostream=	40.9	9 Dowr	stream=	41.75	
Upstream	num=	2					
Width	Elev	Width	Elev				
2.3	0	2.3	9.9				
Downstream	num=	- 2	2				
Width	Elev	Width	Elev				
2.3	0	2.3	9.9				
Number of B	ridge Co	pefficier	nt Sets	= 1			
LOW FLOW MO	thoda ar	d Data					
LOW FLOW ME	chous ar	u Dala					
	ЧУ w. Flow N	lothoda -	- Uiaha	at Enara	Anguar		
perected TO	W LTOM N	ietiious :	- птапе	st Energy	AUSWEL		
High Flow M	ethod						
Pres	sure and	d Weir f	Low				
	Submerge	ed Inlet	Cd	=			
	Submerge	ed Inlet	+ Outl	et Cd =	.8		
	Max Low	Cord		=			
Additional	Bridqe I	Parameter	ſS				
Add	Friction	n compone	ent to	Momentum			
Do n	ot add V	Veiaht co	omponen	t to Mome	entum		
Clas	s B flow	v critica	al dept	h compute	tions us	e critical de	pth
CIUS	~		ucpt	compute -		c cricicar de	
	ingide t	he hridd	ne at t	he unetre	am end		

CROSS SECTION

Description: Line 12

RIVER: Swain Slough REACH: 2 RS: 2676.8

INPUT

Station Elev	vation Data	num=	56					
Sta	Elev Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-907.259	9.02-851.064	8.33-	767.859	7.34-6	590.752	7.48-	674.312	7.68
-634.012	7.86-542.575	7.67-	436.989	7.53-3	842.677	7.1-	310.625	7.3
-246.582	7.31-174.339	7.68-	99.0834	8.54-7	3.8754	8.69-	49.7054	9.09
-24.1212	9.18 0	9.56	.9522	9	1.0641	3	2.3107	2
10.4984	1 21.7144	. 0	26.4557	03	80.8535	1	36.2293	2
41.5189	3 48.3547	4	61.6524	56	51.7237	9	61.9538	9
63.1937	9.76 88.821	9.251	12.0223	9.0413	37.7226	8.89	162.82	8.76
192.847	8.59219.0203	8.722	235.4593	8.6724	6.9746	8.822	251.7447	8.89
270.7995	8.89323.3417	8.963	864.6551	8.8842	26.4643	8.794	63.3697	9.09
511.5541	9.76596.7125	11.636	524.7191	11.6365	57.2901	11.016	594.9018	9.98
720.0103	9785.5819	8.098	30.9925	7.988	86.8119	8.229	09.9197	8.86

Manni	ng ' s	n Val	ues	num=	3						
	Sta	n Va	l Sta	n Val	Sta	n V	/al				
-907.	259	.0	6 0	.045 6	3.1937		.06				
Bank	Sta:	Left	Right	Lengths:	Left (Channe	el	Right	Coeff	Contr.	Expan.
		0	63.1937		59.91	59.9	91	59.91		.3	.5

CROSS SECTION

933.3759

9.47

RIVER: Swain Slough REACH: 2 RS: 2616.89

INPUT

Description: Line 13

Station E	levation	Data	num=	38					
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-27.3757	б-	22.1495	5-	-19.9356	4-	17.8932	4	-15.931	5
-13.3997	б-	11.1732	7	-8.9807	8	0	8	.9838	7
1.6616	б	1.7626	5	1.8252	4	2.066	3	2.6226	2
5.6743	1	10.1634	0	12.0819	44	16.038	0	17.7542	.19
26.4716	.16	29.1834	1	33.08	2	34.5866	3	43.2425	4
48.3719	5	52.6332	6	56.5626	7	59.3739	8	60.1734	9
60.3837	9	61.3326	10	62.4476	11	63.6826	12	65.3311	13
66.9443	14	85.0371	14	91.4984	13				
Manning's	n Value	s	num=	3					
Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val				

-27.3757	.06	0	.045	56.5626	.06

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge	\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS N	Model\Existing.rep		Wednesday, November 18, 2015 3:00 PM
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Ch	hannel Right	Coeff Contr.	Expan.
0 56.5626	456.98	456.98 456.98	.1	.3
CROSS SECTION				
RIVER: Swain Slough				
REACH: 2	RS: 2159.91			
INPUT				
Description: Line 7				
Station Elevation Data	num= 59			
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev
-932.044 6-928.635	6-678.153	7-627.295	7-620.888	5
-617.421 5-608.184	7 -575.81	7-563.561	5-548.692	7
-541.909 7-249.517	7-177.238	8-98.2575	8-81.4958	7
-80.4089 6-77.8185	5-70.5183	5-67.9728	6-17.4905	6
-14.492 5-10.8819	5 -9.4783	6 -7.5669	7 -5.9211	8
0 8.26 7.4735	5.76 8.6559	6 11.0678	5 14.5481	4
15 4111 3 99 15 8366	2 77 16 8743	3 17 9266	2 18 8202	-
20 7052 1 47 23 7215	09 28 8796	- 08 31 9546	- 68 34 5284	- 4
36 8228 1 39 1446	26 43 3862	73 46 2956	1 42 47 835	2 11
48 3773 3 54 49 9196	3 96 50 7688	4 55 6249	5 56 75	6
59 8795 7 64 5946	8 69 9105	9 73 5128	10 75 0509	11
76 7312 12 78 511	13 79 5533	14 80 9687	15	**
/0./512 12 /0.511	13 19.3333	14 00.9007	10	
Manning's n Values	num- 3			
Stan Values	n Val Sta	n Val		
-932 044 06 0	045 59 8795	06		
552.011 .00 0	.015 55.0755	.00		
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left C	hannel Right	Coeff Contr	Fynan
0 59 8795	516 35 V	516 35 516 35	1	3
0 39.0793	510.55	510.55 510.55	• -	• 5
CROSS SECTION				
CROSS SECTION				
PINED. Swain Clough				
PEACH. 2	PG: 1643 56			
REACH: 2	KS: 1043.30			
TNDIT				
Degaription: Line 6				
Station Elevation Data	num- 57			
Station Elevation Data				Flow
5LA EIEV 5LA	EIEV 5La	EIEV SLA	EIEV SLA	EIEV
-/10.3/4 9-/08.413	6-707.115	7 -094.17	0-000.701	0
-639.727 6-633.578	6-594.227	/-528.989	8-357.205	8
-302.066 /-297.611	/-23/.213	8-75.2052	8 -19.324	7
-10.4289 6 -8.1435	5 -6./6/4	4 -2.6025	4 -1.23/9	5
U 6 7.0881	7.19 13.766	5.66 15.5131	6 17.2383	5
21.8452 4.45 22.9149	2.11 26.1704	1.07 29.7266	.27 33.307	2
36.027234 39.3065	86 43.9098	57 47.6934	.24 52.4435	.81
57.129 1.29 61.9194	1.88 67.5585	2.66 72.1268	2.99 /3.816	3.35
/4.2399 4.5 75.9708	5.2 76.3462	6 81.7265	7 97.2145	8
101.5241 9101.7502	9105.8639	10110.2544	11114.5372	12
13122.2418	14124.4174	15126.6126	16128.2847	17

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridg	Wednesday, November 18, 2015 3:00 PM	
129.3414 18130.6335	19	
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-710.374 .06 7.0881	.045 81.7265 .06	
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff (Contr. Expan.
7.0881 81.7265	1105.11 1105.11 1105.11	.1 .3
CROSS SECTION		
RIVER: Swain Slough		
REACH: 2	RS: 538.45	
INPUT		
Description: Line 5		
Station Elevation Data	num= 37	
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev	Sta Elev
-79.4539 9-65.9481	10-57.4296 11-43.5131 12	0 12
3.1876 11 6.2022	10 8.761 9 11.0114 8 14	4.8865 7
19.0982 6 20.8771	5.89 29.5715 3 35.9918 1.69	39.464 .57
43.34991 51.3697	44 59.906478 68.3274 .76 73	3.3072 1.82
79.8672 5.28 81.0018	6 83.0465 7 86.4117 8 88	8.2612 9
90.7158 10 92.5183	11 95.1668 12100.8006 12.32119	9.3853 13
134.648 13164.5775	13 180.048 14200.9811 1324	0.2796 13
258.7743 12262.4423	11	
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-79.4539 .06 0	.045 95.1668 .06	
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff (Contr. Expan.
0 95.1668	538.45 538.45 538.45	.1 .3
SUMMARY OF MANNING'S N V	ALUES	
River:Elk River		

	Reach	River Sta.	nl	n2	n3
1		1407.91	.06	.045	.06
1		1078.44	.06	.045	.06
1		657.7	.06	.045	.06
2		62.62	.06	.045	.06
2		61.62	.06	.045	.06

River:Martin Slough

n3

G:\Projects\Y2012\P	1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11	Wednesday, November 18, 2015 3:00 PM			
1	180.1	.06	.045	.06	
1	100.73	.06	.045	.06	

River:Swain Slough

each R	liver Sta.	nl	n2	n3
	3118.45	.06	.045	.06
	2936.16	.06	.045	.06
	2868.63	.06	.045	.06
	2695.15	.06	.045	.06
	2686	Bridge		
	2676.8	.06	.045	.06
	2616.89	.06	.045	.06
	2159.91	.06	.045	.06
	1643.56	.06	.045	.06
	538.45	.06	.045	.06
	each R	each River Sta. 3118.45 2936.16 2868.63 2695.15 2686 2676.8 2616.89 2159.91 1643.56 538.45	each River Sta. nl 3118.45 .06 2936.16 .06 2868.63 .06 2695.15 .06 2686 Bridge 2676.8 .06 2616.89 .06 2159.91 .06 1643.56 .06 538.45 .06	eachRiver Sta.n1n23118.45.06.0452936.16.06.0452868.63.06.0452695.15.06.0452686Bridge2676.8.06.0452616.89.06.0452159.91.06.0451643.56.06.045538.45.06.045

SUMMARY OF REACH LENGTHS

River: Elk River

	Reach	River Sta.	Left	Channel	Right
1		1407.91	329.47	329.47	329.47
1		1078.44	420.74	420.74	420.74
1		657.7	0	0	0
2		62.62	1	1	1
2		61.62	1	1	1

River: Martin Slough

	Reach	River Sta.	Left	Channel	Right
1		180.1	180.1	180.1	180.1
1		100.73	0	0	0

River: Swain Slough

Rea	ach I	River Sta.	Left	Channel	Right
1		3118.45	182.29	182.29	182.29
1		2936.16	67.53	67.53	67.53
1		2868.63	270.09	270.09	270.09
2		2695.15	18.35	18.35	18.35
2		2686	Bridge		
2		2676.8	59.91	59.91	59.91
2		2616.89	456.98	456.98	456.98

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Existing.rep

2	2159.91	516.35	516.35	516.35
2	1643.56	1105.11	1105.11	1105.11
2	538.45	538.45	538.45	538.45

SUMMARY OF CONTRACTION AND EXPANSION COEFFICIENTS River: Elk River

Reach	River Sta.	Contr.	Expan.
1	1407.91	.1	.3
1	1078.44	.1	.3
1	657.7	.1	.3
2	62.62	.1	.3
2	61.62	.1	.3

River: Martin Slough

	Reach	River Sta.	Contr.	Expan.
1		180.1	.1	.3
1		100.73	.1	.3

River: Swain Slough

each	River	Sta	. Co	ontr.	Expan.
	3118	.45		.1	.3
	2936	.16		.1	.3
	2868	.63		.1	.3
	2695	.15		.3	.5
	2686		Bridge		
	2676	. 8		.3	.5
	2616	.89		.1	.3
	2159	.91		.1	.3
	1643	.56		.1	.3
	538.4	45		.1	.3
	each	each River 3118 2936 2868 2695 2686 2676 2616 2159 1643 538.4	each River Sta. 3118.45 2936.16 2868.63 2695.15 2686 2676.8 2616.89 2159.91 1643.56 538.45	each River Sta. Co 3118.45 2936.16 2868.63 2695.15 2686 Bridge 2676.8 2616.89 2159.91 1643.56 538.45	River Sta. Contr. 3118.45 .1 2936.16 .1 2868.63 .1 2695.15 .3 2686 Bridge 2676.8 .3 2616.89 .1 2159.91 .1 1643.56 .1 538.45 .1

Appendix B HEC-RAS Proposed Condition



HEC-RAS Plan: Proposed_Rev

River	Reach	River Sta	Profile	Q Total	Min Ch El	W.S. Elev	Crit W.S.	E.G. Elev	E.G. Slope	Vel Chnl	Flow Area	Top Width	Froude # Chl
				(cfs)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft/ft)	(ft/s)	(sq ft)	(ft)	
Swain Slough	1	3118.45	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.20	12.23		12.26	0.000229	1.96	1845.62	314.70	0.12
Swain Slough	1	3118.45	100-yr ND	2490.00	-0.20	14.40		14.42	0.000086	1.39	2530.05	314.70	0.07
Swain Slough	1	3118.45	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.20	11.59		11.63	0.000254	1.96	1646.17	314.70	0.12
Swain Slough	1	3118.45	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	-0.20	10.39		10.48	0.000708	2.94	1268.17	314.70	0.20
Swain Slough	1	2936.16	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	0.20	12.03		12.19	0.000656	3.59	882.36	120.31	0.21
Swain Slough	1	2936.16	100-yr ND	2490.00	0.20	14.30		14.39	0.000288	2.76	1155.13	120.31	0.14
Swain Slough	1	2936.16	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	0.20	11.40		11.55	0.000672	3.46	806.84	120.31	0.21
Swain Slough	1	2936.16	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	0.20	9.95		10.26	0.001782	4.98	632.14	120.31	0.33
Swain Slough	1	2868.63	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	0.62	12.04		12.13	0.000396	2.68	1165.64	175.79	0.16
Swain Slough	1	2868.63	100-yr ND	2490.00	0.62	14.31		14.36	0.000161	2.00	1564.53	175.79	0.11
Swain Slough	1	2868.63	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	0.62	11.41		11.49	0.000418	2.61	1054.27	175.79	0.17
Swain Slough	1	2868.63	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	0.62	9.93		10.13	0.001227	3.88	794.59	175.79	0.27
Swain Slough	2	2702.55	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.21	12.10	4.48	12.10	0.000013	0.53	7485.24	1148.30	0.03
Swain Slough	2	2702.55	100-yr ND	2490.00	-0.21	14.34	4.48	14.34	0.000005	0.38	10063.36	1148.30	0.02
Swain Slough	2	2702.55	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.21	11.46	4.16	11.46	0.000014	0.53	6754.42	1148.30	0.03
Swain Slough	2	2702.55	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	-0.21	10.05	4.48	10.05	0.000042	0.81	5129.69	1148.30	0.05
Swain Slough	2	2684.7		Bridge									
Swain Slough	2	2666.8	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	0.00	12.08	6.30	12.09	0.000082	1.17	3403.93	800.01	0.07
Swain Slough	2	2666.8	100-yr ND	2490.00	0.00	14.34	6.30	14.34	0.000025	0.73	5381.29	951.56	0.04
Swain Slough	2	2666.8	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	0.00	11.44	5.94	11.45	0.000094	1.20	2937.20	696.81	0.08
Swain Slough	2	2666.8	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	0.00	9.98	6.30	10.02	0.000352	2.07	1990.16	587.61	0.14
Swain Slough	2	2616.89	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.44	11.78		12.02	0.000876	4.09	700.42	90.79	0.24
Swain Slough	2	2616.89	100-yr ND	2490.00	-0.44	14.16		14.30	0.000394	3.19	927.47	118.87	0.16
Swain Slough	2	2616.89	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.44	11.17		11.39	0.000874	3.90	644.96	90.03	0.23
Swain Slough	2	2616.89	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	-0.44	9.37		9.85	0.002596	5.77	484.84	88.11	0.39
Swain Slough	2	2159.91	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.68	11.90		11.90	0.000036	0.81	5294.00	1008.61	0.05
Swain Slough	2	2159.91	100-yr ND	2490.00	-0.68	14.24		14.24	0.000011	0.52	7658.79	1011.94	0.03
Swain Slough	2	2159.91	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.68	11.27		11.27	0.000042	0.84	4655.40	1007.54	0.05
Swain Slough	2	2159.91	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	-0.68	9.42		9.44	0.000262	1.77	2797.53	1003.47	0.12
Swain Slough	2	1643.56	100-vr FEMA WSF	2490.00	-0.86	11.87		11.88	0.000063	1.13	3961.64	824.36	0.06
Swain Slough	2	1643.56	100-vr ND	2490.00	-0.86	14.23		14.24	0.000018	0.70	5918.92	833.12	0.04
Swain Slough	2	1643.56	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.86	11.23		11.24	0.000075	1.18	3435.88	821.62	0.07
Swain Slough	2	1643.56	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	-0.86	9.16		9.24	0.000616	2.82	1743.16	812.78	0.19
Swain Slough	2	538.45	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.78	11.50		11.69	0.000797	3.50	740.52	123.17	0.22
Swain Slough	2	538.45	100-yr ND	2490.00	-0.78	14.10		14.18	0.000254	2.37	1360.41	341.90	0.13
Swain Slough	2	538.45	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.78	10.85		11.03	0.000797	3.40	665.15	109.40	0.22

HEC-RAS Plan: Proposed_Rev (Continued)

River	Reach	River Sta	Profile	Q Total	Min Ch El	W.S. Elev	Crit W.S.	E.G. Elev	E.G. Slope	Vel Chnl	Flow Area	Top Width	Froude # Chl
				(cfs)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft)	(ft/ft)	(ft/s)	(sq ft)	(ft)	
Swain Slough	2	538.45	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	-0.78	5.08	5.08	7.07	0.019820	11.31	220.09	56.19	1.01
Martin Slough	1	180.1	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	-0.50	12.12		12.20	0.000654	2.90	1240.87	247.10	0.18
Martin Slough	1	180.1	100-yr ND	2490.00	-0.50	14.34		14.38	0.000213	1.95	1840.74	288.16	0.11
Martin Slough	1	180.1	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	-0.50	11.50		11.58	0.000746	2.93	1090.52	238.29	0.19
Martin Slough	1	180.1	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	-0.50	10.31		10.50	0.002278	4.55	814.66	227.28	0.33
Martin Slough	1	100.73	100-yr FEMA WSE	2490.00	3.00	12.08		12.11	0.000306	1.89	1956.40	426.83	0.13
Martin Slough	1	100.73	100-yr ND	2490.00	3.00	14.33		14.35	0.000084	1.22	2929.33	436.54	0.07
Martin Slough	1	100.73	50-yr FEMA WSE	2200.00	3.00	11.44		11.47	0.000385	1.97	1684.74	424.88	0.15
Martin Slough	1	100.73	100-yr MLLW	2490.00	3.00	9.97		10.08	0.002108	3.74	1063.16	422.42	0.33
Elk River	1	1407.91	100-yr FEMA WSE	13340.00	-5.96	12.17		12.22	0.000186	1.99	8217.31	1137.29	0.11
Elk River	1	1407.91	100-yr ND	13340.00	-5.96	14.24		14.27	0.000086	1.54	10572.28	1137.29	0.08
Elk River	1	1407.91	50-yr FEMA WSE	11570.00	-5.96	11.65		11.70	0.000176	1.86	7625.79	1137.29	0.11
Elk River	1	1407.91	100-yr MLLW	0.01	-5.96	-0.34		-0.34	0.000000	0.00	235.25	94.04	0.00
Elk River	1	1078.44	100-yr FEMA WSE	13340.00	-3.03	11.96		12.11	0.000637	4.17	5872.30	1179.35	0.22
Elk River	1	1078.44	100-yr ND	13340.00	-3.03	14.17		14.23	0.000222	2.76	8471.68	1179.35	0.13
Elk River	1	1078.44	50-yr FEMA WSE	11570.00	-3.03	11.44		11.59	0.000645	4.07	5256.78	1179.35	0.22
Elk River	1	1078.44	100-yr MLLW	0.01	-3.03	-0.34		-0.34	0.000000	0.00	132.96	62.18	0.00
Elk River	1	657.7	100-yr FEMA WSE	13340.00	-3.03	11.54		11.76	0.001060	4.69	4961.47	1295.26	0.27
Elk River	1	657.7	100-yr ND	13340.00	-3.03	14.06		14.12	0.000261	2.73	8222.89	1295.26	0.14
Elk River	1	657.7	50-yr FEMA WSE	11570.00	-3.03	10.98		11.22	0.001184	4.75	4228.63	1295.26	0.28
Elk River	1	657.7	100-yr MLLW	0.01	-3.03	-0.34		-0.34	0.000000	0.00	117.34	60.84	0.00
Elk River	2	62.62	100-yr FEMA WSE	14430.00	-7.07	9.67		10.64	0.002567	7.88	1832.08	172.67	0.43
Elk River	2	62.62	100-yr ND	14430.00	-7.07	13.28		13.77	0.001000	5.68	2784.81	411.90	0.28
Elk River	2	62.62	50-yr FEMA WSE	12520.00	-7.07	9.37		10.14	0.002087	7.03	1780.50	170.30	0.38
Elk River	2	62.62	100-yr MLLW	0.01	-7.07	-0.34		-0.34	0.000000	0.00	392.16	100.02	0.00
Elk River	2	61.62	100-yr FEMA WSE	14430.00	-7.07	9.67	4.47	10.63	0.002569	7.88	1831.57	172.64	0.43
Elk River	2	61.62	100-yr ND	14430.00	-7.07	13.28	4.45	13.77	0.001001	5.68	2784.38	411.90	0.28
Elk River	2	61.62	50-yr FEMA WSE	12520.00	-7.07	9.37	3.77	10.14	0.002088	7.03	1780.13	170.28	0.38
Elk River	2	61.62	100-yr MLLW	0.01	-7.07	-0.34	-7.04	-0.34	0.000000	0.00	392.16	100.02	0.00

Plan: Proposed_Rev Swain Slough 2 RS: 2684.7 Profile: 100-yr FEMA WSE

E.G. US. (ft)	12.10	Element	Inside BR US	Inside BR DS
W.S. US. (ft)	12.10	E.G. Elev (ft)	12.10	12.10
Q Total (cfs)	2490.00	W.S. Elev (ft)	12.10	12.09
Q Bridge (cfs)	300.42	Crit W.S. (ft)	5.22	5.51
Q Weir (cfs)		Max Chl Dpth (ft)	12.16	12.09
Weir Sta Lft (ft)		Vel Total (ft/s)	0.41	0.42
Weir Sta Rgt (ft)		Flow Area (sq ft)	6048.34	5940.70
Weir Submerg		Froude # Chl	0.02	0.02
Weir Max Depth (ft)		Specif Force (cu ft)	13920.43	13668.79
Min El Weir Flow (ft)	9.51	Hydr Depth (ft)	3.61	3.59
Min El Prs (ft)	9.70	W.P. Total (ft)	1835.54	1810.26
Delta EG (ft)	0.01	Conv. Total (cfs)	350575.5	342500.5
Delta WS (ft)	0.02	Top Width (ft)	1677.15	1652.58
BR Open Area (sq ft)	523.79	Frctn Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
BR Open Vel (ft/s)	0.57	C & E Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
Coef of Q		Shear Total (lb/sq ft)	0.01	0.01
Br Sel Method	Energy only	Power Total (lb/ft s)	-905.19	-907.26

Plan: Proposed_Rev Swain Slough 2 RS: 2684.7 Profile: 100-yr ND

E.G. US. (ft)	14.34	Element	Inside BR US	Inside BR DS
W.S. US. (ft)	14.34	E.G. Elev (ft)	14.34	14.34
Q Total (cfs)	2490.00	W.S. Elev (ft)	14.34	14.34
Q Bridge (cfs)	137.31	Crit W.S. (ft)	5.22	5.51
Q Weir (cfs)		Max Chl Dpth (ft)	14.40	14.34
Weir Sta Lft (ft)		Vel Total (ft/s)	0.25	0.25
Weir Sta Rgt (ft)		Flow Area (sq ft)	10065.34	9908.50
Weir Submerg		Froude # Chl	0.01	0.01
Weir Max Depth (ft)		Specif Force (cu ft)	31905.89	31367.44
Min El Weir Flow (ft)	9.51	Hydr Depth (ft)	5.40	5.38
Min El Prs (ft)	9.70	W.P. Total (ft)	2026.41	2002.85
Delta EG (ft)	0.00	Conv. Total (cfs)	761724.5	748435.4
Delta WS (ft)	0.01	Top Width (ft)	1863.49	1840.64
BR Open Area (sq ft)	523.79	Frctn Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
BR Open Vel (ft/s)	0.26	C & E Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
Coef of Q		Shear Total (lb/sq ft)	0.00	0.00
Br Sel Method	Energy only	Power Total (lb/ft s)	-905.19	-907.26

Plan: Proposed_Rev Swain Slough 2 RS: 2684.7 Profile: 50-yr FEMA WSE

E.G. US. (ft)	11.46	Element	Inside BR US	Inside BR DS
W.S. US. (ft)	11.46	E.G. Elev (ft)	11.46	11.46
Q Total (cfs)	2200.00	W.S. Elev (ft)	11.46	11.46
Q Bridge (cfs)	350.10	Crit W.S. (ft)	4.93	5.24
Q Weir (cfs)		Max Chl Dpth (ft)	11.52	11.46
Weir Sta Lft (ft)		Vel Total (ft/s)	0.44	0.45
Weir Sta Rgt (ft)		Flow Area (sq ft)	4994.18	4906.83
Weir Submerg		Froude # Chl	0.02	0.02
Weir Max Depth (ft)		Specif Force (cu ft)	10402.12	10211.08

Plan: Proposed_Rev Swain Slough 2 RS: 2684.7 Profile: 50-yr FEMA WSE (Continued)

			- (
Min El Weir Flow (ft)	9.51	Hydr Depth (ft)	3.06	3.14
Min El Prs (ft)	9.70	W.P. Total (ft)	1789.50	1720.74
Delta EG (ft)	0.01	Conv. Total (cfs)	265789.8	262611.3
Delta WS (ft)	0.02	Top Width (ft)	1632.40	1564.35
BR Open Area (sq ft)	523.79	Frctn Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
BR Open Vel (ft/s)	0.67	C & E Loss (ft)	0.00	0.00
Coef of Q		Shear Total (lb/sq ft)	0.01	0.01
Br Sel Method	Energy only	Power Total (lb/ft s)	-905.19	-907.26

Plan: Proposed_Rev Swain Slough 2 RS: 2684.7 Profile: 100-yr MLLW

E.G. US. (ft)	10.05	Element	Inside BR US	Inside BR DS
W.S. US. (ft)	10.05	E.G. Elev (ft)	10.05	10.03
Q Total (cfs)	2490.00	W.S. Elev (ft)	10.03	10.02
Q Bridge (cfs)	816.73	Crit W.S. (ft)	5.22	5.51
Q Weir (cfs)		Max Chl Dpth (ft)	10.09	10.02
Weir Sta Lft (ft)		Vel Total (ft/s)	0.89	0.88
Weir Sta Rgt (ft)		Flow Area (sq ft)	2812.59	2829.51
Weir Submerg		Froude # Chl	0.06	0.06
Weir Max Depth (ft)		Specif Force (cu ft)	4918.61	4728.21
Min El Weir Flow (ft)	9.51	Hydr Depth (ft)	2.10	2.14
Min El Prs (ft)	9.70	W.P. Total (ft)	1495.17	1475.13
Delta EG (ft)	0.03	Conv. Total (cfs)	128953.6	127237.3
Delta WS (ft)	0.07	Top Width (ft)	1340.97	1321.69
BR Open Area (sq ft)	523.79	Frctn Loss (ft)	0.01	0.01
BR Open Vel (ft/s)	1.56	C & E Loss (ft)	0.00	0.01
Coef of Q		Shear Total (lb/sq ft)	0.04	0.05
Br Sel Method	Energy only	Power Total (lb/ft s)	-905.19	-907.26







HEC-RAS Version 4.1.0 Jan 2010								
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers								
	Hydr	ologi	.c Engin	eeri	.ng Cer	nter		
		609	Second	Str	reet			
		Dav	vis, Cal	ifor	nia			
x x	XXXXXX	XXX	XX	XX	XX	Х	X	XXXX
X X	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
X X	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
XXXXXXX	XXXX	Х	XXX	XX	XX	XXX	XXX	XXXX
X X	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
X X	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
X X	XXXXXX	XXX	XX	Х	Х	Х	Х	XXXXX

PROJECT DATA Project Title: Pine Hill Rd Bridge Project File : PineHillRoadBrid.prj Run Date and Time: 11/18/2015 2:55:57 PM

Project in English units

PLAN DATA

```
Plan Title: Proposed_Rev
Plan File : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS
Model\PineHillRoadBrid.p03
```

```
Geometry Title: Proposed_Rev
Geometry File : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18
RAS Model\PineHillRoadBrid.g04
Flow Title : Swain/Martin/Elk_
Flow File : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18
```

```
RAS Model\PineHillRoadBrid.f01
```

Plan Summary Information:

Number	of:	Cross Sections	=	16	Multiple Openings =	0
		Culverts	=	0	Inline Structures =	0
		Bridges	=	1	Lateral Structures =	0

Computational Information Water surface calculation tolerance = 0.01

Critical depth calculation tolerance	=	0.01
Maximum number of iterations	=	20
Maximum difference tolerance	=	0.3
Flow tolerance factor	=	0.001

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Proposed.rep

Computation Options Critical depth computed only where necessary Conveyance Calculation Method: At breaks in n values only Friction Slope Method: Average Conveyance Computational Flow Regime: Subcritical Flow

FLOW DATA

Flow Title: Swain/Martin/Elk_
Flow File : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS
Model\PineHillRoadBrid.f01

Flow Data (cfs)

River	Reach	RS	100-yr FEMA WSE	50-yr FEMA WSE	100-yr ND
100-yr MLLW					
Elk River	1	1407.91	13340	11570	
13340	.01				
Elk River	2	62.62	14430	12520	
14430	.01				
Martin Slough	1	180.1	2490	2200	
2490	2490				
Swain Slough	1	3118.45	2490	2200	
2490	2490				
Swain Slough	2	2702.55	2490	2200	
2490	2490				

Boundary Conditions

River Downstream	Reach	Profile	Upstream	
Elk River = 9.67	2	100-yr FEMA WSE		Known WS
Elk River = 9.37	2	50-yr FEMA WSE		Known WS
Elk River = 0.001	2	100-yr ND		Normal S
Elk River = -0.34	2	100-yr MLLW		Known WS

Geometry Title: Proposed_Rev Geometry File : g:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\PineHillRoadBrid.g04

Reach Connection Table

River	Reach	Upstream Boundary	Downstream Boundary
Elk River	1		Swain-Elk
Elk River	2	Swain-Elk	
Martin Slough	1		Pine Hill Rd
Swain Slough	1		Pine Hill Rd
Swain Slough	2	Pine Hill Rd	Swain-Elk

JUNCTION INFORMATION

Name: Pine Hill Rd Description: Energy computation Method

Length acro	oss Junction	Tributary		
River	Reach	River	Reach	Length Angle
Swain Slough	1	to Swain Slough	2	173.48
Martin Slough	1	to Swain Slough	2	5

Name: Swain-Elk Description: Energy computation Method

Length acr	oss Junction	Tributary		
River	Reach	River	Reach	Length Angle
Swain Slough	2	to Elk River	2	475.83
Elk River	1	to Elk River	2	657.7

CROSS SECTION

RIVER: Elk River REACH: 1 RS: 1407.91

INPUT

THEOT					
Descriptio	on: Line 1				
Station El	evation Data	num= 33			
Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev
-495.656	6.6 .4983	6.6 9.8966	6.36 20.6811	4.76 22.7645	2.76
28.2917	2.03 33.1512	.82 35.9649	38 37.5126	78 41.1892	-2.09
49.0949	-2.62 51.3937	-2.91 53.9924	-3.27 70.1936	-5.36 79.709	-5.96
83.7181	-5.68 90.0982	-3.37 95.0206	-2.45101.6848	-2.24 111.091	31
119.8141	.76 125.488	.71132.7298	.3139.2829	.15145.4747	73
550.1818	9559.5398	9620.5295	9622.8073	8625.2212	7
628.3207	6631.9674	6 641.629	7		

Manning's n Values num= 3 Sta n Val Sta n Val Sta n Val -495.656 .06 .4983 .045550.1818 .06 Bank Sta: Left Right Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Contr. Expan. .4983550.1818 329.47 329.47 329.47 .1 .3 CROSS SECTION
Sta n Val Sta n Val -495.656 .06 .4983 .045550.1818 .06 Bank Sta: Left Right Lengths: Left Coeff Contr. Expan. .4983550.1818 .329.47 .329.47 .1 .3 CROSS SECTION
-495.656 .06 .4983 .045550.1818 .06 Bank Sta: Left Right Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Contr. Expan. .4983550.1818 329.47 329.47 329.47 .1 .3 CROSS SECTION
Bank Sta: Left Right Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Contr. Expan. .4983550.1818 329.47 329.47 329.47 .1 .3 CROSS SECTION
.4983550.1818 329.47 329.47 329.47 .1 .3 CROSS SECTION
CROSS SECTION
RIVER: Elk River
REACH: 1 RS: 1078.44
INPUT
Description: Line 2
Station Elevation Data num= 31
Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev
-482.133 6.74 0 6.74 13.9084 5.77 18.5737 4.16 19.3555 2.91
24.2443 2.28 30.3345 1.12 35.007106 37.318 -1.01 46.0715 -2.74
46.4556 -2.68 66.6613 -3.03 82.0238 -2.81 90.5396 -2.48 96.907666
100.8131 .64107.5066 1.7111.4751 2.23119.6734 2.97120.8081 6.06
123.145 7.18147.3569 7.14152.8555 7.67159.5722 10.04167.7746 10.29
645.293 7647.7288 8 649.908 9694.6366 9 696.101 8
697.2163 7
Manning's n Values num= 3
Sta n Val Sta n Val Sta n Val
-482.133 .06 0 .045 123.145 .06
Bank Sta: Left Right Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Contr. Expan.
0 123.145 420.74 420.74 420.74 .1 .3
CROSS SECTION
RIVER: Elk River
REACH: 1 RS: 657.7
INPUT
Description: Line 3
Station Elevation Data num= 32
Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev
-555.487 8.15 0 8.15 5.1318 8.23 7.662 7.11 10.9105 6.43
24.7099 6.6 43.8952 6.31 45.7699 5.41 46.8227 2.68 53.4299 1.77
63.584 .08 69.1987 -1.79 79.6939 -3.03 91.547 -2.62111.1688 -2.55
121.4236 -1.39127.5531 .12 136.55 1.43145.5573 2.42159.8011 3.66
160.4782 4.49164.8015 5.5170.1038 6.6172.4629 8.08176.7684 7.68
184.2836 9.13653.1684 9669.4502 9684.5269 9734.8904 9
736.7045 8739.7709 8
Manning's n Values num= 3
Sta n Val Sta n Val Sta n Val
-555.487 .06 5.1318 .045184.2836 .06

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge	Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Proposed.rep	Wednesday, November 18, 2015 2:59 PM
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right (Coeff Contr. Expan.
5.1318184.2836	0 0 0	.1 .3
CROSS SECTION		
RIVER: Elk River		
REACH: 2	RS: 62.62	
INPUT		
Description: Line 4		
Station Elevation Data	num= 39	
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta B	llev Sta Elev
-30.6735 11.69 1.7051	12 5.112 11 8.3018	10 10.6871 9
13.206 8 15.5476	7 16.7659 6 17.7209 5	5.36 18.0539 5
19.2578 4 20.3652	3 21.4603 2 22.4528	1 25.1102 1.98
32.41216 39.8847	-1.77 48.5214 -2.57 56.9498 -3	.08 64.6987 -3.51
73.3526 -4.13 85.8668	-5.73 94.8034 -6.29105.5397 -7	2.07117.8966 -6.09
129.1598 -1.9135.9209	.67138.9949 1.14147.2467 2	.07 159.587 3.09
171.4851 4.48175.2133	6.99177.2178 8178.0591	9183.5394 10
185.5446 11191.1513	12223.5299 12381.2216	12
Manning's n Values	num= 3	
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val	
-30.6735 .06 1.7051	.045191.1513 .06	
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right (coeff Contr. Expan.
1.7051191.1513	1 1 1	.1 .3
CROSS SECTION		
RIVER: Elk River		
REACH: 2	RS: 61.62	
INPUT		
Description: Copy of Line	4	
Station Elevation Data	num= 39	
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta B	llev Sta Elev
-30.6735 11.69 1.7051	12 5.112 11 8.3018	10 10.6871 9
13.206 8 15.5476	7 16.7659 6 17.7209 5	5.36 18.0539 5
19.2578 4 20.3652	3 21.4603 2 22.4528	1 25.1102 1.98
32.41216 39.8847	-1.77 48.5214 -2.57 56.9498 -3	.08 64.6987 -3.51
73.3526 -4.13 85.8668	-5.73 94.8034 -6.29105.5397 -7	.07117.8966 -6.09
129.1598 -1.9135.9209	.67138.9949 1.14147.2467 2	2.07 159.587 3.09
171.4851 4.48175.2133	6.99177.2178 8178.0591	9183.5394 10
185.5446 11191.1513	12223.5299 12381.2216	12
Manual and a star		
Manning's n Values		
Sta n Val Sta	n val Sta n Val	
-30.0/35 .06 1./051	.045191.1513 .06	
Rank Stat Inft Dirth	Lengths, Left Channel Dicht	loeff Contr Evnon
DAIIR DLA · LELL KIGIIL 1 70E1101 1E12		1 2
T. 102TT2T.T2T2	1 1 1	· ⊥ · J

CROSS SECTION

RIVER: Martin Slough				
REACH: 1	RS: 180.1			
TNIDITT				
Description: Line 14				
Station Elevation Data	num= 30			
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev
-153.133 6-145.237	5-140.862	5-139.829	6-121.388	
0 7 11.9859	6.3 13.5256	6 14.643	4.46 20.5059	4
23.2613 3 23.5276	2.93 25.5578	47 27.1053	5 29.3718	05
31.6165 1.43 31.7153	2.4 32.3762	6 33.2223	7 34.0014	6.63
34.8132 7.06 44.3037	8 47.3797	8.3 65.7553	9 71.7228	10
79.4184 11 90.838	12116.1651	13129.5451	14145.5885	15
Manning's n Values	num= 3	_		
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta	n Val		
-153.133 .06 0	.045 33.2223	.06		
Bank Sta: Left Bight	Lengths: Left C	nannel Right	Coeff Contr	Fynan
0 33.2223	180.1	180.1 180.1	.1	.3
CROSS SECTION				
RIVER: Martin Slough				
REACH: 1	RS: 100.73			
TNIDITT				
Description: Line 15				
Station Elevation Data	num= 53			
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev
-342.841 8-311.098	9-265.531	9-226.435	8-188.784	
-156.117 6-148.601	6-143.833	7 0	7 4.1243	б
5.1721 5 7.9804	4 11.0274	3 19.334	3 23.1117	4
25.7662 5 27.3436	6 28.9803	7 32.1684	7.26 37.9916	8
41.8027 8.47 50.8164	9 52.1745	9.07 54.7401	9 54.7902	9
63.0434 8.76 67.5874	8.4 72.6961	9 72.7176	9 78.024	9.45
79.6654 10 80.6923	11 83.7436	12 86.8428	13 92.4978	14
96.1042 15106.2177	16115.1048	16119.6858	16134.6643	17
138.0456 18140.7584	19161.9231	19164.9896	18167.9579	17
172.1182 17 176.487	18206.1302	18212.3356	18214.2315	19
216.2697 20218.4128	21221.1067	22		
Manningla n Values	2 Dum - 2			
Stan Values	n Val Sta	n Val		
-342.841 .06 0	.045 50.8164	.06		
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Cl	nannel Right	Coeff Contr.	Expan.
	0	0 0	1	3

-6-

CROSS SECTION

DIVED: Que in Glouch			
RIVER: Swain Slough			
REACH: 1	RS: 3118.45		
INPUT			
Description: Line 8			
Station Elevation Data	num= 29		
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev
-97.9254 7 -9.6099	7 0 8.63 6.5839	6.23 10.5031	4.91
13.7673 4 23.5333	3.01 23.7593 .86 27.8821	.09 32.3231	2
34.883202 37.7423	.53 40.3977 1.59 42.4233	4.24 42.7578	1.98
46.1172 2.49 54.0575	2.71 55.9147 4.77 60.5714	5.54 67.144	8.69
73.758 5.77 76.2974	4.72 78.2433 6.91 79.7778	3.12 84.5895	4.18
85.7079 5.75 93.1683	6.43 98.9451 7 216.774	8	
		-	
Manning's n Values	num= 3		
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val		
-97.9254 .06 0	.045 67.144 .06		
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right	Coeff Contr.	Expan.
0 67.144	182.29 182.29 182.29	.1	.3
CROSS SECTION			
RIVER: Swain Slough			
REACH: 1	RS: 2936.16		
INPUT			
Description: Line 9			
Station Elevation Data	num= 26		
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta	Elev
-43.8533 7-36.2473	6-17.6671 5-10.2326	5 -9.006	6
-7.5551 7 0	7 2.6584 6 7.9783	4 10.6401	3
13.3467 2 13.9407	1.77 18.2706 1 22.747	.2 31.4931	1
38,9011 1,67 40,3033	2 42.0707 3 42.8974	4 44.0699	5
50.9562 6 53.1115	7 65.9823 7 67.7883	6 74.0239	6
76 4603 7	,	0 / 1.0200	Ũ
,			
Manning's n Values	num= 3		
Stan Val Sta	n Val Stan Val		
-43 8533 06 0	045 53 1115 06		
13.0355 .00 0	.015 55.1115 .00		
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Channel Right	Coeff Contr	Exnan
0 52 1115	67 53 67 53 67 53	1	луран. 2
0 55.1115		• -	• •
CROSS SECTION			
CHOOD DECITON			

RIVER: Swain Slough REACH: 1 RS: 2868.63

INPUT									
Descripti	on: Line	e 10							
Station E	levatior	n Data	num=	25					
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-34.3974	7-	-13.8813	6-	-11.3092	5	-2.2697	5	-1.2206	6
0	7	10.7265	6	15.2428	б	24.2409	4	28.751	3
33.2421	2	33.8764	1.86	38.7846	1	40.7294	.62	51.9939	1
61.863	2	63.5125	3	64.7918	4	73.1363	5	79.6641	6
81.9044	7	93.6721	83	115.4074	83	118.6834	7	141.3972	7
Manning's	n Value	es	num=	3					
Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val				
-34.3974	.06	0	.045	81.9044	.06				
Bank Sta:	Left	Right	Length	s: Left C	hannel	Right	Coef	E Contr.	Expan.
	0 81	1.9044		270.09	270.09	270.09		.1	. 3
CROSS SEC	TION								
DIVED. Cu	ain Slou	ıah							
REACH: 2		agn	RS: 270	02 55					
				02.00					
INPUT									
Descripti	on: Line	e 11.2 Up	stream o	of Propos	ed Bridg	ge			
Station E	levatior	n Data	num=	476					
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-674.57	7.337	-674.25	7.338	-673.96	7.339	-673.84	7.339	-673.73	7.339
-673.39	7.339	-673.04	7.339	-641.76	7.119	-641.63	7.119	-641.53	7.119
-641.17	7.118	-640.78	7.117	-635.88	7.083	-631.86	7.081	-623.91	7.076
-623.78	7.075	-548.66	7.036	-548.64	7.036	-548.62	7.036	-547.46	7.036
-546.14	7.036	-544.65	7	-543.83	6.999	-538.79	7	-537.68	7.003
-537.49	7.003	-537.27	7.004	-534.76	7.005	-531.12	7.007	-518.55	7.056
-485.61	7.177	-481.33	7.181	-477.24	7.185	-474.35	7.182	-471.18	7.17
-470.3	7.149	-466.24	7.182	-463.15	7.195	-462.77	7.19	-462.5	7.191
-461.16	7.246	-459.94	7.262	-457.74	7.26	-455.27	7.253	-448.18	7.195
-447.7	7.192	-447.44	7.19	-447.3	7.19	-410.81	7.092	-410.37	7.092
-407.62	7.09	-404.27	7.078	-396.65	7.031	-396.38	7.009	-395.66	7.009
-392.73	7.017	-390.71	7.021	-390.55	7.022	-390.3	7.024	-389.76	7.019
-388.46	7.017	-382.72	7.017	-377.06	7.017	-374.77	7.016	-349.23	7.005
-347.29	7.004	-347.01	7.004	-346.98	7.004	-346.19	7.003	-346.15	7.003
-345.92	7.003	-343.91	7.002	-339.94	7	-336	6.989	-322.15	6.771
-308.43	6.624	-307.43	6.616	-241.34	6.756	-239.22	6.771	-220.92	6.096
-220 5	6 098	-216 77	6 091	-215 99	6 089	-215 58	6 09	-210 84	6 089
-210 58	6 09	-206 86	6 096	-205 62	6 099	-205 06	6 096	-204 67	6 098
-174 42	6 902	_174 14	6 902	_173 34	6 902	-172 64	6 907	-167 68	6 994
-166 04	6 996	_164 47	6 996	-163 4	0.902	-162 35		_158 75	7 003
_155 2		-148 42	7 001	_110 47	7 005	-110 07	7 004	-103 R	7 007
-100 QO	7 01	_101 /2	7 016	_100 QQ	7 010	-96 07	7 210	-00 KQ	7 256
_01 61	,.UI 7 077	_01 00	7 010 7 025	-00.21	7 010	_00.27	7 017	_00 07	7 N20
QQ QQ	7 025		כבב. ו ר	-86 20	6 655	_Q5 QQ	,.UT/ 6 51	_ 24 2	,.030 6
_Q2 OE	5 000	_22 0 <i>4</i>	/ ج ۵۵۵	_Q2 01	5.000 5 0EM	_20 10		-70 70 -70 70	5 /12
-03.03 _77 50	5.999 5 75	-04.90 -71 Q6	۵۲۶۶ ک ۲	-02.04 _71 21	J.054 ¢	-00.19 _70 52	5 c ± . C	-70.70 -70.22	J.413 6
-77.52 -60 11	د، . ۲	- 17.00 - 68 97	6	-62 21	6 001	-67 75	6 001	- 67 6	6 001
07.11	0	50.97	0	00.54	0.001	57.75	0.001	07.0	0.001

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Proposed.rep

Wednesday, November 18, 2015 2:59 PM

			10 a b						
-65.07	6.001	-61.48	6.001	-57.51	6.001	-56.81	6.001	-51.85	6.001
-51.75	6.001	-51.26	6.001	-50.77	6.001	-50.19	6.001	-47.09	6.004
-42.66	6.015	-39.92	6.016	-39.39	6.015	-35.6	6.008	-31.81	6.091
-30.54	б	-30.05	5.925	-14.06	8.088	-13.27	8	-11.19	7.48
-10.1	7.147	-9.26	7	-5.69	6.193	-5.22	6.077	-4.64	6
-4.63	б	-2.78	5.755	2	4.263	3.18	4	3.79	3.864
7.66	3	9.45	2.601	12.15	2	12.88	1.837	13.16	1.775
14.79	1.28	15.71	1	18.83	.054	19.01	0	19.1	001
20.66	011	32.4	09	37.76	056	39.85	049	43.77	214
52.95	024	53.71	0	55.8	.509	61.36	.669	61.61	.676
62.1	1	62.81	1.483	63.3	1.619	64.51	1.797	64.55	1.857
64.57	1.891	64.65	2	65.21	2.774	65.57	3	66.07	3.309
67.19	4	70.23	5.89	70.41	б	70.94	6.331	71.43	7
71.53	7.134	72.16	8	72.39	8.305	72.44	8.308	74.14	8.671
74.16	8.671	74.4	8.663	77.45	8.123	78.55	8.092	79.65	8
84.99	7.2	86.33	7	90.41	6.39	93.01	б	94.24	5.816
94.54	5.771	96.83	5	98.88	4.305	100.44	4.011	100.83	4.011
101.57	4	102.6	3.36	103.19	3	103.61	3	103.8	3
105.37	3	105.63	3.131	107.48	4	108.51	4.269	109.31	4.412
109.64	4.43	110.78	4.542	112.79	4.467	113.53	4.455	115.3	4.18
115.47	4.162	115.59	4.146	116.82	4	118.93	3.713	119.27	3.596
119.38	3.57	119.72	3.515	120.4	3.408	121.4	3.611	125.18	3.769
126.51	3.648	127.36	3.564	128.35	3.107	128.48	3.071	128.7	3
128.85	3	129.07	3	129.97	3	133.44	3	133.5	3
133.73	3	135.68	3	136.04	3	138.77	3	138.78	3
138.86	3	140.72	3.141	141.66	3.145	142.86	3.213	143.89	3.213
146.22	3	148.39	3	149.1	3	150.25	3	151.08	3
152.76	3	153.81	3	161.22	3	162.37	3	164.62	3
166.23	3	166.89	3	168.28	3.471	169.26	3.549	170.04	3.573
173.26	4	174.5	4.446	175.81	4.51	178.04	4.53	178.5	4.511
183.08	4.296	184.81	4.166	184.86	4.163	184.91	4.162	187.16	4
189.6	3.999	190.3	3.999	193.24	3.996	194.56	3.995	195.79	3.994
196.14	3.994	197.21	3.993	197.5	3.993	199.92	3.991	199.93	3.991
201.05	3.99	202.17	3.989	202.18	3.989	202.19	3.989	203.76	3.991
204.6	3.99	206.69	3.999	206.77	4	207.21	4.151	209.5	4.104
209.65	4.101	209.93	4.078	210.45	4	214.63	3.989	215.56	3.989
216.53	3.985	216.96	3.984	217.83	3.983	217.99	3.982	218.77	3.978
219.58	3.983	221.36	4	223.84	4.141	223.89	4.143	223.95	4.145
226.18	4	229.91	3.978	230.92	3.972	231.78	3.973	233.45	3.973
234.37	3.972	236.36	3.972	236.98	3.97	237.22	3.969	238.27	3.958
239.71	3.953	240.72	3.951	241.44	3.944	241.66	3.942	246.7	3.304
247.48	3.251	247.85	3.237	248.45	3.232	249.53	3	249.85	3
250.15	3	255.51	3	256.58	3	256.88	3	257.04	3
257.16	3.062	257.33	3.1	258.24	3.263	258.76	3.269	263.09	3.228
263.77	3.198	265.04	3	265.7	3	266.48	3	266.69	3
269.2	3	270.86	3.13	271.02	3.125	273.01	3.064	273.32	3
274.12	3	274.85	3	276.7	3	277.88	3.255	280.54	3.097
280.74	3.085	280.9	3	286.03	3	288.35	3	288.92	3
292.67	3	293.21	3.184	294.05	3.406	297.34	3.278	298.13	3.247
298.33	3.233	299.5	3.148	300.23	3.016	300.24	3.015	300.27	3.005
300.28	3	304.93	3	306.06	3	307.83	3	309.44	3
309.79	3	310.14	3	311.21	3	314.93	3	316.25	3.337
317.8	3.39	318.97	3.453	322.86	3.191	323.66	3	323.92	3
326.4	3	331.95	3	333.54	3	333.82	3	340.53	3

G:\Projects\V2012\P1225 Pine Hill Pd Brid	no\Submittals\2015-11-18 BAS Model\Bronesod rop
G.(FT0Ject3(12012)F1223 Fille Tilli Ku Bilu	geloubinitiais/2015-11-10 KAS Model(Floposed.iep

		•			•					
342.24	3.55	343.55	4	344.13	4.169	346.29	5	348.75	5.392	
349.57	5.475	352.41	5	356.06	4.618	358.89	4.267	359.32	4.136	
359.61	4	360.06	4	361.18	4	361.88	4	363.48	4	
363.9	4	366.98	4	368.01	4	368.87	4	369.41	4	
373.56	4	375.01	4	376.93	4	379.34	4	379.62	4	
381.97	4	383.76	4	385.7	4	386.56	4.574	387.48	4.834	
387.68	4.878	388.1	4.925	389.15	5	396.18	5.615	397.55	5.665	
397.62	5.667	398.48	5.727	401.02	5.599	407.78	5.56	408.42	5.53	
410.66	5.498	412.03	5.427	412.9	5.402	414.31	5.546	415.33	5.59	
415.99	5.554	418.71	5	420.48	4.54	421.92	4.314	423.49	4.036	
423.67	4.025	431.43	4.272	431.71	4.286	432.05	4.316	432.84	4.798	
433.04	4.86	433.32	5	436.01	5.463	438.81	5.324	444.16	5	
445.38	4.889	446.7	5	452.41	5.418	453.7	5.55	455.35	5.641	
457.45	5.778	458.53	5.875	460.02	б	465.2	6.435	472.48	7	
473.73	7.1									
Manning's	n Valu	es	num=	3						
Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val					
-674.57	.06	-14.06	.045	74.14	.06					
Bank Sta:	Left	Right	Lengths	: Left C	hannel	Right	Coeff	Contr.	Expan.	
-	14.06	74.14		66.78	66.78	66.78		.3	.5	
Ineffecti	ve Flow	num=	2							
Sta L	Sta R	Elev	Permane	nt						
-674.57	-8.6	9.5	F							
61.4	473.73	9.5	F							
BRIDGE										
RIVER: Sw	ain Slo	uah								
REACH: 2			RS: 268	4.7						
INPUT										
Descripti	on: Pro	posed Pin	e Hill Ro	d. Bridg	е					
Distance	from Up	stream XS	= 1	.9						
Deck/Road	lway Wid	th	= 33	.3						
Weir Coef	ficient		= 2	.6						
Upstream	Deck/R	oadway Co	ordinate	S						
num=	61									
Sta	Hi Cord	Lo Cord	Sta 1	Hi Cord	Lo Cord	Sta	Hi Cord	Lo Cord		
-263.6	8		-253.6	8.1		-243.6	8.2			
-233.6	8.3		-223.6	8.4		-213.6	8.5			
-203.6	8.7		-193.6	8.8		-183.6	9			
-173.6	9.2		-163.6	9.5		-153.6	9.7			
-143.6	10		-133.6	10.3		-123.6	10.5			
-113.6	10.8		-103.6	11.1		-93.6	11.4			
-83.6	11.7		-73.6	12		-63.6	12.2			
-62.6	12.3		-53.6	12.5		-43.6	12.7			
-33.6	13		-23.6	13.1		-13.6	13.2			
-8.6	13.2	9.5	-3.6	13.3	9.5	6.4	13.4	9.6		
16.4	13.4	9.7	26.4	13.4	9.7	36.4	13.4	9.6		
46.4	13.4	9.6	56.4	13.3	9.5	61.4	13.2	9.5		
66.4	13.2		76.4	13.1		86.4	12.9			

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Proposed.rep

96.4	12.7	106.4	12.4	116.4	12.2	
117.4	12.1	127.4	11.8	131.4	11.7	
141.4	11.4	151.4	11.2	161.4	10.9	
171.4	10.7	181.4	10.4	191.4	10.2	
201.4	10.1	211.4	9.9	221.4	9.7	
231.4	9.6	241.4	9.5	251.4	9.4	
261.4	9.3	271.4	9.2	281.4	9.2	
291.4	9.1					

Upstream Bridge Cross Section Data

Station E	levation	n Data	num=	85					
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-905.194	8.61-	-876.298	8.4-	-836.233	8.11	-779.831	7.45-	-768.408	7.22
-706.668	7.49-	-684.968	7.63-	-634.669	7.82	-536.259	7.58	-437.15	7.55
-343.411	7.18-	-313.251	7.23-	-224.143	7.39-	-144.427	7.82-	-100.496	8.15
-75.206	8.63	-59.08	11.56	-53.08	11.723	-43.08	11.97	-33.68	12.173
-22.58	12.375	-19.34	12.427	-5.68	3.319	8.77	3.319	8.77	3.136
8.93	3.137	8.97	3	10.39	2.287	10.94	2.024	10.94	2.047
10.94	2.057	10.94	2.084	10.95	2.055	10.95	2.034	10.95	2.023
10.96	2	11.44	1.813	11.51	1.784	11.53	1.782	12.52	1.653
15.11	1	15.43	.919	16.7	.6	20.14	0	24.66	032
27.9	061	29.47	049	35.01	0	38.48	.451	42.72	1
46.98	1.552	47.7	1.645	49.37	1.961	49.58	2	49.96	2.073
52.18	3	52.82	3.269	58.38	3.269	72.21	12.49	80.23	12.367
82.21	12.334	92.21	12.145	102.21	11.924	112.21	11.671	120.92	11.425
137.675	8.87	161.809	8.47	207.378	8.2	217.786	8.27	243.494	8.3
274.413	8.38	318.519	8.78	337.004	9	359.542	9.23	401.738	9.61
457.922	9.49	504.024	10	552.016	10.44	606.479	10.86	688.346	9.96
761.271	8.69	829.514	7.86	886.174	8.17	924.613	8.83	958.291	9.51

Manning's	n Values	3	num=	4			
Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val
-905.194	.06	-59.08	.06	-19.34	.045	72.21	.06

Bank Sta	: Left	Right	Coeff Contr.	Expan.
-	-19.34	72.21	.3	.5
Ineffecti	ive Flow	num=	2	
Sta L	Sta R	Elev	Permanent	
-905.194	-8.6	9.5	F	
61.4	958.291	9.5	F	

Downstream Deck/Roadway Coordinates

Sta H	i Cord L	o Cord	Sta H	Hi Cord Lo	o Cord	Sta H	Hi Cord I	Lo Cord
-263.6	8		-253.6	8.1		-243.6	8.2	
-233.6	8.2		-223.6	8.4		-213.6	8.5	
-203.6	8.6		-193.6	8.8		-183.6	9	
-173.6	9.2		-163.6	9.5		-153.6	9.7	
-143.6	10		-133.6	10.3		-123.6	10.5	
-113.6	10.8		-103.6	11.1		-93.6	11.4	
-83.6	11.7		-73.6	11.9		-63.6	12.2	
-62.6	12.3		-53.6	12.5		-43.6	12.7	
-33.6	12.9		-23.6	13.1		-13.6	13.2	
-8.6	13.2	9.5	-3.6	13.3	9.5	6.4	13.4	9.6

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Propo	sed.rep

Wednesday, November 18, 2015 2:59 PM

16.4	13.4	9.7	26.4	13.4	9.7	36.4	13.4	9.6	
46.4	13.4	9.6	56.4	13.3	9.5	61.4	13.2	9.5	
66.4	13.2		76.4	13.1		86.4	12.9		
96.4	12.7		106.4	12.5		116.4	12.2		
117.4	12.2		127.4	11.9		131.4	11.7		
141.4	11.4		151.4	11.2		161.4	10.9		
171.4	10.7		181.4	10.5		191.4	10.3		
201.4	10.1		211.4	9.9		221.4	9.8		
231.4	9.6		241.4	9.5		251.4	9.4		
261.4	9.3		271.4	9.2		281.4	9.2		
291.4	9.2								
Downstrea	am Bridge	e Cross S	ection I	Data					
Station H	Elevation	n Data	num=	86					
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-907.259	9.02	-851.064	8.33-	-767.859	7.34	-690.752	7.48-	-674.312	7.68
-634.012	534.012 7.86-542.575		7.67-436.989		7.53-342.677		7.1-310.625		7.3
-246.582	7.31-	-174.339	7.68	-99.083	8.54	-73.875	8.69	-59.08	11.56
-53.08	11.723	-43.08	11.97	-33.68	12.173	-22.58	12.375	-19.34	12.427
-5.68	3.319	8.073	3.319	8.45	3.065	8.49	3	8.53	2.943
8.76	2.929	8.98	2.916	9.19	2.589	9.5	2.089	9.62	2
9.75	1.964	9.91	1.964	10	1.908	10.59	1.675	13.03	1.359
13.7	1.31	13.92	1.222	14.56	1.21	15.98	1.097	17.74	1
27.85	.175	32.85	0	32.92	0	32.95	0	33	.011
37.31	1	37.88	1.13	39.63	1.312	40.43	1.395	40.95	1.494
43.63	2	48.6	2.939	48.63	3	49.04	3.161	49.387	3.269
58.38	3.269	72.21	12.49	80.23	12.367	82.21	12.334	92.21	12.145
102.21	11.924	112.21	11.671	120.92	11.425	137.723	8.89	162.82	8.76
192.847	8.59	219.02	8.72	235.459	8.67	246.975	8.82	251.745	8.89
270.8	8.89	323.342	8.96	364.655	8.88	426.464	8.79	463.37	9.09
511.554	9.76	596.713	11.63	624.719	11.63	657.29	11.01	694.902	9.98
720.01	9	785.582	8.09	830.993	7.9	886.812	8.22	909.92	8.86
933.376	9.47								
Manning's	s n Value	es	num=	4					
Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val		
-907.259	.06	-59.08	.06	-19.34	.045	72.21	.06		
Bank Sta	: Left	Right	Coeff (Contr.	Expan.				
-	-19.34	72.21		.3	.5				
Ineffect:	ive Flow	num=		2					
Sta L	Sta R	Elev	Permane	ent					
-907.259	-8.6	9.5	F						
61.4	933.376	9.5	F						
Upstream Embankment side slope					=	0 ho	riz. to 1	1.0 vert:	ical
Downstream Embankment side slope					=	0 ho	riz. to 1	1.0 vert:	ical
Maximum allowable submergence for weir flow = .98									
Elevation at which weir flow begins =									
Energy head used in spillway design									
Spillway height used in design					=				
Weir cres	= Bro	oad Crest	ed						
	± -								

Number of Bridge Coefficient Sets = 1

Low Flow Methods and Data Energy Selected Low Flow Methods = Highest Energy Answer High Flow Method Pressure and Weir flow Submerged Inlet Cd = Submerged Inlet + Outlet Cd = .8 Max Low Cord = Additional Bridge Parameters Add Friction component to Momentum Do not add Weight component to Momentum Class B flow critical depth computations use critical depth inside the bridge at the upstream end Criteria to check for pressure flow = Upstream energy grade line

CROSS SECTION

```
RIVER: Swain Slough
REACH: 2 RS: 2666.8
```

INPUT

Description: 12.1 Downstream of Proposed Bridge Station Elevation Data 492 num= Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev -474.087 -472.87 7 -471.66 7 -471.49 7 -468.88 7 7 -464.73 6.999 -460.82 7 -460.18 7 -453.86 -468.69 6.999 -447.61 7 -446.49 7 -442.6 7 -438.7 7 -438 7 -436.94 7 -430.38 7 -429.97 7 -418.95 7 -407.77 7 7 -391.24 7 -406.577 -402.58 7 -402.39 7 -391.67 7 -390.01 7 -384.77 7 -379.45 7 -379.26 7 -376.42 7 -373.94 7 -373.91 7 -373.77 7 -362.18 7 -350.67 -350.337 -345.55 7 -340.72 7 -340.62 7 -332.31 7 -326.28 7 -325.48 7 -324.6 7 -324.29 7.002 -323.28 7.002 7 -318.27 -322.5 7.002 -321.73 7 -307.94 7 7 -313.16 -302.05 7 -301.46 7 -300.29 7 -299.58 7 -297.12 7 7.005 -292.26 -296.62 7 -294.81 7.005 -290.82 7.009 -285.27 7.007 -279.18 7.003 -270.03 7.002 -267.92 7.009 -264.58 7.016 -261.36 7.017 7.018 -256.19 -258.817.01 -253.14 7.005 -252.32 7 -250 7 7 -249.987 -241.81 7 -234.08 7 -233.51 7 -227.68 -222.387 -221.41 7 -219.43 7 -217.3 7 -217.06 7 7 7 -207.08 -211.91 7 -206.56 7 -206.06 7.003 -205.86 -204.25-201 7 -196.43 7 -195.68 7 7 -193.16 7.202 -193.01 7.209 -190.93 7.255 -154.48 7.343 -152.44 7.365 -150.98 7.379 -150.757.383 -143.38 7.418 -139.73 7.427 -137.65 7.41 -132.28 7.359 7.002 -102.27.006 -101.86 7.006 -101.42 7.006 -100.55 7.005 -98.05 6.962 -96.38 -93.87 -98.01 7.002 -96.6 7 -96.4 6.961 6.285 -92.83 6.045 -92.61 6.018 -92.39 6 -91.98 5.954 -91.59 5.932 -91.45 -90.3 -89.16 -88.34 5.926 5.655 5.623 5.536 -87.425.444 -86.86 5.395 -84.1 5.048 -83.77 5.007 -83.57 5.008 -83.38 5.008 -83.18 5.008 -81.87 5.011 -79.475.011 -79.29 5.011 -76.51 5.192

-13-
G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Proposed.rep

-67.68	5.693	-64.5	6	-62.5	6	-56.23	6	-55.32	6
-55.27	6	-55.04	6	-54.12	6	-52.1	6	-50.04	6
-48.93	6	-38.46	6	-38.14	6	-37.89	6	-35.56	6
-34.23	6	-33.96	6	-26.74	6.112	-26.58	6.104	-22.59	6
-20.76	5.949	-20.1	5.708	-19.34	5.484	-19.22	5.449	-18.46	5.084
-17.8	5	-16.55	4.925	-16.33	4.913	-16.18	4.921	-15.79	4.958
-15.41	5	-13.49	5.794	-13.11	б	-12.82	6.1	-12.66	6.112
-11.73	6.404	-10.98	6.381	-9.22	6.65	-8.79	6.689	-4.94	6.773
-4.58	6.802	-1.43	6.759	12	6.604	2.96	6.429	3.78	6.161
5.39	б	7.02	4.527	7.5	4	7.72	3.805	8.12	3.464
8.45	3.144	8.59	3	8.82	2.871	9.86	2	10.11	1.789
10.34	1.477	10.34	1.444	10.35	1.627	10.47	1.576	10.87	1.41
11.85	1	13.53	.301	14.26	0	19.67	0	22.03	0
31.91	.737	35.65	1	36.43	1.081	41.65	1.623	42.26	1.686
43.11	1.846	43.19	2	43.47	2.506	43.74	3	44.16	3.163
44.94	4	48.03	4.625	50.53	4.994	51.99	5.195	54.76	5.352
60.87	5.939	61.96	5.917	63.32	5.972	64.02	б	65.75	6.907
65.94	7	66.76	7.304	67.29	7.521	68.14	7.835	68.39	8
68.63	8.261	69.52	9	69.55	8.998	69.57	8.996	69.63	8.993
69.68	8.996	69.74	9	70.16	9.491	70.55	10	71.44	10.791
71.75	11	72.72	11.836	72.89	11.982	72.92	12	72.94	12.016
74.16	13	74.72	13.156	74.84	13.184	78.17	14	80.89	14.018
85.75	14.042	90.94	14.048	91.43	14.05	91.95	14.051	94.42	14.087
94.46	14.086	94.47	14.086	94.5	14.086	96.4	14.089	97.15	14.085
97.54	14.08	97.72	14.079	98.83	14.074	100.83	14.086	100.89	14.086
100.97	14.085	105.3	14.174	105.45	14.173	105.52	14.174	105.67	14.17
106.51	14.183	109.9	14.188	111.51	14.174	112.55	14.504	114.55	15
116.29	15	117.44	15	117.88	15	118.8	15	119.84	15
121.49	15	126.64	15	128.11	15	128.55	15	128.73	15
128.86	15	136.73	15	138.69	15	141.39	15	141.86	15
143.22	14.33	143.91	14.152	144.55	14.162	144.7	14.109	146.09	14
147.37	13.879	149.04	13	151.15	12.273	152.34	12	153.65	11.642
154.87	11.488	156.08	11.078	156.37	11.058	156.65	11	159.42	10.96
161.63	10.928	163.02	10.946	166.74	11	167.39	11.171	169.28	11.607
171.1	12	171.95	12.339	173.75	13	175.67	13.791	176.18	14
176.9	14.296	180.06	14.677	181.81	14.891	189.73	14.985	189.83	14.985
189.86	14.98	189.97	14.949	192.16	14.317	192.48	14.161	192.91	14
193.58	13.758	195.46	13	196.42	12.616	198.12	12	199.62	10.837
200.85	11.098	201.17	11	202.12	10.863	202.14	10.862	204.89	10.302
207.56	10.3	210.5	10.228	211.6	10.181	212.38	10.161	217.2	10.152
219.71	10.173	226.05	10.189	226.15	10.187	227.68	10.2	237.9	10.06
238.01	10.062	238.14	10.069	238.74	10.228	239.41	10.312	241.2	10.681
242.07	10.859	242.44	10.908	243.06	11	247.92	11.35	251.19	11.55
251.28	11.551	256.52	12	256.88	12.008	256.93	12.009	270	12.008
270.07	12.009	270.18	12.013	271.41	12	272.03	11.978	272.57	12
276.95	12.025	277.1	12.036	277.8	12.033	277.89	12.038	283.11	12.085
285.76	12	286.97	11.867	292.92	12	293.72	12.01	293.73	12.011
294.26	12.012	294.53	12	299.48	11.777	302.22	11.644	310.63	11
314.68	10.691	323.71	10	328.38	9.646	329.36	9.572	330.87	9.453
340.07	9	340.09	9.002	340.1	9.003	340.11	9.001	340.13	9
340.78	8.968	341.49	9	341.52	9.001	341.53	9.002	341.54	9.002
341.56	9	351.21	9.432	359.36	9.797	367.79	10	369.22	10.034
369.42	10.039	369.61	10.061	374.08	10.579	374.58	10.59	377.4	10.885
377.76	10.886	381.01	11	383.21	11.23	384.2	11.305	384.89	11.376

G:\Projects\Y20	12\P1225 Pine	e Hill Rd Bridge	\Submittals\2	015-11-18 RAS	Model\Propo	sed.rep			Wednesda
386.19	11.452	391.43	11.891	392.41	11.943	393.11	12	393.61	12.032
394.78	12.054	394.84	12.051	395.28	12	397.23	11.74	398.77	11.832
401.58	12	407.31	12.402	411.08	12.535	411.4	12.507	413.61	12.338
414.3	12.229	414.66	12.184	414.84	12.191	415.71	12.32	418.06	12.58
418.5	12.61	419.07	12.579	420.29	12.425	423.09	12.091	423.44	12.089
426.51	12	428.8	11.944	429.44	11.906	430.69	12	439.33	12.716
440.6	12.785	444.59	13	444.95	13.019	445.08	13.017	445.76	13
451.84	12.857	453.07	12.819	460.9	13	462.91	13.044	462.91	13.045
463.44	13	463.96	13.005	464.03	13	467.21	12.796	468.38	12.81
471.18	12.932	471.49	13	474.24	13.554	475.3	13.66	476.03	13.69
479.29	13.652	480.46	13.65	481.4	13.532	484.63	13.343	485.47	13.221
485.57	13.215	486.16	13.217	487.43	13	488.17	12.823	490.47	12
490.51	11.986	490.65	11.97	493.03	11.672	494.2	11.6	494.3	11.595
495.84	11.576	497.33	11.655	498.41	11.788	498.63	11.792	499.59	11.769
499.71	11.759	500.33	11.646	501.32	11.295	502.7	11.175	502.84	11.15
503.1	11.132	503.55	11.147	506.42	11.492	508.98	11.762	509.16	11.793
510.91	12	511.59	12.088	511.7	12.081	515.34	12.713	516.57	12.922
517.04	13	521.35	13.547	522.63	14	524.04	14.536	525.23	14.808
525.46	14.824	527.14	15						
Manning's	s n Value	es	num=	3					
Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val				
-474.08	.06	-4.58	.045	78.17	.06				
Bank Sta:	Left	Right	Length	s: Left C	hannel	Right	Coeff	Contr.	Expan.
	-4.58	78.17		38.16	38.16	38.16		.3	.5
Ineffecti	ve Flow	num=		2					
Sta L	Sta R	Elev	Permane	ent					
-474.08	-8.6	9.5	F						
61.4	527.14	9.5	F						
CDACC CEC	NT ON								
CROSS SEC	LITON								
RIVER: SW	ain Slou	ıah							
REACH: 2	ain bio	2911	RS: 26	16 89					
REACH: 2			10.20	10.05					
τνριπ									
Descripti	on: Line	- 13							
Station E	levatio	n Data	num=	38					
Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev	Sta	Elev
-27.3757	6-	-22.1495	5-	-19.9356	4	-17.8932	4	-15.931	5
-13.3997	6-	-11.1732	7	-8.9807	8	0	8	.9838	7
1.6616	6	1.7626	5	1.8252	4	2.066	3	2.6226	2
5.6743	1	10.1634	0	12.0819	44	16.038	0	17.7542	.19
26.4716	.16	29.1834	1	33.08	2	34.5866	3	43.2425	4
48.3719	5	52.6332	6	56.5626	- 7	59.3739	8	60.1734	9
60.3837	9	61.3326	10	62.4476	11	63.6826	12	65.3311	13
66.9443	14	85.0371	14	91.4984	13				-
~					-				
Manning's	s n Value	es	num=	3					
Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val	Sta	n Val				
-27.3757	.06	0	.045	56.5626	.06				

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge	Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model	\Proposed.rep		Wednesday, November 18, 2015 2:59 PM
Bank Sta: Left Right	Lengths: Left Chann	nel Right C	oeff Contr.	Expan.
0 56.5626	456.98 456	.98 456.98	.1	.3
CROSS SECTION				
RIVER: Swain Slough				
REACH: 2	RS: 2159.91			
INPUT				
Description: Line 7				
Station Elevation Data	num= 59			
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta H	Elev Sta E	lev Sta	Elev
-932.044 6-928.635	6-678.153	7-627.295	7-620.888	5
-617.421 5-608.184	7 -575.81	7-563.561	5-548.692	7
-541.909 7-249.517	7-177.238	8-98.2575	8-81.4958	7
-80.4089 6-77.8185	5-70.5183	5-67.9728	6-17,4905	6
-14 492 5-10 8819	5 -9 4783	6 -7 5669	7 -5 9211	8
0 8 26 7 4735	5 76 8 6559	6 11 0678	5 14 5481	4
15 4111 3 99 15 8366	2 77 16 8743	3 17 9266	2 18 8202	1
20 7052 1 47 23 7215	09 28 8796	- 08 31 9546 -	68 34 5284	_ 4
36 8228 1 39 1446	26 43 3862	73 46 2956 1	42 47 835	2 11
18 2772 2 54 49 9196	3 96 50 7688	1 55 62/Q	5 56 75	2.11
40.3773 3.34 49.9190	0 60 010E	4 55.0249	5 50.75 10 75 0500	0
76 7212 12 70 511	12 70 5522	9 73.5120 14 00 0607	10 /5.0509	11
/0./312 12 /0.511	13 /9.5555	14 00.9007	12	
Menningle n Meluer				
Maining's in values	n Vol Stor	Vol		
	II VAL SLA II	Val		
-932.044 .06 0	.045 59.0795	.00		
Dank Ctat I aft Diaht	Iongtha: Ioft Chang	al Dicht C	ooff Contr	Funch
		2E E16 2E	J	expan.
0 59.8795	510.55 510	.33 310.35	• 1	. 5
CDACC CECTION				
CROSS SECTION				
RIVER: Swain Slough	DG. 1642 FC			
REACH: 2	RS: 1643.56			
INPUT				
Description: Line 6				
Station Elevation Data	num= 57			
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta H	Elev Sta E	lev Sta	Elev
-710.374 9-708.413	8-707.115	7 -694.17	6-688.701	6
-639.727 6-633.578	6-594.227	7-528.989	8-357.205	8
-302.066 7-297.611	7-237.213	8-75.2052	8 -19.324	7
-10.4289 6 -8.1435	5 -6.7674	4 -2.6025	4 -1.2379	5
0 6 7.0881	7.19 13.766	5.66 15.5131	6 17.2383	5
21.8452 4.45 22.9149	2.11 26.1704	L.07 29.7266	.27 33.307	2
36.027234 39.3065	86 43.9098 -	57 47.6934	.24 52.4435	.81
57.129 1.29 61.9194	1.88 67.5585	2.66 72.1268 2	.99 73.816	3.35
74.2399 4.5 75.9708	5.2 76.3462	6 81.7265	7 97.2145	8
101.5241 9101.7502	9105.8639	10110.2544	11114.5372	12
118.6876 13122.2418	14124.4174	15126.6126	16128.2847	17

Wednesday.	November	18.	2015	2:59	РМ
meanesday,	NO VCIIIDCI	,	2010	2.00	

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Proposed.rep			
129.3414 18130.6335	19		
Manning's n Values Sta n Val Sta -710.374 .06 7.0881	num= 3 n Val Sta n Val .045 81.7265 .06		
Bank Sta: Left Right 7.0881 81.7265	Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Contr. 1105.11 1105.11 1105.11 .1	Expan. .3	
CROSS SECTION			
RIVER: Swain Slough REACH: 2	RS: 538.45		
INPUT Description: Line 5	27		
Station Elevation Data	num= 3/		
Sta Elev Sta	Elev Sta Elev Sta Elev Sta	Elev	
-/9.4539 9-65.9481	10 0 761 0 11 0114 0 14 0065	12	
19 0982 6 20 8771	5 80 20 5715 3 35 0018 1 60 30 464	57	
43 3499 - 1 51 3697	-44599064 - 78683274 76733072	1 82	
79 8672 5 28 81 0018	6 83 0465 7 86 4117 8 88 2612	1.02 9	
90.7158 10 92.5183	11 95.1668 12100.8006 12.32119.3853	13	
134.648 13164.5775	13 180.048 14200.9811 13240.2796	13	
258.7743 12262.4423	11		
Manning's n Values	num= 3		
Sta n Val Sta	n Val Sta n Val		
-79.4539 .06 0	.045 95.1668 .06		
Bank Sta: Left Right 0 95.1668	Lengths: Left Channel Right Coeff Contr. 538.45 538.45 538.45 .1	Expan. .3	

SUMMARY OF MANNING'S N VALUES

River:Elk River

	Reach	River Sta.	nl	n2	n3
-		1400 01		0.45	0.6
T		1407.91	.06	.045	.06
1		1078.44	.06	.045	.06
1		657.7	.06	.045	.06
2		62.62	.06	.045	.06
2		61.62	.06	.045	.06

River:Martin Slough

Reach River Sta. n1 n2	n3
------------------------	----

G:\Projects\Y2012\P	1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-	Wednesday, November 18, 2015 2:59 PM			
1	180.1	.06	.045	.06	
1	100.73	.06	.045	.06	

River:Swain Slough

Reach H	River Sta.	nl	n2	n3
	3118.45	.06	.045	.06
	2936.16	.06	.045	.06
	2868.63	.06	.045	.06
	2702.55	.06	.045	.06
	2684.7	Bridge		
	2666.8	.06	.045	.06
	2616.89	.06	.045	.06
	2159.91	.06	.045	.06
	1643.56	.06	.045	.06
	538.45	.06	.045	.06
	Reach I	Reach River Sta. 3118.45 2936.16 2868.63 2702.55 2684.7 2666.8 2616.89 2159.91 1643.56 538.45	Reach River Sta. nl 3118.45 .06 2936.16 .06 2868.63 .06 2702.55 .06 2684.7 Bridge 2666.8 .06 2159.91 .06 1643.56 .06 538.45 .06	Reach River Sta. nl n2 3118.45 .06 .045 2936.16 .06 .045 2868.63 .06 .045 2702.55 .06 .045 2666.8 .06 .045 2616.89 .06 .045 2159.91 .06 .045 1643.56 .06 .045 538.45 .06 .045

SUMMARY OF REACH LENGTHS

River: Elk River

	Reach	River Sta.	Left	Channel	Right
1		1407.91	329.47	329.47	329.47
1		1078.44	420.74	420.74	420.74
1		657.7	0	0	0
2		62.62	1	1	1
2		61.62	1	1	1

River: Martin Slough

	Reach	River Sta.	Left	Channel	Right
1		180.1	180.1	180.1	180.1
1		100.73	0	0	0

River: Swain Slough

Rea	ch F	River Sta.	Left	Channel	Right
1		3118.45	182.29	182.29	182.29
1		2936.16	67.53	67.53	67.53
1		2868.63	270.09	270.09	270.09
2		2702.55	66.78	66.78	66.78
2		2684.7	Bridge		
2		2666.8	38.16	38.16	38.16
2		2616.89	456.98	456.98	456.98

G:\Projects\Y2012\P1225 Pine Hill Rd Bridge\Submittals\2015-11-18 RAS Model\Proposed.rep

2	2159.91	516.35	516.35	516.35
2	1643.56	1105.11	1105.11	1105.11
2	538.45	538.45	538.45	538.45

SUMMARY OF CONTRACTION AND EXPANSION COEFFICIENTS River: Elk River

Reach	River Sta.	Contr.	Expan.
1	1407.91	.1	.3
1	1078.44	.1	.3
1	657.7	.1	.3
2	62.62	.1	.3
2	61.62	.1	.3

River: Martin Slough

	Reach	River Sta.	Contr.	Expan.
1		180.1	.1	.3
1		100.73	.1	.3

River: Swain Slough

Reach	River	Sta	. Co	ontr.	Expan.
	3118	.45		.1	.3
	2936	.16		.1	.3
	2868	.63		.1	.3
	2702	.55		.3	.5
	2684	. 7	Bridge		
	2666	. 8		.3	.5
	2616	.89		.1	.3
	2159	.91		.1	.3
	1643	.56		.1	.3
	538.4	1 5		.1	.3
	Reach	Reach River 3118 2936 2868 2702 2684 2666 2616 2159 1643 538.4	Reach River Sta 3118.45 2936.16 2868.63 2702.55 2684.7 2666.8 2616.89 2159.91 1643.56 538.45	Reach River Sta. Co 3118.45 2936.16 2868.63 2702.55 2684.7 Bridge 2666.8 2616.89 2159.91 1643.56 538.45	River Sta. Contr. 3118.45 .1 2936.16 .1 2868.63 .1 2702.55 .3 2684.7 Bridge 2666.8 .3 2616.89 .1 1643.56 .1 538.45 .1

Appendix C Scour Calculations

Bridge Design Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Humboldt County, California

Ultimate (Contraction) Scour

100-year Flow Calculation guideline from HEC-18 5th Edition Input from HEC-RAS for Proposed Bridge (100-yr FEMA WSE)

Equation 6.6:

$$y_{s-ult} = 0.94y_1 \left(\frac{1.83V_2}{\sqrt{gy_1}} - \frac{K_u \sqrt{\frac{\tau_c}{\rho}}}{gny_1^{1/3}} \right)$$

Input

Variable	English Units	Metric Units	Description	
y1	9.9 ft	3.0 m	Upstream depth	
V2	0.5 ft/s	0.1 m/s	Average velocity in contracted section	
n	0.045	0.045	Manning's roughness coefficient	
Ku	1.486	1	1.486 for U.S. Customary, and 1.0 for S.I.	
r	slugs/ft^3		Density 1,000 kg/m^3 = 1.94 slugs/ft^3	
g	32.2 ft/s^2	9.81 m/s^2	acceleration due to gravity	
D50		0.15 mm	grain size for which 50% of bed material is finer	

Density, rho

Material	Density			
	Metric Units	English Units		
Clay	1,250 kg/m^3	2.43 slugs/ft^3		
Clay loam	1,500 kg/m^3	2.91 slugs/ft^3		
Water, sea	1,026 kg/m^3	1.99 slugs/ft^3		
Water, pure	1,000 kg/m^3	1.94 slugs/ft^3		

Critical Shear Stress Tc Tc (N/m^2)

Tc=0.05(D50)^-0.4	0.1
Tc=0.006(D50)^-2	0.3

Scour Depths, ys

With Density for Clay and Critical Shear Stress Equation			With I	Density for Clay loam and	Critical Shear Stress
Tc=0.05(D50)^-0.4				Equation Tc=0.05(E) 50)^-0.4
ys =	0.10 m	0.3 ft	ys =	0.10 m	0.3 ft

Local Scour at Abutments - Froehlich or HIRE

100-year Flow Calculation guideline from HEC-18 5th Edition Input from HEC-RAS for Proposed Bridge (100-yr FEMA WSE)





Bridge Design Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Humboldt County, California

Ultimate (Contraction) Scour

100-year Flow

Calculation guideline from HEC-18 5th Edition Input from HEC-RAS for Proposed Bridge (100-yr ND)

Equation 6.6:

$$y_{s-ult} = 0.94y_1 \left(\frac{1.83V_2}{\sqrt{gy_1}} - \frac{K_u \sqrt{\frac{\tau_c}{\rho}}}{gny_1^{1/3}} \right)$$

Input

Variable	English Units	Metric Units	Description	
y1	12.1 ft	3.7 m	Upstream depth	
V2	0.2 ft/s	0.1 m/s	Average velocity in contracted section	
n	0.045	0.045	Manning's roughness coefficient	
Ku	1.486	1	1.486 for U.S. Customary, and 1.0 for S.I.	
r	slugs/ft^3		Density 1,000 kg/m^3 = 1.94 slugs/ft^3	
g	32.2 ft/s^2	9.81 m/s^2	acceleration due to gravity	
D50		0.15 mm	grain size for which 50% of bed material is finer	

Density, rho

Material	Density			
	Metric Units	English Units		
Clay	1,250 kg/m^3	2.43 slugs/ft^3		
Clay loam	1,500 kg/m^3	2.91 slugs/ft^3		
Water, sea	1,026 kg/m^3	1.99 slugs/ft^3		
Water, pure	1,000 kg/m^3	1.94 slugs/ft^3		

Critical Shear Stress Tc Tc (N/m^2)

Tc=0.05(D50)^-0.4	0.1
Tc=0.006(D50)^-2	0.3

Scour Depths, ys

With Density for Clay and Critical Shear Stress Equation				Density for Clay loam and	Critical Shear Stress
Tc=0.05(D50)^-0.4			Equation Tc=0.05(D50)^-0.4		
ys =	0.02 m	0.1 ft	ys =	0.02 m	0.1 ft

Local Scour at Abutments - Froehlich or HIRE

100-year Flow Calculation guideline from HEC-18 5th Edition Input from HEC-RAS for Proposed Bridge (100-yr ND)

	Units = (SI or English) g = acceleration due to gravity =	English 32.2	ft/s^2
Left Overbank = Abutn	nent 1 (West)		
	y1 = depth of flow at abutment on the overbank or in the mainchannel =L = length of embankment projected normal to flow =Ratio of projected embankment length to flow depth = L/y1 =Abutment scour equation to be used =	7.7 180 2.326E+01 Froehlich	ft ft
Froehlich's	Live Bed Abutment Scour Equation		
	L' = length of active flow obstructed by the embankment = Ae = flow area of the approach cross section obstructed by the embankment = ya = average depth of flow on the flood plain = Ae/L' Qe = flow obstructed by the abutment and approach embankment = Ve = flow velocity = Qe/Ae = Fr = Froude Number of approach flow upstream of the abutment Θ = abutment skew = K1 = coefficient for abutment shape =	173 1376 7.7 298 0.2 0.01 90 1	ft ft^2 ft ft^3/s ft/s degrees
	K2 = coefficient for angle of embankment shape = $(\Theta/90)^{0.13}$ = Ys = abutment scour =	1	
	ya*(2.27*k1*k2*((L'/ya)^0.43)*(Fr^0.61)+1) =	12.5	ft
Right Overbank = Abut	ment 2 (Fast)		
Right Overbank = Abut	<pre>ment 2 (East) y1 = depth of flow at abutment on the overbank or in the main channel = L = length of embankment projected normal to flow = Ratio of projected embankment length to flow depth = Abutment scour equation to be used =</pre>	7.7 170 2.226E+01 Froehlich	ft ft
Right Overbank = Abut Froehlich's	<pre>ment 2 (East) y1 = depth of flow at abutment on the overbank or in the main channel = L = length of embankment projected normal to flow = Ratio of projected embankment length to flow depth = Abutment scour equation to be used = Live Bed Abutment Scour Equation</pre>	7.7 170 2.226E+01 Froehlich	ft ft
Right Overbank = Abut Froehlich's	<pre>ment 2 (East) y1 = depth of flow at abutment on the overbank or in the main channel = L = length of embankment projected normal to flow = Ratio of projected embankment length to flow depth = Abutment scour equation to be used = Live Bed Abutment Scour Equation L' = length of active flow obstructed by the embankment = Ae = flow area of the approach cross section obstructed by the embankment = ya = average depth of flow on the flood plain = ae/L Qe = flow obstructed by the abutment and approach embankment = Ve = flow velocity = Qe/Ae = Fr = Froude Number of approach flow upstream of the abutment Ø = abutment skew = K1 = coefficient for abutment shape =</pre>	7.7 170 2.226E+01 Froehlich 176 2010 11.8 446 0.2 0.01 90 1	ft ft ft ft^2 ft ft^3/s ft/s degrees
Right Overbank = Abut Froehlich's	ment 2 (East) y1 = depth of flow at abutment on the overbank or in the main channel = L = length of embankment projected normal to flow = Ratio of projected embankment length to flow depth = Abutment scour equation to be used = Live Bed Abutment Scour Equation L' = length of active flow obstructed by the embankment = Ae = flow area of the approach cross section obstructed by the embankment = ya = average depth of flow on the flood plain = ae/L Qe = flow obstructed by the abutment and approach embankment = Ve = flow velocity = Qe/Ae = Fr = Froude Number of approach flow upstream of the abutment Θ = abutment skew = K1 = coefficient for angle of embankment shape = $(\Theta/90)^{0.13}$ = YS = abutment scour =	7.7 170 2.226E+01 Froehlich 176 2010 11.8 446 0.2 0.01 90 1	ft ft ft^2 ft^3/s ft/s degrees

Bridge Design Hydraulic Study Report Pine Hill Road over Swain Slough Bridge Replacement Humboldt County, California

Ultimate (Contraction) Scour

100-year Flow Calculation guideline from HEC-18 5th Edition Input from HEC-RAS for Proposed Bridge (100-yr MLLW)

Equation 6.6:

$$y_{s-ult} = 0.94y_1 \left(\frac{1.83V_2}{\sqrt{gy_1}} - \frac{K_u \sqrt{\frac{\tau_c}{\rho}}}{gny_1^{1/3}} \right)$$

Input

mpac			
Variable	English Units	Metric Units	Description
y1	7.8 ft	2.4 m	Upstream depth
V2	1.4 ft/s	0.4 m/s	Average velocity in contracted section
n	0.045	0.045	Manning's roughness coefficient
Ku	1.486	1	1.486 for U.S. Customary, and 1.0 for S.I.
r	slugs/ft^3		Density 1,000 kg/m^3 = 1.94 slugs/ft^3
g	32.2 ft/s^2	9.81 m/s^2	acceleration due to gravity
D50		0.15 mm	grain size for which 50% of bed material is finer

Density, rho

Material	Den	sity	
	Metric Units	English Units	
Clay	1,250 kg/m^3	2.43 slugs/ft^3	
Clay loam	1,500 kg/m^3	2.91 slugs/ft^3	
Water, sea	1,026 kg/m^3	1.99 slugs/ft^3	
Water, pure	1,000 kg/m^3	1.94 slugs/ft^3	

Critical Shear Stress Tc Tc (N/m^2)

Tc=0.05(D50)^-0.4	0.1
Tc=0.006(D50)^-2	0.3

Scour Depths, ys

With Density for Clay and Critical Shear Stress Equation				Density for Clay loam and	Critical Shear Stress
	Tc=0.05(D50)^	-0.4		Equation Tc=0.05(D	050)^-0.4
ys =	0.32 m	1.0 ft	ys =	0.32 m	1.1 ft

Local Scour at Abutments - Froehlich or HIRE

100-year Flow Calculation guideline from HEC-18 5th Edition Input from HEC-RAS for Proposed Bridge (100-yr MLLW)

Units = (SI or English) English g = acceleration due to gravity = 32.2 ft/s^2 Left Overbank = Abutment 1 (West) y1 = depth of flow at abutment on the overbank or in the main channel = 3.4 L = length of embankment projected normal to flow = 180 Ratio of projected embankment length to flow depth = L/y1 = 5.266E+01 Abutment scour equation to be used = HIRE **HIRE Live Bed Abutment Scour Equation** V = velocity of flow at upstream face of abutment = $Fr = Froude Number = V/((g*y1)^{.5}) =$ 0.03 θ = abutment skew = 1 K1 = coefficient for abutment shape =

> K2 = coefficient for angle of embankment shape = $(\Theta/90)^{0.13}$ = Ys = abutment scour = y1*(4*(Fr^0.33)*(K1/0.55)*K2) =



y1 = depth of flow at abutment on the overbank or in the main channel = L = length of embankment projected normal to flow = Ratio of projected embankment length to flow depth =

Abutment scour equation to be used =



V = velocity of flow at upstream face of abutment =

 $Fr = Froude Number = V/((g*y1)^{.5}) =$

θ = abutment skew =

K1 = coefficient for abutment shape =

K2 = coefficient for angle of embankment shape = $(\Theta/90)^{0.13}$ = Ys = abutment scour = y1*(4*(Fr^0.33)*(K1/0.55)*K2) =









8.6 ft

Appendix DRock Slope Protection Calculations

Rock Slope Protection Calculations for Banks Calculation guideline from California Bank and Shore Rock Slope Protection Design

Input from HEC-RAS for Proposed Bridge (100-yr MLLW) 100-year Flow

$$W = \frac{0.00002V^6 SG}{(SG-1)^3 SIN^3 (r-a)}$$

Location		Upstream	Upstream Face	Downstream Face	Downstream
Storm Event		100-year	100-year	100-year	100-year
VM	(ft/s)	0.8	1.4	1.4	2.1
Flow Condition	1				
SG		2.7	2.7	2.7	2.7
r	(degrees)	70	70	70	70
a	(degrees)	34	34	34	34

Impinging Flow Condition

V	(ft/s)	1.1	1.8	1.8	2.8
W	(lb)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
RSP Class		Backing No. 3	Backing No. 3	Backing No. 3	Backing No. 3

Parallel Flow Condition

V	(ft/s)	0.5	0.9	0.9	1.4
W	(lb)	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
RSP Class		Backing No. 3	Backing No. 3	Backing No. 3	Backing No. 3

Rock Slope Protection Calculations for Abutments Calculation guideline from HEC-23 3rd Edition

Input from HEC-RAS for Proposed Bridge (100-yr MLLW) 100-year Flow

Location	Upstream	Upstream Face	Downstream Face	Downstream	
V	0.8	1.4	1.4	2.1	ft/s
g	32.2	32.2	32.2	32.2	ft/s ²
у	7.8	2.1	2.1	6.5	ft
Fr	0.05	0.17	0.17	0.14	

Isbash	Isbash	Is bas h	Isbash	from HEC-23
	15 643 11	15 64511	15 04511	ii olii iiilee 23

For Froude Numbers $(V/(gy)^{1/2}) \le 0.80$, Isbash relationship

101110440	1 (and 010 (1/ (g.)))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))))	en retationen p		
у	7.8	2.1	2.1	6.5	depth of flow in the contracted bridge opening, ft
Κ	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	(1.02 for vertical wall abutment, 0.89 or for spill-through abutment)
Ss	2.7	2.7	2.7	2.7	specific gravity of rock
V	0.8	1.4	1.4	2.1	average velocity in contracted section, ft/s
g	32.2	32.2	32.2	32.2	gravitational acceleration, ft/s ²
D50	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	median stone diameter, ft
D50	0.2	0.4	0.4	1.0	median stone diameter, inches

Backing No. 2 Backing No. 2 Backing No. 2 rock class



Appendix L - Bridge Inspection Records Information System Report

DEC 2 2 2017



Year Built

Length (m)

Year Modified: N/A

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION Structure Maintenance & Investigations

reinforced concrete caps.

PIR Page AV Bridge Number : 04C0173 BUS Facility Carried: PINE HILL RD ENG : 0.2 MI E/O ELK RIVI Location AINT City RD Inspection Date : 06/21/2017 EM Inspection Type F1.1---Bridge Inspection Report Routine FC Underwater Special Other BLDG X NR PK RP LU Skew (degrees): Ω SEC No. of Joints : Ω No. of Hinges : 0 Structure Description: Simply supported timber girder (17) with a concrete deck with timber rails on reinforced concrete bent caps on reinforced concrete piles FILE (8) and reinforced concrete pile abutments with concrete lagging and TIC

PUBLIC WORKS

Span Configuration :3 @ 20 ft

STRUCTURE NAME: MARTIN SLOUGH

: 1955

: 19.2

CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION

SAFE LOAD CAPACITY AND RATINGS

Design Live Load:	UNKNOWN		
Inventory Rating:	RF=0.73 =>23.7 metric tons	Calculation Method:	ALLOWABLE STRESS
Operating Rating:	RF=1.22 =>39.5 metric tons	Calculation Method:	ALLOWABLE STRESS
Permit Rating :	PPPPP		
Posting Load :	Type 3: Legal	Type 3S2: <u>Legal</u>	Type 3-3: <u>Legal</u>

DESCRIPTION ON STRUCTURE

Deck X-Section	: 0.2 ft br	- 0.3 ft cu -	19 ft - 0.3	ft cu -	0.2 ft]	br		
Total Width:	6.2 m	Net Width:	5.8 m	No. of	Lanes:	2	Speed:	55 mph
Min. Vertical	Clearance: U	nimpaired					Overlay Thickness:	0.0 inches

Rail Code: 0000

Rail Type	Location	Length	(ft)	Rail	Modifications
Timber	Right/Left	124			
Rail					

DESCRIPTION UNDER STRUCTURE

Channel Description: Mud with heavy vegetation growth along the banks. The channel appears to have a good alignment with the bridge opening. The channel appears to have a flat slope with no hydraulic skew. Tidal flow.

NOTICE

The bridge inspection condition assessment used for this inspection is based on the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) Bridge Element Inspection Manual 2013 as defined in Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century (MAP-21) federal law. The new element inspection methodology may result in changes to related condition and appraisal ratings on the bridge without significant physical changes at the bridge.

The element condition information contained in this report represents the current condition of the bridge based on the most recent routine and special inspections. Some of the notes presented below may be from an inspection that occurred prior to the date noted in this report. Refer to the Scope and Access section of this inspection report for a description of which portions of the bridge were inspected on this date.

INSPECTION COMMENTARY

SCOPE AND ACCESS

At the time of this inspection the water depth was 2 feet in Span 1. Pier 3 and Abutment

Printed on: Monday 12/18/2017 11:31 AM

INSPECTION COMMENTARY

4 were outside of the water level. A complete inspection of this bridge was performed by wading and probing.

SAFE LOAD CAPACITY

A Load Rating Summary Sheet dated October 19, 2009 is on file for this structure. While this report does not include a check of that analysis, it does verify that the structural conditions observed during this inspection are consistent with those assumed in that analysis.

The current rating is based on hand calculations dated January 02, 1981 and October 7, 2009.

WATERWAY

A channel cross section was spot checked at the supports during this inspection and compared to the measurements taken on June 23, 2015. The results of that comparison indicate that the channel has remained relatively stable since 2007 with no significant degradation or aggradation. However, scour and erosion are affecting the stability of the approach roadway at Abutment 1. See text under the Abutment Scour defect for more details.

ELEMENT INSPECTION RATINGS AND COMMENTARY

Elem No.	Defect Defec /Prot	ct Element Description	Env	Total Qty	Units	Qty in St. 1	each Co St. 2	ondition St. 3	state St. 4
12		Deck-RC	2	110	sq.m	29	30	51	0
	1080	Delamination/Spall/Patched Area	2	1		0	0	1	0
	1130	Cracking (RC and Other)	2	80		0	30	50	0

(12 - 1080)

There is a 12 inch diameter spall in the deck at Bent 3. The spall is less than 1 inch deep. See photo 2 included with this report.

(12 - 1130)

Longitudinal deck cracks are present in the deck surface. The deck cracks are predominately present near the centerline of the bridge and extend the full length of the structure. The cracks are up to 0.25 inches wide with edge spalls and are spaced 2 to 3 feet apart. See photo 1 included with this report.

111	Girder/Beam-Timber	2	290	m	0	254	0	36
1140	Decay/Section Loss (Timber)	2	36		0	0	0	36
1150	Check/Shake (Timber)	2	254		0	254	0	0

(111 - 1140)

The left and right exterior timber girders and timber sill plates are in an advanced state of decay at the abutments and piers where the girders bear on the sill plates. Up to 1.5 inches of the bottom of the girders and up to 12 inches in length from the ends of the girders are affected by decay. See photos 2 through 8 included with this report.

Because of the concrete deck's ability to distributes live loads to adjacent and sound girders and the reduced tributary area of live load influence at exterior girders (half of the tributary area of interior girders), this condition does not severely impact the serviceability of this structure. However, during future biennial inspection, the first interior girders in each span shall be closely

ELEMEN	T INSPECTION	RATINGS AND CO	MMENTARY							
Elem No.	Defect Defect /Prot	Element Descri	ption	Env	Total Qty	Units	Qty in St. 1	each Co St. 2	ndition St. 3	State St. 4
monitor affecte exterio girders	red for load i ed by decay at or girders. s were observe	nduced stresses. the abutments an Decay of the exte d.	Up to 12 ind nd piers. The erior girders	ches of the sill plate and timber	ends es are sills	of the crushi contir	timber ing and nues to	sill pla bulging advance	ates are g beneat . No bi	e also th the roken
Mold is	s present on t	he surface of the	e most of the	timber gird	ders.					
See pho	otos archived	with the July 17	, 2014 Bridge	Inspection	Repor	t.				
(111-11 Checks 10 perc	150) and shakes ar cent of the me	e present in all mber thicknesses	the timber.	The checks	and s	hakes p	enetrat	e appro	ximately	y 5 to
205	Co	olumn-RC		4	16	each	0	6	10	0
	1130 Cr	racking (RC and C	ther)	4	16		0	6	10	0
There a concret below t archive	are vertical c ce is delamina the high water ed with the Ju	racks in most of ting from the rei mark. This cond ly 17, 2014 Bridg	the columns. inforcing stee lition does no ge Inspection	The crack at the co t appear to Report.	s are orners o have	up to of the change	0.06 in square d signi:	ches wie concre ficantly 6	le. The ce colum y. See	e cover nns photos
215	AL	Jutment-RC		4	24	ш	10	0	0	0
(215-60 The Abu longitu abutmen The rig transve wingwal the asp of thi the app	000) atment 1 reinfo adinally from 4 at. Twelve to ght wingwall at ersely along th at Abutment bhaltic concret as inspection a proach roadway	brced concrete la the face of the a 18 inch diameter Abutment 1 is u he entire length 1 is no longer e te approach roadw settlement at Abu to the structure	agging is under abutment. This rock is in p undermined app of the wingwa effective. The vay to Abutment atment 1 was reserved.	ermined appr s condition place behind proximately all. The ro his condition at 1 and res not present	coxima a affe d the 1 foo ock sl on con sults and t	tely 3 cts the concret t verti ope pro tinues in road here wa	feet ve: a entire cally an otection to affect way sets as a smoothing	rtically width of ng at Al nd 1.5 : for the st the s tlement oth tran	y and 4 of the outment Eeet e left stabilit . At th nsition	feet 1. Ty of the time from
227	Pi	le-RC		2	1	ea.	1	0	0	0
(227) The pil exposed	e element is i for visual ir	included to indic nspection. No in	ate the prese dication of p	nce of pile bile distres	es on s was	this st noted	ructure in any s	. The p substruc	piles we cture el	ere not Lement.
234	Pi	er Cap-RC		2	24	m	24	0	0	0
(234) There w	vere no signifi	cant defects not	ed.							
332	Ra	iling-Timber	5	2	38	m	38	0	0	0
(332) There w	vere no signifi	.cant defects not	ed.						uodinta ta se esta	

WORK RECOMMENDATIONS

WORK RECOMMENDATIONS

RecDate: Action : Work By: Status :	07/17/2013 Deck-Methacrylate LOCAL AGENCY PROPOSED	EstCost: StrTarget: DistTarget: EA:	2 YEARS	Patch all deck spalls, repair all unsound areas of the deck, and treat deck cracks with methacrylate.
RecDate: Action : Work By: Status :	05/09/2007 Sub-Scour Mitigate LOCAL AGENCY PROPOSED	EstCost: StrTarget: DistTarget: EA:	2 YEARS	Provide scour countermeasures at Abutment 1.
RecDate: Action : Work By: Status :	12/03/2004 Super-Rehab LOCAL AGENCY PROPOSED	EstCost: StrTarget: DistTarget: EA:	1 YEAR	Replace all of the exterior timber stringers. Replace decayed sill plates at both abutments and Piers 2 and 3.
RecDate: Action : Work By: Status :	01/13/1999 Sub-Rehab LOCAL AGENCY PROPOSED	EstCost: StrTarget: DistTarget: EA:	2 YEARS	Provide protection for the steel reinforcement in the RC columns. Remove unsound concrete and patch RC columns.

Team Leader : Rohit Nand Report Author : Rohit Nand Inspected By : R.Nand/W.Baker

8/2017

Rohit Nand (Registered Civil Engineer) (Date)



(1) STATE NAME- CALIFORNIA 069 (8) STRUCTURE NUMBER 04C0173 (5) INVENTORY ROUTE (ON/UNDER) - ON 140000000 (2) HIGHWAY AGENCY DISTRICT 01 (3) COUNTY CODE 023 (4) PLACE CODE 00000 (6) FEATURE INTERSECTED-MARTIN SLOUGH (7) FACILITY CARRIED-PINE HILL RD 0.2 MI E/O ELK RIVER RD (9) LOCATION-(11) MILEPOINT/KILOMETERPOINT 0 (12) BASE HIGHWAY NETWORK- NOT ON NET 0 (13) LRS INVENTORY ROUTE & SUBROUTE (16) LATITUDE 40 DEG 45 MIN 09.06 SEC 124 DEG 10 MIN 57.76 SEC (17) LONGITUDE (98) BORDER BRIDGE STATE CODE % SHARE * (99) BORDER BRIDGE STRUCTURE NUMBER ******* STRUCTURE TYPE AND MATERIAL ******** (43) STRUCTURE TYPE MAIN: MATERIAL- WOOD OR TIMBER TYPE- STRINGER/MULTI-BEAM OR GDR CODE 702 (44) STRUCTURE TYPE APPR:MATERIAL- OTHER/NA TYPE- OTHER/NA CODE 000 (45) NUMBER OF SPANS IN MAIN UNIT 3 (46) NUMBER OF APPROACH SPANS 0 (107) DECK STRUCTURE TYPE- CIP CONCRETE CODE 1 (108) WEARING SURFACE / PROTECTIVE SYSTEM: A) TYPE OF WEARING SURFACE - NONE CODE 0 B) TYPE OF MEMBRANE - NONE CODE O C) TYPE OF DECK PROTECTION- NONE CODE 0 (27) YEAR BUILT 1955 (106) YEAR RECONSTRUCTED 0000 (42) TYPE OF SERVICE: ON- HIGHWAY 1 UNDER- WATERWAY 5 (28) LANES: ON STRUCTURE 02 UNDER STRUCTURE 00 (29) AVERAGE DAILY TRAFFIC 187 (30) YEAR OF ADT 2010 (109) TRUCK ADT 3 % (19) BYPASS, DETOUR LENGTH 2 KM (48) LENGTH OF MAXIMUM SPAN 6.1 M (49) STRUCTURE LENGTH 19.2 M LEFT 0.2 M RIGHT 0.2 M (50) CURB OR SIDEWALK: (51) BRIDGE ROADWAY WIDTH CURB TO CURB 5.8 M (52) DECK WIDTH OUT TO OUT 6.2 M (32) APPROACH ROADWAY WIDTH (W/SHOULDERS) 6.2 M (33) BRIDGE MEDIAN- NO MEDIAN 0 (34) SKEW 0 DEG (35) STRUCTURE FLARED NO (10) INVENTORY ROUTE MIN VERT CLEAR 99.99 M 5.8 M (47) INVENTORY ROUTE TOTAL HORIZ CLEAR (53) MIN VERT CLEAR OVER BRIDGE RDWY 99.99 M 0.00 M (54) MIN VERT UNDERCLEAR REF- NOT H/RR (55) MIN LAT UNDERCLEAR RT REF- NOT H/RR 0.0 M (56) MIN LAT UNDERCLEAR LT 0.0 M (38) NAVIGATION CONTROL- NO CONTROL CODE 0 (111) PIER PROTECTION-CODE (39) NAVIGATION VERTICAL CLEARANCE 0.0 M
 (39) NAVIGATION VERTOR VENTOR
 M

 (116) VERT-LIFT BRIDGE NAV MIN VERT CLEAR
 M

 (40) NAVIGATION HORIZONTAL CLEARANCE
 0.0 M

	STATUS STRUCTURALLY DEFICIENT
	HEALTH INDEX 63.4
	PAINT CONDITION INDEX = N/A

(112)	NBIS BRIDGE LENGTH- YES V
(104)	HIGHWAY SYSTEM- NOT ON NHS
(26)	FUNCTIONAL CLASS- LOCAL RURAL 09
(100)	DEFENSE HIGHWAY- NOT STRAHNET 0
(101)	PARALLEL STRUCTURE- NONE EXISTS N
(102)	DIRECTION OF TRAFFIC- 2 WAY 2
(103)	TEMPORARY STRUCTURE-
(105)	FED.LANDS HWY- NOT APPLICABLE 0
(110)	DESIGNATED NATIONAL NETWORK - NOT ON NET 0
(20)	TOLL- ON FREE ROAD 3
(21)	MAINTAIN- COUNTY HIGHWAY AGENCY 02
(22)	OWNER- COUNTY HIGHWAY AGENCY 02
(37)	HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE - NOT ELIGIBLE 5
	******************* CONDITION ************************************
(58)	DECK 4
(59)	SUPERSTRUCTURE 4
(60)	SUBSTRUCTURE 4
(61)	CHANNEL & CHANNEL PROTECTION 5
(62)	CULVERTS
	******** LOAD RATING AND POSTING ********** CODE
(21)	DESIGN LOAD INKNOWN 0
(51)	OPERATING RATING METHOD- ALLOWABLE STRESS 2
(64)	OPERATING RATING METHOD ALLOWADLE DIREDS 2 OPERATING RATING- 39.5
(65)	INVENTORY RATING METHOD- ALLOWABLE STRESS 2
(66)	INVENTORY RATING- 23.7
(70)	BRIDGE POSTING- EOUAL TO OR ABOVE LEGAL LOADS 5
(41)	STRUCTURE OPEN, POSTED OR CLOSED- A
	DESCRIPTION- OPEN, NO RESTRICTION
(67)	CODE
(67)	DECK GEOMETRY
(69)	INDERCLEARANCES, VERTICAL & HORIZONTAL N
(71)	WATER ADEOUACY 8
(72)	APPROACH ROADWAY ALIGNMENT 8
(36)	TRAFFIC SAFETY FEATURES 0000
(113)	SCOUR CRITICAL BRIDGES 5
	******* PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS *********
(75)	TYDE OF WORK- SUP/SUB REHAB CODE 35
(75)	LENGTH OF STRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT 19.2 M
(94)	BRIDGE IMPROVEMENT COST \$117.000
(05)	BOIDGE IMPROVEMENT COST \$53 820
(95)	TOTAL PROJECT COST \$452.088
(90)	YEAR OF IMPROVEMENT COST ESTIMATE 2017
(114)	FUTURE ADT 294
(115)	YEAR OF FUTURE ADT 2036
/	
(00)	
(90)	CRITICAL FEATURE INSPECTION, (93) CET DATE
(JZ) A)	FRACTURE CRIT DETAIL- NO MO D)
B)	UNDERWATER INSP- NO MO B)
C)	OTHER SPECIAL INSP- NO MO C)

0.2 MI E/O ELK RIVER RD

MARTIN SLOUGH

06/21/2017 [AAAK]

102 - PHOTO-Deck-Damage/Deterloration



Photo No. 1 Longitudinal deck cracks.

102 - PHOTO-Deck-Damage/Deterioration



Photo No. 2 Deck spall at Bent 3.

MARTIN SLOUGH

06/21/2017 [AAAK]

0.2 MI E/O ELK RIVER RD

113 - PHOTO-Sub-Damage/Deterioration



Advanced decay at the ends of the timber sill at Bent 3 (right).

113 - PHOTO-Sub-Damage/Deterioration



Photo No. 4 Advanced decay at the ends of the timber sill at Bent 3 (right).

MARTIN SLOUGH 06/21/2017 [AAAK]

113 - PHOTO-Sub-Damage/Deterioration



Photo No. 5 Advanced decay at the ends of the timber sill at Bent 3 (right).

113 - PHOTO-Sub-Damage/Deterioration



Photo No. 6 Advanced decay at the ends of the timber sill at Abutment 4 (right).

MARTIN SLOUGH 06/21/2017 [AAAK]

0.2 MI E/O ELK RIVER RD

113 - PHOTO-Sub-Damage/Deterioration



Photo No. 7 Advanced decay at the ends of the timber sill at Abutment 4 (left).



113 - PHOTO-Sub-Damage/Deterioration

Photo No. 8 Advanced decay at the ends of the timber sill at Abutment 4 (left).

